The Effect of Early Life Factors and Early Interventions on Childhood Overweight and Obesity

Guest Editors: Li Ming Wen, Chris Rissel, and Gengsheng He



The Effect of Early Life Factors and Early Interventions on Childhood Overweight and Obesity

The Effect of Early Life Factors and Early Interventions on Childhood Overweight and Obesity

Guest Editors: Li Ming Wen, Chris Rissel, and Gengsheng He

Copyright @ 2015 Hindawi Publishing Corporation. All rights reserved.

This is a special issue published in "Journal of Obesity." All articles are open access articles distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Editorial Board

B. J. Ammori, UK Marco Anselmino, Italy Molly S. Bray, USA Bernhard H. Breier, New Zealand Eliot Brinton, USA Eric Doucet, Canada Pietro Forestieri, Italy Tiffany L. Gary-Webb, USA Andras Hajnal, USA Terry Huang, USA Xu Feng Huang, Australia Gianluca Iacobellis, Canada Lauren Lissner, Sweden Ron F. Morrison, USA Tomoo Okada, Japan Francesco Saverio Papadia, Italy R. Prager, Austria Jonatan R. Ruiz, Sweden Jordi Salas-Salvadó, Spain Gianfranco Silecchia, Italy Laurence Tecott, USA Aron Weller, Israel Aimin Xu, Hong Kong

Contents

The Effect of Early Life Factors and Early Interventions on Childhood Overweight and Obesity, Li Ming Wen, Chris Rissel, and Gengsheng He Volume 2015, Article ID 964540, 2 pages

Calorie Labeling in a Rural Middle School Influences Food Selection: Findings from Community-Based Participatory Research, Monica Hunsberger, Paul McGinnis, Jamie Smith, Beth Ann Beamer, and Jean O'Malley Volume 2015, Article ID 531690, 7 pages

Reducing Hispanic Children's Obesity Risk Factors in the First 1000 Days of Life: A Qualitative Analysis, Jennifer A. Woo Baidal, Shaniece Criss, Roberta E. Goldman, Meghan Perkins, Courtney Cunningham, and Elsie M. Taveras Volume 2015, Article ID 945918, 8 pages

Blending Better Beverage Options: A Nutrition Education and Experiential Workshop for Youths, Kathy K. Isoldi and Veronika Dolar Volume 2015, Article ID 351734, 9 pages

The Intrauterine and Nursing Period Is a Window of Susceptibility for Development of Obesity and Intestinal Tumorigenesis by a High Fat Diet in *Min*/+ Mice as Adults, Ha Thi Ngo, Ragna Bogen Hetland, and Inger-Lise Steffensen Volume 2015, Article ID 624023, 25 pages

Associations of Parental Influences with Physical Activity and Screen Time among Young Children: A Systematic Review, Huilan Xu, Li Ming Wen, and Chris Rissel Volume 2015, Article ID 546925, 23 pages

Latino Family Childcare Providers' Beliefs, Attitudes, and Practices Related to Promotion of Healthy Behaviors among Preschool Children: A Qualitative Study, Ana C. Lindsay, Judith A. Salkeld, Mary L. Greaney, and Faith D. Sands Volume 2015, Article ID 409742, 9 pages

Birth Weight, Current Anthropometric Markers, and High Sensitivity C-Reactive Protein in Brazilian School Children, Camile Boscaini and Lucia Campos Pellanda Volume 2015, Article ID 846376, 6 pages

Prenatal Stress due to a Natural Disaster Predicts Adiposity in Childhood: The Iowa Flood Study, Kelsey N. Dancause, David P. Laplante, Kimberly J. Hart, Michael W. O'Hara, Guillaume Elgbeili, Alain Brunet, and Suzanne King Volume 2015, Article ID 570541, 10 pages

Early Life Cognitive Abilities and Body Weight: Cross-Sectional Study of the Association of Inhibitory Control, Cognitive Flexibility, and Sustained Attention with BMI Percentiles in Primary School Children, Tamara Wirt, Anja Schreiber, Dorothea Kesztyüs, and Jürgen M. Steinacker Volume 2015, Article ID 534651, 10 pages

Feasibility and Acceptability of an Early Childhood Obesity Prevention Intervention: Results from the Healthy Homes, Healthy Families Pilot Study, Akilah Dulin Keita, Patricia M. Risica, Kelli L. Drenner, Ingrid Adams, Gemma Gorham, and Kim M. Gans Volume 2014, Article ID 378501, 16 pages

Rethinking Obesity Counseling: Having the French Fry Discussion, Jonathan Bonnet, Aaron George, Pippa Evans, Mina Silberberg, and Diana Dolinsky Volume 2014, Article ID 525021, 7 pages

Barriers to Lose Weight from the Perspective of Children with Overweight/Obesity and Their Parents: A Sociocultural Approach, Ana Lilia Rodríguez-Ventura, Ingris Pelaez-Ballestas, Reyna Sámano-Sámano, Carlos Jimenez-Gutierrez, and Carlos Aguilar-Salinas Volume 2014, Article ID 575184, 7 pages

Maternal Weight Gain in Pregnancy and Risk of Obesity among Offspring: A Systematic Review, Erica Y. Lau, Junxiu Liu, Edward Archer, Samantha M. McDonald, and Jihong Liu Volume 2014, Article ID 524939, 16 pages

Associations between Aspects of Friendship Networks, Physical Activity, and Sedentary Behaviour among Adolescents, Keri Jo Sawka, Gavin R. McCormack, Alberto Nettel-Aguirre, Anita Blackstaffe, Rosemary Perry, and Penelope Hawe Volume 2014, Article ID 632689, 12 pages

Intervention Effects of a School-Based Health Promotion Programme on Obesity Related Behavioural Outcomes, Susanne Kobel, Tamara Wirt, Anja Schreiber, Dorothea Kesztyüs, Sarah Kettner, Nanette Erkelenz, Olivia Wartha, and Jürgen M. Steinacker Volume 2014, Article ID 476230, 8 pages

Using the Medical Research Council Framework for the Development and Evaluation of Complex Interventions in a Theory-Based Infant Feeding Intervention to Prevent Childhood Obesity: The Baby Milk Intervention and Trial, Rajalakshmi Lakshman, Simon Griffin, Wendy Hardeman, Annie Schiff, Ann Louise Kinmonth, and Ken K. Ong Volume 2014, Article ID 646504, 10 pages

Physical Activity in Different Preschool Settings: An Exploratory Study, Katrin Röttger, Elke Grimminger, Friederike Kreuser, Lorenz Assländer, Albert Gollhofer, and Ulrike Korsten-Reck Volume 2014, Article ID 321701, 8 pages

Malnutrition, Overweight, and Obesity among Urban and Rural Children in North of West Azerbijan, Iran, Sakineh Nouri Saeidlou, Fariba Babaei, and Parvin Ayremlou Volume 2014, Article ID 541213, 5 pages

Editorial

The Effect of Early Life Factors and Early Interventions on Childhood Overweight and Obesity

Li Ming Wen,^{1,2,3} Chris Rissel,⁴ and Gengsheng He⁵

¹ Department of Endocrinology & Metabolism, Shanghai 10th People's Hospital, University of Tongji, Shanghai 200072, China ² Sydney Medical School, University of Sydney, Sydney 2006, Australia

³Health Promotion Service, Sydney Local Health Districts, NSW 2050, Australia

⁴*Prevention Research Collaboration, Sydney School of Public Health, The University of Sydney, Sydney 2006, Australia* ⁵*School of Public Health, Fudan University, Shanghai 200032, China*

Correspondence should be addressed to Li Ming Wen; lmwen@email.cs.nsw.gov.au

Received 18 February 2015; Accepted 18 February 2015

Copyright © 2015 Li Ming Wen et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

The global obesity epidemic continues to be one of the major health burdens on society, which directly affects our younger generation. Worldwide, more than 40 million children under the age of five were overweight with a global prevalence of overweight being 6.7% in 2010 [1]. The rates of overweight and obesity have been dramatically increasing in some developing countries such as China [2] over recent years. This highlights the need for a better understanding of the effect of early life factors on overweight and obesity and, more importantly, developing effective early interventions.

Research evidence has already showed that some early infant feeding practices, including breastfeeding and the timing of the introduction of solids as well as children's eating habits and television viewing time, are among the most identifiable factors contributing to early onset of childhood obesity [3]. However, these risk factors for overweight and obesity are just the tip of the iceberg. There remain many unknown factors which require further research. In particular, the context of early life factors includes family environments and parental inferences as well as societal influences. With this in mind we selected the theme for this special issue.

There has been an excellent response, with various research ideas and approaches and the authors' making important contributions to this special issue. We wish to highly commend the authors for their well written papers exploring a range of issues related to early life factors associated with childhood obesity, which include epidemiological investigation, laboratory research, and intervention studies at various life-stages such as gestation period, infants, childcare, primary, and adolescents.

J. A. W. Baidal et al. examined underlying reasons for early life obesity risk factors and identify potential early life intervention strategies by conducting 7 focus groups with 49 Hispanic women who were pregnant or had children of age < 24 months. They concluded opportunities exist in the first 1000 days to improve Hispanic mothers' understanding of the role of early life weight gain in childhood obesity and other obesity risk factors. K. N. Dancause et al. assessed degree of objective hardship and subjective distress in women pregnant during severe flooding. Their results support the hypothesis that prenatal stress increases adiposity beginning in childhood and suggest that early gestation is a sensitive period.

Adolescence is a much neglected focus for overweight and obesity research. K. J. Sawka et al. address this gap by using social network analysis to examine how friendships affect sedentary behaviour and physical activity levels. Examining a cross-sectional analysis of 1061 adolescents (11–15 years), they found that adolescents with no friendship nominations participated in less moderate-vigorous physical activity (MVPA). A. L. Rodríguez-Ventura et al. also explored the barriers to losing weight experienced by children and adolescents in Mexico from the perspective of the children/adolescents and their parents using a series of focus groups. They found that barriers to losing weight included a perception that they were not overweight and not recognising overweight or obesity as a disease with serious consequences.

Very early overweight prevention programs can begin during pregnancy, with a focus on healthy weight gain by the mother. E. Y. Lau et al. conducted a systematic review of the literature on the association between gestational weight gain (GWG) and offspring's body weight with a focus on prospective and retrospective cohort studies. The authors found that total GWG and exceeding the recommendation were associated with higher BMI *z*-score and elevated risk of overweight or obesity in offspring.

Acknowledging that parents play a critical role in developing and shaping their children's physical activity and sedentary behaviours, particularly in the early years of life, H. Xu et al. also conducted a systematic review of associations of parental influences with physical activity and screen time among young children. Their findings suggest that parents' encouragement and support can increase children's physical activity, and reducing parents' own screen time can lead to decreased child screen time.

A. D. Keita et al. report on the feasibility and acceptability of a new early intervention program, the Healthy Homes, Healthy Families Pilot Study, which builds on the success of the home-based Healthy Beginnings program [4]. The Healthy Homes, Healthy Families Pilot Study, was designed to empower low-income racially/ethnically diverse parents to modify their children's health behaviours. They found vegetable intake among children significantly increased at follow-up, and fruit juice consumption decreased. J. Bonnet et al. also focused on early intervention and the idea of introducing discussion with parents of children's healthy weight when the child is 12 months old. They identified that children at this age were already demonstrating poor nutrition and physical activity behaviours and proposed that talking with parents at the 12-month visit with the family medicine primary care providers about "French fries" and nutrition was potentially an important opportunity for health promotion.

Using theory is important in developing and evaluating programs, and R. Lakshman et al. used the Medical Research Council framework for the development and evaluation of complex interventions: the baby milk intervention and trial. They reviewed the epidemiological evidence on early life risk factors for obesity and interventions to prevent obesity in this age group and identified the prevention of excess weight gain in bottle-fed babies and appropriate weaning as intervention targets. They developed intervention materials and evaluation tools and conducted qualitative studies with mothers (intervention recipients) and healthcare professionals (intervention deliverers) to refine them. Evaluation will follow, but it was noted that the rigorous development process was resource intensive.

A. C. Lindsay et al. described how childcare providers play an influential role in promoting healthful eating and physical activity behaviors of preschool children in their care. They also identified many barriers and challenges in establishing and maintaining healthful nutrition and physical activity behaviors, including high cost of healthy foods, cold weather, and physical environment of childcare centers and homes. K. Röttger et al. also sought to explore physical activity in the preschool setting, as this can be a time when gross motor skills are developed. Using direct accelerometry and anthropometrical and family-related data, they compared physical activity levels of 114 children attending different preschool settings in four cities of the trinational Upper Rhine region (Freiburg, Landau/Germany, Basel/Switzerland, and Strasbourg/France). Children from Strasbourg and Landau were significantly more passive than children from Basel and Freiburg, with the authors concluding that more open preschool systems such as those in Basel, Freiburg, and Landau did not lead to more physical activity "per se" compared to the highly regimented desk-based system in France.

School based programs continue to be important, and S. Kobel et al. report on the results of primary school focused program "Join the Healthy Boat." This teacher delivered program focused on increasing physical activity, decreasing screen media use, more regular breakfast, and reducing the consumption of soft drinks. 1943 primary school children participated in the cluster-randomised study. Significant effects were found in the intervention group for screen media use among girls, for nonmigrant children, and children with parents having a low education level.

While recognising overweight and obesity as significant public health problems, S. N. Saeidlou et al. sought to examine the more traditional developing country problem of malnutrition. Working with the Office of Community Nutrition Improvement and the United Nations Children's Fund, they conducted a prevalence study of malnutrition and obesity in 902 children under 5 years old in the Salmas district of North West Azerbaijan, Iran, in 2011. The prevalence of obesity and overweight in children was 1.3% and 5.1%, respectively. They found that the prevalence of malnutrition based on underweight, stunting, and wasting was estimated to be 2.3%, 7.3%, and 1.4% among children, respectively, and was more common in rural areas.

> Li Ming Wen Chris Rissel Gengsheng He

References

- M. de Onis, M. Blössner, and E. Borghi, "Global prevalence and trends of overweight and obesity among preschool children," *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, vol. 92, no. 5, pp. 1257–1264, 2010.
- [2] C. Y. Ji and T. J. Chen, "Empirical changes in the prevalence of overweight and obesity among Chinese students from 1985 To 2010 and corresponding preventive strategies," *Biomedical and Environmental Sciences*, vol. 26, no. 1, pp. 1–12, 2013.
- [3] K. D. Hesketh and K. J. Campbell, "Interventions to prevent obesity in 0-5 year olds: an updated systematic review of the literature," *Obesity*, vol. 18, no. 1, pp. S27–S35, 2010.
- [4] L. M. Wen, L. A. Baur, J. M. Simpson, C. Rissel, K. Wardle, and V. M. Flood, "Effectiveness of home based early intervention on children's BMI at age 2: randomised controlled trial," *British Medical Journal*, vol. 344, Article ID e3732, 2012.

Research Article

Calorie Labeling in a Rural Middle School Influences Food Selection: Findings from Community-Based Participatory Research

Monica Hunsberger,¹ Paul McGinnis,² Jamie Smith,³ Beth Ann Beamer,⁴ and Jean O'Malley⁵

¹University of Gothenburg, Public Health Epidemiology and Community Medicine, P.O. Box 454, 405 30 Gothenburg, Sweden ²Eastern Oregon Coordinated Care Organization, 309 E 2nd Street, The Dalles, OR 97058, USA ³Jefferson County School District 509-J, 445 SE Buff Street, Madras, OR 97741, USA

⁴St. Charles Health System, 470 NE A Street Madras, OR 97741, USA

⁵Oregon Clinical & Translational Research Institute, Oregon Health & Science University, Portland, OR 97239, USA

Correspondence should be addressed to Monica Hunsberger; monica.hunsberger@gu.se

Received 2 July 2014; Revised 27 August 2014; Accepted 28 August 2014

Academic Editor: Li Ming Wen

Copyright © 2015 Monica Hunsberger et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Background. Calorie labeling at the point-of-purchase in chain restaurants has been shown to reduce energy intake. *Objective.* To investigate the impact of point-of-purchase calorie information at one rural middle school. *Methods.* With a community-based participatory research framework a mixed method approach was used to evaluate the impact of point-of-purchase calorie information. Students in grades 6–8, dining at the school cafeteria January and February 2010, participated for 17 school days each month; in January a menu was offered in the usual manner without calorie labels; the same menu was prepared in February with the addition of calorie labels at point-of-purchase. Gross calories served per student were measured each day allowing for matched comparison by menu. In March/April of 2010, 32 students who ate in the cafeteria 3 or more times per week were interviewed regarding their views on menu labeling. *Results.* Calorie consumption decreased by an average of 47 calories/day; fat intake reduced by 2.1 grams/day. Five main themes were consistent throughout the interviews. *Conclusion.* Point-of-purchase calorie labels can play a role in reducing the number of calories consumed by middle school age children at the lunch. The majority of students interviewed found the calorie labels helped them choose healthier food.

1. Introduction

Escalating rates of obesity may cause the current generation of children to have a life expectancy shorter than that of their parents [1]. Overweight and obese adolescents are now presenting with type 2 diabetes, dyslipidemia, and hypertension, diseases not previously seen in this age group [2, 3]. Swift action is needed to reverse these trends.

Schools are in a unique position to influence the diets of children and adolescents. Most students attend school for six or more hours per day, 180 days per year [4]. The majority of students consume a school lunch and some may also have a school breakfast, allowing over 47% of their total daily energy intake to be obtained in the school setting [5].

Menu labeling in chain and fast-food restaurants has received increasing attention as a policy to reduce energy intake. Findings show patrons making healthier, lower calorie food choices when calorie information is available [6, 7]. Encouraging findings at the local and state level have led to national legislation requiring menu labeling [8, 9]. Despite these positive results, a paucity of research exists on both the effect of menu labeling or calorie labeling in the school setting and on adolescents' opinions of labeling measures.

Jefferson County Middle School (JCMS) provides the ideal setting to examine the impact of menu labeling in schools. It is a public school situated in a low income area with just over 79% of its students entitled to free or reduced price cafeteria lunches and 64.6% of students are members

of an ethnic minority. Although obesity is a national and international public health concern, research suggests that children and adolescents who live in multiethnic, low-income neighborhoods are at particularly high risk for obesity [10]. Adolescent obesity is a considerable problem at JCMS where 32.5% of sixth and eighth grade students were found to have a BMI above the 95th percentile, placing them in the obese category. Therefore, the Mountain View Community Health Improvement and Research Partnership, a community-based participatory research (CBPR) partnership, selected this school-based approach as one method aimed at the prevention of overweight.

To our knowledge only one other study has evaluated the impact of menu labeling in schools with college freshman and the results showed a positive impact [11]. We hypothesized calorie information at the point-of-purchase would influence students' food choices. The aim of the study was to investigate the impact of calorie posting at the point-of-purchase in a middle school cafeteria.

2. Methods

This study employed a mixed-method design including both qualitative and quantitative data collection. Ethical approval for the study was obtained by the Oregon Health and Science University and the North West Indian Health Region. The formation of the Mountain View Community Health Improvement and Research Partnership has been described in detail previously [12]. In brief, this partnership includes a wide range of stakeholders with a common goal of improving community health.

2.1. Subject Recruitment and Setting. The study was carried out in the Jefferson County Middle School (JCMS), Madras, Oregon, United States. The school is situated in a low-income community and participates in the United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) National School Lunch Program. Students included males and females aged 11 to 15 years of age in 6th-8th grade. On average, seventy-eight percent (daily average N = 531) of JCMS students participated in the school lunch program over the two-month study period and were included in the analysis of gross calories purchased per student. In January 2010 the cafeteria menu was presented as "usual" without calorie labels. In February 2010 the identical menu was presented with calorie labels at the point-ofpurchase. Calorie labels were printed, laminated, and placed above the corresponding items on the sneeze guard for both the hot and cold food lines. Gross calorie consumption was calculated by weighing each food and beverage option before service and after service, imputing weights into a USDA approved nutrient database (Nutrikids), and dividing by the total number of children served per day. Gross calorie consumption assesses changes in total calories on a group level rather than on an individual level. Faculty and staff were excluded and used a separate salad bar for the duration of the study to uphold the accuracy of the weights. During the study period, after school sport offerings remain identical, girls can choose to play basketball and boys wrestling.

To recruit participants for the qualitative interviews, a letter of invitation was sent to students that ate lunch three or more times per week in all three grades. Consent for the parents and assent for the minor age participants were included along with a postage paid return envelope. Students also had the option to directly return the forms to the lunch room leader who was part of the CBPR partnership. To encourage participation, a gift card valued at \$10.00 for either a local grocery store or subway sandwich shop was offered to the students. All interviews were conducted at JCMS during the school day.

Interviews followed a guided approach to ensure that the same general areas were discussed with each interviewee [13]. Interviews were audiotaped, transcribed verbatim, and analyzed for key themes by three researchers. First the transcripts were reviewed to achieve familiarity with the data. Key statements were coded deductively with codes conforming to interview guide questions. Next, the transcripts were reread to inductively identify areas not detected with the "top down" method of analysis and then recoded to incorporate the emergent codes [13]. Each code was reviewed and the five most relevant themes were identified.

2.2. Statistical Analysis. Statistical analysis was done using SAS 9.2. Consumption of menu items prepared on site was estimated by the difference between starting and ending weights; the nutrient composition of these items was estimated from the item recipes. Consumption of prepackaged items (e.g., milk, commercial salads) was estimated by the difference in units; nutrient composition for these items was estimated by the item labels. Per student fat and calorie and fat consumptions were computed and paired by menu matching. Pre- and postlabeling per student consumption of kilocalories fat and was analyzed using paired *t*-tests.

3. Results

As summarized in Table 1, the presence of calorie labels resulted in a mean decrease of 47 calories per student (95% CI = -77 to -18, P = 0.0040) and 2.1 grams of total fat per student (95% CI = -3.3 to -0.9, P = 0.0025).

After assessment of gross caloric changes, 32 students were interviewed. A summary of participants is shown in Table 2.

Following these 32 interviews, the qualitative analysis produced five significant themes. For each theme, the main points are presented along with relevant quotations (Table 3).

3.1. Obesity Epidemic and School Responsibility. Many students were aware of the adolescent obesity epidemic. One interviewee stated "kids are getting bigger and heavier nowadays than they used to be." The students believed it was the schools responsibility to help stop this trend and aid the students in achieving a healthy weight. Many students were also eager to express their specific ideas how school could make the suggested changes. For example, students suggested announcing the healthier cafeteria options every morning to make choosing healthy food easier.

Maal	Kcal consumed Per student		Grams fat consumed per student					
Meal	Prelabel	Postlabel	Prelabel	Postlabel				
1	740	766	26.0	27.2				
2	725	602	28.3	23.5				
3	596	576	16.3	16.2				
4	807	748	34.0	30.9				
6	819	672	24.6	20.8				
7	669	662	27.6	26.9				
8	570	545	17.1	16.2				
9	430	441	11.7	13.1				
10	745	767	27.9	28.5				
11	711	617	23.5	20.0				
12	617	579	19.7	17.0				
13	773	745	33.4	31.4				
14	689	641	25.1	22.5				
15	559	467	17.8	13.4				
16	868	737	23.6	17.2				
17	366	363	13.4	12.1				
Average	668 ± 138	621 ± 122	23.1 ± 6.6	$21.1~\pm~6.4$				
Kcal/student			Total Fat g/student					
Mean difference = -47 Std. Dev of difference = 14 95% CI = -77 to -18 P = 0.0040			Mean difference = -2.1 Std. Dev of difference = 0.6 95% CI = -3.3 to -0.9					
						P = 0.0025		

TABLE 1: Changes in calorie and fat consumption.

TABLE 2: Sex and grade of students participating in menu labeling interviews (n = 32).

	Males	Females	Total
Sixth grade	6	6	12
Seventh grade	4	7	11
Eighth grade	5	4	9
Total	15	17	32

3.2. Nutritional Knowledge Was Related to Home Environment. Students were asked the extent to which their families discussed nutrition and used nutrition labels. Students' responses suggest that their knowledge of healthy eating is highly dependent on the nutrition practices of their parents and siblings. They tended to mimic the behavior of their family members when it came to reading labels stating "My mom, my sisters, and me, we look at the nutrition labels." A lack of importance placed on nutrition in the home seemed to reinforce students' negative attitudes towards healthy eating and act as a further deterrent to menu label usage. Some parents had attempted to scare their children into consuming less. "My mom tries to scare me about calories; that way I won't have as much in a day." However, these strategies often resulted in students having inaccurate nutrition knowledge. Overall, it was mainly students whose parents demonstrated an interest in nutrition that were positive about seeking nutritional information.

3.3. Taste Drives Intake. Most participants agreed that nutrition and being a healthy weight were important to them but taste was declared the most important factor. The appearance and nutritional content of food also rated highly. One student remarked that the only time he did not use the calorie labels to make a lower calorie choice was a when a certain food "looked really good." Although many students considered nutrition information to be important, and widespread poor nutritional knowledge was evident. Very few students could correctly identify their energy requirements or understand the role of calories in achieving energy balance: "They're {calories} something that builds up inside your intestine." This is despite studying nutrition in the mandatory health class.

3.4. Calorie Labels and Health. Most students considered displaying the calorie amounts to be important and one student expressed a desire for restaurants to also have the calorie counts on display. Although many of the interviewees had an awareness of the connection between obesity and chronic disease, a small number believed maintaining a healthy weight was primarily associated with image. When asked was nutrition information important to maintain a healthy weight, one student replied that he did not "judge people by their looks." Furthermore, some students admitted having no interest in nutrition "I saw the calories but I didn't use them."

TABLE 3: Five significant themes.

Themes	Quotations
Theme 1: Students want nutrition information and felt it was a school	I's duty to help them achieve and maintain a healthy weight.
Students want schools to provide nutrition information to help	"They 're {labels} good and I think they should start showing them
them make healthier food choices and achieve a healthy weight.	more often"
Students wanted the school to	"I think they should put those little signs back up"
(i) provide the calorie labels at point of purchase,	More "variety of fruit and vegetables" "selections of healthy food",
(ii) provide more opportunities for activity,	"food with less fat" and "with lower calories"
(iii) discuss nutrition more in the classroom	"Give extra time at recess. Cause they talked about an hour of
(iv) only give healthy choices at lunch,	exercise that you need every day in health class"
(v) announce what the healthy cafeteria options are everyday	"offer sweet things less frequently"
	"with labels they're {school}, at least, attempting to do something
Students recognized that the school was trying to take measures to	about it"
combat obesity.	"My teacher mentioned the labels once and that's when I went
······································	looking for them"
Many students want classroom based nutritional education	"I think they should have an assembly and talk to everybody about
alongside menu labeling in the cafeteria	labels"
The set 2 for the target of targ	
Theme 2: Student understanding of nutrition and use of nutritional in	nformation were related to nome environment.
Students with parents who discussed nutrition at home and used	"Sometimes my dad just tells me we gotta eat healthy"
nutritional labels were more likely to	"she {mother} likes it when things have labels so that she can make
(i) notice and use the lunchroom labels	a choice"
(ii) use nutritional labels on prepackaged food	"I'd go home and talk to my parents and tell them what we had at
(iii) have a greater overall awareness about putrition and healthy	school and we would talk about it"
(iii) have a greater overall awareness about nutrition and nearing	"We look up to see how much sugar it has for fun. We just start
(iv) place greater importance on putrition in general	guessing, then someone gets it right"
(iv) place greater importance on nutrition in general	"My mom, my sisters and me. We look at the nutrition label thing"
	Q. "how is it that you make decisions about what you're gonna
Students who did not discuss nutrition at home	eat?" A. "My dad, he usually just says he eats what he wants"
(i) had poor nutritional knowledge,	"We just, kind of, eat whatever there is"
(ii) were less likely to use the calorie labels.	"We don't talk about nutrition"
(iii) were to assess the schools obesity problem	O. "Do you think there's a lot or a little problem with overweight at
	the school?" A. "Not that much."
Some students used their knowledge of the school calorie labels	
back in their home.	"I use it, like, when I prepare some foods at home"
Theme 3: Taste preference, putrition, and being a healthy weight are i	mortant to most of the students
Tests nutrition and appearance are the most important factors for	inportant to most of the students.
raste, nutrition, and appearance are the most important factors for	"The second monthly and the second second solutions it is from the second
students when choosing food.	Taste and portion size and to see now nearthy it is for me. Those
Taste was the most significant factor for students	are the 5 most important things.
Nutritious food needs to taste and look good in order for the	If it don't taste and look good, I'm not gonna eat it
students to eat it.	I don't really care now high the calories are as long as it tastes
Some students highly prioritized taste over nutritional content of	good
food	
Theme 4: Most but not all students admitted to noticing and using th	e calorie labels to make healthier food choices.
The students who claimed to use the labels all used them to make	"now I get something that doesn't have as much calories"
healthier lower calorie food choices.	"I didn't get the stuff I used to getI ate more fruit"
Reasons given for menu labeling use include	"I tried to grab low calorie, healthy foods and not grab junk food"
(i) helping to make lower calorie food choices,	"I had a piece of paper with me the second day to see how many
(ii) helping when comparing the calorie content of food,	calories I had during lunch"
(iii) being easier to make healthier food choices,	"I took a smaller plate of chips"
(iv) giving an idea of calories consumed at lunch each day.	"helped me choose the right food to eat"
(v) helping when choosing smaller potions.	"It helps you think about nutrition"
(vi) reminding them to think of putrition when choosing a food	1 /
Theme 5: The calorie labels and nutritionally related tonics in general	were not discussed among students
meme 5. The calorie labers and nutritionally related topics in general	"I have never board a classmate of mine say anything"
Most students did not discuss the presence of the labels in the	"At first averyone said whet's up with the feed aleries"
cafeteria with their peers.	"We did talk about it for a little bit but there we would just former and
Initial interest shown by students prompted some discussion.	we did talk about it for a fittle bit, but then we would just focus on
, <u>1 1</u>	the iooa

Some students stated the calorie labels "helped {them} make healthier choices." A positive side effect was that by choosing lower calorie items many students automatically chose lower fat foods "I switched from a side of chips to salad." Many students were surprised by the high number of calories in some foods which lead them to choosing a lower calorie alternative "I was surprised how high the calories were so I took less." In some cases the adolescents found that the labels did not impact the specific food they ate but the quantity, with many opting for smaller portions.

3.5. Not Hall Talk. When it came to the labels themselves, the color, font, size, and positioning of the labels were the main areas highlighted by the interviewees. As one student remarked "nobody would really have time just to stop right there and look at it because you have to keep on going." Another student mentioned that "when we see it big, we want to know what that is, because you notice it more." Students who did not use the labels did not mind their presence. "Some of my friends thought it was cool to have them and some of them didn't really care." Overall, most students revealed that they would like to see the calorie information displayed but that it is only useful "if people actually read it, if they don't it's a waste of time." However, most of the students interviewed stated they did not discuss the calorie labels with their friends.

4. Discussion

This mixed-method study examined both the change in gross calories consumed and students' opinions. Quantitative results demonstrated that calorie labels at the point-ofpurchase decreased caloric consumption. Although some students claimed not to notice and/or use the calorie information during the interviews, they may simply be unaware of the impact calorie labels had on their selection of food or it may be due to reluctance among some students to admit to using the calorie labels. The later reason may be a more plausible explanation as the majority of interviewees also claimed not to have discussed nutrition in general with their peers.

Students in this study believed the school is responsible for helping them achieve and maintain a healthy weight. Students wanted healthier cafeteria choices along with nutrition information to guide their food decisions and facilitate healthier eating. To demonstrate their interest, students identified a number of potential healthy eating initiatives including providing "a better variety of fruit and vegetables," "more selections of healthy food," "food with less fat," and "with lower calories."

Students also recognized that by introducing menu labels the school was trying to take measures to combat obesity, "with labels they are {school} at least attempting to do something about it." Further, this study demonstrated that students whose parents discussed nutrition at home and used nutritional labels were more likely to (1) notice and use the calorie labels, (2) use nutritional labels on prepackaged food, (3) have a greater overall awareness about nutrition and healthy eating, and (4) place a greater importance on nutrition in general. The third theme indicated that students chose products from the cafeteria based on taste, nutrition, and food appearance. Menu labeling is an intervention for which efficacy depends on other factors, such as the simultaneous availability of attractive, highly palatable items [14]. External cues and emotional and physiological drivers often override rational thought when it comes to food consumption. This is consistent with the findings of previous studies [15]. However, fruit and vegetables were also highly regarded. The results indicate a need to increase concern about nutrition, as factors such as taste and appearance still appear to be more important considerations for most students.

The majority of the students interviewed believed the availability of calorie information enabled them to make healthier, more informed purchase decisions and "not grab junk food." The positive feedback given by the interviewees corresponds with the significant decrease in gross calories and fat purchased per student recorded when calorie labels were present. The students believed the information helped them to estimate the calories they consumed at lunch and to choose smaller portion sizes. This finding is consistent with research by Girz et al. [16], who noted a decrease in portion size amongst a sample of adults when menu labels were introduced. These findings demonstrate that modifying the school environment by introducing point-of-purchase calorie labels led to a positive behavior change in students. In the current study, interviewed adolescents appeared to have a lack of awareness or to have forgotten about the importance of calorie content of food. The success of the calorie labeling may be attributed to the labels presenting a daily reminder of this information. The decrease in calories observed in this study may be partly attributed to the nutrition education that is integrated into the school curriculum. A recent meta-analysis found that when calorie labels were provided along with contextual or interpretive nutritional information, consumers selected fewer calories [17]. Interestingly, despite the decrease in gross calories purchased by students when calorie labels were present, most interviewees did not admit to discussing the labels with their peers. It has been identified in the literature that students think it is important for social reasons not to be overweight and can struggle with the pressure to be a socially desirable body weight [18]. It could be hypothesized there is some stigma attached to discussing nutritionally related topics as one student exclaimed: "we don't talk about that kind of stuff." However, the support of friends for healthy eating has been positively associated with an increase in vegetable consumption [19]. Our results indicate there are barriers when it comes to adolescents discussing nutrition with their peers. The school should encourage conversation in the area of healthy eating and nutrition to rid any stigma these topics may attract.

4.1. Strengths and Limitations of the Study. The present study has a number of strengths. The majority of studies previously conducted have examined the effects of calorie posting in fast-food or chain-style restaurants but school cafeterias have largely been neglected. The current study contributes to the limited research in this area as we analyzed the impact of calorie labeling on a school cafeteria and the students reactions to these labels. The study also measured adolescents' gross consumption rather than their behavioral intent. Consequently, social desirability bias in reporting is of less concern and internal validity is probably better than studies that only measured behavioral intent [20–22]. Participants were also exposed to the calorie information for a long period of time (17 days) in a familiar setting, whereas simulation studies of intended or hypothetical food choices fail to incorporate the social nature of food choices. The study also included both sexes, although these were not examined separately.

Weight gain can occur over time from relatively small differences between the number of calories consumed and calories expended (e.g., 50 to 100 calories per day) [4]. Conversely, calorie reductions as small as those seen in the present study may be enough to lead to sustained weight loss over time and may be more realistic than dramatic changes.

The study also has several limitations. First, the results only demonstrate the positive short-term benefits of calorie labeling and it is not possible to conclude that these results will be stable for long term due to a lack of follow-up study. Second, only one middle school, in one school district, was examined so it is unclear how demographic variables may influence responses to calorie information in other settings. Furthermore, previous studies have demonstrated that adult males tend to choose higher calorie meals than adult females. The current study design did not allow for separation by sex and therefore, we cannot ascertain if the findings were strongly influenced by just one sex [23]. Third, it was not possible to explore whether the effects of calorie information will lead to long-term weight loss or weight maintenance in the adolescent population. Moreover, our findings could have been influenced by external factors such as weather differences or physical activity expenditure differences but as we conducted our study over the winter period on the same number of contact days we have minimized this influence to the extent possible. It is also possible that children consumed fewer calories at school during the intervention but compensated for these calories later in the day; we have not measured this aspect. We also acknowledge that we assessed gross calories based on food selection rather than food intake and therefore we can only state that children selected fewer calories. These findings provide preliminary insight into middle school student behavior. Additional research in different settings with different age groups is warranted. For example, Yamamoto et al. [20] demonstrated that calorie information influenced reported purchase intentions at some food outlets but not others. These results suggest that our findings may apply to some school settings but not all. In any case the current study contributes to the limited literature available in the area of calorie labeling in school settings.

5. Conclusions

No single solution will reverse the adolescent obesity epidemic. Calorie labels in schools are no exception but they may be part of the solution. As part of a broader movement, calorie labeling may induce systemic effects that over time could initiate a virtuous cycle. For instance, publishing caloric data at the point-of-purchase in schools could increase awareness and change student purchasing decisions outside of the school setting, leading to fewer calories consumed. The results of this CBPR study are encouraging and indicate that calorie labeling has a beneficial effect on student food choices. Calorie labels at the point-of-purchase are a promising approach to tackling the growing problem of adolescent obesity.

Conflict of Interests

The authors declare that there is no conflict of interests regarding the publication of this paper.

Authors' Contribution

Monica Hunsberger conceptualized the study and collected data with coauthors and community partners. Paul McGinnis, Beth Ann Beamer, and Jamie Smith assisted in conceptualizing the study and collecting data and Jean O'Malley completed all statistical analyses. All authors worked on manuscript preparation and final edits.

Acknowledgments

The authors wish to give special thanks to Patti Jobe and her staff for their planning and assistance. This study would not have been possible if not for their extra work on measurement days. Vicki Anderson and Margie Long are both teachers and members of the CBPR advisory board that significantly helped with the planning of this study and the authors thank them for sharing their knowledge. They would also like to thank the Mt. View Community Based-Participatory Research Group that included a myriad of community partners whose wisdom guided their study design. On behalf of the Mountain View Community Health Improvement & Research Partnership.

References

- K. R. Fontaine, D. T. Redden, C. Wang, A. O. Westfall, and D. B. Allison, "Years of life lost due to obesity," *Journal of the American Medical Association*, vol. 289, no. 2, pp. 187–193, 2003.
- [2] S. D. H. Malnick and H. Knobler, "The medical complications of obesity," *QIM*, vol. 99, no. 9, pp. 565–579, 2006.
- [3] A. L. Rosenbloom, J. H. Silverstein, S. Amemiya, P. Zeitler, and G. J. Klingensmith, "Type 2 diabetes in children and adolescents," *Pediatric Diabetes*, vol. 10, no. 12, pp. 17–32, 2009.
- [4] Institute of Medicine, "Committee on prevention of obesity in children and youth," in *Preventing Childhood Obesity: Health in the Balance*, J. P. Koplan, C. T. Liverman, and V. I. Kraak, Eds., National Academies Press, Washington, DC, USA, 2005.
- [5] R. R. Briefel, M. K. Crepinsek, C. Cabili, A. Wilson, and P. M. Gleason, "School food environments and practices affect dietary behaviors of US public school children," *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*, vol. 109, no. 2, pp. S91–S107, 2009.

- [6] B. Bollinger, P. Leslie, and A. Sorensen, *Calorie Posting in Chain Restaurants*, Stanford University, Stanford, Calif, USA, 2010.
- [7] C. A. Roberto, P. D. Larsen, H. Agnew, J. Baik, and K. D. Brownell, "Evaluating the impact of menu labeling on food choices and intake," *The American Journal of Public Health*, vol. 100, no. 2, pp. 312–318, 2010.
- [8] N. Becker, "Grassroots efforts behind restaurant menu labeling legislation," *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*, vol. 110, no. 11, article 1633, 2010.
- [9] K. Stein, "A national approach to restaurant menu labeling: the patient protection and affordable health care act, Section 4205," *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*, vol. 110, no. 9, pp. 1280–1289, 2010.
- [10] A. A. Hedley, C. L. Ogden, C. L. Johnson, M. D. Carroll, L. R. Curtin, and K. M. Flegal, "Prevalence of overweight and obesity among US children, adolescents, and adults, 1999– 2002," *Journal of the American Medical Association*, vol. 291, no. 23, pp. 2847–2850, 2004.
- [11] M. T. Conklin, D. A. Cranage, and C. U. Lambert, "Nutrition information at point of selection affects food chosen by high school students," *Journal of Child Nutrition & Management*, vol. 20, no. 2, pp. 97–108, 2005.
- [12] P. B. McGinnis, M. Hunsberger, M. Davis, J. Smith, B. A. Beamer, and D. D. Hastings, "Transitioning from CHIP to CHIRP: Blending community health development with community-based participatory research," *Family and Community Health*, vol. 33, no. 3, pp. 228–237, 2010.
- [13] S. Kvale and S. Brinkmann, InterViews: Learning the Craft of Qualitative Research Interviewing, Sage, 2nd edition, 2009.
- [14] M. Berman and R. Lavizzo-Mourey, "Obesity prevention in the information age: caloric information at the point of purchase," *Journal of the American Medical Association*, vol. 300, no. 4, pp. 433–435, 2008.
- [15] C. Shannon, M. Story, J. A. Fulkerson, and S. A. French, "Factors in the school cafeteria influencing food choices by high school students," *Journal of School Health*, vol. 72, no. 6, pp. 229–234, 2002.
- [16] L. Girz, J. Polivy, C. P. Herman, and H. Lee, "The effects of calorie information on food selection and intake," *International Journal of Obesity*, vol. 36, no. 10, pp. 1340–1345, 2012.
- [17] S. E. Sinclair, M. Cooper, and E. D. Mansfied, "The influence of menu labeling on calories selected or consumed: a systematic review and meta-analysis," *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics*, vol. 114, no. 9, pp. 1375–1388, 2014.
- [18] R. Dixey, P. Sahota, S. Atwal, and A. Turner, "Children talking about healthy eating: data from focus groups with 300 9-11-yearolds," *Nutrition Bulletin*, vol. 26, no. 1, pp. 71–79, 2001.
- [19] N. Pearson, K. Ball, and D. Crawford, "Predictors of changes in adolescents'consumption of fruits, vegetables and energy-dense snacks," *British Journal of Nutrition*, vol. 105, no. 5, pp. 795–803, 2011.
- [20] J. A. Yamamoto, J. B. Yamamoto, B. E. Yamamoto, and L. G. Yamamoto, "Adolescent fast food and restaurant ordering behavior with and without calorie and fat content menu information," *Journal of Adolescent Health*, vol. 37, no. 5, pp. 397–402, 2005.
- [21] M. T. Conklin, D. A. Cranage, and C. U. Lambert, "College students' use of point of selection nutrition information," *Topics in Clinical Nutrition*, vol. 20, no. 2, pp. 97–108, 2005.
- [22] S. Burton, E. H. Creyer, J. Kees, and K. Huggins, "Attacking the obesity epidemic: the potential health benefits of providing

nutrition information in restaurants," *The American Journal of Public Health*, vol. 96, no. 9, pp. 1669–1675, 2006.

[23] A. Levi, K. K. Chan, and D. Pence, "Real men do not read labels: the effects of masculinity and involvement on college students' food decisions," *Journal of American College Health*, vol. 55, no. 2, pp. 91–98, 2006.

Research Article

Reducing Hispanic Children's Obesity Risk Factors in the First 1000 Days of Life: A Qualitative Analysis

Jennifer A. Woo Baidal,^{1,2} Shaniece Criss,³ Roberta E. Goldman,^{3,4} Meghan Perkins,² Courtney Cunningham,² and Elsie M. Taveras²

¹Division of Gastroenterology and Nutrition, Boston Children's Hospital, 300 Longwood Avenue, Boston, MA 02115, USA ²Division of General Academic Pediatrics, Department of Pediatrics, Massachusetts General Hospital, 100 Cambridge Street,

15th floor, Boston, MA 02114, USA

³Department of Social and Behavioral Sciences, Harvard School of Public Health, 677 Huntington Avenue,

Kresge Building, Boston, MA 02115, USA

⁴Warren Alpert Medical School, Brown University, 111 Brewster Street, Pawtucket, RI 02860, USA

Correspondence should be addressed to Jennifer A. Woo Baidal; jennifer.woobaidal@childrens.harvard.edu

Received 24 July 2014; Revised 19 October 2014; Accepted 20 October 2014

Academic Editor: Li Ming Wen

Copyright © 2015 Jennifer A. Woo Baidal et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Objectives. Modifiable behaviors during the first 1000 days (conception age 24 months) mediate Hispanic children's obesity disparities. We aimed to examine underlying reasons for early life obesity risk factors and identify potential early life intervention strategies. *Methods.* We conducted 7 focus groups with 49 Hispanic women who were pregnant or had children < age 24 months. Domains included influences on childhood obesity risk factors and future intervention ideas. We analyzed data with immersion-crystallization methods until no new themes emerged. *Results.* Themes included coping with pregnancy may trump healthy eating and physical activity; early life weight gain is unrelated to later life obesity; fear of infant hunger drives bottle and early solids introduction; beliefs about infant taste promote early solids and sugary beverage introduction; and belief that screen time promotes infant development. Mothers identified physicians, nutritionists, and relatives as important health information sources and expressed interest in mobile technology and group or home visits for interventions. *Conclusion.* Opportunities exist in the first 1000 days to improve Hispanic mothers' understanding of the role of early life weight gain in childhood obesity and other obesity risk factors. Interventions that link health care and public health systems and include extended family may prevent obesity among Hispanic children.

1. Introduction

Emerging national data suggests a plateau in obesity prevalence among children in the USA [1]. Yet all age groups continue to have high obesity prevalence, with 16.9% US children aged 2–12 years affected by obesity [1]. Socioeconomic and racial/ethnic disparities in childhood obesity persist and appear to be widening [1–4]. Hispanic children of age 2–5 years have a fivefold higher prevalence of obesity compared to non-Hispanic white counterparts, suggesting that the etiologies of disparities in childhood obesity start early in life [5, 6]. The first 1000 days of life—conception through 24 months of age—are recognized as a critical period for optimal nutrition and development [7]. Racial/ethnic differences in modifiable risk factors for childhood obesity exist during pregnancy, infancy, and early childhood [8–12]. Among Hispanic children, nonexclusive breastfeeding, early introduction of solid foods, sugar-sweetened beverage intake, screen time, insufficient sleep, and other modifiable behaviors during infancy and early childhood contribute substantially to racial/ethnic disparities in mid-childhood obesity [13]. The underlying reasons for these racial/ethnic differences in early life risk factors are unknown. In order to reduce racial/ethnic

Domain	Pregnancy groups	Infancy groups	Early childhood groups
Health information sources	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
Beliefs about weight gain during respective life course period	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
Beliefs about and influences on formation of obesity risk factors			
(i) Infant/child bottle use and breastfeeding	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
(ii) Introduction of solid foods to infant/child		\checkmark	\checkmark
(iii) Infant/child ability to self-regulate feeding		\checkmark	\checkmark
(iv) Infant/child sleep		\checkmark	\checkmark
(v) Infant/child screen time		\checkmark	\checkmark
(vi) Sugar-sweetened beverage intake and diet quality during respective life course period	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
(vii) Physical activity during pregnancy	\checkmark		
Parental explanatory factors for childhood obesity	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
Prospective future interventions to reduce childhood obesity	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark

TABLE 1: Focus group discussion guide domains according to focus group type.

disparities in childhood obesity, root origins of obesity risk factors and unique approaches to prevent obesity in Hispanic children during the first 1000 days of life must be identified.

The overall goals of this qualitative study were to examine the underlying reasons for early life obesity risk factors during pregnancy, infancy, and early childhood among Hispanic families and to identify intervention strategies that have the potential to reduce obesity risk factors early in life. Qualitative methods are uniquely suited to reveal beliefs that lead to different behaviors in minority populations, and focus group discussions allow for observation of psychosocial dynamics that would not be identified in interviews. We aimed to identify beliefs and perceptions of pregnancy health; perceptions of and influences on infant and child weight gain, diet, screen time, and insufficient sleep; maternal explanatory factors for childhood obesity; and potentially effective future obesity prevention intervention approaches among Hispanic families.

2. Methods

2.1. Study Setting and Participants. We conducted a total of 7 semistructured focus group discussions with Hispanic mothers at three life stages: 2 groups of women during pregnancy, 3 groups of mothers of infants (birth to age <7 months), and 2 groups of mothers of children in early childhood (age 7 months to 24 months). Women with a prenatal visit for a singleton gestation were eligible for pregnancy groups. Parents (mothers or fathers) of children between birth and age 6.9 months were eligible for enrollment in infancy groups, and those with children of age 7 through 24 months were eligible for early childhood groups. Pregnant women and parents of infants and children under 2 years of age who could respond to questions in English or Spanish were eligible for recruitment. We excluded families for whom (1) the pregnant woman or eligible caretaker was under 18 years of age, (2) the pregnant woman or child had chronic medical conditions that interfered with growth, nutrition, or

physical activity, or (3) the health care provider thought study participation was inappropriate.

Research staff recruited patients who had an outpatient visit for routine prenatal or pediatric care at a federally qualified community health center (CHC) with a multispecialty provider group in eastern Massachusetts that serves a racial/ethnically and socioeconomically diverse population. A total of 96 eligible parents were recruited for focus groups, among which 18 were ineligible, 29 declined to participate (16 uninterested, 8 unavailable at time of focus group, 3 unable to find child care, and 2 unable to obtain transportation), and 49 elected to participate. We provided \$40 for participation and \$20 to reimburse for childcare and travel.

2.2. Data Collection. The research team developed a focus group discussion guide over multiple meetings. Table 1 shows discussion guide domains which included (1) perceptions of weight gain during respective life stage; (2) explanatory factors for development of childhood obesity; (3) beliefs about obesity risk factors; and (4) perceptions of potential future interventions.

We conducted all focus groups at the CHC between July 2013 and January 2014. We set an initial target of 6 focus group discussions (2 for each life course stage), but we added a third infancy group for consistency in sample size across life course stages. At recruitment, each participant completed a brief survey asking general demographic questions such as age, educational attainment, and number of children in household. For each focus group, a professional bilingual moderator, whose race/ethnicity was concordant with the participants', facilitated the discussions to enhance the comfort level of participants. The same moderator conducted all focus groups. The moderator was trained on study aims and discussion guide questions through a half-day session and recurrent study team phone calls. The focus groups were primarily in Spanish with some English interpretation. Bilingual study staff members took notes during discussions, and team members debriefed after each focus group. Discussions were

	Pregnancy groups ($N = 17$)	Infancy groups ($N = 15$)	Early childhood groups ($N = 17$)
Parent/family characteristic			
Maternal age, years, and mean (SD)	25.6 (6.4)	25.6 (7.5)	27.9 (6.1)
Education, high school graduate, n (%)	13 (76%)	9 (60%)	12 (71%)
Nulliparous, n (%)	14 (82%)	10 (67%)	6 (35%)
Married/cohabiting, <i>n</i> (%)	11 (65%)	9 (60%)	10 (59%)
US-born, <i>n</i> (%)	6 (35%)	7 (47%)	6 (35%)
Language comfort			
Spanish-only	9 (53%)	4 (27%)	3 (18%)
Either English or Spanish	8 (47%)	11 (73%)	13 (76%)
Gestational age (months)	5.1 (1.8)	n/a	n/a
Child characteristics			
Age (months)	n/a	2.8 (2.0)	14.3 (5.3)

TABLE 2: Mother and child characteristics according to focus group discussion participation. Data from 49 Hispanic mothers.

audio-recorded and transcribed verbatim in Spanish, and then professionally translated to English. Participants were assigned random numbers to replace identifying information and protect confidentiality. The institutional review board at Massachusetts General Hospital *for* Children approved the study protocols. All participants provided informed, written consent prior to participation.

2.3. Analytic Approach. We conducted content analysis of the transcribed focus group discussions using immersioncrystallization techniques [14]. Immersion-crystallization is an iterative analytic approach with two stages: immersion and crystallization. During the immersion process, researchers immerse themselves in the data collected by reading data in detail. During crystallization, researchers analyze the data examined during the immersion process for important patterns and themes. The immersion and crystallization processes are continued until no new patterns or themes emerge. Specifically, research team members (JWB, SC, CC, and REG) read the transcripts and discussed the data as a group repeatedly to determine topical content and emerging themes. Research team members took detailed notes during meetings. Following the immersion-crystallization processes, we developed and refined a codebook through iterative discussions. We used NVivo 10 software to import transcripts, code the data, and organize codes. Two members of the research team (SC and CC) coded one transcript and reviewed consistency of coding to ensure consensus on categorization of the data. One member of the team (SC) coded all remaining transcripts. We then used the code reports to continue content analysis and interpretation of themes [15]. We continued analysis until no new major themes emerged and we resolved discrepancies at research team meetings. The bilingual focus group moderator and study staff present at focus group discussions agreed with data interpretation.

3. Results

3.1. Participant Characteristics. Table 2 shows characteristics of the 49 mothers who participated. Mean maternal age was 26.4 (SD 6.6) years. Mean gestational age in pregnancy groups

was 5.1 (SD 1.8) months. Mean child age was 2.8 (SD 2.0) months in infancy groups and 14.3 (5.3) months in early childhood groups. More than half of the women were born outside USA, and most spoke both Spanish and English.

3.2. Beliefs and Perceptions of Pregnancy Health. Table 3 shows themes related to pregnancy health.

Mothers Coping with Their Own Physical Changes during Pregnancy May Trump Healthy Eating and Physical Activity. Most women in all seven groups believed that the keys to a healthy pregnancy lie in healthy eating and physical activity. Many women in the pregnancy groups reported improving dietary habits during pregnancy by consuming a balanced diet of fruit, vegetables, dairy, and lean proteins, while avoiding fast food and soda. However, some reported that nausea made tolerating healthy foods difficult, saying "Most food hurts me, so I feel like my stomach is heavy...vegetables, that I know are good and I've always liked, they make me feel like vomiting" (Pregnancy Group). Instead cravings or nausea led to consumption of foods that they perceived as unhealthy (i.e., fried and salty foods and candy).

In all seven groups, most women noted that physical activity during pregnancy is important to improve comfort, reduce duration of labor, and enhance maternal energy and health. Many women reported lack of physical activity because they were tired, more easily fatigued, or felt uncomfortable with their pregnancy weight. One woman said, "I am not doing any physical activity because of laziness. Because before I was studying. I went back and forth on foot. And now that I'm done studying—and I say I'm not going to get out of bed" (Pregnancy Group). Although some women believed that physical activity during pregnancy could improve offspring's health, none linked it to prevention of excessive gestational weight gain or childhood obesity.

Weight Extremes Should Be Avoided during Pregnancy. Most women believed that it is possible to have excessive gestational weight gain, and some equated its health risks to those of insufficient weight gain. Perceived complications of excessive gestational weight gain included difficult labor, need for cesarean section, and maternal health complications. TABLE 3: Themes related to weight gain and obesity risk factors in pregnancy, infancy, and early childhood among Hispanic women. (n = 49).

Beliefs and perceptions of pregnancy health

(i) Coping with own physical changes during pregnancy may trump healthy eating and physical activity

(ii) Weight extremes should be avoided during pregnancy

Perceptions of and influences on infant and child weight gain, feeding, screen time, and sleep

(i) Excess child weight gain in first years of life is possible but inconsequential

(ii) Maternal fear of infant hunger drives nonexclusive breastfeeding and addition of solid foods to bottles

(iii) Mothers feel responsible for ensuring infant satiety

(iv) Family beliefs about infant taste promote early introduction of solid foods and sugar-sweetened beverage intake

(v) Variation in maternal knowledge about healthy beverage choices for children

(vi) Maternal belief that screen time in the first two years of life is important for child development

(vii) Sleep routines should start in early life

Maternal explanatory factors for childhood obesity

(i) Maternal belief that early life weight gain impacts health but is unrelated to later life obesity

(ii) Overfeeding and early introduction of "adult" foods lead to childhood obesity

None identified maternal weight status or gestational weight gain as a risk factor for childhood obesity. All women had heard the popular expression that "pregnant women are eating for two" and none agreed with it. Several thought it was important to eat a variety of healthy foods to provide the right nutrients to their baby, rather than to gain enough weight for two people. One woman stated, "It's not eating for two, but knowing how to eat, for the baby you're carrying" (Pregnancy Group).

3.3. Perceptions of and Influences on Infant and Child Weight Gain, Feeding, Screen Time, and Sleep. Table 3 includes themes related to infant and child weight gain, feeding, screen time, and sleep.

Excess Child Weight Gain in First Years of Life Is Possible but Inconsequential. In infancy and early childhood groups, almost all mothers believed that infants and children under age 2 years could gain too much weight. When asked, several mothers disagreed with the popular saying "a chubby baby is a healthy baby." A few mothers in the infancy and early childhood groups did worry about their infant or child's risk for obesity and discussed their desire to prevent their infant from becoming obese. However, most mothers believed that excess weight in this age group, while possible, was not a problem unless specifically told otherwise by their pediatrician, stating that "you feed them what they want, and later when they start getting older they'll start knocking off some of the pounds" (Infancy Group).

Many mothers in infancy and early childhood groups had discussed their child's weight with a pediatrician and reviewed their child's growth charts. Most mothers reported that pediatricians are a trusted source of information on child weight gain. However, a few mothers had been told that their child was obese and did not believe the pediatrician. They either cited their own instincts as a mother as better than the doctor's medical knowledge or their own belief that there are not consequences to excess weight early in childhood.

Maternal Fear of Infant Hunger Drives Nonexclusive Breastfeeding and Addition of Solid Foods to Bottles. Although mothers in pregnancy, infancy, and early childhood groups identified exclusive breastfeeding as the best option for feeding their newborn, some mothers in infancy groups feared that breastfeeding did not provide sufficient nutrition for their baby. Several women reported concerns that inadequate breast milk production left their infant hungry, and a few women pumped to check the volume of breast milk produced. According to one mother, "I feel like I'm not giving her enough...because I do not see the amount coming out...when you do formula, you know how much you're giving...so I started pumping to see how much I could pump" (Infancy Group). Fear regarding inadequate breast milk volume led to supplemental or exclusive bottle feedings by some mothers.

Despite most mothers recognizing that solid foods should be introduced at or around 4–6 months of age, solids in the form of cereal, purees, or sugar added to bottles appeared to be an exception to this rule. "I've given my son, at three months old, rice cereal in his formula. There's nothing wrong with it in my opinion because the rice cereal has iron, it has protein, it has vitamins. . .And he sleeps more at night," according to one mother (Early Childhood Group). Mothers also reasoned that adding solids to bottles helped infants feel full, gain more weight, calm down, and receive adequate nutrition. Female family members were common sources of advice and example on feeding routines, including adding cereal and other solid foods to bottles.

Mothers Feel Responsible for Ensuring Infant Satiety. All mothers in all infancy and early childhood groups believed that they were attuned to their child's hunger and satiety cues. Several mothers believed that parents must feed their child under age 6 months until they were full. One mother explained, "I think that if he's younger than six months you have to [feed] him until you think [he's full] since they do not know, but from six months on, they—they know how much they want, and they make [it] known" (Early Childhood Group). Most mothers in infancy groups believed it was important for children to be full and cited satiety cues of losing interest in feeding, having a hard stomach, pushing the bottle away with hand or tongue, sighing, or falling asleep. Mothers in infancy groups commonly noted infant hunger cues of sucking/rooting, putting hand in mouth, and crying. In infancy groups, all mothers thought on-demand feeding was preferable. However, several still kept track of time between feeds, woke infants to feed, or fed infants while they were asleep.

Although most mothers in the early childhood groups showed confidence in their child's ability to express a desire for certain food or drink compared to when they were infants, they also noted that children might ask for food or drink for reasons other than hunger. "Sometimes kids want to keep eating and actually they do not need it. . .we mothers have to be very careful. . .because the baby can. . .gain weight that is not appropriate. . .that's what I always ask when I go to the nutritionist, is she OK for her age?" (Early Childhood Group). Mothers worried that eating in the absence of hunger could lead to childhood obesity, and they received advice from the Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and Children (WIC) nutritionists on portion sizes and balanced meals.

Family Beliefs about Infant Taste Development Promote Early Introduction of Solid Foods and Sugar-Sweetened Beverage Intake. Almost all mothers in infancy and early childhood groups described family beliefs that infants should experience a variety of foods to develop taste preferences, some starting as young as 1 month of age. Most reported that her child's grandmothers, aunts, fathers, and other male relatives "want to give her beans, rice, they want to give her food, on the contrary, not milk, food" (Infancy Group). Relatives fed young infants chocolate, fruits, lollipops, cookies, meats ground with beans or rice, and sports beverages. A few mothers gave their young children sports drinks or sodas because they perceived that after 1 year of age it is important to teach children to "taste." One mother explained, "I give her juice, and she's also tried soda. They have to try everything...so she (learns) the taste of everything" (Early Childhood Group). While a few mothers and reportedly many extended family members believed "tastes" of these foods would teach the child to eat or not eat certain foods, others, mainly male relatives, reportedly had a desire to provide larger food portions to make the child stronger. Most mothers expressed frustration with these practices, and several worried they could lead to development of illness, such as diarrhea. Most mothers did not feel empowered to change their relative's behaviors, but many did try to discuss their concerns with family members.

Variation in Maternal Knowledge about Healthy Beverage Choices for Children. Mothers stressed a preference for providing homemade or 100% juice as "natural" beverage options for children. "Well if it's 100 percent they are [healthy]... I make him his juice from the fruit itself, natural" (Early Childhood Group). Several reported diluting juice with water based on advice from pediatricians or WIC providers. Many mothers did not give their children soda, and a few participants discussed reading labels to avoid giving children beverages with added sugar. However, several mothers in early childhood groups did not distinguish between fruit drinks, sports drinks, and punch. Notably, one mother perceived that, unlike juice, sports drinks did not make her child hyperactive, stating "I give him more [sports drinks] than juice...because [sports drinks] contains minerals that the body needs..., and he does not get active or very hyperactive like [with] juices." Some mothers worried that giving juice or sugar-sweetened beverages to their child could make them hyperactive, but none spoke about concerns for sugarcontaining beverages leading to obesity or other adverse health outcomes.

Maternal Belief That Screen Time in the First Two Years of Life Is Important for Child Development. All mothers in all infant and early childhood groups disagreed with the recommendation that children of age 2 years should not watch television, and some felt very strongly that television viewing was important for their child's visual and cognitive development. One mother stated, "It's good because she watches [learning videos] and then she learns more" (Infancy Group).

All mothers reported that their infants and young children watched television regularly, most for 1-2 hours daily. Some mothers reported that their infant or child routinely went to sleep while watching television, explaining "I have to put on the TV for her to fall asleep because she started watching television at three months and I would take her out and she cried, cried, cried" (Infancy Group). No mother reported being told by their pediatrician that their child should not watch television. Even if a pediatrician were to advise that their infant or child should not watch television, several mothers said they would seek additional information from other sources or would want evidence of a negative impact on child vision or cognitive development before they would reduce or eliminate their child's screen time. No mothers identified screen time as a risk factor for childhood obesity.

Sleep Routines Should Start in Early Life. In the infancy groups, mothers reported their children slept 10–16 hours, but all agreed that infants should sleep 14-16 hours over a 24-hour period. Most mothers in infancy groups thought sleep routines should start between 2-4 months of age, but several thought they should start after 6 months of age. In early childhood groups, mothers thought sleep routines should start at birth. Family members, the Internet, and television shows were cited by a few as sources of advice. "My grandfather would tell me that ever since he was born I should get him used to sleeping at night," according to one mother (Infancy). No one mentioned discussing child sleep routines with their pediatrician. In order to get their children to fall asleep, mothers changed positions, rocked them, gave them baths, snuggled with them, or gave them food or milk because they believed a full stomach would allow longer sleep. A few mothers thought that daytime physical activity was key to their child getting a good night's sleep. No mother recognized that curtailed sleep is a risk factor for childhood obesity.

3.4. *Maternal Explanatory Factors for Childhood Obesity.* Table 3 shows themes related to maternal explanatory factors for childhood obesity.

Maternal Belief That Early Life Weight Gain Impacts Health but Is Unrelated to Later Life Obesity. Many women in pregnancy groups believed that excessive gestational weight gain has negative impacts on infant health but did not include childhood obesity as a potential outcome. Many women discussed believing that maternal weight status and pregnancy weight gain do not contribute to childhood obesity and that child nutrition after birth was the most important contributor to childhood obesity. In infancy groups and early childhood groups, most mothers believed children could gain too much weight during the first 2 years of life.

In each life course period, most mothers did not identify early life weight gain as a risk factor for childhood obesity later in life. Mothers expressed a sense of hopelessness in being able to control future child weight status, and one said "I think the appetite could change... I'm assuming that it just depends on how you grow yourself... I think it's the baby. Not exactly what you're doing" (Infancy Group). Some women also demonstrated a lack of awareness that obesity could herald future diabetes risk, and a few women thought that diabetes could lead to obesity. One mother stated, "You cannot really control [development of childhood obesity]...if you have diabetes when you're pregnant, all kids are bound to be big, and then you have some [pregnant women] that eat a lot, and the babies come out five pounds, so it's like you cannot really control it" (Pregnancy Group). Several women strongly believed that the only explanation for overweight or obesity in young children would be a medical cause.

Overfeeding and Early Introduction of "Adult" Foods Lead to Childhood Obesity. In infancy and early childhood groups, mothers most commonly discussed feeding practices as the etiology of childhood obesity. Some mothers explained that overfeeding early in life could lead to a larger appetite or even an irreversible and potentially dangerous expansion of children's stomachs stating that "I know people who have damaged their stomachs giving them food, feeding them... giving them food that is not [right] for their bodies and they open the belly with, it gives them more extra room" (Infancy). Mothers cited an unhealthy diet as another cause for childhood obesity.

Several mothers also noted that family and cultural influences on introduction of table foods before 6 months of age could lead to excess weight gain. "Dominicans—I include myself—for excess weight—that they feed him too much at a very early age, so they encourage him to eat from the time [they're] small. Food—rice, beans, meat...way before [6 months of age]" (Early Childhood). However, many mothers disagreed with this idea and did not believe that early introduction of solid foods caused obesity.

3.5. Potential Effective Childhood Obesity Prevention Interventions Strategies. Mothers identified topics and strategies for future interventions to prevent childhood obesity among Hispanic families. Mothers were interested in learning more about feeding and nutrition (including breastfeeding, formula selection, and how to prepare baby food at home), sleep routines and sleep training, child weight gain, and normal child development. For topics related to screen time, mothers felt strongly that they needed more information that demonstrated a negative impact on vision or cognitive development in order to make behavior changes.

Almost all mothers showed interest in group classes to learn more about caring for their child. Mothers valued not just information but also hearing the experience of other mothers. Most mothers also wanted more easily accessible information from pediatricians. Text messaging, telephone support, email, health coaches, WIC parenting groups, and established Internet sources were reported as potential avenues for interventions. A few mothers were interested in home visits, and several reported interest in mailed brochures to reduce reliance on Internet access and enhance the accessibility of information for family members.

Family members were viewed as stubborn and difficult to change. Because of the influence of relatives on child feeding practices and childcare, some mothers noted that interventions should not just target mothers, they should also include fathers and other family members. Some mothers thought that interventions that provided evidencebased information in print or on the Internet would be the most convincing way to change their family members' habits.

4. Discussion

In this qualitative study of Hispanic mothers with children in the first 1000 days of life, we found that mothers were unaware of the critical role that weight status from gestation through 2 years of age plays in future development of childhood obesity. Mothers did not recognize that early introduction of cereals and purees, screen time, or insufficient sleep are modifiable early life risk factors for childhood obesity. We found that mothers desired childhood obesity prevention interventions based on health care and public health systems and wanted interventions to include extended family members.

Our study provides information about the origins of risk factors for childhood obesity and highlights opportunities to intervene during the earliest moments of life to prevent development of obesity risk factors among Hispanic families, a population that carries disproportionate burden of childhood obesity. Black non-Hispanic children are also affected by disparities in childhood obesity, and a recent qualitative study by Herring et al. similarly found that pregnant African-American women believed that physical symptoms of pregnancy impact gestational diet quality and high gestational weight gain is bad for maternal health [16]. However, unlike our findings, African-American women in Herring's study had many perceptions that encouraged high gestational weight gain and they did not believe that high gestational weight gain is harmful for infants [16]. Our study provides information to inform future culturally appropriate health messages for Hispanic women during pregnancy and early life.

Journal of Obesity

Similar to our study, a prior content analysis of motivational counseling phone calls among predominantly non-Hispanic white women during the postpartum period found that mothers identified crying and fussiness as signs of hunger, supplemented with bottles immediately after feeds to ensure fullness, and fed their children to soothe overnight [17]. Our results suggest these feeding practices, which can promote overfeeding, may cross cultural boundaries.

Our research also extends previous findings among older Hispanic children to earlier stages in the life course. In a recent qualitative study of Mexican origin mothers with elementary school-aged children, Martinez et al. found that mothers felt primarily responsible for ensuring their children were well-fed [18]. In our study, we identified that other family members, such as fathers and grandmothers, are influential in child feeding patterns that increase childhood obesity risk. Similar to our results, another qualitative study in 2005-2006 by Lindsay et al. found that family members, particularly grandmothers, challenged eating habits that Hispanic mothers set for their children [19]. We also learned that mothers had limited confidence in their ability to influence behavioral change among other family members.

Unlike Lindsay et al., who found that Hispanic mothers believed that children should weigh more [19], we found that Hispanic mothers largely did not endorse the popular notion that "a chubby baby is a healthy baby." Social desirability bias could explain our findings, though it is more likely that our findings represent a shift in weight perception norms over the past several years secondary to widespread publicity on the dangers of obesity for adults and children.

Two of our findings were particularly striking. First, incorrect family beliefs surrounding infant taste development and satiety, as well as concerns regarding inadequate nutritional quality of breast milk and infant formula, promoted early introduction of solid foods. Introducing solid foods earlier than 4 months of age is an established risk factor for childhood obesity [12, 20] and accounts in part for Hispanic disparities in childhood obesity [8, 21]. Second, we found that all mothers firmly felt that screen time was important to learning and visual development for their infants and young children. Families also used screens to put their infants to sleep. A recent qualitative study on television use among Boston-area Hispanic and black non-Hispanic families with young children also found that families were unaware of the adverse health outcomes associated with television use [22]. Child screen time is associated with obesity, sleep disturbance, attention issues, and language delays [23]. The American Academy of Pediatrics discourages media use by children under age 2 years and recommends that pediatricians discuss these recommendations with parents [23]. Future obesity prevention interventions with Hispanic families should include culturallytailored messages to correct these beliefs and reduce early introduction of solids foods and screen time among infants and young children, including health communication insights.

Most existing qualitative research surrounding childhood obesity in Hispanic families has focused on feeding practices in school-aged children. Our study is unique in its inclusion of families at different stages in the life course and its examination of etiologies of established early life risk factors for obesity that are both dietary and nondietary in nature. Our study does have limitations. The participant sample is geographically restricted and thus could limit the ability to generalize our results. Also, all focus group participants were mothers and our findings do not include perspectives of fathers. However, any parent was eligible for enrollment and the ultimate inclusion of only mothers was likely a result of their role as primary caretakers in these families.

In summary, opportunities exist in the first 1000 days of life to improve Hispanic mothers' understanding of childhood obesity risk factors and the role of early life weight gain in later life obesity. Mothers identified interventions that link health care systems with public health systems, use multiple methods of delivery for intervention components, and include extended family members as potentially effective approaches to reduce obesity risk factors for Hispanic children early in life. Future interventions that prevent the development of obesity risk factors in the earliest stages of life and consider the social-contextual environment may reduce racial/ethnic disparities in childhood obesity and its adverse outcomes.

Conflict of Interests

The authors declare that there is no conflict of interests regarding the publication of this paper.

Acknowledgments

This study was supported by NIH Grants from R01MD003963 (EMT), 3T32DK747730 S1 (JWB), and 3R25CA057711 (SC); predoctoral training Grants from the Initiative to Maximize Student Diversity Award no. GM055353-13 (SC); and Maternal and Child Health Bureau no. T03MC07648 (SC). Its contents are solely the responsibility of the authors and do not necessarily represent the official views of the listed funding sources.

References

- C. L. Ogden, M. D. Carroll, B. K. Kit, and K. M. Flegal, "Prevalence of childhood and adult obesity in the United States, 2011-2012," *JAMA—Journal of the American Medical Association*, vol. 311, no. 8, pp. 806–814, 2014.
- [2] X. Wen, M. W. Gillman, S. L. Rifas-Shiman, B. Sherry, K. Kleinman, and E. M. Taveras, "Decreasing prevalence of obesity among young children in Massachusetts from 2004 to 2008," *Pediatrics*, vol. 129, no. 5, pp. 823–831, 2012.
- [3] C. B. Frederick, K. Snellman, and R. D. Putnam, "Increasing socioeconomic disparities in adolescent obesity," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, vol. 111, no. 4, pp. 1338–1342, 2014.
- [4] A. L. May, L. Pan, B. Sherry et al., "Vital signs: Obesity among low-income, preschool-aged children—United States, 2008– 2011," *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, vol. 62, no. 31, pp. 629–634, 2013.
- [5] Institute of Medicine, Early Childhood Obesity Prevention Policies, National Academic Press, Washington, DC, USA, 2011.

- [6] C. L. Ogden, M. D. Carroll, B. K. Kit, and K. M. Flegal, "Prevalence of obesity and trends in body mass index among US children and adolescents, 1999–2010," *JAMA—Journal of the American Medical Association*, vol. 307, no. 5, pp. 483–490, 2012.
- [7] R. E. Black, C. G. Victora, S. P. Walker et al., "Maternal and child undernutrition and overweight in low-income and middleincome countries," *The Lancet*, vol. 382, no. 9890, pp. 427–451, 2013.
- [8] E. M. Taveras, M. W. Gillman, K. Kleinman, J. W. Rich-Edwards, and S. L. Rifas-Shiman, "Racial/ethnic differences in early-life risk factors for childhood obesity," *Pediatrics*, vol. 125, no. 4, pp. 686–695, 2010.
- [9] E. M. Taveras, S. L. Rifas-Shiman, E. Oken, E. P. Gunderson, and M. W. Gillman, "Short sleep duration in infancy and risk of childhood overweight," *Archives of Pediatrics and Adolescent Medicine*, vol. 162, no. 4, pp. 305–311, 2008.
- [10] E. M. Taveras, K. H. Hohman, S. Price, S. L. Gortmaker, and K. Sonneville, "Televisions in the bedrooms of racial/ethnic minority children: How did they get there and how do we get them out?" *Clinical Pediatrics*, vol. 48, no. 7, pp. 715–719, 2009.
- [11] M. D. Nevarez, S. L. Rifas-Shiman, K. P. Kleinman, M. W. Gillman, and E. M. Taveras, "Associations of early life risk factors with infant sleep duration," *Academic Pediatrics*, vol. 10, no. 3, pp. 187–193, 2010.
- [12] S. Y. Huh, S. L. Rifas-Shiman, E. M. Taveras, E. Oken, and M. W. Gillman, "Timing of solid food introduction and risk of obesity in preschool-aged children," *Pediatrics*, vol. 127, no. 3, pp. e544– e551, 2011.
- [13] E. M. Taveras, M. W. Gillman, K. P. Kleinman, J. W. Rich-Edwards, and S. L. Rifas-Shiman, "Reducing racial/ethnic disparities in childhood obesity the role of early life risk factors," *JAMA Pediatrics*, vol. 167, no. 8, pp. 731–738, 2013.
- [14] J. Borkan, Immersion/Crystallization, Sage, Thousand Oaks, Calif, USA, 1999.
- [15] N. Mays and C. Pope, "Rigour and qualitative research," British Medical Journal, vol. 311, no. 6997, pp. 109–112, 1995.
- [16] S. J. Herring, T. Q. Henry, A. A. Klotz, G. D. Foster, and R. C. Whitaker, "Perceptions of low-income African-American mothers about excessive gestational weight gain," *Maternal and Child Health Journal*, vol. 16, no. 9, pp. 1837–1843, 2012.
- [17] S. N. Price, J. McDonald, E. Oken, J. Haines, M. W. Gillman, and E. M. Taveras, "Content analysis of motivational counseling calls targeting obesity-related behaviors among postpartum women," *Maternal and Child Health Journal*, vol. 16, no. 2, pp. 439–447, 2012.
- [18] S. M. Martinez, K. Rhee, E. Blanco, and K. Boutelle, "Maternal attitudes and behaviors regarding feeding practices in elementary school-aged latino children: a pilot qualitative study on the impact of the cultural role of mothers in the US-Mexican border region of San Diego, California," *Journal of the Academy* of Nutrition and Dietetics, vol. 114, no. 2, pp. 230–237, 2014.
- [19] A. C. Lindsay, K. M. Sussner, M. L. Greaney, and K. E. Peterson, "Latina mothers' beliefs and practices related to weight status, feeding, and the development of child overweight," *Public Health Nursing*, vol. 28, no. 2, pp. 107–118, 2011.
- [20] L. M. Wen, L. A. Baur, C. Rissel, H. Xu, and J. M. Simpson, "Correlates of body mass index and overweight and obesity of children aged 2 years: findings from the healthy beginnings trial," *Obesity*, vol. 22, no. 7, pp. 1723–1730, 2014.

- [21] E. M. Taveras, M. W. Gillman, K. P. Kleinman, J. W. Rich-Edwards, and S. L. Rifas-Shiman, "Reducing racial/ethnic disparities in childhood obesity: the role of early life risk factors," *JAMA Pediatrics*, vol. 167, no. 8, pp. 731–738, 2013.
- [22] J. Haines, A. O'Brien, J. McDonald et al., "Television viewing and televisions in bedrooms: perceptions of racial/ethnic minority parents of young children," *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, vol. 22, no. 6, pp. 749–756, 2013.
- [23] A. Brown, "Media use by children younger than 2 years," *Pediatrics*, vol. 128, pp. 1040–1045, 2011.

Research Article

Blending Better Beverage Options: A Nutrition Education and Experiential Workshop for Youths

Kathy K. Isoldi¹ and Veronika Dolar²

¹Department of Nutrition, Long Island University, 720 Northern Boulevard, Brookville, NY 11548, USA ²Department of Economics, Long Island University, 720 Northern Boulevard, Brookville, NY 11548, USA

Correspondence should be addressed to Kathy K. Isoldi; kathy.isoldi@liu.edu

Received 25 July 2014; Accepted 19 October 2014

Academic Editor: Gengsheng He

Copyright © 2015 K. K. Isoldi and V. Dolar. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Objective. To reduce intake of sugar-sweetened beverages (SSBs) in youths as a means to reduce obesity risk. *Methods.* Youths 5–14 years old attending a summer program were given a two-hour workshop addressing the sugar content in SSBs, the health risks from drinking SSBs, and hands-on preparation as well as tastings of low-sugar beverage alternatives. Data on usual intake of SSBs was obtained at baseline, and pre- and postprogram surveys were conducted to gauge change in knowledge and/or attitudes regarding SSBs. *Results.* There were 128 participants (63% male) in the program. SSBs were commonly consumed with over 80% reporting regular consumption (mean daily intake 17.9 ounces). Significant increase in knowledge regarding the sugar content of commonly consumed SSBs was achieved; however change in attitudes was not significant. The large majority of youths reported enjoying the workshop and intention to reduce intake of SSBs following program participation. *Conclusion.* SSBs are commonly consumed by youths. Knowledge regarding the sugar content of SSBs is easier to impart to youths than influencing attitudes held about these beverages. Long-term interventions that reach out to parents and address the widespread availability of SSBs are needed to influence resistant attitudes and beverage choosing behaviors in youths.

1. Introduction

An increase in the consumption of sugar-sweetened beverages (SSBs) and the prevalence of childhood obesity have occurred in tandem. In the United States (US) between 1977 and 2002 the increase in calories consumed from soft drinks and other sweetened beverages increased 230% and 170%, respectively [1]. Concurrently, the prevalence of childhood obesity increased threefold in the US, with those in minority and low-income groups experiencing higher prevalence rates [2, 3]. During this period, many other factors that increase obesity risk changed as well, such as an increase in sedentary activities, purchase of fast food, and sleep debt [4, 5]. However, SSBs are of special concern since the calories contained in this liquid form, for some reason, are not registered by the body, and therefore no dietary compensations are made following intake [6]. Instead paradoxically, researchers have found that when youths drink more SSBs it results in an increase in solid food consumption as well, with choices

like pizza, burgers, and savory snacks often chosen [7]. Mathias et al. [7] found through analysis of data collected from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Surveys (NHANES) conducted between 2003 and 2010 that for every 100 kcalories of SSB consumed by 6–11-year-olds there was an increase in solid food consumed providing an additional 36 ± 14 kcalories. Youths 12–18 years of age revealed an intake of an additional 86 ± 10 kcalories in solid food form for every 100 kcalories of SSB product consumed. Recently, several reviews have illuminated the strong connection between obesity risk and SSB intake [8–10]; however weak potency of effect on interventions has called into question the absolute strength of this association [11].

In addition to an increased risk of obesity from consuming liquid calories, the high sugar content in SSBs has been associated with an increased risk of insulin resistance, dyslipidemia, type 2 diabetes mellitus, and cardiovascular disease [1, 6, 12]. Added sugars consumed from both liquid and solid sources are associated with body weight gain in youths at risk of developing obesity [6]; however Wang et al. [13] found in their group of 564 youths who were followed for two years that consuming sugar from liquid, but not solid, sources predicted a higher risk of developing impaired glucose homeostasis and glucose resistance. Reports spanning the past decade highlight increasing consumption of SSBs among children, adolescents, and teens [1, 4, 14, 15]. Recent estimates of the mean caloric contribution from SSBs range from 117 kcal/day to as much as 356 kcal/day, with calorie contribution variations based upon age category, sex, and ethnicity [14-17]. Those in minority and low-income groups have been identified as drinking greater amounts of SSBs [18]. It has also been found that approximately 5% of children and 16% of adolescents surveyed are heavy consumers of SSBs, with intakes at or exceeding 500 kcal/day [8]. SSBs are available to youths on the school campus as well as on the home front [17, 18]. However, researchers point to data supporting that the majority of SSBs are consumed at home [15, 17].

Public health experts have made a call for action in the form of educational interventions to address the excessive SSB intake in youths and subsequent adverse health issues [1, 9, 10, 14, 16, 17, 19]. The aim of the current study was to gauge impact on knowledge and attitudes regarding SSBs following a hands-on workshop for youths delivered during summer program hours. This experiential workshop addressed the sugar content of commonly consumed SSBs and included preparation and tasting of lower sugar alternatives. The study was given exemption status from Long Island University.

2. Methods

2.1. Setting and Participants. A convenience sample of youths who were enrolled in the summer program at a local boys and girls club participated in the nutrition education and blending better beverage options workshop. This program was provided to all attendees of the summer program at one boys and girls club in Long Island in New York State. All 128 summer camp participants were included in the workshop. Participants ranged in age from 5 to 14 years old. The workshop was delivered to approximately 20 participants at a time who were divided into small groups of 6–8 youths of similar age and were seated at one work table together with two undergraduate nutrition student volunteers.

2.2. Instrument. The survey instrument was developed by the study investigators and was based upon current literature [8, 16, 18] and designed to explore knowledge and beliefs about SSBs. The survey was modified to be age-appropriate; one version was created for 5–9-year-olds and another was developed for those who were 10–14 years of age. The same questions were asked, but the language was simplified and smile and frown faces were used for improved comprehension on the survey for the younger children. All participants were offered assistance with completion of the program surveys, and the younger participants were given one-on-one assistance when needed from undergraduate nutrition student volunteers. The survey was completed before the workshop began and following the end of the two-hour program for comparison.

2.2.1. Usual Intake of SSBs. Each participant was asked to report their usual intake within four commonly consumed beverage categories (soda, sports drinks, sugar-sweetened tea and juice, and energy drinks) before the start of the workshop. For each category the participant was asked to estimate his/her frequency of consumption per week and then to estimate quantity consumed per frequency. Sample cans and bottles and representative glassware were displayed at each table to assist the participants in estimating the quantity of SSBs consumed. Nutrition undergraduate student volunteers assisted the participants in completing the survey.

2.2.2. Knowledge of Sugar Content of SSBs. The survey included four questions regarding knowledge of sugar content (in teaspoon counts) of commonly consumed beverage items (16-ounce bottle of one-half sweetened iced tea and one-half lemonade, 12-ounce can of cola beverage, 20-ounce bottle of sweetened fruit punch, and an 8-ounce can of an energy drink). The participants were asked to select the amount (in teaspoons) of sugar from a list of four choices for each SSB item. The choices for each item were 3–5 teaspoons, 7–9 teaspoons, 10–12 teaspoons, or 15 or more teaspoons. The survey created for 5–9-year-olds included assistance in understanding the question by adding qualifying words for each selection with options listed as follows: 3–5 teaspoons, *a small amount*; 7–9 teaspoons, *a medium amount*; 10–12 teaspoons, *a large amount*; and 15 or more teaspoons, *a lot*.

2.2.3. Attitudes Held regarding SSBs. To record and gauge any change in attitudes held regarding SSB preferences, thoughts about health concerns associated with SSBs, and intention regarding avoidance of SSBs, participants were asked to respond to six statements at baseline and again following the intervention. Following each statement, such as "I should drink less soda and sweetened beverages," participants were directed to choose from a list of responses: strongly agree, agree, disagree, or not sure. The survey instrument completed by 5–9-year-olds included the following choices with accompanying faces to help them better understand and choose their response: yes definitely (broad smile), yes (smile), no (frown), and not sure (neutral).

2.2.4. Postprogram Feedback. On the postprogram survey participants were asked to respond to a question asking whether they had enjoyed participation in the program. Attendees were asked to respond to the following statement: *"I've enjoyed participating in the beverage workshop."* In addition, participants were asked to share their thoughts regarding intention to reduce intake of SSBs in the future by responding to the following statement: *"I think I will drink less sugar-sweetened beverages like soda because of what I've learned today."* Once again the 10–14-year-old participants were asked to select from the following responses: strongly agree, agree, disagree, and not sure; and 5–9-year-olds chose their answer from yes definitely (broad smile), yes (smile), no (frown), and not sure (neutral), using visual faces to help them better understand and choose their response.

2.3. Intervention. Each participant took part in a two-hour workshop held during summer program hours that was composed of two separate, yet related, components.

- Educational session revealing the sugar content of commonly consumed beverages and demonstration of adding a similar content of table sugar to water. Discussion of the health detriments associated with excessive sugar intake.
- (2) A hands-on, experiential involvement in blending better beverage options, followed by recipe tastings. A discussion about how to make healthier decisions for beverages.

Undergraduate nutrition student volunteers assisted participants in completing the program surveys and served as facilitators for the workshop. Each volunteer attended a one-hour instructional training session conducted by the Principal Investigator prior to the start of the program.

2.3.1. Sugar Content Quiz and Demonstration. After completion of the baseline survey, each table of 6-8 participants took part in a guessing game and discussion about the sugar content of four popular beverage items led by an undergraduate nutrition student. Participants were asked to guess how many teaspoons of sugar were in each of four commonly consumed beverage items. After guessing, the nutrition student revealed the correct answer and asked the participants to count out sugar packets representing the amount of sugar contained in the item. A plate containing all the sugar packages was placed in front of the beverage item to offer a lasting visual image. This process was repeated for each of the four SSBs. When the process was completed for all beverages, the children were asked to view the four items on the table and to consider how much sugar would be consumed if all four SSBs were consumed in one day. The group added the total packages of sugar to achieve a grand total. Then the nutrition undergraduate students at each table led a demonstration showing how much sugar is added to liquid beverages by adding 15 teaspoons of sugar to a 20ounce glass of water. This item was stirred and passed around for the participants to view the thick, cloudy substance that was created by simulating the amount of sugar often added to SSBs. An interactive discussion regarding the sugar content of SSBs and the health consequences of consuming too much sugar was held. Each nutrition undergraduate student was instructed to pose the following questions to the participants.

- (1) Is anybody surprised about the amount of sugar in these beverages?
- (2) Would anyone take a glass of water and add the same amount of sugar to it and then drink it?
- (3) Do you think drinking so much sugar in these types of beverages is harmful to your health?
 - (a) Nutrition students were instructed to highlight the association of high sugar intake with weight gain, diabetes, and dental caries.

- (b) A review of the concerns associated with the ingredients in energy drinks and why children should not drink these products was conducted.
- (4) Would you like to make beverages to drink that are lower in sugar?

2.3.2. Blending Better Beverage Options: Tasting and Discussion. Participants were led in a hands-on preparation of four recipes: (1) fresh peach and orange infused water, (2) pineapple, mango, peach, and lime slush, (3) cranberry, pineapple, and lime fizzy, and (4) fresh strawberry and banana smoothie. The participants had the opportunity to taste all items they had prepared. The nutrition undergraduate students were instructed to ask for participant feedback about the taste, acceptability, and ease of preparation of lower sugar beverage alternatives. The importance of preparing beverages using diluted versions of 100% fresh fruit juices was stressed.

2.4. Analysis. The study, including instruments, protocols, and consent procedures, received exempt approval by the Institutional Review Board at Long Island University. Written parent consent was not required because the student survey portion of this project was classified as exempt. Survey data results were tabulated and compiled into a database and analyzed using STATA (SE 13) to provide descriptive statistics and analysis. In addition to the standard Chi-square tests the analysis includes *t*-tests for comparing two population proportions. Proportions are among the few measures which can be used for summarizing categorical data and provide an additional dimension to the analysis. Unlike a Chi-square test that tests for the association between qualitative variables using the entire contingency table, the *t*-test can be applied to test, for example, if the proportion of participants correctly answering the question on the pretest is statistically different from the proportion of participants correctly answering the question on the posttest. The test statistic for comparing two population proportions is $t = ((\widehat{p_1} - \widehat{p_2}) - (p_1 - p_2))/$ $\sqrt{\overline{p}(1-\overline{p})(1/n_1+1/n_2)}$, where $\widehat{p_1} - \widehat{p_2}$ are sample proportions estimates, $p_1 - p_2$ are population proportions, and $\overline{p} =$ $(x_1 + x_2)/(n_1 + n_2)$ is the weighted average of the two sample proportion estimates. All t-tests results are one-tailed tests in order to study if one proportion of respondents is higher than the other, rather than simply being different from each other which would be captured by the two-tailed test. In other words, the tests are to assess if the proportion of participants correctly answering the question on the posttest is higher than the proportion of participants correctly answering the question on the pretest. Level of significance was set at P <0.05.

3. Results

3.1. Participants. Specific participant sociodemographic data were not obtained due to the study's exemption status. However, study participants were attendees of the local boys and girls club afterschool program. The attendees of the program are predominately Latino and African American and come

Question	Response	5–9-year-olds number (%)	10–14-year-olds number (%)	Entire group number (%)
I drink soda				
Such as cola ginger ale Sprite and Mountain Dew	Yes	60 (85.7)	51 (87.9)	111 (86.7)
Such as cola, ginger ale, oprile, and mountain Den	No	10 (14.3)	7 (12.1)	17 (13.3)
Mean times per week		2.37	2.09	2.25
Mean ounces consumed		9.91	11.1	10.45
Total mean ounces consumed per weeks		26.26	26.28	26.27
I drink sports drinks				
Such as Gatorade and Powerade	Yes	60 (85.7)	49 (84.5)	109 (85.2)
Such as Gatorade and Fowerade	No	10 (14.3)	9 (15.5)	19 (14.8)
Mean times per week		2.41	2.78	2.58
Mean ounces consumed		15.06	18.28	16.52
Total mean ounces consumed per weeks		42.54	63.03	51.83
I drink sugar-sweetened beverages				
Such as sweetened tea, fruit nunch, and Sunny-D	Yes	57 (81.4)	47 (81.0)	104 (81.3)
Such as sweetened tea, if an punch, and Sunny-D	No	13 (18.6)	11 (19.0)	24 (18.8)
Mean times per week		2.84	2.81	2.83
Mean ounces consumed		12.16	11.98	12.08
Total mean ounces consumed per weeks		43.59	40.64	42.25
I drink energy drinks				
Such as Red Bull and Rockstar	Yes	11 (15.7)	20 (34.5)	31 (24.2)
Such as Neu Dun and Nockstar	No	59 (84.3)	38 (65.5)	97 (75.8)
Mean times per week		0.3	0.78	0.52
Mean ounces consumed		1.49	3.94	2.6
Total mean ounces consumed per weeks		3.14	9.7	6.11
All beverages mean ounces		113.87	139.64	125.55

TABLE 1: Typical consumption of SSBs in youths attending a summer program.

from single parent (51%) and low-income homes (76% come from families with incomes of less than \$33,000/year and 74% receive free or reduced fee lunch). A total of 128 surveys were distributed to participants, 100% were returned, and there were no missing responses or surveys that were deemed incomplete. Of 128 participants, 81 (63.3%) were male and 47 (36.7%) were female, with an average age of 9.3 years. Data were analyzed using the entire sample of 128 participants as well as by two age subgroups: age of 5–9 years and age of 10– 14 years. There were 70 participants in the 5–9-year-old age group (41 male and 29 female) with an average age of 7.6 years and 58 participants in the 10–14-year-old age group (40 male and 18 female) with the average age of 11.3 years.

3.2. SSB Intake. The average amount of SSBs consumed per week for the entire sample was 125.6 oz. (17.9 oz. per day), with 113.9 oz. (16.3 oz. per day) for the 5–9 year old age group and 139.6 oz. (19.9 oz. per day) for the 10–14-year-old age group. A two-sample mean comparison *t*-test found no statistically significant difference in total SSB consumption between the two age groups. In addition, the difference in drinking soda and sugar-sweetened teas and juices was not significantly different between the two age groups. However, the older group was found to drink significantly more

sports drinks and energy drinks compared to the younger group (P < 0.05; Table 1). The drinking habits of males versus females in both the 5–9-year- and 10–14-year-old age groups were not statistically different. However, males in the 10–14-year-old age group reported to drink twice as much soda as females in this age group, 31.1 oz. and 15.6 oz. per week, respectively, and are significantly more likely to drink energy drinks, 45% and 11%, respectively (P < 0.05).

3.3. Knowledge of Sugar Content in SSBs. To evaluate the level of knowledge obtained by attending the beverage workshop pre- and postintervention survey data were analyzed using the standard Chi-square tests for the association between two qualitative variables. For the entire sample of 128 participants, the Chi-square test for all four knowledge questions rejects the null hypothesis even when the *P* value is set at P < 0.01. Since all the scores have improved, it can be concluded that the intervention was successful in providing information to the participants. The same conclusion is obtained for the 10–14-year-old age subgroup. However, for the 5–9-year-old age group, the Chi-square test failed to reject the null for improvement in knowledge on the question about the sugar content in an 8 oz. can of an energy drink.

Results of the analyses of knowledge data using t-tests revealed that the proportion of participants who correctly answered the questions on the pretest for the entire sample of 128 participants is statistically different from the proportion of participants who correctly answered the questions on the posttest survey for questions 1 and 2 (sugar content in a 16 oz. serving of sweetened one-half iced tea and one-half lemonade; correct answer 10-12 teaspoons and in a 12 oz. can of cola soda; correct answer 10-12 teaspoons, resp.; Figure 1, panels (a) and (b)). However, for questions 3 and 4 (sugar content in a 20 oz. serving of sweetened fruit punch; correct answer 15+ teaspoons and an 8 oz. can of an energy drink; correct answer 7-9 teaspoons, resp., Figure 1, panels (c) and (d)), improvement in knowledge was increased, but not significantly. More precisely, for the age group of 10-14 years the scores on all four questions improved, while for the age group of 5-9 year olds only the scores for questions 1 and 3 (sugar content in a 16 oz. serving of sweetened onehalf iced tea and one-half lemonade and the 20 oz. serving of sweetened fruit punch, resp., Figure 1, panels (a) and (c)) improved significantly.

3.4. Attitudes regarding SSB Intake. A great majority of participants either strongly agreed or agreed with the statement that they usually choose a glass of water when they are thirsty, that beverages with sugar are not good for them, and that they should drink less soda and sweetened beverages (Figure 2, panels (a), (e), and (f), resp.), both before and after intervention. In addition, most participants disagreed with the statement that soda is their favorite drink, that delicious drinks can be made using fresh fruit and beverages without added sugar, and that energy drinks are healthy (Figure 2, panels (b), (c), and (d), resp.). The differences between the pre- and postintervention responses to comments addressing attitudes, however, are not statistically different when Chisquare tests were applied. In all attitudinal comments posed study participants responded favorably regarding attitudes held on the preprogram survey except when responding to the comment that delicious drinks can be made using fresh fruit without added sugar. The majority of participants disagreed with this comment on the preintervention survey, and although there was an increase in the number of those who strongly agreed or agreed with this comment following the intervention, there was no statistically significant change in response following program completion.

Responses to one comment went in an unexpected direction for the comment addressing whether an energy drink was a healthy beverage option. The majority of participants disagreed that an energy drink is a healthy beverage option on both the pre- and postintervention surveys; however, unexpectedly less rather than more participants disagreed with the statement after intervention compared with the preprogram surveys. This result was mostly driven by the change observed in the younger participants in the 5–9-yearold age group, where more of them either strongly agreed or agreed that energy drinks are healthy for them after the intervention. One possible explanation for this might be due to their unfamiliarity with this type of SSB.

4. Discussion

This interactive workshop conducted during summer program hours held with youths 5-14 years of age queried usual intake of SSBs and focused on transmitting knowledge about the amount of sugar contained in commonly consumed beverage items and the potential health detriments associated with overconsumption. The workshop also included a handson preparation and tasting of several lower sugar beverage alternatives. In agreement with current literature [8, 14, 15], the youths attending this workshop reported regular consumption of SSBs. We found that the large majority of the youths who participated in the workshop reported regularly drinking soda (87%), sports drinks (85%), and sweetened teas and juices (81%). Approximately one-quarter of the participants (24%) reported drinking energy drinks, with a significant difference in consumption found in those 5-9 years of age (16%) in comparison with those 10-14 years old (35%). This finding is not surprising given the age of our participants as energy drinks are more commonly consumed by teens and young adults. However, there are many health concerns associated with consuming energy drinks and young children can be influenced by the intense marketing efforts for these products [20, 21]. Therefore, reports of any intake of energy drinks in youths 5-14 years of age are of concern and require further investigation focused on this specific group of SSBs. Of significance is that males were four times more likely than females to consume energy drinks. Based on our results 10-14-year-old males, in comparison with younger children and females, were more likely to consume energy drinks and should be targeted in future interventions aimed at eliminating consumption of this problematic beverage in at-risk youth populations.

Estimated mean intake of soda, sports drinks, sugarsweetened drinks, and energy drinks per week, rounded to the nearest ounce, was 26, 43, and 44 ounces and 1 ounce, respectively, for 5-9-year-olds and 26, 63, 41, and 4 ounces, respectively, for 10-14-year-olds. We found that the mean intake of fluid ounces of SSBs in our group of participants translated into approximately 17.9 ounces of beverage per day, or a little over two 8-ounce servings. This quantity of SSB translates into approximately 224 kcalories. The mean calorie contribution from SSBs found in this study is similar to what others have reported as usual calorie contribution from SSB in children and adolescents [14-17]. Noted in our data, and in agreement with current trends reported, sports drinks are being consumed with increasing frequency [8]. Researchers have reported that parents in Latino communities may exhibit a misunderstanding regarding sports drinks as some have been found to report that they believe that these drinks are healthy options for their children [18]. This misunderstanding in a community at increased risk of obesity and glucose intolerance is concerning and can promote future health risks. Therefore, outreach to parents, particularly in Latino communities to inform them about the health risks regarding the sugar content of sports drinks, appears advisable [18].

Chi-square tests on the entire sample of participants revealed a significant improvement in knowledge of sugar



FIGURE 1: Baseline and postprogram SSB sugar content knowledge.

content for all four commonly consumed beverage items (iced tea/lemonade mix, cola beverage, sweetened fruit punch, and energy drink) between baseline and end of program. Since all the scores improved we conclude that the intervention was successful in providing information to participants.

Results of *t*-test analysis revealed improvement in knowledge after intervention for all four questions for 10-14-yearolds, but significance for 5-9-year-olds was only established for questions about the sugar content of iced tea/lemonade mix and sweetened fruit punch. These results are expected, since the participants in the age group of 10-14 years are more capable of understanding and retaining learned information. In addition, the older participants are also more likely to either consume and/or be familiar with cola beverages and energy drinks. In other words, the younger participants did improve their knowledge regarding the sugar content in all SSBs; however, for the sugar content in a 12 oz. can of cola and an 8 oz. can of an energy drink; correct answer 7-9 teaspoons, this change was not statistically different from the answers they provided in the pretest. It is not surprising that the younger aged participants did not remember the sugar content in energy drinks reviewed during the workshop as this is not a product that is widely consumed in this

age category. It is possible that they did not register the information to memory due to lack of interest and familiarity with the product. Similarly, the younger participants would be more likely to drink sweetened fruit juice than cola beverages and this could explain the lack of significance found in change in knowledge for these beverage items.

Analyses of responses to six questions targeting attitudes about SSBs revealed no significant change in attitudes regarding beverage choice preference, thoughts about health concerns associated with SSBs, and wish to reduce SSBs following program participation. There are several factors that may explain the lack of change in attitude. One reason why there was not a considerable change found in participant attitudes might be that most participants already selected a favorable response prior to the intervention. Baseline surveys revealed that 85.7% of 5-9-year-olds and 81% of 10-14-yearolds reported that they choose water to drink when they are thirsty, and 84.3% of 5-9-year-olds and 65.5% of 10-14year-olds reported that they knew that they should drink less SSBs. There were 57.1% of 5-9-year-olds and 74.1% of 10-14year-olds who agreed that they thought beverages with added sugar were not good for them. However, it is possible that this comment may have been misunderstood by some who interpreted "not good for them" as not good in taste rather



FIGURE 2: Baseline and postprogram responses to attitudinal statements.

than not good for health. There were volunteers who read and explained the concept of the comment to the participants, but there may still have been a misunderstanding of the intention. Therefore, response results to this comment need further investigation and when the comment is posed to participants in the future clarity can be enhanced by instead asking for response to *"Beverages with added sugar are not healthy for me."* Although not statistically significant impact of the program was evident as the results show that, following the intervention, more participants either strongly agreed or agreed with the statement that delicious drinks can be made using fresh fruit and beverages without added sugar (44.5% in the preintervention survey versus 52.3% in the postintervention survey). This trend in change of thought was particularly noticeable for the 10–14-year-old age group.

A significant percentage of children and adolescents seem to know they should reduce their intake of SSBs; however this knowledge does not translate into action. The preference for sweets is innate as well as learned, and so this biological response triggered by environmental availability may help to explain the resistance to behavior change in reducing SSB intake [22]. The strong desire for something sweet to drink and desire for a SSB in spite of known health risks were clearly stated by participants in a qualitative study conducted with college students [23]. College students are in an age category older than our participant sample and so even though they are more mature and should be able to better understand the risks of choosing to drink too many SSBs, the desire to drink what they wanted regardless was evident in the narrative captured by researchers [23]. Resistance to change in attitude and strong cravings for desired beverages make it difficult to see dramatic behavioral changes in attitudes held following short-term interventions. Despite these obstacles, Ebbeling et al. [24] report success in their study where they provided weekly deliveries of noncaloric beverages for 25 weeks to the homes of 53 children, aged 13-18 years. Compared to the control group the intervention group reduced their intake of SSBs by 84% and experienced a statistically significant reduction in body mass index (BMI) for those participants in the upper tertile for weight at baseline. Similarly, James et al. [25] conducted a year-long, school-based educational program for 644 schoolchildren in England who were 7-11

	5-9 years	10-14 years	Total		
	number (%)	number (%)	number (%)		
I enjoye	I enjoyed participating in the beverage workshop				
Strongly Agree	43 (61.4)	32 (55.2)	75 (58.6)		
Agree	17 (24.3)	20 (34.5)	37 (28.9)		
Disagree	5 (7.1)	4 (6.9)	9 (7.05)		
Not sure	5 (7.1)	2 (3.4)	7 (5.5)		
I think I will drink less sugar-sweetened beverages like soda					
because of what I learned today					
Strongly Agree	34 (48.6)	19 (32.8)	53 (41.4)		
Agree	23 (32.9)	26 (44.8)	49 (38.3)		
Disagree	5 (7.1)	8 (13.8)	13 (10.2)		
Not sure	8 (11.4)	5 (8.6)	13 (10.2)		

 TABLE 2: Postprogram response: program evaluation and intention to change behavior.

years old, called *Ditch the Fizz*, and found a small reduction in BMI in the intervention group and a modest reduction in consumption of carbonated drinks. Additionally, Sichieri et al. [26] report a statistically significant reduction in consumption of carbonated beverages in their sevenmonth-long, school-based intervention (n = 1134) with 9–12-year-olds that focused on increasing water intake. The intervention group received classroom activities and water bottles and had promotional banners hung at the school. A statistically significant reduction in BMI was found only in those who were overweight at baseline and only in females. Evidently, small successes in reducing SSB intake in youth are achievable. However, long-term interventions that address the home, school, and afterschool environments may be needed to realize greater impact.

There were several limitations with this study. A convenience sample was used for the study with all the participants coming from one boys and girls club in one community in the US. The participants were predominately Latino and African American and therefore study results cannot be generalized to other groups. In addition, data collected were self-reported and may be skewed due to participant bias or poor recall. Finally and in hindsight, the comment addressing thoughts about whether sweetened drinks were "not good" for the participant was found to be ambiguously worded and may have been misinterpreted. Study strengths include the use of trained nutrition undergraduate students to assist participants with survey completion and the interactive design of the intervention. We engaged youths in the learning process offering an experiential workshop that allowed the participants to prepare and taste alternatives to SSBs and also provided strong visuals to enhance impact and learning. We did not just tell youth participants to avoid SSBs but instead had them prepare and taste no- and low-sugar alternatives. The results from the program evaluation reveal that participants enjoyed participating in this program, as 87.5% either strongly agreed or agreed with this statement. In addition, almost 80% of the participants either strongly agreed or agreed with the statement I think I will drink less sugar-sweetened beverages like soda because of what I learned

today; 81.5% in the 5–9-year-old age group and 77.6% in the 10–14-year-old age group (Table 2).

5. Conclusion

Childhood obesity and subsequent health detriment remain a formidable public health concern. Weight gain from consuming sugar in liquid form, such as in SSBs, is particularly concerning as liquid calories are not registered by the body and therefore not compensated for with subsequent reduction in food intake. SSBs are ubiquitous and they have made their way into the daily diet of children as they are readily available at home, on the school campus, and at afterschool venues. In this two-hour, hands-on intervention study we found that consumption of SSBs was common in 5-14-yearolds in three major categories: soda, sports drinks, and sugarsweetened teas and juices. Energy drinks were less commonly consumed; however 24% of the participants reported consumption. Energy drinks should not be consumed by youths and interventions that address avoiding consumption of energy drinks in this age group are needed.

Despite providing a relatively brief intervention we were able to show a significant increase in participants' retention of knowledge regarding the amount of sugar added to commonly consumed SSBs. Postprogram data revealed that the large majority of participants enjoyed the program and intended to reduce intake of SSBs following participation in the program. However, we were unable to significantly influence attitudes held regarding SSBs. Long-term interventions and programs that engage youths and reach out to parents as well as addressing the widespread availability of SSBs are needed in the future to influence resistant attitudes and beverage choosing behaviors in youths.

Disclosure

Veronika Dolar is the coauthor.

Conflict of Interests

The authors declare that there is no conflict of interests regarding the publication of this paper.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank the children and staff at the boys and girls club for supporting this research project. A big thank-you is also extended to the undergraduate nutrition student volunteers from Long Island University for their time, hard work, and dedication to improvement of the health of children.

References

 A. A. Bremer and R. H. Lustig, "Effects of sugar-sweetened beverages on children," *Pediatric Annals*, vol. 41, no. 1, pp. 26–30, 2012.

- [2] C. L. Ogden, M. D. Carroll, B. K. Kit, and K. M. Flegal, "Prevalence of obesity and trends in body mass index among US children and adolescents, 1999-2010," *Journal of the American Medical Association*, vol. 307, no. 5, pp. 483–490, 2012.
- [3] S. Kumanyika and S. Grier, "Targeting interventions for ethnic minority and low-income populations," *The Future of Children*, vol. 16, no. 1, pp. 187–207, 2006.
- [4] P. M. Anderson and K. F. Butcher, "Childhood obesity: trends and potential causes," *Future of Children*, vol. 16, no. 1, pp. 19– 45, 2006.
- [5] S. R. Patel, "Reduced sleep as an obesity risk factor," Obesity Reviews, vol. 10, no. s2, pp. 61–68, 2009.
- [6] V. S. Malik, B. M. Popkin, G. A. Bray, J.-P. Després, and F. B. Hu, "Sugar-sweetened beverages, obesity, type 2 diabetes mellitus, and cardiovascular disease risk," *Circulation*, vol. 121, no. 11, pp. 1356–1364, 2010.
- [7] K. C. Mathias, M. M. Slining, and B. M. Popkin, "Foods and beverages associated with higher intake of sugar-sweetened beverages," *The American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, vol. 44, no. 4, pp. 351–357, 2013.
- [8] E. Han and L. M. Powell, "Consumption patterns of sugarsweetened beverages in the United States," *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics*, vol. 113, no. 1, pp. 43–53, 2013.
- [9] F. B. Hu, "Resolved: There is sufficient scientific evidence that decreasing sugar-sweetened beverage consumption will reduce the prevalence of obesity and obesity-related diseases," *Obesity Reviews*, vol. 14, no. 8, pp. 606–619, 2013.
- [10] S. Harrington, "The role of sugar-sweetened beverage consumption in adolescent obesity: a review of the literature," *The Journal* of School Nursing, vol. 24, no. 1, pp. 3–12, 2008.
- [11] K. A. Kaiser, J. M. Shikany, K. D. Keating, and D. B. Allison, "Will reducing sugar-sweetened beverage consumption reduce obesity? Evidence supporting conjecture is strong, but evidence when testing effect is weak," *Obesity Reviews*, vol. 14, no. 8, pp. 620–633, 2013.
- [12] L. de Koning, V. S. Malik, M. D. Kellogg, E. B. Rimm, W. C. Willett, and F. B. Hu, "Sweetened beverage consumption, incident coronary heart disease, and biomarkers of risk in men," *Circulation*, vol. 125, no. 14, pp. 1735–1741, 2012.
- [13] J. W. Wang, K. Light, M. Henderson et al., "Consumption of added sugars from liquid but not solid sources predicts impaired glucose homeostasis and insulin resistance among youth at risk of obesity," *Journal of Nutrition*, vol. 144, no. 1, pp. 81–86, 2014.
- [14] G. Lasater, C. Piernas, and B. M. Popkin, "Beverage patterns and trends among school-aged children in the US, 1989–2008," *Nutrition Journal*, vol. 10, no. 1, article 103, 2011.
- [15] Y. C. Wang, S. N. Bleich, and S. L. Gortmaker, "Increasing caloric contribution from sugar- sweetened beverages and 100% fruit juices among US children and adolescents, 1988–2004," *Pediatrics*, vol. 121, no. 6, pp. e1604–e1614, 2008.
- [16] R. K. Rader, K. B. Mullen, R. Sterkel, R. C. Strunk, and J. M. Garbutt, "Opportunities to reduce children's excessive consumption of calories from beverages," *Clinical Pediatrics*, vol. 53, no. 11, pp. 1047–1054, 2014.
- [17] R. R. Briefel, A. Wilson, C. Cabili, and A. Hedley Dodd, "Reducing calories and added sugars by improving children's beverage choices," *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics*, vol. 113, no. 2, pp. 269–275, 2013.

- [18] L. M. Bogart, B. O. Cowgill, A. J. Sharma et al., "Parental and home environmental facilitators of sugar-sweetened beverage consumption among overweight and obese Latino youth," *Academic Pediatrics*, vol. 13, no. 4, pp. 348–355, 2013.
- [19] P. B. Crawford, G. Woodward-Lopez, L. Ritchie, and K. Webb, "How discretionary can we be with sweetened beverages for children?" *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*, vol. 108, no. 9, pp. 1440–1444, 2008.
- [20] S. M. Seifert, J. L. Schaechter, E. R. Hershorin, and S. E. Lipshultz, "Health effects of energy drinks on children, adolescents, and young adults," *Pediatrics*, vol. 127, no. 3, pp. 511–528, 2011.
- [21] K. A. Clauson, K. M. Shields, C. E. McQueen, and N. Persad, "Safety issues associated with commercially available energy drinks," *Journal of the American Pharmacists Association*, vol. 48, no. 3, pp. e55–e63, 2008.
- [22] A. K. Ventura and J. A. Mennella, "Innate and learned preferences for sweet taste during childhood," *Current Opinion in Clinical Nutrition and Metabolic Care*, vol. 14, no. 4, pp. 379– 384, 2011.
- [23] J. P. Block, M. W. Gillman, S. K. Linakis, and R. E. Goldman, "if it tastes good, i'm drinking it: qualitative study of beverage consumption among college students," *Journal of Adolescent Health*, vol. 52, no. 6, pp. 702–706, 2013.
- [24] C. B. Ebbeling, H. A. Feldman, S. K. Osganian, V. R. Chomitz, S. J. Ellenbogen, and D. S. Ludwig, "Effects of decreasing sugar-sweetened beverage consumption on body weight in adolescents: a randomized, controlled pilot study," *Pediatrics*, vol. 117, no. 3, pp. 673–680, 2006.
- [25] J. James, P. Thomas, D. Cavan, and D. Kerr, "Preventing childhood obesity by reducing consumption of carbonated drinks: cluster randomised controlled trial," *British Medical Journal*, vol. 328, no. 7450, pp. 1237–1239, 2004.
- [26] R. Sichieri, A. Paula Trotte, R. A. De Souza, and G. V. Veiga, "School randomised trial on prevention of excessive weight gain by discouraging students from drinking sodas," *Public Health Nutrition*, vol. 12, no. 2, pp. 197–202, 2009.

Research Article

The Intrauterine and Nursing Period Is a Window of Susceptibility for Development of Obesity and Intestinal Tumorigenesis by a High Fat Diet in *Min*/+ Mice as Adults

Ha Thi Ngo, Ragna Bogen Hetland, and Inger-Lise Steffensen

Department of Food, Water and Cosmetics, Division of Environmental Medicine, Norwegian Institute of Public Health, P.O. Box 4404 Nydalen, 0403 Oslo, Norway

Correspondence should be addressed to Inger-Lise Steffensen; inger-lise.steffensen@fhi.no

Received 6 August 2014; Revised 14 December 2014; Accepted 16 December 2014

Academic Editor: Gengsheng He

Copyright © 2015 Ha Thi Ngo et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

We studied how obesogenic conditions during various life periods affected obesity and intestinal tumorigenesis in adult C57BL/6J-*Min* (multiple intestinal neoplasia)/+ mice. The mice were given a 10% fat diet throughout life (negative control) or a 45% fat diet *in utero*, during nursing, during both *in utero* and nursing, during adult life, or during their whole life-span, and terminated at 11 weeks for tumorigenesis (*Min*/+) or 23 weeks for obesogenic effect (wild-type). Body weight at 11 weeks was increased after a 45% fat diet during nursing, during both *in utero* and nursing, and throughout life, but had normalized at 23 weeks. In the glucose tolerance test, the early exposure to a 45% fat diet *in utero*, during nursing, or during both *in utero* and nursing, did not affect blood glucose, whereas a 45% fat diet given to adults or throughout life did. However, a 45% fat diet during nursing or during *in utero* and nursing increased the number of small intestinal tumors. So did exposures to a 45% fat diet in adult life or throughout life, but without increasing the tumor numbers further. The intrauterine and nursing period is a window of susceptibility for dietary fat-induced obesity and intestinal tumor development.

1. Introduction

Obesity is defined as an excess accumulation of adipose tissue. The rate of obesity has more than doubled over the past 20 years in most OECD countries [1]. More than half of the adult population are overweight (with body mass index (BMI) 25–30 kg/m²) or obese (with BMI \geq 30 kg/m²), and about 18% of both genders are obese. Rates of overweight and obesity among children are also increasing; average reported overweight rates (including obesity) increased from 13% in 2001-2002 to 15% in 2009-2010 for 15-year-olds (based on age- and gender-specific cut-off points for BMI) [1]. Maternal obesity during pregnancy is also a serious health issue with a prevalence of obese adult women close to 30% in many of the OECD countries [2].

A parallel increase in overweight/obesity and many forms of cancer has been observed in most countries around the world in the past two to three decades. Cancer is now the second leading cause of mortality in the OECD countries [1]. In Norway, colon cancer is the second most prevalent cancer for women, after breast cancer, and the third most prevalent cancer for men, after prostrate and lung cancer [3]. Overweight and/or obesity are associated with increased risk, incidence, mortality, or poor prognosis for many types of cancer, including colon cancer [4–7]. Body fatness and abdominal fatness are both evaluated as convincing increasing risks of colorectal cancer [8, 9]. Obesity may be a contributing risk factor for increased susceptibility to environmental contaminants causing cancer.

The rapid rise of obesity is suggested to be driven mainly by environmental factors. Although it has been much focus on the role of the current diet whether as an obese child or adult, recent insights have also stressed the importance of nutrition during very early life in the development of metabolic disorders. The phenotype of an individual can be driven by *in utero* and early postnatal environmental conditions, determined by the nutritional status of the mother [10]. This has given rise to the perception of "developmental programming" and the concept "developmental origins of health and disease" (DOHaD). It is proposed that conditions present during a critical window of development can lead to permanent programmed alterations in physiological systems and adverse outcomes later in life [10, 11].

The "fetal origins of adult disease hypothesis" was originally put forward by David Barker and colleagues, which stated that environmental factors, especially nutrition, act in early life to program the risks for early onset of diseases such as hypertension, diabetes, coronary heart disease, metabolic disorders, and mental illnesses in adult life and premature death [10–12]. Although the initial fetal origins hypothesis was primarily concerned with undernutrition and malnutrition, recent epidemiological and animals studies have begun to examine the effects of overnutrition during critical periods of fetal development and the offspring's subsequent risk of developing the same chronic diseases associated with fetal growth restriction [13].

Maternal obesity is associated with numerous pregnancyrelated complications and risks for both mother and child [14–16]. In addition to infertility, the mothers may have increased risk from obesity for hypertensive disorders, coagulopathies, gestational diabetes mellitus, respiratory complications, pre-eclampsia, thromboembolism, and so forth, in addition to miscarriage. The fetus has increased risk of large-for-gestational-age size, congenital malformations or perinatal mortality [14–16].

In this study, we have examined overnutrition, in the form of a high fat diet, during various periods of life in relation to the end points body weight and intestinal tumorigenesis in the mice as adults, using the C57BL/6J-*Min/+* (*multiple intestinal neoplasia*) mouse as the experimental animal model. In addition, the wild-type (+/+) siblings were used to examine the effects on body weight and organ weights in older mice.

The *Min/+* mouse is heterozygous for a germline nonsense mutation in the tumor suppressor gene *adenomatous polyposis coli (Apc)* leading to a truncated nonfunctional APC protein, and therefore develop numerous spontaneous intestinal tumors [17, 18]. *Apc* is a key component in the Wnt signaling pathway [19, 20]. The *Min* mouse is a model for the inherited disorder familial adenomatous polyposis (FAP), as well as for sporadic colorectal cancer, in humans [21–23], and develops multiple adenomas in the small intestine and to a lesser degree in the colon.

In addition to the effects on spontaneous intestinal tumors caused by the inherited mutated *Apc* gene in the *Min/+* mice, the effect of obesity was also examined on tumors induced by the environmental (dietary) factor formed during cooking of meat and fish, the mutagenic, genotoxic and carcinogenic heterocyclic amine 2-amino-1-methyl-6-phenylimidazo[4,5-*b*]pyridine (PhIP) [24]. Previously, we have reported that PhIP increased intestinal tumorigenesis in adult C57BL/6J-*Min/+* mice [25], and that the *Min/+* mice were much more susceptible to PhIP if exposed neona-tally [26, 27] than as young adults [25, 27]. Blood glucose levels were measured and a glucose tolerance test (GTT) was performed to study the hypothesis of disrupted blood

glucose regulation as a link between obesity and intestinal tumorigenesis [28, 29]. The hormone leptin, which regulates food intake and energy expenditure, as well as having effects on immunity, including inflammation, and reproduction [30, 31], was measured in serum from the mice.

In this study, we have examined during which periods of life does exposure to obesogenic conditions in the form of a high fat diet have the most effect on body weight and susceptibility to disease, that is, intestinal tumorigenesis, as adults.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Mice. Female C57BL/6J-Apc^{+/+} (wild-type) mice were mated with C57BL/6J- $Apc^{Min/+}$ males, using proven breeders having had a litter on a regular breeding diet (2018 Teklad Global 18% Protein Rodent Diet from Harlan Industries Inc., Indianapolis, IN, USA) before the experimental litters on special diets with 10% or 45% fat (described below). Both females and males were bred at the Norwegian Institute of Public Health, Oslo, Norway. C57BL/6J-Apc^{Min/+} males were originally purchased from the Jackson Laboratory (Bar Harbour, ME, USA). To minimize the genetic drift from the colony at the Jackson Laboratory, both females and males in the breeding stock at our institute have been replaced regularly. Homozygous mutant $Apc^{Min/Min}$ ($Apc^{-/-}$) mice die during the embryonal stages [32]; therefore, only two genotypes were obtainable from these crosses. The Min mutation was propagated through males to avoid interference with pregnancy from any anemia caused by the intestinal adenomas in females [17].

Genotyping of the offspring for the *Apc* gene was performed with allele-specific polymerase chain reaction (PCR) using DNA extracted from $\sim 2 \text{ mm}^2$ samples obtained by ear puncture for identification of individual mice at weaning, as described previously [33].

The mice were housed in air flow IVC racks (Innovive Inc., San Diego, CA, USA) in 100% PET plastic disposable cages on Nestpak Aspen 4HK bedding (Datesand Ltd., Manchester, UK) in a room with 12-h light/dark cycle, and controlled humidity ($55 \pm 5\%$) and temperature ($20-24^{\circ}$ C). Diet and water were given *ad libitum*.

The experiment reported in this paper was performed in conformity with the laws and regulations for animal experiments in Norway and was approved by the National Experimental Animal Board in Norway.

2.2. Experimental Diets. Diets of purified ingredients from Research Diets Inc. (New Brunswick, NJ, USA) were used. The D12451 diet, containing 20%, 35%, and 45% of kcal from protein, carbohydrates, and fat, respectively, was used as a high fat diet. The D12450H diet, containing 20%, 70%, and 10% of kcal from protein, carbohydrates, and fat, respectively, was used as a matching control low fat diet. The amount of sucrose was 17% of the calories in both diets. The high fat diet had 4.73 kcal/g, whereas the low fat diet had 3.85 kcal/g; that is, the high fat diet contained 22.9% more kcal per gram



FIGURE 1: Experimental design. The mice were exposed to a 45% fat diet for combinations of three periods in life; (1) *in utero*, via the dams, (2) from birth to weaning, via milk during nursing, or (3) from weaning at 3 weeks to termination at 11 weeks of age (for *Min/+* mice) or 23 weeks (for wild-type mice), to determine the most susceptible exposure period for development of obesity and intestinal tumorigenesis as adults. The effects of a 45% fat diet were studied on spontaneous tumorigenesis induced by the inherited mutation in the *Apc* gene and on tumors induced by the the food mutagen and carcinogen 2-amino-1-methyl-6-phenylimidazo[4,5-*b*]pyridine (PhIP). The mice in two experimental groups (marked with arrows) were given one s.c. injection of 25 mg/kg body weight of PhIP on days 3–6 after birth. In total, eight experimental groups were included in this experiment; a 10% fat diet throughout life as a negative control (10+10+10), a 45% fat diet *in utero* (45+10+10), a 45% fat diet during the nursing period (10+45+10), a 45% fat diet both *in utero* and during nursing (45+45+10), exposed to PhIP or not, a 45% fat diet as adults (10+10+45), or a 45% fat diet throughout life (45+45+45), exposed to PhIP or not.

diet. In order to avoid that the dietary treatment was unevenly spread out in time, we gave the first dam 10% fat diet, the second dam 45% fat diet, the third dam 10% fat diet, the forth dam 45% fat diet, and so on. Similarly, the litters of offspring were given either of the two diets after birth every other time and after weaning every other time until the necessary numbers in all experimental dietary groups were obtained (Figure 1). The number of litters (given in parentheses) in each treatment group was 10% fat diet throughout life (17), 45% fat diet in utero (17), 45% fat diet during the nursing period (14), 45% fat diet in utero and during the nursing period (19), 45% fat diet as adults (18), and 45% fat diet throughout life (21). For the groups also given PhIP, the number of litters was 45% fat diet in utero and during the nursing period (17) and 45% fat diet throughout life (17). The number of mice in each treatment group is given in the figures and tables for the various end points.

2.3. Dietary Carcinogen. 2-Amino-1-methyl-6-phenylimidazo[4,5-*b*]pyridine (PhIP) hydrochloride (CAS number 105650-23-5), catalogue number 163-15951, of >99% purity, was purchased from Wako Chemicals GmbH, Neuss, Germany. PhIP-HCl was dissolved in distilled water, and the pH was adjusted to approximately 4.0.

2.4. Experimental Treatment of Mice. The mice were exposed to a 10% fat control diet or a 45% fat diet during combinations of three periods of life; (1) *in utero*, via the dams, (2) from birth to weaning, via milk during nursing, and (3) from weaning at 3 weeks to termination at 11 weeks of age (the Min/+ mice) or 23 weeks (the wild-type mice), to determine the most susceptible exposure period for development of obesity and intestinal tumorigenesis as adults. The effects of

a high fat diet were studied on spontaneous tumorigenesis induced by the inherited mutation in the *Apc* gene, and on tumors induced by the the food mutagen and carcinogen PhIP. The mice in two experimental groups were given one s.c. injection of 25 mg/kg body weight of PhIP on days 3-6after birth. This dose of PhIP was chosen to give a suitable number of tumors above the spontaneous level based on previous experience [34]. In total, eight treatment groups were included in this experiment (Figure 1). The number of mice (*n*) in each treatment group is given for each end point in the figure legends and tables.

Blood was sampled by cardiac puncture under an esthesia with ZRF cocktail (containing 3.3 mg zolazepam, 3.3 mg tiletamine, 0.5 mg xylazine and 2.6 μ g fentanyl per mL 0.9% NaCl) into Microvette serum/clot activator tubes (Sarstedt AS, Ski, Norway), and serum was obtained for analysis of the hormone leptin. Thereafter, the mice were sacrificed by cervical dislocation.

2.5. Recording of Body Weight and Feed Intake. Body weight of the dams was recorded at mating and weekly during the pregnancy and lactation periods. Body weight of the offspring was registered on day 3-4 after birth and thereafter weekly from weaning until termination of the *Min*/+ mice at 11 weeks of age, before onset of noticeable anemia caused by their tumors. The wild-type mice were terminated at 23 weeks of age, to study the effects on body weight and organ weights at older age. However, the body weight of the wild-type mice was also evaluated at 11 weeks of age, for comparison with the *Min*/+ mice terminated at 11 weeks. Body weight data were evaluated in three ways; as body weight at a specific age (at 11 weeks for the *Min*/+ mice and at 23 weeks for the wildtype mice), terminal body mass index (BMI) (also at 11 weeks
for the *Min*/+ mice and at 23 weeks for the wild-type mice), and as body weight development expressed as area under the curve (AUC). The AUC was calculated for the offspring from age 3-4 days to week 11 (*Min*/+ and wild-type mice), and from week 12 to 23 (wild-type mice), as well as for the dams from mating to the end of pregnancy, using the trapezoidal rule in SigmaPlot 12.3 (Systat Software Inc., San Jose, CA, USA). Nasoanal length was also recorded at termination to calculate BMI as body weight/nasoanal length² (in g/cm²). Feed intake was monitored by weighing feed in and out of the cages weekly for the dams during the pregnancy and lactation periods, and for the pups from weaning until termination.

2.6. Scoring of Small Intestinal and Colonic Tumors. Colon and small intestine were removed separately, rinsed in icecold phosphate buffered saline (PBS) and slit open along the longitudinal axis. Intestinal tissues were then spread flat between sheets of filter paper, and fixed for at least 48 h in 10% neutral buffered formalin prior to staining with 0.2% methylene blue (Sigma-Aldrich Norway AS, Oslo, Norway). Number, diameter and localization of tumors in small intestine and colon were scored by transillumination in an inverse light microscope at a magnification of $\times 20$. The scoring was done in order of consecutive mouse numbers unaware of their treatment. Diameters of tumors were scored with an eyepiece graticule. Tumor position along the intestines was registered in cm from the stomach. For each experimental group, incidence of tumors (number of mice with tumors/number of mice in the group), tumor number (mean number of tumors/mouse ± SD) and tumor diameter in mm (mean of all tumors in all mice in the group \pm SD) were calculated, for small intestine and colon separately. In addition, the size of the tumors was illustrated by curves of distributions of tumor size classes (of 0.25 mm tumor diameter intervals), calculated as mean number of tumors in each tumor size class for each treatment group. These curves were used to illustrate the effects of a 45% fat diet for various periods, which were calculated by subtracting the mean number of tumors in mice exposed to the control diet with 10% fat throughout life from the mean number of tumors in mice exposed to a 45% fat diet for various periods (Figure 10(a)). It was also done to illustrate the effect of PhIP on tumor size, by subtracting the mean tumor numbers in the corresponding dietary groups not exposed to PhIP from the mean number of tumors in the PhIP-treated groups (Figure 10(b)).

2.7. Absolute and Relative Organ Weights. The liver and spleen were dissected and weighed at termination, and the data are presented as absolute weight (in gram), or as relative weight (in %) calculated as absolute weight/body weight × 100.

2.8. Blood Glucose Measurements and Glucose Tolerance Test (GTT). Nonfasted blood glucose was measured with a glucometer (FreeStyle Freedom Lite, Abbott Diabetes Care, Inc., Alameda, CA, USA) in all the mice by puncture of the saphenous vein in the hind leg at two time points: at age 6 and 11 weeks (*Min*/+ mice) and at age 6 and 23 weeks (wild-type mice).

The glucose tolerance test (GTT) was performed on a subset of mice from each treatment group when they were 10 weeks old. The mice were fasted for 6 h from approximately 9 a.m. to 3 p.m. before i.p. injection of 2 g/kg body weight D-(+) glucose (Sigma-Aldrich, Norway, AS, Oslo). Blood glucose was measured 5 min before and 15, 30, 60 and 120 min after injection of glucose. The AUC was calculated from -5 to 120 min with the trapezoidal rule using Sigmaplot 12.3.

When readings were above 27.8 mmol/L and displaying HIGH on the glucometer, this value was used in the data analysis. This was not registered in any of the nonfasted blood glucose samples. In GTT, this occurred only for one Min/+ male given a 45% fat diet as adult at the 15 min time point, and for one Min/+ female given a 45% fat diet throughout life and PhIP, at 60 min. No samples in either end point had glucose readings below 1.1 mmol/L and showing LOW in the glucometer.

2.9. Leptin ELISA. The hormone leptin was measured in serum obtained from the mice at sacrifice. An ELISA kit (catalogue number MBS455345) from MyBioSource Inc. (San Diego, CA, USA) was used according to the manufacturer's instructions. Optical density (OD) was measured at 450 nm on a BioTek microplate reader (BioTek Instruments Inc., Winooski, VT, USA). Concentrations were calculated from standard curves on each plate. All samples were diluted 1:20 in PBS, pH 7.1. The limit of detection was 0.06 ng leptin/mL.

2.10. Statistical Analyses. The data are presented as mean \pm SD and were analysed using SigmaPlot 12.3. The incidence of colonic tumors was analysed by Fischer exact test (two-tailed probability). For evaluation of all other data, analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used with an appropriate multiple comparison procedure. When testing the influence of a single factor, one-way ANOVA with the Holm-Sidak test for multiple comparisons was used for parametric data or the Kruskal-Wallis ANOVA on ranks with Dunn's test for multiple comparisons was used for nonparametric data. When testing the influence of two or three factors together the data were analysed by two- or three-way ANOVA, respectively, with the Holm-Sidak test for multiple comparisons. A *P* value of < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

3. Results

3.1. The Dams' Age When Mated. There were no statistically significant differences between the mean age at mating for the dams given the various dietary combinations, being 121 days (10+10+10, n = 17), 108 days (45+10+10, n = 17), 120 days (10+45+10, n = 14), 122 days (45+45+10, n = 19), 114 days (10+10+45, n = 18), 104 days (45+45+45, n = 21), 112 days (45+45+10PhIP, n = 17), and 105 days (45+45+45PhIP, n = 17). There was a statistically significant difference (P = 0.046) between the mean age at mating of all the dams given a 10% fat versus a 45% fat diet, with mean age of 118 days (range 88–170 days) for the dams on the 10% fat diet and 110 days (range 82–186) on the 45% fat diet. However, this small difference most likely has no biological significance.



FIGURE 2: The feed intake of the dams during (a) pregnancy, that is, from mating to the end of week 3 of pregnancy (n = 37-119), and (b) the three week lactation period (n = 12-69), recorded as gram diet per gram body weight per week (mean ± SD). During pregnancy, the dams were given either a 10% fat (white columns) or a 45% fat diet (black columns). The data for the lactation period were stratified according to the four different combinations of the 10% fat or 45% fat diet during pregnancy and the 10% fat or 45% fat diets during the lactation period; 10+10+ (white columns), 45+10+ (light grey columns), 10+45+ (dark grey columns), 45+45+ (black columns), as explained in the legend to Figure 1. (a) ^{a,b}Significantly higher with a 10% fat diet versus a 45% fat diet in the same week. (b) ^{a,b,c}Significantly higher with a 10% fat diet during nursing versus a 45% fat diet in both periods within the same week.

3.2. Breeding Efficiency on the Various Diets. There were no statistically significant differences in the resulting mean number of pups per litter in the various experimental dietary groups, being 6.1 (10+10+10, n = 17), 6.4 (45+10+10, n = 17), 7.4 (10+45+10, n = 14), 5.7 (45+45+10, n = 19), 6.9 (10+10+45, n = 18), 6.9 (45+45+45, n = 21), 6.2 (45+45+10PhIP, n = 17) and 6.2 (45+45+45PhIP, n = 17). Likewise, there were no statistically significant differences in the mean number of pups per litter between all litters given a 10% fat diet (6.8, n = 49) or a 45% fat diet (6.3, n = 91) during pregnancy.

3.3. Feed Intake of the Dams during Pregnancy. The feed intake of the mice dams was recorded as gram feed per gram body weight per week for each of the three weeks of pregnancy (Figure 2(a)). The dams had a significantly higher feed intake per gram body weight in both week 1 and 2 compared with week 3, of both the 10% fat and 45% fat diets (P < 0.001 for all comparisons), and in week 1 compared with week 2 for the 45% fat diet (P < 0.001). The intake of feed per gram body weight was higher for the 10% fat diet than the 45% fat diet for all three weeks together, and for weeks 2 and 3 separately (P < 0.001 for all comparisons).

3.4. Feed Intake of the Dams during Nursing. The feed intake of the mice dams was recorded as gram feed per gram body weight per week for each of the three weeks of nursing (Figure 2(b)). The dams in all dietary groups had a significantly higher feed intake in both week 2 and 3 compared

with week 1, and in week 3 compared with week 2, in all mice and in each experimental dietary group separately (*P* values were <0.001 to 0.012). The dams given a 45% fat diet during pregnancy and lactation periods had significantly lower feed intake than the dams given a 10% fat diet in both periods, in all time periods together and in weeks 1, 2 and 3, separately (*P* values were <0.001 to 0.018). The feed intake of the 45% fat diet compared with the 10% fat diet fat diet was 18.3, 17.9 and 12.8% lower in week 1, 2 and 3, respectively. The dams given a 45% fat diet during both pregnancy and the lactation period also had significantly lower feed intake than the dams given a 45% fat diet during pregnancy and a 10% fat diet during lactation, in all time periods together and in weeks 2 and 3, separately (*P* values were <0.001 to 0.010).

3.5. Feed Intake of the Min/+ and Wild-Type Offspring Aged 4 to 11 Weeks. The feed intake of the mice offspring (Min/+ and wild-type combined) after weaning was recorded as gram feed per gram body weight per week for each experimental group from week 4 to 11 for females (Figure 3(a)) and males (data not shown) separately. In general, females had a higher feed intake than males on gram body weight basis (P < 0.001), as has been found in our previous experiments (see [33], Ngo et al., 2014; unpublished results). This was seen in all treatment groups separately (P = 0.004 in the negative control group and the group given 45% fat diet throughout life and PhIP, and P < 0.001 for the rest of the groups), and in all weeks separately (P = 0.007 at week 4 and P < 0.001



FIGURE 3: The feed intake of the mice offspring after weaning was recorded as gram diet per gram body weight per week (mean \pm SD) for each experimental group (n = 10-27), shown for (a) female *Min/+* and wild-type mice combined, from 4 to 11 weeks of age, and for (b) wild-type males, from 12 to 23 weeks of age. Experimental dietary groups: 10+10+10 (open white columns), 45+10+10 (horizontally striped columns), 10+45+10 (cross-hatched columns), 10+10+45 (light grey columns), 45+45+10 (left upwards diagonally striped columns), 45+45+45 (dark grey columns), 45+45+10 + PhIP (right upwards diagonally striped columns), 45+45+45 + PhIP (filled black columns), as explained in the legend to Figure 1.

for the other weeks), except week 5 which did not reach significance. There was a general decrease in feed intake per gram body weight each week compared with the following week (Figure 3(a)), which was statistically significant (P values were 0.018 to < 0.001) except for weeks 7–10.

The mice given a 45% fat diet either as adults (for 8 weeks) or throughout life (for 11 weeks), with or without PhIP, had significantly lower feed intake per gram body weight per week than the other dietary groups receiving a 10% fat diet

throughout life (for 11 weeks), or a 45% fat diet for shorter time, that is, only *in utero* (for 3 weeks), only during nursing (for 3 weeks) or during *in utero* and nursing (for 6 weeks), with or without PhIP (P values from 0.002 to < 0.001). PhIP did not affect the feed intake.

3.6. Feed Intake of the Wild-Type Offspring Aged 12 to 23 Weeks. The feed intake of the wild-type mice offspring was recorded as gram feed per gram body weight per week for each experimental group from week 12 to 23 for females (data not shown) and males (Figure 3(b)), separately. In general, wildtype females had a higher feed intake than males on gram body weight basis (P < 0.001), which was also seen in all treatment groups separately and in all weeks separately (P <0.001 for all comparisons). There was generally a higher feed intake per gram body weight for the earlier weeks compared with the later weeks (Figure 3(b)), which was statistically significant in females for weeks 12, 14, 15 and 17 compared with each of weeks 20-23, and for week 12 also compared with weeks 18 and 19, and for week 15 also compared with week 19. Feed intake in week 16 was significantly higher compared with weeks 21-23, and feed intake in week 13 and weeks 18-22 was significantly higher than in week 23 only (P values were 0.048 to < 0.001). In males, there was a significantly higher feed intake in weeks 12 and 13 compared with each of weeks 20-23, and for weeks 14-22 compared with week 23 (P values were 0.041 to < 0.001).

As observed for the *Min/+* and wild-type mice at weeks 4–11, the wild-type mice of both genders at weeks 12–23 given a 45% fat diet either as adults (for 8 weeks) or throughout life (for 11 weeks), with or without PhIP, had significantly lower feed intake per gram body weight per week than the other dietary groups receiving a 10% fat diet throughout life (for 11 weeks), or a 45% fat diet for shorter time, that is, only *in utero* (for 3 weeks), only during nursing (for 3 weeks) or during *in utero* and nursing (for 6 weeks), with or without PhIP (P < 0.001 for all comparisons). PhIP did not affect the feed intake.

3.7. Body Weight of the Dams during Pregnancy in Gram or as AUC. The increase in body weight in gram for the dams on either a 10% fat or a 45% fat diet from mating until the end of pregnancy is shown in Figure 4. The body weight was significantly increased each week compared with the previous week for dams on both 10% fat and 45% fat diets (P values were < 0.001 or 0.002 for all comparisons). The body weight was significantly higher in the dams on a 45% fat diet compared with a 10% fat diet at week 1 (3.3%, P = 0.028) and week 2 (7.2%, P < 0.001) of pregnancy, but not at mating (0.4%) and at week 3 at the end of pregnancy (2.0%).

Also when calculating the increase in body weight as AUC from mating until the end of pregnancy, the dams on a 45% fat diet had significantly higher AUC than the dams on a 10% fat diet (P = 0.018) (data not shown).

3.8. Body Weight in Min/+ and Wild-Type Mice Offspring in Gram or as AUC from Day 3-4 to Week 11. Body weight development (in gram) for both female and male Min/+ (Figure 5(a)) and wild-type (Figure 5(b)) mice of all treatment groups is shown from age 3-4 days to 11 weeks. The body weight development over time of the mice offspring was evaluated statistically as area under the curve (AUC) from day 3-4 to week 11 for Min/+ (Figures 6(a) and 6(b)) and wild-type (Figures 6(c) and 6(d)) mice for each dietary group. The Min/+ mice had a lower AUC compared with the wild-type mice in both females and males, and in mice both with and without PhIP treatment (P < 0.001 for all comparisons). Both Min/+ and wild-type male mice had larger AUC than females (P < 0.001 both comparisons), which was apparent





FIGURE 4: Body weight development (in gram) of dams during pregnancy, that is, from mating to the end of week three of pregnancy (mean \pm SD). The dams were given either a 10% fat (open circles) or a 45% fat (filled circles) diet in this period. n = 41-123. ^aSignificantly higher with a 45% fat diet versus a 10% fat diet in the same week.

in all dietary groups (P < 0.001 for all comparisons). *Min*/+ mice exposed to PhIP had lower body weight than mice not exposed to PhIP (P = 0.027), but PhIP did not affect the body weight in the wild-type mice.

In both Min/+ and wild-type mice of both genders, although slightly increased, exposure to a 45% fat diet in utero did not significantly increase the body weight as AUC compared with the negative control group given a 10% fat diet throughout life. Exposure to a 45% fat diet only during the nursing period significantly increased AUC compared with the negative control group ($P \leq 0.009$), except in the subgroup male wild-type mice. However, exposure to a 45% fat diet both in utero and during nursing significantly increased AUC compared with the negative control group when evaluating both genotypes and genders together (P <0.001), but only in the subgroup of males for Min/+ and wildtype mice together (P = 0.010), whereas each genotype and gender separately did not reach significance. The exposure to a 45% fat diet during in utero and nursing did not increase AUC further compared with a 45% diet only during nursing. Thus, the effect of a 45% fat diet during the nursing period is more efficient in increasing the body weight than the exposure in utero.

The exposure to a 45% fat diet as adults did not increase AUC compared with the control group or any of the other exposure groups. The exposure to a 45% fat diet during nursing actually gave a significantly higher AUC than exposure as adults *in Min*/+ male mice (P = 0.011). In both *Min*/+ and wild-type mice of both genders, the exposure to a 45% fat diet throughout the whole life increased AUC compared with the negative control group (P < 0.001), and this was

35 35 30 30 Body weight (g) 25 25 Body weight (g) 20 20 15 15 10 10 5 5 0 0 0 2 4 6 8 10 12 2 4 6 8 10 12 Age (weeks) Age (weeks) (a) (b) 50 Body weight (g) 40 30 20 12 14 16 18 20 22 24 Age (weeks) (c)

FIGURE 5: Body weight development (in gram) of female and male mice of all treatment groups is illustrated for (a) *Min/+* and (b) wild-type mice from age 3-4 days to 11 weeks, and for (c) wild-type mice from age 12 to 23 weeks. The open white symbols are for untreated female mice; 10+10+10 (\bigcirc), 45+10+10 (\triangle), 10+45+10 (\bigtriangledown), 45+45+10 (\square), 10+10+45 (\diamond), 45+45+45 (open hexagon), and the same filled black symbols are for untreated male mice. The PhIP-treated groups are marked with grey symbols; 45+45+10 PhIP (\bigcirc) and 45+45+45 PhIP (\square) in females, and 45+45+10 PhIP (\triangle), 45+45+45 PhIP (\bigcirc) in males. The experimental groups are as explained in the legend to Figure 1. n = 20-46.

also the case for all subgroups; Min/+ females (P < 0.001), Min/+ males (P = 0.001), wild-type females (P = 0.006) and wild-type males (P < 0.001). Exposure to a 45% fat diet throughout life also increased AUC compared with the group given a 45% fat diet only *in utero* (P < 0.001), which was seen in female (P = 0.024) and male (P < 0.001) mice of both genotypes combined, and also in the subgroups female Min/+ mice (P = 0.012) and male wild-type mice (P < 0.001). Exposure to a 45% fat diet throughout life also increased AUC compared with exposure both in utero and during nursing (P < 0.001), which was seen in the female (P = 0.024) and male (P = 0.030) mice of both genotypes combined, and in the subgroup female Min/+ mice (P =0.022). The comparison of a 45% fat diet throughout life with the group given a 45% fat diet only during nursing did not reach significance. However, AUC was significantly higher after exposure to a 45% fat diet throughout life compared with a 45% fat diet given only as adults (P < 0.001), which was seen in female (P = 0.004) and male (P < 0.001) mice of both genotypes combined, and also in the subgroups female (P = 0.024) and male (P = 0.003) Min/+ mice, and male (P < 0.001), but not female, wild-type mice.

Within the PhIP-exposed *Min/+* mice, there was no significant difference in AUC between the exposure to a 45% fat diet during *in utero* and nursing compared with throughout life.

3.9. Body Weight in Wild-Type Mice Offspring in Gram or as AUC from Week 12 to 23. The Min/+ mice were terminated at 11 weeks of age, before negative health effects of their tumors become apparent. The wild-type mice were not terminated until 23 weeks of age to study the impact of the early life exposure to a 45% fat diet in older mice. The body weight in gram of the wild-type mice from age 12 to 23 weeks is illustrated in Figure 5(c). The body weight development of the wild-type mice offspring was evaluated statistically as AUC from week 12 to week 23 for each dietary group (Figures 6(e) and 6(f)). The male wild-type mice were significantly heavier than the females also at this age (P < 0.001). Similar to the wild-type mice from day 3-4 to week 11, there was no difference in AUC between wild-type mice given PhIP or left untreated from week 12 to 23.

In the wild-type mice of both genders, although slightly increased, exposure to the 45% fat diet only *in utero* did not significantly increase the body weight as AUC from week 12 to 23 compared with the negative control group given a 10% fat diet throughout life. The same was the case with exposure to a 45% fat diet only during nursing, or during both *in utero* and nursing. In wild-type mice, the exposure to a 45% fat diet as adults or throughout life increased AUC from week 12 to 23 compared with the negative control group, both in females (P = 0.033 and P < 0.001) and in males (P < 0.001 for both comparisons), respectively.



FIGURE 6: Body weight development as AUC (arbitrary units, mean \pm SD) from age 3-4 days to 11 weeks for (a) *Min*/+ females, (b) *Min*/+ males, (c) wild-type females and (d) wild-type males, and from age 12 to 23 weeks for (e) wild-type females and (f) wild-type males. The experimental groups are as explained in the legend to Figure 1. n = 20-46.

Exposure to a 45% fat diet as adults also increased AUC compared with the group given a 45% fat diet only *in utero*, and both *in utero* and during nursing, in males (P = 0.0013 and P = 0.046, resp.), but not in females. Exposure to a 45% fat diet throughout life also increased AUC compared with exposure *in utero*, and *in utero* and during nursing, in females

(P = 0.008 and P = 0.009, resp.), and in males (P < 0.001 for both comparisons). Exposure to a 45% fat diet throughout life also increased AUC compared with exposure only during the nursing period in males (P < 0.001), but not in females. The AUC results were not significantly different between a 45% fat diet as adults or throughout life in either gender.

Thus, the effects of an early exposure to a 45% fat diet both *in utero* and during nursing, or only during nursing, on AUC observed at age 3-4 days to 11 weeks, were no longer present when the wild-type mice had reached the age of 12 to 23 weeks.

3.10. Body Weight in Min/+ and Wild-Type Mice Offspring at a Specific Age (Week 11). Body weight at 11 weeks of age was evaluated for both Min/+ (Figure 5(a)) and wild-type mice (Figure 5(b)) of both genders. The Min/+ mice had significantly lower terminal body weight than the wild-type mice (P < 0.001). This was observed in the subgroups untreated mice (P = 0.002), PhIP-treated mice (P < 0.001), and in females (P < 0.001) and males (P < 0.001), separately. Male mice had significantly higher body weight at termination at 11 weeks compared with the female mice, in Min/+ mice, in wild-type mice, in untreated and PhIPtreated mice, and in all dietary groups (P < 0.001 for all comparisons).

Based on all mice and *Min/+* mice separately, mice exposed to PhIP had a significantly lower terminal body weight compared with the untreated mice (P < 0.001 for both comparisons), but this was not seen in wild-type mice separately. PhIP affected body weight in both female (P =0.033) and male *Min/+* mice (P < 0.001), separately. This was also seen in the subgroups given 45% fat diet *in utero* and during nursing (P = 0.019) and throughout life (P <0.001). Apparently, the tumor burden in the *Min/+* mice, which is increased further with PhIP exposure, affects their body weight negatively, before overt signs of anemia and other negative health effects were observed. The same results were also observed in a previous study with this mouse model (Ngo et al., 2014; unpublished results).

Based on both *Min/+* and wild-type mice, a 45% fat diet given *in utero* did not increase terminal body weight compared with the 10% control diet, whereas exposure during the nursing period only (P < 0.001) or during both *in utero* and nursing period (P = 0.032) did. In *Min/+* or wild-type mice separately, a 45% fat diet given *in utero*, or during both *in utero* and nursing period, did not increase the body weight, whereas exposure during only the nursing period did (P = 0.045 for *Min/+* mice, and P = 0.033 for wild-type mice). In female and male mice separately, none of these comparisons reached significance.

Based on both Min/+ and wild-type mice, exposure to a 45% fat diet only as adults increased the body weight compared with a 10% fat diet (P = 0.012), but not compared with exposure to a 45% fat diet *in utero*, during nursing, or during both *in utero* and nursing, whereas none of these comparisons reached significance in Min/+ and wild-type mice separately, or in female and male mice separately.

A 45% fat diet given throughout life to Min/+ and wildtype mice combined, or both genotypes separately, gave a significantly higher body weight compared with the negative control group given a 10% fat diet throughout life (P < 0.001for all comparisons). Exposure to a 45% fat diet throughout life to the Min/+ and wild-type mice combined also had significantly higher body weight compared with all the other dietary groups (P values from 0.013 to < 0.01). This was also seen in *Min/+* and wild-type mice separately (*P* values from 0.037 to < 0.01), except that in these cases the comparison with the mice given a 45% fat diet during nursing did not reach significance. A 45% fat diet throughout life gave a higher body weight in the subgroup female *Min/+* mice compared with a 45% fat diet *in utero* (P = 0.035) and *in utero* and during nursing (P = 0.002), and in male wild-type mice compared with a 45% fat diet *in utero* (P < 0.001), *in utero* and during nursing (P = 0.046), and as adults (P = 0.019).

In the PhIP-treated *Min/+* mice, a 45% fat diet given throughout life did not give significantly higher body weight compared with exposure to a 45% fat diet only *in utero* or during nursing, as it did in the untreated *Min/+* mice (P < 0.001).

The 45% fat diet throughout life gave significantly higher body weight than the exposure to a 45% fat diet only in adult life (P < 0.001, P = 0.004 and P = 0.0022, in all mice, and *Min*/+ mice and wild-type mice, resp.).

3.11. Body Weight in Wild-Type Mice Offspring at a Specific Age (Week 23). The body weight of the wild-type mice from age 12 to 23 weeks is illustrated in Figure 5(c). Similar to the AUC results in wild-type mice from day 3-4 to week 11 and from week 12 to 23, there was no difference in terminal body weight at week 23 between mice given PhIP or left untreated. In these wild-type mice of both genders, although slightly increased, exposure to a 45% fat diet only in utero did not significantly increase terminal body weight at week 23 compared with the negative control group given a 10% fat diet throughout life. The same was the case with exposure to a 45% fat diet only during nursing, or both *in utero* and during nursing. The exposure to a 45% fat diet as adults or throughout life increased terminal body weight at week 23 compared with the negative control group, in both females and males separately (P < 0.001 for all comparisons).

Exposure to a 45% fat diet as adults increased terminal body weight compared with the group given 45% fat diet *in utero*, and both *in utero* and during nursing, in females (P = 0.043 and P = 0.040, resp.), and in males (P < 0.001and P = 0.006, resp.), and compared with a 45% fat diet only during nursing in males (P = 0.024). Exposure to a 45% fat diet throughout life also increased terminal body weight compared with exposure *in utero*, during nursing, and both *in utero* and during nursing, in both females and males (P < 0.001 for all comparisons). The terminal body weight at 23 weeks was not significantly different between mice given a 45% fat diet as adults or throughout life in either gender.

Thus, the effects of an early exposure to a 45% fat diet observed during the *in utero* and nursing periods, or only during nursing, on terminal body weight at age 11 weeks, were no longer present when the wild-type mice had reached the age of 23 weeks.

3.12. Terminal BMI in Min/+ Mice Offspring at Week 11. When terminating the Min/+ mice at 11 weeks of age, terminal body weight and nasoanal length were recorded and BMI was calculated as body weight divided by the square of the nasoanal length (in g/cm²) (data not shown). The male

Min/+ mice had significantly higher BMI at termination at 11 weeks compared with the females, and this was observed in all experimental dietary groups (P < 0.001 for all comparisons). Mice exposed to PhIP had a significantly lower BMI compared with the untreated *Min*/+ mice (P < 0.001), and this was seen in both mice given a 45% fat diet during *in utero* and nursing, and throughout life (P = 0.009 and P < 0.001, resp.), consistent with the other body weight results (AUC for body weight development and body weight at a specific time point).

None of the exposures to a 45% fat diet early in life; in utero, during nursing, or both in utero and during nursing, increased BMI compared with the negative control mice given a 10% fat diet throughout life, in either gender. The same results were found with exposure to a 45% fat diet as adults. The BMI after a 45% fat diet as adults was not significantly different from after a 45% fat diet in utero, during nursing, or during both in utero and nursing. A 45% fat diet given throughout life increased BMI compared with the negative control group, and the mice given a 45% fat diet in utero, in both genders separately (P < 0.001 and P = 0.021 in females, respectively, and P = 0.013 and P = 0.032, in males, resp.). A 45% fat diet given throughout life also increased BMI compared with a 45% fat diet in utero and during nursing in females (P < 0.001), and compared with a 45% fat diet during nursing (P = 0.048) and compared with as adults (P = 0.011)in males.

As opposed to body weight development as AUC from day 3-4 to week 11 and terminal body weight at 11 weeks, the end point terminal BMI at 11 weeks did not demonstrate early life as a sensitive period for obesity from exposure to a high fat diet in the *Min*/+ mice.

3.13. Terminal BMI in Wild-Type Mice Offspring at Week 23. The wild-type mice were terminated at week 23, and their BMI values were calculated (data not shown). The male wild-type mice had significantly higher BMI at termination at 23 weeks compared with the females, and this was observed in all dietary groups (P < 0.001 for all comparisons). At this time point, there was no longer any significant difference in BMI between mice exposed to PhIP or left untreated.

As found for Min/+ mice at 11 weeks, none of the exposures of wild-type mice to a 45% fat diet early in life; in utero, during nursing, or both in utero and during nursing, increased BMI compared with in the negative control mice given a 10% fat diet throughout life, in either gender. A 45% fat diet as adults increased the BMI compared with the negative control group (P < 0.001, for both genders), and compared with exposure to a 45% fat diet given in utero (P = 0.014and P = 0.003) and both *in utero* and during nursing (P =0.042 and P = 0.040, in females and males, respectively, and compared with a 45% fat diet given during nursing in females (P = 0.047). A 45% fat diet given throughout life increased BMI compared with the negative control mice, the mice given a 45% fat diet in utero, during nursing, and both in utero and during nursing, in both genders (P < 0.001for all comparisons). The terminal BMI at 23 weeks was not significantly difference between exposure to a 45% fat diet as adults or throughout life.

Within the PhIP-exposed *Min/+* mice, there was no significant difference in terminal BMI between the exposure to a 45% fat diet during the *in utero* and nursing period compared with throughout life, either in females or males.

As was found for *Min*/+ mice at 11 weeks of age, the end point terminal BMI at 23 weeks did no longer demonstrate the sensitive period for obesity early in life from exposure to a high fat diet in the wild-type mice.

3.14. Blood Glucose Levels. To test the hypothesis that obesity may affect intestinal tumorigenesis by disturbing the blood glucose regulation, blood glucose levels (nonfasted) were measured in all mice. This was done at weeks 6 and 11 in the Min/+ mice (Figure 7(a)), and at weeks 6 and 23 in the wild-type mice (Figure 7(b)). When compared at 6 weeks, the Min/+ mice had higher levels of blood glucose than the wildtype mice (P < 0.001), which was also found in our previous experiments (see [33], Ngo et al., 2014; unpublished results). The blood glucose levels were significantly higher in male compared with female Min/+ mice, at both 6 and 11 weeks, and in wild-type mice, at both 6 and 23 weeks, and in mice treated with PhIP or not (P < 0.001 all comparisons). It was also seen in all dietary groups for both time points together (P < 0.001 for all comparisons). The blood glucose results are presented for females and males separately (Figure 7).

The blood glucose levels measured at week 11 was significantly higher than at week 6, for females (P < 0.001) and for males (P < 0.001), for PhIP-treated (P < 0.001) and for untreated (P = 0.018) *Min*/+ mice. Blood glucose levels measured at week 23 were significantly higher than at week 6 for wild-type females (P < 0.001), whereas for males, the levels were higher at week 6 than week 23 (P = 0.036). Based on all values from *Min*/+ mice at 6 and 11 weeks, the PhIP-treated mice had higher blood glucose levels than mice not treated with PhIP (P = 0.004), which was also observed in a previous experiment (Ngo et al., 2014; unpublished results), whereas this effect of PhIP was not significant for the wild-type mice at weeks 6 and 23.

Exposure to a 45% fat diet only *in utero*, during nursing, or both *in utero* and during nursing, did not significantly increase blood glucose levels compared with the negative control group given a 10% fat diet throughout life, neither in *Min*/+ mice or wild-type mice at any time point.

Based on both genders at 6 and 11 weeks, a 45% fat diet given in adult life significantly increased the blood glucose levels compared with the control diet (P = 0.038) and exposure to a 45% fat diet during nursing (P = 0.009), but not compared with exposure to a 45% fat diet in utero, or both *in utero* and during nursing, in the *Min/+* mice. Based on both genders at 6 and 23 weeks, a 45% fat diet given in adult life significantly increased the blood glucose levels compared with the control diet (P = 0.006), exposure to a 45% fat diet *in utero* (P < 0.001) and during nursing (P = 0.033), but not compared with exposure to a 45% fat diet both in utero and during nursing, in the wild-type mice. Based on both 6 and 23 weeks, a 45% fat diet given in adult life to female wild-type mice separately significantly increased the blood glucose level compared with the control diet (P = 0.030), exposure to a 45% fat diet *in utero* (P < 0.001), during nursing (P = 0.019),



FIGURE 7: Nonfasted blood glucose levels (mmol/L, mean \pm SD) for (a) *Min*/+ mice; females at 6 and 11 weeks and males at 6 and 11 weeks, (b) wild-type mice; females at 6 and 23 weeks and males at 6 and 23 weeks, shown for both genotypes with columns in white, light grey, dark grey and black color, respectively. P = PhIP. The experimental groups are as explained in the legend to Figure 1. n = 9-46.

and also compared with exposure to a 45% fat diet both *in utero* and during nursing (P = 0.018). In male wild-type mice separately, there were no statistically significant effects of a 45% fat diet given in adult life.

Based on both genders at 6 and 11 weeks, a 45% fat diet given throughout life significantly increased the blood glucose levels compared with the negative control group (P <0.001), the group exposed to the 45% fat diet in utero (P =0.001), and during nursing (P < 0.001), but the differences were not statistically significant compared with exposure to a 45% fat diet both in utero and during nursing, or as adults, in the Min/+ mice. Based on both genders at 6 and 23 weeks, in the wild-type mice a 45% fat diet given throughout life significantly increased the blood glucose level compared with the group exposed to the 45% fat diet *in utero* (P < 0.001), but the differences were not statistically significant compared with the negative control group, exposure to a 45% fat diet during nursing, both in utero and during nursing, or as adults. Also based on both 6 and 11 weeks, in female wild-type mice separately a 45% fat diet given throughout life significantly increased the blood glucose levels compared with the group exposed to the 45% fat diet *in utero* (P = 0.001), whereas the comparisons with the other groups did not reach significance. In male wild-type mice separately, none of the various dietary groups were significantly different. At 6 weeks separately, none of the comparisons with the 45% fat dietary groups reached significance compared with the control group, and at 11 weeks separately, the only significant difference was between the 45% fat diet throughout life compared with the control group (P = 0.031).

A shorter exposure to a 45% fat diet early in life, that is, *in utero*, during nursing, or both *in utero* and during nursing, was apparently not able to affect the blood glucose levels, whereas a longer exposure to a 45% fat diet as adults or throughout life did increase the blood glucose levels. However, exposure to a 45% diet as adults, and not throughout life, increased blood glucose levels significantly more than exposure both *in utero* and during nursing only in the subgroup of female wild-type mice evaluated at 6 and 23 weeks (P = 0.018).

3.15. Glucose Tolerance Test (GTT). To get a clearer picture of the effect on blood glucose regulation by the various dietary combinations, GTT was performed at 10 weeks on a subset of mice from each treatment group in a fasted state. A larger area under the curve (AUC) in the glucose tolerance test indicates that the mice have reduced ability to clear the injected glucose from the blood. As for the nonfasted blood glucose levels, significantly larger AUC was found in the *Min*/+ mice (Figures 8(a) and 8(b)) compared with the wild-type mice (Figures 8(c) and 6(d)) (P < 0.001). And likewise, males had significantly higher AUC compared with females (P < 0.001), which is especially noticeable in the wild-type mice (Figures 8(c) and 6(d)).

Blood glucose AUC was higher in PhIP-exposed mice compared with mice not given PhIP after exposure to a 45% fat diet throughout life (P < 0.001), but not after exposure to a 45% fat diet *in utero* and during nursing (Figure 8).

The early exposure to a 45% diet *in utero*, during nursing, or during both *in utero* and nursing, did not differ from the control group given a 10% diet throughout life (Figure 8). The mice in the groups exposed to a 45% fat diet as adults or throughout life had significantly higher AUC than the negative control group (P < 0.001 for both comparisons), and the mice exposed to a 45% fat diet either during adult life or throughout life also had significantly higher AUC compared with all the other treatment groups, including the group given a 45% fat diet both *in utero* and during nursing (P = 0.002 or



FIGURE 8: Mean fasted blood glucose levels at age 10 weeks as area under the curve (AUC) (arbitrary units) in the glucose tolerance test in (a) female and (b) male *Min*/+ mice, and in (c) female and (d) male wild-type mice. The symbols for the untreated mice of both genders are: 10+10+10 (\bullet), 45+10+10 (\bigtriangleup), 10+45+10 (\bigtriangledown), 45+45+10 (\Box), 10+10+45 (\diamond), and 45+45+45 (open hexagon), and the symbols for the PhIP-treated mice are in grey color; 45+45+10 PhIP (\bigcirc) and 45+45+45 PhIP (\bigtriangleup). The experimental groups are as explained in the legend to Figure 1. n = 9-16.

P < 0.001 for all comparisons) (Figure 8). The two dietary groups exposed to a 45% fat diet either during adult life or throughout life did not have significantly different AUC.

These GTT results essentially confirmed the results obtained by measuring blood glucose in a nonfasted state.

According to WHO [35], diagnostic criteria for humans with impaired glucose tolerance (IGT) are 7.8–11.1 mmol/L of glucose measured 2 h after an oral dose of 75 gram glucose, and levels above 11.1 mmol/L confirm diabetes. Regarding these levels also relevant for mice, we found IGT at the 2h time point in the GTT in 8% and 23% (10+10+10), 5% and 69% (45+10+10), 0% and 68% (10+45+10), 27% and 60% (45+45+10), 13% and 82% (10+10+45), 23% and 70% (45+45+45), 10% and 50% (45+45+10 PhIP), and 32% and 92% (45+45+45 PhIP) of the female and male mice, respectively (treatment groups in parentheses). A diabetic

level of glucose at the 2 h time point in the GTT was found in 0% and 0%, 0% and 7%, 0% and 5%, 5% and 5%, 0% and 27%, 0% and 22%, 0% and 0%, and 5% and 25% of the female and male mice in the same treatment groups as above, respectively.

3.16. Small Intestinal Tumors. All mice had small intestinal tumors (adenomas), independent of dietary or carcinogenic exposures, confirming 100% incidence of small intestinal tumors as is commonly found in the Min/+ mice [25-27, 33]. The number of small intestinal tumors was not significantly different between the genders, thus the data for males and females are presented together (Figure 9). Although slightly increased, exposure to the 45% fat diet only in utero did not significantly increase the number of small intestinal tumors compared with the negative control group given a 10% fat diet throughout life. Exposure to a 45% fat diet only during the nursing period was significantly increased compared with the negative control group (P < 0.05). However, exposure to a 45% fat diet both in utero and during nursing, significantly increased the number of small intestinal tumors further, compared with the negative control group (P < 0.05), and compared with a 45% diet only in utero (P < 0.05), but not compared with only during nursing. Thus the effect of a 45% fat diet during the nursing period is more efficient in increasing the tumor number than the exposure in utero.

Both exposure to a 45% fat diet in adult life or throughout life gave a significant increase in small intestinal tumors compared with the negative control group, the group given a 45% fat diet *in utero*, and the group given a 45% fat diet only during nursing (P < 0.05 for all comparisons). However, exposure to a 45% fat diet in adult life or throughout life did not significantly increase the number of small intestinal tumors compared with the early exposure during both the *in utero* and nursing periods, showing the importance of early life exposure for intestinal tumor development by a high fat diet. Unexpectedly, the exposure to a 45% fat diet throughout life did not increase the number of small intestinal tumors compared with this exposure to a 45% fat diet throughout life did not increase the number of small intestinal tumors compared with this exposure only during adult life.

To compare the effects of a 45% fat diet on spontaneous tumorigenesis with the effect on carcinogen-induced mutation in or loss of the remaining inherited wild-type Apc allele, two of the experimental groups were treated with the food mutagen and carcinogen PhIP. These groups were either exposed to a 45% fat diet both in utero and during nursing or a 45% fat diet throughout life. There were no gender differences in the PhIP-treated groups or the control groups without PhIP, and thus the data for males and females are presented together (Figure 9). Both of the dietary groups treated with PhIP showed significantly higher number of small intestinal tumors compared with the untreated groups receiving the same diets (P < 0.001 for both comparisons). Hence, PhIP treatment increased intestinal tumorigenesis above the spontaneous level of tumors in the Min/+ mice, as shown previously [25–27, 33].

In mice treated with PhIP, a 45% fat diet given throughout life gave a significantly higher number of small intestinal tumors compared with exposure to a 45% fat diet during



FIGURE 9: The number of small intestinal tumors for pooled male and female Min/+ mice (mean \pm SD). Two separate experimental groups receiving a 45% fat diet during *in utero* and nursing period or throughout life were injected with PhIP (marked P). The experimental groups are as explained in the legend to Figure 1. n = 44-65. ^aSignificantly different from the negative control group given a 10% fat diet throughout life. ^bSignificantly different from the group given a 45% fat diet throughout life. ^cSignificantly different from the group given a 45% fat diet *in utero* and during nursing. ^dSignificantly different with PhIP compared with no PhIP exposure in the groups given a 45% fat diet during *in utero* and nursing period. ^cSignificantly different with PhIP compared with no PhIP exposure in the groups given a 45% fat diet throughout life. n.s. = not significantly different.

in utero and nursing (P < 0.001), whereas this effect of diet was not seen in the mice not treated with PhIP.

Small intestinal tumors from mice not treated with PhIP had diameters of 0.2-3.6 mm, whereas the tumor diameters from PhIP-treated mice were 0.2-4.5 mm. The males appeared to have larger tumors than the females (P = 0.047 for all mice), however, the difference was not statistically significant in most of the treatment groups, and the direction of this difference was not consistent since in some groups females had larger tumors than males. Therefore, the data are evaluated statistically for females and males together (data not shown).

In the mice exposed to a 45% fat diet *in utero* or during nursing, the differences in tumor diameter were not significantly different compared with the negative control group given a 10% fat diet. In the mice receiving a 45% fat diet during both the *in utero* and nursing periods, the tumors were larger than in the control group (P = 0.035), indicating a possible effect on tumor growth from this early exposure to a 45% fat diet. The 45% fat diet during both *in utero* and nursing periods also gave significantly larger tumors compared with all the other groups receiving a 45% fat diet for various periods, including a 45% fat diet as adults and throughout life (P < 0.001 for all comparisons). In the mice receiving a 45% fat diet during adult life or throughout life, the tumors were



FIGURE 10: The net effect on tumor size of (a) a 45% fat diet, and (b) of PhIP exposure. (a) The size distribution of small intestinal tumors from untreated pooled female and male *Min/+* mice exposed to a 45% fat diet for various periods is calculated by subtracting the mean number of tumors in the mice exposed to a 10% fat diet throughout life from the mean number of tumors in the treatment groups receiving a 45% fat diet for various periods for each tumor size class. (b) The size distribution of small intestinal tumors from pooled female and male *Min/+* mice exposed to PhIP is calculated by subtracting the mean number of spontaneous tumors in the mice not exposed to PhIP from the mean number of tumors formed in PhIP-treated mice for each tumor size class. The intervals between the tumor size classes are 0.25 mm. The symbols for the experimental groups are as follows: in (a) 10+10+10 (\bigcirc , 45+40+10 (\bigcirc), 10+45+10 (\bigcirc), 10+10+45 (\blacklozenge) 45+45+45 (\blacksquare), and in (b) the dietary groups without PhIP exposure; 45+45+10 (\bigcirc), 45+45+45 (\square), and the same PhIP-exposed dietary groups with (\blacklozenge) or (\blacksquare), respectively. The experimental groups are as explained in the legend to Figure 1. *n* = 44-65.

smaller compared with in the negative control mice (P < 0.05 for both comparisons), possibly indicating formation of new tumors. The exposure to a 45% fat diet as adults or throughout life gave significantly smaller tumors than in all the other groups exposed to a 45% fat (P < 0.05 for all comparisons). The exposure to a 45% fat diet throughout life did not affect the tumor size differently from a 45% fat diet only as adults.

To better illustrate the variations in size of the small intestinal tumors between the dietary groups, curves are shown of the size distribution of tumors (Figure 10(a)), calculated by subtracting the number of tumors in mice exposed to a 10% fat diet throughout life from the number of tumors in the other treatment groups receiving a 45% fat diet for various periods for the different size classes of tumors. It can be seen that the curve for exposure to a 45% fat diet both *in utero* and during nursing is higher than the control group and all other groups to the right, indicating more of the larger tumors, whereas the other treatment groups have curves below the control group for the larger tumor sizes, indicating fewer larger tumors.

PhIP increased the size of the small intestinal tumors compared with the same dietary groups without PhIP (data not shown), both when exposed to a 45% fat diet *in utero* and during nursing (P < 0.05) and when exposed throughout life (P < 0.05). The PhIP-exposed group given a 45% fat diet throughout life had larger tumors than the PhIP-exposed group given a 45% fat diet *in utero* and during nursing (P < 0.05).

The size of the PhIP-induced tumors was illustrated by curves of size distributions of PhIP-induced tumor populations, which were calculated by subtracting the number of tumors in the corresponding dietary group not exposed to PhIP from the number of tumors in the PhIP-treated groups for the difference tumor size classes (Figure 10(b)). It can be seen that the curves for the PhIP-exposed groups are to the right of the curves for the corresponding dietary groups not exposed to PhIP, illustrating larger tumors after PhIP exposure.

3.17. Colonic Tumors. Not all of the mice had colonic tumors, regardless of treatment, consistent with results found in our previous experiments with Min/+ mice [25–27, 33, 34]. There was a higher incidence of colonic tumors in males compared with females in the dietary groups given a 45% fat diet only as adults (P = 0.031) and in PhIP-treated mice after exposure during *in utero* and nursing (P = 0.030). The only significant difference between the various dietary combinations was a higher incidence of colonic tumors in the female mice exposed to a 45% fat diet only *in utero* versus only as adults (P = 0.038). A higher incidence of colonic tumors was observed with PhIP in the group given a 45% fat diet throughout life, in females separately (P = 0.016) and in both genders combined (P = 0.018), compared with no PhIP-treatment.

The number of colonic tumors was significantly higher in males compared with females for all mice (P < 0.001), and in

the treatment groups exposed to a 45% fat diet *in utero* and during nursing (P = 0.023) and throughout life (P = 0.035), hence the data are evaluated separately for females and males (data not shown). Probably because of the very low number of colonic tumors, statistical significance was not reached for any of the differences between the dietary groups. However, except for the comparison with a 45% fat diet *in utero* in females, the number of colonic tumors after the 45% fat diet *in utero* and during nursing was higher than in all the other groups exposed to a 45% fat diet for various periods and not treated with PhIP, in both females and males (data not shown). PhIP significantly increased the number of colonic tumors, in both the dietary group given a 45% fat diet *in utero* and during nursing (P = 0.006) and throughout life (P = 0.008).

Colonic tumors had diameters of 1.0–5.4 mm in mice from the dietary groups not exposed to PhIP, while the diameter in the PhIP-treated groups ranged from 0.9–6.0 mm. There were no significant differences between the genders or between the various dietary groups in colonic tumor size, and there was no statistically significant effect of PhIP on colonic tumor diameter (data not shown).

3.18. Localization of Tumors along the Small Intestine and Colon. The majority of tumors were localized in the distal two-thirds (in the middle and distal parts) of the small intestine in the mice that were exposed to a 10% fat diet throughout life, a 45% fat diet in utero, during nursing, or during both in utero and nursing (Figure 11), as has usually been found in our previous experiments with Min/+ mice [26, 27, 33, 34]. The mice that were given a 45% fat diet as adults or throughout life had additional tumors in the proximal part of the small intestine (Figure 11). The PhIP-treated mice had most of the tumors localized in the distal two-thirds of the small intestine and also quite high numbers in the proximal part of the small intestine. This unusual additional increase in tumors proximally in the small intestine was also observed in a previous experiment with genetically-induced obese mice, that is, in *Min*/+ mice crossed with *ob/ob* mice, who gets obese when homozygous mutated. Also in the previous experiment as in the present study, the tumor number was increased further in this area of the small intestine when the mice were given a 45% fat diet (another brand in the previous experiment than in the present experiment) (Ngo et al., 2014; unpublished results).

The few colonic tumors present were localized mainly in the middle to distal parts of the colon (Figure 11), as seen in previous experiments with *Min*/+ mice [26, 27, 33, 34].

3.19. Absolute and Relative Liver and Spleen Weights. To examine if the obesogenic treatment in various periods of life could affect organ weights, in addition to body weight, the absolute and relative weights of liver and spleen were measured at termination of the Min/+ mice at 11 weeks of age, and of the wild-type mice at 23 weeks of age. In the Min/+ mice (Table 1), the males had higher absolute liver weight than the females, based on all mice, and in each dietary treatment group separately (P < 0.001 for all comparisons). The only significant differences in absolute liver weight found

Localization of tumors along the small intestine and colon



FIGURE 11: Localization of tumors along the small intestine and colon for pooled female and male *Min/+* mice; 10+10+10 (\bigcirc), 45+10+10 (\bigcirc), 10+45+10 (\triangle), 45+45+10 (\blacktriangle), 10+10+45 (\diamond) and 45+45+45 (\blacklozenge), and the PhIP-exposed groups; 45+45+10 (\square), and 45+45+45 (\blacksquare). The tumor position is given as distance from the stomach measured in cm. The experimental groups are as explained in the legend to Figure 1. *n* = 44–65.

between the dietary treatment groups were that the male mice given a 45% fat diet during both *in utero* and nursing periods had significantly higher absolute liver weight than the mice given a 45% fat diet only as adults (P = 0.007) or throughout life (P = 0.018). In the *Min*/+ males, exposure to a 45% fat diet *in utero* and during nursing without PhIP gave a higher absolute liver weight than the same diet with PhIP exposure (P = 0.023). None of these differences between the dietary treatment groups were seen in females.

The relative liver weight in % was not significantly different between the males and females. Compared with the negative control group given a 10% fat diet throughout life, none of the other dietary treatment groups differed in relative liver weight either in female or male *Min/+* mice. In the males, exposure to a 45% fat diet only *in utero*, only during nursing, or *in utero* and during nursing, gave a higher relative liver weight than a 45% fat diet throughout life (P < 0.001, P = 0.045 and P < 0.001, resp.). Exposure to a 45% fat diet throughout life with PhIP gave a higher relative liver weight than the same diet without PhIP exposure in the *Min/+* males (P < 0.001) and females (P = 0.005). None of the other comparisons of relative liver weight between dietary groups reached significance in the females.

The absolute spleen weight was not significantly different between the *Min*/+ females and males. The male *Min*/+ mice given a 45% fat diet *in utero* and during nursing had significantly higher absolute spleen weight compared with the negative control mice given a 10% fat diet throughout life (P = 0.003), mice given a 45% fat diet only *in utero* (P < 0.001), mice given a 45% fat diet as adults (P = 0.004) and mice given a 45% fat diet throughout life (P = 0.005). In the *Min*/+ males, exposure to a 45% fat diet throughout life with PhIP gave a higher absolute spleen weight than the same

TABLE 1: Effects of exposure to a 45% fat diet during various periods of life on absolute liver weight (ALW), relative liver weight (RLW), absolute spleen weight (ASW), and relative spleen weight (RSW) in female and male Min/+ mice terminated at 11 weeks of age (mean of individual mice in the group ± SD).

Experimental group	п	BW (g)	ALW (g)	RLW (%)	ASW (g)	RSW (%)
Min/+, females		.0.				
10 + 10 + 10	22	19.4 ± 1.6	0.74 ± 0.18	3.81 ± 0.74	0.12 ± 0.03	0.65 ± 0.21
45 + 10 + 10	17	20.1 ± 1.8	0.82 ± 0.16	4.08 ± 0.58	0.12 ± 0.05	0.60 ± 0.22
10 + 45 + 10	27	21.4 ± 1.8	0.82 ± 0.11	3.84 ± 0.55	0.15 ± 0.09	0.69 ± 0.42
45 + 45 + 10	18	20.1 ± 1.7	0.82 ± 0.10	4.10 ± 0.46	0.17 ± 0.11	$0.86\pm0.60^{a,b}$
10 + 10 + 45	34	20.9 ± 2.6	0.75 ± 0.13	3.64 ± 0.52	0.12 ± 0.05	0.58 ± 0.22^{a}
45 + 45 + 45	22	23.2 ± 2.6	0.84 ± 0.14	3.66 ± 0.47^{a}	$0.13\pm0.05^{\rm a}$	$0.55 \pm 0.22^{b,c}$
45 + 45 + 10 PhIP	22	20.6 ± 2.2	0.86 ± 0.10	4.23 ± 0.54	0.21 ± 0.11	1.00 ± 0.55
45 + 45 + 45 PhIP	15	19.5 ± 2.9	0.83 ± 0.14	4.35 ± 0.84^{a}	0.23 ± 0.11^{a}	$1.23 \pm 0.68^{\circ}$
<i>Min</i> /+, males						
10 + 10 + 10	17	27.4 ± 2.6	1.10 ± 0.19	4.01 ± 0.55	0.12 ± 0.05^{a}	0.45 ± 0.21^{a}
45 + 10 + 10	29	27.8 ± 2.6	1.16 ± 0.16	4.16 ± 0.36^{a}	0.13 ± 0.07^{b}	0.46 ± 0.26^{b}
10 + 45 + 10	30	28.3 ± 2.8	1.14 ± 0.21	3.99 ± 0.55^{b}	0.16 ± 0.08	0.59 ± 0.31
45 + 45 + 10	19	28.8 ± 2.2	$1.22 \pm 0.21^{a,b,c}$	$4.23 \pm 0.67^{\circ}$	$0.21\pm0.13^{a,b,c,d}$	$0.75 \pm 0.47^{a,b,c,d}$
10 + 10 + 45	25	28.0 ± 3.2	1.05 ± 0.15^{a}	3.78 ± 0.56	$0.13 \pm 0.06^{\circ}$	$0.48 \pm 0.20^{\circ}$
45 + 45 + 45	29	29.9 ± 3.2	1.07 ± 0.15^{b}	$3.58\pm0.45^{\mathrm{a,b,c,d}}$	$0.14 \pm 0.06^{d,e}$	$0.47 \pm 0.22^{d,e}$
45 + 45 + 10 PhIP	27	25.3 ± 3.0	$1.09 \pm 0.14^{\circ}$	4.34 ± 0.49	0.23 ± 0.11	0.94 ± 0.52
45 + 45 + 45 PhIP	29	26.5 ± 5.6	1.09 ± 0.20	4.20 ± 0.84^{d}	0.26 ± 0.09^{e}	1.00 ± 0.39^{e}

Relative liver weight (RLW) (%) = absolute liver weight (ALW)/body weight (BW) \times 100, relative spleen weight (RSW) (%) = absolute spleen weight (ASW)/BW \times 100, g = gram.

^{a-e}Dietary treatment groups within each gender with similar letters are significantly different.

diet without PhIP exposure (P < 0.001). This comparison was also significant in females (P = 0.013), whereas none of the other comparisons of absolute spleen weight between the dietary groups reached significance in the females.

The relative spleen weight in % was significantly higher in female than in male Min/+ mice, based on all mice (P = 0.002), but this gender difference did not reach significance in any of the dietary treatment groups separately. The Min/+mice given a 45% fat diet *in utero* and during nursing had borderline or significantly higher relative spleen weight compared with the control male mice given a 10% fat diet throughout life (P = 0.051), male mice given a 45% fat diet *in utero* (P = 0.025), a 45% fat diet as adults (P = 0.049 in males and P = 0.031 in females), and a 45% fat diet throughout life (P = 0.028 in both males and females). The relative spleen weight in Min/+ mice given a 45% fat diet throughout life with PhIP was significantly higher than the same dietary group without PhIP, in both females and males (P < 0.001 for both comparisons).

Also in the wild-type mice (Table 2), the males had higher absolute liver weight than the females, based on all mice (P < 0.001), and in each dietary treatment group separately (P < 0.001 in all treatment groups, except for the group given a 45% fat diet only during nursing where P = 0.019). The only significant differences in absolute liver weight found between the dietary treatment groups in the wild-type mice were that the male mice given a 45% fat diet throughout life had significantly higher absolute liver weight than the control mice given a 10% fat diet throughout life (P = 0.028) and the mice given a 45% fat diet only during nursing (P = 0.027), whereas these differences were not seen in females. PhIP treatment did not affect the absolute liver weight in the wild-type mice.

The relative liver weight in % was also significantly higher in males than in females, based on all mice (P < 0.001), and also in the individual dietary treatment groups of mice given a 45% fat diet in utero (P = 0.017), as adults (P = 0.024), or throughout life (P < 0.001). No significant differences were found in relative liver weight between any of the dietary treatment groups in male wild-type mice. In females, the relative liver weight was significantly higher in mice in the negative control group given a 10% fat diet throughout life (P < 0.001), a 45% fat diet *in utero* (P = 0.003), a 45% fat diet during nursing (P < 0.001), or a 45% diet *in utero* and during nursing (P < 0.001), compared with the mice given a 45% diet throughout life. In females, the relative liver weight was also significantly higher in mice in the negative control group given a 10% fat diet throughout life (P < 0.030), a 45% fat diet during nursing (P = 0.008), or a 45% fat diet *in utero* and during nursing (P = 0.048), compared with the mice given a 45% diet as adults. PhIP treatment did not affect the relative liver weight in wild-type mice.

There were no significant differences in absolute spleen weight between the genders among the wild-type mice. The only significant difference between the dietary treatment groups was a higher absolute spleen weight in female wild-type mice given a 45% fat diet during nursing compared with as adults (P = 0.004), which was not seen in males. PhIP treatment did not affect the absolute spleen weight in wild-type mice.

TABLE 2: Effects of exposure to a 45% fat diet during various periods of life on absolute liver weight (ALW), relative liver weight (RLW), absolute spleen weight (ASW), and relative spleen weight (RSW) in female and male wild-type mice terminated at 23 weeks of age (mean of individual mice in the group \pm SD).

Experimental group	п	BW (g)	ALW (g)	RLW (%)	ASW (g)	RSW (%)
+/+, females						
10 + 10 + 10	26	25.9 ± 3.3	1.03 ± 0.34	$3.91\pm0.87^{\rm a,e}$	0.12 ± 0.03	$0.45\pm0.13^{\text{a,b}}$
45 + 10 + 10	24	26.8 ± 4.2	1.03 ± 0.32	3.79 ± 0.85^{b}	0.11 ± 0.03	0.41 ± 0.12
10 + 45 + 10	21	28.0 ± 3.9	1.15 ± 0.38	$4.04\pm0.89^{c,f}$	0.14 ± 0.09^{a}	$0.50 \pm 0.37^{c,d}$
45 + 45 + 10	31	27.6 ± 3.9	1.08 ± 0.35	$3.84\pm0.83^{d,g}$	0.11 ± 0.03	0.42 ± 0.14
10 + 10 + 45	26	31.3 ± 6.2	1.02 ± 0.22	$3.27 \pm 0.49^{e,f,g}$	0.10 ± 0.02^{a}	$0.33\pm0.10^{\text{a,c}}$
45 + 45 + 45	31	34.3 ± 4.0	1.04 ± 0.23	$3.02 \pm 0.51^{a,b,c,d}$	0.11 ± 0.02	$0.34\pm0.09^{b,d}$
45 + 45 + 10 PhIP	21	27.0 ± 3.6	1.11 ± 0.34	4.06 ± 0.87	0.12 ± 0.03	0.43 ± 0.13
45 + 45 + 45 PhIP	21	33.9 ± 7.5	1.05 ± 0.32	3.09 ± 0.66	0.11 ± 0.02	0.34 ± 0.11
+/+, males						
10 + 10 + 10	25	35.0 ± 5.1	1.43 ± 0.41^{a}	4.02 ± 0.75	0.11 ± 0.02	0.34 ± 0.11
45 + 10 + 10	36	36.0 ± 4.3	1.54 ± 0.26	4.28 ± 0.53	0.11 ± 0.02	0.30 ± 0.07
10 + 45 + 10	24	37.2 ± 4.2	1.42 ± 0.24^{b}	3.81 ± 0.47	0.11 ± 0.02	0.30 ± 0.07
45 + 45 + 10	27	36.4 ± 5.6	1.51 ± 0.37	4.18 ± 0.90	0.10 ± 0.03	0.29 ± 0.09
10 + 10 + 45	27	40.5 ± 7.5	1.54 ± 0.53	3.75 ± 0.83	0.10 ± 0.02	0.25 ± 0.07
45 + 45 + 45	46	42.9 ± 5.8	$1.73 \pm 0.59^{a,b}$	3.95 ± 0.98	0.12 ± 0.02	0.28 ± 0.08
45 + 45 + 10 PhIP	25	38.5 ± 4.1	1.49 ± 0.30	3.84 ± 0.47	0.12 ± 0.04	0.32 ± 0.15
45 + 45 + 45 PhIP	28	44.6 ± 5.0	1.70 ± 0.47	3.76 ± 0.74	0.11 ± 0.02	0.24 ± 0.05

Relative liver weight (RLW) (%) = absolute liver weight (ALW)/body weight (BW) \times 100, relative spleen weight (RSW) (%) = absolute spleen weight (ASW)/BW \times 100, g = gram.

^{a-f}Dietary treatment groups within each gender with similar letters are significantly different.

The relative spleen weight in % was significantly higher in female than in male wild-type mice also, based on all mice (P < 0.001), and this difference reached significance in all of the dietary treatment groups separately, except for the group given a 45% fat diet throughout life (P values varied from < 0.001 to 0.028). No significant differences were found in relative spleen weight between any of the dietary treatment groups in male mice. Female mice in the negative control group given a 10% fat diet throughout life had significantly higher relative spleen weight compared with the mice given a 45% fat diet as adults, and compared with mice given a 45% fat diet throughout life (P = 0.020 for both comparisons). Also female mice given a 45% fat diet only during nursing had significantly higher relative spleen weight compared with the mice given a 45% fat diet as adults, and compared with mice given a 45% fat diet throughout life (P < 0.001 for both comparisons). PhIP treatment did not affect the relative spleen weight in wild-type mice.

3.20. Serum Leptin Levels. There were no significant differences in levels of the serum hormone leptin obtained at termination between the genders of mice or between any of the dietary treatment groups (Figure 12). The only significant difference found was that the wild-type mice had significantly higher levels of leptin than the *Min*/+ mice. This was found based on all mice (P < 0.001), and in the dietary group of mice given a 45% fat diet both *in utero* and during nursing (P < 0.001).

4. Discussion

The intake of feed per gram body weight in the dams was significantly lower for the 45% fat diet than the 10% fat diet during the second and third week of pregnancy (Figure 2(a)). This was most likely caused by a lower feed intake and/or increased body weight (Figure 4) with the 45% diet, and not by different number of pups per litter, since both dietary groups of dams gave birth to similar mean number of pups per litter.

The mice given a 45% fat diet either as adults (for 8 weeks) or throughout life (for 11 weeks), with or without PhIP, had significantly lower feed intake per gram body weight per week than the other dietary groups receiving a 10% fat diet throughout life (for 11 weeks or 23 weeks), or a 45% fat diet for shorter time, that is, only in utero (for 3 weeks), only during nursing (for 3 weeks) or during in utero and nursing (for 6 weeks), with or without PhIP (Figure 3). Apparently, there is an adjustment of feed intake, that is, calorie intake, over time, leading to lower intake of the 45% fat diet compared with the 10% fat diet or the 45% fat diet for shorter time. This difference in feed intake between long exposure versus no/short exposure to a 45% fat diet varied with the individual diets and in the individual weeks but reached approximately 20-30% from weeks 5-6 to week 11 in both Min/+ and wildtype female and male mice, and in most of the weeks in both female and male wild-type mice at weeks 12 to 23. The 45% fat diet has 4.73 kcal/g, whereas the 10% fat diet has 3.85 kcal/g, that is, the 45% fat diet contains 22.9% more kcal per gram



FIGURE 12: The concentration of leptin in serum at termination was measured in both *Min/+* and wild-type (+/+) mice of both genders from all the dietary groups except 10+10+45 (see explanation in the legend to Figure 1), not treated with PhIP (n = 6). Females (white columns), males (black columns).

diet. Therefore, it appears that the mice adjusted their intake of feed to approximately the same level of kcal, and the effects observed in this experiment are likely caused by the dietary fat as such more than by just the excess calories.

The body weights of the dams during weeks 1 and 2 of pregnancy were significantly higher for the dams on a 45% fat diet compared with dams on a 10% fat diet, although the differences were small, being 3.3% at week 1 and 7.2% at week 2 (Figure 4). At the end of the pregnancy, the difference was only 2.0% and not significant. Since the dams had increased body weight after the 45% fat diet, it is not possible to separate the effect on the offspring *in utero* of increased body weight (obesity) in the dams from the effects of the 45% fat diet as such.

The 10% fat and 45% fat diets both have 20 kcal% protein and the same content of vitamins and minerals. The 10% and 45% fat diets are matched on sucrose, that is, both contain 17% sucrose as percentage of the calories. However, there are differences in other carbohydrates, that is, the 45% fat diet contains less corn starch (291 kcal) and more maltodextrin 10 (a partially hydrolyzed form of corn starch, 400 kcal), than the 10% fat diet (1808.8 kcal corn starch and 300 kcal maltodextrin 10), in total 35 kcal% comes from carbohydrate in the 45% fat diet compared with 70 kcal% in the 10% fat diet. Regarding the content of fat, both diets have the same kcal% from soybean oil (225 kcal), but the 45% fat diet has almost 9 times the content of lard (1598 kcal) as in the 10% fat diet (180 kcal), and in total 45 kcal% comes from fat compared with 10 kcal%.

Since the mice apparently adjust their feed intake over time to approximately the same percentage of calories, the effects observed in this study may be caused by other difference in the diets than calories, that is, by the content of carbohydrates other than sucrose or by the lard (type of fat).

In human studies, various indicators of obesity, such as BMI, waist circumference and waist-to-hip ratio, waistheight-ratio or percentage of body fat, have been found to be more or less strongly associated with study end points [36]. In this work, we have evaluated obesity in three different ways; as body weight development using AUC calculated for a specified time period, as body weight at a specific age and as terminal BMI.

When evaluated as AUC from age 3-4 days to 11 weeks, there was an obesogenic effect of an early exposure to a 45% fat diet in utero and during nursing, or only during nursing, showing that the intrauterine and nursing period is a susceptible window of exposure to a high fat diet for later development of obesity as adults (Figures 6(a)-6(d)). However, this effect in AUC from day 3-4 to week 11 of an early exposure to a 45% fat diet was no longer present when evaluated as AUC for the age of 12 to 23 weeks in the wild-type mice (Figures 6(e) and 6(f)), indicating that this effect was transient. Similarly, the observed effects of an early exposure to a 45% fat diet during in utero and nursing, or only during nursing, on body weight at age 11 weeks were no longer present when the wild-type mice had reached the age of 23 weeks. As opposed to body weight development as AUC from day 3-4 to week 11 and body weight at 11 weeks, the end point terminal BMI at 11 weeks did not demonstrate the sensitive period for obesity early in life from exposure to a 45% fat diet in the Min/+ mice. Likewise, the end point terminal BMI at 23 weeks did not demonstrate in the wild-type mice the sensitive period for obesity early in life from exposure to a 45% fat diet. So for this end point, BMI was not as sensitive as body weight at a specific age, and even less sensitive, compared with AUC for body weight development. AUC, which integrates the changes in body weight over a longer period of time, was the best end point in this experiment. BMI was also found to be the least sensitive and specific of several obesity-related predictors of metabolic syndrome in a human population [36].

In addition to affecting the body weight of the mice, the early exposure to a 45% fat diet during both in utero and nursing periods increased the organ weights compared with the much longer exposure to a 45% fat diet later in life, that is, as adults or throughout life. This was observed for the relative liver weight compared with a 45% fat diet throughout life in male *Min*/+ mice (Table 1), and compared with a 45% fat diet as adults or throughout life in female wild-type mice (Table 2). Also the relative spleen weight after exposure to a 45% fat diet during both in utero and nursing periods was increased compared with a 45% fat diet as adults or throughout life in both female and male *Min*/+ mice (Table 1). The absolute liver weight and the absolute spleen weight were also increased by the exposure to a 45% fat diet during both in utero and nursing periods compared with a 45% fat diet as adults or throughout life in male *Min/+* mice (Table 1).

Maternal obesity and developmental programming of metabolic disorders in the offspring have been studied extensively in animal models [37–40]. Animal studies indicate that

both the fetal period and the postnatal period may be critical windows for development, and hence, alterations in the nutrition during these periods could induce metabolic programming effects, which may be manifested as pathological conditions later in life. Several physiological and metabolic mechanisms are not fully matured at birth and continue maturation in the immediate postnatal period, for example, neurons and pancreatic islets continue to develop after birth in rodents [41]. Many studies have exposed female animals for a high fat diet early in life; during pregnancy or during lactation, or during both periods, and found long-term consequences of metabolic and endocrine pathophysiology in one or both genders of the offspring as adults, both in mice [42-44] and rats [45-48]. Interestingly, prenatal stress seems to have similar effects as a high fat diet for increased susceptibility to diet-induced obesity in the offspring [47]. Relevant data also come from human studies. For instance, it was shown that high pregnancy weight gain was associated with increased body weight of the offspring in childhood, and that this effect was only partially mediated through higher birth weight [49]. However, this question is still not resolved in humans, since in another study, maternal overweight/obesity was associated with early deceleration of growth, seen as less weight gain, less length growth and less fat mass at three months of age [50]. A systematic review of maternal and paternal body mass index and offspring obesity concluded that there was only limited evidence to support the fetal overnutrition hypothesis in humans [51].

However, we have compared the outcome of exposure to a 45% fat diet among several specific periods of life. For body weight measured as AUC from day 3-4 to week 11 and as body weight at age 11 weeks, and for the number of small intestinal tumors, exposure only in utero had less effect that exposure during nursing, or during both the in utero and nursing periods. The diameter of small intestinal tumors was also increased after exposure during both the in utero and nursing periods. These results point to exposure via the milk during the nursing period as more important than exposure in utero for these effects. Another study in mice found that a high fat diet limited to the lactation period caused dietinduced obesity in the male offspring [44]. Also, a study in rats showed that maternal high fat diet during the nursing period had greater influence on the offspring's metabolic phenotype and body weight than prenatal (*in utero*) high fat diet [52]. For obvious reasons, studies in humans are not able to compare obesogenic exposure in separated periods of life, such as during pregnancy and the lactation period. However, in a case-cohort study of Danish children, it was found that infant weight and weight gain already during the first months of life were associated with obesity in childhood [53]. They did not observe any particular critical time period during infancy related to the weight gain from 2 weeks to 9 months of age; odds ratios increased from 1.27 associated with an increase of 1 weight-tertile from age 2 weeks to 1 month, and to 1.54 from 2 to 3 months of age, thereafter the odds ratio were stable until 9 months of age.

Our data stress the importance of early exposure to obesogenic conditions compared with the same exposure later in life, that is, as adults. For instance, the exposure to a 45% fat diet as adults did not increase body weight as AUC from day 3-4 to week 11 compared with the control group or any of the other exposure groups, whereas the exposure to a 45% fat diet during nursing actually gave a significantly higher AUC than exposure as adults in Min/+ male mice (P = 0.011). Also for body weight of *Min*/+ and wild-type mice at 11 weeks of age and terminal BMI for Min/+ mice at 11 weeks of age, the effects of a 45% fat diet as adults did not increase the values compared with exposure in utero, during nursing, or during both in utero and nursing. One could speculate if this effect was only due to differences in length of exposure to a 45% fat diet, rather that exposure in a particular period. However, this is not the case, since exposure as adults is from weaning at age 3 weeks until age 11 weeks for Min/+ mice, and from weaning at age 3 weeks until age 23 weeks for wild-type mice, that is, in 8 and 20 weeks, respectively. Exposure throughout life is from conception to termination at 11 weeks for *Min/+* mice, and from conception to termination at 23 weeks for wild-type mice, that is, 14 and 26 weeks, respectively. In comparison, the exposure to a 45% fat diet in utero was for 3 weeks, the exposure during nursing was for 3 weeks, and the exposure both in utero and during nursing was then for 6 weeks, all much shorter than the exposures to a 45% fat diet as adults and throughout life.

As opposed to the situation at 11 weeks, when comparing body weight after exposure as adults with the earlier exposure periods using AUC for body weight, body weight at 23 weeks or terminal BMI at 23 weeks in wild-type mice, the adult exposures increase these parameters compared with exposure *in utero*, during nursing, or both *in utero* and during nursing, indicating that the importance of early exposure has disappeared some time between 11 and 23 weeks of age. This early exposure effect seen at 11 weeks, but not at 23 weeks, is not caused by a difference between *Min/+* mice (terminated at 11 weeks) and wild-type mice (terminated at 23 weeks), since both genotypes are implicated in these results at 11 weeks.

Maternal obesity may have consequences for production and secretion of adipokines from the adipose tissues, such as leptin. Leptin has been shown to be important for placental function and maternal-fetal exchange processes regulating growth and development, and in later stages of pregnancy central leptin resistance occurs to allow increased nutrient availability for the fetus [54]. Disruption of signaling capacity of leptin associated with obesity is a potential risk factor leading to pregnancy complications as a result of fuel partitioning *in utero*.

The only significant difference in serum leptin levels measured at termination in this study was that the Min/+ mice had significantly lower levels of leptin than the wild-type mice (Figure 12). At the same time, the body weight as AUC from day 3-4 to week 11 (Figure 6) and the body weight at week 11 were lower in Min/+ mice (Figure 5(a)) than in wild-type mice (Figure 5(b)). Therefore, in this experiment higher leptin levels were associated with increased body weight (in wild-type mice), whereas lower levels of leptin were associated with lower body weight (in Min/+ mice). The wild-type mice results are more similar to the situation in humans where obesity is associated with elevated levels of leptin, representing a form of leptin resistance [55, 56],

as opposed to the *ob/ob* mouse model where the lack of leptin is associated with extreme obesity (see [30, 31], Ngo et al., 2014; unpublished results).

Alterations in nutrition, such as feeding a high fat diet, during critical periods of prenatal or postnatal development may induce permanent changes in the responsiveness of hypothalamic neurons to hormone signals regulating energy homeostasis and feeding, leading to increase in food intake, preference for fatty food, hyperlipidemia and higher body weight, thereby affecting the chances of becoming obese later in life [57-59]. Leptin and insulin are likely hormonal mediators for the environmental nutrient sensing system that controls feeding. Data implicate a postnatal leptin surge to be an important trophic factor for the development of hypothalamic feeding circuits and is critical for normal energy balance and hypothalamic regulation of feeding later in life [59]. Data also show that changes in insulin levels, specifically hyperinsulinemia, during pregnancy could induce alterations in hypothalamic organization that may affect metabolism of the offspring later in life [59].

The *Min*/+ mice (Figure 7(a)) had significantly higher nonfasted blood glucose levels than the wild-type mice (Figure 7(b)) at 6 weeks (P < 0.001), and also a larger AUC in GTT after being fasted (Figure 8). Since the feed intake in this experiment was recorded per litter, which consisted of both Min/+ and wild-type mice, it is not known whether there was a difference in feed intake between Min/+ and wild-type mice that could explain their differences in blood glucose levels. However, this is not likely, since our previous experiment found similar feed intake in Min/+ and wild-type mice measured in metabolic cages (Ngo et al., 2014; unpublished results). Also, the body weight was lower in Min/+ mice than in wild-type mice for body weight evaluated as AUC from day 3-4 to 11 weeks (Figure 6) and as body weight at 11 weeks (Figure 5). However, an alternative explanation for the difference in blood glucose levels may be that APC is involved in regulation of epithelial glucose transport in the intestines, since Min/+ mice had increased activity of the electrogenic glucose carrier (SGLT1) compared with wild-type mice [60]. APC is a component of the Wnt signaling pathway [19, 20]. Other intriguing possibilities of a relationship between APC and blood glucose levels come from data showing that the Wnt signaling pathway, which is as an important modulator of adipocyte differentiation [61, 62], also influences endocrine pancreas development and modulates mature β -cell functions, including insulin secretion, survival and proliferation, and thereby may be involved in the pathogenesis of diabetes [63]. Components of the Wnt signaling pathway may also be involved in determining susceptibility to diet-induced obesity [64].

Based on all values from Min/+ mice at 6 and 11 weeks, the PhIP-treated mice had higher blood glucose levels than mice not treated with PhIP (P = 0.004) (Figure 7(a)), which was also observed previously (Ngo et al., 2014; unpublished results), whereas this effect of PhIP was not significant for the wild-type mice at weeks 6 and 23 (Figure 7(b)). Blood glucose AUC in GTT was also higher in PhIP-exposed mice compared with mice not given PhIP after exposure to a 45% fat diet throughout life (P < 0.001), but not after exposure to a 45% fat diet *in utero* and during nursing (Figure 8). Therefore, at one or several conditions favoring intestinal tumorigenesis, that is, *Min*/+ mutation, exposure to the carcinogen PhIP and a 45% fat diet, the blood glucose levels were increased.

Exposure to the 45% fat diet only in utero did not significantly increase the number of spontaneous small intestinal tumors compared with the negative control group given a 10% fat diet throughout life (Figure 9). Exposure to a 45% fat diet only during the nursing period was significantly increased compared with the negative control group (P < 0.05), and exposure to a 45% fat diet during both the in utero and nursing periods significantly increased the tumor numbers further compared both with the negative control group (P <0.05), and the 45% fat diet only in utero (P < 0.05), but not compared with only during nursing. Thus, the effect of a 45% fat diet during the nursing period is more efficient in increasing the tumor number than the exposure *in utero*. These data show a direct adverse effect on the offspring as adults from obesogenic conditions early in life. Also, if comparing the tumor results using litter instead of individual mice as the statistical unit, the main findings are essentially similar. The exceptions are that the tumor number after a 45% fat diet only during nursing was no longer significantly higher compared with a 10% fat diet throughout life, and a 45% fat diet throughout life was no longer significantly higher than a 45% fat diet *in utero* or only during nursing (data not shown).

Both exposures to a 45% fat diet in adult life or throughout life gave a significant increase in small intestinal tumors compared with the negative control group, the group given a 45% fat diet in utero and the group given a 45% fat diet only during nursing (P < 0.05 for all comparisons). Exposure to a 45% fat diet in adult life or throughout life did not significantly increase the number of small intestinal tumors compared with the early exposure during both in utero and nursing, indicating the importance of early life exposure for intestinal tumor development by a high fat diet. However, it is a discrepancy in these results, since it would be expected that exposure to a 45% fat diet throughout the whole life should give tumor numbers approaching the sum of tumor numbers after exposure to a 45% fat diet in utero and during nursing (i.e., early in life) and as adults (the rest of the life), whereas the tumor numbers in these three groups were not significantly different, that is, they were similar.

It is not known whether a 45% fat diet in these mice had an effect on tumor initiation, by causing mutation or loss of heterozygosity (LOH) in the remaining wild-type allele of the *Apc* gene, or affected promotion, that is, the growth of already initiated stem cells in the intestines, causing more tumors to reach a size detectable in the microscope at termination, or if both mechanisms were involved. These factors will affect the final tumor numbers measured at a specific time point. Lipotoxic free fatty acids from the 45% fat diet [65–67] and/or the subsequent obesity [68] may cause oxidative stress and accumulation of reactive oxygen species (ROS), which may have led to subsequent DNA damage and tumor initiation in the intestines.

Regarding exposure to a 45% fat diet early versus late in life, the effects on body weight coincide well with the effects on small intestinal tumor number, implicating an association between obesity and intestinal tumorigenesis. There was an obesogenic effect of an early exposure to a 45% fat diet *in utero* and during nursing, or only during nursing, when evaluated as AUC from age 3-4 days to 11 weeks or as body weight at 11 weeks, and there was significantly increased number of tumors after early exposure to a 45% fat diet during nursing or during both the *in utero* and nursing periods. The exposure to a 45% fat diet as adults was not able to increase body weight as AUC from day 3-4 to 11 weeks, body weight at 11 weeks or BMI at 11 weeks compared with the early exposure during both *in utero* and nursing, a 45% fat diet as adults was not able to increase both *in utero* and nursing.

In mice treated with PhIP, a 45% fat diet given throughout life gave a significantly higher number of small intestinal tumors compared with exposure to a 45% fat diet during in *utero* and nursing (P < 0.001), whereas this dietary effect was not seen in the mice not treated with PhIP. In the PhIPexposed *Min*/+ mice there were no differences in either AUC from day 3-4 to 11 weeks, body weight at 11 weeks or terminal BMI at 11 weeks between exposure to a 45% fat diet during in utero and nursing, or throughout life. This is difficult to interpret since PhIP itself decreased the body weight evaluated with all three body weight parameters, probably because of the increased tumor burden. Possibly, the weightdecreasing effect of PhIP could have counteracted the weightincreasing effect of the 45% fat diet, or the fat itself more than the body weight affected the number of PhIP-induced small intestinal tumors. In an earlier experiment, a 45% fat diet during adult life did not increase the number of PhIPinduced small intestinal tumors compared with exposure to a 10% fat diet in $Min/+ \times ob$ mice (Ngo et al., 2014; unpublished results).

The 45% fat diet during both *in utero* and nursing periods also gave significantly larger tumors compared with the negative control group and all the other groups receiving a 45% fat diet for various periods, including a 45% fat diet as adults and throughout life (P < 0.001 for all comparisons), indicating a possible effect on tumor growth from this early exposure to a 45% fat diet (Figure 10(a)). The opposite was seen with exposure to a 45% fat diet later in life. The exposure to a 45% fat diet as adults or throughout life gave significantly smaller tumors than in the negative control mice and all the other groups exposed to a 45% fat diet early in life (P < 0.05for all comparisons), possibly indicating formation of new tumors. The exposure to a 45% fat diet throughout life did not affect the tumor size differently from a 45% fat diet only as adults.

The PhIP-induced tumors were both increased in number and significantly larger compared with the spontaneous tumors in the small intestine (Figure 10(b)). Whether the larger diameter of these tumors was due to an earlier induction, a faster growth, or a combination of both events, is not known.

The mice that were given a 45% fat diet as adults or throughout life had additional tumors in the proximal part of the small intestine, which was also seen after PhIP exposure (Figure 11). This unusual increase in tumors proximally in the small intestine, in addition to the more common distribution in the middle and distal parts of the small intestine, was also observed in a previous experiment with genetically-induced obese mice, that is, in *Min*/+ mice crossed with *ob* mice, who gets obese when homozygous mutated (Ngo et al., 2014; unpublished results).

In the previous experiment, the number of proximal tumors was especially high in the obese *ob/ob* mice and was further increased with another brand of a 45% fat diet. The reason for this phenomenon therefore seems to be associated with genetical or diet-induced obesity. It could be speculated whether it is caused by the increased secretion of bile acid into this small intestinal area caused by the high fat diet, as had been suggested to cause intestinal cancer [69].

In this experiment, blood glucose levels were measured and GTT was performed to study the hypothesis of disrupted blood glucose regulation as a link between obesity and intestinal tumorigenesis [28, 29]. However, based on both end points a shorter exposure to a 45% fat diet early in life, that is, *in utero*, during nursing, or both *in utero* and during nursing, was apparently not able to affect the blood glucose levels, whereas a longer exposure to a 45% fat diet as adults or throughout life did increase blood glucose. Therefore, in this experiment the exposure time to a 45% fat diet during the early periods of life was too short to affect the glucose levels, and the effects of the 45% fat diet and obesity on the intestinal tumorigenesis worked through a mechanism independent of blood glucose regulation. However, it should be noted that the only significant difference between later and early exposure was that exposure to a 45% diet as adults, and not throughout life, increased blood glucose levels compared with exposure both in utero and during nursing at 6 and 23 weeks in female wild-type mice separately (P = 0.018).

It is suggested that prenatal genetic or environmental factors may disrupt early development and produce long-term increased susceptibility of the offspring to new metabolic challenges later in life, causing various pathological conditions. However, in this study, we have shown that the exposure to obesogenic conditions early in life directly affected obesity in adults on a 10% fat diet without the need for a challenge in the form of exposure to a 45% fat diet also as adults. Similarly, the number of tumors formed spontaneously because of the inherited mutation in *Apc* was increases after early exposure to obesogenic conditions without a second dietary challenge as adults.

There is growing interest also in the developmental origins of cancer [70–72]. Also in this context, there are proposed influences of adipokines, such as leptin and adiponectin [73], and also insulin, on central mechanisms of energy balance, causing irreversible changes in hypothalamic neural interconnections leading to obesity and cancer. Another possibility is epigenetic modifications of specific genes, including tumor suppressor genes or oncogenes, and their altered expression, leading to cancer development. Not only a high fat diet, but other nutritional components may impact on developmental origin of cancer, since it was shown in rats that dietary protein type (soy protein isolate versus casein) during pregnancy had different effects on azoxymethane-induced colon tumor number and colon tissue gene expression, as well as serum IGF-I and testosterone levels in the offspring as adults [74]. It has also been shown in humans that body fatness at ages 5 and 10 years and higher adult height were associated with increased risk of distal adenoma, but not proximal or rectal adenoma, later in life, independent of adult body weight [75].

Apparently, the effect on adult body weight of exposures early in life disappeared sometime between 11 and 23 weeks of age. In spite of this observation, it would still be interesting to see if the effects on both body weight and intestinal tumorigenesis were transferred to the next generations, and if so, what would be the mechanisms for this transgenerational transfer. Even if the effects should be transient, they are present into reproductive age, and as such could affect the subsequent offspring.

It may be that the worldwide epidemic of obesity and subsequent risk of diabetes or metabolic syndrome and other illnesses may not only be a result of our own lifestyle of inadequate activity and poor diet as adults, but it may also be propagated and increased earlier in life because of unhealthy metabolic conditions *in utero*, that is, with fetal overgrowth/adiposity or undergrowth, as well as by obesogenic conditions during early childhood. Prevention, rather than treatment, is of interest.

There seems to be an opportunity to potentially break the cycle of obesity during pregnancy leading to obese children [76], if managing to make obese women lose weight and achieve a normal body weight/BMI prior to conception. It has been shown that maternal obesity increased both maternal and placental inflammation, but that this inflammation could be reduced by an increase in N-3/N-6 fatty acid ratio, which limited the adverse effects on the child of the developmental programming caused by the maternal obesity [77]. Therefore, even if obese mothers are not able to lose weight before or during pregnancy, improving their nutrition during pregnancy may affect the outcome of the metabolic disturbances on the fetus.

5. Conclusions

We have demonstrated in *Min/+* mice that the intrauterine and nursing period is a window of susceptibility for exposure to a high fat diet for development of obesity, and also that this obesogenic exposure has direct adverse health effects, that is, increased intestinal tumorigenesis, in the offspring as adults. Disturbed blood glucose regulation does not appear to be involved in this association between obesity and intestinal tumorigenesis.

Conflict of Interests

The authors declare that there is no conflict of interests regarding the publication of this paper.

Acknowledgments

This work was funded by The Research Council of Norway, Project no. 196112/H10 (Ha Thi Ngo and Inger-Lise Steffensen). The authors thank Tone Rasmussen, Hege Hjertholm and Hildegunn Dahl for excellent technical assistance with PCR genotyping and practical work with the mice, and Else-Carin Groeng for assistance with the ELISA assay. Victor Labay Ong is thanked for help with mouse care.

References

- The Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), *Health at a Glance 2013*, OECD, 2013, http://www.oecd.org/els/health-systems/Health-at-a-Glance-2013.pdf.
- [2] The Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), OECD Health Statistics 2014, 2014, http://www .oecd.org/els/health-systems/health-data.htm.
- [3] Cancer Registry of Norway, Cancer in Norway 2012. Cancer Incidence, Mortality, Survival and Prevalence in Norway, Oslo, Norway, 2014, http://www.kreftregisteret.no/Global/ Cancer%20in%20Norway/2012/CIN_2012.pdf.
- [4] E. E. Calle and R. Kaaks, "Overweight, obesity and cancer: epidemiological evidence and proposed mechanisms," *Nature Reviews Cancer*, vol. 4, no. 8, pp. 579–591, 2004.
- [5] E. Giovannucci and D. Michaud, "The role of obesity and related metabolic disturbances in cancers of the colon, prostate, and pancreas," *Gastroenterology*, vol. 132, no. 6, pp. 2208–2225, 2007.
- [6] S. D. Hursting, J. DiGiovanni, A. J. Dannenberg et al., "Obesity, energy balance, and cancer: new opportunities for prevention," *Cancer Prevention Research*, vol. 5, no. 11, pp. 1260–1272, 2012.
- [7] S. D. Hursting, "Obesity, energy balance, and cancer: a mechanistic perspective," in *Advances in Nutrition and Cancer*, V. Zappia, S. Panico, G. L. Russo, A. Budillon, and F. D. Ragione, Eds., vol. 159 of *Cancer Treatment and Research*, pp. 21–33, Springer, Berlin, Germany, 2014.
- [8] World Cancer Research Fund/American Institute for Cancer Research, Food, Nutrition, Physical Activity and the Prevention of Cancer: A Global Perspective, AICR, Washington, DC, USA, 2007, http://www.dietandcancerreport.org/cancerresource_center/downloads/Second_Expert_Report_full.pdf.
- [9] World Cancer Research Fund/American Institute for Cancer Research, Continuous Update Project Report Food, Nutrition, Physical Activity, and the Prevention of Colorectal Cancer, AICR, Washington, DC, USA, 2011, http://www.dietandcancerreport .org/cancer_resource_center/downloads/cu/Colorectal-Cancer-2011-Report.pdf.
- [10] M. Z. Alfaradhi and S. E. Ozanne, "Developmental programming in response to maternal overnutrition," *Frontiers in Genetics*, vol. 2, article 27, 2011.
- [11] I. C. McMillen and J. S. Robinson, "Developmental origins of the metabolic syndrome: prediction, plasticity, and programming," *Physiological Reviews*, vol. 85, no. 2, pp. 571–633, 2005.
- [12] L. Capra, G. Tezza, F. Mazzei, and A. L. Boner, "The origins of health and disease: the influence of maternal diseases and lifestyle during gestation," *Italian Journal of Pediatrics*, vol. 39, no. 1, article 7, 2013.
- [13] J. S. Dyer and C. R. Rosenfeld, "Metabolic imprinting by prenatal, perinatal, and postnatal overnutrition: a review," *Seminars in Reproductive Medicine*, vol. 29, no. 3, pp. 266–276, 2011.
- [14] P. M. Catalano and H. M. Ehrenberg, "The short- and longterm implications of maternal obesity on the mother and her offspring," *BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology*, vol. 113, no. 10, pp. 1126–1133, 2006.

- [15] C. K. H. Yu, T. G. Teoh, and S. Robinson, "Obesity in pregnancy," BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, vol. 113, no. 10, pp. 1117–1125, 2006.
- [16] A. Aviram, M. Hod, and Y. Yogev, "Maternal obesity: implications for pregnancy outcome and long-term risks—a link to maternal nutrition," *International Journal of Gynecology and Obstetrics*, vol. 115, supplement 1, pp. S6–S10, 2011.
- [17] A. R. Moser, H. C. Pitot, and W. F. Dove, "A dominant mutation that predisposes to multiple intestinal neoplasia in the mouse," *Science*, vol. 247, no. 4940, pp. 322–324, 1990.
- [18] L.-K. Su, K. W. Kinzler, B. Vogelstein et al., "Multiple intestinal neoplasia caused by a mutation in the murine homolog of the APC gene," *Science*, vol. 256, no. 5057, pp. 668–670, 1992.
- [19] B. M. Boman and J. Z. Fields, "An APC: WNT counter-currentlike mechanism regulates cell division along the human colonic crypt axis: a mechanism that explains how APC mutations induce proliferative abnormalities that drive colon cancer development," *Frontiers in Oncology*, vol. 3, article 244, 2013.
- [20] S. Nelson and I. S. Näthke, "Interactions and functions of the adenomatous polyposis coli (APC) protein at a glance," *Journal* of Cell Science, vol. 126, no. 4, pp. 873–877, 2013.
- [21] E. R. Fearon, "Molecular genetics of colorectal cancer," *The Annual Review of Pathology: Mechanisms of Disease*, vol. 6, pp. 479–507, 2011.
- [22] S. Al-Sohaily, A. Biankin, R. Leong, M. Kohonen-Corish, and J. Warusavitarne, "Molecular pathways in colorectal cancer," *Journal of Gastroenterology and Hepatology*, vol. 27, no. 9, pp. 1423–1431, 2012.
- [23] M. J. Arends, "Pathways of colorectal carcinogenesis," *Applied Immunohistochemistry and Molecular Morphology*, vol. 21, no. 2, pp. 97–102, 2013.
- [24] H. A. J. Schut and E. G. Snyderwine, "DNA adducts of heterocyclic amine food mutagens: implications for mutagenesis and carcinogenesis," *Carcinogenesis*, vol. 20, no. 3, pp. 353–368, 1999.
- [25] I.-L. Steffensen, J. E. Paulsen, T. J. Eide, and J. Alexander, "2-Amino-1-methyl-6-phenylimidazo[4,5-b]pyridine increases the numbers of tumors, cystic crypts and aberrant crypt foci in multiple intestinal neoplasia mice," *Carcinogenesis*, vol. 18, no. 5, pp. 1049–1054, 1997.
- [26] J. E. Paulsen, I.-L. Steffensen, Å. Andreassen, R. Vikse, and J. Alexander, "Neonatal exposure to the food mutagen 2-amino-1-methyl-6-phenylimidazo[4,5-b]pyridine via breast milk or directly induces intestinal tumors in multiple intestinal neoplasia mice," *Carcinogenesis*, vol. 20, no. 7, pp. 1277–1282, 1999.
- [27] I.-L. Steffensen, H. A. J. Schut, J. E. Paulsen, Å. Andreassen, and J. Alexander, "Intestinal tumorigenesis in multiple intestinal neoplasia mice induced by the food mutagen 2-amino-1methyl-6-phenylimidazo[4,5-b]pyridine: perinatal susceptibility, regional variation, and correlation with DNA adducts," *Cancer Research*, vol. 61, no. 24, pp. 8689–8696, 2001.
- [28] I. F. Godsland, "Insulin resistance and hyperinsulinaemia in the development and progression of cancer," *Clinical Science*, vol. 118, no. 5, pp. 315–332, 2010.
- [29] V. T. Samuel and G. I. Shulman, "Mechanisms for insulin resistance: common threads and missing links," *Cell*, vol. 148, no. 5, pp. 852–871, 2012.
- [30] F. F. Chehab, J. Qiu, and S. Ogus, "The use of animal models to dissect the biology of leptin," *Recent Progress in Hormone Research*, vol. 59, pp. 245–266, 2004.
- [31] J. M. Friedman and J. L. Halaas, "Leptin and the regulation of body weight in mammals," *Nature*, vol. 395, no. 6704, pp. 763– 770, 1998.

- [32] A. R. Moser, A. R. Shoemaker, C. S. Connelly et al., "Homozygosity for the *Min* allele of *Apc* results in disruption of mouse development prior to gastrulation," *Developmental Dynamics*, vol. 203, no. 4, pp. 422–433, 1995.
- [33] H. T. Ngo, R. B. Hetland, A. Sabaredzovic, L. S. Haug, and I.-L. Steffensen, "*In utero* exposure to perfluorooctanoate (PFOA) or perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS) did not increase body weight or intestinal tumorigenesis in multiple intestinal neoplasia (*Min*/+) mice," *Environmental Research*, vol. 132, pp. 251–263, 2014.
- [34] I.-L. Steffensen, H. A. J. Schut, J. M. Nesland, K. Tanaka, and J. Alexander, "Role of nucleotide excision repair deficiency in intestinal tumorigenesis in multiple intestinal neoplasia (*Min*) mice," *Mutation Research*, vol. 611, no. 1-2, pp. 71–82, 2006.
- [35] World Health Organization (WHO), "Definition and diagnosis of diabetes mellitus and intermediate hyperglycaemia," Report of a WHO/IDF Consultation, WHO, Geneva, Switzerland, 2006, http://whqlibdoc.who.int/publications/ 2006/9241594934_eng.pdf.
- [36] A. Bener, M. T. Yousafzai, S. Darwish, A. O. A. A. Al-Hamaq, E. A. Nasralla, and M. Abdul-Ghani, "Obesity index that better predict metabolic syndrome: body mass index, waist circumference, waist hip ratio, or waist height ratio," *Journal of Obesity*, vol. 2013, Article ID 269038, 9 pages, 2013.
- [37] P. D. Taylor and L. Poston, "Developmental programming of obesity in mammals," *Experimental Physiology*, vol. 92, no. 2, pp. 287–298, 2007.
- [38] M. Li, D. M. Sloboda, and M. H. Vickers, "Maternal obesity and developmental programming of metabolic disorders in offspring: evidence from animal models," *Experimental Diabetes Research*, vol. 2011, Article ID 592408, 9 pages, 2011.
- [39] M. J. Warner and S. E. Ozanne, "Mechanisms involved in the developmental programming of adulthood disease," *Biochemical Journal*, vol. 427, no. 3, pp. 333–347, 2010.
- [40] J. A. Armitage, I. Y. Khan, P. D. Taylor, P. W. Nathanielsz, and L. Poston, "Developmental programming of the metabolic syndrome by maternal nutritional imbalance: how strong is the evidence from experimental models in mammals?" *The Journal* of *Physiology*, vol. 561, no. 2, pp. 355–377, 2004.
- [41] M. S. Patel and M. Srinivasan, "Metabolic programming due to alterations in nutrition in the immediate postnatal period," *The Journal of Nutrition*, vol. 140, no. 3, pp. 658–661, 2010.
- [42] A.-M. Samuelsson, P. A. Matthews, M. Argenton et al., "Dietinduced obesity in female mice leads to offspring hyperphagia, adiposity, hypertension, and insulin resistance: a novel murine model of developmental programming," *Hypertension*, vol. 51, no. 2, pp. 383–392, 2008.
- [43] S. M. Krasnow, M. L. T. Nguyen, and D. L. Marks, "Increased maternal fat consumption during pregnancy alters body composition in neonatal mice," *American Journal of Physiology— Endocrinology and Metabolism*, vol. 301, no. 6, pp. E1243–E1253, 2011.
- [44] T. Tsuduki, Y. Kitano, T. Honma, R. Kijima, and I. Ikeda, "High dietary fat intake during lactation promotes development of diet-induced obesity in male offspring of mice," *Journal of Nutritional Science and Vitaminology*, vol. 59, no. 5, pp. 384–392, 2013.
- [45] K. Shankar, A. Harrell, X. Liu, J. M. Gilchrist, M. J. J. Ronis, and T. M. Badger, "Maternal obesity at conception programs obesity in the offspring," *American Journal of Physiology—Regulatory Integrative and Comparative Physiology*, vol. 294, no. 2, pp. R528–R538, 2008.

- [46] P. Nivoit, C. Morens, F. A. van Assche et al., "Established dietinduced obesity in female rats leads to offspring hyperphagia, adiposity and insulin resistance," *Diabetologia*, vol. 52, no. 6, pp. 1133–1142, 2009.
- [47] K. L. K. Tamashiro, C. E. Terrillion, J. Hyun, J. I. Koenig, and T. H. Moran, "Prenatal stress or high-fat diet increases susceptibility to diet-induced obesity in rat offspring," *Diabetes*, vol. 58, no. 5, pp. 1116–1125, 2009.
- [48] S. L. Kirk, A.-M. Samuelsson, M. Argenton et al., "Maternal obesity induced by diet in rats permanently influences central processes regulating food intake in offspring," *PLoS ONE*, vol. 4, no. 6, Article ID e5870, 2009.
- [49] D. S. Ludwig, H. L. Rouse, and J. Currie, "Pregnancy weight gain and childhood body weight: a within-family comparison," *PLoS Medicine*, vol. 10, no. 10, Article ID e1001521, 2013.
- [50] K. L. Ode, H. L. Gray, S. E. Ramel, M. K. Georgieff, and E. W. Demerath, "Decelerated early growth in infants of overweight and obese mothers," *The Journal of Pediatrics*, vol. 161, no. 6, pp. 1028–1034, 2012.
- [51] B. Patro, A. Liber, B. Zalewski, L. Poston, H. Szajewska, and B. Koletzko, "Maternal and paternal body mass index and offspring obesity: a systematic review," *Annals of Nutrition and Metabolism*, vol. 63, no. 1-2, pp. 32–41, 2013.
- [52] B. Sun, R. H. Purcell, C. E. Terrillion, J. Yan, T. H. Moran, and K. L. K. Tamashiro, "Maternal high-fat diet during gestation or suckling differentially affects offspring leptin sensitivity and obesity," *Diabetes*, vol. 61, no. 11, pp. 2833–2841, 2012.
- [53] L. G. Andersen, C. Holst, K. F. Michaelsen, J. L. Baker, and T. I. Sørensen, "Weight and weight gain during early infancy predict childhood obesity: a case-cohort study," *International Journal of Obesity*, vol. 36, no. 10, pp. 1306–1311, 2012.
- [54] D. R. Tessier, Z. M. Ferraro, and A. Gruslin, "Role of leptin in pregnancy: consequences of maternal obesity," *Placenta*, vol. 34, no. 3, pp. 205–211, 2013.
- [55] C. H. Jung and M.-S. Kim, "Molecular mechanisms of central leptin resistance in obesity," *Archives of Pharmacal Research*, vol. 36, no. 2, pp. 201–207, 2013.
- [56] Y. Zhou and L. Rui, "Leptin signaling and leptin resistance," *Frontiers of Medicine*, vol. 7, no. 2, pp. 207–222, 2013.
- [57] A. Plagemann, "Perinatal programming and functional teratogenesis: impact on body weight regulation and obesity," *Physiology and Behavior*, vol. 86, no. 5, pp. 661–668, 2005.
- [58] G.-Q. Chang, V. Gaysinskaya, O. Karatayev, and S. F. Leibowitz, "Maternal high-fat diet and fetal programming: increased proliferation of hypothalamic peptide-producing neurons that increase risk for overeating and obesity," *The Journal of Neuroscience*, vol. 28, no. 46, pp. 12107–12119, 2008.
- [59] S. G. Bouret, "Early life origins of obesity: role of hypothalamic programming," *Journal of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition*, vol. 48, supplement 1, pp. S31–S38, 2009.
- [60] R. Rexhepaj, A. Rotte, S. Gu et al., "Tumor suppressor gene adenomatous polyposis coli downregulates intestinal transport," *Pflugers Archiv-European Journal of Physiology*, vol. 461, no. 5, pp. 527–536, 2011.
- [61] S. E. Ross, N. Hemati, K. A. Longo et al., "Inhibition of adipogenesis by Wnt signaling," *Science*, vol. 289, no. 5481, pp. 950–953, 2000.
- [62] C. N. Bennett, S. E. Ross, K. A. Longo et al., "Regulation of Wnt signaling during adipogenesis," *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, vol. 277, no. 34, pp. 30998–31004, 2002.

- [63] H. J. Welters and R. N. Kulkarni, "Wnt signaling: relevance to β-cell biology and diabetes," *Trends in Endocrinology and Metabolism*, vol. 19, no. 10, pp. 349–355, 2008.
- [64] R. A. Koza, L. Nikonova, J. Hogan et al., "Changes in gene expression foreshadow diet-induced obesity in genetically identical mice," *PLoS Genetics*, vol. 2, no. 5, article e81, 2006.
- [65] M. J. Khandekar, P. Cohen, and B. M. Spiegelman, "Molecular mechanisms of cancer development in obesity," *Nature Reviews Cancer*, vol. 11, no. 12, pp. 886–895, 2011.
- [66] J. Garbarino and S. L. Sturley, "Saturated with fat: new perspectives on lipotoxicity," *Current Opinion in Clinical Nutrition and Metabolic Care*, vol. 12, no. 2, pp. 110–116, 2009.
- [67] H. J. Renaud, J. Y. Cui, H. Lu, and C. D. Klaassen, "Effect of diet on expression of genes involved in lipid metabolism, oxidative stress, and inflammation in mouse liver-insights into mechanisms of hepatic steatosis," *PLoS ONE*, vol. 9, no. 2, Article ID e88584, 2014.
- [68] H. K. Vincent, K. E. Innes, and K. R. Vincent, "Oxidative stress and potential interventions to reduce oxidative stress in overweight and obesity," *Diabetes, Obesity and Metabolism*, vol. 9, no. 6, pp. 813–839, 2007.
- [69] H. Ajouz, D. Mukherji, and A. Shamseddine, "Secondary bile acids: an underrecognized cause of colon cancer," *World Journal* of Surgical Oncology, vol. 12, no. 1, article 164, 2014.
- [70] K. J. Johnson, N. M. Springer, A.-K. Bielinsky, D. A. Largaespada, and J. A. Ross, "Developmental origins of cancer," *Cancer Research*, vol. 69, no. 16, pp. 6375–6377, 2009.
- [71] S. E. Ozanne, D. Fernandez-Twinn, and C. N. Hales, "Fetal growth and adult diseases," *Seminars in Perinatology*, vol. 28, no. 1, pp. 81–87, 2004.
- [72] L. Poston, "Maternal obesity, gestational weight gain and diet as determinants of offspring long term health," *Best Practice & Research Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, vol. 26, no. 5, pp. 627–639, 2012.
- [73] M. N. VanSaun, "Molecular pathways: adiponectin and leptin signaling in cancer," *Clinical Cancer Research*, vol. 19, no. 8, pp. 1926–1932, 2013.
- [74] R. Xiao, L. J. Hennings, T. M. Badger, and F. A. Simmen, "Fetal programing of colon cancer in adult rats: correlations with altered neonatal growth trajectory, circulating IGF-1 and IGF binding proteins, and testosterone," *Journal of Endocrinology*, vol. 195, no. 1, pp. 79–87, 2007.
- [75] K. Nimptsch, E. Giovannucci, W. C. Willett, C. S. Fuchs, E. K. Wei, and K. Wu, "Body fatness during childhood and adolescence, adult height, and risk of colorectal adenoma in women," *Cancer Prevention Research*, vol. 4, no. 10, pp. 1710– 1718, 2011.
- [76] P. M. Catalano, "Obesity and pregnancy—the propagation of a viscous cycle?" *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, vol. 88, no. 8, pp. 3505–3506, 2003.
- [77] M. J. R. Heerwagen, M. S. Stewart, B. A. de la Houssaye, R. C. Janssen, and J. E. Friedman, "Transgenic increase in N-3/N-6 fatty acid ratio reduces maternal obesity-associated inflammation and limits adverse developmental programming in mice," *PLoS ONE*, vol. 8, no. 6, Article ID e67791, 2013.

Review Article

Associations of Parental Influences with Physical Activity and Screen Time among Young Children: A Systematic Review

Huilan Xu,^{1,2} Li Ming Wen,^{1,2,3} and Chris Rissel¹

¹Sydney School of Public Health, University of Sydney, Sydney, NSW 2006, Australia ²Health Promotion Service, Sydney Local Health District, Level 9, King George V Building, Missenden Road, Camperdown, NSW 2050, Australia ³Shawhai Uth Papla⁶, Haspital University of Tongii, Shawhai, China

³Shanghai 10th People's Hospital, University of Tongji, Shanghai, China

Correspondence should be addressed to Huilan Xu; huilan.xu@sswahs.nsw.gov.au

Received 28 July 2014; Revised 14 November 2014; Accepted 24 November 2014

Academic Editor: Gengsheng He

Copyright © 2015 Huilan Xu et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Parents play a critical role in developing and shaping their children's physical activity (PA) and sedentary behaviours, particularly in the early years of life. The aim of this systematic review is to identify current literature investigating associations of parental influences with both PA and screen time in young children. This systematic review was conducted in November 2013 using 6 electronic databases covering research literature from January 1998 to November 2013. Thirty articles that met inclusion criteria were identified. These studies covered five important aspects of parenting: (1) parenting practices; (2) parents' role modelling; (3) parental perceptions of children's PA and screen viewing behaviours; (4) parental self-efficacy; and (5) general parenting style. Findings suggest that parents' encouragement and support can increase children's PA, and reducing parents' own screen time can lead to decreased child screen time. Improving parenting practices, parental self-efficacy or changing parenting style may also be promising approaches to increasing PA time and decreasing screen time of young children.

1. Introduction

Physical activity (PA) and sedentary behaviours (predominantly screen time) impact on the weight status of children [1–3]. Research evidence suggests that helping young children establish an active lifestyle can prevent them from overweight and obesity [4–7]. In the early years of life, parents play a critical role in developing and shaping their children's PA and sedentary behaviours through role modelling and creating a healthy home environment that increases PA and reduces screen time [8].

There have been several systematic reviews investigating correlates of PA and sedentary behaviours in young children [9–13]. These reviews used a social-ecologic framework [14] to summarize the correlates of PA and screen time of young children in five domains: (1) demographic and biological; (2) psychological, cognitive, and emotional; (3) behavioural attributes and skills; (4) social and cultural; and (5) physical environmental. Although parents' role modelling, parenting practices and parental perceptions of children's PA, and

sedentary behaviours are part of the social and cultural domain, they have not been explicitly discussed in these reviews. General parenting style and parental self-efficacy that are also part of the social and cultural domain have not been investigated in these reviews.

In addition to parents' role modelling and parenting practices, general parenting style and parental self-efficacy also influence the development of PA and sedentary behaviours of young children, particularly in the early years of life [8]. Parenting style refers to a general pattern of parenting that provides the emotional background in which parents' behaviours are expressed and interpreted by a child [8]. It can be conceptualized as a context that moderates the influence of specific parenting practices on a child. Closely related to parenting practices and parenting style, parental self-efficacy is regarded as a parent's belief that he or she is capable of organizing and executing tasks related to parenting a child [15].

Findings from a recent systematic review [16] investigating associations between parental factors (parents' role modelling, parenting practices, and parental perceptions of importance and value of PA) and young children's PA were inconsistent, reporting that parental and family dynamics associated with children's PA are undeveloped. In particular, the review did not examine the parental influences on children's screen time (the time spent on watching TV, DVDs, or videos, using a computer and playing with an electronic game system) despite increasing research interest in investigating children's screen time and its independent association with childhood obesity. Further investigation was called for to clarify and understand specific parental influences that are associated with PA in children using comprehensive reviews of well-defined parental influences and their effects on both PA and screen time.

To fill in the knowledge gaps in this area, we aimed to update the current literature investigating parental influences and their associations with both PA and screen time in young children.

2. Methods

2.1. Search Strategy. In November 2013, a systematic search of the literature was conducted. Literature included in this review was retrieved from six electronic databases, including Medline, the Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CENTRAL), Cochrane Database for Systematic Review (CDSR), PsycINFO, EMBASE, and Web of knowledge. Research papers were limited to those written in English and published or included in databases from 1998 to November 2013. There was no restriction of study designs. Study participants in searched papers were limited to parents, father, and/or mother with young children aged ≤ 6 years. Parental influences included (1) parenting practices, (2) parents' role modelling (parents' own PA and screen time), (3) parental perceptions of children's PA and screen viewing behaviours, (4) parental self-efficacy, and (5) general parenting style. Children's PA included parent-reported "outdoor play" or "active play" and objectively measured PA level (e.g., accelerometer). The search strategy used for the Medline database is displayed in Table 1. A similar search strategy was used for other databases. Additional manual searches of the references of selected articles were also conducted for other relevant articles. Grey literature, such as unpublished studies and dissertations, was also included.

2.2. Study Selection. Study selection was based on predefined inclusion and exclusion criteria. The inclusion criteria were (1) individual quantitative studies that examined relationships of parental influences (covering at least one of the five aspects) with PA or screen time of young children; (2) studies with children aged ≤ 6 years old, or studies with a wide age range but describing the results specifically for children aged ≤ 6 years old; and (3) full text articles or dissertations, written in English. Studies were excluded from this review, if they were (1) pilot studies, (2) validation studies, (3) qualitative studies, (4) review papers, (5) studies that examined correlates of children's PA or screen time but did TABLE 1: The search strategy used for Medline database.

Database: Ovid Medline(R) (1946 to November Week 3 2013) search strategy:				
(1) preschool*.mp. (763123)				
(2) young child*.mp. (34520)				
(3) early child*.mp. (15721)				
(4) toddler.mp. (1946)				
(5) (1) or (2) or (3) or (4) (783324)				
(6) parenting style* mp (762)				
(7) parenting practice mp. (26)				
(8) parenting behavio [*] mp. (847)				
(0) parenting penavio (14946)				
(10) maternal influence [*] mp. (460)				
(10) material influence* mp. (400)				
(12) parental colf office sump (70)				
(12) parental senf-encacy.mp. (79)				
(13) parental confidence.mp. (51)				
(14) parental rules.mp. (61)				
(15) parental attitudes.mp. (730)				
(16) parental concerns.mp. (324)				
(17) parent [*] support [*] .mp. (1197)				
(18) parent [*] encouragement.mp. (80)				
(19) parent [*] involvement.mp. (1051)				
(20) parent modeling.mp. (22)				
(21) (6) or (7) or (8) or (9) or (10) or (11) or (12) or (13) or (15) or (16) or (17) or (18) or (19) or (20) (18529)	(14) or			
(22) physical activit*.mp. (55070)				
(23) total PA.mp. (264)				
(24) MVPA.mp. (1001)				
(25) PA.mp. (54822)				
(26) VPA.mp. (3623)				
(27) physical exercise.mp. (9183)				
(28) outdoor play.mp. (102)				
(29) active play.mp. (87)				
(30) play.mp. (449998)				
(31) leisure activit [*] .mp. (7741)				
(32) (22) or (23) or (24) or (25) or (26) or (27) or (28) or (30) or (31) (569321)	(29) or			
(33) physical inactivity.mp. (3827)				
(34) sedentary behavio*.mp. (1660)				
(35) television viewing.mp. (957)				
(36) TV viewing time mp. (96)				
(37) TV viewing mn (503)				
(38) TV time mp (71)				
(39) DVD^* mp (951)				
(40) video viewing mp (83)				
(41) computer using $mp_{1}(512)$				
(42) computer time mp. (255)				
(43) electronic game mp. (34)				
(44) screen time mp (440)				
(11) outcoll tille. (11)				

TABLE 1: Continued.

Database: Ovid Medline(R) (1946 to November Week 3 2013) search strategy:
(45) small-screen recreation.mp. (15)
(46) (33) or (34) or (35) or (36) or (37) or (38) or (39) or (40) or (41) or (42) or (43) or (44) or (45) (8478)
(47) (32) or (46) (573869)
(48) (5) and (21) and (47) (553)
(49) limit (48) to (English language and humans and yr = "1998–current") (483)
* The asterisk sign stands for any character(s).

not include any aspects of defined parental influences for this review, and (6) studies involving children aged >6 years.

A total of 1414 articles were identified through database searching. Duplicate articles (n = 307) were removed, resulting in 1107 individual articles for consideration. By screening the titles, 1062 articles were considered to be irrelevant and thus excluded. Forty-five papers including grey literature remained as a result of the initial search. The references of these remaining 45 articles were further screened manually to identify other relevant articles. Five additional articles were included. A total of 50 full texts were further assessed. After excluding 20 articles according to the criteria, 30 articles were included in the present review. The process of study selection is reported in Figure 1.

2.3. Assessment of Included Articles. Two reviewers (Huilan Xu and Li Ming Wen) independently screened the study titles and abstracts and then critically appraised the selected articles. Due to heterogeneity of these studies (i.e., differences in study design, study quality, and statistical analysis method), it was not possible to conduct a meta-analysis that uses statistical methods to summarize the results. Therefore, the results from this review are presented descriptively. We critically evaluated the papers using a previously established quality checklist [17] with some modifications. This quality assessment tool was originally adapted from the Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (STROBE) statement [18]. For this review, the quality checklist consists of eight query items as follows: (1) was the study longitudinal or randomised controlled trail (RCT)? (2) Did the study describe the participant eligibility criteria? (3) Were the study participants randomly selected (or representative of the study population)? (4) Did the study report the sources and details of assessment for parental influences and did the instruments have acceptable reliability? (5) Did the study report the sources and details of assessments for PA and screen time and did all the methods have acceptable reliability for specific age group? (6) Did the study report a power calculation and was the study adequately powered to detect hypothesized relationships? (7) Did the study report the numbers of individuals who completed each of the different measures and did participants complete at least 80% of measures? (8) Did statistical analysis take into account the confounding? A score of "1" was assigned to "yes" to the query



FIGURE 1: Flow diagram of study selection.

item, or a score of "0" was assigned. The range of score was from "0" to "8" for each paper. A paper with a score above 5 was regarded as a good quality paper.

3. Results

3.1. Description of Studies. Of the 30 articles included in this review, 14 studies were conducted in the United States, 6 in Australia, three in Canada, two in New Zealand, and one in each of Turkey, Greece, or Netherlands (Tables 2, 3, and 4). Fourteen studies [19–32] (Table 2) examined the association between parental influences and PA, with 12 studies [33–44] (Table 3) examined the association between parental influences and screen time, and four studies [45–48] (Table 4) examined associations of parental influences with both PA and screen time.

The quality scores of the papers ranged from 2 to 7 with an average score of 4.9. Most studies (n = 24) used cross-sectional design, with only 6 longitudinal studies having follow-up duration from 1 to 5 years. Sample sizes of these studies were reasonable based on their effect size and significance level except two studies had less than 100 participants.

3.2. Aspects and Measurement of the Parental Influences

3.2.1. Parenting Practices. The review found that various components of parenting practices regarding PA [20–23, 25–29, 31, 45, 46] or screen time [33–35, 38, 43, 45, 46, 48] were reported by 20 included studies. For child PA, parenting practices included (1) parents encouragement or support (e.g., parents participated in PA with their child, provided transportation to PA facilities, watched the child in activities,

	Quality score	4, 0		Ś
1	Main findings	 At baseline, the relationship between parental and children's PA was moderately strong with Pearson's <i>r</i> = 0.44 (<i>P</i> < 0.05). At follow-up, this relationship was weaker and no longer significant (Pearson's <i>r</i> = 0.08, <i>P</i> > 0.05). The amount of time parents report engaging in PA together with their child decreased significantly over time. 	Univariable linear regression model (1) Parental PA supports/inhibitors were not associated with children's PA rate. Multivariable linear regression model (2) After adjusting children's age, parental PA rate was positively associated with children's PA rate ($\beta = 0.09$, $P = 0.01$).	Path analysis (1) Parental PA and parents' perceptions of their children's physical competence were positively associated with parental support for PA (β = 0.23 and 0.18, respectively, <i>P</i> < 0.05). (2) Parental enjoyment of PA and perceived importance of child PA were not significantly associated with parental support for PA. Home-based children's PA (3) Parental support for PA was positively associated with home-based children's PA (β = 0.16, <i>P</i> < 0.05). (4) Parents' perceptions of their children's physical competence were directly and positively associated with home-based children's PA (β = 0.16, <i>P</i> < 0.05). (4) Parents' perceptions of their children's physical competence were directly and positively associated with children's MVPA at child care (β = 0.01, <i>P</i> = 0.94). (6) Parents' perceptions of their children's physical competence were directly and positively associated with children's MVPA at child care (β = 0.001, <i>P</i> = 0.001,
	Adjusted confounders	°Z	Children's age	(1) Children's age(2) Child gender
	Child PA (measurement)	Children's PA (parent self-administered questionnaire)	Children's PA rate (Actical accelerometers)	 (1) Children's PA at home (parent self-administered questionnaire, PAEC-Q) (2) Children's PA at child care (Actigraph 7164 acclerometer)
	Parental influence (measurement)	 Parental PA The amount of time parents report engaging in PA together with their child. (parent self-administered questionnaire) 	 Parental PA rate Parental PA supports/inhibitors Encouraged child to be active Parent was physically active with child Child was taken out to playground, park, beach, and so forth Restrict TV viewing 	 Parental PA Parental PA Parental enjoyment of PA Parental support for PA parental preceived importance of child PA Parents' perceptions of their children's physical competence (parent self-administered questionnaire)
	Age (years)	Baseline 4–6 Follow-up 5–15	رب 1 2	2-2
	Sample	69	63	156
	Study design	Longitudinal	Cross- sectional	Cross- sectional
	Author (year) country reference	Alderman et al. (2010) USA [19]	Oliver et al. (2010) New Zealand [20]	Loprinzi and Trost (2010) Australia [21]

TABLE 2: Association between parental influence and children's PA.

4

	Quality score	μ	ς,
	Main findings	Mixed model (1) Parental perception of their child's athletic competence was positively associated with children's MVPA and NSA ($\beta = 0.39$ and 0.80, respectively, $P < 0.01$). (2) Parental VPA and family support for PA were not significantly associated with children's MVPA and NSA.	Multiple logistic regression model Children's PA (1) The greater parents' enjoyment of PA is, the more likely the children were to engage in the recommended amount of daily PA (PA \geq 1 hour/day) (AOR 2.01, $P < 0.05$). (2) Parental PA and family support for PA were positively associated with children's PA (AOR 1.62 and 2.18, respectively, $P < 0.10$). (3) Importance of child's PA ability was not associated with children's PA. Intensity of children's PA. Intensity of children's PA. (4) Parental PA and family support for PA were positively associated with children's intensity of PA (AOR 1.97 and 4.22, respectively, $P < 0.05$). (5) Parents' enjoyment of PA and importance of child's PA ability were not associated with children's PA.
	Adjusted confounders	 Child gender Child race Child BMI Child BMI Score Parent education 	Not reported
BLE 2: Continued.	Child PA (measurement)	Children's MVPA and NSA (ActiGraph accelerometers)	 (1) Children's PA (active play/sports) (2) Parent's perceived intensity of a child's PA (parent self-administered questionnaire)
TAI	Parental influence (measurement)	 (1) Parental VPA (2) Parental perception of their child's athletic competence (3) Family support for PA (average of responses to frequency of following items) Family encouraged PA, participated in PA with child, PA facilities, watched the child in activities, and told the child that PA is good (parent self-administered questionnaire) 	 (1) Parental PA (2) Family support for PA (average of responses to frequency of following items) Family encouraged PA, participated in PA with child, provided transportation to PA facilities, watched the child in activities, watched the child in activities, and told the child that PA is good (3) Parents' enjoyment of PA (4) Importance of child's PA ability (parent self-administered
	Age (years)	სი ო	с Ч
	Sample	331	102
	Study design	Clustered cross- sectional	Cross- sectional
	Author (year) country reference	Pfeiffer et al. (2009) USA [22]	Zecevic et al. (2010) Canada [23]

Journal of Obesity

	Quality score	4	ŝ	Ś	
	Main findings	No associations between girls' and parents' total PA at 5 years of age.	 In year 2 of the follow-up (1) Observed children's PA was positively associated with encouragements (r = 0.19, P < 0.05) and discouragements (r = 0.349, P < 0.01) for PA. In year 3 of the follow-up (2) Observed children's PA was significantly associated with encouragements (r = 0.381, P < 0.01) and discouragements (r = 0.418, P < 0.01) for PA. (3) Encouragements and discouragements of PA by parents were not significant predictors of PA in regression models. 	(1) Father-child time was positively associated with child PA on weekdays ($\beta = 0.09$, $P < 0.001$) and weekends ($\beta = 0.07$, $P = 0.002$). (2) Family sports time was positively associated with child PA ($\beta = 0.27$, $P < 0.05$). (3) The effect of father-child time on child PA was mediated by family sports time. The indirect effect of father-child time on child PA was 0.03, $P < 0.001$ on weekdays, and 0.02, $P < 0.001$ on weekends.	
	Adjusted confounders	0 N	 (1) Child BMI (2) Child ethnicity (3) Child gender 	 (1) Child race (2) Child gender (3) Child BMI 	
LE 2: Continued.	Child PA (measurement)	Girl's PA (level of active) (parent self-administered questionnaire: the level of PA: low, medium, and high)	 Children's PA Heat rate monitoring Direct observation with Children's Activity Rating Scale) 	Child physical activity (parent self-administered questionnaire)	
TA1	Parental influence (measurement)	Parental PA (parent self-administered questionnaire: the level of PA: low, medium, and high)	Parental encourage- ment/discouragement for PA (direct observation)	 (1) Father-child time (2) Family sports/activities together time (parent self-administered questionnaire) 	
	Age (years)	Baseline 5 Follow-up 7	Baseline 3-4 3-year follow-up	5-6	
	Sample	185	149	10694	
	Study design	Longitudinal	Longitudinal	Clustered cross- sectional	
	Author (year) country reference	Davison and Birch (2001) USA [24]	Jago et al. (2005) USA [25]	Beets and Foley (2008) USA [26]	

TABLE 2: Continued.

6

	Quality score	7	v	
	Main findings	Compared to low parental encouragement, high parental encouragement was associated with more time spent outdoors on average of over 5 years for girls (234 minutes/week, 95% CI 30.1–437.8), but not for boys.	 (1) Family support was directly and significantly associated with child MVPA (β = 0.28). (2) Parent PA was indirectly associated with child's MVPA (β = 0.015, 95% CI 0.01–0.036) (mediated by family support). (3) Parent enjoys PA that was indirectly associated with child's MVPA (β = 0.031, 95% CI 0.005–0.065) (mediated by family support). (4) Importance of child participation in PA was indirectly associated with child's MVPA (β = 0.034) (mediated by family support). 	
	Adjusted confounders	(1) Maternaleducation(2) Parentalmarital status(3) Other	 Child gender Preschool quality Home PA equipment 	
TABLE 2: Continued.	Child PA (measurement)	Child time spent outdoors (parent self-administered questionnaire)	Child PA (MVPA created from (1) ActiGraph accelerometers (2) Direct observation (3) Parent-reported child's athletic coordination)	
	Parental influence (measurement)	Parental encouragement of playing outdoors (parent self-administered questionnaire)	 (1) Family support Encourage child PA Play with child outdoors Provide transportation Watch child do PA or play outdoors games Tell child PA is good (2) Parent PA (3) Parent enjoys PA (4) Importance of child PA (parent self-administered questionnaire) 	
	Age (years)	Baseline: 5-6 5-year follow-up	с Г	
	Sample	130	411	
	Study design	Longitudinal	Cross- sectional	
	Author (year) country reference	Cleland et al. (2010) Australia [27]	Dowda et al. (2011) USA [28]	

Journal of Obesity

	Quality score	7	v
	Main findings	 Boys: (1) Mother's PA interaction with child was positively associated with boy's weekly PA (AOR 1.01, 95% CI 1.00-1.03). (2) Housework was negatively associated with boy's weekday PA (AOR 0.91, 95% CI 0.85-0.97). (3) Parent prefers child to do same activities as older children were negatively associated with boy's weekday PA (AOR 0.94, 95% CI 0.85-0.97). (4) Rules restricting rough games inside were positively associated with boy's weekday PA (AOR 0.92, 95% CI 0.87-0.97). (4) Rules restricting rough games inside were positively associated with boy's weekly PA (AOR 1.01, 95% CI 1.02-1.20). (5) Paternal time in moderate PA (not total PA) was significantly associated with girl's weekly PA (AOR 1.01, 95% CI 1.00-1.02). Maternal time in vigorous PA was not significantly associated with girl's weekly. (6) Paternal provision of logistic support was significantly associated with girl's weekly. Weekday associated with girl's weekly associated with girl's weekly. (6) Paternal provision of logistic support was significantly associated with girl's weekly. 	(1) There was a strong and positive correlation between parents and their children's daily sedentary (Pearson's $r = 0.597$, $P < 0.001$), mild (Pearson's $r = 0.895$, $P < 0.0001$) and moderate (Pearson's $r = 0.739$, $P < 0.0001$) PA levels but not for vigorous PA levels (Pearson's $r = -0.07$, $P = 0.56$). (2) Parent PA was significantly associated with child's PA (β was not reported, $P < 0.0001$).
	Adjusted confounders	Child age Child daily sleep Number of siblings Other variables showed significance in models	None for Pearson's correlation. Child age and gender for linear regression
TABLE 2: Continued.	Child PA (measurement)	Child PA (1) Weekly (2) Weekday (3) Weekend-day (ActiGraph accelerometers)	 Child time spent in sedentary behaviour Child PA (light, moderate, and vigorous) (ActiGraph accelerometers)
	Parental influence (measurement)	 Father/mother PA Pather/mother PA Parent housework Parent preference (child do the same activities as older siblings) Parental rules restricting rough games inside Parental logistic support (parent self-administered questionnaire) 	 Parent time spent in sedentary behaviour Parent PA (light, moderate, and vigorous) (ActiGraph accelerometers)
	Age (years)	÷.	Ϋ́
	Sample	705 (weekly) 773 (weekday) 605 (weekend)	106 (80)
	Study design	Clustered cross- sectional	Cross- sectional
	Author (year) country reference	Hinkley et al. (2012) Australia [29]	Ruiz et al. (2011) USA [30]

	Quality score	ð	ع
	Main findings	(1) Parental support was positively associated with child active play ($\beta = 0.30$, $P < 0.001$). (2) Parental warmth was positively associated with child active play ($\beta = 0.15$, $P = 0.04$). Parental control and irritability were not significantly associated with child active play. (3) Parenting style was not associated with child active play. (4) After adjusted for parenting style, parental support remained positively associated with child active play ($\beta = 0.30$, $P < 0.001$). (5) Parenting style did not moderate the relationship between parental support and child active play behaviour.	Cross-sectional analysis: (1) Parental activity was weakly associated with child's PA measured by AAC at 3 and 4 years but not 5 years (Spearman rank-order $r = 0.08$, $P = 0.034$ and $r = 0.17$, $P = 0.051$ for mothers and $r = 0.28$, $P = 0.034$ and $r = 0.13$, $P = 0.007$ for fathers for 3 and 4 years, respectively). (2) Mother's PA was associated with child's PA by parental ratings at 4 and 5 years but not 3 years ($r = 0.21$, $P = 0.03$ and $r = 0.18$, $P = 0.044$). (3) There was no associated with child's PA. Mixed model: (4) Father's PA was a significant predictor of the child's PA. Mixed model: (4) Father's PA was not significant predictor of the child's PA. Mixed model: (5) Mother's PA was not significantly associated with child's PA.
	Adjusted confounders	Parent gender	 (1) Child age (2) Child sex (3) Days of the week week (week day/weekend day)
BLE 2: Continued.	Child PA (measurement)	Active play (parent self-administered questionnaire with PAEC-Q)	Child PA ((1) Actical accelerometers. (2) Parent self-administered questionnaire)
TA	Parental influence (measurement)	 (1) Parental support Encouragement Playing with the child Providing transportation Watching information participate in PA (2) Dimensions of parenting style Warmth (3) Parenting style Authoritative Authoritative Authoritation Permissive Neglectful (parent self-administered questionnaire) 	 (1) Mother's PA (2) Father's PA (3) Actical accelerometers (b) Parent self-administered questionnaire)
	Age (years)	5- 2	Baseline: 3 Follow-up at 4 and 5
	Sample	195	244
	Study design	Cross- sectional	Longitudinal
	Author (year) country reference	Schary et al. (2012) USA [31]	Taylor et al. (2009) New Zealand [32]

MVPA: moderate to vigorous physical activity. PAEC-Q: Physical Activity and Exercise Questionnaire for Children. VPA: vigorous physical activity. NSA: nonsedentary activity. AOR: adjusted odds ratio. AAC: average accelerometry counts.

Journal of Obesity

	Quality score	ø	Ŋ
	Main findings	 Parental TV viewing time was positively associated with child screen time (β = 0.37, P < 0.001). Parent often or always limits child's TV was associated with less child screen time (β = -0.38, P = 0.01). Parental perception that the child spent too much time playing video games was positively associated with child screen time (β = 1.06, P < 0.001). 	 An increase of 1 hour of parental screen time was associated with 12 (95% CI 6–18) minutes of increase per day of child weekend screen time. Screen time vales decreased child weekend screen time by 30 (95% CI 6–54) minutes per day. Eating lunch in front of the screen was associated with 78 (95% CI 36–132) minutes of increase per day of child weekday screen time and 96 (95% CI 30–192) minutes of increase per day of child weekend-day screen time.
	Adjusted confounders	 (1) Intervention condition (2) Child age (3) Parent BMI (4) Relative socioeconomic status 	 Maternal education Maternal age
4	Child PA (measurement)	Child screen time (parent self-administered questionnaire)	Child screen time (parent self-administered questionnaire)
	Parental influence (measurement)	 Parent TV time Parent limit child's TV Parental perception of child's screen time (parent self-administered questionnaire) 	 Parent screen time Screen time rules Meals with the TV on (parent self-administered questionnaire)
	Age (years)	Mean age 5.8 SD 0.51	ņ
	Sample	431	157
	Study design	Cross- sectional	Cross- sectional
	Author (year) country reference	Barr- Anderson et al. (2011) USA [33]	Birken et al. (2011) Canada [34]

TABLE 3: Association between parental influence and children's screen time.

	Quality score	n	4
	Main findings	(1) Parent TV viewing was significantly associated with child TV time ($\beta = 0.47$, $P < 0.05$). (2) Coviewing TV with child was positively associated with more child TV time ($\beta = 0.16$, $P < 0.05$) (3) Parent TV time restriction was associated with lower child TV time.	(1) Maternal self-efficacy to promote PA to displace TV viewing was significantly inversely associated with both groups of children's TV time (Spearman rank order correlation –0.28 and –0.27, $P < 0.05$ for 1-year and 5-year-old children, respectively). (2) Maternal self-efficacy to limit TV viewing was significantly inversely associated with both groups of children's total TV time (Spearman rank order correlation –0.38, $P < 0.05$, and –0.31, $P < 0.05 = 1$ for 1-year- and 5-year-old children, respectively). (3) Mothers of 1-year-old children indicated significantly higher self-efficacy for limiting TV viewing than mothers of 5-year-old children ($P < 0.005$).
	Adjusted confounders	 (1) Parental well-being (2) Media access TV in bedroom bedroom Number of TV sets PC in bedroom (3) Demographic (3) Demographic (3) Child age Parent race Parent income 	°Z
TABLE 3: Continued.	Child PA (measurement)	Child TV viewing time (parent self-reported online survey)	Children's TV (TV, DVD, and video) time (parent self-administered questionnaire)
	Parental influence (measurement)	 (1) Parent TV time (2) Coviewing TV with child (3) TV time restriction (5) TV time restriction (parent self-reported online survey) 	 Maternal self-efficacy to promote PA to displace TV viewing Maternal self-efficacy to limit TV viewing (parent self-administered questionnaire)
	Age (years)	SI SI	$ \frac{1}{5} (n = 60) $
	Sample	465	140
	Study design	Cross- sectional	Cross- sectional
	Author (year) country reference	Bleakley et al. (2013) USA [35]	Campbell et al. (2010) Australia [36]

Journal of Obesity

	Quality score	ع			
	Main findings	Sequential linear regression models (1) Parent's screen time ($\beta = 0.13$, 95% CI 0.07 to 0.19). (2) Parent's screen time ($\beta = 0.13$, 95% CI 0.07 to 0.19). (2) Parent's self-efficacy was negatively associated with children's screen time ($\beta = -0.38$, 95% CI 1.19 to -0.64 to -0.11). (3) Parents' attitude was positively associated with children's screen time ($\beta = 1.68$, 95% CI 1.19 to 2.17). (4) Parents' barrier was positively associated with children's screen time ($\beta = 0.99$, 95% CI 0.57 to 1.42). (5) Parents' perception of typical screen time in children's screen time ($\beta = 0.97$ to 1.35). When separated children by $0-3$ yr olds and $4-5$ yr olds, parents' screen time for $4-5$ yr olds, but not for $0-3$ yr olds. Parent's screen time experisively associated with children's screen time ($\beta = 1.6, 95\%$ CI 0.97 to 1.35). When separated children by $0-3$ yr olds and $4-5$ yr olds, parents' screen time for $4-5$ yr olds, put not for $0-3$ yr olds. Parent's screen time experision of typical screen time for $4-5$ yr olds, but not for $0-3$ yr olds. Parent's screen time experision of the for $4-5$ yr olds, but not for $0-3$ yr olds. Parent's screen time experision of typical screen time (AOR 1.76, 95% CI 1.43–2.17). (2) Parent's for end with children's high (top quartile) screen time (AOR 1.76, 95% CI 1.130–0.78). (3) Parent's high (top quartile) screen time (AOR 1.76, 95% CI 1.12 to 1.91). (4) Parent's barrier was not associated with children's high (top quartile) screen time (AOR 1.78, 95% CI 1.12 to 1.91). (5) Parent's high (top quartile) screen time in children was positively associated with children was positively screen time (AOR 2.78, 95% CI			
TABLE 3: Continued.	Adjusted confounders	Sequential linear regression models adjusted for (1) Child age (2) Siblings (3) Education (4) Income (5) Family structure (6) Parental cognitions Multiple logistic regress models adjusted for (7) Child age (8) Child age (8) Child age (9) Income (10) Parental cognitions (11) TV in bedroom (12) Video games in bedroom			
	Child PA (measurement)	Child screen time (parent self-administered questionnaire)			
	Parental influence (measurement)	 Parents' screen time Parents' self-efficacy in reducing children's screen time Parent attitudes Parents' barriers to regarding children's screen time Parents' perception of typical screen time in children parent self-administered questionnaire) 			
	Age (years)	v VI			
	Sample	746			
	Study design	Cross- sectional			
	Author (year) country reference	Carson and Janssen (2012) Canada [37]			

	Quality score	۵ ا				
BLE 3: Continued.	Main findings	 Boys (1) Maternal TV time but not paternal TV time was negatively associated with boys meeting Australian/Canadian screen time recommendations (<1 hour/day) (AOR 0.90, 95% CI 0.84-0.97). (2) Boys were more likely to meet Australian/Canadian screen time recommendations if their parents had the confidence to say no to their child's requests to play video games (AOR 3.14, 95% CI 1.41-700). (3) Parent limits child TV viewing was not significantly associated with boys meeting Australian/Canadian screen time recommendations. (1) Maternal TV time but not paternal TV time was negatively associated with girls meeting Australian/Canadian screen time recommendations. (1) Maternal TV time but not paternal TV time was negatively associated with girls meeting Australian/Canadian screen time recommendations if their parents are concerned about their screen time recommendations if their parents are concerned about their screen time recommendations if their parents are concerned about their screen time recommendations if their parents are concerned about their screen time frecommendations if their parents are concerned about their screen time recommendations if their parents are concerned about their screen time recommendations if their parents are concerned about their screen time recommendations if their parents are concerned about their screen time recommendations if their parents are concerned about their screen time frect child health was not significantly associated with girls meeting Australian/Canadian screen time frect child health was not significantly associated with girls meeting Australian/Canadian screen time frecommendations. (5) Parent believes the amount of TV viewing was not significantly associated with girls meeting Australian/Canadian screen time frecommendations. (5) Parent limits child TV viewing was not significantly associated with girls meeting Australian/Canadian screen time frecommendations. 				
	Adjusted confounders	 Child age Child quiet Child quiet Maternal Maternal Physical environmental variables 				
	Child PA (measurement)	Child screen time (parent self-administered questionnaire)				
TA	Parental influence (measurement)	 Maternal TV time Paternal TV time Paternal TV time Parental concern about child screen time Parent prefers child to do activities older children do activi				
	Age (years)	Mean age 4.54 SD 0.70				
	Sample	9 35				
	Study design	Clustered cross- sectional				
	Author (year) country reference	Hinkley et al. (2013) Australia [38]				

	Quality score	IJ	7
IABLE 3: Continued.	Main findings	 In the total sample, parental TV time was significantly and positively associated with child TV time. (2) Mother TV time was significantly associated with TV time (≥2 h/day) of children aged 3–5 years (AOR 1.38, 95% CI 1.25–1.57) but marginally associated with children aged 1-2 years (AOR 1.24, 95% CI 0.94–1.79). (3) Father TV time was significantly associated with TV time (≥2 h/day) of children aged 3–5 years (AOR 1.24, 95% CI 1.15–1.42) but not children aged 1-2 years. 	(1) Children whose parents watched TV \geq 2 hrs/day watched averaging 17 minutes more TV per day than children whose parents spend 1-2 hrs/day (74 minutes versus 57 minutes, <i>P</i> < 0.005), and 28 minutes more TV per day than children whose parents spend <1 h/day (74 minutes versus 46 minutes, <i>P</i> < 0.005).
	Adjusted confounders	Child: (1) Gender (2) PA Parent: (3) Educational status (4) Maternal employment (5) Time parents spent with children (6) Siblings	None
	Child PA (measurement)	Child TV viewing time (parent self-administered questionnaire)	Children's TV time (parent self-reported telephone survey)
	Parental influence (measurement)	 Mother TV viewing time Father TV viewing time (parent self-administered questionnaire) 	Parent TV time (parent self-reported telephone survey)
	Age (years)	51	6 months-6 years
	Sample	2374	1051
	Study design	Clustered cross- sectional	Cross- sectional
	Author (year) country reference	Kourlaba et al. (2009) Greece [39]	Rideout et al. (2006) USA [40]

TABLE 3: Continued.
				TA	BLE 3: Continued.			
Author (year) country reference	Study design	Sample	Age (years)	Parental influence (measurement)	Child PA (measurement)	Adjusted confounders	Main findings	Quality score
Schary et al. (2012) USA [41]	Cross- sectional	201	2-5	Parenting style (parent self-administered Child Rearing Questionnaire)	(1) Screen time(2) Quiet play time(parentself-administeredquestionnaire)	Child age Parent BMI	(1) Compared to neglectful parenting style, authoritative parenting style was associated with less child screen time on weekend ($\beta = -0.17$, $P =$ 0.05 with adjusted model; $\beta = -0.26$, $P = 0.002$ with unadjusted model) and weekday ($\beta = -0.21$, P = 0.01 with unadjusted model). (2) Parenting style was not associated with child quiet play time.	Q
Thompson et al. (2013) USA [42]	Longitudinal	217	Baseline: 3 months Follow-up at 6, 9, 12, and 18 months	Mother TV viewing time (parent self-administered questionnaire)	Infant TV exposure time (time spend in front of the TV) (parent self-administered questionnaire)	(1) Childgender(2) Visit	Mother TV viewing time was positively associated with infant TV exposure time (≥1 h/day) with AOR 1.27 (95% CI 1.12–1.44).	Ŋ
Vandewater et al. (2007) USA [43]	Cross- sectional	1045	6 months-6 years	 Parental TV time rules Parental TV program rules Parental perception TV helps Parental perception TV hurts Constant TV household (TV was on always or most of the time, even when no one was watching) (parent self-administered questionnaire) 	Child screen time (parent self-administered questionnaire)	None	 Parental TV time rules were not associated with child TV time. Parental TV program rules was associated with less likelihood of falling outside the AAP guidelines for 5-6-year olds (OR 0.33, 95% CI 0.12-0.90), but not for 0-2-year olds and 3-4-year olds. Parental perception TV helps was associated with greater likelihood of falling outside the AAP guidelines for 0-2-year olds and 5-6-year olds, but not for 3-4-year olds. Parental perception TV hurts was not associated with child TV time. Constant TV household was associated with greater likelihood of falling outside the AAP guidelines for 3-4-year olds, but not for 0-2-year olds and 5-6-year olds. 	n
Yalçin et al. (2002) Turkey [44]	Cross- sectional	187	3-6	(1) Mother TV viewing time(2) Father TV viewing time (parent self-administered questionnaire)	Child TV viewing time (hours/weekday) (parent self-administered questionnaire)	None	(1) The TV viewing time of children was significantly and positively correlated with that of mother and father (Pearson's $r = 0.49$, $P < 0.001$, $r = 0.53$, $P < 0.001$) (2) With multiple linear regression analysis the TV viewing time of mother and sibling were significant predictors of that of the child (adjusted $R^2 = 0.45$, $P < 0.001$, did not provide β).	ŝ
AOR: adjusted o	dds ratio. AAP:	American Aci	ademy of Pediatric	s.				

Journal of Obesity

	Quality score	v	4
and screen time.	Main findings	(1) Restriction of sedentary behaviour was related to more screen time ($\beta = 0.09$, $P < 0.01$) and less PA ($\beta = -0.19$, $P < 0.001$). (2) Parent monitoring activity was not associated with child PA time and screen time. (3) Stimulation to be active was positively associated with screen time ($\beta = -0.12$, $P < 0.001$) and negatively with screen time ($\beta = -0.12$, $P < 0.001$).	 Parental TV time rule was negatively associated with child TV time (β = -0.18, P < 0.001). Parental TV program rules did not predict less TV viewing by children (children whose parents have program rules watched 32.5 more minutes/day TV, P < 0.001). The relationship between program rules and child TV viewing was mediated by parental presence during viewing. Children of parents with program rules tended to speed more time playing outdoors (mean difference of minutes playing outdoors (mean difference of minutes playing outdoors = 17.7, P < 0.05) and was mediated by parental TV time (β = -0.09, P < 0.05) and was mediated by parental TV time (β = 0.09, P < 0.05) and was mediated by parental TV time rules. Presence during children's TV use was directly associated with child TV time (β = 0.29, P < 0.001). Children of parents with time rules. Dresence during children's TV use was directly associated with child TV time (β = 0.29, P < 0.001). Children of parents with time rules. Dresence during children's TV use was directly associated with child TV time (β = 0.29, P < 0.001). Children of parents with time rules. Dresence during children's TV use was directly associated with child TV time (β = 0.28, P < 0.001).
children's PA time	Adjusted confounders	Child: (1) BMI <i>z</i> -score at age 5 (2) Gender (3) Birth weight (4) Activity and eating style Parent: (5) BMI (6) Educational level (7) Employment (8) Country of birth (9) Maternal	Child: (1) Age (2) Gender (2) Household income (4) Family structure (5) Parent's education (6) Parent's minority status
parental influence and o	Child PA (measurement)	 (1) Child PA time (minutes/day) (2) Child screen time (parent self-administered questionnaire) 	 (1) Child TV time (minutes/day) (2) Child frequency of TV viewing (3) Child playing (3) Child playing outdoor (parent self-administered questionnaire)
: Association between J	Parental influence (measurement)	Parenting practices: (1) Restriction of sedentary behaviour (2) Monitoring activity (screen time and PA) (3) Stimulation to be (parent crive (parent active (parent)	 Parental TV time rules Parental TV program rules Parental TV grogram rules Parental negative attitude towards TV (4) Parental presence during children's TV use (parent self-administered questionnaire)
TABLE 4	Age (years)	ιŋ	6 months-6 years
	Sample	2026	83
	Study design	Cross- sectional	Cross- sectional
	Author (year) country reference	Gubbels et al. (2011) Netherlands [45]	Vandewater et al. (2005) USA [46]

16

Journal of Obesity

OUUUS IALIO. 5

Devental influences	Association wit	h children's physica	l activity
Parental influences	Positive	Negative	No association
Parenting practices			
(1) Parents encourage/support PA	20, 21, 23, 24, 26, 30, 32, 4	5	25, 27, 28
(2) Parental rules			
Restricting rough games inside	24		
TV viewing rules	47, 48	45	
(3) Parent preference(child do the same activities as older siblings)		24	
Parent role modelling (parents' PA)	19, 23, 24, 27, 29, 31, 32, 47	7	22, 28
Parent perception			
(1) Parent perception of importance of child PA	23		32
(2) Parent perceptions of children's physical competence	26, 28		
Parental self-efficacy in PA	46		
Parenting style			30
Dimensions of parenting style (warmth)	30		

TABLE 5: Papers reporting an association between parental influences and children's PA.

or let their child know that PA is good for health); (2) setting rules (e.g., restricting indoor games and having TV viewing rules); (3) parents preference (e.g., preferring child to do the same activities with their older siblings). For children's screen time, parenting practices included (1) setting TV rules (e.g., time or program rules); (2) watching TV with their child; (3) monitoring screen time; (4) having meals without watching TV; and (5) stimulating children to be active.

3.2.2. Parents' Role Modelling (Parents' Own PA and TV/Screen Time). Eight studies [19, 21–24, 28, 29, 48] used parent self-administered questionnaires to assess parents' own PA time, frequency, and intensity with two studies using accelerometer [20, 30] and one study using both parent self-administered questionnaire and accelerometer [32]. Nine studies used a questionnaire to measure parental TV time [33–35, 37–40, 42, 44]. Of them, two studies measured screen time rather than TV time [34, 37].

3.2.3. Parental Perceptions. Perception of importance of children's PA [23, 28] and perception of children's physical competence [21, 22] were reported in 4 studies. In examining children's screen time, perception of "too much screen time" [33, 38], "TV helps children's learning" [37, 43], or "TV hurts children's learning" [43, 46] were reported in five studies.

3.2.4. Parenting Self-Efficacy. Parental self-efficacy for limiting screen time was assessed by a single item: the level of confidence that parent could say "No" to their child's request for screen time (TV/computer/video games) [36–38]. One study assessed parental self-efficacy for influencing their child's PA in eight challenging situations such that the parent cannot think of activities to suggest; the parent is not able to participate in the activity [47]. *3.2.5. Parenting Style.* Only one study investigated the association of general parenting style and children's PA [31]. Parenting style was classified by using Maccoby and Martin's [49] classifications of parenting style with two dimensions - responsiveness (parental warmth/hostility) and demandingness (parental control).

3.3. Classification and Measurement of Children's PA and Screen Time. Children's PA was measured by parent self-administered questionnaire in 10 studies [19, 23, 24, 26, 27, 31, 45–48], followed by accelerometer in 7 studies [20–22, 28–30, 32], or heart rate monitoring and direct observation in one study [25].

Screen time was assessed by totaling the time spent on TV, DVDs, electronic game, and computer (n = 16 studies), which was always measured by parent self-administered questionnaire.

3.4. Parental Influences and Young Children's PA. Table 5 summarized the associations between parental influences and children's PA. Through examining three aspects of parenting practices on children's PA, there was moderate to strong evidence of linkage between parental encouragement/support and children's PA. For example, of 11 studies examining the relationship between parents' encouragement/support and children's PA, eight studies [21, 23, 26-29, 31, 45] with a mean quality score of 5.6 found that children whose parents encouraged or supported them to do PA were more likely to have higher levels of PA, yet three studies (with a mean quality score of 4.7) did not find such association [20, 22, 25]. The associations of setting rules and parental preference with children's PA were weak due to a small number of studies and inconsistent findings. One study (a quality score of 7) examining both setting PA

	Association wit	h children's screen tim	e
Parent influences	Positive	Negative	No association
Parenting practices			
(1) Setting TV rules		47	
TV time rules	45	33, 34, 35, 48	38, 43
TV program rules	48	43	
(2) Coviewing TV with child	35, 48		
(3) Monitoring child screen time			45
(4) Meals with TV on	34, 43		
(5) Stimulation to be active		45	
Parent role modelling (Parent screen time)	33, 34, 35, 37, 38, 39, 40, 42, 44		
Parent perception			
(1) Perception that children spend too much screen time	33, 38		
(2) Parent perception TV helps	37, 43		
(3) Parent perception TV hurts		48	43
Parental self-efficacy in reducing child screen time		36, 37, 38, 46	
Parenting style (authoritative)		41	

TABLE 6: Papers reporting an association between parental influences and children's screen time.

rules and parent preference found that parental rules were positively associated with boy's PA, but parent preference was negatively associated with boy's PA [29]. Among three studies examining the association between setting TV viewing rules and children's PA, two studies (a mean quality score of 3.5) found that children with TV viewing rules spent more time playing outdoors [46, 48], which was not supported by Gubbels et al.'s study [45].

There was also moderate to strong evidence of positive association between parental PA level and young children's level of activity. Eight studies with a mean quality score of 5.1 found that parents' own PA level was positively associated with young children's PA [19, 20, 23, 28–30, 32, 48] with only two studies revealing no such association [22, 24].

Weak evidence was found in examining associations of parental perception, parental self-efficacy, and parenting style with children's PA due to limited studies and mixed findings. For example, contradictive findings were reported on parental perception of the importance of PA and children's PA in two studies [23, 28]. But another two studies found that parent perception of children's physical competence was positively associated with children's PA (MVPA) [21, 22]. Only one study found that parents who have a high sense of self-efficacy are more likely to have their children meeting the PA guidelines [47]. General parenting style was not found to be associated with child PA. However, parental warmth, one of the parenting style dimensions, was positively associated with child PA [31].

3.5. Parental Influences and Young Children's Screen Time. Table 6 summarized the associations between parental influences and children's screen time. Weak and mixed evidence was found in examining association between parenting practices and screen time. Of 7 studies examining TV time rules, four studies (a mean quality score of 5) found that setting TV time rules resulted in less screen time [33–35, 46] and two studies (a mean quality score of 4.5) found no such association [38, 43] with another study suggesting a negative effect of TV time rules on screen time [45]. Mixed evidence was found from two studies in examining setting TV program rules and screen time [43, 46]. The study conducted in 2005 found children whose parents had TV program rules watched more TV [46], but the finding was not supported by another study in 2007 [43]. In addition, one study revealed that more family rules about TV viewing were associated with less screen time [48]. Coviewing TV with a child [35, 46] and having meals when TV is on [34, 43] were associated with increased screen time. In addition, one study [45] found that monitoring child screen time was not associated with screen time, but stimulating a child to be active was associated to less screen time.

In contrast to parenting practices, the review found that there was moderate evidence suggesting parental self-efficacy and parents' own TV time were associated with children's screen time. Nine studies with a mean quality score of 4.8 consistently revealed that parents' own TV time was positively associated with their child's screen time [33–35, 37– 40, 42, 44]. The evidence was also consistent in four studies (a mean quality score of 5.5), which concluded that high parental self-efficacy in reducing children's screen time was associated with less screen time in children [36–38, 47].

In terms of associations of parental perceptions and parenting style with screen time, the evidence was weak and inconsistent from only four studies reviewed. For example, two studies revealed that parental perception of their child spending too much time on playing video games or watching TV was associated with increased screen time [33, 38]. Parental perception of "TV helps" was found to be associated with increased screen time [37, 43]. Parental perception of "TV hurts" was associated with decreased screen time [46]. But this association was not supported by another study conducted by the same author [43]. The authoritative parenting style was found to be associated with decreased children's screen time by only one study [41].

4. Discussion

By critically assessing and synthesizing evidence from individual studies, the present systematic review updates the current literature and fills knowledge gaps in relation to associations of parental influences with young children's PA and screen viewing behaviours. Moderate to strong evidence was found in relation to the associations of parental encouragement/support for PA and parents' own PA level with children's PA. Moderate evidence was also found regarding associations of parental self-efficacy and parents' own screen time with children's screen time. Associations of other aspects of parenting practices, parental perceptions, and parenting style with children's PA and screen time were indeterminate due to limited studies and contradictory results from studies included in this review.

4.1. What Is Already Known? Three previous systematic reviews summarised mixed evidence of associations of parents' PA and parental encouragement/support with children's PA [10, 12, 16]. Hinkley et al. and Mitchell et al. concluded that parents' PA was positively associated with young children's PA [12, 16], while de Craemer et al. found indeterminate association [10]. Likewise, Mitchell et al. found that there was positive association between parental encouragement/support and children's PA [16], yet Hinkley et al. and de Craemer et al. found no such association [10, 12]. Another systematic review that included several qualitative studies suggested that parent involvement, encouragement, and modelling of PA may be important influences impacting young children's PA and are worthy of further systematic study [50].

Of four previous systematic reviews of association between parents' TV time and children's screen time, two concluded a positive association [9, 11], while the other two found that there was a positive but indeterminate association [10, 13]. Mixed findings about the association between parental TV rules and children's screen time were reported by three reviews [9, 10, 13]. Cillero and Jago and Hinkley et al. found that children with TV rules had less screen time [9, 13], while de Craemer et al. found that this association was indeterminate [10].

Mixed evidence in relation to associations of parental influences with children's PA and screen time was further explored by some qualitative studies. For example, Dwyer et al. found that that parental modelling and/or encouragement of activity was a key influence and predictor of PA and sedentary behaviour in children, which was especially acknowledged by parents [51]. Another qualitative study found parents' own screen viewing habits was one of the two most frequently mentioned factors that influence children's screen time (the other one was weather conditions) [52]. Parents also liked the idea of implementing parental rules for TV viewing (e.g., time rules, no TV viewing during meals) [52]. 4.2. What This Study Adds. The present review examines the evidence of associations of parental influences with both PA and screen time of young children. Findings from the review generally support and reinforce the evidence found in some of the previous reviews. This review also examined the role of parental rules for PA and screen viewing, parent perceptions of children's PA, and screen viewing and found their effects on children's PA and screen time remained indeterminate because of contradictive findings or a small number of studies.

Unlike previous reviews that only focused on parenting practices, the present review also explores parental selfefficacy and general parenting style as part of the parental influences. Moderate evidence was found that increased parental self-efficacy was associated with reduced children's screen time. But, the effect of parental self-efficacy on increasing children's PA cannot be concluded with only one study found in this review. The association of parenting style with children's PA and screen time remains unclear due to the limited number of studies.

4.3. Evidence Gaps and Future Research. Despite substantial evidence suggesting that an authoritative parenting style was associated with older children's PA and sedentary behaviours [53, 54], the present systematic review was not able to make such conclusion for young children with only one study included in the review [31, 41]. Therefore, the associations of parenting style and young children's PA and sedentary behaviours need more attention in future research. In this review, only one longitudinal study found that the relationship between parent's PA and preschool children's PA was stronger than that in older children (at follow-up) [32]. It seems likely that the associations of various parental influences and children's PA and screen viewing behaviours would change with advancing age of children. Hence, further longitudinal research on parental influences is needed. In addition, there is a clear evidence gap regarding the effect of parental self-efficacy on children's PA.

As discussed above, associations of some parenting practices (e.g., setting PA and TV rules) and parental perceptions with children's PA and screen time are still indeterminate and further investigation is needed to inform the development of health promotion programs. Inconsistent findings of the association between setting TV rules and children's screen time could be a result of different levels of obedience of rules. One qualitative study involving six European countries revealed that, in general, parents of preschoolschool children only had informal rules about TV viewing [52]. In this review, two individual studies were conducted by Vandewater et al. in United States in 2005 and 2007 [43, 46]. The first study found that parental perceptions of "TV hurts" and setting TV time rules were associated with decreased screen time [46]. However, such associations were not found in a later study [43]. It may be that the association between parental perception of "TV hurts" and children's screen time was related to setting TV time rules. Thus, more research is needed to investigate whether the parental perception of TV "hurts" influences establishing and enforcing TV rules. In addition, whether parenting practices are moderated by general parenting style also needs to be investigated.

5. Conclusions

In the early years of life, some parental influences were significantly associated with young children's PA and screen time with moderate to strong evidence. Results from the present review suggest that parents' encouragement and support can increase their children's PA and reducing parents own screen time can lead to decreased child screen time. Improving parenting practices, parental self-efficacy and parenting style may also be promising approaches to increasing PA time and decreasing screen time of young children.

Strengths and Limitations of This Review

One of the strengths of this review is that we used comprehensive and systematic inclusion and exclusion criteria and a modified quality assessment tool for the critical appraisals of papers. With this quality assessment tool, the strength of evidence from individual study could be assessed based on a quality assessment score. In the present review, the concept of parental influences included not only parents' role modelling and parenting practices that were commonly included in previous reviews, but also general parenting style, parental self-efficacy, and parental perception of PA and screen time, which are important aspects of parenting. In addition, this review searched six databases which enable a wider range of studies to be found.

However, due to the heterogeneity of studies included in the review we were not able to conduct a meta-analysis. Evidence derived from this review was limited by various measurements used regarding parents' and children's PA as well as aspects of parental influences. The definition of children's screen time was inconsistent in the papers reviewed. Study sample sizes in these papers reviewed noticeably varied from 69 to 10,694 where small sample size undermines the study findings. In addition, most studies were crosssectional which means it is difficult to make causal inference. Therefore, consideration must be given when interpreting the results.

Conflict of Interests

The authors declared no conflict of interests with respect to the research, authorship, and/or publication of this paper.

References

- B. A. Dennison, T. A. Erb, and P. L. Jenkins, "Television viewing and television in bedroom associated with overweight risk among low-income preschool children," *Pediatrics*, vol. 109, no. 6, pp. 1028–1035, 2002.
- [2] R. Jago, T. Baranowski, J. C. Baranowski, D. Thompson, and K. A. Greaves, "BMI from 3–6y of age is predicted by TV viewing and physical activity, not diet," *International Journal of Obesity*, vol. 29, no. 6, pp. 557–564, 2005.

- [3] M. M. van Stralen, S. J. te Velde, F. van Nassau et al., "Weight status of European preschool children and associations with family demographics and energy balance-related behaviours: a pooled analysis of six European studies," *Obesity Reviews*, vol. 13, supplement 1, pp. 29–41, 2012.
- [4] L. H. Epstein, J. N. Roemmich, J. L. Robinson et al., "A randomized trial of the effects of reducing television viewing and computer use on body mass index in young children," *Archives of Pediatrics and Adolescent Medicine*, vol. 162, no. 3, pp. 239–245, 2008.
- [5] M. L. Fitzgibbon, M. R. Stolley, L. Schiffer, L. Van Horn, K. Kauferchristoffel, and A. Dyer, "Two-year follow-up results for Hip-Hop to Health Jr.: a randomized controlled trial for overweight prevention in preschool minority children," *Journal of Pediatrics*, vol. 146, no. 5, pp. 618–625, 2005.
- [6] J. Kain, R. Uauy, Albala, F. Vio, R. Cerda, and B. Leyton, "School-based obesity prevention in Chilean primary school children: methodology and evaluation of a controlled study," *International Journal of Obesity*, vol. 28, no. 4, pp. 483–493, 2004.
- [7] J. F. Sallis, T. L. McKenzie, T. L. Conway et al., "Environmental interventions for eating and physical activity: a randomized controlled trial in middle schools," *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, vol. 24, no. 3, pp. 209–217, 2003.
- [8] K. Rhee, "Childhood overweight and the relationship between parent behaviors, parenting style, and family functioning," *Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, vol. 615, no. 1, pp. 12–37, 2008.
- [9] I. H. Cillero and R. Jago, "Systematic review of correlates of screen-viewing among young children," *Preventive Medicine*, vol. 51, no. 1, pp. 3–10, 2010.
- [10] M. de Craemer, E. de Decker, I. de Bourdeaudhuij et al., "Correlates of energy balance-related behaviours in preschool children: a systematic review," *Obesity Reviews*, vol. 13, no. 1, pp. 13–28, 2012.
- [11] H. Duch, E. M. Fisher, I. Ensari, and A. Harrington, "Screen time use in children under 3 years old: a systematic review of correlates," *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, vol. 10, article 102, 2013.
- [12] T. Hinkley, D. Crawford, J. Salmon, A. D. Okely, and K. Hesketh, "Preschool children and physical activity: a review of correlates," *The American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, vol. 34, no. 5, pp. 435–441, 2008.
- [13] T. Hinkley, J. Salmon, A. D. Okely, and S. G. Trost, "Correlates of sedentary behaviours in preschool children: a review," *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, vol. 7, article 66, 2010.
- [14] J. F. Sallis, J. J. Prochaska, and W. C. Taylor, "A review of correlates of physical activity of children and adolescents," *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, vol. 32, no. 5, pp. 963–975, 2000.
- [15] F. de Montigny and C. Lacharité, "Perceived parental efficacy: concept analysis," *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, vol. 49, no. 4, pp. 387–396, 2005.
- [16] J. Mitchell, H. Skouteris, M. McCabe et al., "Physical activity in young children: a systematic review of parental influences," *Early Child Development and Care*, vol. 182, no. 11, pp. 1411–1437, 2012.
- [17] D. R. Lubans, C. A. Boreham, P. Kelly, and C. E. Foster, "The relationship between active travel to school and health-related

fitness in children and adolescents: a systematic review," *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, vol. 8, article 5, 2011.

- [18] E. von Elm, D. G. Altman, M. Egger, S. J. Pocock, P. C. Gøtzsche, and J. P. Vandenbroucke, "Strengthening the reporting of observational studies in epidemiology (STROBE) statement: guidelines for reporting observational studies," *British Medical Journal*, vol. 335, no. 7624, pp. 806–808, 2007.
- [19] B. L. Alderman, T. B. Benham-Deal, and J. M. Jenkins, "Change in parental influence on children's physical activity over time," *Journal of Physical Activity and Health*, vol. 7, no. 1, pp. 60–67, 2010.
- [20] M. Oliver, G. M. Schofield, and P. J. Schluter, "Parent influences on preschoolers' objectively assessed physical activity," *Journal* of Science and Medicine in Sport, vol. 13, no. 4, pp. 403–409, 2010.
- [21] P. D. Loprinzi and S. G. Trost, "Parental influences on physical activity behavior in preschool children," *Preventive Medicine*, vol. 50, no. 3, pp. 129–133, 2010.
- [22] K. A. Pfeiffer, M. Dowda, K. L. McIver, and R. R. Pate, "Factors related to objectively measured physical activity in preschool children," *Pediatric Exercise Science*, vol. 21, no. 2, pp. 196–208, 2009.
- [23] C. A. Zecevic, L. Tremblay, T. Lovsin, and L. Michel, "Parental influence on young children's physical activity," *International Journal of Pediatrics*, vol. 2010, Article ID 468526, 9 pages, 2010.
- [24] K. K. Davison and L. L. Birch, "Child and parent characteristics as predictors of change in girls' body mass index," *International Journal of Obesity*, vol. 25, no. 12, pp. 1834–1842, 2001.
- [25] R. Jago, T. Baranowski, D. Thompson, J. Baranowski, and K. A. Greaves, "Sedentary behavior, not TV viewing, predicts physical activity among 3- to 7-year-old children," *Pediatric Exercise Science*, vol. 17, no. 4, pp. 364–376, 2005.
- [26] M. W. Beets and J. T. Foley, "Association of father involvement and neighborhood quality with kindergartners' physical activity: a multilevel structural equation model," *The American Journal of Health Promotion*, vol. 22, no. 3, pp. 195–203, 2008.
- [27] V. Cleland, A. Timperio, J. Salmon, C. Hume, L. A. Baur, and D. Crawford, "Predictors of time spent outdoors among children: 5-year longitudinal findings," *Journal of Epidemiology* and Community Health, vol. 64, no. 5, pp. 400–406, 2010.
- [28] M. Dowda, K. A. Pfeiffer, W. H. Brown, J. A. Mitchell, W. Byun, and R. R. Pate, "Parental and environmental correlates of physical activity of children attending preschool," *Archives of Pediatrics and Adolescent Medicine*, vol. 165, no. 10, pp. 939–944, 2011.
- [29] T. Hinkley, J. Salmon, A. D. Okely, K. Hesketh, and D. Crawford, "Correlates of preschool children's physical activity," *The American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, vol. 43, no. 2, pp. 159–167, 2012.
- [30] R. Ruiz, S. B. Gesell, M. S. Buchowski, W. Lambert, and S. L. Barkin, "The relationship between hispanic parents and their preschool-aged children's physical activity," *Pediatrics*, vol. 127, no. 5, pp. 888–895, 2011.
- [31] D. P. Schary, B. J. Cardinal, and P. D. Loprinzi, "Parental support exceeds parenting style for promoting active play in preschool children," *Early Child Development and Care*, vol. 182, no. 8, pp. 1057–1069, 2012.
- [32] R. W. Taylor, L. Murdoch, P. Carter, D. F. Gerrard, S. M. Williams, and B. J. Taylor, "Longitudinal study of physical activity and inactivity in preschoolers: the flame study," *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, vol. 41, no. 1, pp. 96–102, 2009.

- [33] D. J. Barr-Anderson, J. A. Fulkerson, M. Smyth et al., "Associations of American Indian children's screen-time behavior with parental television behavior, parental perceptions of children's screen time, andmedia-related resources in the home," *Preventing Chronic Disease*, vol. 8, no. 5, article A105, 2011.
- [34] C. S. Birken, J. Maguire, M. Mekky et al., "Parental factors associated with screen time in pre-school children in primarycare practice: a TARGet Kids! study," *Public Health Nutrition*, vol. 14, no. 12, pp. 2134–2138, 2011.
- [35] A. Bleakley, A. B. Jordan, and M. Hennessy, "The relationship between parents' and children's television viewing," *Pediatrics*, vol. 132, no. 2, pp. e364–e371, 2013.
- [36] K. Campbell, K. Hesketh, A. Silverii, and G. Abbott, "Maternal self-efficacy regarding children's eating and sedentary behaviours in the early years: associations with children's food intake and sedentary behaviours," *International Journal of Pediatric Obesity*, vol. 5, no. 6, pp. 501–508, 2010.
- [37] V. Carson and I. Janssen, "Associations between factors within the home setting and screen time among children aged 0– 5years: a cross-sectional study," *BMC Public Health*, vol. 12, no. 1, article 539, 2012.
- [38] T. Hinkley, J. Salmon, A. D. Okely, and D. Crawford, "The correlates of preschoolers' compliance with screen recommendations exist across multiple domains," *Preventive Medicine*, vol. 57, no. 3, pp. 212–219, 2013.
- [39] G. Kourlaba, K. Kondaki, T. Liarigkovinos, and Y. Manios, "Factors associated with television viewing time in toddlers and preschoolers in Greece: the GENESIS study," *Journal of Public Health*, vol. 31, no. 2, pp. 222–230, 2009.
- [40] V. L. Rideout, E. A. Vandewater, and E. A. Wartella, "The media family: electronic media in the lives of infants toddlers preschoolers and their parents," http://www.dcmp.org/caai/ nadh169.pdf.
- [41] D. P. Schary, B. J. Cardinal, and P. D. Loprinzi, "Parenting style associated with sedentary behaviour in preschool children," *Early Child Development and Care*, vol. 182, no. 8, pp. 1015–1026, 2012.
- [42] A. L. Thompson, L. S. Adair, and M. E. Bentley, "Maternal characteristics and perception of temperament associated with infant tv exposure," *Pediatrics*, vol. 131, no. 2, pp. e390–e397, 2013.
- [43] E. A. Vandewater, V. J. Rideout, E. A. Wartella, X. Huang, J. H. Lee, and M.-S. Shim, "Digital childhood: electronic media and technology use among infants, toddlers, and preschoolers," *Pediatrics*, vol. 119, no. 5, pp. e1006–e1015, 2007.
- [44] S. S. Yalçin, B. TuĞrul, N. Naçar, M. Tuncer, and K. Yurdakök, "Factors that affect television viewing time in preschool and primary schoolchildren," *Pediatrics International*, vol. 44, no. 6, pp. 622–627, 2002.
- [45] J. S. Gubbels, S. P. J. Kremers, A. Stafleu et al., "Association between parenting practices and children's dietary intake, activity behavior and development of body mass index: the KOALA birth cohort study," *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition* and Physical Activity, vol. 8, article 18, 2011.
- [46] E. A. Vandewater, S.-E. Park, X. Huang, and E. A. Wartella, ""No—you can't watch that": parental rules and young children's media use," *American Behavioral Scientist*, vol. 48, no. 5, pp. 608–623, 2005.
- [47] B. J. Smith, A. Grunseit, L. L. Hardy, L. King, L. Wolfenden, and A. Milat, "Parental influences on child physical activity and screen viewing time: a population based study," *BMC Public Health*, vol. 10, article 593, 2010.

- [48] N. J. Spurrier, A. A. Magarey, R. Golley, F. Curnow, and M. G. Sawyer, "Relationships between the home environment and physical activity and dietary patterns of preschool children: a cross-sectional study," *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, vol. 5, article 31, 2008.
- [49] E. E. Maccoby and J. A. Martin, "Socialization in the context of the family: parent-child interaction," in *Handbook of Child Psychology: Socialization, Personality, and Social Development*, P. H. Mussen and E. M. Hetherington, Eds., pp. 1–101, Wiley, New York, NY, USA, 4th edition, 1983.
- [50] L. Emma and M. Jarrett, "How we play—cultural determinants of physical activity in young children," 2010, http://www .playscotland.org/wp-content/uploads/assets/HowWePlayLitReview.pdf.
- [51] G. M. Dwyer, J. Higgs, L. L. Hardy, and L. A. Baur, "What do parents and preschool staff tell us about young children's physical activity: a qualitative study," *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, vol. 5, no. 66, 2008.
- [52] E. De Decker, M. De Craemer, I. De Bourdeaudhuij et al., "Influencing factors of screen time in preschool children: an exploration of parents' perceptions through focus groups in six European countries," *Obesity Reviews*, vol. 13, no. 1, pp. 75–84, 2012.
- [53] J. M. Berge, "A review of familial correlates of child and adolescent obesity: what has the 21st century taught us so far?" *International Journal of Adolescent Medicine and Health*, vol. 21, no. 4, pp. 457–483, 2009.
- [54] A. Lohaus, M. Vierhaus, and J. Ball, "Parenting styles and health-related behavior in childhood and early adolescence: results of a longitudinal study," *The Journal of Early Adolescence*, vol. 29, no. 4, pp. 449–475, 2009.

Research Article

Latino Family Childcare Providers' Beliefs, Attitudes, and Practices Related to Promotion of Healthy Behaviors among Preschool Children: A Qualitative Study

Ana C. Lindsay,^{1,2} Judith A. Salkeld,² Mary L. Greaney,³ and Faith D. Sands³

¹Department of Exercise and Health Sciences, University of Massachusetts Boston, 100 Morrissey Boulevard, Boston, MA 02125, USA ²Harvard School of Public Health, Boston, MA 02115, USA ³University of Rhode Island, Kingston, RI 02881, USA

Correspondence should be addressed to Ana C. Lindsay; ana.lindsay@umb.edu

Received 26 July 2014; Revised 17 November 2014; Accepted 24 November 2014

Academic Editor: Li Ming Wen

Copyright © 2015 Ana C. Lindsay et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Background. The continuing rise of obesity among Latinos is a public health concern with an immediate need for early prevention. Changes in family structures have increased demand and reliance for child care for young children. Latino children are the fastestgrowing segment of the child population in the United States, and research shows that Latino families use preschools and day care centers much less than those of other ethnic groups, apparently because of cultural preferences for family-like care. *Objectives*. Given that many low income Latino children attend family child care homes (FCCHs), there is a need to explore the role that FCCH providers may play in establishing and reinforcing children's early healthful eating and physical activity behaviors and consequently in the prevention of childhood obesity. *Design*. Using purposive sampling, six focus groups were conducted in Spanish with licensed Latino FCCH providers (n = 44). Data was analyzed to identify recurrent themes. *Results*. Latino FCCH providers described how they play an influential role in promoting healthful eating and physical activity behaviors of preschool children in their care. They also identified many barriers and challenges in establishing and maintaining healthful nutrition and physical activity behaviors, including high cost of healthy foods, cold weather, and physical environment of FCCH. *Conclusions*. Latino FCCH providers can have a strong impact in promoting healthful behaviors in low-income, Latino communities. They may be able to effectively deliver interventions targeting low-income, minority families to promote healthful eating and physical activity behaviors and prevent child obesity.

1. Introduction

Latinos are the largest and most rapidly growing population group in the United States. Although rates of childhood obesity are still high for the general child population, children of low-income, minority families are at a particularly high risk of overweight and obesity [1]. The continuing rise of obesity within minority and immigrant populations, particularly Latinos, remains a pressing public health concern with an immediate need for early prevention.

Children living in the United States live in a society that has changed dramatically since the obesity epidemic first developed. Changes in family structure, gender roles, and families' needs for economic security have increased the demand and reliance on child care for children at increasingly younger ages. In addition, welfare reform laws requiring employment have increased the number of employed low-income parents and have contributed to an increase in the number of children enrolled in child care programs [2]. In 2012, 68% of women with children under the age of 6 were either working or looking for work, and almost 11 million preschool-aged children received some form of child care while their mothers worked [2, 3].

The child care setting is an important social environment that potentially influences the development of children's early dietary and physical activity habits and consequently contributes to the development of child overweight [4–6]. Given parents increasing reliance on child care settings for their children at continually younger ages, these settings are likely important venues for the implementation of programs and policies to help children develop healthful eating and physical activity habits [2, 4].

Child care providers, like parents, help establish and reinforce early healthful eating and physical activity habits among young children and can be key players in preventing childhood obesity by developing a child care environment that fosters healthful eating and physical activity behaviors among children [7-9]. Child care provider's knowledge of nutrition and physical activity, the selection of food and meals, structure within their daycare, and their own modeling of behaviors are all influential in young children's development of lifelong habits that contribute to normal weight or to overweight and obesity [10-12]. In fact, research suggests that child care providers may be more influential than or equally as important as parents in shaping food preferences of young children [13, 14]. Child care settings may help establish and reinforce children's eating and physical activity habits [4, 14, 15]. Furthermore, studies have found that Latino parents who send their children to child care believe these settings are instrumental in shaping and reinforcing the eating and physical activity of their children [14]. However, despite the growing number of studies and interventions targeting child care settings and given that more than 1.6 million children attend FCCHs [16], there is limited research examining FCCHs and their influence on the development of healthful eating and physical activity habits in Latino preschool-aged children, a group at increased risk of obesity [17].

In Massachusetts, the setting for this study, the majority of children enrolled in FCCHs are from minority backgrounds, including a high percentage of Latino children [18], and most Latino children attend FCCHs operated by Latino staff [18]. FCCHs are licensed by the Massachusetts Department of Early Education and Care (MA-EEC). FCCH providers are required to (1) have a plan for communicating with parents/ guardians through various communication channels (e.g., handbooks, newsletters, and notes); (2) provide opportunities for outdoor and indoor active play; (3) have adequate indoor and outdoor space and equipment for active and safe play; and (4) provide opportunities for children to develop gross and fine motor skills [19]. State regulations do not specify the amount, frequency, and type of physical activity or regulate television use [19]. Additionally, FCCH providers may be eligible to participate in the Child and Adult Care Food Program (CACFP), which requires that CACFP participants follow USDA/CACFP guidelines for menus and feeding practices [20]. Given the growing importance of FCCHs in serving a large proportion of minority, low-income children, further research is needed to examine the role that FCCH providers play in establishing and reinforcing children's early healthful eating and physical activity habits and consequently preventing childhood obesity. Moreover, given the high rates of obesity among Latino preschoolers [17], and the fact that Latino families use preschools and day care centers much less than those of other ethnic groups, apparently because of cultural preferences for family-like care, there is a need to understand how family child care settings influence the development of eating, physical activity and sedentary behaviors associated with childhood obesity.

"Preventing Obesity in Latino Family Child Care Homes" is a multicomponent study employing qualitative methods to explore influences on eating habits, physical activity, sedentary behaviors, and ultimately risk of obesity among Latino preschool-aged children attending FCCHs in Massachusetts. Additionally, the study assessed practices, policies, and regulations of FCCHs that may be associated with risk of childhood obesity among Latino preschool-aged children. This current paper focuses on the results of the qualitative research examining Latino FCCH providers' beliefs and practices related to nutrition and feeding, and physical activity and sedentary behaviors among low-income preschool children.

2. Methods

2.1. Sample Selection and Recruitment. We worked with MA Department of Early Education and Care (EEC), which develops licensing regulations and requirements for childcare providers and supports training for early educators, and the Child Care Circuit, a nonprofit organization providing child care referrals, training, and parent and provider services, to identify cities in four regions of the state (North Shore, Greater Boston, Central MA, and Western MA) that have a large number of FCCHs run by Latino providers. MA-ECC and the Child Care Circuit, then identified two agencies that work directly with FCCH providers, CACFP, and Family Child Care Systems who compiled a list of all currently licensed Latino FCCH providers. From this list, we randomly selected 22 names per region of the state, with a goal of recruiting 8-12 individuals to participate in one focus group session in each region. We mailed all selected providers a recruitment flyer in Spanish that included a phone number that interested providers could call to obtain more information and/or express interest in participation. Interested providers who called spoke with a native Spanish speaker who explained the study and its purpose. A confirmatory/ reminder phone call was made one to two days before the scheduled focus group session.

2.2. Focus Group Procedures. Focus group discussions were held in meeting rooms of public libraries, and all participants provided written informed consent. A native Spanish speaker trained in qualitative research methods conducted all focus groups in Spanish using a semistructured discussion guide including open-ended questions and probes. Focus group discussions were audio-taped with oral consent of participants. At completion of the focus group, participants received a \$25 cash incentive and completed a brief demographic survey. The study protocol was approved by the Internal Review Board at the Harvard School of Public Health.

The focus group guide explored (1) providers' perceptions, attitudes and practices related to nutrition, and physical activity and sedentary behaviors; (2) influences of FCCH characteristics on children's eating and physical activity behaviors; (3) FCCH providers practices related to nutrition and physical activity; (4) educational activities offered by state and local agencies related to nutrition and physical activity and sedentary behaviors; (5) communication between FCCH providers and parents about FCCH practices and policies related to nutrition and physical activity and sedentary behaviors; and (6) barriers FCCH providers face in providing an environment conducive to healthful eating and physical activity behaviors. See the following for sample of questions used in focus group discussions with Latino family child care providers (FCCPs).

FCCHs' Beliefs, Attitudes, and Practices Related to Child Feeding Practice

(i) Please describe your routine, or plan, for meals that you give the children. (e.g., describe how you use menus, what times you serve meals?)

Please tell me about your plan or routine for giving snacks to the children.

For example, frequency that you give snacks to children, and so forth.

(ii) What do you use to help you plan meals and snacks?

For example, books, websites, agencies, other providers, and so forth.

(iii) What things affect your choice of foods that you typically serve? Please give a few of the most important reasons for your food choices.

> For example, cost, rules, or guidelines from food program, cultural values and tradition, good for health, family member's advice, easy to prepare, and so forth.

- (iv) How much food you think a child should typically eat at a meal? (e.g., what is too much, not enough)
- (v) What are you and the children doing during meals?
 (e.g., sitting together at a table, watching TV or videos during meal)

FCCPs' Beliefs, Attitudes, and Practices Related to Physical Activity

- (i) What are your ideas and thoughts about physical activity for children (in general)?
- (ii) Tell me about the routine you have for children to get physical activity while they are at the daycare.

For example, how much time for PA daily, time of day, and so forth?

- (iii) Why do you have this routine?
- (iv) What kinds of ways are children active outdoors on a typical day?

For example, do they play games and use equipment? (v) What kinds of ways are children active indoors on a typical day?

For example, do they play games, use equipment, and use videos or TV?

(vi) If you wanted to get more information about how much PA children need or get ideas about how to help kids be active, how would you do this?

FCCPs' Beliefs, Attitudes, and Practices Related to Sedentary Behaviors. We know that all children like to watch cartoons and other shows like Dora the Explorer. They also enjoy playing on a computer, cell phone, DS toys, and video and Nintendo games. We call these "screen time."

- (i) What are your thoughts in general on screen time for children aged 2 to 5?
- (ii) What rules or routines do you have about screen time?
- (iii) What do parents think about these rules?

Providers' Beliefs, Attitudes, and Practices Related to Communication with Parents

- (i) How do you typically let parents know what their child did while at care, especially what they had to eat and what they did for physical activity?
- (ii) What, if anything, do you discuss with parents about their child's weight?
- (iii) Who would you talk to for advice if you thought a child was too thin or weighed too much? (family member, doctor, WIC staff, other)

2.3. Analysis. Audiotaped discussions were transcribed in Spanish and then translated into English by a bilingual consultant. The analysis plan, which used a content analysis approach, included an initial review of all translated transcripts by two members of the study team who also developed a codebook. Two coders trained in qualitative methods independently read and analyzed transcripts to identify salient convergent themes [21]. All transcripts were then coded based on broad categories of the areas of inquiry of the focus group guide. Inconsistencies in coding were discussed and resolved. Within these areas, emerging subthemes were identified and each one was assigned a specific code. Descriptive analyses and frequencies were calculated from sociodemographic questionnaires using Microsoft Excel 2008.

3. Results

In total, 44 providers (41 females, 3 males), all of whom are self-identified as Hispanic/Latino, participated in six focus groups. About one-third of participants (n = 14) had graduated from high school or earned their GED, and close to forty percent (n = 17) had attended some college. Most (n = 41,93%) had several to up to 25 years of experience running FCCHs. Data analysis identified key themes related to

nutrition and feeding practices, physical activity, and sedentary behaviors at Latino FCCHs. Emergent themes are discussed below, with quotes used to illustrate central points.

3.1. Nutrition and Food Practices

3.1.1. Foods Served and Portion Sizes. Providers reported that foods served for breakfast often include 1% milk, fruit, yogurt, cereal, oatmeal, pancakes, and freshly squeezed or 100% juice. Lunch typically includes rice and/or beans, meat, and vegetables. Providers also mentioned that they do not allow or serve certain foods. Prohibited foods included juices that are not 100% juice, soda, hot dogs, and fried foods.

Providers indicated that they use guides from food programs (e.g., USDA) to determine portion sizes. Some mentioned using measuring cups to determine portion sizes while others spoke of using informal tools such as small plates. Many providers mentioned basing portion sizes on children's ages, which they believed to be an important factor in determining the quantity of food a child should eat.

Providers believed that children eat a healthier diet in their FCCHs than they do at home and that parents are supportive of FCCH policies. "The parents that I have always feel good about what I give the kids because sometimes they do not have the time to prepare food like we prepare it with all of the nutrients, like vegetables, everything a child needs in a day." Most providers perceived parents as being too tired and busy to make healthy meals at home and that parents were more permissive then they were of their children eating unhealthy foods. "Sometimes, if parents are alone, they do not make healthy meals because they do not have the motivation. They get home and ate too tired..."

3.1.2. Providers' Beliefs and Practices Related to Child Feeding. Most providers felt their role was to nurture and educate children in their care and viewed providing "good nutrition" and "healthy diets" as a priority. Several providers spoke of the need to compensate for unhealthy practices at home by parents. They also felt that it is important to expose children in their care to healthy foods and eating habits. Most providers reported being confident about their abilities to serve healthful foods at their FCCH and viewed themselves as "educators," with the knowledge needed to teach children and their families about healthful diets. "I try to inform the parents if there are activities in the community geared towards healthy eating and living for families ... I give them pamphlets and all sorts of things that I have access to because of my work as a FCCH provider and that they may not be aware of."

In addition, most providers viewed themselves as "educators" and "professionals" and were vocal about wanting to discourage the perception of FCCHs providers as being just "babysitters." Providers also spoke of enjoying seeing the children that they once cared for progressing, growing up, and being successful. "It makes us feel good that we did the job we needed and those children will not have a hard time when they start school." 3.1.3. Strategies to Incorporate Nutritious Foods. Providers across all focus groups spoke of multiple strategies they use to incorporate nutritious foods into meals and snacks. Strategies included becoming familiar with foods served and meal time practices at the homes of children attending their FCCH, introducing and encouraging new and healthy foods, and modeling of healthful behaviors. Some providers spoke of encouraging new foods by directly involving children with healthy food choices, as they believe this gives children a sense of control and increased openness to new foods, especially if they see their peers enjoying foods they would not normally eat. "I usually allow children to help pick their foods as part of a game at the beginning of the week, so that they have some choice of preferred foods." In addition, some providers mentioned that children themselves influence food choices and eating habits of other children. "At first a child may not want to eat something, but when they see another child eating it, they will try."

3.1.4. Meal Planning. The majority of providers mentioned the importance of planning, buying, and preparing meals in advance. They felt planning ahead enabled them to serve a healthy and varied food menu on a weekly basis. Planning was seen as especially important for providers who served multiple meals (e.g., breakfast, a morning snack, lunch, an afternoon snack, and, in some cases, dinner). *"I like to plan ahead and know what I will serve the kids for at least a week ... it's just much easier that way."*

Across all focus groups, nearly all providers mentioned using available educational resources, including *Minute Menu* for their food shopping and planning needs of the week. *Minute Menu* is a computer software program affiliated with CACFP. A few providers mentioned that *Minute Menu* made it easy to "print a shopping list" for their meals and allowed for some flexibility in their preplanned menus. "If a child does not like one vegetable they can substitute another vegetable in its place." Other resources included online "school-based menus" and menus provided by their local food programs such as "Yours for Children." A few providers also reported that they use pamphlets from the USDA for snack and food ideas. "They are always sending magazines on how to use the things to feed the children better and won't lead them into becoming obese children."

3.1.5. Educational Workshops. The majority of providers mentioned participating in workshops about nutritional guidelines and using workshop resources to guide healthy eating options at their FCCHs. A few stated that attending these workshops and trainings caused them to make changes to their feeding practices and meal options at their FCCHs. "I went to a workshop where they showed you how much sugar is in juice as measured by the number of sugar packets. After that workshop, I have just paid a lot more attention to serving juices to the children."

3.2. Factors That Influence Foods Served by FCCH Providers

3.2.1. Cost of Healthy Foods. Several barriers to providing healthy foods in FCCHs were mentioned, including the high

cost of healthy foods, especially organic and fresh fruits and vegetables. "Something that affects is money, how much they [food program] pay you. Everything is so expensive, especially organic food. You have to pick out what is cheaper that week, fruit or vegetables, to be able to save money."

3.2.2. Latino Culture. Most providers acknowledged that their Latino culture influences the foods they serve at their FCCH as well as eating routines and the foods that children eat with their families outside of the FCCHs. "Cultures can positively or negatively affect people's food choices. A child comes to my home as an infant and grows with me. It does not matter what nationality they are. They learn to eat in my day-care and learn to eat food from my culture."

Although providers felt their Latino culture influences the foods they serve, they did not see their culture as negatively impacting foods they provided at their FCCHs. On the contrary, several providers noted several healthy food options that are part of the Latino culture, such as beans. "I think that the Latino culture includes many food options. For example, I serve bean soup to the kids on a regular basis and that's very healthy for them."

3.2.3. Perceptions of Child Weight Status. A few providers reported having some children "at risk" of overweight or obesity in their care and that this influenced their feeding practices, especially in determining portion sizes. "I try to reduce the portion of the one that likes to eat so he won't get to eat too much and later be affected by obesity." While another added, "I may have the child wait to see if they are still hungry then "give water or fruit" if the child is still hungry." Furthermore, some FCCPs felt that they needed to "control" what and how much children eat. "We cannot let them eat everything they want."

3.2.4. Perceptions of EEC and CACFP Policies. The majority of providers was aware and supportive of EEC and CACFP policies, regulations, and guidelines for both nutrition and physical activity behaviors of children attending FCCHs. They felt these policies made a real difference in the health of children attending FCCH. *"I think the EEC regulations require that children engage in an hour or more a day of PA, but a minimum of an hour a day. I agree with that.*"

3.3. Physical Activity and Sedentary Behaviors

3.3.1. Beliefs about Physical Activity and Sedentary Behaviors. Across all focus groups, the majority of providers described physical activity as engaging in organized activities, such as throwing a ball, swinging, dancing, and climbing, or as general activity throughout their day, such as running around during free-play. The general consensus was that physical activity is an important part of children's daily routine at FCCHs. Although most providers reported children being very active throughout the day and agreed on the importance of physical activity as part of children's daily routine at their FCCHs, the amount of time providers believed children should engage in physical activity ranged from 30 minutes to two hours.

3.3.2. Practices Related to Physical Activity. When asked to discuss how they ensure that children attending their FCCHs are physically active, the majority of providers described creative methods such as use of small outdoor and indoor equipment including hula hoops, jump rope, small trampolines for keeping children active throughout the year including during the cold winter months. Several providers described creative methods for keeping children active during cold winter months including having children use indoor equipment such as hula hoops, jump rope, and small trampolines. "When we are inside, we use dancing a lot." "I use the second floor staircase." Some providers spoke of making modifications to their homes, both indoors and outdoors to make it more conducive to physical activity. "In my house we redid the basement, so the kids have a big space to play, jump, and use hula hoops."

Most providers felt that screen time should be regulated and that children should be allowed a maximum of one hour of screen time per day. TV viewing was the most common type of screen time. Many providers reported allowing children to have screen time during transition times such as dropoff, pickup, and meal preparation. "I let them play computer games for about 15 minutes. And some TV when I am preparing the food, but no more than an hour a day." A few providers seemed to make a distinction between screen time for educational purposes and screen time for entertainment and felt that as long as the TV was being used for educational purposes it was "Ok" to let children watch 30-60 minutes of TV a day. "I think it's Ok for the kids to watch some educational program on TV such as the PBS programs. Some of those programs are very good and teach the kids basic language skills." Although most providers reported that the majority of parents do not mind their kids watch some TV while at the FCCH, a few mentioned that they respect and find alternative for children whose parents do not want them to watch any TV while at FCCH. "I have a parent who really does not want her daughter to watch TV while at daycare. I respect that, so when the other kids are watching TV, I have her draw." Although the majority of providers did not express concerns or challenges with limiting screen time, a few providers noted that some parents allowed their children to bring electronics to daycare even when there were rules against that. "I have a hard time when parents don't respect the rules that I have around children bringing and using electronics such as DS. I don't really like to have to keep reminding them that those devices are not allowed in my FCCH." Nevertheless, a few providers noted that some parents allowed their children to bring electronics to daycare, even when there are rules against that, which was viewed as challenging.

3.3.3. Barriers to Physical Activity. Across all focus groups, nearly all providers noted obstacles to children being physically active with lack of space and the cold weather being the most frequently noted. "It's really hard to keep the kids active when it's cold and they don't have as much space to

move around inside the house." In order to overcome these barriers some providers mentioned creative ways to ensure that children engage in PA while at their FCCHs. "My home is not that big, so we often play a game and use the stairs. I have the kids go up and down a few times..." "My house is small, but I have a house with two garages and inside there is a ball, and things saved for winter, and we begin to throw a ball and move around in there and we maintain our activity level." Furthermore, some providers reported taking children to nearby parks or going for short walks around their homes, when the weather allowed. "Whenever the weather is good I take the kids to a park near the house."

Many providers felt children were less active during the winter in comparison to the summer due to the cold weather when children spent more time indoors. A few providers noted that it can take a long time to get all children's winter gear on and off, and that can be especially challenging if they take care of several children. "I only take them out once a day [in winter] because it is hard to put all the coats, gloves, hats." Furthermore, providers who had grown up outside the US, in warmer climates appeared to perceive the cold weather as a barrier more than providers who had grown up with cold weather. "I was born in the Dominican Republic. I am not used to the kind of cold weather we get here in MA. I do not think I will ever get used to it ... I just try to get through the winter. It can be difficult."

3.4. Communication with Parents

3.4.1. Attitudes and Practices Related to Communication with Parents. Nearly all providers spoke of the importance of having effective, open, and ongoing communication with parents as most children spend most of the day in their care. Most providers reported sharing information regularly with parents about children routines, what and how much they ate, and anything unusual such as an illness or injury. Furthermore, many providers felt that ongoing communication with parents is critical, as it allows them to understand children's home environment including family's routines and practices, how these shape the socio-emotional and physical development of the children they care for. "Communication with parents is also very important because it gives us a chance to learn about the child's home environment, the family's routines and rules, which is really important information to have to understand and care for the child in our FCCHs."

3.4.2. Communication Methods. Providers used multiple communication channels, including notes sent home at the end of day, forms, in-person communication, emails, texts, phone calls, and bulletin boards, where parents can see when they pick up/drop off their children. In fact, bulletin boards were used at most FCCHS. "I tell them what the children have done, we talk about the progress of the child, what vocabulary they have learned, things like this, if the child has a necessity, how we can help the child, the resources in the community to help..."

3.4.3. Food-Related Communications. Several providers report sharing menu information with parents. "I like to give the weekly menu to parents at the beginning of the week so that they understand and know what I am feeding their child at my FCCH and that I will serve a variety of foods." Other providers reported giving hard copies of a weekly/monthly meal menu to parents, while others reported posting it on an online bulletin board. A few providers reported using a software program provided by their local food program to report children's daily food consumption and physical activity. Providers who used such software stated they really liked using the software for its easiness of communication with parents. "I like it because all the information can be easily emailed to parents."

3.4.4. Communication Related to Weight Concerns. When asked how comfortable and confident they feel about talking with parents about any concerns they might have about a child' weight status, most providers reported feeling very comfortable and confident. However, the majority of providers reported that they did not have major concerns about weight status of children currently under their care. A couple of providers who reported having an overweight child under their care in the past mentioned that they felt comfortable and confident approaching the child's mother, discussing their concerns and sharing resources with the mother. "A year or so ago, I had a child in my home (FCCH) who was overweight. So, I approached the mother and talked to her about my concern. I told her that I believed she should check with her pediatrician. I also told her about a training that I had attended and how during this training the instructor had stressed the importance of keeping children active, not allowing them to drink lots of sugar sweetened drinks, and having them eat plenty of fruits and vegetables"

A few providers stated that they did not feel comfortable discussing children's weight status with parents. "It's kind of difficult because when I think of children I've encountered who were overweight, usually the parents are overweight." Providers who reported being reluctant to discuss child's weight felt that parents can be very sensitive to other people's perceptions of their children, and because of that they preferred not to talk about it with parents. Additionally, some providers felt that it is hard to change families' habits and that parents are not always open to advice. "It is very difficult to educate the parent sometimes. Parents feed her a lot of McDonalds so I have tried to give them information on my menus so they can take [sic] home." There were, however, a few providers who felt it was their responsibility and part of their "job" to approach parents if they had concerns about a child's weight status. "I feel it is part of my job to let parents know any concerns I have about their child, and that also goes for any concerns related to a child's weight status. I agree that it is not always easy to talk about it, and that parents can be sensitive sometimes, but I still think it is my responsibility."

4. Discussion

In this study, theory-driven qualitative research methods were used to assess Latino providers' beliefs and practices

related to promoting healthful dietary and physical activity behaviors among preschool children attending FCCH. Theory-driven qualitative approaches are critical to enhancing knowledge and guiding development of interventions that promote healthful behaviors related to pediatric obesity intervention [22, 23].

Study findings indicate that Latino FCCH providers are vested in and believe they are influential in promoting healthy eating and physical activity behaviors of the preschool children in their care. In agreement with previous studies focusing on child care centers and family child care homes, Latino FCCH providers participating in our study perceived their role beyond simply "watching children" to one that includes promotion of early healthy behaviors including nutrition and physical activity [13, 24, 25].

Analysis revealed a few barriers and challenges faced by providers in establishing and maintaining healthful nutrition and physical activity practices in their FCCHs, including financial constraints. Several providers referred to high costs of fruit and vegetables, especially organic types, as a potential limiting factor. This finding is consistent with studies showing that low socioeconomic and neighborhood settings are an important factor influencing residents' consumption of healthy food choices, such as fruits and vegetables [14, 26].

Latino FCCH providers participating in our study reported using strategies such as, encouragement and role modeling to influence healthy food choice and consumption, particularly with regard to introducing new foods and increasing variety. Our findings are in agreement with that of a previous study by Hughes et al. [27] conducted with Latino Head Start providers highlighting the important influence that child care providers have in the development of healthy and unhealthy eating behaviors in minority children [27–29]. Contrary to a recent longitudinal survey study by Lanigan [30], Latino providers in our study did not report negative practices including pressuring child to eat and rewards for eating foods, although our qualitative study has a small sample size (n = 44).

Although most providers were consistent regarding mealtime food choices and routines, we found varied interpretations of portion size. This suggests that providers may benefit from additional training that assesses and addresses provider's knowledge and educates providers about evidencebased practices related to healthful eating and child feeding practices [31–33].

In general, Latino providers in our study perceived parents as not being aware of the importance of healthful eating practices and/or lacking the time needed to ensure that their children ate a healthful diet. In addition, most providers felt that it was part of their "job" to engage with and educate parents about the importance of proper child nutrition and healthy eating behaviors. This finding is consistent with findings from recent studies [13, 24, 34] which indicate the important role that child care providers can play in the promotion of children's early healthy behaviors related to eating and physical activity [13].

Our findings regarding providers' positive beliefs related to child nutrition and feeding practices suggest that regulations and resources, particularly those promulgated by CACFP, are important factors influencing Latino FCCH providers' knowledge and practices related to nutrition and child feeding. Providers spoke positively about educational opportunities available to them through training and workshops required for licensing of their FCCHs. This finding is in agreement with that of Stan et al. [31] documenting that broad-scale, in-person training is well received by child care providers' knowledge of regulations to promote healthful eating and child feeding practices in child care settings, including FCCHs [32].

Our results revealed that in general, FCCH providers perceive physical activity as important for children's overall health. Nevertheless, we found that Latino FCCH providers in our study appear to have a wide range of concepts of what constitutes physical activity practices for children and reported a range of time in which they regularly implement physical for children in their FCCHs. These findings are consistent with those of previous studies [35, 36] showing a wide range of perceptions, knowledge, and practices related to physical activity among young children. Previous studies [37–39] have documented that caregivers' modeling of physical activity is influential in children's physical activity levels. Providers in our focus groups did not mention the importance of caregivers' physical activity level and modeling; therefore future training resources for promoting physical activity practices in FCCHs should highlight importance of caregiver physical activity level and modeling.

Our findings suggest less variation in providers' beliefs and practices related to screen time. Nearly all providers participating in our study reported believing that children should not be allowed more than one hour of screen time daily. Providers in our study spoke of using screen time (mostly educational TV programs) only during transition times (e.g., at pick up, preparation of lunch, etc.). Previous studies conducted among low-income population have shown high levels of TV-watching by children and adults [40, 41]. It is likely that providers participating in our study have been exposed to education and training and required to comply with regulatory policies that encourage limited use of TV and other screen devices set forth by agencies working with licensed FCCHs.

In agreement with previous studies, our findings revealed barriers to physical activity for children in FCCHs [35, 36] including cold weather and the physical environment of the FCCH that may lack appropriate indoor and outdoor spaces. Many providers in our study live in neighborhoods with small or no yard areas. Some reported financial constraints as limiting configuring indoor space for active play. This finding is consistent with previous studies, including our own [14, 41] with Latino parents, which found housing and neighborhood barriers faced by families living in low-income areas, with limited access to indoor and safe outdoor spaces [14, 34, 40, 41]. This is an important finding, and as suggested by previous studies [35, 36], physical activity interventions targeting family child care homes must be tailored to meet the unique characteristics of this home-based child care environment.

Specific cultural influences related to Latino FCCH providers' beliefs, attitudes, and practices related to nutrition and physical activity were not widely apparent in our study. Although some providers reported serving foods typical to the Latino culture such as rice and beans on a regular basis, it is possible that other cultural influences reported by previous studies conducted among Latino populations such as, consumption of sugar-sweetened beverages and use of TV may be less present in licensed Latino FCCHs due regulatory agency requirements.

Finally, given the pivotal role that parents have in structuring home environment [12], it is important to note that the Latino FCCH providers in our study perceive that parental home environment is lacking in nutrition and physical activity structure. FCCH providers may be well positioned given their daily and close relationship with parents to engage and educate low-income, Latino parents about the importance of establishing a home environment conducive to the development of early healthy behaviors related to children's eating and physical activity. Our findings highlight the important influence and role that Latino FCCH providers can have as a unit of change and promotion of health in low-income, Latino communities. Interventions involving FCCH providers may prove to be an effective way to target low-income minority families for obesity prevention efforts. Given FCCH providers established presence in their communities, they are well positioned to facilitate lowincome families' access to evidence-based information in a linguistic and culturally sensitive way. Latino providers have established trusting and respected relationships with Latino parents, which positions their family child care homes as an important venue for the delivery of long-term and sustainable efforts to prevent childhood obesity among at-risk, minority communities. The potential role of minority FCCH providers should be explored in future community-based interventions aimed at promoting healthful family behaviors related to nutrition and physical activity.

Results of this study should be considered in light of some limitations. Findings are based on a nonrandom, purposive, and relatively small sample of low-income, Latino FCCH providers in four selected communities in Massachusetts. Furthermore, FCCH providers recruited to participate in this study could have been those who are more aware and concerned in general with promoting health behaviors among children in their care. Future research can address these limitations by exploring influences on Latino providers' beliefs, attitudes, and practices from other communities across the US. In addition, quantitative research that builds on the qualitative findings reported here is needed to quantify Latino providers' beliefs, attitudes, and practices related to the promotion of healthy eating and physical activity behaviors among Latino preschool children attending FCCHs.

Conflict of Interests

The authors declare that there is no conflict of interests regarding the publication of this paper.

Acknowledgments

The authors are grateful for the assistance of personnel at Massachusetts Department of Early Education and Care, Child Care Circuit, Family Care Systems, and CACFP, especially *Yours for Children Inc.* Additionally, the authors appreciate the efforts of the family child care home providers who participated in this study. This study was supported by a grant from Aetna Foundation, Grant no. 11-02395, for which Ana Lindsay, DDS, MPH, DrPH, is Principal Investigator.

References

- C. L. Ogden, M. D. Carroll, L. R. Curtin, M. A. McDowell, C. J. Tabak, and K. M. Flegal, "Prevalence of overweight and obesity in the United States, 1999–2004," *Journal of the American Medical Association*, vol. 295, no. 13, pp. 1549–1555, 2006.
- [2] D. Lavery, More Mothers of Young Children in the U.S. Workforce, Population Reference Bureau Publication, 2012, http:// www.prb.org/Publications/Articles/2012/us-working-motherswith-children.aspx.
- [3] "Child Care in America 2012 State Fact Sheets. Child Care Aware of America," Alexandria, Va, USA, June 2012, http:// www.naccrra.org/sites/default/files/default_site_pages/2012/full-2012cca_state_factsheetbook.pdf.
- [4] M. Story, K. M. Kaphingst, and S. French, "The role of child care settings in obesity prevention," *Future of Children*, vol. 16, no. 1, pp. 143–168, 2006.
- [5] M. L. Fitzgibbon, M. R. Stolley, L. Schiffer, L. van Horn, K. Kauferchristoffel, and A. Dyer, "Two-year follow-up results for Hip-Hop to Health Jr.: a randomized controlled trial for overweight prevention in preschool minority children," *Journal of Pediatrics*, vol. 146, no. 5, pp. 618–625, 2005.
- [6] J. Kim and K. E. Peterson, "Association of infant child care with infant feeding practices and weight gain among US infants," *Archives of Pediatrics and Adolescent Medicine*, vol. 162, no. 7, pp. 627–633, 2008.
- [7] L. L. Birch and J. O. Fisher, "Development of eating behaviors among children and adolescents," *Pediatrics*, vol. 101, no. 3, part 2, pp. 539–549, 1998.
- [8] K. K. Davison and L. L. Birch, "Childhood overweight: a contextual model and recommendations for future research," *Obesity Reviews*, vol. 2, no. 3, pp. 159–171, 2001.
- [9] J. D. Skinner, B. R. Carruth, W. Bounds, P. Ziegler, and K. Reidy, "Do food-related experiences in the first 2 years of life predict dietary variety in school-aged children?" *Journal of Nutrition Education and Behavior*, vol. 34, no. 6, pp. 310–315, 2002.
- [10] K. K. Davison and L. L. Birch, "Obesigenic families: parents' physical activity and dietary intake patterns predict girls' risk of overweight," *International Journal of Obesity*, vol. 26, no. 9, pp. 1186–1193, 2002.
- [11] K. K. Davison, L. A. Francis, and L. L. Birch, "Reexamining obesigenic families: parents' obesity-related behaviors predict girls' change in BMI," *Obesity Research*, vol. 13, no. 11, pp. 1980– 1990, 2005.
- [12] A. C. Lindsay, K. M. Sussner, J. Kim, and S. Gortmaker, "The role of parents in preventing childhood obesity," *Future of Children*, vol. 16, no. 1, pp. 169–186, 2006.
- [13] M. S. Rosenthal, A. A. Crowley, and L. Curry, "Family child care providers' self-perceived role in obesity prevention: working with children, parents, and external influences," *Journal of*

Nutrition Education and Behavior, vol. 45, no. 6, pp. 595–601, 2013.

- [14] A. C. Lindsay, K. M. Sussner, M. L. Greaney, and K. E. Peterson, "Influence of social context on eating, physical activity, and sedentary behaviors of Latina mothers and their preschool-age children," *Health Education and Behavior*, vol. 36, no. 1, pp. 81– 96, 2009.
- [15] N. Larson, D. S. Ward, S. B. Neelon, and M. Story, "What role can child-care settings play in obesity prevention? A review of the evidence and call for research efforts.," *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*, vol. 111, no. 9, pp. 1343–1362, 2011.
- [16] National Association of Child Care Resource and Referral Agencies, Leaving Children to Chance: NACCRRA's Ranking of State Small Family Child Care Homes: 2012 Update, 2012, http:// www.naccrra.org/about-child-care/state-child-care-licensing/ 2012-leaving-children-to-chance-child-care-homes.
- [17] A. L. May, L. Pan, B. Sherry et al., "Vital signs: obesity among low-income, preschool-aged children. United States, 2008– 2011," *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, vol. 62, no. 31, pp. 629–634, 2013.
- [18] Massachusetts Department of Early Education and Care, "Early Education and Care Programs," http://www.mass.gov/edu/ birth-grade-12/early-education-and-care/find-early-educationand-care-programs/.
- [19] Massachusetts Department of Early Education and Care, 606 CMR 7.00: Standardsfor the Licensure or Approval of Family Child Care: Small Group and School Age and Large Group and School Age Child Care Programs, 2014, http://www.mass.gov/ edu/docs/eec/licensing/regulations/2010-reg-family-group-schoolage-child-care-programs.pdf.
- [20] A. Collins, B. Goodson, J. Luallen, A. R. Fountain, and A. Checkoway, *Evaluation of Child Care Subsidy Strategies: Massachusetts Family Child Care Study*, OPRE 2011-1, Office of Planning, Research and Evaluation, Administration for Children and Families, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Washington, DC, USA, 2010.
- [21] B. Olszewski, D. Macey, and L. Lindstrom, "The practical work of <coding>: an ethnomethodological inquiry," *Human Studies*, vol. 29, no. 3, pp. 363–380, 2006.
- [22] K. Duncanson, T. Burrows, B. Holman, and C. Collins, "Parents' perceptions of child feeding: a qualitative study based on the theory of planned behavior," *Journal of Developmental & Behavioral Pediatrics*, vol. 34, no. 4, pp. 227–236, 2013.
- [23] J. Ritchie and L. Spencer, "Qualitative data analysis for applied policy research," in *Analyzing Qualitative Data*, A. Bryman and R. G. Burgess, Eds., pp. 173–194, Routledge, London, UK, 1994.
- [24] B. Fees, S. Trost, M. Bopp, and D. A. Dzewaltowski, "Physical activity programming in family child care homes: providers' perceptions of practices and barriers," *Journal of Nutrition Education and Behavior*, vol. 41, no. 4, pp. 268–273, 2009.
- [25] J. Kim, J. E. Shim, A. R. Wiley, K. Kim, and B. A. McBride, "Is there a difference between center and home care providers' training, perceptions, and practices related to obesity prevention?" *Maternal and Child Health Journal*, vol. 16, no. 8, pp. 1559–1566, 2012.
- [26] T. Dubowitz, M. Heron, C. E. Bird et al., "Neighborhood socioeconomic status and fruit and vegetable intake among whites, blacks, and Mexican Americans in the United States," *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, vol. 87, no. 6, pp. 1883– 1891, 2008.
- [27] S. O. Hughes, H. Patrick, T. G. Power, J. O. Fisher, C. B. Anderson, and T. A. Nicklas, "The impact of child care providers'

feeding on children's food consumption," Journal of Developmental & Behavioral Pediatrics, vol. 28, no. 2, pp. 100–107, 2007.

- [28] S. O. Hughes, R. M. Shewchuk, M. L. Baskin, T. A. Nicklas, and H. Qu, "Indulgent feeding style and children's weight status in preschool," *Journal of Developmental and Behavioral Pediatrics*, vol. 29, no. 5, pp. 403–410, 2008.
- [29] T. O. Erinosho, D. P. Hales, C. P. Mcwilliams, J. Emunah, and D. S. Ward, "Nutrition policies at child-care centers and impact on role modeling of healthy eating behaviors of caregivers," *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics*, vol. 112, no. 1, pp. 119–124, 2012.
- [30] J. D. Lanigan, "The relationship between practices and child care Providers' beliefs related to child feeding and obesity prevention," *Journal of Nutrition Education and Behavior*, vol. 44, no. 6, pp. 521–528, 2012.
- [31] S. V. Stan, L. Lessard, and K. D. Phillips, "The impact of a statewide training to increase child care providers' knowledge of nutrition and physical activity rules in delaware," *Childhood Obesity*, vol. 9, no. 1, pp. 43–50, 2013.
- [32] M. Sigman-Grant, E. Christiansen, G. Fernandez et al., "Child care provider training and a supportive feeding environment in child care settings in 4 states, 2003," *Preventing Chronic Disease*, vol. 8, no. 5, article A123, 2011.
- [33] D. A. Dev, B. A. McBride, K. Harrison et al., "Academy of nutrition and dietetics benchmarks for nutrition in child care 2011: are child-care providers across contexts meeting recommendations?" *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics*, vol. 113, no. 10, pp. 1346–1353, 2013.
- [34] E. M. Taveras, N. LaPelle, R. S. Gupta, and J. A. Finkelstein, "Planning for health promotion in low-income preschool child care settings: focus groups of parents and child care providers," *Ambulatory Pediatrics*, vol. 6, no. 6, pp. 342–346, 2006.
- [35] S. G. Trost, L. Messner, K. Fitzgerald, and B. Roths, "Nutrition and physical activity policies and practices in family child care homes," *The American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, vol. 37, no. 6, pp. 537–540, 2009.
- [36] K. B. Gunter, K. R. Rice, D. S. Ward, and S. G. Trost, "Factors associated with physical activity in children attending family care homes," *Preventive Medicine*, vol. 54, no. 2, pp. 131–133, 2011.
- [37] J. E. Fulton, C. R. Burgeson, G. R. Perry et al., "Assessment of physical activity and sedentary behavior in preschool-age children: priorities for research," *Pediatric Exercise Science*, vol. 13, no. 2, pp. 113–128, 2001.
- [38] J. D. Irwin, M. He, L. M. S. Bouck, P. Tucker, and G. L. Pollett, "Preschoolers' physical activity behaviours: parent's perspectives," *Canadian Journal of Public Health*, vol. 96, no. 4, pp. 299– 303, 2005.
- [39] M. He, J. D. Irwin, L. M. Sangster Bouck, P. Tucker, and G. L. Pollett, "Screen-viewing behaviors among preschoolers parents' perceptions," *The American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, vol. 29, no. 2, pp. 120–125, 2005.
- [40] J. F. Sallis, P. R. Nader, S. L. Broyles et al., "Correlates of physical activity at home in Mexican-American and Anglo-American preschool children," *Health Psychology*, vol. 12, no. 5, pp. 390– 398, 1993.
- [41] A. C. Lindsay, M. L. Greaney, K. M. Sussner, M. E. Pfeiffer, and K. E. Peterson, "Socio-cultural, organizational, and community level influences on physical activity levels of Latino preschoolage children: a qualitative study," *International Journal of Child Health and Nutrition*, vol. 3, pp. 27–40, 2014.

Research Article

Birth Weight, Current Anthropometric Markers, and High Sensitivity C-Reactive Protein in Brazilian School Children

Camile Boscaini¹ and Lucia Campos Pellanda^{1,2,3}

¹Post-Graduation Program in Health Sciences—Cardiology, Instituto de Cardiologia/Fundação Universitária de Cardiologia, Porto Alegre, RS, Brazil

²Federal University of Health Sciences of Porto Alegre, Porto Alegre, RS, Brazil

³Research Unit, Avenida Princesa Isabel 370, Santana, 90620-000 Porto Alegre, RS, Brazil

Correspondence should be addressed to Lucia Campos Pellanda; lupellanda@gmail.com

Received 23 July 2014; Accepted 3 November 2014

Academic Editor: Gengsheng He

Copyright © 2015 C. Boscaini and L. C. Pellanda. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Studies have shown associations of birth weight with increased concentrations of high sensitivity C-reactive protein. This study assessed the relationship between birth weight, anthropometric and metabolic parameters during childhood, and high sensitivity C-reactive protein. A total of 612 Brazilian school children aged 5–13 years were included in the study. High sensitivity C-reactive protein was measured by particle-enhanced immunonephelometry. Nutritional status was assessed by body mass index, waist circumference, and skinfolds. Total cholesterol and fractions, triglycerides, and glucose were measured by enzymatic methods. Insulin sensitivity was determined by the homeostasis model assessment method. Statistical analysis included chi-square test, General Linear Model, and General Linear Model for Gamma Distribution. Body mass index, waist circumference, and skinfolds were directly associated with birth weight (P < 0.001, P = 0.001, and P = 0.015, resp.). Large for gestational age children showed higher high sensitivity C-reactive protein levels (P < 0.001) than small for gestational age. High birth weight is associated with higher levels of high sensitivity C-reactive protein, body mass index, waist circumference, and skinfolds. Large for gestational age altered high sensitivity C-reactive protein and promoted additional risk factor for atherosclerosis in these school children, independent of current nutritional status.

1. Introduction

Environmental factors acting early in life influence the risk of developing adult cardiovascular disease (CVD). Birth weight and/or infant weight and accelerated weight gain during childhood are associated with an increased risk of these disorders [1]. Recent research has focused on the role of chronic, low-grade inflammatory processes in the pathophys-iology of a wide range of chronic degenerative diseases [2, 3]. In particular, elevated concentrations of C-reactive protein (CRP) have been consistently associated with increased risk for cardiovascular disease [4]. Serum CRP levels were a long-term predictor of risk of cardiovascular and noncardiovascular mortality independent of traditional risk factors or other inflammatory markers, such as fibrinogen and leukocyte count [5].

Thus, both high sensitivity C-reactive protein (hs-CRP) and low birth weight have emerged as predictors of CVDs, but the relationship between these two variables is still unclear. Thinness at birth or during infancy and accelerated body mass index (BMI) gain during childhood/adolescence are associated with a proinflammatory/prothrombotic state in adult life. An altered inflammatory state could be one link between small newborn/infant size and adult cardiovascular disease [6].

Study has shown that low birth weight is associated with higher concentrations of hs-CRP in adults [6], but studies in children failed to demonstrate this association. Considering that metabolic changes associated with hs-CRP concentrations increase from childhood to adulthood, cumulative effects along the life course may explain these differences [7]. Therefore, the objective of this study was to further investigate the relationship between hs-CRP and birth weight and other risk factors (obesity, dyslipidemia) for cardiovascular disease in school children in southern Brazil.

2. Patients and Methods

2.1. Design and Location of Study. We conducted a population-based cross-sectional study in the city of Garibaldi, south Brazil. The city has currently 30,165 inhabitants and 21 elementary public schools with a total of 1,464 students 5–10 years old. Data was collected between 2011 and 2012, after approval of the Research Ethics Committee of the Institute of Cardiology of RS. All parents signed an informed consent and all children agreed to participate.

2.2. Population. Sample size was determined according to the study by Rondó et al. (2013) [7], which identified altered hs-CRP levels in 27.7% of Brazilian children aged 5 to 8 years. Considering the total number of students, cluster sampling (clusters = schools), a 95% confidence level, and a 5% error margin, it would be necessary to study 481 children. Exclusion factors were use of medications that could interfere with laboratories results, current infectious diseases or fever, and history.

2.3. Current Anthropometric Parameters. Anthropometric measurements were repeated three times, nonconsecutively, and mean values were used in the analyses. Participants should be barefoot and wearing light clothes (shorts for boys and shorts and t-shirts for girls). Weight was measured using a digital scale (Techline) with a variation of 100 g. For height measurements, children stood in vertical position, with feet parallel and with the heels, shoulders, and buttocks touching the wall, and a stadiometer with accuracy of 0.1 cm was used.

BMI, determined as weight in kilograms divided by height in meters squared, was used to assess the nutritional status, based on the BMI-for-age standards determined by the World Health Organization (WHO) [8] and values \geq +1 were considered overweight [8].

For measurement of the waist circumference (WC), children were placed in standing position, with the abdomen relaxed and arms along the body. The measuring tape was positioned around the natural waist line, in the narrower region between the thorax and the pelvis, at the midpoint between the last rib and the iliac crest, with a firm but not compressive force. The measurement was made at the time of expiration [9]. Body composition was assessed through the sum of the tricipital and subscapular skinfolds.

All measures were performed by a registered dietitian (CB) and two previously trained undergraduate nutrition students.

2.4. Data Related to Child Birth. Parents or caretakers were asked to bring birth registrations on the day of the scheduled interview, for collection of information on birth weight and gestational age at birth. Birth weight was categorized as proposed by the WHO [8], with the following cut-off points:

low weight (<2,500 g), insufficient weight (2,500-3,000 g), and adequate weight (3,000-4,000 g).

Birth weight according to gestational age was classified according to the curve developed by Lubchenco et al. (1963) [10]: small for gestational age (SGA) when below the 10th percentile, appropriate for gestational age (AGA) when between the 10th and 90th percentile, and large for gestational age (LGA) when above the 90th percentile.

2.5. Biochemical Parameters. Blood was collected according to the protocol provided by the Brazilian Society of Cardiology [11] and was conducted by a biochemist, during the morning and after the appropriate fasting period (8-12 hs). All children were necessarily accompanied by parents or guardians. About 6 mL of blood were collected by venipuncture in the cubital fossa, using disposable material. The blood samples were stored at -20°C in heparinized vacutainer tubes. Serum levels of total cholesterol (CT), triglycerides (TG), and glucose were determined with an automated enzymatic method. An automated homogeneous assay was used for determination of high density lipoprotein (HDLc) levels, and insulin was evaluated by chemiluminescence. The low density lipoprotein (LDL-c) level was calculated by the Friedewald formula [12]. hs-C-reactive protein levels were studied by nephelometric high-sensitivity assay. The homeostasis model assessment method for insulin resistance (HOMA-IR) was used for the evaluation of insulin resistance, by multiplying the glycemic index (mmol/L) by the insulin index (μ UI/mL), both measured in fasting, and dividing by 22.5 [13].

2.6. Statistical Analyses. The statistical analyses were performed with the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS), version 21.0. The chi-square test was used for categorical variables. All data sets were tested for normality with Kolmogorov Smirnov Test. Variables with normal distribution were analyzed with one-way ANOVA, and asymmetric variables were analyzed with Mann-Whitney test. For regression analyses with control of confounding factors, linear models were used for data with normal distribution, and linear models with gamma distribution were used for asymmetric variables. The best adjusted model between all anthropometric variables was verified by the Akaike information criteria. Statistical significance was set at alpha <0.05.

3. Results

A total of 612 school children were evaluated. Of those, 572 presented complete data and were included in this study. Mean age of the participants was 8.6 (\pm 1.46) years, and 51.5% were male. Analysis of maternal age at birth showed that 16.7% of the school children were born to teenage mothers, and 86.1% were Caucasian.

The prevalence of school children with very low and low birth weight was 7.7% and 5.6%, respectively, and 86.8% had adequate birth weight. The frequency of school children born SGA was 2,1%, AGA 79.6% and LGA was 18.2%.

A higher proportion of boys than girls (23.7% versus 12.5%) had LGA (P < 0.001). The maternal age and ethnicity

Journal of Obesity

	Te	otal	SG.	A birth	AGA	A birth	LG	A birth	P value
	п	%	п	%	п	%	п	%	1 vulue
Maternal age at child birth									
<20 years	101	16.7	2	2.2	71	78.0	18	19.8	0.02
≥20 years	505	83.3	10	2.2	371	79.8	84	18.1	0.92
Ethnicity									
Other ethnicities	85	13.9	0	0.0	57	79.2	15	20.8	0.35
White	527	86.1	12	2.5	388	79.7	87	17.9	0.55
Gender									
Male	315	51.5	4	1.4	215	74.9	68	23.7	<0.001
Female	297	48.5	8	2.9	230	84.6	34	12.5	<0.001

TABLE 1: Birth weight, materna	l characteristics, and	gender in Brazilian	school children	(n = 612), 2013.

SGA: small for gestational age.

AGA: appropriate for gestational age.

LGA: large for gestational age.

TABLE 2: Association between birth weight and anthropometric markers, lipid profile, glucose, HOMA-IR index, and hs-CRP in Brazilian school children (n = 612), 2013.

		SGA b	oirth		AGA b	irth		LGA b	irth	D volue
	п	Mean	SD	п	Mean	SD	п	Mean	SD	1 value
Anthropometric parameters										
Body mass index (z-score)	12	-0.6	1.3	444	0.5	1.4	102	0.8	1.3	<0.001
Waist circumference (cm)	12	55.8	5.3	441	60.3	8.2	101	63.6	10.5	<0.001
Skinfolds (mm)	12	15.3 ^a	8.2	444	19.7	11.0	101	20.1	11.9	0.02 ^a
Blood parameters										
Total cholesterol (mg/dL)	12	161.2	31.4	438	167.0	27.2	100	167.5	24.7	0.82
HDL-cholesterol (mg/dL)	12	51.3	14.2	436	50.3	10.3	101	50.6	10.9	0.97
Triglycerides (mg/dL)	12	109.4	35.7	437	98.4	33.8	101	94.6	28.3	0.26
LDL-cholesterol (mg/dL)	12	88.0	25.0	435	97.2	24.6	100	97.6	23.0	0.59
Glycemia (mg/dL)	12	82.2	6.5	438	82.3	7.8	101	83.0	6.5	0.73
HOMA-IR	12	1.15 ^b	0.8–1.5 ^c	438	1.0^{b}	0.6–1.5 ^c	101	0.98 ^b	0.7 – 1.4 ^c	0.03 ^a
Insulin (μ /dL)	12	5.4 ^b	4.5–7.1 ^c	438	5.0 ^b	3.2–7.2 ^c	101	4.7 ^b	3.4–6.7 ^c	0.02 ^a
hs-CRP (mg/dL)	12	0.01^{b}	0.01-0.02 ^c	438	0.01^{b}	0.01–0.06 ^c	101	0.0^{b}	0.01–0.09 ^c	< 0.001 ^a

^aNonparametric test—General Linear Model—Gamma distribution.

^cP25–75.

SGA: small for gestational age.

AGA: appropriate for gestational age.

LGA: large for gestational age.

HDL: high density lipoprotein.

LDL: low density lipoprotein.

HOMA-IR: homeostasis model assessment method for insulin resistance. hs-CRP: high sensitivity c reactive protein.

did not differ significantly with the hs-CRP (Table 1). The BMI showed higher values of z-score in school children with LGA (P < 0.001). The same was observed for the waist circumference and skinfolds (P < 0.001 and P = 0.02, resp.) (Table 2).

School children with LGA showed higher values of hs-CRP, HOMA-IR, and insulin, in comparison with SGA (P < 0.001, P = 0.03, and P = 0.02, resp.). Other biochemical parameters analyzed showed no statistically significant differences (Table 2).

The association between birth weight and the three anthropometric markers analysed, BMI, WC, and skinfolds,

remained statistically significant in the regression model analysis (P < 0.001, P = 0.001, and P = 0.015, resp.). The association between hs-CRP levels and LGA was also present after adjusting for gender, body mass index, waist circumference, and skinfolds (P < 0.001) (Table 3).

4. Discussion

The results observed in the evaluation of school children in southern Brazil showed that high birth weight is associated with higher levels of high sensitivity C-reactive protein, body mass index, waist circumference, and skinfolds.

^bMedian.

		SGA birt	h		AGA birth	l		LGA birth		Dyrahua
	п	Mean	SEM	п	Mean	SEM	п	Mean	SEM	r value
Anthropometric parameters ^a										
Body mass index (z-score)	12	-0.65	0.39	444	0.53	0.06	102	0.88	0.14	<0.001 ^c
Waist circumference (cm)	12	56.0	2.5	441	60.3	0.41	101	63.4	0.86	0.001 ^c
Skinfolds (mm)	12	14.6	3.4	444	19.7	0.55	101	22.7	1.17	0.002^{d}
Blood parameters ^b										
Total cholesterol (mg/dL)	12	162.7	7.7	438	166.6	1.3	100	167.2	2.7	0.85 ^c
HDL-cholesterol (mg/dL)	12	51.6	3.0	436	50.3	0.5	101	50.4	1.0	0.92 ^c
Triglycerides (mg/dL)	12	112.1	8.8	437	98.4	1.4	101	93.7	3.0	0.10 ^c
LDL-cholesterol (mg/dL)	12	88.7	6.9	435	96.8	1.15	100	97.9	2.4	0.45 ^c
Glycemia (mg/dL)	12	82.6	2.2	438	83.1	0.4	101	82.4	0.8	0.72 ^c
HOMA-IR	12	1.5	0.25	438	1.13	0.03	101	1.12	0.06	0.18 ^d
Insulin (μ /dL)	12	7.5	1.18	438	5.4	0.14	101	5.5	0.31	0.14 ^d
hs-CRP (mg/dL)	12	0.02	0.01	438	0.12	0.01	101	0.15	0.02	< 0.001 ^d

TABLE 3: Adjusted association between birth weight and anthropometric markers, lipid profile, glucose, HOMA-IR index, and hs-CRP in Brazilian school children (n = 612), 2013.

^aAdjusted for gender.

^bAdjusted for gender, body mass index, waist circumference, and skinfolds.

^cGeneral Linear Model—Normal Distribution.

^dNonparametric test—General Linear Model—Gamma distribution.

SEM: Standard Error Mean.

SGA: small for gestational age.

AGA: appropriate for gestational age.

LGA: large for gestational age.

HDL: high density lipoprotein.

LDL: low density lipoprotein.

HOMA-IR: homeostasis model assessment method for insulin resistance.

hs-CRP: high sensitivity c reactive protein.

The prevalence of school children born with LGA was 18.2%, and the prevalence of school children born SGA was 2.1%. Scientific evidences around the world have shown concern with the increasing prevalence of low birth weight, which has been associated with several health complications. However, the present study highlights that high birth weight may also be related to several complications shown by anthropometric, metabolic, inflammatory, and biochemical results, thus contributing to the early development of the cardiovascular risk factors in school children. This represents a new association between birth weight and early outcomes associated with overweight, dyslipidemia, and metabolic and inflammatory changes. Singhal et al. [14] showed that high birth weight, determined by the increase of one standard deviation in the BMI, results in higher values of this anthropometric indicator in adolescence. High birth weight and rapid weight gain in the first 3 months of life contribute to elevating the BMI at 2 years of age, demonstrating the early interaction between high birth weight and childhood overweight [15].

However, the association between birth weight and BMI contradicts considerable evidence that a high birth weight programs less susceptibility rather than greater susceptibility to cardiovascular disease (CVD) risk factors [16, 17]. Previous studies have shown that babies who are born small and then show rapid catch-up growth have in a recent systematic review been shown to be more obese in later life [18]. Some authors consider that catch-up growth in the first few weeks of

postnatal life is particularly disadvantageous [19, 20] whereas others suggest that low birth weight children who grow excessively in later childhood are also particularly at risk of later obesity [21]. The prevalence of low birth weight found in our study was similar to that mentioned in national data released by the United Nations [22]. The study "Prematurity and its possible causes" investigated data on low weight of more than 6,000 Brazilian children, concluding that the incidence of about 8% of low birth weight in total births has remained stable since 2000. However, a recent study on children born in 2013 in China showed a prevalence of 1.7% of low birth weight [15]. Ethnic differences, or age of the mother, may have influence on the different prevalence of cases of low birth weight in different countries. In Brazil, low birth weight is more frequent in black mothers (9.4%), followed by white (8.3%) and mulatto mothers (8.2%). The lowest rates were found between Asian and indigenous women: 7.6% and 7.7%, respectively [23]. In the present work, no significant relationship was observed between maternal age or ethnicity and birth weight classification according to gestational age. However, a higher proportion of boys than girls had LGA. In a recent study, no statistically significant difference was observed between the birth weight of boys and girls [15]. It should be noted that the method used for classification of birth weight considered only this variable, whereas in the present study the variable weight at birth was determined according to gestational age, classifying individuals by percentiles.

The analysis of birth weight and metabolic indicators showed higher values of glycaemia, insulin, and HOMA-IR in the children with LGA, but this association was not significant when BMI was considered a controlling factor. Factors related to obesity, such as the accumulation of abdominal fat and hyperinsulinemia, are also associated with the thrombogenic and inflammatory profile. Atherogenic, thrombogenic, and inflammatory metabolic changes contribute to a higher risk of coronary heart disease in obese children and adolescents, with accumulation of fat in the abdominal area [23]. It is known that overweight is an important cause of altered levels of insulin, blood sugar, and consequently HOMA-IR. Genetically determined insulin resistance could result in impaired insulin-mediated growth of fetal muscle, and the continuation of this pattern of body composition would lead to less muscle mass later in life [24].

High levels of inflammatory markers such as IL-6, tumor necrosis factor, and CRP are related to general and abdominal obesity. Children with overweight and obesity have higher concentrations of serum CRP, which supports the hypothesis of a relationship between childhood obesity and the presence of systemic inflammatory substances [25]. Inflammation has been understood to be a key pathogenic mechanism in the initiation and progression of cardiovascular disease (CVD) [26] and great attention has been given to inflammatory markers for their ability to predict CVD risk [3].

Our results showed that levels of hs-CRP in school children at school age are significantly higher in cases of LGA. However, in a cohort study [27], an inverse relationship between CRP and BMI values was found at 2, 11, and 21 years of age. Similarly, no statistically significant association between birth weight and hs-CRP was observed in a study in Brazil with children of 5–8 years of age [28].

Thinness at birth and/or in infancy is associated with higher fibrinogen, hs-CRP in adulthood. Both in-utero influences and greater adiposity due to BMI gain in childhood/adolescence could be implicated consolidating the need to prevent excessive BMI gain in childhood [6].

All anthropometric markers measured in this study (BMI, WC, and skinfolds) were increased in the participants who were LGA when compared to SGA. Similar results were found in the study of Rondó et al. [28], who described a positive association between WC and elevation of hs-CRP levels. Thomas et al. [29] observed a relationship between fatness and higher values of CRP, suggesting that a reduction of body fat can decrease the levels of CRP and thus prevent future cardiovascular events.

Infancy is understood as a critical period for the development of obesity for many reasons, but primarily because infants are experiencing food transitions, establishment of eating habits, and, too often, the early development of excess adiposity. Recently, more evidence has become available regarding the associations of early weight status and rapid growth with obesity and related problems in later life [30, 31]. For instance, Harrington's study showed that more than half of the overweight children aged 2 to 20 years became overweight before the age of two [31].

Body measures, specifically in the pediatric phase, change according to growth and development. The evaluation of

the normality of these measures becomes complex but represents an important tool for evaluating the growth and nutritional status of children and adolescents. In this age group, nutritional changes usually reflect on growth, so that anthropometric parameters are important indicators for the assessment of nutritional status [32].

5. Conclusions

High birth weight and/or in infancy is associated with higher levels of high sensitivity C-reactive protein, BMI, WC, and skinfolds. Large for gestational age altered high sensitivity C-reactive protein and promoted additional risk factor for atherosclerosis in these school children, independent of current nutritional status.

Conflict of Interests

No potential conflict of interests relevant to this article was reported.

References

- C. Osmond, D. J. P. Barker, P. D. Winter, C. H. D. Fall, and S. J. Simmonds, "Early growth and death from cardiovascular disease in women," *British Medical Journal*, vol. 307, no. 6918, pp. 1519–1524, 1993.
- [2] P. Libby, P. M. Ridker, and A. Maseri, "Inflammation and atherosclerosis," *Circulation*, vol. 105, no. 9, pp. 1135–1143, 2002.
- [3] T. A. Pearson, G. A. Mensah, R. W. Alexander et al., "Markers of inflammation and cardiovascular disease: application to clinical and public health practice: a statement for healthcare professionals from the centers for disease control and prevention and the American Heart Association," *Circulation*, vol. 107, no. 3, pp. 499–511, 2003.
- [4] P. M. Ridker, J. E. Buring, J. Shih, M. Matias, and C. H. Hennekens, "Prospective study of C-reactive protein and the risk of future cardiovascular events among apparently healthy women," *Circulation*, vol. 98, no. 8, pp. 731–733, 1998.
- [5] S. Ahmadi-Abhari, R. N. Luben, N. J. Wareham, and K.-T. Khaw, "Seventeen year risk of all-cause and cause-specific mortality associated with C-reactive protein, fibrinogen and leukocyte count in men and women: the EPIC-Norfolk study," *European Journal of Epidemiology*, vol. 28, no. 7, pp. 541–550, 2013.
- [6] R. Lakshmy, C. H. D. Fall, H. S. Sachdev et al., "Childhood body mass index and adult pro-inflammatory and pro-thrombotic risk factors: Data from the New Delhi birth cohort," *International Journal of Epidemiology*, vol. 40, no. 1, pp. 102–111, 2011.
- [7] P. H. Rondó, J. A. Pereira, and J. O. Lemos, "High sensitivity Creactive protein concentrations, birthweight and cardiovascular risk markers in Brazilian children," *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, vol. 67, no. 6, pp. 664–669, 2013.
- [8] World Health Organization, Growth Reference Data for 5–19 Years, WHO Reference, 2007, http://www.who.int/growthref/ en/.
- [9] C. W. Callaway, W. C. Chumlea, C. Bouhcard et al., "Circumferences," in *Anthropometric Standardization Reference Manual*, T. G. Lohman, A. F. Roche, and R. Martorell, Eds., Human Kinetics, New York, NY, USA, 1988.
- [10] L. O. Lubchenco, C. Hansma, M. Dressler, and E. Boud, "Intrauterine growth as estimated from liveborn birth weight

data at 24 to 42 weeks of gestation," *Pediatrics*, vol. 32, pp. 793-800, 1963.

- [11] C. Back Giuliano Ide, B. Caramelli, L. Pellanda et al., "I Diretriz de Prevenção da Aterosclerose na Infância e na Adolescência," *Arquivos Brasileiros De Cardiologia*, vol. 85, supplement 6, pp. 4–36, 2005.
- [12] W. T. Friedewald, R. I. Levy, and D. S. Fredrickson, "Estimation of the concentration of low-density lipoprotein cholesterol in plasma, without use of the preparative ultracentrifuge," *Clinical Chemistry*, vol. 18, no. 6, pp. 499–502, 1972.
- [13] D. R. Matthews, J. P. Hosker, A. S. Rudenski, B. A. Naylor, D. F. Treacher, and R. C. Turner, "Homeostasis model assessment: insulin resistance and β -cell function from fasting plasma glucose and insulin concentrations in man," *Diabetologia*, vol. 28, no. 7, pp. 412–419, 1985.
- [14] A. Singhal, J. Wells, T. J. Cole, M. Fewtrell, and A. Lucas, "Programming of lean body mass: a link between birth weight, obesity, and cardiovascular disease?" *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, vol. 77, no. 3, pp. 726–730, 2003.
- [15] J. Zhang, J. H. Himes, Y. Guo et al., "Birth weight, growth and feeding pattern in early infancy predict overweight/obesity status at two years of age: a birth cohort study of Chinese infants," *PLoS ONE*, vol. 8, no. 6, Article ID e64542, 2013.
- [16] D. J. P. Barker, P. D. Gluckman, K. M. Godfrey, J. E. Harding, J. A. Owens, and J. S. Robinson, "Fetal nutrition and cardiovascular disease in adult life," *The Lancet*, vol. 341, no. 8850, pp. 938–941, 1993.
- [17] D. J. P. Barker, "Fetal origins of coronary heart disease," British Medical Journal, vol. 311, no. 6998, pp. 171–174, 1995.
- [18] K. K. Ong, "Size at birth, postnatal growth and risk of obesity," *Hormone Research*, vol. 65, no. 3, pp. 65–69, 2006.
- [19] N. Stettler, S. K. Kumanyika, S. H. Katz, B. S. Zemel, and V. A. Stallings, "Rapid weight gain during infancy and obesity in young adulthood in a cohort of African Americans," *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, vol. 77, no. 6, pp. 1374– 1378, 2003.
- [20] N. Stettler, V. A. Stallings, A. B. Troxel et al., "Weight gain in the first week of life and overweight in adulthood: a cohort study of European American subjects fed infant formula," *Circulation*, vol. 111, no. 15, pp. 1897–1903, 2005.
- [21] K. K. L. Ong, M. L. Ahmed, D. B. Dunger, P. M. Emmett, and M. A. Preece, "Association between postnatal catch-up growth and obesity in childhood: prospective cohort study," *British Medical Journal*, vol. 320, no. 7240, pp. 967–971, 2000.
- [22] Organização das Nações Unidas—ONU, Com apoio do UNICEF, estudo faz alerta sobre nascimento de bebês prematuros no Brasil, Ago, 2013, http://www.unicef.org/brazil/.
- [23] C. L. Oliveira, M. T. Mello, I. P. Cintra, and M. Fisberg, "Obesidade e síndrome metabólica na infância e adolescência," *Revista de Nutrição*, vol. 17, pp. 237–245, 2004.
- [24] A. T. Hattersley and J. E. Tooke, "The fetal insulin hypothesis: an alternative explanation of the association of low birthweight with diabetes and vascular disease," *The Lancet*, vol. 353, no. 9166, pp. 1789–1792, 1999.
- [25] J. Choi, L. Joseph, and L. Pilote, "Obesity and C-reactive protein in various populations: a systematic review and meta-analysis," *Obesity Reviews*, vol. 14, no. 3, pp. 232–244, 2013.
- [26] P. Libby, P. M. Ridker, and G. K. Hansson, "Inflammation in atherosclerosis: from pathophysiology to practice," *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, vol. 54, no. 23, pp. 2129– 2138, 2009.

- [27] R. Lakshmy, C. H. D. Fall, H. S. Sachdev et al., "Childhood body mass index and adult pro-inflammatory and pro-thrombotic risk factors: data from the New Delhi birth cohort," *International Journal of Epidemiology*, vol. 40, no. 1, pp. 102–111, 2011.
- [28] P. H. Rondó, J. A. Pereira, and J. O. Lemos, "High sensitivity Creactive protein concentrations, birthweight and cardiovascular risk markers in Brazilian children," *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, vol. 67, no. 6, pp. 664–669, 2013.
- [29] N.-E. Thomas, J. S. Baker, M. R. Graham, S.-M. Cooper, and B. Davies, "C-reactive protein in schoolchildren and its relation to adiposity, physical activity, aerobic fitness and habitual diet," *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, vol. 42, no. 5, pp. 357–360, 2008.
- [30] M. L. A. de Kroon, C. M. Renders, J. P. van Wouwe, S. van Buuren, and R. A. Hirasing, "The Terneuzen birth cohort: BMI changes between 2 and 6 years correlate strongest with adult overweight," *PLoS ONE*, vol. 5, no. 2, Article ID e9155, 2010.
- [31] J. W. Harrington, V. Q. Nguyen, J. F. Paulson, R. Garland, L. Pasquinelli, and D. Lewis, "Identifying the "tipping point" age for overweight pediatric patients," *Clinical Pediatrics*, vol. 49, no. 7, pp. 638–643, 2010.
- [32] Sociedade Brasileira de Pediatria and Departamento Científico de Nutrologia, Avaliação Nutricional da Criança e do Adolescente. Manual de Orientação, SBP, São Paulo, Brazil, 2009, http://www.sbp.com.br/pdfs/MANUAL-AVAL-NUTR2009 .pdf.

Research Article

Prenatal Stress due to a Natural Disaster Predicts Adiposity in Childhood: The Iowa Flood Study

Kelsey N. Dancause,¹ David P. Laplante,² Kimberly J. Hart,³ Michael W. O'Hara,⁴ Guillaume Elgbeili,² Alain Brunet,^{2,5} and Suzanne King^{2,5}

¹Université du Québec à Montréal (UQAM), Montreal, QC, Canada H2X 1Y4
 ²Douglas Hospital Research Centre, Montreal, QC, Canada H4H 1R3
 ³University of Illinois at Chicago, Chicago, IL 60607, USA
 ⁴University of Iowa, Iowa City, IA 52242, USA
 ⁵McGill University, Montreal, QC, Canada H3A 0G4

Correspondence should be addressed to Suzanne King; suzanne.king@mcgill.ca

Received 28 July 2014; Revised 27 November 2014; Accepted 11 December 2014

Academic Editor: Li Ming Wen

Copyright © 2015 Kelsey N. Dancause et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Prenatal stress can affect lifelong physical growth, including increased obesity risk. However, human studies remain limited. Natural disasters provide models of independent stressors unrelated to confounding maternal characteristics. We assessed degree of objective hardship and subjective distress in women pregnant during severe flooding. At ages 2.5 and 4 years we assessed body mass index (BMI), subscapular plus triceps skinfolds (SS + TR, an index of total adiposity), and SS : TR ratio (an index of central adiposity) in their children (n = 106). Hierarchical regressions controlled first for several potential confounds. Controlling for these, flood exposure during early gestation predicted greater BMI increase from age 2.5 to 4, as well as total adiposity at 2.5. Greater maternal hardship and distress due to the floods, as well as other nonflood life events during pregnancy, independently predicted greater increase in total adiposity between 2.5 and 4 years. These results support the hypothesis that prenatal stress increases adiposity beginning in childhood and suggest that early gestation is a sensitive period. Results further highlight the additive effects of maternal objective and subjective stress, life events, and depression, emphasizing the importance of continued studies on multiple, detailed measures of maternal mental health and experience in pregnancy and child growth.

1. Introduction

Researchers and public health officials have long recognized the role of maternal health during pregnancy in shaping the health of the infant. In the last three decades, research in the developmental origins of health and disease has highlighted effects extending well beyond infancy [1, 2]. Children whose mothers had poor nutrition during pregnancy are more likely to be born small and have greater risk for obesity and diabetes, particularly if they have rapid growth in the first weeks [3] or months [4, 5] of life. In addition to the prenatal nutritional environment, prenatal stress is increasingly recognized to contribute to cardiometabolic disease risk [6], including later obesity [7] and features of diabetes [8, 9]. This likely reflects effects of maternal stress hormones which, at high levels, can cross the placental barrier and affect fetal development [10], as well as epigenetic changes in the placenta and fetus [11– 13]. In addition to adverse effects on fetal growth, which is an independent risk factor for obesity [14], maternal stress might influence long-term metabolic outcomes through effects on the developing hypothalamic pituitary adrenal axis [12, 15] or on metabolism at the cellular level [16] and thereby increase obesity risk independent of effects on birth weight [17].

Despite this growing body of evidence, studies of the effects of prenatal stress on physical growth in humans remain limited. Danish National Register studies indicated that bereavement due to death of a close relative during or shortly before pregnancy was associated with increased risk of overweight among the women's children from ages 10 to 13 years [18] and in early adulthood [19]. Similarly, results

from Project Viva, a prospective cohort study of pregnant women and their children, indicated smaller body size but greater central adiposity at age 3 years in association with antenatal depression [20] and with 2nd trimester maternal corticotropin-releasing hormone (CRH), which provides a marker of fetal glucocorticoid exposure [21]. However, a Danish National Birth Cohort study examining a combined measure of maternal distress in pregnancy, reflecting selfreported anxious, depressive, or stress symptoms, showed no associations with offspring overweight at age 7 [22]. These results highlight some of the difficulties of designing human studies of prenatal stress: effects might differ for stress, anxiety, depression, or hormonal markers of stress. Furthermore, anxiety, depression, and bereavement might be associated with one another and with other maternal characteristics that can influence child development. Finally, the effects of prenatal stress on later growth and development depend on the timing of exposure during gestation [23, 24], but many human studies are not able to evaluate the timing of the stressor with accuracy. Thus, we need more studies examining the effects of independent stressors during pregnancy on body composition in children.

Natural disasters provide excellent opportunities to examine the effects of prenatal stress on childhood outcomes because the stressors are independent of potentially confounding genetic and medical risk factors and are relatively randomly distributed with regard to household and maternal characteristics. Furthermore, because the dates of the events are clearly known, we can identify the timing of stress exposure during pregnancy [25]. Our first prospective longitudinal study of prenatal stress due to a natural disaster, Project Ice Storm, has followed the development of children whose mothers were pregnant during a severe ice storm in 1998. Exposure to the ice storm was associated with shorter length at birth [26] and with measures of physical growth later in childhood. Greater objective hardship due to the storm predicted greater body mass index (BMI) and increased risk of obesity at age 5.5 [27], as well as insulin secretion and BMI in adolescence [28]. However, this study left unanswered questions about the effects of prenatal stress on physical growth in early childhood.

In June 2008, an opportunity to replicate Project Ice Storm arose when the U.S. Midwest experienced its worst flooding in more than 50 years. We recruited women exposed to the floods during pregnancy, assessed their stress levels soon after the floods, and collected anthropometric measurements among their children at ages 2.5 and 4 years. We examined relationships between timing and severity of flood exposure and these body composition measurements.

2. Materials and Methods

All phases of this study were approved by the University of Iowa Institutional Review Board.

2.1. Participants. Immediately following the start of the flooding, we recontacted women enrolled in an existing study of maternal characteristics and pregnancy outcomes

at the University of Iowa [29], who had initially been recruited at <20 weeks of gestation from the University of Iowa Hospitals and Clinics. We recruited additional women from three severely flood-affected counties (Linn, Johnson, and Blackhawk). All women were of age 18 or older and English speaking. Of 323 women approached, 268 provided information concerning the flood; 217 were pregnant at the time of the floods.

Families were invited to participate in assessments of children's behavioral, cognitive, and physical outcomes when children were 2.5 and 4 years of age. At age 2.5, 131 families participated in assessments: 27 completed only postal questionnaires and 104 completed face-to-face assessments, when anthropometric measurements were collected. At age 4, 105 families participated in assessments: 24 completed only postal questionnaires and 81 completed face-to-face assessments.

Anthropometric data were missing for some participants, leaving a final sample of 106 women who were exposed to the floods in the 3rd (n = 34), 2nd (n = 41), or 1st (n = 31) trimester and their children (58 boys, 48 girls) who participated in the assessments at age 2.5 only (n = 29), age 4 only (n = 7), or both ages (n = 70).

2.2. Assessments. Anthropometric measurements were collected following standard guidelines [30]. Standing height was measured without shoes to the nearest 0.1 cm and weight to the nearest 0.1 kg for mothers and children. Children's triceps and subscapular skinfolds were measured three times each on the right side of the body using Lange calipers, and the mean of the three measurements was used for analyses.

2.3. Control Variables. At recruitment in 2008, we collected demographic information; maternal medical and obstetric history; and information on smoking (number of cigarettes/day) and alcohol consumption (number of drinks/ week) during pregnancy, using telephone interviews and mail questionnaires. Socioeconomic status (SES) was determined based on parental education and occupation status using the Hollingshead Social Position Criteria [31]. Medical and obstetric history variables relevant to the tested outcomes were combined into an obstetric/fetal risk factor variable, which included history of kidney disease; hypertension; anemia; heart disease; seizures; diabetes; HIV; Rh negative status; asthma; sexually transmitted infections; abnormal blood clotting; thyroid disorders; vaginal, cervical, or urinary tract infections; endocrine disorders; abnormal pregnancy weight gain (<4 kg or >18 kg); preeclampsia; or abnormal bleeding during pregnancy.

Twelve months after the flood, we assessed stressful maternal life events (other than the flood) using the Life Experiences Survey (LES) [32], a self-report measure of life changes, such as death of a spouse or a work promotion. Women were instructed to indicate events occurring from the beginning of their 2008 pregnancy up to the present day. Mothers also completed the Inventory of Depression and Anxiety Symptoms (IDAS) [33], a self-report measure of depression and anxiety symptoms.

At the 2.5-year assessments, we collected data on breastfeeding patterns using semistructured interviews, during which women recalled the age and duration of exclusive, predominant, and mixed breastfeeding, as well as the age of introduction of other foods.

2.4. Flood-Related Variables

2.4.1. Objective Hardship. We assessed the severity of floodrelated events experienced by participants using a questionnaire that tapped into four categories used in other disaster studies: Threat, Loss, Scope, and Change [34]. Because each natural disaster presents unique experiences, questions must be tailor-made. Our scale included questions specific to the flood, such as days without electricity, damage to the home, and danger due to flood waters. Each dimension was scored on a scale of 0–25 ranging from no exposure to high exposure. A total score (IF100) was calculated by summing the four dimensions using McFarlane's approach [35]. A detailed presentation of the scale is presented elsewhere [36]. In the present sample, scores ranged from 0 to 50 out of a possible 100 points.

2.4.2. Subjective Distress. We assessed women's psychological reaction to the flood using the Impact of Event Scale-Revised (IES-R) [37]. This 22-item scale describes symptoms from 3 categories relevant to posttraumatic stress disorder: intrusions (thoughts and images), hyperarousal, and avoidance. Participants responded on a 5-point Likert scale, from "0-*Not at all*" to "4-*Extremely*," the extent to which each behavior described how they felt over the preceding 7 days. Items were written to reflect symptoms relative to the flood. The total score was used in analyses. In the present sample, scores ranged from 0 to 60 out of a possible 88 points.

2.4.3. Timing of Exposure. The timing of flood exposure during pregnancy was defined as the number of days between June 15, 2008—the peak of the floods—and the infant's due date. Third trimester exposure corresponds to due dates falling between 0 and 93 days following June 15th; 2nd trimester, 94–186 days; and 1st trimester, 187–279 days.

2.5. Outcome Variables. Outcome variables included sexand age-specific body mass index Z-scores based on Center for Disease Control (CDC) child growth standards [38]; subscapular and triceps skinfold sum (SS + TR), an index of total adiposity [39]; and subscapular to triceps skinfold ratio (SS : TR), an index of central adiposity [39].

2.6. Statistical Analyses. Objective hardship (IF100) and subjective distress (IES-R) scores were right-skewed and were thus log-transformed for analysis. In addition to child sex, eight covariates expected to be potentially related to child outcomes based on the literature reviews were included in analyses: birth weight (g), obstetric/fetal risk score, maternal BMI (measured during the 2.5-year assessments for analyses of child outcomes at age 2.5 and for the difference between ages 2.5 and 4 and measured during the 4-year assessments for analyses of child outcomes at age 4), smoking during pregnancy (per day), breastfeeding duration (months), SES, general depression, and number of life events.

We tested relationships between predictor and outcome variables using hierarchical linear regression. In a series of individual steps, we first entered child sex and control variables, followed by flood variables: exposure timing, objective hardship, and subjective distress. In a second set of models, for analyses of SS + TR and SS: TR, we included child BMI Z-score in the control variables, measured during the 2.5year assessments for analyses at age 2.5 and for the difference between ages 2.5 and 4 and measured during the 4-year assessments for analyses at age 4. Finally, in a third set of models, we entered interactions after the flood variables, including objective hardship*sex, subjective distress*sex, objective hardship*timing, subject distress*timing, and objective hardship*subjective distress. All tests used an a priori alpha level of 0.05 (two-sided tests). No measure was taken to correct for multiple testing, as analyses were considered exploratory. Analyses were conducted with SPSS 20.0.

3. Results

3.1. Sample Characteristics and Correlations. Table 1 presents correlations among all study variables as well as their means and standard deviations. Significant correlations suggested that greater objective hardship (IF100) predicted a greater increase in total adiposity between ages 2.5 and 4. Greater subjective maternal distress (IES-R) predicted greater total adiposity at both 2.5 and 4 years. Timing of the floods earlier in gestation predicted greater BMI at age 4, a greater increase in BMI between the two assessments, and greater total adiposity at ages 2.5 and 4 years. Several control variables were also significantly correlated with outcomes. There were no mean differences in predictor variables (flood variables or covariates) among participants who were measured at only age 2.5, only age 4, or both ages (data not shown).

3.2. Multiple Linear Regression Models. Results of regression analyses for each outcome variable are shown in Tables 2–4 and show the progression of variance explained (R^2) with each step.

3.3. Body Mass Index (BMI) Z-Scores (Table 2)

3.3.1. Age 2.5. At entry into the model, birth weight (P = 0.03) and maternal BMI (P = 0.01) predicted child BMI *Z*-scores. In the final model, larger birth weight (P = 0.03), fewer fetal risk factors (P = 0.01), and larger maternal BMI (P = 0.03) predicted greater BMI *Z*-scores. There were no effects of severity of objective hardship or subjective distress due to flood exposure nor of the timing of flood exposure.

3.3.2. Age 4. At entry into the model, fetal risk factors (P = 0.04) and maternal BMI (P < 0.01) predicted child BMI Z-scores. In the final model, fetal risk factors did not retain significance (P = 0.56). Larger maternal BMI (P < 0.01)

TABLE 1: Correlations among predictor and outcome variables and descriptive statistics.

1	L	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	Mean	SD	п
Predictors															
1 Obj. hardship 1	L (0.40^{**}	0.18	-0.05	-0.15	0.09	-0.01	0.09	-0.06	-0.09	0.18	0.22^{*}	1.8	0.8	106
2 Subj. distress 0.40	0**	1	0.00	0.10	-0.02	0.12	0.02	-0.01	-0.26^{*}	-0.21^{*}	0.30**	0.19	1.3	1.1	106
3 Timing 0.1	18	0.00	1	0.07	-0.02	0.04	-0.08	-0.10	0.10	0.02	-0.17	-0.01	140.5	78.0	106
4 Birth weight −0.	.05	0.10	0.07	1	-0.02	0.02	-0.08	-0.05	0.06	0.02	0.09	0.02	3531	469	106
5 Fetal risk -0.	.15	-0.02	-0.02	-0.02	1	0.57^{**}	0.53**	0.06	-0.25^{*}	-0.18	-0.11	0.13	0.6	0.9	106
6 Mat. BMI 2.5 0.0	09	0.12	0.04	0.02	0.57**	1	0.92**	0.00	-0.40^{**}	-0.19	0.06	0.26**	26.5	5.8	99
7 Mat. BMI 4 –0.	.01	0.02	-0.08	-0.08	0.53**	0.92**	1	0.09	-0.46^{**}	-0.20	0.02	0.27^{*}	27.3	7.3	75
8 Smoking 0.0	09	-0.01	-0.10	-0.05	0.06	0.00	0.09	1	0.01	-0.14	0.18	0.25^{*}	0.3	1.5	106
9 BF duration -0 .	.06 -	-0.26*	0.10	0.06	-0.25^{*}	-0.40^{**}	-0.46^{**}	0.01	1	0.26^{*}	-0.07	-0.03	8.2	7.0	98
10 SES -0.	.09 ·	-0.21*	0.02	0.02	-0.18	-0.19	-0.20	-0.14	0.26^{*}	1	-0.16	-0.26^{**}	53.3	9.8	106
Mat. gen. depr. 0.1	18 (0.30**	-0.17	0.09	-0.11	0.06	0.02	0.18	-0.07	-0.16	1	0.42**	33.2	8.2	106
Mat. life events 0.2	22*	0.19	-0.01	0.02	0.13	0.26**	0.27^{*}	0.25^{*}	-0.03	-0.26^{**}	0.42**	1	3.0	2.1	106
Child outcomes															
BMIZ 2.5 0.0	02	0.17	-0.05	0.24^{*}	-0.12	0.14	0.31*	0.03	-0.09	-0.09	0.08	-0.01	-0.03	1.00	98
BMIZ 4 -0.	.15	0.08	-0.24^{*}	0.16	0.20	0.45^{**}	0.51**	-0.03	-0.19	-0.12	0.07	0.14	0.40	1.09	77
BMIZ dif. 0.0	06	0.01	-0.28^{*}	-0.08	0.34^{**}	0.29^{*}	0.34**	0.29*	-0.10	-0.05	-0.03	0.16	0.38	0.85	69
SS + TR 2.5 0.0	09	0.10	-0.25^{*}	0.06	-0.12	0.05	0.22	-0.05	-0.10	0.13	0.09	-0.10	13.9	2.7	88
SS + TR 4 0.1	13	0.26^{*}	-0.26*	0.09	0.08	0.32^{*}	0.42^{**}	0.15	-0.24	-0.22	0.04	0.14	17.2	3.7	62
SS + TR dif. 0.38	8** (0.42**	-0.18	0.07	0.19	0.28^{*}	0.36*	0.67**	-0.11	-0.16	0.03	0.27	3.3	3.1	52
SS: TR 2.5 0.0	03	-0.06	0.00	0.00	-0.20	-0.04	-0.01	0.07	0.19	-0.07	-0.07	0.10	0.61	0.17	88
SS: TR 4 -0.	.11	0.03	-0.13	0.23	-0.08	-0.11	-0.11	0.03	0.15	0.00	0.23	-0.02	0.64	0.22	62
SS: TR dif0.	.04	0.18	-0.19	0.27	0.02	-0.13	-0.13	0.04	0.11	0.09	0.36**	-0.07	0.06	0.26	52

*P < 0.05; **P < 0.01. Abbreviations: Obj. hardship: objective hardship; Subj. distr.: subjective distress; Mat.: maternal; BMI: body mass index; BF duration: breastfeeding duration (months); SES: socioeconomic status; gen. depr.: general depression; BMIZ: body mass index *Z*-Score; Dif.: difference between values at age 2.5 and 4 years; SS: subscapular skinfold; TR: triceps skinfold.

predicted greater BMI Z-scores. There were no effects of the severity or timing of flood exposure.

controlling for child BMI Z-score at age 2.5 (full results not shown).

3.3.3. Difference between Ages 2.5 and 4. At entry into the model, fetal risk factors (P < 0.01) and maternal smoking (P = 0.04) predicted difference in BMI Z-scores. There were no effects of the severity of hardship or distress due to flood exposure. However, earlier timing of exposure (P = 0.04) predicted a greater increase in BMI Z-scores from age 2.5 to 4. In the final model, fetal risk factors (P = 0.09) and smoking (P = 0.08) did not retain significance, but earlier timing of flood exposure (P = 0.03) predicted a greater increase in BMI Z-scores from age 2.5 to 4.

3.4. Total Adiposity (SS + TR) (Table 3)

3.4.1. Age 2.5. There were no effects of covariates or of the severity of objective hardship or subjective distress due to the flood on total adiposity. However, at entry into the model (P = 0.04) and in the final model (P = 0.03), exposure timing predicted total adiposity at age 2.5: earlier timing of exposure predicted greater adiposity. The effects of exposure timing remained significant in the final model (P = 0.03) even when

3.4.2. Age 4. At entry into the model, maternal BMI (P < 0.01) and smoking (P < 0.01) predicted total adiposity. In the final model, fewer fetal risk factors (P = 0.01), larger maternal BMI (P < 0.01), and more smoking during pregnancy (P < 0.01) predicted greater adiposity. There were no effects of the severity or timing of flood exposure on total adiposity at age 4.

3.4.3. Difference between Ages 2.5 and 4. At entry into the model, smoking (P < 0.01) predicted the difference in total adiposity between ages 2.5 and 4. In addition, the severity of both objective hardship (P = 0.02) and subjective distress (P = 0.04) due to the floods predicted the difference in adiposity between ages 2.5 and 4. In the final model, more smoking during pregnancy (P < 0.01), a greater number of maternal life events (P = 0.04), greater objective hardship due to the flood (P = 0.03), and greater subjective distress due to the flood (P = 0.04) all predicted a greater increase in total adiposity. The effects of objective hardship and subjective distress remained significant (P = 0.03 and P = 0.04, resp.)

Journal of Obesity

TABLE 2: Summary of hierarchical linear regression analyses for body mass index (BMI). Significant effects are indicated in bold.

Due di ete u ere ui elel e e		Values	at entry in	to the mode	el	F	inal model	
Predictor variables	R^2	ΔR^2	F	ΔF	Sig. ΔF	Unstand. coeff. (B)	Stand. coeff. (β)	Sig.
Age 2.5								
(Constant)						-2.19		0.10
Sex	0.00	0.00	0.23	0.23	0.63	-0.01	-0.01	0.96
Birth weight	0.05	0.05	2.53	4.81	0.03	0.00	0.23	0.03
Fetal risk factors	0.07	0.02	2.24	1.63	0.20	-0.39	-0.33	0.01
Maternal BMI	0.13	0.06	3.32	6.19	0.01	0.05	0.30	0.03
Smoking	0.13	0.01	2.76	0.58	0.45	0.06	0.09	0.41
Breastfeeding dur.	0.14	0.00	2.38	0.52	0.47	0.00	-0.01	0.96
Household SES	0.14	0.00	2.08	0.41	0.52	-0.01	-0.08	0.45
Mat. gen. depr.	0.14	0.00	1.80	0.00	0.96	0.00	-0.02	0.86
Mat. life events	0.15	0.00	1.65	0.50	0.48	-0.04	-0.08	0.50
Exposure timing	0.15	0.01	1.53	0.57	0.45	0.00	-0.07	0.49
Obj. hardship	0.15	0.00	1.38	0.03	0.87	-0.08	-0.07	0.56
Subj. distress	0.17	0.01	1.38	1.37	0.25	0.13	0.14	0.25
Age 4								
(Constant)						-3.24		0.04
Sex	0.00	0.00	0.06	0.06	0.81	0.01	0.01	0.96
Birth weight	0.03	0.03	0.95	1.84	0.18	0.00	0.16	0.16
Fetal risk factors	0.09	0.06	2.10	4.30	0.04	-0.10	-0.07	0.56
Maternal BMI	0.30	0.21	6.76	18.95	<0.01	0.11	0.67	<0.01
Smoking	0.30	0.00	5.32	0.00	0.99	-0.02	-0.02	0.90
Breastfeeding dur.	0.31	0.01	4.50	0.60	0.44	0.03	0.19	0.14
Household SES	0.31	0.00	3.84	0.19	0.66	0.00	-0.02	0.85
Mat. gen. depr.	0.31	0.00	3.31	0.03	0.86	0.00	0.03	0.83
Mat. life events	0.32	0.01	2.96	0.45	0.50	-0.04	-0.07	0.57
Exposure timing	0.36	0.04	3.17	3.74	0.06	0.00	-0.17	0.13
Obj. hardship	0.39	0.02	3.13	2.15	0.15	-0.29	-0.22	0.07
Subj. distress	0.41	0.03	3.17	2.55	0.12	0.20	0.19	0.12
Difference								
(Constant)						0.13		0.92
Sex	0.00	0.00	0.02	0.02	0.90	0.07	0.04	0.74
Birth weight	0.01	0.01	0.26	0.50	0.48	0.00	0.01	0.93
Fetal risk factors	0.13	0.12	3.18	8.97	<0.01	0.26	0.25	0.09
Maternal BMI	0.14	0.01	2.62	0.92	0.34	0.02	0.14	0.37
Smoking	0.20	0.06	3.06	4.28	0.04	0.29	0.23	0.08
Breastfeeding dur.	0.20	0.00	2.56	0.25	0.62	0.01	0.10	0.49
Household SES	0.20	0.00	2.16	0.04	0.84	0.00	0.00	0.98
Mat. gen. depr.	0.21	0.01	1.97	0.66	0.42	-0.01	-0.12	0.37
Mat. life events	0.21	0.00	1.73	0.06	0.80	0.03	0.06	0.69
Exposure timing	0.27	0.06	2.09	4.42	0.04	0.00	-0.27	0.03
Objective hardship	0.28	0.01	1.94	0.58	0.45	0.11	0.11	0.41
Subjective distress	0.28	0.00	1.76	0.17	0.68	-0.05	-0.06	0.68

Abbreviations: BMI: body mass index; Breastfeeding dur.: breastfeeding duration (months); SES: socioeconomic status; Mat.: maternal; Gen. depr.: general depression.

even when controlling for child BMI Z-score at age 2.5 (full results not shown).

3.5. Central Adiposity (SS: TR)

3.5.1. Age 2.5. There were no effects of covariates or of the severity of objective hardship or subjective distress due to the flood on central adiposity at age 2.5 at entry into the model.

In the final model, the fetal risk variable was the only predictor of central adiposity: fewer fetal risk factors predicted greater central adiposity (P = 0.04). There were no effects of the timing or severity of flood exposure.

3.5.2. Age 4. At entry into the model and in the final model, maternal general depression was the only predictor of central adiposity (at entry, P = 0.05; final model, P = 0.04).

TABLE 3: Summary of hierarchical linear regression analyses for total adiposity (SS + TR). Significant effects are indicated in bold.

Due di et e u ere ui el le e		Value	es at entry i	nto model		F	inal model	
Predictor variables	R^2	ΔR^2	F	ΔF	Sig. ΔF	Unstand. coeff. (B)	Stand. coeff. (β)	Sig.
Age 2.5								
(Constant)						5.73		0.15
Sex	0.03	0.03	2.51	2.51	0.12	0.98	0.18	0.11
Birth weight	0.04	0.01	1.67	0.83	0.36	0.00	0.14	0.21
Fetal risk factors	0.05	0.01	1.47	1.07	0.30	-0.58	-0.19	0.18
Maternal BMI	0.08	0.03	1.80	2.69	0.10	0.10	0.20	0.17
Smoking	0.08	0.00	1.42	0.02	0.90	-0.03	-0.02	0.87
Breastfeeding dur.	0.09	0.01	1.32	0.80	0.37	-0.02	-0.06	0.63
Household SES	0.12	0.03	1.48	2.34	0.13	0.04	0.15	0.22
Mat. gen. depr.	0.13	0.01	1.41	0.94	0.33	0.04	0.11	0.35
Mat. life events	0.14	0.01	1.36	0.91	0.34	-0.15	-0.12	0.37
Exposure timing	0.18	0.05	1.70	4.24	0.04	-0.01	-0.25	0.03
Objective hardship	0.20	0.02	1.70	1.60	0.21	0.43	0.14	0.28
Subjective distress	0.20	0.00	1.54	0.06	0.80	0.08	0.03	0.80
Age 4								
(Constant)						9.13		0.10
Sex	0.00	0.00	0.02	0.02	0.90	-0.21	-0.03	0.82
Birth weight	0.00	0.00	0.11	0.21	0.65	0.00	0.00	0.98
Fetal risk factors	0.02	0.02	0.33	0.78	0.38	-2.06	-0.43	0.01
Maternal BMI	0.24	0.22	3.78	13.85	<0.01	0.31	0.61	<0.01
Smoking	0.47	0.23	8.29	20.27	<0.01	4.80	0.45	<0.01
Breastfeeding dur.	0.47	0.00	6.79	0.09	0.76	0.03	0.06	0.67
Household SES	0.47	0.00	5.70	0.02	0.89	0.00	0.01	0.94
Mat. gen. depr.	0.47	0.00	4.89	0.05	0.82	0.01	0.01	0.94
Mat. life events	0.47	0.00	4.28	0.15	0.70	-0.16	-0.07	0.60
Exposure timing	0.48	0.01	3.92	0.84	0.37	-0.01	-0.11	0.36
Objective hardship	0.49	0.00	3.52	0.22	0.64	0.02	0.00	0.97
Subjective distress	0.52	0.03	3.57	2.63	0.11	0.73	0.21	0.11
Difference								
(Constant)						-1.15		0.77
Sex	0.02	0.02	0.99	0.98	0.33	-0.12	-0.02	0.86
Birth weight	0.02	0.00	0.58	0.18	0.67	0.00	0.07	0.47
Fetal risk factors	0.05	0.03	0.89	1.49	0.23	-0.65	-0.16	0.30
Maternal BMI	0.10	0.05	1.29	2.42	0.13	0.07	0.14	0.33
Smoking	0.54	0.44	10.74	43.84	<0.01	5.41	0.60	<0.01
Breastfeeding dur.	0.54	0.00	8.78	0.06	0.80	0.05	0.11	0.34
Household SES	0.54	0.00	7.38	0.07	0.79	-0.01	-0.02	0.83
Mat. gen. depr.	0.55	0.01	6.45	0.52	0.47	-0.08	-0.19	0.07
Mat. life events	0.57	0.03	6.28	2.77	0.10	0.44	0.23	0.04
Exposure timing	0.58	0.00	5.55	0.15	0.70	0.00	-0.08	0.42
Objective hardship	0.63	0.06	6.20	5.96	0.02	0.94	0.23	0.03
Subjective distress	0.67	0.04	6.54	4.45	0.04	0.71	0.23	0.04

Abbreviations: BMI: body mass index; Breastfeeding dur.: breastfeeding duration (months); SES: socioeconomic status; Mat.: maternal; Gen. depr.: general depression.

There were no effects of the timing or severity of flood exposure. The effects of maternal depression remained significant in the final model (P = 0.05) even when controlling for BMI *Z*-scores at age 4 (full results not shown). between ages 2.5 and 4. There were no effects of the timing or severity of flood exposure. In the final model, greater maternal depression predicted greater central adiposity (P = 0.02); birth weight did not retain significance (P = 0.16). The effects of maternal depression remained significant in the final model (P = 0.03) even when controlling for BMI Zscores at age 2.5 (full results not shown).

3.5.3. Difference between Ages 2.5 and 4. At entry into the model, birth weight (P = 0.05) and maternal general depression (P = 0.01) predicted the difference in central adiposity

There were no effects of interaction terms in any model (results not shown). In all analyses, variance inflation factors

Journal of Obesity

TABLE 4: Summary of hierarchical linear regression analyses for central adiposity (SS: TR). Significant effects are indicated in bold.

Predictor variables	Values at entry into model					Final model		
	R^2	ΔR^2	F	ΔF	Sig. ΔF	Unstand. coeff. (B)	Stand. coeff. (β)	Sig.
Age 2.5								
(Constant)						0.76		<0.01
Sex	0.00	0.00	0.42	0.41	0.52	0.03	0.09	0.42
Birth weight	0.00	0.00	0.21	0.00	0.96	0.00	0.02	0.83
Fetal risk factors	0.04	0.04	1.22	3.24	0.08	-0.06	-0.30	0.04
Maternal BMI	0.05	0.01	1.03	0.47	0.50	0.00	0.15	0.34
Smoking	0.06	0.01	1.02	0.98	0.32	0.01	0.12	0.34
Breastfeeding dur.	0.09	0.03	1.28	2.50	0.12	0.00	0.20	0.14
Household SES	0.11	0.02	1.34	1.66	0.20	0.00	-0.17	0.17
Mat. gen. depr.	0.13	0.03	1.50	2.39	0.13	0.00	-0.20	0.10
Mat. life events	0.14	0.01	1.38	0.50	0.48	0.01	0.10	0.46
Exposure timing	0.14	0.00	1.25	0.23	0.63	0.00	-0.05	0.65
Objective hardship	0.14	0.00	1.12	0.00	0.99	0.00	0.00	0.97
Subjective distress	0.14	0.00	1.02	0.01	0.91	0.00	-0.01	0.91
Age 4								
(Constant)						0.00		1.00
Sex	0.01	0.01	0.72	0.72	0.40	0.04	0.08	0.60
Birth weight	0.08	0.07	2.31	3.85	0.06	0.00	0.21	0.17
Fetal risk factors	0.08	0.00	1.52	0.02	0.89	-0.02	-0.08	0.69
Maternal BMI	0.09	0.01	1.21	0.36	0.55	0.00	-0.01	0.96
Smoking	0.11	0.02	1.20	1.14	0.29	0.08	0.11	0.50
Breastfeeding dur.	0.12	0.01	1.08	0.55	0.46	0.00	0.14	0.46
Household SES	0.13	0.00	0.93	0.14	0.71	0.00	0.01	0.95
Mat. gen. depr.	0.20	0.07	1.36	3.93	0.05	0.01	0.33	0.04
Mat. life events	0.20	0.00	1.20	0.13	0.72	-0.01	-0.06	0.71
Exposure timing	0.23	0.03	1.29	1.85	0.18	0.00	-0.19	0.22
Objective hardship	0.24	0.00	1.17	0.23	0.63	-0.02	-0.06	0.72
Subjective distress	0.24	0.00	1.06	0.13	0.72	-0.01	-0.06	0.72
Difference								
(Constant)						-0.60		0.19
Sex	0.00	0.00	0.08	0.08	0.78	0.02	0.03	0.81
Birth weight	0.07	0.07	1.98	3.89	0.05	0.00	0.20	0.16
Fetal risk factors	0.08	0.00	1.36	0.18	0.67	0.10	0.29	0.19
Maternal BMI	0.11	0.03	1.48	1.79	0.19	-0.01	-0.24	0.26
Smoking	0.11	0.00	1.16	0.00	1.00	-0.12	-0.16	0.35
Breastfeeding dur	0.12	0.00	0.98	0.00	0.70	0.01	0.15	0.36
Household SES	0.12	0.00	0.20	0.15	0.94	0.01	0.15	0.50
Mat can down	0.12	0.00	1.60	6.04	0.94	0.00	0.03	0.75
Mat life courts	0.24	0.12	1.00	0.54	0.01	0.01	0.3/	0.02
Wat. me events	0.25	0.01	1.54	0.53	0.4/	-0.02	-0.12	0.45
Exposure timing	0.30	0.06	1.80	3.36	0.07	0.00	-0.27	0.07
Objective hardship	0.31	0.00	1.61	0.16	0.69	0.01	0.03	0.82
Subjective distress	0.33	0.03	1.64	1.61	0.21	0.05	0.20	0.21

Abbreviations: BMI: body mass index; Breastfeeding dur.: breastfeeding duration (months); SES: socioeconomic status; Mat.: maternal; Gen. depr.: general depression.

(VIF) were low (less than 2.8) indicating that results were not affected by multicollinearity among variables.

4. Discussion

Our results indicate that exposure to a natural disaster during early gestation predicts greater total adiposity at age 2.5

and a greater increase in BMI Z-scores from age 2.5 to 4. These results suggest that early pregnancy is a sensitive period for the effects of prenatal stress on childhood growth. Furthermore, prenatal objective hardship and subjective distress exposure significantly and independently predicted a greater increase in total adiposity from age 2.5 to 4 years; a greater number of stressful maternal life events (other

than the flood) before and during pregnancy predicted this increase independently of the flood variables. Timing of flood exposure in pregnancy, objective hardship, and subjective distress together increased variance explained by up to 10% over and above that explained by covariates. This supports other studies suggesting that prenatal stress exposure can increase adiposity. Furthermore, our results highlight that effects are evident even in early childhood, which might be a particularly sensitive period for the development of obesity in adulthood [40].

As noted above, the effects of prenatal stress on later growth outcomes might reflect effects on central regulators of metabolism or metabolism at the cellular level, as well as through adverse effects on early growth [17]. The effects of stress exposure in our study persisted even after controlling for birth weight, which supports effects of prenatal stress on central regulators of growth and metabolism rather than through early growth patterns alone.

We observed no effects of flood exposure on central adiposity (SS:TR). However, maternal general depression predicted greater central adiposity at age 4 and a greater increase from age 2.5 to 4. This supports results from Project Viva indicating that antenatal depression predicts greater central adiposity (SS:TR) at age 3 years [20], as well as studies indicating that greater maternal depressive symptoms predict greater risk of overweight in children aged 6–24 months [41]. Maternal depressive symptoms are often associated with adverse maternal health behaviors such as poor diet and exercise patterns, as well as adverse infant and child feeding patterns [41, 42].

Whereas our studies analyze depression at different time points and the mechanisms underlying the effects of prenatal depression are likely to differ from those of postpartum depression, they highlight the importance of maternal depression on adiposity in infancy and the need to distinguish between maternal stress, depression, anxiety, and other measures of maternal mental health in analyses. Differing physiological responses to stress, anxiety, and depression likely result in different mechanistic pathways underlying the effects of each factor on child outcomes [43]; a failure to distinguish between different measures of maternal mental health might obscure effects on child development.

4.1. Strengths and Limitations. Our study is limited by the relatively small sample size for some outcomes, which reduces statistical power and limits the analyses we can conduct. Furthermore, parental body size is a major predictor of children's body size. Although we were able to control for maternal BMI, we do not have anthropometric measurements for most of the children's fathers. However, since fathers' BMI is unlikely to be related to the timing or severity of flood exposure, it is unlikely that this introduces systematic bias into our analyses.

The independent nature of the stressor is the major strength of our study. Flood exposure is unlikely to be related to potentially confounding genetic or socioeconomic characteristics that might affect childhood body composition; for example, we found low correlation between objective hardship (IF100) and SES (r < 0.20) in the full sample. We were also able, unlike most studies, to tease apart the relative effects of maternal objective hardship and maternal distress to determine their relative effects. The prospective nature of the study is another strength. Our assessments included the measurement of many household and maternal characteristics that might act as confounders. The persistence of the effects of flood exposure, despite the inclusion of these covariates in all analyses, highlights that prenatal stress can independently affect body composition in childhood. Furthermore, these analyses extended results on the effects of maternal general depression on central adiposity, highlighting differences between the effects of maternal stress and maternal depression on childhood body composition and the need for further research.

5. Conclusions

Research on the developmental origins of health and disease, originally focused on poor maternal nutrition and later cardiometabolic diseases, now highlights that stress during pregnancy is also important in physical growth patterns and obesity risk [9]. Using the Iowa floods as a stressor, we show that exposure in early pregnancy and both objective and subjective stress are associated with greater adiposity in early childhood and a greater increase with age. With a strong body of the literature now supporting these relationships, we must begin to more precisely differentiate between effects of different aspects of maternal mental health on children's development. This research will complement mechanistic research on epigenetic pathways underlying the effects of maternal stress on children's development [44], with the ultimate goal of improving women's and children's health.

Conflict of Interests

The authors declare that there is no conflict of interests regarding the publication of this paper.

Acknowledgments

The authors wish to thank all of the families who have participated in the Iowa Flood Study. They are grateful to Jane Engeldinger for data collection and advice on obstetric history, Chunbo Yu for assistance with data analysis, and Corinne Hamlin, Bryan Koestner, and Christina Hao Zhang for data collection and entry. This study was supported by grants from the U.S. National Institute of Mental Health (NIMH) to Michael W. O'Hara, Suzanne King, Alain Brunet, Jane Engeldinger, David P. Laplante, Kimberly J. Hart, Cathy Vaillancourt, and Pathik Wadhwa and from the Canadian Institute of Health Research (CIHR) to Suzanne King, Michael W. O'Hara, Alain Brunet, Elysia Poggi Davis, David P. Laplante, Norbert Schmitz, and Cathy Vaillancourt. Kelsey N. Dancause was supported by fellowships from CIHR and the U.S. National Institutes of Health (NIH) while working on this paper.

References

- J. Baird, D. Fisher, P. Lucas, J. Kleijnen, H. Roberts, and C. Law, "Being big or growing fast: systematic review of size and growth in infancy and later obesity," *British Medical Journal*, vol. 331, no. 7522, pp. 929–931, 2005.
- [2] C. Corvalán, J. Kain, G. Weisstaub, and R. Uauy, "Impact of growth patterns and early diet on obesity and cardiovascular risk factors in young children from developing countries," *Proceedings of the Nutrition Society*, vol. 68, no. 3, pp. 327–337, 2009.
- [3] N. Stettler, S. K. Kumanyika, S. H. Katz, B. S. Zemel, and V. A. Stallings, "Rapid weight gain during infancy and obesity in young adulthood in a cohort of African Americans," *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, vol. 77, no. 6, pp. 1374–1378, 2003.
- [4] L. Dubois and M. Girard, "Early determinants of overweight at 4.5 years in a population-based longitudinal study," *International Journal of Obesity*, vol. 30, no. 4, pp. 610–617, 2006.
- [5] J. A. Yanovski, "Rapid weight gain during infancy as a predictor of adult obesity," *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, vol. 77, no. 6, pp. 1350–1351, 2003.
- [6] H. Beydoun and A. F. Saftlas, "Physical and mental health outcomes of prenatal maternal stress in human and animal studies: a review of recent evidence," *Paediatric and Perinatal Epidemiology*, vol. 22, no. 5, pp. 438–466, 2008.
- [7] K. L. K. Tamashiro, C. E. Terrillion, J. Hyun, J. I. Koenig, and T. H. Moran, "Prenatal stress or high-fat diet increases susceptibility to diet-induced obesity in rat offspring," *Diabetes*, vol. 58, no. 5, pp. 1116–1125, 2009.
- [8] S. Entringer, C. Buss, J. M. Swanson et al., "Fetal programming of body composition, obesity, and metabolic function: the role of intrauterine stress and stress biology," *Journal of Nutrition and Metabolism*, vol. 2012, Article ID 632548, 16 pages, 2012.
- [9] S. Entringer, C. Buss, and P. D. Wadhwa, "Prenatal stress and developmental programming of human health and disease risk: concepts and integration of empirical findings," *Current Opinion in Endocrinology, Diabetes and Obesity*, vol. 17, no. 6, pp. 507–516, 2010.
- [10] M. J. Lazinski, A. K. Shea, and M. Steiner, "Effects of maternal prenatal stress on offspring development: a commentary," *Archives of Women's Mental Health*, vol. 11, no. 5-6, pp. 363–375, 2008.
- [11] C. Monk, J. Spicer, and F. A. Champagne, "Linking prenatal maternal adversity to developmental outcomes in infants: the role of epigenetic pathways," *Development and Psychopathology*, vol. 24, no. 4, pp. 1361–1376, 2012.
- [12] L. Paternain, M. A. Batlle, A. L. De La Garza, F. I. Milagro, J. A. Martínez, and J. Campión, "Transcriptomic and epigenetic changes in the hypothalamus are involved in an increased susceptibility to a high-fat-sucrose diet in prenatally stressed female rats," *Neuroendocrinology*, vol. 96, no. 3, pp. 249–260, 2012.
- [13] L. Cao-Lei, R. Massart, M. J. Suderman et al., "DNA methylation signatures triggered by prenatal maternal stress exposure to a natural disaster: Project Ice Storm," *PLoS ONE*, vol. 9, no. 9, Article ID e107653, 2014.
- [14] J. G. Eriksson, "Early programming of later health and disease: factors acting during prenatal life might have lifelong consequences," *Diabetes*, vol. 59, no. 10, pp. 2349–2350, 2010.

- [15] E. C. Cottrell and J. R. Seckl, "Prenatal stress, glucocorticoids and the programming of adult disease," *Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience*, vol. 3, article 19, 2009.
- [16] J. E. Campbell, A. J. Peckett, A. M. D'Souza, T. J. Hawke, and M. C. Riddell, "Adipogenic and lipolytic effects of chronic glucocorticoid exposure," *American Journal of Physiology: Cell Physiology*, vol. 300, no. 1, pp. C198–C209, 2011.
- [17] A. J. Drake, J. I. Tang, and M. J. Nyirenda, "Mechanisms underlying the role of glucocorticoids in the early life programming of adult disease," *Clinical Science*, vol. 113, no. 5-6, pp. 219–232, 2007.
- [18] J. Li, J. Olsen, M. Vestergaard, C. Obel, J. L. Baker, and T. I. A. Sørensen, "Prenatal stress exposure related to maternal bereavement and risk of childhood overweight," *PLoS ONE*, vol. 5, no. 7, Article ID e11896, 2010.
- [19] L. Hohwü, J. Li, J. Olsen, T. I. A. Sørensen, and C. Obel, "Severe maternal stress exposure due to bereavement before, during and after pregnancy and risk of overweight and obesity in young adult men: a danish national cohort study," *PLoS ONE*, vol. 9, no. 5, Article ID e97490, 2014.
- [20] K. A. Ertel, K. C. Koenen, J. W. Rich-Edwards, and M. W. Gillman, "Antenatal and postpartum depressive symptoms are differentially associated with early childhood weight and adiposity," *Paediatric and Perinatal Epidemiology*, vol. 24, no. 2, pp. 179–189, 2010.
- [21] M. W. Gillman, J. W. Rich-Edwards, S. Huh et al., "Maternal corticotropin-releasing hormone levels during pregnancy and offspring adiposity," *Obesity*, vol. 14, no. 9, pp. 1647–1653, 2006.
- [22] K. G. Ingstrup, C. Schou Andersen, T. A. Ajslev, P. Pedersen, T. I. A. Sørensen, and E. A. Nohr, "Maternal distress during pregnancy and offspring childhood overweight," *Journal of Obesity*, vol. 2012, Article ID 462845, 7 pages, 2012.
- [23] B. R. Mueller and T. L. Bale, "Impact of prenatal stress on long term body weight is dependent on timing and maternal sensitivity," *Physiology and Behavior*, vol. 88, no. 4-5, pp. 605– 614, 2006.
- [24] L. M. Glynn, P. D. Wadhwa, C. Dunkel-Schetter, A. Chicz-DeMet, and C. A. Sandman, "When stress happens matters: effects of earthquake timing on stress responsivity in pregnancy," *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, vol. 184, no. 4, pp. 637–642, 2001.
- [25] S. King, K. Dancause, A.-M. Turcotte-Tremblay, F. Veru, and D. P. Laplante, "Using natural disasters to study the effects of prenatal maternal stress on child health and development," *Birth Defects Research Part C: Embryo Today: Reviews*, vol. 96, no. 4, pp. 273–288, 2012.
- [26] K. N. Dancause, D. P. Laplante, C. Oremus, S. Fraser, A. Brunet, and S. King, "Disaster-related prenatal maternal stress influences birth outcomes: Project Ice Storm," *Early Human Development*, vol. 87, no. 12, pp. 813–820, 2011.
- [27] K. N. Dancause, D. P. Laplante, S. Fraser et al., "Prenatal exposure to a natural disaster increases risk for obesity in 5-year-old children," *Pediatric Research*, vol. 71, no. 1, pp. 126–131, 2012.
- [28] K. N. Dancause, F. Veru, R. E. Andersen, D. P. Laplante, and S. King, "Prenatal stress due to a natural disaster predicts insulin secretion in adolescence," *Early Human Development*, vol. 89, no. 9, pp. 773–776, 2013.
- [29] K. J. Nylen, M. W. O'Hara, and J. Engeldinger, "Perceived social support interacts with prenatal depression to predict birth outcomes," *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, vol. 36, no. 4, pp. 427–440, 2013.

- [30] T. G. Lohman, A. F. Roche, and R. Martorell, Anthropometric Standardization Reference Manual, Human Kinetics Books, Champaign, Ill, USA, 1988.
- [31] A. B. Hollingshead, *Four-Factor Index of Social Status*, Yale University Press, New Haven, Conn, USA, 1973.
- [32] I. G. Sarason, J. H. Johnson, and J. M. Siegel, "Assessing the impact of life changes: development of the life experiences survey," *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, vol. 46, no. 5, pp. 932–946, 1978.
- [33] D. Watson, M. W. O'Hara, L. J. Simms et al., "Development and validation of the inventory of depression and anxiety symptoms (IDAS)," *Psychological Assessment*, vol. 19, no. 3, pp. 253–268, 2007.
- [34] E. Bromet and M. A. Dew, "Review of psychiatric epidemiologic research on disasters," *Epidemiologic Reviews*, vol. 17, no. 1, pp. 113–119, 1995.
- [35] A. C. McFarlane, "Relationship between psychiatric impairment and a natural disaster: the role of distress," *Psychological Medicine*, vol. 18, no. 1, pp. 129–139, 1988.
- [36] R. L. Brock, M. W. O'Hara, K. J. Hart et al., "Partner support and maternal depression in the context of the Iowa floods," *Journal* of *Family Psychology*, vol. 28, no. 6, pp. 832–843, 2014.
- [37] D. S. Weiss and C. R. Marmar, "The impact of event scalerevised," in Assessing Psychological Trauma and PTSD: A Practitioner's Handbook, J. P. Wilson and T. M. Keane, Eds., pp. 399– 411, Guilford, New York, NY, USA, 1997.
- [38] CDC (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention), Growth Charts, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, Ga, USA, 2010, http://www.cdc.gov/growthcharts/.
- [39] M.-E. Mathieu and L. Béliveau, "The use of skinfolds in anthropometric measures and their applications to diabetes," in *Handbook of Anthropometry: Physical Measures of Human Form in Health and Disease*, V. R. Preedy, Ed., vol. 1, Springer, London, UK, 2012.
- [40] R. C. Whitaker, M. S. Pepe, J. A. Wright, K. D. Seidel, and W. H. Dietz, "Early adiposity rebound and the risk of adult obesity," *Pediatrics*, vol. 101, no. 3, p. E5, 1998.
- [41] P. J. Surkan, I. Kawachi, and K. E. Peterson, "Childhood overweight and maternal depressive symptoms," *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, vol. 62, no. 5, p. ell, 2008.
- [42] R. S. Gross, N. K. Velazco, R. D. Briggs, and A. D. Racine, "Maternal depressive symptoms and child obesity in lowincome urban families," *Academic Pediatrics*, vol. 13, no. 4, pp. 356–363, 2013.
- [43] R. Graignic-Philippe, J. Dayan, S. Chokron, A.-Y. Jacquet, and S. Tordjman, "Effects of prenatal stress on fetal and child development: a critical literature review," *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, vol. 43, pp. 137–162, 2014.
- [44] P. D. Wadhwa, C. Buss, S. Entringer, and J. M. Swanson, "Developmental origins of health and disease: brief history of the approach and current focus on epigenetic mechanisms," *Seminars in Reproductive Medicine*, vol. 27, no. 5, pp. 358–368, 2009.

Research Article

Early Life Cognitive Abilities and Body Weight: Cross-Sectional Study of the Association of Inhibitory Control, Cognitive Flexibility, and Sustained Attention with BMI Percentiles in Primary School Children

Tamara Wirt, Anja Schreiber, Dorothea Kesztyüs, and Jürgen M. Steinacker

Division of Sports and Rehabilitation Medicine, Department of Internal Medicine II, Ulm University Medical Centre, Frauensteige 6, 89075 Ulm, Germany

Correspondence should be addressed to Tamara Wirt; tamara.wirt@uni-ulm.de

Received 25 July 2014; Revised 8 October 2014; Accepted 9 October 2014

Academic Editor: Chris Rissel

Copyright © 2015 Tamara Wirt et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

The objective of this study was to investigate the association of different cognitive abilities with children's body weight adjusted for further weight influencing sociodemographic, family, and lifestyle factors. Cross-sectional data of 498 primary school children (7.0 \pm 0.6 years; 49.8% boys) participating in a health promotion programme in southwest Germany were used. Children performed a computer-based test battery (KiTAP) including an inhibitory control task (Go-Nogo paradigm), a cognitive flexibility task, and a sustained attention task. Height and weight were measured in a standardized manner and converted to BMI percentiles based on national standards. Sociodemographic features (migration background and parental education), family characteristics (parental body weight), and children's lifestyle (TV consumption, physical activity, consumption of sugar-sweetened beverages and breakfast habits) were assessed via parental questionnaire. A hierarchical regression analysis revealed inhibitory control and cognitive flexibility to be significant cognitive predictors for children's body weight. There was no association concerning sustained attention. The findings suggest that especially cognitive abilities known as executive functions (inhibitory control and cognitive flexibility) are associated with children's body weight. Future longitudinal and intervention studies are necessary to investigate the directionality of the association and the potential of integrating cognitive training in obesity prevention strategies. This trial is registered with ClinicalTrials.gov DRKS00000494.

1. Introduction

The dramatically increased prevalence of childhood obesity in industrialised nations has been declared as a major topic of public health in the recent decade [1, 2]. In Germany, 14.8% of children aged 2 to 17 years are overweight or obese [3]. An increase of overweight and obesity is particularly evident at the age of school entry, between 5 and 8 years [3, 4]. Given the significant adverse biopsychosocial consequences of paediatric overweight, its relatively stable course, and the enormous economic costs to the healthcare system, effective prevention strategies are needed [1, 5–8]. It is therefore important to better understand correlates of paediatric overweight and to identify risk factors. Besides a genetic predisposition, increased body weight is influenced by certain behavioural and lifestyle factors such as unfavourable dietary habits, for example, high consumption of sugar-sweetened beverages or skipping breakfast, low levels of physical activity, and preference of sedentary activities, for example, screen media use [9–12]. Furthermore, cultural and family characteristics such as migration background, low socioeconomic position, low parental education, and parental obesity are associated with childhood overweight [3, 11, 13, 14].

Additionally, there is a growing body of evidence suggesting an association between increased body weight and altered cognitive functioning in children. Overweight children show, for example, worse school performance compared to their normal-weight counterparts [15–17]. Moreover, a negative association between obesity and executive functions has been reported [18]. Executive functions are defined as higherorder control processes of the cognitive system that are related to self-regulation and underlie goal-directed and adaptive behaviour [19, 20]. These processes have already been positively related to social and emotional skills, school success, mental and physical health, and social status in adulthood [20, 21]. Different components of executive functions such as inhibitory control (the ability to withhold inappropriate actions) or cognitive flexibility (the ability to adjust to changed circumstances or demands) are usually distinguished [20]. Regarding the association between obesity and executive functions studies have mainly focussed on inhibitory control which is significantly related to body mass index in children and adolescents [18, 22, 23]. Concerning other executive functions (e.g., cognitive flexibility) or further cognitive domains (e.g., attention, memory, and general cognitive function), however, findings are scarce and inconsistent [18, 24, 25].

Assuming an association between children's body weight and cognitive functioning one possible underlying mechanism may be that certain cognitive abilities play a role in learning, adopting, and maintaining health behaviour [26, 27]. As previously mentioned executive functions and most of all the inhibitory components are related to cognitive selfregulation and to disciplined behaviour [20]. In the context of paediatric obesity inhibitory control may be important for young children to regulate their physical activity level and their food intake in terms of appreciating rules from parents or teachers, resisting temptations (e.g., consumption of sweets when not allowed and watching TV or video games when otherwise engaged), controlling distracting thoughts and negative emotional states which may increase appetite, and staying focused on activities such as playing games. Cognitive flexibility may be critical for children when trying out new behaviour and dealing with changes, barriers, or different settings throughout their day and when deliberate attention control (focusing and switching) is necessary. Appreciating healthier food and beverages and active ways of transport when introduced by caregivers, coping with school entry and the related changes, switching between sedentary activities such as homework and active play, and finding ways of being physically active despite bad weather or without any toys may be a few examples. Besides these control functions, further abilities such as sustained attention may play a role in terms of maintaining the focus of attention on specific activities over a certain period of time. Thus, it is important for children not only to cope with immediate distractions, changes, and temptations, but also to stay focused in the long run.

However, the small body of literature regarding childhood and especially early school age can be criticised. Most studies focused only on older children or adolescents. Selectivity, small size of study samples, and the use of self-reporting measures further limit validity of research results. Moreover, researchers addressing paediatric obesity always emphasise the importance of controlling for social factors such as parental income or education [15]. The objective of the present study, therefore, was to investigate the association between different cognitive abilities (inhibitory control, cognitive flexibility, and sustained attention) and body weight in a large nonclinical sample of primary school children. To consider the outlined methodical issues objective standardised tests and assessment methods were used and potentially confounding factors including sociodemographic features, family, and lifestyle were controlled.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Overview. In the context of a large evaluation study of a school-based health promotion programme in southwest Germany (the Baden-Württemberg Study) cognitive, anthropometric, sociodemographic, and behavioural data of primary school children were collected. The Baden-Württemberg Study was approved by the institutional ethics committee and is registered at the German Clinical Trials Register (DRKS00000494). Teachers of school classes in the federal state of Baden-Württemberg volunteered to participate in the study and written informed consent was obtained from parents prior to data collection. The Baden-Württemberg Study is a longitudinal study and is designed as a randomised controlled trial. A detailed description of the study has been published by Dreyhaupt et al. [28]. For the present analysis only baseline data of the control and intervention group were used. Baseline assessment took place in autumn 2010 (within a 3-month period from the end of summer vacation in September to the beginning of autumn vacation in November). During this time a research group from the University of Ulm visited the participating school classes (one or two classes each day). Thus, all measurements were performed on-site at school during one school day. On the day of a school visit, children were assigned to small groups based on gender and class to perform the different measurements (e.g., cognitive testing and anthropometric measurement). To obtain information about sociodemographic and lifestyle characteristics a parental questionnaire was issued directly after the measuring period (November 2010) and returned within six weeks.

2.2. Participants. The total sample of the Baden-Württemberg Study consisted of n = 1944 children from ethnically and socioeconomically diverse primary schools in the federal state of Baden-Württemberg, Germany. Primary school classes were recruited using a number of different public relations activities such as written information for schools, education and health authorities, adverts in training catalogues for teachers, informative events, or participation at pedagogic trade shows. For logistical reasons (distances between schools, scope of measurements of the Baden-Württemberg Study, and technical equipment) cognitive testing was only carried out in the southern part of Baden-Württemberg at a convenient distance of the research centre in Ulm. Furthermore, children who were absent on the day of school visit were not retested. Cognitive data collection took place in a subsample of n = 513 children. After exclusion of n = 15 children due to motor impairment, colour blindness, or lack of compliance the sample for the present analysis amounts to n = 498 participants. Children attended either
1st grade (57.0%) or 2nd grade and averaged 7.0 ± 0.6 years of age (range 5–9); 49.8% were boys.

Sample size for each cognitive subtest varies due to further missing or invalid data: n = 479 children provided valid data for inhibitory control, n = 445 for cognitive flexibility, and n = 466 for sustained attention. Reasons for further subtest dropouts were, for instance, time restriction at school and lack of comprehension or compliance or implausible data concerning only one subtest. Anthropometric data was available for n = 496, and the parental questionnaire was filled out for n = 441 children. Complete data including all cognitive measures, anthropometric measures, and parental questionnaire was available for n = 297. Figure 1 provides an overview of the sample and subsample selection.

2.3. Cognitive Measures. Cognitive abilities were assessed using the computer-based test battery of attention for children (KiTAP) [29]. The KiTAP is validated for children aged 6 to 10 years and consists of a broad range of nonverbal subtests measuring different basal as well as higher-order components of the cognitive system (attention and executive functioning). Each component can be assessed separately. To ensure optimal motivation and compliance all subtests are designed in the form of short games with an enchanted castle theme. This allows the KiTAP to be particularly accessible to young children in comparison to other known test batteries based on more abstract stimuli. Furthermore, a computerbased test was preferable to a paper pencil test as preliminary trials demonstrated that children just entering school had difficulties in turning pages and handling a pencil. Due to the child-friendly character, the feasibility in the school and group setting, and the possibility to measure differentially cognitive functioning (including executive control components) the KiTAP constituted a suitable assessment tool for the present study purposes. In terms of validity the test battery has been especially used in neuropsychological and other paediatric researches [30-32] as well as in research with healthy children and in cross-cultural studies [33, 34]. Significant correlations with school outcomes [34], intellectual abilities [32], and behavioural questionnaires [35] could be found. Factorial analysis confirmed the construct validity [29], and group comparisons (e.g., children with versus without attention deficit hyperactivity disorder) demonstrated criterion validity [30]. The reliability of the test battery can be considered as satisfactory [29].

Three subtests of the KiTAP were administered: an inhibitory control task (Go-Nogo paradigm), a cognitive flexibility task, and a sustained attention task. For each task number of errors (incorrect response to a noncritical stimulus), number of omissions (missed response to a critical stimulus), and reaction time (milliseconds in medians) were recorded. For statistical analysis and to overcome the right skewed distributions of errors and omissions total scores were calculated for each subtest based on the key parameters recommended in the test manual.

(1) Inhibitory Control. The Go/Nogo task examined the ability to respond as quickly as possible to a certain critical stimulus by pressing a button and to withhold the response when



FIGURE 1: Overview of sample size. ^{*a*}Cases with complete data on cognitive, anthropometric, sociodemographic, family, and lifestyle variables were considered eligible for analysis.

another noncritical stimulus emerged. The task lasted 3 minutes. Key parameters were errors and reaction time. Errors could range from 0 to 20 and reaction time from 0 ms to 2700 ms (maximum time interval between two stimuli). The total score was calculated as follows:

To improve interpretability the score was reversed with a positive total score indicating an overly high inhibitory control (low number of errors and slow reflexive reactions) and a negative score indicating low inhibitory control (high number of errors and fast impulsive reactions). A score around 0 represented an average inhibitory ability.

(2) Cognitive Flexibility. The task examined the ability to deliberately control the attention focus and to adapt responses to changing conditions as quickly as possible. Children had to consider different features simultaneously (colour and location of the stimulus), to switch their attention continuously between these features, and to react appropriately according to the target feature in each trial. In detail, two stimuli in two different colours were presented simultaneously on the right and the left sides of the screen. Children had to press one out of two buttons (left button for the left side or right button for the right side) depending on the colour of the stimuli in an alternate sequence (colour A, colour B, colour

A, colour B,...). On each trial, the stimulus with the target colour could be presented on the same side of the screen as before or on the other side; thus, children had to change their response behaviour or not. Duration of the whole task varied depending on reaction times (approximately 3 minutes). Key parameters were errors and reaction time. Errors could range from 0 to 50 and reaction time from 0 ms to 60000 ms (maximum time interval between two stimuli if no reaction occurred). Contrary to the other subtests, a total score was automatically computed by the KiTAP based on standardised number of errors and reaction time [29]. A positive score represented overly high flexibility (low number of errors and fast reactions) and a negative score low flexibility (high number of errors and slow reactions). A score around 0 represented average cognitive flexibility.

(3) Sustained Attention. The task examined the ability to maintain attention over an extended period of time (10 minutes). During this time children had to compare subsequent stimuli in terms of a specific feature (colour) and to determine whether two stimuli were matching. Key parameters were errors (two stimuli incorrectly indicated as matching) and omissions (two stimuli incorrectly indicated as nonmatching). Errors could range from 0 to 250 and omissions from 0 to 50. The total score represented the number of correct responses and was calculated as follows:

Total score

– (number of errors + number of omissions).

To consider the different number of errors and omissions possible (250 versus 50) the number of errors was relativised (divided by 5):

Total score

$$= 100 - \left(\frac{\text{number of errors}}{5} + \text{number of omissions}\right).$$
(3)

Thus, the total score ranged from 0 to 100 with a high total score indicating high sustained attention and a low score indicating low sustained attention. A score around 0 represented no sustained attention at all.

Procedure. On the day of a school visit the cognitive tests were administered during the first school hours. Cognitive testing took place in one or two separate quiet classrooms and was carried out by trained examiners using laptops (screen size: 15 inches). As previously mentioned children performed the tests in small groups (up to 8 children). Per group 4 examiners supported and supervised the children (with a maximum of 2 children per examiner). While one testing session took place, which lasted in total 30 minutes, the other groups were assigned either to anthropometric measurement or to other parts of the Baden-Württemberg Study. The subtests of the KiTAP were administered in a fixed order and instructions were given in a standardised

manner. Comprehension and willingness of the children were assured by short preceding practice trials according to the test manual. These practice trials could be repeated if necessary—especially the cognitive flexibility task required several preceding trials. The main testing started when it was clear that each child of the group understood the instructions. When the examiner was sure that a child was not able to perform a task, lack of comprehension was documented. The main testing was administered once. Further irregular and disruptive behaviour was documented and later considered during data preparation. Children who were absent on the day of testing were excluded from the analysis as there was no repetition of the testing at a later point in time.

2.4. Anthropometric Measures. Anthropometric measurement took place in a separate room provided by the teacher. Gender segregation of the groups was considered. Body height and weight of the children were taken by trained staff according to the guidelines of the International Society for the Advancement of Kinanthropometry (ISAK) [36]. Height was measured using a portable stadiometer (Seca model 217, Seca, Germany), without wearing shoes, with an accuracy of 0.1 cm. Weight was measured using a calibrated electronic scale (Seca model 862, Seca, Germany), wearing underwear, with an accuracy of 0.05 kg. Children's body mass index (BMI) was calculated as weight divided by height squared (kg/m²) and converted to BMI percentiles using national ageand sex-specific reference data [37]. To allow international comparisons, weight status was also calculated according to international reference data [38].

2.5. Parental Questionnaire. Sociodemographic data, body weight of parents, and different lifestyle factors of children were assessed via parental questionnaire. Parent education was assigned to the respective level according to the CASMIN classification [39]. The CASMIN (Comparative Analysis of Social Mobility in Industrial Nations) is the most widely used international instrument to classify education considering length, quality, and value of general education as well as vocationally oriented schooling or training. The classification distinguishes primary, secondary, and tertiary education levels. In the present study parent education was determined as the highest level of two parents or the level of a single parent who cares for the child. Due to the small number of cases with primary education level (1.0%) parent education was dichotomised with primary and secondary education levels in one group and tertiary education level in another. Migration background was defined as at least one parent born abroad or at least one parent mainly having spoken a foreign language with the child during its first years of life. Self-reported parental height and weight were used to calculate BMI of mothers and fathers (kg/m^2) . Concerning children's lifestyle, TV consumption, physical activity, consumption of sugarsweetened beverages, and breakfast habits were assessed. The mean time spent watching television per day was rated on a 7-point Likert scale ("never" to "more than 4 hours"). As the American Academy of Paediatrics [40] recommends less than 1-2 hours of total screen time per day, TV consumption was dichotomised using a cut-off point at 1 hour. Further, parents were asked on how many days per week their child was engaging in at least 60 minutes of moderate to vigorous physical activity (range 0 to 7 days) and how often their child was consuming sugar-sweetened beverages (6-point Likert scale: "never" to "more than once per day"). The frequency of having breakfast prior to going to school was rated on a 4-point Likert scale and, for statistical analysis, dichotomised as "never"/"rarely" versus "often"/"always."

2.6. Statistical Methods. To determine the additional predictive value of each of the three cognitive variables on children's body weight (BMI percentiles) hierarchical multiple linear regression analysis was performed. First, a basic model (model 1) was established which included parent education, migration background, BMI of mother and father, children's TV consumption, physical activity, consumption of sugar-sweetened beverages, and breakfast habits. In the next steps inhibitory control, cognitive flexibility, and sustained attention were added successively as predictors (models 2 to 4). Statistical analysis was carried out using SPSS 19 and statistical significance was set at $\alpha = 0.05$. As missing data may have had an impact on the results, differences between the samples and subsamples (the Baden-Württemberg Study sample, n = 1944, the cognitive subsample, n = 498, and the final sample with complete and valid data, n = 297) were analysed using t-test for continuous data and Fisher's exact test for categorical data.

3. Results

3.1. Descriptive Characteristics. Sociodemographic, lifestyle, and weight group characteristics of the different samples are shown in Table 1. In the cognitive subsample (n = 498) average BMI percentile of children was 48.21 ± 26.92 , and 8.4% were classified as overweight or obese and 7.3% were classified as underweight according to national standards [37]. The prevalence for overweight and for underweight was slightly higher according to international cut-off points [38] (Table 1). Parental BMI averaged 23.86 ± 4.47 (mothers) and 27.90 ± 3.93 (fathers), respectively. Means and standard deviations for all cognitive subtests (total scores, number of errors, number of omissions, and reaction time) are illustrated in Table 2.

3.2. Prediction of Body Weight. To determine whether different cognitive abilities are associated with children's body weight hierarchical regression analysis was conducted. Results are presented in Table 3. First, model 1 revealed migration background, body weight of mother, and body weight of father as significant predictors of children's body weight. No relationship between parental education or the different lifestyle factors and children's body weight was found. As it is shown in models 2 to 4 inhibitory control and cognitive flexibility were significant cognitive predictors over and above all other variables whereas sustained attention did not significantly contribute to the prediction. Inhibitory control and cognitive flexibility together explained an additional amount of 4.5% of variance in the criterion.

3.3. Missing Data. Children of the cognitive subsample (n =498) differed from children of the total study population in terms of migration background and father's BMI. A significantly higher percentage of migration background (P =0.022) and a significantly lower father's BMI (P = 0.001) were found in children who performed the KiTAP compared to those who did not. There were no significant differences concerning age, sex, BMI percentiles, weight group, TV consumption, physical activity, consumption of sugar-sweetened beverages, breakfast habits, parental education, and mother's BMI. Children of the final subsample with complete data (n = 297) differed significantly from children of the total study population in terms of BMI percentiles, parental education, consumption of sugar-sweetened beverages, and father's BMI. Lower BMI percentiles (P = 0.008), a higher percentage of tertiary parental education level (P = 0.009), a lower percentage of soft drink consumption (P = 0.031), and a lower father's BMI (P = 0.000) were found in children with complete data compared to those without. There were no significant differences concerning any other variable. Although the percentage of migration background was increased in the cognitive subsample, more children with migration background dropped out in the further data process. Thus, the final subsample did not differ anymore from the total study sample in this respect.

4. Discussion

The present study examined the association between different cognitive abilities and body weight in primary school children. The findings suggest that especially cognitive abilities known as executive functions such as inhibitory control and cognitive flexibility are associated with children's body weight. In the past decade particularly the influence of inhibitory control was investigated in children and adolescents using a variety of assessment tools [18]. Methods ranged from behaviour questionnaires, ratings, and selfreports to different tasks and computerised tests (e.g., Stroop test, Go-Nogo task, and delay-of-gratification task). In line with the results reported here all studies showed a significant relationship between body weight and inhibitory control in that a higher body weight was associated with poorer inhibition performance. Additionally, a few longitudinal studies indicated that inhibitory control at a younger age can predict children's BMI at an older age [18, 22, 41]. Group analyses revealed less inhibitory control in overweight adolescents compared to their normal weight peers [18, 42]. Pauli-Pott et al. [23] further pointed out a significant interaction with age and assumed that there might be an especially important developmental period at early school age when inhibitory control is particularly important for self-regulation.

Few studies can be found examining the association between cognitive flexibility and body weight. Cserjési et al. [24], for example, found a significant negative correlation in adolescent boys, and obese boys significantly performed

TABLE 1: Descriptive characteristics of the Ba	den-Württemberg Study sample and the KiTAP s	subsamples.
--	--	-------------

	Baden- Württemberg Study sample (n = 1944)	Missing values	Cognitive subsample (<i>n</i> = 498)	Missing values	Final subsample ^a (n = 297)
Child characteristics					
Age, m (sd)	7.1 (0.6)	0	7.0 (0.6)	0	7.1 (0.6)
Female, <i>n</i> (%)	949 (48.8)	0	250 (50.2)	0	141 (47.5)
BMI percentiles, m (sd)	49.0 (27.9)	51	48.2 (26.9)	2	45.2 (26.3)
Weight group, national reference data, n (%) [37]					
Underweight (<10 BMI percentile) Overweight (>90 and ≤97 BMI percentile) Obese (>97 BMI percentile)	148 (7.8) 108 (5.7) 82 (4.3)	51	36 (7.3) 25 (5.0) 17 (3.4)	2	25 (8.4) 14 (4.7) 6 (2.0)
Weight group, international reference data, n (%) [38]					
Underweight Overweight Obese	78 (4.0) 190 (10.0) 74 (3.9)		50 (10.0) 46 (9.2) 15 (3.0)		35 (11.8) 22 (7.4) 4 (1.3)
TV consumption > 60 minutes/day, n (%)	242 (14.3)	254	65 (14.9)	61	37 (12.5)
Days/week with at least 60 minutes MVPA, m (sd)	2.7 (1.7)	321	2.8 (1.7)	81	2.8 (1.7)
SSB consumption > once/week, <i>n</i> (%)	416 (24.4)	242	95 (21.6)	58	58 (19.5)
Never/rarely having breakfast, $n(\%)$	223 (13.0)	237	60 (13.7)	58	35 (11.8)
Parental characteristics					
Tertiary parent education level, n (%)	522 (32.2)	324	148 (35.4)	80	115 (38.7)
Migration background, <i>n</i> (%)	525 (31.9)	298	156 (36.4)	70	97 (32.7)
Mother's BMI	24.1 (4.5)	361	23.9 (4.5)	89	24.1 (4.8)
Father's BMI	28.5 (4.1)	481	27.9 (3.9)	121	27.8 (4.0)

Note. ^aCases with complete data on cognitive, anthropometric, sociodemographic, family, and lifestyle variables. MVPA = moderate to vigorous physical activity. SSB = sugar-sweetened beverages.

	М	SD	Minimum	Maximum	п
Inhibitory control					
Total score	-0.01	1.68	-5.48	4.51	
Number of errors	5.28	3.26	0	15	479
Reaction time (ms)	511.14	76.34	298.00	778.00	
Cognitive flexibility					
Total score	-0.60	9.56	-30.40	22.62	
Number of errors	6.42	3.73	0	16	445
Reaction time (ms)	1261.66	305.14	445.00	2290.00	
Sustained attention					
Total score	82.74	8.86	60.60	100.00	
Number of errors	16.26	16.69	0	72	466
Number of omissions	14.00	7.87	0	37	

TABLE 2: Mean, standard deviation, and range for cognitive test scores.

Note. ms = millisecond.

worse than their healthy weight counterparts. Verdejo-García et al. [42] used a whole battery of executive functioning tests including response inhibition and flexibility. Similarly, the authors reported significant group differences in the flexibility task and a significant relationship between BMI and flexibility. These findings are supported by further studies focusing all mainly on adolescents [43, 44], whereas Gunstad et al. [25, 45] demonstrated a link between cognitive flexibility (switching-of-attention task) and body weight only in adults but neither in children nor in adolescents. The results reported here conform to most of the existing research literatures even though these studies have been conducted

7

TABLE 3: Hierarchical multiple re	gression model predicting	ng children's body weigh	ht from parental, behavioura	l, and cognitive variables.
		() ()	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,

			BMI percentiles		
Predictors	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Ν	Aodel 4
	В	В	В	В	95 % CI
Parent education	-4.61	-4.00	-3.91	-4.33	[-10.44, 1.77]
Migration background	7.32*	6.68*	6.87*	6.61*	[0.26, 12.97]
BMI of mother	1.22***	1.13***	1.18^{***}	1.20***	[0.59, 1.81]
BMI of father	1.15**	1.20**	1.13**	1.11^{**}	[0.37, 1.86]
TV consumption	-0.58	-1.99	-2.52	-2.53	[-11.70, 6.64]
Physical activity SSB consumption	1.4 -2.31	1.18 -2.37	0.99 -2.39	0.94 -2.44	[-0.78, 2.65] [-6.07, 1.19]
Breakfast habits	4.69	5.05	6.67	6.53	[-2.50, 15.55]
Inhibitory control		-1.98^{*}	-1.94^{*}	-1.94^{*}	[-3.65, -0.23]
Cognitive flexibility			-0.46^{**}	-0.50^{**}	[-0.79, -0.20]
Sustained attention				0.15	[-0.18, -0.48]
R^2	0.14	0.16	0.19		0.19
F	5.78***	5.77***	6.37***	Ę	5.86***
ΔR^2		0.02	0.03		0.00
ΔF^2		5.01*	10.05**		0.77

Note. N = 297. CI = confidence interval. SSB = sugar-sweetened beverages. *P < 0.05; **P < 0.01; ***P < 0.001.

mainly in older children. Thus, besides inhibitory control another executive functions domain seems to be associated to body weight and weight gain and, according to the present finding, this seems to be true in younger children, too.

On the other hand, the third cognitive domain, sustained attention, was not related to BMI percentiles in the current investigation. Previous findings concerning cognitive abilities other than executive functions are inconsistent. The literature review of Reinert et al. [18] reports six studies focusing on the association between obesity and general cognitive function with half of them demonstrating no relationship. Graziano et al. [22] considered sustained attention besides inhibitory control as part of cognitive self-regulation. Body weight of their preschool children, however, was only associated with the inhibitory performance but not with the attention performance. On the contrary, Cserjési et al. [24] showed the same result as for flexibility in their adolescent sample: a significant correlation of performance in the D2 sustained attention test with BMI and a significant group difference to the disadvantage of the obese. The existing inconsistencies in research literature might be due to the different age groups and to the use of different concepts and methods of the studied cognitive abilities. Hence, standardisation concerning the understanding and measurement of certain cognitions should be targeted and changes in outcomes according to stages of development should be taken into account when addressing this issue.

Besides the cognitive variables, parental body weight, BMI of mothers as well as BMI of fathers, was significantly associated with children's body weight. This finding is not surprising as it is consistent with the literature [11, 12, 14] and may be explained by genetic mechanisms as well as the shared environment. Family characteristics such as the knowledge of risk factors of overweight, eating habits, and food preferences but also physical activity patterns [46] may influence children's health behaviour and body weight. Migration background was revealed to be significantly associated with body weight as well. This finding is in line with previous national investigations [3, 11, 13]. The prevalence of overweight and obesity is found to be higher in children with migration background and the odds of overweight increased. Cultural attitudes and traditions concerning body weight and weight related behaviours (physical activity, TV consumption, and dietary habits), social integration (e.g., influencing recreational activities), and the knowledge of risk factors hampered by language barriers may explain this relationship.

Executive functions are seen to be crucial for selfregulatory behaviour [47]. They have already been related to health behaviour such as physical activity, snack food consumption, and fruit/vegetable intake in fourth graders [26]. Thus, the association with children's body weight may be mediated through more physical activity and healthy diet and less sedentary behaviour. As children just starting school are still more dependent on their parents and not completely autonomous in their planning and decision-making executive functions may, however, be crucial to appreciate and maintain new and healthy behaviour introduced by their caregivers, to control their thoughts, their behavioural impulses, and their feelings. Assuming this directionality, potential implications would be to integrate the promotion of executive functions in early obesity prevention efforts. Riggs et al. [48] suggested developing specific programme contents tailored to different obesity-risk profiles depending on certain behaviour patterns, weight consciousness (especially as children get older), and deficits in executive functions. Beyond the overweight and obesity issue, it has been shown that executive functions play an important role for success and health throughout the whole life. They are crucial for the social and emotional development, school readiness, and further academic and job success, as well as wealth and mental and physical health even in the long term [20, 21, 49, 50]. Regulating emotions in social conflicts, staying in control of oneself, adapting to rules when necessary, adopting effective problem-solving, and learning strategies are just a few examples when executive control is required. On the contrary, deficits are linked to social and health problems such as attention deficit hyperactivity disorder, obsessive compulsive disorder, depression, early school leaving early pregnancy, addiction, and criminality [20, 21]. Hence, strategies focusing on the improvement of these abilities would probably lead to positive effects in more than one health and life domain and even on a more public level (e.g., public safety and economic costs). In return, learning to cope with the different challenges in life successfully and to reduce emotional and social stress means reducing psychological risk factors for excessive weight gain again and starting a virtuous circle. There have already been national and international efforts aiming at an early improvement of executive functions in general [20, 50, 51]. These include school-based programmes and the integration of the promotion of these abilities in the official curriculum of primary schools in Germany. Thus, cognitive training in general and the integration of cognitive improvement in obesity interventions may be helpful ways to improve future generation's health and overall quality of life.

4.1. Strengths and Limitations. Results, however, should be interpreted in light of study limitations. First, the cross-sectional study design precludes any causal interpretation of the findings. Therefore, directionality of the association between cognitive functions and body weight still remains unclear: on the one hand, cognitive functions such as inhibitory control or cognitive flexibility may influence health behaviour and consequently weight development. On the other hand, body weight and variations in food intake, physical activity, and sedentary activities, for example, may also affect cognitive performance and brain development or the relationship may be bidirectional as well. Further studies are needed to clarify causality and underlying mechanisms in order to derive any implications.

Secondly, there are some limitations concerning missing data and selection bias in the present study. Due to the subsample and the missing or invalid data in the cognitive subtests and the parent questionnaire the number of subjects decreased from 1944 (in the Baden-Württemberg Study sample) to 297 in the final regression analysis. Missing data may have led to a form of selection bias. The cognitive subsample included, for example, more children with migration background. However, more children with migration background and with lower parental education level dropped out in the further data processing maybe partly due to comprehension difficulties. Furthermore, more children with higher BMI percentiles, higher consumption of sugar-sweetened beverages, and higher father's BMI were among those with missing data. Thus, children who entered the final analysis showed a more favourable profile in critical variables. Although migration background is still representative for school children in Germany, the final sample consisted of more children with higher parental education indicating a higher social status and lower body weight than usually found in the population (as reference, official statistics concerning German school children report 32.1% migration background, 23.9% tertiary parental education level, and 13.3% overweight or obesity [3, 52, 53]). On the contrary, the reduced sample size and statistical power may have led to an underestimation of significances. The inclusion of these missing cases could have potentially strengthened the final results. Furthermore, this may in part explain why no significant association between parental education and children's body weight was found.

Finally, underreporting in terms of recall bias or social desirability regarding children's lifestyle which was assessed via parental questionnaire should be taken into account and might explain the missing significant association of these variables with body weight. The objective standardised and direct measurements of cognitive and anthropometric data, on the other hand, as well as the large sample size constitute a strength of the study. Further, the focused age group is highly relevant as excessive weight gain is particularly pronounced at the age of school entry and important cognitive developments especially in executive functions relevant for a wide variety of behaviour and health outcomes take place.

5. Conclusions

In summary, cognitive abilities were significantly related to body weight of primary school children controlling for further weight influencing sociodemographic and lifestyle factors. This relationship concerns inhibitory control and cognitive flexibility, both processes considered as executive functions. As executive functions are crucial for self-regulation and disciplined behaviour including health behaviour, the finding indicates that promoting executive functions may assist in developing a healthy body weight and avoiding excessive weight gain in addition to already existing obesity prevention efforts. However, further research is necessary first, in particular longitudinal and intervention studies, to confirm the present findings, to determine the directionality of the association, and to investigate the impact of cognitive training on weight related outcomes.

Conflict of Interests

The authors declare that there is no conflict of interests.

Acknowledgments

The school-based health promotion programme "Komm mit in das gesunde Boot-Grundschule (Join the Healthy Boat-Primary School)" and its evaluation study (Baden-Württemberg Study) were financed by the Baden-Württemberg Foundation. They had no influence on the content of the paper. The authors would like to thank all members of the research group for their input: the Institute of Epidemiology and Medical Biometry, Ulm University, the Institute of Psychology and Pedagogy, Ulm University, and, further, all assistants who were involved in the performance of measurements and especially all teachers and families for their participation in the Baden-Württemberg Study.

References

- T. Lobstein, L. Baur, and R. Uauy, "Obesity in children and young people: a crisis in public health," *Obesity Reviews*, vol. 5, no. 1, pp. 4–85, 2004.
- [2] World Health Organization, *The World Health Report 2002: Reducing Risks—Promoting Healthy Life*, World Health Organization, Geneva, Switzerland, 2002.
- [3] B.-M. Kurth and A. Schaffrath Rosario, "Overweight and obesity in children and adolescents in Germany," *Bundesgesundheitsblatt—Gesundheitsforschung—Gesundheitsschutz*, vol. 53, no. 7, pp. 643–652, 2010.
- [4] S. W. Hoffmann, R. Ulrich, and P. Simon, "Refined analysis of the critical age ranges of childhood overweight: implications for primary prevention," *Obesity*, vol. 20, no. 10, pp. 2151–2154, 2012.
- [5] C. B. Ebbeling, D. B. Pawlak, and D. S. Ludwig, "Childhood obesity: public-health crisis, common sense cure," *The Lancet*, vol. 360, no. 9331, pp. 473–482, 2002.
- [6] S. S. Guo, W. Wu, W. C. Chumlea, and A. F. Roche, "Predicting overweight and obesity in adulthood from body mass index values in childhood and adolescence," *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, vol. 76, no. 3, pp. 653–658, 2002.
- [7] J. J. Reilly, E. Methven, Z. C. McDowell et al., "Health consequences of obesity," *Archives of Disease in Childhood*, vol. 88, no. 9, pp. 748–752, 2003.
- [8] J. B. Schwimmer, T. M. Burwinkle, and J. W. Varni, "Healthrelated quality of life of severely obese children and adolescents," *The Journal of the American Medical Association*, vol. 289, no. 14, pp. 1813–1819, 2003.
- [9] M. Dupuy, E. Godeau, C. Vignes, and N. Ahluwalia, "Sociodemographic and lifestyle factors associated with overweight in a representative sample of 11–15 year olds in France: results from the WHO-Collaborative Health Behaviour in School-aged Children (HBSC) cross-sectional study," *BMC Public Health*, vol. 11, article 442, 2011.
- [10] E. Haug, M. Rasmussen, O. Samdal et al., "Overweight in school-aged children and its relationship with demographic and lifestyle factors: results from the WHO-Collaborative Health Behaviour in School-aged Children (HBSC) Study," *International Journal of Public Health*, vol. 54, pp. 167–179, 2009.
- [11] G. Nagel, M. Wabitsch, C. Galm et al., "Determinants of obesity in the Ulm research on metabolism, exercise and lifestyle in children (URMEL-ICE)," *European Journal of Pediatrics*, vol. 168, no. 10, pp. 1259–1267, 2009.
- [12] J. J. Reilly, J. Armstrong, A. R. Dorosty et al., "Early life risk factors for obesity in childhood: cohort study," *The British Medical Journal*, vol. 330, no. 7504, pp. 1357–1359, 2005.
- [13] C. J. Apfelbacher, A. Loerbroks, J. Cairns, H. Behrendt, J. Ring, and U. Krämer, "Predictors of overweight and obesity in five to seven-year-old children in Germany: results from crosssectional studies," *BMC Public Health*, vol. 8, article 171, 2008.
- [14] C. Kleiser, A. Schaffrath Rosario, G. B. M. Mensink, R. Prinz-Langenohl, and B.-M. Kurth, "Potential determinants of obesity

among children and adolescents in Germany: results from the cross-sectional KiGGS study," *BMC Public Health*, vol. 9, article 46, 2009.

- [15] H. Taras and W. Potts-Datema, "Obesity and student performance at school," *Journal of School Health*, vol. 75, no. 8, pp. 291–295, 2005.
- [16] A. Datar, R. Sturm, and J. L. Magnabosco, "Childhood overweight and academic performance: national study of kindergartners and first-graders," *Obesity Research*, vol. 12, no. 1, pp. 58–68, 2004.
- [17] A. Datar and R. Sturm, "Childhood overweight and elementary school outcomes," *International Journal of Obesity*, vol. 30, no. 9, pp. 1449–1460, 2006.
- [18] K. R. S. Reinert, E. K. Poe, and S. L. Barkin, "The relationship between executive function and obesity in children and adolescents: a systematic literature review," *Journal of Obesity*, vol. 2013, Article ID 820956, 10 pages, 2013.
- [19] J. R. Best and P. H. Miller, "A developmental perspective on executive function," *Child Development*, vol. 81, no. 6, pp. 1641– 1660, 2010.
- [20] A. Diamond, W. S. Barnett, J. Thomas, and S. Munro, "The early years: preschool program improves cognitive control," *Science*, vol. 318, no. 5855, pp. 1387–1388, 2007.
- [21] T. E. Moffitt, L. Arseneault, D. Belsky et al., "A gradient of childhood self-control predicts health, wealth, and public safety," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, vol. 108, no. 7, pp. 2693–2698, 2011.
- [22] P. A. Graziano, S. D. Calkins, and S. P. Keane, "Toddler selfregulation skills predict risk for pediatric obesity," *International Journal of Obesity*, vol. 34, no. 4, pp. 633–641, 2010.
- [23] U. Pauli-Pott, Ö. Albayrak, J. Hebebrand, and W. Pott, "Association between inhibitory control capacity and body weight in overweight and obese children and adolescents: dependence on age and inhibitory control component," *Child Neuropsychology*, vol. 16, no. 6, pp. 592–603, 2010.
- [24] R. Cserjési, D. Molnár, O. Luminet, and L. Lénárd, "Is there any relationship between obesity and mental flexibility in children?" *Appetite*, vol. 49, no. 3, pp. 675–678, 2007.
- [25] J. Gunstad, M. B. Spitznagel, R. H. Paul et al., "Body mass index and neuropsychological function in healthy children and adolescents," *Appetite*, vol. 50, no. 2-3, pp. 246–251, 2008.
- [26] N. Riggs, C. P. Chou, D. Spruijt-Metz, and M. A. Pentz, "Executive cognitive function as a correlate and predictor of child food intake and physical activity," *Child Neuropsychology*, vol. 16, no. 3, pp. 279–292, 2010.
- [27] P. A. Hall, G. T. Fong, L. J. Epp, and L. J. Elias, "Executive function moderates the intention-behavior link for physical activity and dietary behavior," *Psychology & Health*, vol. 23, no. 3, pp. 309–326, 2008.
- [28] J. Dreyhaupt, B. Koch, T. Wirt et al., "Evaluation of a health promotion program in children: study protocol and design of the cluster-randomized Baden-Württemberg primary school study [DRKS-ID: DRKS00000494]," *BMC Public Health*, vol. 12, no. 1, article 157, 2012.
- [29] P. Zimmermann, M. Gondan, and B. Fimm, *KiTAP—A Test Battery of Attentional Performance for Children*, Vera Fimm, Psychologische Testsysteme, Herzogenrath, Germany, 2002.
- [30] R. Drechsler, P. Rizzo, and H.-C. Steinhausen, "Zur klinischen Validität einer computergestützten Aufmerksamkeitstestbatterie für Kinder (KITAP) bei 7- bis 10-jährigen Kindern mit ADHS [The Clinical Validity of a Computerized Test Battery for

Attentional Performance for Children]," *Kindheit und Entwicklung*, vol. 18, pp. 153–161, 2009.

- [31] A. Eikelmann, F. Petermann, and M. Daseking, "Aufmerksamkeitsstörungen nach Schlaganfällen im Kindesalter," *Zeitschrift für Kinder- und Jugendpsychiatrie und Psychotherapie*, vol. 36, no. 6, pp. 419–426, 2008.
- [32] T. Kaller, N. Langguth, R. Ganschow, B. Nashan, and K.-H. Schulz, "Attention and executive functioning deficits in livertransplanted children," *Transplantation*, vol. 90, no. 12, pp. 1567– 1573, 2010.
- [33] J. Sobeh and W. Spijkers, "Development of neuropsychological functions of attention in two cultures: a cross-cultural study of attentional performances of Syrian and German children of pre-school and school age," *European Journal of Developmental Psychology*, vol. 10, no. 3, pp. 318–336, 2013.
- [34] M. Trautmann and F. D. Zepf, "Attentional performance, age and scholastic achievement in healthy children," *PLoS ONE*, vol. 7, no. 3, Article ID e32279, 2012.
- [35] A. Knox, A. Schneider, F. Abucayan et al., "Feasibility, reliability, and clinical validity of the test of attentional performance for Children (KiTAP) in fragile X syndrome (FXS)," *Journal of Neurodevelopmental Disorders*, vol. 4, no. 1, pp. 1–12, 2012.
- [36] M. Marfell-Jones, T. Olds, A. Stewart, and L. Carter, *Interna*tional Standards for Anthropometric Assessment, ISAK, Potchefstroom, South Africa, 2006.
- [37] K. Kromeyer-Hauschild, M. Wabitsch, D. Kunze et al., "Percentiles of body mass index in children and adolescents evaluated from different regional German studies," *Monatsschrift für Kinderheilkunde*, vol. 149, no. 8, pp. 807–818, 2001.
- [38] T. J. Cole, M. C. Bellizzi, K. M. Flegal, and W. H. Dietz, "Establishing a standard definition for child overweight and obesity worldwide: international survey," *British Medical Journal*, vol. 320, no. 7244, pp. 1240–1243, 2000.
- [39] H. Brauns, S. Scherer, and S. Steinmann, "The CASMIN educational classification in international comparative research," in *Advances in Cross-National Comparison*, J. H. P. Hoffmeyer-Zlotnik and C. Wolf, Eds., pp. 221–244, Kluwer Academic/Plenum Publishers, New York, NY, USA, 2003.
- [40] American Academy of Paediatrics, "American Academy of Pediatrics: children, adolescents, and television," *Pediatrics*, vol. 107, no. 2, pp. 423–426, 2001.
- [41] S. L. Anzman and L. L. Birch, "Low inhibitory control and restrictive feeding practices predict weight outcomes," *Journal* of *Pediatrics*, vol. 155, no. 5, pp. 651–656, 2009.
- [42] A. Verdejo-García, M. Pérez-Expósito, J. Schmidt-Río-Valle et al., "Selective alterations within executive functions in adolescents with excess weight," *Obesity*, vol. 18, no. 8, pp. 1572–1578, 2010.
- [43] K. L. Lokken, A. G. Boeka, H. M. Austin, J. Gunstad, and C. M. Harmon, "Evidence of executive dysfunction in extremely obese adolescents: a pilot study," *Surgery for Obesity and Related Diseases*, vol. 5, no. 5, pp. 547–552, 2009.
- [44] E. Delgado-Rico, J. S. Río-Valle, E. González-Jiménez, C. Campoy, and A. Verdejo-García, "BMI predicts emotion-driven impulsivity and cognitive inflexibility in adolescents with excess weight," *Obesity*, vol. 20, no. 8, pp. 1604–1610, 2012.
- [45] J. Gunstad, R. H. Paul, R. A. Cohen, D. F. Tate, M. B. Spitznagel, and E. Gordon, "Elevated body mass index is associated with executive dysfunction in otherwise healthy adults," *Comprehensive Psychiatry*, vol. 48, no. 1, pp. 57–61, 2007.

- [46] N. Erkelenz, S. Kobel, S. Kettner, C. Drenowatz, and J. M. Steinacker, "Parental activity as influence on children's BMI percentiles and physical activity," *Journal of Sports Science and Medicine*, vol. 13, pp. 645–650, 2014.
- [47] M. T. Banich, "Executive function: the search for an integrated account," *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, vol. 18, no. 2, pp. 89–94, 2009.
- [48] N. R. Riggs, J. Huh, C.-P. Chou, D. Spruijt-Metz, and M. A. Pentz, "Executive function and latent classes of childhood obesity risk," *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, vol. 35, no. 6, pp. 642–650, 2012.
- [49] M. W. Fuhs, K. T. Nesbitt, D. C. Farran, and N. Dong, "Longitudinal associations between executive functioning and academic skills across content areas," *Developmental Psychology*, vol. 50, no. 6, pp. 1698–1709, 2014.
- [50] S. Kubesch and L. Walk, "Physical and cognitive training of executive functions in kindergarten and schools settings," *Sportwissenschaft*, vol. 39, no. 4, pp. 309–317, 2009.
- [51] A. Diamond, "Activities and programs that improve children's executive functions," *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, vol. 21, no. 5, pp. 335–341, 2012.
- [52] A. Moss, J. Klenk, K. Simon, H. Thaiss, T. Reinehr, and M. Wabitsch, "Declining prevalence rates for overweight and obesity in German children starting school," *European Journal* of *Pediatrics*, vol. 171, no. 2, pp. 289–299, 2012.
- [53] Statistisches Bundesamt (Destatis), Wissenschaftszentrum Berlin für Sozialforschung (WZB), and Zentrales Datenmanagement, *Datenreport 2013: Ein Sozialbericht für die Bundesrepublik Deutschland*, Data Report 2013: A Social Report of the Federal Republic of Germany, 2013, http://bpb.de.

Research Article

Feasibility and Acceptability of an Early Childhood Obesity Prevention Intervention: Results from the Healthy Homes, Healthy Families Pilot Study

Akilah Dulin Keita,¹ Patricia M. Risica,¹ Kelli L. Drenner,² Ingrid Adams,³ Gemma Gorham,¹ and Kim M. Gans⁴

¹ Institute for Community Health Promotion, Department of Behavioral and Social Sciences, Brown University, P.O. Box G-S121-8, Providence, RI 02908, USA

² Kinesiology & Health Science, Stephen F. Austin State University, P.O. Box 13015 SFA Station, Nacogdoches, TX 75962, USA

³ School of Human Environmental Sciences, University of Kentucky, Lexington, KY 40506, USA

⁴ Center for Health, Intervention, and Prevention, Department of Human Development and Family Studies, University of Connecticut, 348 Mansfield Road, Unit 1058, Room 320, Storrs, CT 06269, USA

Correspondence should be addressed to Akilah Dulin Keita; akilah_keita@brown.edu

Received 25 July 2014; Accepted 1 October 2014; Published 27 October 2014

Academic Editor: Chris Rissel

Copyright © 2014 Akilah Dulin Keita et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Background. This study examined the feasibility and acceptability of a home-based early childhood obesity prevention intervention designed to empower low-income racially/ethnically diverse parents to modify their children's health behaviors. *Methods.* We used a prospective design with pre-/posttest evaluation of 50 parent-child pairs (children aged 2 to 5 years) to examine potential changes in dietary, physical activity, and sedentary behaviors among children at baseline and four-month follow-up. *Results.* 39 (78%) parent-child pairs completed evaluation data at 4-month follow-up. Vegetable intake among children significantly increased at follow-up (0.54 cups at 4 months compared to 0.28 cups at baseline, P = 0.001) and ounces of fruit juice decreased at follow-up (11.9 ounces at 4 months compared to 16.0 ounces at baseline, P = 0.036). Sedentary behaviors also improved. Children significantly decreased time spent watching TV on weekdays (P < 0.01) and also reduced weekend TV time. In addition, the number of homes with TV sets in the child's bedroom also decreased (P < 0.0013). *Conclusions*. The findings indicate that a home-based early childhood obesity prevention intervention is feasible, acceptable and demonstrates short-term effects on dietary and sedentary behaviors of low-income racially/ethnically diverse children.

1. Introduction

Childhood obesity remains a significant public health concern. While national health and nutrition examination survey (NHANES) reports suggest that obesity may have declined among children aged 2–5 years [1], these beneficial declines have not been evidenced across all geographic regions, racial/ethnic groups, or income levels [1, 2]. Recent data from the 2008–2011 Pediatric Nutrition Surveillance System found that while there were significant decreases in obesity prevalence among low-income preschoolers in 19 US states/territories, there were no significant changes in 21 US states/territories and there were significant increases in three US states/territories [2]. Further, research findings indicate that since 2008 there have been no appreciable changes in obesity trends among low-income preschoolers in the US state of Rhode Island, with obesity prevalence remaining above 16 percent [2]. Thus, Rhode Island remains one of the US states/territories with the highest obesity prevalence among low-income preschoolers for the 43 reporting US states/territories.

Additional findings from NHANES demonstrate that since 2003 there have been no changes in childhood obesity overall [1, 3]. In fact, one-third of children remain overweight or obese; 17% are obese [1] and severe obesity (\geq Class 2 adult obesity) is increasing with 8% of children meeting

the criteria [3]. This is cause for concern because childhood obesity is associated with severe obesity in adulthood, early onset of obesity-related comorbidities such as metabolic syndrome, type 2 diabetes, cardiovascular diseases (CVD), certain cancers, negative impacts on mental health and quality of life, and increased economic and medical costs [2, 4, 5]. Recent estimates suggest that relative to a normal weight 10-year-old child the direct lifetime incremental medical cost for an obese 10-year-old is \$12,660; in the aggregate, this will account for \$9.4 billion in medical costs for this age group alone [4]. Taken together, the available evidence underscores the critical need to increase our efforts to reduce childhood obesity particularly in early life and prevent and/or delay concomitant onset of obesity-related comorbidities, the negative impacts on quality of life, and the economic consequences.

Childhood obesity is particularly prevalent among lowincome children, as well as African American and Latino children [1, 6, 7], which suggests that it is essential to develop focused, appropriate, and targeted intervention strategies in these populations [7, 8]. The prevention and treatment of overweight in youth hinges on helping children and their families develop new lifestyles and create supportive environments in which healthful eating and physical activity (PA) can be promoted [9-11]. Family-based interventions are effective in the treatment of childhood obesity [12], but most of these interventions have been time intensive and costly and therefore not sustainable or scalable after research funding ends [13]. Moreover, most have focused mainly on nonminority, middle, or high income families and older children. Thus, there is a pressing need to develop and test early childhood obesity prevention and treatment approaches for low-income and minority families that are effective but also practical, acceptable, and sustainable [8, 9].

The Institute of Medicine strongly recommends that obesity prevention intervention begins in early childhood [14] and focus on prevention efforts among children from birth to five years. This is a critical age range because the mean age at which obesity begins is 5.5 years [15–17] and BMI at age 8 is predicted by BMI at age 2 [18]. Additionally, evidence suggests that children's eating and physical activity behavioral patterns are established in early life and are more difficult to change after the age of 5 [19–21]. Intervention research findings indicate that attempts to induce children to change their food preferences are more effective with younger than older children [8]. This suggests that interventions should target younger children to prevent obesity and to help achieve the US Task Force on Childhood Obesity goal of reducing childhood obesity prevalence to 5% by 2030 [22].

Modifying the home/family environment and parent behaviors are crucial intervention components for the prevention of early childhood obesity [23]. Family environments are vital for the development of food preferences, patterns of food intake, and eating styles that shape children's weight status [24]. Parents play an important role in shaping early eating patterns in children by controlling availability and accessibility of foods, meal structure, and food socialization practices. Parent related behaviors including food-related parenting style, modelling healthful eating behaviors, encouraging physical activity, and/or discouraging sedentary behaviors convey values and attitudes that promote children's health through reinforcing specific behaviors [12, 25]. Additionally, intensive involvement of parents in interventions to change overweight children's dietary and PA behaviors contributes to long term weight maintenance [12, 25]. When interventions change parental behavior toward children, children's behaviors change correspondingly, even if the child is not directly involved in the intervention [12]. In fact, greater weight loss and higher consumption of healthy foods are achieved with parent-focused interventions compared with interventions in which children are the main agents of change [12].

Although there has been considerable growth in the number of childhood obesity prevention interventions with parents of preschool age children in a variety of settings [26-29], more intervention efforts are needed. The results from these previous interventions demonstrate that parentfocused, childhood obesity prevention interventions are feasible and effective in creating some healthy behavior changes and outcomes among both parents and preschool age children [26–28, 30]. One such intervention, the fit women, infants and children (Fit WIC) pilot program, was implemented in five US states with low-income ethnically diverse parents [31, 32] and children who participated in the US federal program, special supplemental nutrition program for women, infants and children (WIC). Results from one of the Fit WIC pilot programs found that parents made significant changes in health behaviors and increased family fitnessrelated activities [32]. Further, research findings from another Fit WIC program found that parents increased self-efficacy to limit children's TV viewing, reduced actual TV time for both parents and children, and increased physical activity among children [33]. Other studies that focus on changing parent behaviors in the home setting also have found significantly less engagement in restrictive parental feeding practices among low-income Native American parents [27] and less aversion to mealtime among preschoolers, less weight gain, and lower BMIs among both children and parents [34]. Additional intervention studies also report increased availability of fruits and vegetables in the home and increased parent role modelling of fruit and vegetable intake with concomitant increases in children's intakes [35]. However, more childhood obesity prevention interventions are needed that (1) build upon promising results of these previous studies, [26, 30] (2) combine multiple health behaviors (i.e., physical activity, sedentary behavior, and dietary components), (3) engage low-income and ethnically diverse parents, (4) focus on the home environment, (5) include tailored intervention materials, (6) incorporate effective counseling methods, and (7) use less costly intervention methods that could be more easily replicated.

Thus, the purpose of this intervention, healthy homes, healthy families (HHHF), is to address existing gaps in the literature by conducting a pilot feasibility and acceptability study of a parent-driven, home-based intervention to modify health lifestyle behaviors among low-income racially/ethnically diverse children aged 2 to 5 years. The findings from HHHF will inform the design and implementation of a future randomized controlled trial.



FIGURE 1: Healthy homes, healthy families intervention logic model.

2. Methods

2.1. Study Design. HHHF was an early childhood obesity intervention designed to encourage parents to improve healthy lifestyle behaviors related to eating and physical activity for themselves and their children. The study design was a prospective design with pretest/posttest measurement that combined telephone surveys and in-home visit measures collected at baseline and 4-month follow-up with 50 parentchild pairs. The study received approval from the Brown University Institutional Review Board. All participants received a financial incentive upon completion of each study visit.

2.2. Eligibility and Recruitment. The study recruitment occurred from 2009 to 2012, at twelve special supplemental nutrition program for women, infants and children (WIC) offices in low-income communities in Rhode Island. The research assistant approached WIC clients in the waiting room to tell them about the study and to ask if they would be interested in participating.

Interested participants were screened for eligibility. Study inclusion criteria required that participants were a parent or legal guardian of a child who was 2 to 5 years of age at the date of the baseline survey and had an age-sex specific body mass index (BMI) of 50th percentile or greater. The adult needed to be 18 years of age or older, live with the child at least 75 percent of the time, speak and read English, and be knowledgeable about the child's diet and physical activity behaviors. Eligible participants were asked to complete a baseline phone survey administered by trained interviewers using a computer automated telephone interface (CATI) system. Upon completion, research assistants were scheduled to visit the home at the convenience of the participant parent and child to complete an in-person survey, anthropometric measures, and a home audit. Verbal informed consent was received for the baseline telephone survey and then written informed consent (and verbal assent for children aged 4 and over) was received at the home visit. Upon completion of the home visit, parent-child pairs were considered enrolled. This process was repeated four months later as a follow-up assessment.

2.3. Intervention. HHHF included four sets of tailored written materials, three brief motivational interviewing (MI) telephone calls delivered by a trained lay counselor, a physical activity video tailored to the child's age, and a TV time monitoring device (TV Allowance by MINDMASTER, INC) to help parents monitor/restrict child's time spent on TV.

2.3.1. Theoretical Framework. The intervention was informed by social cognitive theory (SCT) [36-38], the conceptual model described by Golan and Weizman [39] and focus groups with the target audience and WIC nutrition counselors. The HHHF framework emphasized a familial approach to the prevention and treatment of overweight in young children with parents as the primary agent of change. As recommended by the Expert Panel of the Maternal and Child Health Bureau of Health Resources and Services Administration and Department of Health and Human Services, HHHF emphasized healthy lifestyle changes and no weight reduction [40]. HHHF focused on the formulation of new norms for healthy eating within the family through parents as role models and as sources of authority. HHHF also incorporated facilitating parental cognitive and behavioral change, increasing parenting skills and environmental change [39]. The HHHF intervention logic model is presented in Figure 1.

SCT is based on reciprocal determinism where a person's behavior, personal factors, and the environment interact constantly and where change in one domain affects changes in the other two domains [36-38]. Three major constructs of the SCT, self-regulation (personal regulation of goaldirected behavior), behavioral capability (knowledge and skills to perform specific tasks), and self-efficacy (confidence in one's ability to perform a particular behavior or overcome barriers to the behavior) were applied to HHHF intervention development. HHHF promoted self-regulation and outcome expectations through both the tailored intervention materials and the motivational interviewing (MI) components. Parents had the opportunity to choose topics for each mailing from a list of primary target behaviors that were an issue for their family. This provided opportunities for self-monitoring, decision making, and problem solving. The tailored written materials supported behavioral capability by providing the information needed for parents to modify the behaviors found to be associated with diet and PA in children and families. Parents' self-efficacy was developed by providing opportunities for them to choose to get materials to help them overcome specific barriers that they were experiencing. The MI calls offered social support and further developed selfefficacy through the exploration of desires, abilities, reasons, and needs for change [41, 42]. Counselors elicited positive outcome expectancies (benefits of change), encouraged problem solving if parents discussed barriers, and asked parents what steps they would take in the direction of change (goal setting).

2.3.2. Materials. After the baseline home assessment, study staff installed the TV monitor on the TV that the child used most often. Since the primary goal of the TV monitor was as an intervention tool to increase parents' self-efficacy for setting TV restrictions and limiting the child's time spent watching TV, we did not collect any data from this device. Approximately 1-2 weeks later, participants received their first package of tailored written intervention materials. The tailored written materials were mailed out in four stages over a 20-week period (approximately every 4 weeks), and the lay counselor MI calls occurred approximately 2 weeks after the mailing of each set of materials. A final set of tailored materials were mailed 1-2 weeks after the final counseling phone call. Materials were microtailored (tailored messages embedded into a page) or macrotailored (entire pages chosen or not). We accomplished the tailoring by using algorithms based on parents' answers to survey questions and home audit results as well as parent choice. We generated tailored feedback reports for each family on all target child behaviors, the home environment, and parent role modelling behaviors. We also personalized materials with the participant's and child's name.

The tailored printed materials focused on eight target behaviors found to be associated with obesity in children and families. These behaviors (increasing fruits and vegetables, reducing sugary drinks, limiting juice, low-fat instead of high fat milk, increasing physical activity, limiting fast food, removing TV from the child's bedroom, and limiting screen time) were all within control of the parent. If the family was not meeting the guideline for a target behavior, the computer populated a list of choices. We then presented the list to parents as areas where change was possible. Parents then chose a topic for each mailing from this list of primary target behaviors that were an issue for their family. We conducted a similar process for barriers that parents identified as problem areas such as the cost of healthy eating, cost of physical activity, children upset about changing foods or household rules, picky eaters, time for healthy eating, time for PA, children's choices/habits, lack of knowledge/skill, and lack of social support. Parents could receive up to a total of five barriers pages. In addition, parents could choose up to four tailored recipe pages.

2.3.3. Motivational Interviewing-Based Telephone Intervention. In between each of the four tailored mailings, parents received a brief motivational interviewing (MI) call designed to support their efforts to make changes to the social and physical home environment [41, 42]. The MI calls were designed to be 10–20 minutes long and to be delivered three times over the course of the intervention. These calls were digitally recorded.

We recruited four women to serve as lay MI counselors for the enrolled parents/guardians (one dropped out early due to the time commitment). We selected counselors who resided in Rhode Island and who had some experience with behavior change interventions but not specifically with MI. One counselor was Hispanic and three were non-Hispanic white and all had experience working with low-income populations. A facilitator, Dr. Drenner, trained through the motivational interviewing network of trainers (MINT), trained the lay counselors over seven evenings for a total of 12 hours. The MI training focused on the primary principles and techniques of the overall MI style and also on how these elements related to the specific behavior change targets of HHHF.

Once the telephone counseling began, Dr. Drenner monitored a random sample of the recorded telephone counseling sessions and continued coaching the counselors in group meetings and in individual sessions. She held group coaching meetings approximately biweekly both in-person and via conference call. Additionally, she held individual coaching sessions via telephone that focused on feedback on one or more of the digitally recorded telephone calls. Coaching was an opportunity for counselors to get consultation on both the content of the calls and specific behaviors related to MI. Dr. Drenner coded random counselor telephone calls using elements of the Motivational Interviewing Treatment Integrity Scale on global scores of empathy, behavior counts of reflections, and open and closed questions [41, 43].

Intervention adherence assessment included counselor's focus on (1) a specific target behavior, (2) assessment of importance and confidence of the chosen behavior, (4) goal setting, and (5) on calls 2 and 3, checking with the parent to see if they had met the set goal. Counselors elicited parents' own desire, ability, reason, and need for change and self-efficacy for change through reflection and affirmation of parents' effort to create a healthy environment for their child and family. Each participant received a tailored MI feedback page in the subsequent mailing summarizing the importance and confidence regarding the topic they discussed as well as the next step that the participant said they would take. If the counselor was unable to complete the call (after 3 phone

call attempts), the participant received an MI feedback page informing them of the missed call as well as when they would receive the next call and a set of tailored materials based on the last contact.

2.3.4. Measures

Anthropometrics. Children's and parent's/guardian's heights and weights were measured at baseline and follow-up. To obtain height measurements, children were measured without shoes using a portable stadiometer (Seca 213). Height was measured to the nearest 0.1 cm and averaged across 2 measurements. To obtain weight measurements, children wore light clothing and were weighed without shoes to the nearest 0.1 kg using a digital scale (Tanita BWB-800S Digital Scale). The average of 2 weight measurements was taken. BMI was calculated using the formula kg/m², from which the BMI for age-sex specific percentiles was calculated using the centers for disease control and prevention (CDC) 2000 growth charts.

Dietary Habits. At the time of study implementation, there was not a well validated dietary assessment tool for preschoolers that comprehensively assessed children's intake of the foods and beverages we were trying to change; so we modified questions on existing validated tools to be appropriate for asking parents about their child's intake. To assess the child's fruit, vegetable, sugar sweetened beverage, and soda intakes, we adapted items from the validated National Cancer Institute (NCI) fruit and vegetable all-day screener which measures participants' usual consumption over the past month. The all-day screener was validated by conducting cognitive interviews with adults and examining correlations of the measure with four nonconsecutive 24-hour dietary recalls (r = 0.50) [44]. To determine frequency of food/beverage intake, the original survey asked the following: "over the last month, how often did you drink/eat [item]?" There were 10 response options ranging from never to 5 or more times per day. To assess portion size, the survey asked the following: "each time you drank/ate [item], how much did you usually drink/eat?" Response options corresponded to the frequency and portion size of the respective food/beverage. For the HHHF study, we substituted each statement with "Your Child" instead of "You" so that we could assess children's intakes [44]. We also modified these portion size choices to be appropriate for amounts that a preschooler would consume using the MY Plate recommendations for young children [45, 46].

We also obtained questions used in the Fit WIC [32] study to assess parent reports of their children's water, milk, and 100 percent fruit juice intakes and children's frequency of eating at fast food restaurants [32]. These items were not validated but were modified from existing child-based questionnaires to be appropriate for preschool age children [32]. These questions have also been recommended for inclusion in national surveillance data collection by the New South Wales Centre for Public Health Nutrition in Australia [47].

Physical Activity. We assessed children's outdoor playing time using a validated measure developed by Burdette and

colleagues for preschool children's activity [48]. The correlation of the outdoor play measure with accelerometer data was r = 0.20 [48]. Parents reported the time (in minutes) that children engaged in weekday outdoor activity and weekend outdoor activity.

Sedentary Behaviors. Parents reported children's TV use including the number of hours of TV/video/DVD/playing the child "usually watches" on weekdays and weekend days [49]. We also asked parents to report whether the child watches TV during meals and snacks. These questions have demonstrated high test-retest reliability (r = 0.94) with older children [50] and have been used successfully in studies with children 1–5 years of age [49–51].

Parent Behaviors. We assessed parent behaviors related to role modelling, the home food environment, family support for PA, family encouragement for PA/diet, and parent household rules related to PA/diet. To examine parent role modelling, we adapted items from the Home Environment Survey developed by Gattshall et al. [52]. We modified these items to align with HHHF outcomes based on results from indepth cognitive interviews with HHHF parents. Example items include "on how many days last week did your child see you walk to get from place-to-place instead of drive?" and "on how many days last week, did your child see you eating fast food?" To examine the home food environment, we developed items specific to HHHF intervention outcomes including the number of times per day the parent provided the child with fruits and vegetables, the number of days per week the child consumed low-fat milk, and the number of days per week that healthy/unhealthy foods were available (See Table 3).

We examined parental support for child physical activity using three items from the Aventuras Para Niños study to inquire about parents/family activity together and transportation [53]. Response options ranged from 1 to 7 days per week. We also included a separate item about family support for the child to play outside that was developed specifically for this study. We also adapted items from the Aventuras Para Niños study [54] that examined whether parents provided praise/encouragement for children's diet and physical activity behaviors; we also created additional questions that were adapted to HHHF outcomes. Example questions included "on how many days this past week did you praise your child for eating fruits and vegetables" and "on how many days this week did you praise your child for being physically active." We also examined parents' household rules related to diet/PA using items adapted from the Aventuras Para Niños Study and items developed specifically to the HHHF intervention outcomes [53, 54]. Based on pretest results from the cognitive interviews with HHHF participants, we modified the items and response options from the Aventuras Para Niños Study. Sample items include "how often do you limit the amount of time your child spends watching TV or videos" and "how often do you limit the amount of 100% fruit juice your child drinks." Response options ranged from 1 = never to 5 = always.

Demographics. Parents self-reported parent and child gender, race, ethnicity, and age. Parents also self-reported marital

status and socioeconomic status-related variables including employment, education, and total annual household income. Additional parent-reported demographics included household composition and food insecurity (i.e., how often the parent worried about having enough food in the home).

2.4. Data Analysis. Demographic variables were collected for parent, as well as the child, and categorized as follows: gender (male versus female), race (White, Black, Asian, Native Hawaiian or other Pacific Island, American Indian or Alaska Native, mixed race, other), and ethnicity (Hispanic versus non-Hispanic). Mean age and BMI were determined and treated as continuous variables. Descriptive statistics were computed with frequencies and proportions for categorical variables and means for continuous variables. Chi square tests were used to compare categorical psychosocial data and categorical demographic variables. General linear models were constructed to compare mean differences of dietary intake, physical activity, sedentary behaviors, child BMI, and parent behaviors pre-/posttest. Significance criterion was set at α < 0.05. All analyses were performed using SAS version 9.3 (SAS Institute, Cary, NC).

3. Results

Figure 2 presents the study recruitment flow diagram. Of the 143 potential child-parent pairs initially recruited by the research assistant, 7 were ineligible to complete additional screening. A total of 136 parent-child pairs were eligible to complete the phone survey; 59 completed the survey, 18 declined to participate, 43 were unable to be contacted, and 16 were ineligible to continue the screening process. Fifty-nine eligible parent-child pairs scheduled the in-person survey and home audit. At this stage, 4 declined to participate and 5 were unable to be contacted leaving a total of 50 parent-child pairs who enrolled in the intervention. At four-month followup, 39 parent-child pairs (78%) completed both the telephone and the home audit components of the evaluation, 2 declined to participate, and 9 were unable to be contacted.

Baseline demographic and BMI characteristics of the participating children and parents/guardians are presented in Table 1. Children enrolled averaged 3 years, 7 months of age, with parents/guardians averaging 31 years. All of the adult participants were parents and 98% of them were women. Forty percent of the parents described themselves as Hispanic, with 50% of the enrolled children being described as Hispanic. Almost half (48%) of the parents were White, 14% Black, and 4% mixed race and 38% of children were White, 14% Black, and 14% mixed race. Just over half (54%) of the parents were single, 36% were married, and the remaining 10% reported that they were separated or divorced. About one-quarter each of the participating parents were employed full time, part time, or unemployed, with an additional 12% homemakers, 10% students, and 4% disabled. The educational level attained for participating parents/guardians reached high school or general educational development (GED) credential for the highest proportion (46%) and some college or an associate's degree for 32%. The remaining group included those with less than high school education (8%),



FIGURE 2: Healthy homes, healthy families intervention recruitment flow diagram.

technical or vocational school (6%), and either a bachelors (6%) or postgraduate degree (2%). Just over one-third of the families had no other children in the home, but roughly a quarter each reported one or two children and 16% reported 3 or more other children in the home. Also, over one-third of parents/guardians were the sole adult at home, with 42% reporting two adults and 10% reporting three or more. Slightly more than one-fourth of parents/guardians reported food insecurity (concern over having enough food). Household income was generally low: 14% of parent-child pairs resided in households with <\$6,000 per year and 20% in \$6–\$11,999 per year. Only 4% of parent-child pairs resided in households where the total annual income was between \$24–\$29,999 and 14% in the \$36,000 or higher income group.

The average BMI of the children enrolled in HHHF was at the 65th percentile for age and sex. The recruited children were mostly within the range of 50th–85th percentile (72%), with an additional 14% each in the overweight (\geq 85th, <95th %ile) and obese (\geq 95th %ile) categories. The parents/guardians averaged a BMI of 29 kg/m². The highest proportion of adult participants were obese (48% with

Journal of Obesity

TABLE 1: Demographic characteristics of the 50 parent-child pairs in healthy homes, healthy families.

Variable	Mean \pm SD or $n(\%)$
Parent gender (female)	49 (98)
Relationship to child	
Mother	49 (98)
Father	1 (2)
Percent Hispanic or Latino? (parent)	20 (40)
Percent Hispanic or Latino? (child)	25 (50)
Race (parent)	24 (48)
White	7 (14)
Black	1 (2)
Asian	1 (2)
Native Hawaiian or other Pacific Island	3 (6)
American Indian or Alaska Native	4 (2)
Mixed race	12 (24)
Other	24 (48)
Race (child)	
White	19 (38)
Black	7 (14)
Asian	1 (2)
Native Hawaiian or other Pacific Island	1 (2)
American Indian or Alaska Native	3 (6)
Mixed race	7 (14)
Other	12 (24)
Marital status	
Single	27 (54)
Married	18 (36)
Divorced	1 (2)
Separated	4 (8)
Employment status	
Employed full time	12 (24)
Employed part time	13 (26)
Unemployed	12 (24)
Disabled	2 (4)
Student	5 (10)
Homemaker	6 (12)
Education	
Less than high school	4 (8)
High school or general educational development credential (GED)	26 (46)
Vocational or technical school or Some college or associate degree	19 (38)
Bachelor's degree	3 (6)
Postgraduate degree	1 (2)
Number of other children living in household	
0	17 (34)
1	13 (26)

TABLE 1: Continued.

Variable	Mean \pm SD or n (%)
2	12 (24)
3	5 (10)
4	2 (4)
5	1 (2)
Number of adults (including yourself) living in household	
1	18 (36)
2	21 (42)
3	6 (12)
4	3 (6)
5	1 (2)
6	1 (2)
Worried about not having enough food (yes)	14 (28)
Annual household income	
<\$6,000	7 (14)
\$6,000 to \$11,999	10 (20)
\$12,000 to \$17,999	4 (8)
\$18,000 to \$23,999	10 (20)
\$24,000 to \$29,999	5 (10)
\$30,000 to \$35,999	2 (4)
\$36,000	7 (14)
Don't know or refused	5 (10)
BMI category (parent)	
Underweight	4 (2)
Healthy weight	14 (28)
Overweight	10 (20)
Obese	24 (48)
BMI category (child)	
Underweight (<5th percentile)	0
Within range (5th to <85th percentile)	36 (72)
Overweight (85th to <95th percentile)	7 (14)
Obese (≥95th percentile)	7 (14)
Mean Age	
Parent or guardian	28.38 ± 6.18
Child (age in months)	43.12 ± 11.88
Mean BMI	
Parent or guardian	29.81 ± 8.21
Mean BMI %ile for age and sex	
Child	65.36 ± 27.48

BMI \ge 30), 20% were overweight (BMI \ge 25, <30), 28% were normal weight, and 4% were underweight.

3.1. Process Evaluation. Process evaluation measures are presented in Table 2. According to parent reports on the followup survey, over 72% of parents received three MI calls, 19% received two calls, 2.7% received no calls, and 5.5% reported other. However, according to process evaluation data from

 TABLE 2: Process evaluation data.

Variable	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)
Health coach overall					
	None	One	Two	Three	Other
How many phone calls did you receive from the health coach (reported by participants)	0 (0)	1 (2.78)	7 (19.44)	26 (72.22)	2 (5.56)
Actual calls completed according to counselors	4 (8)	13 (26)	25 (50)	8 (16)	
	Not at all	A little bit	Some	A lot	
How much did the health coach make you think about your child's health	1 (2.56)	2 (5.13)	9 (23.08)	27 (69.23)	
How much did you feel understood by the health coach	0 (0)	1 (2.56)	9 (23.08)	29 (74.36)	
	Agree a lot	Agree a little	Neither agree nor disagree	Disagree a little	Disagree a lot
The health coach					
Made it comfortable for me to talk about my child's health	34 (87.18)	1 (2.56)	4 (10.26)	0 (0)	0 (0)
Respected me	36 (92.31)	0 (0)	3 (7.69)	0 (0)	0 (0)
Helped me to think about why health changes might be important to my child	30 (76.92)	4 (10.26)	3 (7.69)	1 (2.56)	1 (2.56)
Expressed caring and understanding when talking with me about my child's health	35 (89.74)	1 (2.56)	2 (5.13)	0 (0)	1 (2.56)
Addressed my concerns about my child's health	33 (84.62)	2 (5.13)	2 (5.13)	1 (2.56)	1 (2.56)
Helped me to set a goal for positive changes in my child's health	28 (71.79)	7 (17.95)	3 (7.69)	1 (2.56)	0 (0)
I felt pressured by the health coach to make changes in my child's health	2 (5.13)	0 (0)	3 (7.69)	2 (5.13)	32 (82.05)
The HHHF materials					
Were written specifically for you	26 (68.42)	4 (10.53)	5 (13.16)	3 (7.89)	0 (0)
Had information you could use	31 (81.58)	4 (10.53)	1 (2.63)	1 (2.63)	1 (2.63)
Had information you could believe	27 (71.05)	8 (21.05)	3 (7.89)	0 (0)	0 (0)
Were easy to read	36 (94.74)	2 (5.26)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)
The TV monitor					
Was easy to use	17 (73.91)	2 (8.70)	0 (0)	1 (4.35)	3 (13.04)
Was useful	10 (43.48)	4 (17.39)	2 (8.70)	2 (8.70)	5 (21.74)
Is a great tool for parents because it is a "set it and forget it" device for them	13 (56.52)	4 (17.39)	3 (13.04)	1 (4.35)	2 (8.70)
Helped your child spend more time doing physically active things	11 (47.83)	2 (8.70)	4 (17.39)	2 (8.70)	4 (17.39)

the counselors, fewer calls were completed; 16% of parents received three calls, 50% received two calls, 26% received one call, and 8% received no calls.

Parents/guardians reported that the health coach made them "think about their child's health a lot" (69%) and "felt understood by the health coach a lot" (74%). A very high proportion of parents/guardians agreed a lot that "they felt respected" (92%), that "the health coach expressed caring and understanding when discussing their child's health" (89%), and that "the health coach made it comfortable for [the parent] to talk about their child's health" (87%). Also, the parents/guardians agreed a lot that "the health coach addressed concerns about the child's health" (84%), "helped [the parent] to think about why health changes might be important to the child" (77%), and "helped [the parent] to set goals for positive change in the child's life" (71%).

Most parents reported receiving three (45%) or four (42%) mailings, and the majority read all or most of them (82%). Most parents found the materials somewhat (34%) or very (55%) interesting and 95% reported that "they were very clearly written." Parents agreed a lot that "the materials were easy to read" (95%), "had information they could use," (82%) or believe (71%), and "were written especially for [the parent]" (68%). At the time of the four-month follow-up,

Journal of Obesity

Variable	BL intervention group mean \pm Std. Dev (95% CI) (<i>n</i>)		Change (BL to M4) intervention group mean \pm Std. Dev (95% CI) (n)	P value
BMI				
Child BMI for age	65.36 ± 27.48 (57.55–73.17) (50)	63.82 ± 29.73 (54.19–73.46) (39)	-1.77 ± 10.93 (-5.31-1.78) (39)	0.319
Food habits				
Servings of vegetables/day	0.28 ± 0.34 (0.19-0.38) (50)	0.54 ± 0.64 (0.33-0.75) (39)	0.28 ± 0.53 (0.11-0.45) (39)	0.001*
Servings of fruit/day	0.96 ± 1.13 (0.64-1.28) (50)	1.17 ± 1.17 (0.78–1.56) (37)	0.21 ± 1.04 (-0.13-0.56) (37)	0.222
Ounces of 100% fruit juice/day	16.01 ± 15.10 (11.72–20.30) (50)	$11.94 \pm 11.14 \\ (8.33-15.55) (39)$	-3.92 ± 11.27 (-7.570.27) (39)	0.036*
Ounces of sweetened drinks and soda/day	8.80 ± 18.52 (3.48–14.12) (49)	5.06 ± 12.77 (0.86–9.25) (38)	-4.23 ± 19.65 (-10.78-2.32) (37)	0.198
Oz/day child drinks water	13.98 ± 13.47 (10.77–17.85) (49)	13.42 ± 8.52 (10.62–16.22) (38)	0.61 ± 9.31 (-2.46-3.67) (38)	0.691
Oz/day child drinks milk	15.40 ± 9.78 (12.62–18.18) (50)	13.44 ± 6.88 (11.21–15.67) (39)	-0.46 ± 8.20 (-3.12-2.20) (39)	0.727
Times/week child eats fast food	1.16 ± 1.23 (0.81–1.51) (50)	0.86 ± 0.83 (0.59–1.13) (39)	-0.29 ± 1.06 (-0.64-0.05) (39)	0.091
Physical activity habits (min)				
Weekday child exercises	194.98 ± 171.56 (145.70–244.26) (49)	164.21 ± 170.42 (108.20-220.23) (38)	-13.35 ± 138.86 (-59.65-32.95) (37)	0.562
Weekend day child exercises	206.02 ± 185.71 (152.68–259.36) (49)	182.90 ± 169.28 (128.02-237.77) (39)	5.74 ± 132.50 (-37.82-49.29) (38)	0.791
Weekday child spends playing outside	96.80 ± 107.49 (66.25–127.35) (50)	59.51 ± 58.14 (40.66–78.36) (39)	-22.28 ± 59.33 (-41.523.05) (39)	0.024^{*}
Weekend day child spends playing outside	136.40 ± 126.76	70.67 ± 73.91	-41.13 ± 91.99	0.008^{*}

(46.71-94.62) (39)

 110.77 ± 81.19

(84.45-137.09) (39)

 133.72 ± 91.16

(104.17-163.27) (39)

(100.37-172.43) (50)

 146.90 ± 98.71

(118.85–174.95) (50) 149.00 ± 96.27

TABLE 3: Changes in child outcomes from baseline to month 4 and change scores for healthy homes, healthy families participants

(121.64-176.36) (50) * Indicates significant group differences, P < 0.05.

Sedentary behavior (min)

Weekday child spends watching TV

Weekend day child spends watching TV

87% were still using the written materials and 71% had shared the materials with others.

The TV monitor received somewhat mixed results. The monitor was used always or often (33%), sometimes (13%), but also rarely or never (35%), or the parents/guardians chose not to have a TV monitor (18%). Most parents/guardians (74%) agreed a lot that "the device was easy to use." However, only about half of participating parents/guardians agreed a lot that "the monitor was useful" (43%) and "was a great tool because they could set it and forget it" (57%) and that "the device helped the child spend more time doing physically active things" (48%). Most parents disagreed a lot (52%) or a little (9%) that "the child would get upset when the TV monitor was turned on."

3.2. Intervention Outcome Evaluation. Baseline and change in child outcome measures are presented in Table 3. At baseline, parents reported that children consumed 0.28 cups of vegetables and 0.96 cups of fruit each day. Also, children consumed a mean of 16 ounces of 100% fruit juice and 8.8 ounces of sweetened drinks per day. Children also averaged 14 ounces of water and 15 ounces of milk consumption per day. Parents also reported children eating fast food just over one time per week. Parents reported that children engaged in physical activity and averaged 195 minutes on week days and 206 minutes on weekends. Also, children averaged 97 minutes on week days and 136 minutes on weekends of outside play. Conversely, children also engaged in sedentary behaviors and averaged 147 minutes on week days and 149 minutes on weekend days watching TV.

(-70.95 - -11.31)(39)

 -49.87 ± 99.88

(-82.25--17.49) (39)

 -20.38 ± 119.80

(-59.22 - 18.45)(39)

 0.003^{*}

0.294

Although mean BMI percentile did decrease (-1.77 kg/ m^2) from baseline to month 4, this change was not significant. However, significant change was found in children's daily vegetable intake. Higher intake was reported at month 4 of follow-up (0.54 cups) compared with baseline (0.28 cups, P =0.001). In addition, significant reductions were observed in mean ounces of fruit juice consumed each day (11.94 ounces at 4 months compared to 16.01 ounces at baseline, P = 0.036).

While there were no significant changes in intakes for other beverages, all changes were in the direction expected with 4-ounce reductions in sweetened beverage intakes per day and a 0.6-ounce increase in water intake per day. Also, the reduction in the number of times in which children consume fast food each week approached statistical significance (P =0.09). Physical activity and sedentary behaviors also changed over the course of the intervention. From baseline to 4 months, reported minutes of time spent playing outside significantly decreased (97 minutes on weekdays and 136 minutes on weekend days at baseline compared to 60 minutes on weekdays and 71 minutes on weekend days at 4 months P = 0.0243 weekday; P = 0.0082 weekend). However, parents/guardians reported that children spent less time watching TV on weekdays (111 minutes compared with 147 minutes per day at baseline, P < 0.01; weekend TV time also decreased by 20 minutes, but this change was not statistically different. We also observed that the percent of households with TVs present in the child's bedroom significantly decreased from 70% to 60%, P < 0.0013 from baseline to follow-up (data not shown in table).

Baseline and 4-month change in parent behaviors related to parent role modelling, the home food environment, family support for PA, family encouragement for PA/diet, and parent household rules are presented in Table 4. Parent role modelling: parents reported significant increases in the days that their child saw them drink low-fat milk (0.87 days, P = 0.0324) and there was a borderline significant decrease in the number of days that their child saw them eating fast food (-0.33 days, P = 0.0513). Parents reported statistically significant increases in the number of days that their child saw them walking from place-to-place (0.71, P =(0.0292) and exercising (0.72, P = 0.0094). Parents also reported a statistically significant decrease in the average minutes per day that their child saw them watching TV (-47.18 min, P = 0.0158). The home food environment: parents reported an increase in the number of times that they gave their child 1% or skim milk (1.13 times, P = 0.0350). Family support for PA: there were no significant changes in family support for PA from baseline to four-month followup. Family encouragement for PA/diet: parents at follow-up were more likely to praise their child for drinking low-fat milk (2.2 days compared with 0.9 days per week, P = 0.0181) and for eating fruits and vegetables (4.5 days compared with 2.6 days per week, P < 0.0001). Also, parents were more likely after the intervention to encourage their child to watch less TV (4.3 days compared to 2.4 days per week, P = 0.0105). Parent household rules: most parents at follow-up were more likely to limit the number of days that their child spent playing video games (3.51 days compared to 3.22 days, P = 0.0271). Also, parents were more likely to limit the number of days that their child drank 100% juice (3.15 days compared to 2.5 days, P = 0.0017) and limit the number of days that their child ate fast food (4.44 days compared to 3.82 days, P = 0.0099).

4. Discussion

The main objective of this study was to examine the feasibility of a home-based early childhood obesity intervention to modify parent and child health behaviors. This pilot intervention showed great promise in demonstrating that a homebased intervention could be successful in changing some parental behaviors as well as dietary and sedentary behaviors of children. Many changes were either statistically significant or in the posited direction, which is impressive given that the sample size was only 50 parent-child pairs and the intervention was monthly for only four months in duration. Overall, participating parents/guardians reported positively on the components of the intervention. The telephone counselors were well received and the tailored written materials were well used. While there were some discrepancies in parent reports of receipt of MI counseling calls, we think this could be due to the parents confusing the counseling calls with the baseline and follow-up evaluation calls or confusing attempts to reach them with actual MI calls. However, the response to the TV monitor was somewhat mixed; though some parents/guardians seemed to fully use the device others did not report using it at all. The overall pilot feasibility, intervention findings, and parent reported acceptability demonstrate significant potential for HHHF to be implemented as a future randomized controlled trial for the prevention of childhood obesity. Additionally, we had good participant retention at four-month follow-up.

The current study also found significant improvements in children's daily servings of vegetables and reductions in 100% juice intake, but no statistically significant changes in sweetened beverage, water, milk intake, or fast food consumption were evidenced. On average, children's total servings of vegetables almost doubled over the course of the intervention. However, these intake levels are still lower than recommendations for children of this age (1 to 1.5 cups each of fruits and vegetables per day) [45]. Many of the other dietary changes, especially reductions in sweetened beverage and fast food intake, might have been statistically significant with a larger sample size. Research findings from other early childhood interventions and systematic review studies also found that increases in fruit and/or vegetable intake were key behavioral changes made but that there were no changes made in sweetened beverage intake or fast food consumption [30, 35, 55, 56]. In contrast, results from the ROMP & Chomp community-wide intervention with young children in Geelong, Australia, found both significant reductions in nutrient-poor energy dense foods and sugar sweetened beverage intakes and also increased fruit, vegetable, and water intakes [21].

It is important to note that more than one-fourth of HHHF participating parents identified food insecurity as a key concern, which may have affected intervention efficacy. The finding of high levels of parent reported food insecurity is similar to reports from other interventions with low-income parents of young children [9]. The HHHF intervention did include practical strategies for low-resource households such as choosing produce that is in season and healthy options for frozen or canned products. However, future interventions TABLE 4: Changes in parent behaviors from baseline to month 4 and change scores for healthy homes, healthy families participants.

Variable	BL Mean ± Std. Dev (<i>n</i>) (95% CI)	M4 Mean ± Std. Dev (<i>n</i>) (95% CI)	Change BL to M4 Mean \pm Std. Dev (n) (95% CI)	P value (2 sided)
Parent role modelling of food practices				
Times/day child saw you eat fruit or vegetables w/meal	2.44 ± 2.03 (50) (1.86–3.02)	2.42 ± 2.05 (38) (1.75–3.09)	0.11 ± 3.22 (38) (-0.95-1.16)	0.8414
Times/day child saw you eat fruit or vegetables as a snack	1.90 ± 2.01 (50) (1.33–2.47)	1.77 ± 1.51 (39) (1.28–2.26)	-0.03 ± 2.42 (39) (-0.81-0.76)	0.9476
Days child saw you drink low-fat milk	1.74 ± 2.62 (50) (1.00–2.48)	2.41 ± 2.90 (39) (1.47–3.35)	0.87 ± 2.45 (39) (0.08–1.67)	0.0324*
Days child saw you eating fast food	$\begin{array}{c} 1.30 \pm 1.37 \\ (50) \ (0.911.69) \end{array}$	0.90 ± 1.33 (39) (0.47–1.33)	-0.33 ± 1.03 (39) (-0.67-0)	0.0513
Times/day child saw you drink sweetened drinks	$\frac{1.84 \pm 1.60}{(50) (1.39 - 2.29)}$	1.49 ± 1.32 (39) (1.06–1.91)	-0.15 ± 1.91 (39) (-0.77-0.47)	0.6184
Parent role modelling of activity practices				
Days child saw you walk from place to place	1.41 ± 2.21 (49) (0.77–2.04)	1.77 ± 2.38 (39) (1.00-2.54)	0.71 ± 1.93 (38) (0.08–1.34)	0.0292^{*}
Days child saw you exercising	0.73 ± 1.45 (49) (0.32–1.15)	1.54 ± 2.16 (39) (0.84–2.24)	0.72 ± 1.64 (39) (0.19–1.25)	0.0094^{*}
Min/day child saw you watching TV	131.90 ± 100.58 (50) (103.31–160.49)	88.08 ± 58.62 (39) (69.07–107.08)	-47.18 ± 116.61 (39) (-84.989.38)	0.0158*
Min/day child saw you playing on computer	73.60 ± 109.44 (50) (42.50–104.70)	50.38 ± 77.75 (39) (25.18–75.59)	-17.05 ± 68.86 (39) (-39.37-5.27)	0.1303
Parental support for child's physical activity				
Days you did physically active things w/your child	2.20 ± 2.15 (50) (1.59–2.81)	2.46 ± 2.17 (39) (1.76–3.17)	0.28 ± 2.65 (39) (-0.58-1.14)	0.5095
Days you did physically active things as a family	1.80 ± 1.82 (50) (1.28–2.32)	1.33 ± 1.80 (39) (0.75–1.92)	-0.41 ± 2.05 (39) (-1.07-0.25)	0.2187
Days/week you took child to be physically active	3.40 ± 2.09 (50) (2.81–3.99)	2.97 ± 2.24 (39) (2.25–3.70)	-0.38 ± 3.01 (39) (-1.36-0.59)	0.4305
Days/week you suggested child to play outside	3.46 ± 2.62 (50) (2.72-4.20)	2.44 ± 2.01 (39) (1.78–3.09)	-0.79 ± 3.06 (39) (-1.79-0.20)	0.1133
Home food environment				
Times/day you gave child fruit to eat	1.86 ± 1.22 (49) (1.51–2.21)	2.21 ± 1.49 (39) (1.72–2.69)	$\begin{array}{c} 0.47 \pm 1.62 \\ (38) \ (-0.06 - 1.01) \end{array}$	0.0802
Times/day you gave child vegetables to eat	1.78 ± 1.52 (50) (1.35–2.21)	1.64 ± 1.22 (39) (1.24–2.04)	-0.05 ± 1.69 (39) (-0.60-0.49)	0.8503
Days/week you have cut up fv for child to eat	3.88 ± 2.60 (50) (3.14-4.62)	3.81 ± 2.22 (32) (3.01–4.61)	$\begin{array}{c} 0.22 \pm 2.71 \\ (32) \ (-0.76 - 1.20) \end{array}$	0.6510
Days per week the child consumed low-fat milk	3.84 ± 3.21 (50) (2.93–4.75)	4.64 ± 3.14 (39) (3.62–5.66)	$\frac{1.13 \pm 3.22}{(39) (0.08-2.17)}$	0.0350^{*}
Days/week had soda in your home for child to drink	0.82 ± 1.84 (50) (0.30–1.34)	0.90 ± 1.70 (39) (0.35–1.45)	-0.05 ± 2.03 (39) (-0.71-0.61)	0.8752
Days/week you had sweetened drinks in your home for child to drink	2.90 ± 2.87 (50) (2.08–3.72)	2.85 ± 2.87 (39) (1.92–3.78)	-0.31 ± 3.13 (39) (-1.32-0.71)	0.5429
Days/week you had sweets for child to eat	3.94 ± 2.67 (50) (3.18-4.70)	3.74 ± 2.59 (39) (2.90–4.58)	-0.64 ± 2.99 (39) (-1.61-0.33)	0.1881
Days/week you had salty snack for child to eat	2.88 ± 2.50 (50) (2.17–3.59)	3.36 ± 2.45 (39) (2.56–4.15)	0.13 ± 2.68 (39) (-0.74-1.00)	0.7665
Parent praise/encouragement for diet and/PA				
Days/week you praised child for drinking low-fat milk	0.92 ± 2.13 (50) (0.32–1.52)	2.23 ± 3.14 (39) (1.21–3.25)	1.26 ± 3.18 (39) (0.23–2.29)	0.0181*
Days/week you praised child for eating fv	2.63 ± 2.58 (49) (1.89–3.37)	4.51 ± 2.58 (39) (3.68–5.35)	1.85 ± 2.42 (39) (1.06–2.63)	< 0.0001*

	BL	M4	Change BL to M4	
Variable	Mean \pm Std. Dev (<i>n</i>) (95% CI)	Mean \pm Std. Dev (<i>n</i>) (95% CI)	Mean \pm Std. Dev (<i>n</i>) (95% CI)	<i>P</i> value (2 sided)
Days/week you praised child for not drinking sweetened drinks	1.06 ± 2.26 (49) (0.41–1.71)	1.51 ± 2.43 (39) (0.73–2.30)	0.53 ± 2.48 (38) (-0.29-1.34)	0.1988
Days/week you encouraged child to watch less TV	2.40 ± 2.60 (50) (1.66–3.14)	4.31 ± 2.24 (26) (3.40–5.21)	1.35 ± 2.48 (26) (0.34–2.35)	0.0105*
Days/week you praised child for being physically active	2.88 ± 2.90 (49) (2.05–3.71)	3.54 ± 2.78 (39) (2.64–4.44)	0.49 ± 2.99 (39) (-0.48-1.46)	0.3153
Parent household rules				
Limit number of days child spends watching TV/videos	3.22 ± 1.28 (50) (2.86–3.58)	3.51 ± 1.32 (39) (3.09–3.94)	0.46 ± 1.25 (39) (0.06–0.87)	0.0271*
Limit number of days child plays video games	4.48 ± 1.76 (50) (3.98–4.98)	4.56 ± 1.70 (39) (4.01–5.11)	0.31 ± 1.70 (39) (-0.24-0.86)	0.2665
Limit number of days child spends on computer	4.54 ± 1.80 (50) (4.03–5.00)	5.00 ± 1.54 (39) (4.50–5.50)	0.56 ± 1.94 (39) (-0.07-1.19)	0.0779
Limit number of days child drinks 100% juice	2.50 ± 1.39 (50) (2.11–2.89)	3.15 ± 1.44 (39) (2.69–3.62)	0.62 ± 1.14 (39) (0.25–0.98)	0.0017
Limit number of days child eats fast food	3.82 ± 1.22 (50) (3.47–4.17)	4.44 ± 1.05 (39) (4.10–4.78)	0.69 ± 1.59 (39) (0.18–1.21)	0.0099

TABLE 4: Continued.

* Indicates significant group differences, *P* < 0.05.

should continue to acknowledge the resource limitations of low-income ethnically diverse households by strengthening these components further. Additional practical strategies that might improve intervention efficacy for low-resource households might include community gardening [57] and bonus buck programs for farmers markets [58].

Contrary to our hypotheses, we found unexpected declines in parent reports of children's outdoor playing time on both weekdays and weekend days. On average, parents reported that children participated in one hour less of total daily outdoor physical activity at the four-month follow-up assessment. These findings are disconcerting because early childhood physical activity patterns track into adulthood and high levels of physical activity in early childhood mitigate physical activity declines evidenced during adolescence [20]. The National Association for Sport and Physical Education recommends that young children (birth to age of 5) engage in 120 minutes of daily physical activity with 60 minutes of structured and 60 minutes of unstructured physical activity [59]. Parents in HHHF reported that children were physically active between 164 and 206 minutes per day. While other research findings suggest that, in the US, the majority of young children meet the daily recommendations [20, 60–62], we think the estimates from the HHHF parents are likely overestimates. Parents made anecdotal comments like "my child is hyper," and we think that they may have misjudged physical activity for motion. Other studies have also found that parents overestimate children's physical activity [63, 64]. For example, Corder et al. found that 80 percent of parents in an obesity prevention study in San Diego, California, overestimated their child's physical activity [64].

We also tested the hypothesis that seasonality may have influenced changes in outdoor physical activity from baseline to four months. There were no significant differences in baseline physical activity (weekday or weekend) between summer/early fall relative to fall/winter group participants. Also, seasonality did not significantly affect changes in weekday outdoor physical activity (P = 0.238). The lack of significance for weekday activity may have been mitigated by daycare/school recess and outdoor physical activity polices. However, participants who were assessed at four-month follow-up during the late fall experienced significantly larger declines in minutes of weekend outdoor physical activity relative to the group who was assessed at four-month followup during the winter months $(-71.8 \text{ minutes relative to } -12 \text{ minutes } -12 \text{ minutes$ minutes, P = 0.408). It is also possible that the significant reductions in physical activity observed over the course of the intervention were due to the timing (seasonality), but other explanations could also include initial overreporting of physical activity by parents and realization of this overreporting after participating in the intervention. These findings suggest that the future interventions should devote more efforts to preserving and/or increasing children's physical activity levels, especially on weekend days. In addition, future research with families of young children should not rely on self-reports but instead use objective measures such as accelerometry and give parents tailored feedback on the real activity patterns of their children.

Regarding children's sedentary behaviors, time spent watching television was significantly reduced during the weekday and somewhat declined on weekend days. Children decreased their weekday television time by almost 50 minutes from baseline to four-month follow-up but did not decrease TV time as much on weekend days. This significant reduction in TV screen time resulted in children meeting the guidelines recommended by The American Academy of Pediatrics [65] of no more than two hours of TV per day. However, there are some limitations as parents self-reported the data. Future studies might consider the use of television monitors to objectively measure whether TV use decreases [66, 67]. Research findings indicate that parental attitudes, norms, and parental screen time as well as having a television in the child's bedroom are all risk factors for increased screen time among young children [68]. Future interventions should modify these parent related behaviors and additional research should examine parent's qualitative reports to better understand the decision making processes that parents use for screen time on weekdays versus weekends.

The findings from HHHF provide mixed support for changes in parent behaviors associated with children's health behaviors. The study demonstrates favorable improvements in some of the parent behaviors related to parent role modelling, the home food environment, family encouragement for PA/diet, and household rules. Contrary to other intervention results [32, 35] however, HHHF participants did not make any significant changes in modelling of fruit and vegetable intakes or time spent being physically active with children as a family. Despite not making changes in many dietary practices, HHHF participants did report increases in role modelling of physical activity behaviors and decreases in modelling of sedentary behaviors. These results may suggest that HHHF parents felt more confident in making PA related changes than dietary changes. Future interventions with similar populations should direct more efforts to increasing parent role modelling of dietary changes and actual intakes of fruits and vegetables. Although findings are equivocal, many of the changes in parent behaviors are consistent with systematic review studies that suggest that effective parent-driven childhood obesity interventions for preschool age children incorporate behavior change strategies that are predicated on behavioral theories and include restructuring of the home environment [26, 28].

4.1. Limitations. While informative, this study is not without some limitations. The study recruited children at all levels of obesity risk, which included many children at a healthy weight and potentially more motivated parents/guardians. Additionally, as this was a pilot intervention and was underpowered to detect differences in key outcomes, the sample size was small and effect size estimates with small samples have large standard errors and wide confidence intervals. The pretest/posttest design was a limitation which might have affected the validity and generalizability of study findings [69]. This study did not include a control group, so some of the changes seen could have been due to factors other than the intervention. Also, there were no followup measures administered past the posttest intervention assessment so we were unable to examine whether changes were maintained over time. However, this study found significant improvements in many health behaviors related to obesity and many behavioral changes operated in the posited direction. Additionally, many of the parent related behaviors were significantly changed suggesting that the intervention favorably improved behaviors within the parents' control. Future randomized trials should be conducted with a control or comparison group to be able to assess the real effect sizes of the intervention and additional follow-up assessments to determine whether behavioral changes made during the intervention are maintained over time.

Despite the limitations, this study has a number of strengths and is one of few home-based early childhood obesity prevention interventions specifically designed for low-income diverse racial/ethnic populations. This study recruited directly from WIC clinics, thus ensuring recruitment of families who were eligible to receive income based support from federal programs. The sample was predominantly low-income and ethnically and racially diverse thus reaching populations who are at significantly higher risk for future obesity and related comorbidities. There was also good participant retention at four-month follow-up. Additionally, the goals of this intervention were aligned with current recommendations and focused on changing health behaviors for the long term instead of weight loss.

4.2. Conclusions and Next Steps. HHHF was a parent-driven home-based intervention that incorporated tailored written materials and video, nutrition information, and MI along with TV monitors and an age-matched children's exercise video. This intervention appeared to be effective in changing some aspects of children's behavior and their home environments through changes made by parents. However, a randomized trial is necessary to truly test the efficacy of this intervention. Such trial will be planned in the near future. We will also analyze correlates of children's BMI, diet, PA, and sedentary behavior as well as predictors of change, which will aid in future intervention development. Furthermore, to broaden the reach of the intervention to a larger population, we would like to be able to offer the intervention in Spanish as well as English. It may also be worthwhile to test other channels in addition to print mailings for providing tailored messages, that is, tailored video, internet, text messaging, smart phones, and etcetera. It might also be interesting to study the effectiveness of combining a home-based intervention like HHHF with a pediatric health care provider intervention or an intervention in child care settings.

Conflict of Interests

The authors declare that there is no conflict of interests regarding the publication of this paper.

Acknowledgments

Healthy homes, healthy families was funded by Grant no. R21DK080396 (developing tailored home environment interventions to address childhood obesity), from the National Institute for Diabetes, Digestive and Kidney Diseases. Support for completing this paper was also provided by Grant no. 3R01CA134903-05S1, from the National Cancer Institute. The authors would like to acknowledge the following individuals for their help with the study and/or with the preparation of this paper: Lizette Muriel, Yasmil Montes, Shannon Whittaker, Robin Scheer, and Jennifer Mello.

References

[1] C. L. Ogden, M. D. Carroll, B. K. Kit, and K. M. Flegal, "Prevalence of childhood and adult obesity in the United States, 2011-2012," *The Journal of the American Medical Association*, vol. 311, no. 8, pp. 806–814, 2014.

- [2] A. L. May, L. Pan, S. Bettylou et al., "Vital signs: obesity among low-income, preschool-aged children—United States, 2008– 2011," *Morbidity & Mortality Weekly Report*, vol. 62, no. 31, p. 629, 2013.
- [3] A. C. Skinner and J. A. Skelton, "Prevalence and trends in obesity and severe obesity among children in the United States, 1999–2012," *JAMA Pediatrics*, vol. 168, no. 6, pp. 561–566, 1999.
- [4] E. A. Finkelstein, W. C. K. Graham, and R. Malhotra, "Lifetime direct medical costs of childhood obesity," *Pediatrics*, vol. 133, no. 5, pp. 854–862, 2014.
- [5] S. K. Kumanyika, E. Obarzanek, N. Stettler et al., "Populationbased prevention of obesity: the need for comprehensive promotion of healthful eating, physical activity, and energy balance: a scientific statement from American Heart Association Council on Epidemiology and Prevention, Interdisciplinary Committee for prevention (formerly the expert panel on population and prevention science)," *Circulation*, vol. 118, no. 4, pp. 428–464, 2008.
- [6] S. Kumanyika, W. C. Taylor, S. A. Grier et al., "Community energy balance: a framework for contextualizing cultural influences on high risk of obesity in ethnic minority populations," *Preventive Medicine*, vol. 55, no. 5, pp. 371–381, 2012.
- [7] S. Kumanyika and S. Grier, "Targeting interventions for ethnic minority and low-income populations," *Future of Children*, vol. 16, no. 1, pp. 187–207, 2006.
- [8] L. M. Brotman, S. Dawson-McClure, K.-Y. Huang et al., "Early childhood family intervention and long-term obesity prevention among high-risk minority youth," *Pediatrics*, vol. 129, no. 3, pp. e621–e628, 2012.
- [9] M. O. Hearst, L. Martin, B. H. Rafdal, R. Robinson, and S. R. McConnell, "Early childhood development and obesity riskfactors in a multi-ethnic, low-income community: feasibility of the 'Five Hundred under Five' social determinants of health pilot study," *Health Education Journal*, vol. 72, no. 2, pp. 203–215, 2013.
- [10] J. Koplan, C. T. Liverman, and I. V. Kraak, *Preventing Childhood Obesity: Health in the Balance*, National Academies Press, 2005.
- [11] M. C. Mullen and J. E. Shield, Childhood and Adolescent Overweight: The Health Professional's Guide to Identification, Treatment, and Prevention, American Dietetic Association, 2004.
- [12] M. Golan and S. Crow, "Parents are key players in the prevention and treatment of weight-related problems," *Nutrition Reviews*, vol. 62, no. 1, pp. 39–50, 2004.
- [13] S. D. Stovitz, J. M. Berge, R. J. Wetzsteon, N. E. Sherwood, P. J. Hannan, and J. H. Himes, "Stage 1 treatment of pediatric overweight and obesity: a pilot and feasibility randomized controlled trial," *Childhood Obesity*, vol. 10, no. 1, pp. 50–57, 2014.
- [14] Institue of Medicine, Early Childhood Obesity Prevention Policies, 2011, http://www.iom.edu/Reports/2011/%20Early-Childhood-Obesity-Prevention-Policies.aspx.
- [15] A. D. Salbe, C. Weyer, I. Harper, R. S. Lindsay, E. Ravussin, and P. A. Tataranni, "Assessing risk factors for obesity between childhood and adolescence: II. Energy metabolism and physical activity," *Pediatrics*, vol. 110, no. 2, part 1, pp. 307–314, 2002.
- [16] A. D. Salbe, C. Weyer, R. S. Lindsay, E. Ravussin, and P. Antonio Tataranni, "Assessing risk factors for obesity between childhood and adolescence: I. Birth weight, childhood adiposity, parental

obesity, insulin, and leptin," *Pediatrics*, vol. 110, no. 2, part 1, pp. 299–306, 2002.

- [17] R. C. Whitaker, M. S. Pepe, J. A. Wright, K. D. Seidel, and W. H. Dietz, "Early adiposity rebound and the risk of adult obesity," *Pediatrics*, vol. 101, no. 3, p. E5, 1998.
- [18] J. D. Skinner, W. Bounds, B. R. Carruth, M. Morris, and P. Ziegler, "Predictors of children's body mass index: a longitudinal study of diet and growth in children aged 2-8 y," *International Journal of Obesity*, vol. 28, no. 4, pp. 476-482, 2004.
- [19] E. Reifsnider, D. P. McCormick, K. W. Cullen et al., "A randomized controlled trial to prevent childhood obesity through early childhood feeding and parenting guidance: rationale and design of study," *BMC Public Health*, vol. 13, no. 1, article 880, 2013.
- [20] S. E. Barber, C. Jackson, S. Akhtar et al., ""Pre-schoolers in the playground" an outdoor physical activity intervention for children aged 18 months to 4 years old: study protocol for a pilot cluster randomised controlled trial," *Trials*, vol. 14, no. 1, article 326, 2013.
- [21] A. M. de Silva-Sanigorski, A. C. Bell, P. Kremer et al., "Reducing obesity in early childhood: results from Romp & Chomp, an Australian community-wide intervention program," *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, vol. 91, no. 4, pp. 831– 840, 2010.
- [22] White House Task Force on Childhood Obesity, Report to the President, 2010.
- [23] K. D. Hesketh and K. J. Campbell, "Interventions to prevent obesity in 0–5 year olds: an updated systematic review of the literature," *Obesity*, vol. 18, no. S1, pp. S27–S35, 2010.
- [24] L. L. Birch and K. K. Davison, "Family environmental factors influencing the developing behavioral controls of food intake and childhood overweight," *Pediatric Clinics of North America*, vol. 48, no. 4, pp. 893–907, 2001.
- [25] M. S. Faith, L. van Horn, L. J. Appel et al., "Evaluating parents and adult caregivers as "agents of change" for treating obese children: evidence for parent behavior change strategies and research gaps: a scientific statement from the American heart association," *Circulation*, vol. 125, no. 9, pp. 1186–1207, 2012.
- [26] H. Skouteris, M. McCabe, B. Swinburn, V. Newgreen, P. Sacher, and P. Chadwick, "Parental influence and obesity prevention in pre-schoolers: a systematic review of interventions," *Obesity Reviews*, vol. 12, no. 5, pp. 315–328, 2011.
- [27] J. Harvey-Berino and J. Rourke, "Obesity prevention in preschool Native-American children: a pilot study using home visiting," *Obesity Research*, vol. 11, no. 5, pp. 606–611, 2003.
- [28] R. K. Golley, G. A. Hendrie, A. Slater, and N. Corsini, "Interventions that involve parents to improve children's weight-related nutrition intake and activity patterns—what nutrition and activity targets and behaviour change techniques are associated with intervention effectiveness?" *Obesity Reviews*, vol. 12, no. 2, pp. 114–130, 2011.
- [29] M. V. O'Dwyer, S. J. Fairclough, Z. Knowles, and G. Stratton, "Effect of a family focused active play intervention on sedentary time and physical activity in preschool children," *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, vol. 9, article 117, 2012.
- [30] N. N. Showell, O. Fawole, J. Segal et al., "A systematic review of home-based childhood obesity prevention studies," *Pediatrics*, vol. 132, no. 1, pp. e193–e200, 2013.
- [31] P. B. Crawford, W. Gosliner, P. Strode et al., "Walking the talk: fit WIC wellness programs improve self-efficacy in pediatric

obesity prevention counseling," *The American Journal of Public Health*, vol. 94, no. 9, pp. 1480–1485, 2004.

- [32] E. McGarvey, A. Keller, M. Forrester, E. Williams, D. Seward, and D. E. Suttle, "Feasibility and benefits of a parent-focused preschool child obesity intervention," *American Journal of Public Health*, vol. 94, no. 9, pp. 1490–1495, 2004.
- [33] K. K. Davison, L. S. Edmunds, B. A. Wyker, L. M. Young, V. S. Sarfoh, and J. P. Sekhobo, "Feasibility of increasing childhood outdoor play and decreasing television viewing through a family-based intervention in WIC, New York State, 2007-2008," *Preventing Chronic Disease*, vol. 8, no. 3, article A54, 2011.
- [34] L. J. Stark, S. Spear, R. Boles et al., "A pilot randomized controlled trial of a clinic and home-based behavioral intervention to decrease obesity in preschoolers," *Obesity*, vol. 19, no. 1, pp. 134–141, 2011.
- [35] D. Haire-Joshu, M. B. Elliott, N. M. Caito et al., "High 5 for Kids: the impact of a home visiting program on fruit and vegetable intake of parents and their preschool children," *Preventive Medicine*, vol. 47, no. 1, pp. 77–82, 2008.
- [36] A. Bandura, Social Foundations of Thought and Action, Prentice Hall, Englewood Cliffs, NJ, USA, 1986.
- [37] A. Bandura, Social Learning Theory, Prentice Hall, Englewood Cliffs, NJ, USA, 1977.
- [38] A. Bandura, "Human agency in social cognitive theory," American Psychologist, vol. 44, no. 9, pp. 1175–1184, 1989.
- [39] M. Golan and A. Weizman, "Familial approach to the treatment of childhood obesity: conceptual model," *Journal of Nutrition Education and Behavior*, vol. 33, no. 2, pp. 102–107, 2001.
- [40] S. E. Barlow and W. H. Dietz, "Obesity evaluation and treatment: expert Committee recommendations," *Pediatrics*, vol. 102, no. 3, article e29, 1998.
- [41] W. Miller and S. Rollnick, *Motivational Interviewing: Preparing People for Change*, Guilford Publications, New York, NY, USA, 2002.
- [42] S. Rollnick, W. R. Miller, and C. Butler, *Motivational Interviewing in Health Care: Helping Patients Change Behavior*, Guilford Press, 2008.
- [43] T. B. Moyers, T. Martin, J. K. Manuel, S. M. L. Hendrickson, and W. R. Miller, "Assessing competence in the use of motivational interviewing," *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, vol. 28, no. 1, pp. 19–26, 2005.
- [44] F. E. Thompson, A. F. Subar, A. F. Smith et al., "Fruit and vegetable assessment: performance of 2 new short instruments and a food frequency questionnaire," *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*, vol. 102, no. 12, pp. 1764–1772, 2002.
- [45] United States Department of Agriculture, Choosemyplate.gov, 2014, http://www.choosemyplate.gov/food-groups/fruits-amount .html.
- [46] Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics, *Eat Right*, 2014, http://www .eatright.org/Public/content.aspx?id=8055.
- [47] V. M. Flood, K. Webb, and A. Rangan, "Recommendations for short questions to assess food consumption in children for the NSW Health Surveys," 2005.
- [48] H. L. Burdette, R. C. Whitaker, and S. R. Daniels, "Parental report of outdoor playtime as a measure of physical activity in preschool-aged children," *Archives of Pediatrics and Adolescent Medicine*, vol. 158, no. 4, pp. 353–357, 2004.
- [49] B. A. Dennison, T. J. Russo, P. A. Burdick, and P. L. Jenkins, "An intervention to reduce television viewing by preschool children," *Archives of Pediatrics and Adolescent Medicine*, vol. 158, no. 2, pp. 170–176, 2004.

- [50] T. N. Robinson and J. D. Killen, "Ethnic and gender differences in the relationships between television viewing and obesity, physical activity, and dietary fat intake," *Journal of Health Education*, vol. 26, supplement 2, pp. S91–S98, 1995.
- [51] B. A. Dennison, T. A. Erb, and P. L. Jenkins, "Television viewing and television in bedroom associated with overweight risk among low-income preschool children," *Pediatrics*, vol. 109, no. 6, pp. 1028–1035, 2002.
- [52] M. L. Gattshall, J. A. Shoup, J. A. Marshall, L. A. Crane, and P. A. Estabrooks, "Validation of a survey instrument to assess home environments for physical activity and healthy eating in overweight children," *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, vol. 5, no. 1, article 3, 2008.
- [53] G. X. Ayala, J. P. Elder, N. R. Campbell et al., "Longitudinal intervention effects on parenting of the aventuras para Niños study," *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, vol. 38, no. 2, pp. 154–162, 2010.
- [54] S. E. Larios, G. X. Ayala, E. M. Arredondo, B. Baquero, and J. P. Elder, "Development and validation of a scale to measure Latino parenting strategies related to children's obesigenic behaviors. The parenting strategies for eating and activity scale (PEAS)," *Appetite*, vol. 52, no. 1, pp. 166–172, 2009.
- [55] O. Bayer, R. von Kries, A. Strauss et al., "Short- and mid-term effects of a setting based prevention program to reduce obesity risk factors in children: a cluster-randomized trial," *Clinical Nutrition*, vol. 28, no. 2, pp. 122–128, 2009.
- [56] M. L. Fitzgibbon, M. R. Stolley, L. Schiffer et al., "Family-based hip-hop to health: outcome results," *Obesity*, vol. 21, no. 2, pp. 274–283, 2013.
- [57] K. Alaimo, E. Packnett, R. A. Miles, and D. J. Kruger, "Fruit and vegetable intake among urban community gardeners," *Journal* of Nutrition Education and Behavior, vol. 40, no. 2, pp. 94–101, 2008.
- [58] C. R. Young, J. L. Aquilante, S. Solomon et al., "Improving fruit and vegetable consumption among low-income customers at farmers markets: Philly food bucks, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, 2011," *Preventing Chronic Disease*, vol. 10, article E166, 2013.
- [59] National Association for Sport and Physical Education (NASPE), Active Start: A Statement of Physical Activity Guidelines for Children from Birth to Age 5, American Alliance for Health, Physical Education, Recreation and Dance, Sewickley, Pa, USA, 2nd edition, 2009.
- [60] M. W. Beets, D. Bornstein, M. Dowda, and R. R. Pate, "Compliance with national guidelines for physical activity in U.S. preschoolers: measurement and interpretation," *Pediatrics*, vol. 127, no. 4, pp. 658–664, 2011.
- [61] P. Tucker, "The physical activity levels of preschool-aged children: a systematic review," *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, vol. 23, no. 4, pp. 547–558, 2008.
- [62] A. D. Okely, S. G. Trost, J. R. Steele, D. P. Cliff, and K. Mickle, "Adherence to physical activity and electronic media guidelines in Australian pre-school children," *Journal of Paediatrics and Child Health*, vol. 45, no. 1-2, pp. 5–8, 2009.
- [63] K. Corder, N. C. Crespo, E. M. F. van Sluijs, N. V. Lopez, and J. P. Elder, "Parent awareness of young children's physical activity," *Preventive Medicine*, vol. 55, no. 3, pp. 201–205, 2012.
- [64] K. Corder, E. M. F. van Sluijs, A. M. McMinn, U. Ekelund, A. Cassidy, and S. J. Griffin, "Perception Versus Reality. Awareness of physical activity levels of british children," *The American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, vol. 38, no. 1, pp. 1–8, 2010.

- [65] American Academy of Pediatrics, "American Academy of Pediatrics: children, adolescents, and television," *Pediatrics*, vol. 107, no. 2, article 423, 2001.
- [66] T. N. Robinson, "Reducing children's television viewing to prevent obesity: a randomized controlled trial," *The Journal of the American Medical Association*, vol. 282, no. 16, pp. 1561–1567, 1999.
- [67] L. H. Epstein, J. N. Roemmich, J. L. Robinson et al., "A randomized trial of the effects of reducing television viewing and computer use on body mass index in young children," *Archives of Pediatrics and Adolescent Medicine*, vol. 162, no. 3, pp. 239–245, 2008.
- [68] V. Carson and I. Janssen, "Associations between factors within the home setting and screen time among children aged 0–5 years: a cross-sectional study," *BMC Public Health*, vol. 12, no. 1, article 539, 2012.
- [69] W. Walker, "The strengths and weaknesses of research designs involving quantitative measures," *Journal of Research in Nursing*, vol. 10, no. 5, pp. 571–582, 2005.

Research Article Rethinking Obesity Counseling: Having the French Fry Discussion

Jonathan Bonnet,¹ Aaron George,¹ Pippa Evans,² Mina Silberberg,¹ and Diana Dolinsky³

¹ Department of Community and Family Medicine, Duke University Health System, P.O. Box 104425, Durham, NC 27710, USA ² Duke Primary Care, Duke University Health System, 1820 Hillandale Road Suite 24B, Durham, NC 27705, USA

³ 113 Trail One, Burlington, NC 27715, USA

Correspondence should be addressed to Jonathan Bonnet; jonathan.bonnet@duke.edu

Received 17 July 2014; Revised 30 September 2014; Accepted 30 September 2014; Published 19 October 2014

Academic Editor: Chris Rissel

Copyright © 2014 Jonathan Bonnet et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Childhood obesity is a complex problem that warrants early intervention. General recommendations for obesity prevention and nutrition counseling exist. However, these are notably imprecise with regard to early and targeted interventions to prevent and treat obesity in pediatric populations. This study examines family medicine primary care providers' (PCPs) perceived barriers for preventing and treating pediatric obesity and their related practice behavior during well-child visits. *Methods*. A written survey addressing perceived barriers and current practices addressing obesity at well-child visits were administered to PCPs at eleven family medicine clinics in the Duke University Health System. *Results*. The most common perceived barriers identified by PCPs to prevention or treatment of obesity in children were families not getting enough exercise (93%) and families too often having fast food meals (86%). Most PCPs do not discuss fast foods at or prior to the twelve-month well-child visit. The two-year visit is the first well-child visit at which a majority of PCPs (68%) discuss fast food. *Conclusion*. No clear consensus exists as to when PCPs should discuss fast food in early well-child checks. Previous research has shown a profound shift in children's dietary habits toward fast foods, such as French fries, that occurs between the one- and two-year well-child checks. Consideration should be given to having a "French Fry Discussion" at every twelve-month well-child care visit.

1. Introduction

Obesity is a major public health problem with over twothirds of Americans overweight and greater than one-third obese [1]. While new data have suggested a leveling off of the prevalence of childhood obesity, 12.4% of kindergarteners are obese and overweight five-year olds are four times as likely as normal weight five-year olds to become obese [2, 3]. It has been well documented that obesity leads to cardiac, metabolic, and other systemic health derangements [4]. It has also been shown that these unfavorable changes may start as early as three years of age [5]. This emphasizes the importance of early intervention and prevention.

Well-child checks have long been recognized as opportunities to foster healthy growth and development. These regular visits, which are performed with a health care provider, traditionally occur during the newborn period, at one, two, four, six, nine, twelve, fifteen, eighteen, and twentyfour months and every year thereafter. The goal is to provide continuity of care and allow for anticipatory guidance to be given. Recognizing that diet and nutrition are linked with obesity, it is important to address these topics. However, guidelines on nutrition counseling remain vague, and visit time is constrained by a multitude of other encouraged and essential components. Yet studies show that when it comes to counseling during well-child checks, less is more and focusing on fewer topics is more effective [6].

General recommendations exist for age specific pediatric guidelines for obesity prevention and nutrition counseling. However, these are notably imprecise with regard to early and targeted interventions to prevent and treat obesity in pediatric populations.

Regarding nutrition counseling during well-child care within the first year of life, the American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP) Bright Future Guidelines contains goals for temporal introduction of foods rather than composition of diet. Even at the one-year visit, recommendations are limited to providing children with "nutritious food and healthy snacks." Surprisingly, there is no mention of nutrition guidance at the fifteen- or eighteen-month well-child checks and it is not until the two-year visit that the subject of obesity is first addressed in the guidelines [7]. Meanwhile, research shows that a rapid transition occurs between the one- and two-year well-child checks, when diet habits seemingly shift to favor fast foods, with the French fry as the number one consumed vegetable consumed by two-year olds [8].

The World Health Organization (WHO) strongly advocates for exclusive breastfeeding in the first six months of life and offers recommendations on complimentary feeding habits. These include continuing on-demand breastfeeding until two years of age and starting at 6 months of age, gradually increasing the number of feedings, consistency, and variety of other foods. For a nonbreastfed child, WHO further recommends providing four to five meals per day, with one or two healthy snacks aimed to meet the child's nutritional needs [9]. These WHO guidelines are appropriately aimed toward a global audience, with an emphasis on preventing malnutrition and ensuring adequate growth.

Current literature on prevention and treatment for obesity has overwhelmingly focused on adolescent and school aged populations. Meanwhile, diet and lifestyle habits begin to be ingrained much earlier. The AAP recommends screening for obesity starting at two years, while United States Preventive Services Task Force (USPSTF) suggests waiting until age six [7, 10]. These recommendations bypass a likely window of opportunity for primary prevention prior to the second year of life, and—in the case of the USPSTF—prior to six years.

Given these vague universal recommendations, we hypothesize that significant variability exists in clinical practice. It has been demonstrated that there is variability among pediatric primary care practices regarding obesity counseling, attitudes, and perceptions [11]. Some prior studies have focused on family medicine primary care providers' (PCPs) beliefs and practices pertaining to childhood obesity [12]. However, many of these studies have placed emphasis more specifically on evaluation of treatment modalities, perception of obesity as a disease, and physician training [13–18]. Further, much of the previous work on childhood obesity appears directed beyond the age of five years, with few interventions studied between two and six years of age [19]. A paucity of literature has focused on intervention prior to two years of age. This study builds upon the existing literature by offering a family medicine perspective and focusing specifically on perceived barriers and anticipatory guidance discussed at the early well-child checks-particularly those prior to the second year of life. This is further warranted as much of the current literature occurred prior to the updated 2008 AAP Bright Futures Guidelines [7, 20]. Given the recent

emphasis on primary care and the likely influx of pediatric patients via the Accountable Care Act, family physicians will continue to provide a substantial amount of care for pediatric populations.

The goal of the present study is to assess the perception of family medicine PCPs in a university based family medicine network surrounding the barriers of preventing and treating obesity in the young child and to analyze PCPs reported behaviors at well-child checks. In addition, the present study allows for a comparison of attitudes and practice between family medicine PCPs and pediatric PCPs who participated in an earlier study using a similar survey [11].

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Participants. The sample included all family medicine physicians, physician assistants (PAs), and nurse practitioners (NPs) at eleven family medicine Duke Primary Care sites in Duke University Health Systems.

2.2. Survey Design. The survey used in the present study was developed based on a similar study performed in pediatric practices, current epidemiological literature, and recommendations from the American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP) and the United States Preventive Services Task Force (USPSTF) [6, 10, 11]. Previous authors were contacted for permission to utilize a similar survey tool. The survey contained three independent sections, each with a brief introduction. The sections were as follows: (i) perceived barriers in treating obesity, (ii) current PCP practices at well-child checks, and (iii) demographic information.

2.3. Procedures. Eleven Duke Primary Care practices were asked and agreed to participate. Introductory phone calls with follow-up emails were sent in January 2012, prior to the in-person survey administration. An agreed upon morning or lunch hour time was arranged to include a tenminute presentation explaining the goals of the project, with subsequent survey administration to all PCPs who attended the meetings. Written surveys were completed by the respondents anonymously and collected on site. Participation was completely voluntary and there were no financial incentives. An agreement was made to present the study findings to the participating sites at the conclusion of the study. Data collection was performed during January and February 2012 and the data were analyzed in March 2012.

2.4. Data Analytic Plan. Demographic data are presented as percentages/proportions. For questions related to perceived barriers, we calculated the percentage of respondents who indicated how important each issue was on a Likert scale 1–5 (Not Important, Slightly Important, Moderately Important, Very Important, and Critically Important), as well as the combined percentage of those who responded either Very Important (4) or Critically Important (5). For PCP behaviors assessing anticipatory guidance, multiple responses were accepted (i.e., mark all well-child checks that apply). These data are presented as percentages/proportions.

2.5. Institutional Review Board. This study was reviewed by the Research Advisory Board of the Primary Care Research Committee and the Institutional Review Board of Duke University and was found to be an exempt study (PRO00034169).

3. Results

3.1. Respondents. Surveys were completed by 56 of the 78 family medicine PCPs (41 family medicine physicians, 8 physician assistants, and 7 nurse practitioners) at the 11 participating clinics, for a 72% response rate. 55% of the respondents were female. Approximately 1/3 (35%) were 40-49 years old, 1/3 (33%) were 30-39, 27% were 50+ years old, and 5% were twenty through twenty-nine years old. The majority of PCPs were medical doctors or doctors of osteopathic medicine (MD/DO) (73%), with physician assistants and nurse practitioners making up 14% and 13%, respectively. The average reported body mass index (BMI) of respondents was 24.71 kg/m² (7 of the 54 respondents did not complete the BMI measures). Approximately 1/3 (33%) of the PCPs were classified as overweight and 0.6% were in the obese category. Reported BMI closely mirrored PCPs perception of their weight, as 30% indicated they were overweight and 2% believed they were obese.

3.2. Perceived Barriers to Treating Pediatric Obesity. PCPs were asked to rate the relative importance of specific barriers to preventing or treating overweight or obese children. These questions related to children of all ages and focused on many factors including the child, parents, family unit, influence of society, and PCP factors. The five barriers that were most often rated as either Very Important or Critically Important were as follows: (i) families do not get enough exercise (93%); (ii) families often have fast food meals (86%); (iii) parent is not motivated to change diet or lifestyle (81%); (iv) families watch too much TV (79%); and (v) child is not motivated to change diet or lifestyle (75%) (Table 1). The following barriers were rated as Very Important or Critically Important by 60-72% of PCPs: parent is unaware that child is overweight, parents are overweight so they are not concerned that child is overweight, families are too busy to eat home cooked meals, healthy foods are too expensive, TV advertisements promote unhealthy foods, PCPs have limited time to discuss nutrition, and PCPs are frustrated with the low success rate of treating overweight children. Barriers that PCPs were less likely to rate as Very Important or Critically Important were as follows: overweight child does not act sick, overweight child is a "good eater," parents do not have time to shop for healthier foods, families are too busy to eat meals together, healthy lifestyle habits are too complicated to follow, published reports about diet and nutrition are often confusing, school lunches promote unhealthy eating habits, PCPs' time constraints, lack of training to treat overweight children, compensation for obesity treatment, access to nutritionists, and PCPs' weight status or body mass index (Table 1).

3.3. Current Practices: Occurrence of Anticipatory Guidance. PCPs were asked to mark all of the well-child checks in which they discuss a variety of health topics with patients. Analyzing the barriers perceived by PCPs as most important to preventing and treating obesity revealed trends regarding fast food consumption and physical inactivity. As shown in Table 2, even by their own report, most PCPs did not discuss fast foods at or prior to the twelve-month visit. At the eighteen-month visit fast foods are discussed by 32% of PCPs. Meanwhile, the two-year visit is the first well-child visit at which the majority of PCPs (68%) discuss fast food. Additionally, 5% of PCPs never discuss fast food at all with families. While the majority of PCPs ultimately discuss this topic, the discussion is not undertaken by a majority of PCPs at a specific encounter until the two- through five-year visits.

Fruit and vegetable discussion increases in frequency as the child ages, with a peak of 63% of PCPs discussing this at the twelve-month visit, before dropping to 51% at the eighteen-month visit. Between 22% and 26% of PCPs discuss having 3 meals per day by the twelve-month visit, whereas 65% are discussing meal frequency at the two- through fiveyear visits. Physical inactivity/exercise was another area of concern with 93% of PCPs recognizing this as a contribution to obesity, yet this topic was discussed by at most 23% of PCPs at and/or before the twelve-month visit. By the eighteen-month visit, at most 48% of PCPs had ever discussed the topic with their patients or families. The two- through five-year visits are the first time at which the majority of PCPs (68%) discuss this topic. The percent of well-child visits where screen time is discussed closely mirrors physical activity/exercise, and a similar trend is seen regarding the discussion of fast foods (Table 2).

4. Discussion and Conclusions

A major finding of the current study involved the relative importance PCPs ascribe to perceived barriers in treating obesity. Our results reproduced those of a previous study utilizing a similar survey but performed within a pediatric setting [11]. Our results confirm that family medicine PCPs share the same top six concerns when dealing with perceptions surrounding obesity. These concerns center around physical inactivity, fast food consumption, and motivation to change. The barriers identified were in areas that were inconsistently addressed in practice, specifically prior to the two-year wellchild check. Despite the apparent lack of congruence between the identified barriers and the actions by PCPs in clinical practice, this study is limited in being a self-reported survey. Furthermore, due to the self-reported nature, PCPs may overestimate how often they address certain issues.

A second major finding of the current study was the inconsistency PCPs demonstrated concerning when discussion took place for physical activity, fruit and vegetable selection, screen time, juice, and other beverage choices. This study suggests that primary prevention interventions targeting obesity in practice are either misplaced or missed altogether in some cases, which is consistent with other recent studies demonstrating missed opportunity for primary prevention of obesity [21–24]. As this study is representative of an academic practice population with close geographic

TABLE 1: Respondents' perceptions of barriers to obesity prevention or treatment in primary care, expressed as the percentage of respondents providing affirmative responses to the statement: "Please rate the importance of each of the following general barriers to preventing or treating overweight or obesity in children in your professional experience" (on a scale of importance 1–5).

	3	4	5	(4 + 5)
	Moderately Important	Very Important	Critically Important	Total Very and Critically Important
Parent is unaware that child is overweight	25%	47%	16%	63%
Parent is not motivated to change diet or lifestyle*	18%	40%	40%	81%
Child is not motivated to change diet or lifestyle*	16%	45%	30%	75%
Parents are overweight, so they are not concerned that child is overweight	26%	44%	28%	72%
Overweight child does not act sick	32%	32%	2%	33%
Overweight child is a "good eater"*	39%	27%	4%	30%
Parents do not have time to shop for healthier foods	28%	35%	18%	53%
Families are too busy to eat home cooked meals	21%	46%	25%	70%
Families often have fast food meals*	11%	35%	51%	86%
Families are too busy to eat meals together	30%	41%	14%	55%
Families watch too much TV*	12%	51%	28%	79%
Families do not get enough exercise*	4%	21%	71%	93%
Healthy foods are too expensive	27%	36%	34%	70%
Healthy lifestyle habits are too complicated to follow	46%	32%	5%	38%
Published reports of research studies about diet and nutrition are often confusing	35%	26%	4%	30%
TV advertisements promote unhealthy foods	23%	37%	25%	61%
School lunches promote unhealthy eating habits	39%	33%	19%	53%
PCPs have limited time to discuss nutrition	29%	36%	29%	64%
PCPs are frustrated with the low success rate of treating overweight children	25%	42%	19%	61%
PCPs lack sufficient training to help overweight children	36%	34%	11%	45%
PCPs lack sufficient education materials to prevent or treat overweight children	28%	49%	7%	56%
PCPs are not adequately compensated for treating obesity	39%	23%	16%	39%
It is difficult to convince parents to see a nutritionist	28%	42%	12%	54%
There are not enough nutritionists to help with overweight children	23%	36%	20%	55%
The PCPs weight status or body mass index	32%	13%	2%	14%

*The top 5 barriers that respondents rated as either Very Important or Critically Important.

proximity, further study on a larger scale and in other practice populations would be warranted.

The AAP recommendations make no mention of fruits and vegetables until the five- and six-year well-child visits [6]. In another case, the AAP guidelines suggest the discussion of having 3 meals per day at the nine- and twelve-month well-child checks. However, in this study, only 26% of PCPs have this discussion specifically at or before the twelvemonth well-child visit. Interestingly 65% of PCPs have this discussion at the two- through five-year well-child visits despite lack of specific recommendation to do so. PCPs seem to be aware of existing guidelines but, in this example, delay the delivery.

Other than this specific recommendation at the five-year well-child visit, all of the earlier well-child visit nutrition and diet guidelines are relatively nonspecific regarding diet composition. This likely contributes toward the variability observed in this study, as many PCPs chose to have discussions, such as fruits and vegetables, at differing well-child visits. Therefore, we believe that it would be advantageous to the goals of obesity prevention and treatment to have early and targeted interventions that precede adoption of adverse lifestyle choices [25–27]. Although it is beyond the scope of this paper, innovative approaches in obesity treatment have been identified over the past decade [28–30].

Comparing this study of family medicine PCPs with a similar study done with pediatric providers revealed some similarities in practice behavior. PCPs behavior in both studies reflected the general AAP anticipatory guidance guidelines pertaining to obesity [7, 11]. However, the anticipatory guidance discussions were not consistently performed at specific visits in either study, with greater variability observed in this family practice study (see Table 2). Different methodologies were used in data collection, as the study for family medicine PCPs was measured using a cumulative approach, whereas the pediatric study was measured at point of first intervention. In comparing these studies, we chose to use the most conservative estimates by summating the

TABLE 2: Distribution of well-child checks at which respondents address obesity-related topics during childhood and adolescence expressed as the percentage providing affirmative responses to the question "At which well-child check(s) do you typically talk about the following? Mark all that apply."

	Newborn	2 months	4 months	6 months	12 months	18 months	2-5 years	6-11 years	12-18 years	None
Cereals	13%	20%	54%	57%	43%	25%	18%	14%	11%	2%
Juice	12%	17%	37%	62%	67%	50%	42%	31%	27%	6%
Non-juice sugar sweetened beverages	12%	10%	15%	33%	54%	44%	48%	46%	46%	6%
Fruits and vegetables	4%	7%	21%	58%	63%	51%	54%	51%	47%	2%
Sippy cups	2%	6%	15%	44%	74%	37%	17%	0%	0%	0%
Finger foods	0%	2%	11%	51%	67%	31%	13%	4%	5%	5%
Fast foods	0%	0%	4%	9%	27%	32%	68%	68%	59%	5%
Candy	0%	2%	9%	9%	34%	42%	62%	55%	43%	15%
Screen time (TV, video, video games, computer, texting)	0%	2%	4%	11%	25%	30%	71%	73%	66%	4%
Physical activity/exercise	0%	0%	0%	2%	21%	25%	68%	79%	70%	2%
Sleep	42%	39%	37%	35%	40%	39%	47%	47%	56%	5%
Having 3 meals/day (not skipping breakfast, lunch, or dinner)	g 0%	0%	0%	4%	22%	17%	65%	59%	63%	15%

percentages of anticipatory guidance being discussed. For example, a single PCP may have indicated that they discussed fast food at both the four- and six-month visits. Our study would count both of these as unique interventions being done by different PCPs. Consequently, these findings may offer a realistic representation or, otherwise, an overestimation of how often topics were discussed at well-child checks.

The present study identifies discrepancies in PCPs adherence to counseling guidelines for nutrition, exercise, and screen time. In regard to exercise and screen time, this study demonstrates similar increases in the percentage of PCPs discussing these topics, with the majority doing so at the two- through five-year well-child checks, and a peak between the six- through eleven-year well-child checks. However, the AAP guidelines suggest that a majority of PCPs address each of these topics much earlier. It would be beyond the scope of this discussion to address all elements of the survey. Therefore, the remainder of this discussion will focus on the results relevant to fast food counseling and nutrition and their role in obesity prevention.

A surprising result from this study was that there is no clear consensus as to when PCPs are having discussions about fast food. While a prior study indicated that 62% of pediatricians addressed fast foods at or prior to twelve-month well-child visits, this study shows that at most 39% of family physicians did so (Table 2) [11]. These estimates suggest that there is still a large percentage of the population receiving no counseling on fast food during the entire first year of life. It is not until the two-year well-child visit that a majority of PCPs discuss fast food. Meanwhile, previous research has shown that there is a profound shift in dietary habits toward fast foods, such as French fries, that occurs between the one- and two-year well-child checks [8].

To address fast food consumption, PCPs could consider integrating a universal "French Fry Discussion" regularly at the twelve-month well-child care visit. Given the recognition that food transitioning towards fast foods such as French fries occurs within the subsequent window from twelve months to twenty-four months [8], it might be beneficial to offer a specific intervention at this visit. Furthermore, prior research has shown that a dedicated intervention targeting two-year olds and their families can significantly reduce BMI [31].

The "French Fry Discussion" could take the form of a purposeful talk with family members about the importance of avoiding fast foods, fried foods, and sweetened beverages. For example, using motivational interviewing techniques has been shown to be effective in changing behavior relating to obesity, and this approach may address such a complex behavior [32, 33]. This visit could additionally include handouts or printouts about alternative foods and snacks that are affordable and can be prepared quickly. This discussion can move beyond the unidirectional lecturing that often occurs. Rather, this should be an individualized discussion, in which family members are encouraged to voice their concerns and devise solutions that meet their unique situation. As such, we would not anticipate a discussion of this relevance requiring anything less than ten minutes of dedicated visit time. The goal of this discussion would be to leverage the patient-physician-family relationship to positively impact lifestyle choices for both the child and the family. Further study is needed to examine actual obesity prevention and treatment guidelines in clinical practice and to discern the specifics, feasibility, and benefits of incorporating additional counseling into routine well-child care.

Disclosure

No competing financial interest exists.

Conflict of Interests

The authors declare that there is no conflict of interests regarding the publication of this paper.

Acknowledgment

The authors would like to thank Jordan Spivack, MD, PhD, at the Children's Hospital of Philadelphia, for his support and permission to adapt his survey tool.

References

- C. L. Ogden, M. D. Carrol, B. K. Kit et al., "Prevalence of obesity in the United States, 2009-2010," *NCHS Data Brief*, vol. 82, pp. 1–8, 2012.
- [2] C. L. Ogden, M. D. Carroll, B. K. Kit, and K. M. Flegal, "Prevalence of obesity and trends in body mass index among US children and adolescents, 1999–2010," *JAMA—Journal of the American Medical Association*, vol. 307, no. 5, pp. 483–490, 2012.
- [3] S. A. Cunningham, M. R. Kramer, and K. M. Aryan, "Incidence of childhood obesity in the United States," *The New England Journal of Medicine*, vol. 370, no. 5, pp. 403–411, 2014.
- [4] D. W. Haslam and P. T. James, "Obesity," *The Lancet*, vol. 366, no. 9492, pp. 1197–1209, 2005.
- [5] A. C. Skinner, M. J. Steiner, F. W. Henderson, and E. M. Perrin, "Multiple markers of inflammation and weight status: crosssectional analyses throughout childhood," *Pediatrics*, vol. 125, no. 4, pp. e801–e809, 2010.
- [6] S. L. Barkin, B. Scheindlin, C. Brown, E. Ip, S. Finch, and R. C. Wasserman, "Anticipatory guidance topics: are more better?" *Ambulatory Pediatrics*, vol. 5, no. 6, pp. 372–376, 2005.
- [7] J. F. Hagan, J. S. Shaw, and P. Duncan, Eds., Bright Futures: Guidelines for Health Supervision of Infants, Children, and Adolescents, American Academy of Pediatrics, Elk Grove Village, Ill, USA, 3rd edition, 2008.
- [8] M. K. Fox, S. Pac, B. Devaney, and L. Jankowski, "Feeding Infants and Toddlers study: what foods are infants and toddlers eating?" *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*, vol. 104, supplement 1, no. 1, pp. S22–S30, 2004.
- [9] WHO, Essential Nutrition Actions: Improving Maternal, Newborn, Infant and Young Child Health and Nutrition, World Health Organization, Geneva, Switzerland, 2013.
- [10] Screening for Obesity in Children and Adolescents, US Preventive Services Task Force, Topic Page, 2010, http://www.uspreventiveservicestaskforce.org/uspstf/uspschobes.htm.
- [11] J. G. Spivack, M. Swietlik, E. Alessandrini, and M. S. Faith, "Primary care providers' knowledge, practices, and perceived barriers to the treatment and prevention of childhood obesity," *Obesity*, vol. 18, no. 7, pp. 1341–1347, 2010.
- [12] M. van Gerwen, C. Franc, S. Rosman, M. le Vaillant, and N. Pelletier-Fleury, "Primary care physicians' knowledge, attitudes, beliefs and practices regarding childhood obesity: a systematic review: obesity review," *Obesity Reviews*, vol. 10, no. 2, pp. 227– 236, 2009.
- [13] C. A. Johnston and R. G. Steele, "Treatment of pediatric overweight: an examination of feasibility and effectiveness in an applied clinical setting," *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, vol. 32, no. 1, pp. 106–110, 2007.
- [14] B. A. Spear, S. E. Barlow, C. Ervin et al., "Recommendations for treatment of child and adolescent overweight and obesity," *Pediatrics*, vol. 120, supplement 4, pp. S254–S288, 2007.
- [15] H. J. Binns, M. M. Mueller, and A. J. Ariza, "Healthy and fit for prevention: the influence of clinician health and fitness on promotion of healthy lifestyles during health supervision visits," *Clinical Pediatrics*, vol. 46, no. 9, pp. 780–786, 2007.

- [16] M. T. Story, D. R. Neumark-Stzainer, N. E. Sherwood et al., "Management of child and adolescent obesity: attitudes, barriers, skills, and training needs among health care professionals," *Pediatrics*, vol. 110, no. 1, part 2, pp. 210–214, 2002.
- [17] E. M. Perrin, K. B. Flower, J. Garrett, and A. S. Ammerman, "Preventing and treating obesity: pediatricians' self-efficacy, barriers, resources, and advocacy," *Ambulatory Pediatrics*, vol. 5, no. 3, pp. 150–156, 2005.
- [18] L. Kolagotla and W. Adams, "Ambulatory management of childhood obesity," *Obesity Research*, vol. 12, no. 2, pp. 275–283, 2004.
- [19] D. R. Wright, E. M. Taveras, M. W. Gillman et al., "The cost of a primary care-based childhood obesity prevention intervention," *BMC Health Services Research*, vol. 14, article 44, 2014.
- [20] K. Davis and K. K. Christoffel, "Obesity in preschool and school-age children: treatment early and often may be best," *Archives of Pediatrics and Adolescent Medicine*, vol. 148, no. 12, pp. 1257–1261, 1994.
- [21] S. Scholtens, B. Brunekreef, T. L. S. Visscher et al., "Reported versus measured body weight and height of 4-year-old children and the prevalence of overweight," *European Journal of Public Health*, vol. 17, no. 4, pp. 369–374, 2007.
- [22] S. H. O'Brien, R. Holubkov, and E. C. Reis, "Identification, evaluation, and management of obesity in an academic primary care center," *Pediatrics*, vol. 114, no. 2, pp. e154–e159, 2004.
- [23] V. A. Moyer and M. Butler, "Gaps in the evidence for well-child care: a challenge to our profession," *Pediatrics*, vol. 114, no. 6, pp. 1511–1521, 2004.
- [24] L. G. Wofford, "Systematic review of childhood obesity prevention," *Journal of Pediatric Nursing*, vol. 23, no. 1, pp. 5–19, 2008.
- [25] M. D. McKee, S. Maher, D. Deen, and A. E. Blank, "Counseling to prevent obesity among preschool children: acceptability of a pilot urban primary care intervention," *Annals of Family Medicine*, vol. 8, no. 3, pp. 249–255, 2010.
- [26] K. I. Pollak, S. C. Alexander, T. Østbye et al., "Primary care physicians' discussions of weight-related topics with overweight and obese adolescents: results from the teen CHAT Pilot study," *Journal of Adolescent Health*, vol. 45, no. 2, pp. 205–207, 2009.
- [27] T. T.-K. Huang, L. A. Borowski, B. Liu et al., "Pediatricians' and family physicians' weight-related care of children in the U.S," *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, vol. 41, no. 1, pp. 24– 32, 2011.
- [28] M. Vine, M. B. Hargreaves, R. R. Briefel, and C. Orfield, "Expanding the role of primary care in the prevention and treatment of childhood obesity: a review of clinic- and communitybased recommendations and interventions," *Journal of Obesity*, vol. 2013, Article ID 172035, 17 pages, 2013.
- [29] E. M. Perrin, J. C. Jacobson Vann, J. T. Benjamin, A. C. Skinner, S. Wegner, and A. S. Ammerman, "Use of a pediatrician toolkit to address parental perception of children's weight status, nutrition, and activity behaviors," *Academic Pediatrics*, vol. 10, no. 4, pp. 274–281, 2010.
- [30] E. M. Perrin, J. P. Finkle, and J. T. Benjamin, "Obesity prevention and the primary care pediatrician's office," *Current Opinion in Pediatrics*, vol. 19, no. 3, pp. 354–361, 2007.
- [31] L. M. Wen, L. A. Baur, J. M. Simpson, C. Rissel, K. Wardle, and V. M. Flood, "Effectiveness of home based early intervention on children's BMI at age 2: randomised controlled trial," *British Medical Journal*, vol. 344, Article ID e3732, 11 pages, 2012.

- [32] K. Resnicow, R. Davis, and S. Rollnick, "Motivational interviewing for pediatric obesity: conceptual issues and evidence review," *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*, vol. 106, no. 12, pp. 2024–2033, 2006.
- [33] R. P. Schwartz, R. Hamre, W. H. Dietz et al., "Office-based motivational interviewing to prevent childhood obesity: a feasibility study," *Archives of Pediatrics and Adolescent Medicine*, vol. 161, no. 5, pp. 495–501, 2007.

Research Article

Barriers to Lose Weight from the Perspective of Children with Overweight/Obesity and Their Parents: A Sociocultural Approach

Ana Lilia Rodríguez-Ventura,^{1,2} Ingris Pelaez-Ballestas,³ Reyna Sámano-Sámano,¹ Carlos Jimenez-Gutierrez,¹ and Carlos Aguilar-Salinas⁴

¹ Departamento de Investigación en Nutrición y Bioprogramación, Instituto Nacional de Perinatología, Piso 2, Torre de Investigación, Montes Urales 800, Colonia Lomas de Virreyes, 11000 Miguel Hidalgo, Mexico City, DF, Mexico

² Departamento de Endocrinología, Hospital Infantil de México Federico Gómez, Mexico City, DF, Mexico

³ Departamento de Reumatología, Antropología, Médica Hospital General de México, Mexico City, DF, Mexico

⁴ Departamento de Endocrinología, Instituto Nacional de Ciencias Médicas y de la Nutrición Salvador Zubirán, Mexico City, DF, Mexico

Correspondence should be addressed to Ana Lilia Rodríguez-Ventura; rovalilia@hotmail.com

Received 16 April 2014; Revised 22 August 2014; Accepted 15 September 2014; Published 2 October 2014

Academic Editor: Li Ming Wen

Copyright © 2014 Ana Lilia Rodríguez-Ventura et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Introduction. There are not enough studies about the barriers to lose weight from the perspective of children and their parents. *Methods.* Children and adolescents diagnosed with overweight/obesity in the Department of Endocrinology and their parents were invited to participate in a series of focus group discussions (FGD). Twenty-nine children 10–16 years old and 22 parents participated in 7 focus groups; 2 mothers and 2 adolescents participated in depth interviews. All interviews were recorded, transcribed, and analyzed through grounded theory. *Results.* Parents went to the hospital only when their children presented any obesity complication; for them, overweight was not a health problem. Parents referred to lack of time to supervise about a healthy diet and exercise; besides, the same parents, relatives, friends, and not understanding overweight consequences. Both, parents and children, demanded support to do the time recommended for exercise inside the schools. They also suggested getting information from schools and mass media (TV) about overweight consequences, exercise, and healthy food by health workers; they recommended prohibiting announcements about junk food and its sale. *Conclusions.* The barriers detected were lack of perception of being overweight, its identification as a disease and its consequences, lack of time to supervise a healthy lifestyle, and a big social influence to eat junk food.

1. Introduction

Rates of severe childhood obesity have tripled in the last 25 years, with significant differences by race, gender, and poverty [1]. In 2006, 70% of adults (30–60 years old) and 35% of adolescents (12–19 years old) were overweight/obese in Mexico [2], but after six years and despite different public health efforts, this high national prevalence continues [3]. A longitudinal study reported only 23% of success to decrease

body mass index (BMI) in 83 of 150 adolescents who were followed during 23 months [4]. In a meta-analysis of 64 trials (5230 adolescents), authors concluded that interventions mixing lifestyle and behavior interventions were effective but need to consider psychosocial features to get behavioral changes [5]. The design of studies must consider isolation feelings, understanding of overweight consequences and comorbidities, individual barriers, and the social and cultural context [6–9].

Qualitative research has the goal of explaining the sociocultural world through self-experience of each person acting as theoretical and methodological livelihood; use techniques and designs to get, analyze, and interpret information (narratives, videos, and documents); the results are not expressed numerically [10, 11]. Previous qualitative studies have indicated that parents are not concerned about their children being overweight. Parents have expressed more anxiety about children being underweight than overweight, so then they usually are not aware about the weight status of their children [12, 13]. By the way, children are not aware of their overweight; in fact, a qualitative study found that black female adolescents want losing weight but not too much in order not to be so different to the rest of the family [14]. In addition, parents have referred to the fact that they are depriving their children if they restrict unhealthy food [12]; they are reluctant to restrict 100% fruit juice, need specific strategies to increase vegetable consumption, and think that limiting screen time would be difficult, especially when they are busy or during inclement weather [15]. Other barriers to achieve a healthy lifestyle included cost of healthy food, time and practicality, family preferences, and difficulty in changing habits [16]; individual, family, and community involvement [17].

The aim of this study was to identify the barriers to lose weight, including the weight status perception, beliefs, habits, opinion of social support, and recommendations from the perspective of children being overweight or obese and their parents, in order to improve the interventions of overweight/obesity in children considering this information.

2. Methods

2.1. Subjects. Participants (children and parents) were recruited from a Pediatric Endocrinology Unit by a pediatrician who contacted them in the waiting area or by phone since a record of children with the diagnosis of overweight or obesity. Eligibility criteria included age (10–18 years old), male or female, overweight (body mass index (BMI) \geq 85th percentile for age and gender) or obese (BMI \geq 95th percentile for age and gender), and parents with a child diagnosed with overweight or obesity. The study was approved by the Research and Ethic Committee of Children's Mexico Hospital Federico Gomez and written informed consent was obtained from all parents and children.

2.2. Focus Group Methodology. A focus group is a technique of the qualitative method to describe and understand interpretations, perceptions, and beliefs of a group (6–10 persons) with a common problem [18, 19]. The goal is the heterogeneity of the information on persons who share the same problem [11, 18–20]. The theoretical sampling was selected and made according to the wealth of information and not to the number of individuals and the process stops when new more aspects of the same phenomenon are not already mentioned [11].

Focus groups were formed by a moderator-social psychologist, an observant—a physician, and 6–8 children or parents. The observant was a pediatric endocrinologist independent of his/her assigned doctors. There were 4 groups of children, 2 of girls (10–14 and 15–18 years old) and 2 of boys (10–14 and 15–18 years old), and 3 groups of parents, 2 of mothers (younger than 40 years old and older than 40 years) and 1 of fathers (every age). Four interviews were made in depth to complement the information: 2 mothers (28 and 45 years old) and 2 adolescents (girl of 13 years old and boy of 15 years old).

The guide for interview was made by literature review [5–9, 12–15] and by a research team (pediatric endocrinologist, pediatrician, psychologists, nutritionists, and medical anthropologist). The guide explored weight perception, causes of overweight, limitations to lose weight, habits and beliefs, opinions about social support, suggestions to lose weight, and the way to get more information about the health problem. The interviews lasted 90–120 minutes, were recorded, transcribed verbatim, and were run until themes based on parental and children responses achieved saturation. The analysis was made by Atlas.ti, according to grounded theory: identification of important themes, comparison of themes, and organization of each theme in families, codes, or categories [10].

Example of Coding Scheme for Theme

Limitations to lose weight are as follows:

- (i) weight status perception,
- (ii) weight status perception in children,
- (iii) reasons to buy fast food,
- (iv) limited time to prepare healthy food,
- (v) limited time to be with children,
- (vi) economical limitations,
- (vii) poor understanding of healthy diet and habits,
- (viii) poor understanding of consequences of overweight.

3. Results

3.1. Participants. Twenty-nine children and 22 parents participated in this study. The 51.7% were female and the median age was 15 years (10–17 years old). All children presented body mass index (BMI) in percentile 85 or higher. 82% of parents had overweight or obesity and only 22.7% of the children had parent participants in the focus groups. The mothers interviewed in depth were 38 and 45 years old, respectively, the girl 12 and the boy 15 years old.

3.2. Themes. We identify 4 principal themes (Figure 1): limitations to lose weight, eating and activity habits and beliefs, views on the social support, and recommendations for losing weight and disseminate information.

3.2.1. Limitations to Lose Weight

(1) Lack of Overweight/Obesity Perception. Almost all parents did not perceive overweight or obesity in their children; they went to the hospital for acanthosis nigricans, hypertension, asthma, or other health conditions but not for the weight of their children:



FIGURE 1: Sociocultural approach about overweight/obesity in children (detected barriers and recommendations from children and parents).

I never imagined that she was overweight... when we saw the problem of her skin... consulted a dermatologist and because of the dark neck, told us that she had to go with an endocrinologist... (Mother, 38 years old).

(2) *Guilt about Abandoning Their Children*. Parents expressed feelings of guilt about leaving their children for a long time for their work and compensating them with a lot of food that they like, videogames, or anything that children demand:

... His dad thinks that it is giving back to the girl, the fact that it is not a lot of time with her: - Daugther [sic], these are for you, some cookies, small cakes, pizza, Chicken Happy- (Mother, 42 years old).

(3) Lack of Time to Supervise the Children. Mothers do not have time to supervise diet and exercise of their children; some of the mothers offer their children fruits and vegetables but they do not eat them:

... I cannot leave work... I want to be all the time with her and really be supervising it (Mother, 42 years old).

I find the rotting fruit of a very long time... (Mother, 46 years old).

(4) *Economical Limitations*. The parents do not have enough money to buy fruit or healthier food for each member of the family:

What concerns me more is the economic part I think that's why I cannot give everyone all the fruits required... it does not reach... are five meals, ... three or more fruits and vegetables... (Mother, 43 years old).

(5) Lack of Information about Healthier Food and Overweight/Obesity Consequences. Parents and children did not have an understanding of healthy diet and consequences of overweight because they did not receive a complete explanation about it in the past:

> I had been carrying with several doctors and did not allow him to be a diet so well what it is like now that you say, such a thing is worth so many calories and you can eat as many servings... (Father interviewed).

3.2.2. Eating and Activity Habits and Beliefs

(1) Skipping Breakfast or Any Other Time of Food. Most of the children participants did not have breakfast due to lack of time or appetite, as well as lunch or dinner:

... I only had time wash up, I did not have time for breakfast and in my school I did not eat, until I were returning home on the night I took dinner (Female adolescent, 16 years old).

(2) Insufficient Rest (Short Sleep). Children go to bed very late because they arrive late at home, do homework, use the computer, play videogames, watch TV, or wait for their parents to come back from their job.

(3) Disorder on Weekends. Children and even parents wake up almost at noon, do not respect schedules or quality of their food, do not combine correctly the food groups or their quantities, and usually underestimate the amount of food:

The **only** thing that I eat in the evening it is **one** *liter* of milk and two loaves of bread (Adolescent male, 16 years old).

(4) Lack of Security, Money, and Time to Do Exercise. For parents it is better that the children are entertained watching TV than in the street exposed to danger; this way, the parents are able to finish work at home. Children mentioned lack of time, nearer places, and money:

... Is the lack of time... and the other is the insecurity... if you are not with the children is very dangerous, it is the main factor in that the children are locked up (Father interviewed).

Comfort for ourselves, if they are entertained watching TV, they are not giving us problems; and we can finish our tasks home... (Mother, 29 years old).

I practiced Zumba, arabic dance and hawaiian... but the teachers are no longer going, I was in karate, but by issues of money, I couldn't continue. I was swimming but now for my school I do not have time to go (Female adolescents, 10–14 years old).

(5) Practicality and Rejection of the Natural Water. Several parents said that buying a soda is cheaper and faster than preparing water with fruit. Natural water is unacceptable for several people. "... my husband tells me that doing water with fruits is more expensive that buying soda... the water, sugar, fruits." "At home it is a sin eating accompanied with natural water, poor children, how is possible they drink natural water with the food..." (Focus group of mothers younger than 40 years old).

(6) Refusal to Eat Vegetables. The belief "vegetables for animals" was not present in adolescents participants, but

some of them have heard it from grandparents, parents, or friends of their parents. "A friend of mom, was eating and told than the lettuce is for animals" (Boy, 13 years old).

(7) "Children in Growth Should Not Restrict Their Food." Some mothers expressed the idea that children should eat a lot because they are growing. In fact, they expressed that thinness indicates disease and overweight means good health. Adolescents do not share this belief but do not want to be too thin.

> It was normal to listen-Pretty child, he is cute so chubby-.... When children are heavy, we are happy... when people saw my daughter so small and thin, they told me - your child is underweight, she looks sick... (Father and mother, 42 years old, resp.).

> ... *I would like to be thin, but not too much* (All male adolescents, 10–14 years old).

3.2.3. Views on the Social Support (Relatives, Friends, etc.)

(1) Giving Junk Food in Excess as a Display of Affection. Fathers, friends, and mass media improve excessive junk food consumption as a display of affection. "... my daughter received a box of chocolate candies when she was operated..." "When we lived in the house of my parents, they told us - How is possible that my grand-daughter does not eat sweets, this is traumatic" (Focus group of mothers \geq 40 years old).

... because my sons watch toys in the announcement TV of any food and they tell me buy me it or that..... With this type of announcementes [sic] call children, with offerings such as buy 1 and take 2, my son tell me—it is cheap - (Mothers < 40 years old).

(2) Poor Support from Schools. In several schools fast food is sold; in fact, there are no options to eat healthy food. "... In the school, there is a specific place to sell maruchan soup and it is the first to be sold, fruits and vegetables are not sold, only maruchan soup, cookies, snacks and sweets" (Female adolescent, 13 years old).

(3) Lack of Clear Information about Obesity Consequences and Healthy Diet. Physicians do not explain enough the consequences of obesity and the meaning of a healthy diet. In addition, they scold mothers if their children do not lose weight, although some teens prefer that their doctors speak hardly about consequences in order to understand why they need to change. "... physicians do not explain us the things... a pediatrician told me the true but very kindly, the other pediatrician told me very serious the true and now I am changing" (Male adolescent 15 years old).

3.2.4. Recommendations to Lose Weight and Disseminate Information

(1) Support from TV and Mass Media to Disseminate Information and Regulate Publicity of Junk Food. Children and parents recommended TV programs about healthy diet and consequences of overweight because all people watch TV. "... more information in TV because it is the principal mass media, in TV, the experts must explain about diseases caused by the overweight..." (Mother, 38 years old).

(2) Real Support from Schools. Parents considered that the school must also educate children about healthy lifestyle because children stay there most of their time. Children also were interested to learn about healthy food and overweight consequences in the school, by health workers. They recommended prohibiting the selling of fast and junk food and placing dining rooms offering healthy food. They also suggested that children do exercise on recommended time inside schools: *"The actions should be directed in the schools because it is where children are the greatest time..."* (Focus group of fathers).

(3) Example from Parents. Parents realize they must practice being a good example. "I feel that if I lose weight, it would be the best motivation for my son" (Mother, 36 years old).

4. Discussion

The lack of perception of overweight/obesity and of its condition as a disease with comorbidities favors the poor adherence to treatment [21]. In Canada, some authors reported that more than 44% underestimated children body size and also 33% of their physician [22]. Between 32.1 and 87.5% of mothers perceive the weight of their children who present overweight or obesity as normal [23–25]. The parents of this study accepted that they themselves, relatives, and friends believed that being thin means disease or debility; it is the reason why everyone recommends eating a lot to gain weight if the children were thin. Despite the fact that children participants have listened to this idea from some adults, they said they did not agree; however, they expressed wanting to lose weight but not too much although their weight was excessive. It is also possible that Mexican children do not want to lose a lot of weight in order not to be so different to the rest of the family, same as a qualitative study reported it [14] if we consider that 70% of adults in Mexico are overweight or obese. If the health personnel do not identify this lack of perception of overweight and its comorbidities, the interventions will continue without success. Mexico, until 1988, had a very high prevalence of underweight in children, so then it is also possible that people prefer to see children overweight than underweight. This low perception of being overweight and knowledge about its consequences were also recently reported in USA [26].

On the other hand, the principal limitation referred by parents was the lack of time to supervise their children; several studies have reported that the active family participation (principally parents) encourages the change toward healthy habits in children [27, 28]. In fact, in people with diabetes, family support is frequently recognized as an important factor in lifestyle changes, but only 13% of the respondents with diabetes reported that their families had made any adjustments to their lifestyles that would benefit them [29]. The same parents participants realize that if they lose weight, their children will also lose weight, as Braet has referred about the importance of telling the children "do as I do" in place of saying "do as I say" [30].

Another important barrier is the lack of understanding about overweight consequences. In fact, all parents and children participants, especially, the oldest, demanded a clear explanation about it. This clear explanation would be the best strategy to motivate parents and children to lose weight [25] and to forget the belief in adults about association between underweight and disease or overweight and good health. In a previous study, authors found that one of the reasons why children and adolescents would participate in a program to lose weight is to prevent diabetes [26]. Bolling et al. [15] interviewed parents of preschool children with overweight/obesity and they expressed, such as our participants, their interest to understand clearly the health risks being overweight and obese because it is not easy to discuss with children the importance of eating vegetables and watch TV for less time.

Parents feel guilty leaving their children alone for their jobs and, as compensation, they buy them junk food. In addition, this sense of guilt also limits their authority even more if the same parents are unable to follow a healthy lifestyle [28, 30]. Parents reported that children got angry when they were restricted to eat certain foods or demanded to do exercise [31]; one of the participating mothers said that she and her daughter consult a psychologist to improve their relationship; they have serious differences regarding food. In fact, recently, in a qualitative study of Mexican-American and Mexican immigrant, the majority of parents described being permissive and allowing unhealthy food choices [32]. Usually, when people are imposed to change, without the freedom to make their own choices, this makes it totally the opposite, so it is important to make sure that the child wants to change and is willing to do so [33].

Several authors have reported, from the perspective of physicians interviewed, that the therapeutic success is low because patients and relatives do not have motivation, there is no family support, the mass media influence their elections of food, and there are no brochures more comprehensive and practical on healthy eating and exercise [34–37], and just this impression was also shared by the participants (children and parents) of this study.

Interventions in secondary schools have improved the sale of food [31, 38–40], which also suggested participants in our study, in addition to install dining rooms that offer healthy and balanced meal. In fact, in the State of Mexico, two communities with similar sociodemographic characteristics were randomized to implement an intervention (n = 816) or serve as a control (n = 408). The intervention was carried out in primary schools and it consisted of education on healthy habits, modification of distributed food, and physical activity. Until after three years, intervention resulted in a lower increase of BMI (1.6 versus 1.9 Kg/m^2 , P < 0.01) and a decreased consumption of total calories, bread, fat, and sugar consumption in the schools [41]. On the other hand, as the school is the place where children are
spending a great number of hours, it is the best place to play and do physical activity with trained professionals in order to increase the playtime of children, as our participants suggested in the focus groups [42]. In fact, in Israel, Stein et al. recently published that the psychosocial mediators include the influence of the family and peer environment and exposure to the media and our participants also mentioned the big influence of TV, so then this author concluded that prevention programs should be multidisciplinary, combining the knowledge of experts from different professions and taking into consideration the important role of the family environment and relevant influential social organizations, particularly school [43].

The principal limitation of this study was at the same time a stronghold because our participants were already alive to the problem. In the past, they did not perceive the overweight in their children, did not identify it as a disease, and ignored the consequences and the best way to eat; now, they had more knowledge to give recommendations in order to decrease the weight. However, the perspective could be a little different, interviewing people without the perception of overweight/obesity in children and their parents.

In conclusion, the barriers detected in this study have similitude and differences with other big cities. The intervention programs must consider the lack of perception of being overweight/obese, its identification as a disease, and its consequences; the lack of time of parents to supervise diet and exercise of their children; the great influence of relatives, friends, school, and mass media to eat junk food and the possibility to educate about it from schools and mass media (principally TV) by health personnel.

Conflict of Interests

None of the authors have any conflict of interests to report and none of this data has been previously published.

Acknowledgments

This study is supported by an award from CONACYT (National Commission of Science and Technology), SALUD-2010-C02-151262. The authors would like to thank José Antonio Paez, Psychologist, and Juan Garduño, M.D., from Children's Mexico Hospital Federico Gomez and Lori Laffel, M.D., Ph.D. (Joslin Diabetes Center), for their significant recommendations.

References

- J. A. Skelton, S. R. Cook, P. Auinger, J. D. Klein, and S. E. Barlow, "Prevalence and trends of severe obesity among US children and adolescents," *Academic Pediatrics*, vol. 9, no. 5, pp. 322–329, 2009.
- [2] S. Rodríguez-Ramírez, V. Mundo-Rosas, T. Shamah-Levy, X. Ponce-Martínez, A. Jiménez-Aguilar, and T. González-de Cossío, "Energy and nutrient intake in mexican adolescents: analysis of the mexican national health and nutrition survey 2006," *Salud Publica de Mexico*, vol. 51, supplement 4, pp. s551– s561, 2009.

- [3] J. P. Gutierrez, J. Rivera, and T. Shamah, *Encuesta Nacional de Salud y Nutrición*, Resultados Nacionales, Cuernavaca, Mexico, 2012.
- [4] J. N. Germann, D. S. Kirschenbaum, B. H. Rich, and J. C. O'Koon, "Long-term evaluation of multi-disciplinary treatment of morbid obesity in low-income minority adolescents: La Rabida Children': Hospital's Program," *Journal of Adolescent Health*, vol. 39, no. 4, pp. 553–561, 2006.
- [5] H. Oude Luttikhuis, L. Baur, H. Jansen et al., "Interventions for treating obesity in children," *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, no. 1, 2009.
- [6] D. W. Satterfield, T. Lofton, J. E. May et al., "Learning from listening: common concerns and perceptions about diabetes prevention among diverse American populations," *Journal of Public Health Management and Practice*, supplement, pp. S56– S63, 2003.
- [7] A. Ángeles-Llerenas, N. Carbajal-Sánchez, B. Allen, S. Zamora-Muñoz, and E. Lazcano-Ponce, "Gender, body mass index and socio-demographic variables associated with knowledge about type 2 diabetes mellitus among 13 293 Mexican students," *Acta Diabetologica*, vol. 42, no. 1, pp. 36–45, 2005.
- [8] L. Maes and J. Lievens, "Can the school make a difference? A multilevel analysis of adolescent risk and health behaviour," *Social Science and Medicine*, vol. 56, no. 3, pp. 517–529, 2003.
- [9] M. A. Cardoso, "La cultura como configurador de estilos alimentarios antagónicos al tratamiento contra la diabetes. Cultura, dieta y diabetes," *Cuiculco*, vol. 13, no. 37, pp. 129–146, 2006.
- [10] I. Peláez-Ballestas and R. Burgos-Vargas, "La aproximación cualitativa en salud: una alternativa de investigación clínica de las enfermedades reumáticas," *Reumatología Clínica*, vol. 1, no. 3, pp. 166–174, 2005.
- [11] P. Herrera-Saraya, I. P. Ballestas, L. R. Lirac, D. Sánchez-Monroy, and R. Burgos, "Problemas con el uso de sillas de ruedas y otras ayudas técnicas y barreras sociales a las que se enfrentan las personas que las utilizan. Estudio cualitativo desde la perspectiva de la ergonomía en personas discapacitadas por enfermedades reumáticas y otras condiciones," *Reumatología Clínica*, vol. 472, pp. 1–7, 2012.
- [12] D. L. Pagnini, R. L. Wilkenfeld, L. A. King, M. L. Booth, and S. L. Booth, "Mothers of pre-school children talk about childhood overweight and obesity: the Weight of Opinion study," *Journal of Paediatrics and Child Health*, vol. 43, no. 12, pp. 806–810, 2007.
- [13] A. Jain, S. N. Sherman, L. A. Chamberlin, Y. Carter, S. W. Powers, and R. C. Whitaker, "Why don't low-income mothers worry about their preschoolers being overweight?" *Pediatrics*, vol. 107, no. 5, pp. 1138–1146, 2001.
- [14] M. Alm, N. Soroudi, J. Wylie-Rosett et al., "A qualitative assessment of barriers and facilitators to achieving behavior goals among obese inner-city adolescents in a weight management program," *Diabetes Educator*, vol. 34, no. 2, pp. 277–284, 2008.
- [15] C. Bolling, L. Crosby, R. Boles, and L. Stark, "How pediatricians can improve diet and activity for overweight preschoolers: a qualitative study of parental attitudes," *Academic Pediatrics*, vol. 9, no. 3, pp. 172–178, 2009.
- [16] K. R. Sonneville, N. La Pelle, E. M. Taveras, M. W. Gillman, and L. A. Prosser, "Economic and other barriers to adopting recommendations to prevent childhood obesity: results of a focus group study with parents," *BMC Pediatrics*, vol. 9, article 81, 2009.
- [17] J. M. Berge, A. Arikian, W. J. Doherty, and D. Neumark-Sztainer, "Healthful eating and physical activity in the home

environement : results from multifamily focus group," *Journal of Nutrition Education and Behavior*, vol. 44, no. 2, pp. 123–131, 2012.

- [18] D. Neumark-Sztainer, M. Story, C. Perry, and M. A. Casey, "Factors influencing food choices of adolescents: findings from focus- group discussions with adolescents," *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*, vol. 99, no. 8, pp. 929–937, 1999.
- [19] A. Rovner, M. Sanjeev, D. Haynie, and et al, "Perceived benefits, barriers, and strategies of family meals among children with type 1 diabetes mellitus and their parents: focus-group findings," *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*, vol. 110, no. 9, pp. 1302–1306, 2010.
- [20] P. Liamputtong and D. Ezzy, Qualitive Research Methods: A Health Focus, pp. 71–94, Oxford University, 2004.
- [21] R. Mazze, E. S. Strock, and G. Simonson, *Staged Diabetes Management: A Systematic Approach*, John Wiley & Sons, London, UK, 2nd edition, 2004.
- [22] R. Chaimovitz, R. Issenman, T. Moffat, and R. Persad, "Body perception: do parents, their children, and their children's physicians perceive body image differently?" *Journal of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition*, vol. 47, no. 1, pp. 76–80, 2008.
- [23] K. C. Eckstein, L. M. Mikhail, A. J. Ariza, J. S. Thomson, S. C. Millard, and H. J. Binns, "Parents' perceptions of their child's weight and health," *Pediatrics*, vol. 117, no. 3, pp. 681–690, 2006.
- [24] M. Hackie and C. L. Bowles, "Maternal perception of their overweight children: populations at risk across the lifespan: case reports," *Public Health Nursing*, vol. 24, no. 6, pp. 538–546, 2007.
- [25] L. Killion, S. O. Hughes, J. C. Wendt, D. Pease, and T. A. Nicklas, "Minority mothers' perceptions of children's body size," *International Journal of Pediatric Obesity*, vol. 1, no. 2, pp. 96– 102, 2006.
- [26] A. C. Sylvetsky, M. Hennink, D. Comeau et al., "Youth understanding of healthy eating and obesity: a focus group study," *Journal of Obesity*, vol. 2013, Article ID 670295, 6 pages, 2013.
- [27] M. Laakso, "Prevention of type 2 diabetes," Current Molecular Medicine, vol. 5, no. 3, pp. 365–374, 2005.
- [28] J. Tuomilehto, J. Lindström, J. G. Eriksson et al., "Prevention of type 2 diabetes mellitus by changes in lifestyle among subjects with impaired glucose tolerance," *The New England Journal of Medicine*, vol. 344, no. 18, pp. 1343–1350, 2001.
- [29] A. J. Ahola and P.-H. Groop, "Barriers to self-management of diabetes," *Diabetic Medicine*, vol. 30, no. 4, pp. 413–420, 2013.
- [30] C. Braet, "Psychological profile to become and to stay obese," *International Journal of Obesity*, vol. 29, no. 2, pp. S19–S23, 2005.
- [31] D. W. Satterfield, M. Volansky, C. J. Caspersen et al., "Community-based lifestyle interventions to prevent type 2 diabetes," *Diabetes Care*, vol. 26, no. 9, pp. 2643–2652, 2003.
- [32] B. J. Turner, N. Navuluri, P. Winkler, S. Vale, and E. Finley, "A qualitative study of family healthy lifestyle behaviors of Mexican-American and Mexican immigrant fathers and mothers," *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics*, vol. 114, no. 4, pp. 562–569, 2014.
- [33] M. L. Cruz, G. Q. Shaibi, M. J. Weigensberg, D. Spruijt-Metz, G. D. C. Ball, and M. I. Goran, "Pediatric obesity and insulin resistance: chronic disease risk and implications for treatment and prevention beyond body weight modification," *Annual Review of Nutrition*, vol. 25, pp. 435–468, 2005.
- [34] S. Scaglioni, M. Salvioni, and C. Galimberti, "Influence of parental attitudes in the development of children eating behaviour," *The British Journal of Nutrition*, vol. 29, supplement 1, pp. S22–S25, 2008.

- [35] M. Golan, A. Weizman, A. Apter, and M. Fainaru, "Parents as the exclusive agents of change in the treatment of childhood obesity," *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, vol. 67, no. 6, pp. 1130–1135, 1998.
- [36] A. Chien, T. Coker, L. Choi et al., "What do pediatric primary care providers think are important research questions? A perspective from PROS providers," *Ambulatory Pediatrics*, vol. 6, no. 6, pp. 352–355, 2006.
- [37] S. E. Barlow, M. Richert, and E. A. Baker, "Putting context in the statistics: paediatricians' experiences discussing obesity during office visits," *Child: Care, Health and Development*, vol. 33, no. 4, pp. 416–423, 2007.
- [38] T. S. Sesselberg, J. D. Klein, K. G. O'Connor, and M. S. Johnson, "Screening and counseling for childhood obesity: results from a national survey," *Journal of the American Board of Family Medicine*, vol. 23, no. 3, pp. 334–342, 2010.
- [39] G. M. Dwyer, J. Higgs, L. L. Hardy, and L. A. Baur, "What do parents and preschool staff tell us about young children's physical activity: a qualitative study," *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, vol. 5, article 66, 2008.
- [40] K. W. Cullen, J. Hartstein, K. D. Reynolds et al., "Improving the school food environment: results from a pilot study in middle schools," *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*, vol. 107, no. 3, pp. 484–489, 2007.
- [41] U. Alvirde-García, A. J. Rodríguez-Guerrero, S. Henao-Morán, F. J. Gómez-Pérez, and C. A. Aguilar-Salinas, "Resultados de un programa comunitario de intervención en el estilo de vida en niños," *Salud Publica de Mexico*, vol. 55, supplement 3, pp. S406– S414, 2013.
- [42] M. Martínez-Andrés, U. García-López, M. Gutiérrez-Zornoza et al., "Barriers, facilitators and preferences for the physical activity of school children. Rationale and methods of a mixed study," *BMC public health*, vol. 12, article 785, 2012.
- [43] D. Stein, S. L. Weinberger-Litman, and Y. Latzer, "Psychosocial perspectives and the issue of prevention in childhood obesity," *Front in Public Health*, vol. 2, pp. 1–13, 2014.

Review Article

Maternal Weight Gain in Pregnancy and Risk of Obesity among Offspring: A Systematic Review

Erica Y. Lau,¹ Junxiu Liu,² Edward Archer,³ Samantha M. McDonald,¹ and Jihong Liu²

¹ Department of Exercise Science, Arnold School of Public Health, University of South Carolina, Columbia, SC 29208, USA

² Department of Epidemiology and Biostatistics, Arnold School of Public Health, University of South Carolina, 915 Greene Street,

³ Nutrition Obesity Research Center, University of Alabama at Birmingham, Birmingham, AL 35233, USA

Correspondence should be addressed to Jihong Liu; jliu@mailbox.sc.edu

Received 22 July 2014; Revised 11 September 2014; Accepted 14 September 2014; Published 2 October 2014

Academic Editor: Li Ming Wen

Copyright © 2014 Erica Y. Lau et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Objectives. To systematically review the evidence from prospective and retrospective cohort studies on the association between gestational weight gain (GWG) and offspring's body weight. *Methods.* Electronic databases PubMed, Web of Science, CINAHL, and Academic Search Premiere were searched from inception through March 18, 2013. Included studies (n = 23) were English articles that examined the independent associations of GWG with body mass index (BMI) and/or overweight status in the offspring aged 2 to 18.9 years. Two authors independently extracted the data and assessed methodological quality of the included studies. *Results.* Evidence from cohort studies supports that total GWG and exceeding the Institute of Medicine maternal weight gain recommendation were associated with higher BMI *z*-score and elevated risk of overweight or obesity in offspring. The evidence of high rate of GWG during early- and mid-pregnancy is suggestive. Additionally, the evidence on inadequate GWG and net GWG in relation to body weight outcomes in offspring is insufficient to draw conclusions. *Conclusions.* These findings suggest that GWG is a potential risk factor for childhood obesity. However, findings should be interpreted with caution due to measurement issues of GWG and potential confounding effects of shared familial characteristics (i.e., genetics and maternal and child's lifestyle factors).

1. Introduction

Childhood obesity is a pandemic [1]. Over 155 million children aged 5–17 are overweight or obese worldwide [2]. In the United States, 16.9% children and adolescents aged 2–19 years are obese [3], while, in Europe, 12–36% children aged 7–11 years are overweight or obese. The childhood obesity epidemic has become a public health priority because of its immediate health consequences for children such as increased risk of type 2 diabetes mellitus and heart diseases [4, 5] and its long-term health impact such as increased risks of cardiovascular diseases, cancers and all-cause mortality in adulthood [6–8].

To reverse the obesity epidemic among children, identifying risk factors for prevention is crucial. Obesity is a result of individuals consuming more energy than they expend [9]. This positive energy balance is subject to multiple factors such as genetics, environment, and lifestyle factors [10–12]. In recent years, a growing body of literature suggests that intrauterine environment may also have a profound influence on the development of obesity later in life [13, 14]. One possible mechanism is that a suboptimal intrauterine nutritional environment that may modulate child's energy balance system through altering the developmental programming of appetite control and the metabolism of adiposity and adipocytes in fetuses. Children with the modified energy balance systems may be more vulnerable to obesogenic environment and thus increasing their risk of developing obesity in childhood [13, 14].

Maternal gestational weight gain (GWG), defined as the amount of weight a pregnant woman gained between the time of conception and the onset of labor [15], is one of the key markers of intrauterine nutritional environment. Between 1997 and 2007, approximately 46% of the pregnant US women

Room 459 Discovery Building, Columbia, SC 29208, USA

gained more weight than the Institute of Medicine (IOM) recommendation [16, 17].

In recent years, this health issue has attracted an increasing number of researchers due to the potential impact of GWG on offspring's body weight in childhood [16–18]. Therefore, the objective of this review was to systematically summarize current knowledge regarding the association between GWG and offspring body weight in children aged 2 to 18.9 years from observational studies.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Search Strategy. A systematic review of existing cohort studies (prospective and retrospective) was performed following the PRISMA (preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analysis) statement [19] (see Supplementary Table 1 available online at http://dx .doi.org/10.1155/2014/524939) and the MOOSE (metaanalysis of observational studies in epidemiology) [20] guidelines. One author (EYL) conducted an electronic database search to retrieve English articles from PubMed, Web of Science, CINAHL, and Academic Search Premiere published from inception to March 18, 2013. The search strategies combined "gestational weight gain" or "pregnancy" or "maternal weight gain" with any of the following terms: outcomes (overweight, obesity, adiposity, or body mass index), target population (child, adolescent, offspring), and study design (longitudinal studies, cohort studies, or follow-up studies). Full electronic search strategies were described in Supplementary Table 2. To attain additional eligible articles, experts in the field were contacted; reference lists of located studies and relevant reviews [21, 22] were scanned. The search was limited to English articles published in international peer-reviewed journals. Book chapters, abstracts of conference proceeding, and dissertations were excluded.

2.2. Selection of Studies. To be included, articles had to (1) employ a cohort study design (prospective and retrospective), (2) focus on children aged 2 to 18.9 years, and (3) use GWG as an exposure and child age-and-gender specific BMI or overweight status used as an outcome. The current review focused on studies conducted in children and adolescents aged 2 to 18.9 years because the BMI-for-age percentiles from the Centers for Disease Control and Disease Prevention (CDC) and the International Obesity Task Force (IOTF) all start at age 2. BMI-for-age and overweight status were selected as the primary outcomes of interest because they were widely used in existing studies. Fat mass or waist circumference was not chosen because very few studies focused on these outcomes [23-25]. Studies were excluded if they focused on GWG in relation to child birth weight [26–28] or if the studies examined maternal prepregnancy overweight status rather than GWG in relation to offspring's body composition outcomes [29, 30].

The results from each database search and hand search were entered into Endnote database (Endnote X6, Thomas Reuters, 2012) and duplicated studies were removed. The title and abstract of the remaining studies were screened to identify potential articles for independent assessment of eligibility by two authors (EYL, JXL) and checked by the third author (JHL). Any disagreements were resolved by discussion among authors.

2.3. Data Analysis. The following data were extracted into a summary table by one author (EYL) and checked by another author (JXL): source (year of publication and country in which study was conducted); study characteristics (sample size, time period of the cohort, and child age at follow-up); GWG and child body weight measurements; confounders adjusted; and main findings. We decided not to use formal meta-analytic methods to estimate the effect of the exposure because of the expected heterogeneity in included studies, such as variations in exposure measures, length of followup, study population, and analytical methods. Therefore, the present review provided a qualitative evaluation of the longitudinal association between weight gain during pregnancy and child body weight outcomes. When a study presented results of multivariable statistical models, we summarized the findings based on the fully adjusted models. Discrepancies in data extraction were resolved by consensus of all authors.

2.3.1. Methodological Quality Assessment. Two authors (EYL and JXL) independently rated the quality of included studies using an 8-item quality assessment checklist based on a published scale [15]. The quality of each study was graded as high, medium, or low on each of the following domains: background and objective, sample selection, specification of exposure, specification of outcome, data source, follow-up, comparability of analysis, analysis of outcome, and result interpretations.

3. Results

3.1. Summary of the Search. The literature search yielded 2,869 hits. After eliminating 909 duplicates, 2,206 articles were screened by titles and abstracts. An additional 2,148 articles were excluded for not meeting our inclusion criteria. The remaining eligible full-texts articles (n = 58) were carefully reviewed and 38 of these articles were excluded due to (1) inclusion of samples outside targeted age range (n = 2), (2) not using a cohort study design (n = 1), (3) not using child BMI or overweight status as an outcome (n = 12), and (4) not using GWG as an exposure (n = 21). As a final step, contacting expert in the field and screening reference lists of eligible studies (n = 18) yielded an additional article [31]. Thus, a total of 23 articles [23–25, 31–50] were included in the systematic review (Figure 1).

3.2. Characteristics of Included Studies. Study characteristics are presented in Table 1. Fifteen studies [23–25, 32, 33, 35, 39–45, 47, 50] were based on a pregnancy cohort in which pregnant women were recruited during pregnancy and their offspring were followed prospectively during the childhood [51]. Six studies [34, 36–38, 46, 49] used mixed prospective cohort designs, in which maternal GWG was ascertained



FIGURE 1: Flow diagram of study selection process.

from medical records, and child's body weight was collected during the follow-up [51]. Three studies [31, 43, 48] used a retrospective design, in which maternal GWG was obtained from past records and data on child's body weight outcomes were either retrieved from medical record or ascertained at the time the study began [51].

Nine out of the 19 studies used data from historic cohorts (i.e., cohorts initiated between 1959 and 1990) [24, 33, 37–39, 43, 44, 46, 47]. Sixteen studies were conducted in the US [25, 31, 33, 35, 36, 38–43, 46–50] and seven studies in Europe [23, 24, 32, 34, 37, 44, 45]. Most of these studies included a reasonably large sample size ($n \ge 1000$) with three exceptions (n < 700) [42, 43, 49]. Studies conducted in Europe and the US mainly enrolled Caucasian women; all

but two [37, 46] enrolled both male and female offspring. Twelve studies focused on younger children (aged 3 to 5 years) [25, 33–36, 39, 40, 42, 43, 45, 48, 50], four studies on older children (aged 6 to 12 years) [23, 32, 46, 47], and three studies concentrated on adolescents (aged 13 to 18 years) [24, 37, 41]. Three studies examined the association of interest across age groups [31, 38, 44].

Three articles came from the Project Viva [25, 35, 40] and were treated as separate studies because they examined different GWG exposures. Two studies [33, 47] drew data from the National Collaborative Perinatal Project and were both included as separate studies because Branum et al. [33] focused on family groups to control for shared genetic or environmental factors. Two articles [42, 50] used data

		TABLE 1: Cohor	t studies on maternal weight	gain during pregnancy and of	fspring's body weight outcom	5S.
Authors, year, country, and study design	Sample size and time period	Child age at follow-up	Definition of gestational weight gain (GWG)	GWG variable	Child body weight measure	Confounders adjusted
Li et al. 2007, USA (mixed) [38]	1,739 (1986–2000)	2-12 years	Self-reported weight before delivery minus self-reported prepregnancy weight	Total GWG (kg) (i) <6.8 (ii) 6.81-11.34 (iii) 6.81-11.34 (iii) 11.35-15.88 (ref) (iv) 15.89-20.42 (v) ≥20.43	BML z-score based on measured height and weight Early-onset OW: BMI ≥95th PCTL persisted from 2 to 8 years Late-onset OW: BMI ≥95th PCTL starting at 8 years (CDC)	Maternal age, alcohol consumption during pregnancy, education, family net income0 and prepregnancy BMI, and smoking during pregnancy; childs birth order, birth weight, birth year, breastfeeding, gestational age, race, and sex
Oken et al. 2007, USA (pros) [25]	1,044 (1999–2002)	3 years	Medical record retrieved last prenatal weight minus self-reported prepregnancy weight	Total GWG (kg) Net GWG (total GWG minus infant birth weight) IOM 1990 (i) Excessive (ii) Adequate (iii) Inadequate (ref)	BMI z-score based on measured height and weight OW: BMI ≥95th PCTL (CDC)	Mother's glucose tolerance, marital status, prepregnancy BMI, SIS, smoking, and race; paternal BMI; and child breastfeeding duration, cesarean section daily television viewing time, fast food and sugar beverage intake, gestational fetal growth, gestational length, and sex
Gillman et al. 2008, USA (pros) [35]	1,110 (1999–2002)	3 years	Medical record retrieved last prenatal weight minus prepregnancy weight	IOM 1990 (i) Excessive (ii) Nonexcessive (Ref)	BMI z-score based on self-reported height and weight OW: BMI ≥95th PCTL (CDC)	Maternal education, prepregnancy BMI, smoking during pregnancy, and SES, child breastfeeding duration, daily sleep during infancy, and race
Oken et al. 2008, USA (pros) [41]	11,994 (1996–1999)	9-14 years	Self-reported total GWG	Total GWG (lbs) IOM 1990 (i) Excessive (ii) Adequate (Ref) (iii) Inadequate	BMI z-score based on self-reported height and weight OW: BMI 85th to ≤95th PCTL OB: BMI >95th PCTL (CDC)	Maternal age, education, SES, gestational diabetes, marital status, prepregnancy BMI, smoking, and paternal education; and child age in 1996, birth weight, breastfeeding, daily sugar sweetened beverage intake, fried food away from home, gestational age, maturity, hours of TV and video, physical activity, and race
Wrotniak et al. 2008, USA (pros) [47]	10,226 (1959–1965)	7 years	Weight measured at delivery minus self-reported prepregnancy weight	Total GWG (kg) IOM 1990 (i) Excessive (ii) Adequate (Ref) (iii) Inadequate	BMI z-score based on measured height and weight OW: BMI ≥95th PCTL (CDC)	Maternal age, prepregnancy BMI, parity, race, and smoking; child age at 7-year assessment, birth weight, gestational age, and sex
Oken et al. 2009, USA (pros) [40]	2,012 (1999–2002)	3 years	Medical record retrieved last prenatal weight minus self-reported prepregnancy weight	Rate of GWG (kg/week)	BM z-score based on measured height and weight OB: BMI >95th PCTL (CDC)	Prepregnancy BMI
Olson et al. 2009, 2010, USA (pros) [42, 50]	321 (1997-1998)	4 years	Measured weight at last prenatal visit minus first measured weight in the first trimester	Net GWG (kg)	BML z-score based on self-reported bight and weight OW: BMI 85th to <95th PCTL OB: BMI ≥95th PCTL (CDC)	Maternal overweight at early pregnancy, SES, smoking during pregnancy, and SES, child birth weight, breastfeeding for at least 6 months, and gestational age
Stuebe et al. 2009, USA (mixed) [46]	26,506 (1989–2001)	7 years	Self-reported total GWG	Total GWG (lbs) (i) <10 (ii) 10-14 (iii) 15-19 (Ref) (iv) 20-29 (v) 30-40 (vi) >40	BMI based on measured height and weight OW: BMI ≥25 to <30 kg/m ² OB: BMI >30 kg/m ² (CDC)	Maternal age at child birth, prepregnancy BMI, maternal age at child's birth, nausea and smoking during pregnancy, family history of diabetes, parental BMI and education level, and mother living with father at time of child's birth; child birth weight and birth order
Fraser et al. 2010, UK (pros) [23]	5,154 (1991-1992)	9 years	Measured weight at last prenatal visit minus measured weight at first prenatal visit	Rates of GWG (g/week) IOM 2009 (ii) Excessive (ii) Adaquate (Ref) (iii) Inadequate	BMI based on measured height and weight (IOTF)	Maternal age, delivery mode, parity, prepregnancy BMI, parity, smoking during pregnancy, SES, and GWG in the previous pregnancy; child birth weight and gestational age
Magerison Zilko et al. 2010, USA (retro) [31]	4496 (1972–2000)	2–20 years	Self-reported weight at delivery minus self-reported prepregnancy weight	Total GWG (kg) IOM (2009) (i) Excessive (ii) Adequate (Ref) (iii) Inadequate	BML z-score based on parent-reported or measured height and weight OW: BMI ≥85th PCTL (CDC)	Maternal age, education, poverty status, length of gestation, prepregnancy BMI, and race, smoking during pregnancy; child sex and year of birth; and weighted for sampling proportion

4

Journal of Obesity

			[[ABLE 1: Continued.		
Authors, year, country, and study design	Sample size and time period	Child age at follow-up	Definition of gestational weight gain (GWG)	GWG variable	Child body weight measure	Confounders adjusted
Schack-Nielsen et al. 2010, Denmark (pros) [44]	4,234 (1959–1961)	1–14 years	Self-reported total GWG	Total GWG (kg) (i) <6 (ii) 6−8 (iii) 9−10 (iv) 11-12 (v) 13−15 (v) 13−15 (v) 13−15 (v) 13−16 (v) and 165 were assigned mid-points to get continuous GWG	BMI z-score based on measured height and weight (British 1990 growth chart)	Maternal age, edema during prepregnancy, marital status, SES, and smoking during pregnancy; parental education, prepregnancy BMI, and prematurity; and child birth weight, gestational age, and sex
Andersen et al. 2011, Denmark (pros) [32]	9,869 (1996–2002)	7 years	Self-reported total GWG	Total GWG rates of GWG [kg in early (12–20 weeks) and mid-pregnancy (25–32 weeks)]	BMI z-score based on parent-reported height and weight (IOTF)	Maternal age, parity, smoking during pregnancy, prepregnancy BMI, SES, and paternal BMI; child age, birth weight, breastfeeding, gestational age, weight at 5 and 12 months, and sex
Branum et al. 2011, USA (pros) [33]	5,917 (1959–1965)	4 years	Measured weight at last prenatal visit within 3 wk of delivery minus self-reported prepregnancy weight	Total GWG IOM 1990 (i) Excessive (ii) Adequate (Ref) (iii) Inadequate	BMI z-score based on measured height and weight (CDC)	Maternal age, parity, prepregnancy BMI, race, SES, and smoking: child birth weight, gestational age, and sex
Lawlor et al. 2011, Sweden (mixed) [37]	14,6894 (1973–2005)	18 years	Measured weight within 12 h after delivery minus the first antenatal clinic assessment (~10 wk gestation)	Net GWG (kg)	BMI based on measured height and weight (CDC)	Maternal age, education, gestational diabetes, parity, and early-pregnancy BMI; child birth weight, gestational age, and year of birth
Ronney et al. 2011, USA (retro) [43]	450 (1988)	4-5 years	Measured weight prior to delivery minus self-reported prepregnancy weight	IOM 1990 (i) Excessive (ii) Adequate (Ref) (iii) Inadequate	BMI z-score based on measured height and weight OB: ≥85th PCTL	Maternal marital status, GWG in first 4 months and smoking, during pregnancy; child insurance status at birth and sex
Ensenauer et al. 2013, Germany (mixed) [34]	6,837 (2009–2011)	5 years	Measured weight at an average of 38-wk of gestation minus measured prepregnancy weight	Total GWG IOM 2009 (ii) Excessive (ii) Adequate (Ref) (iii) Inadequate	BMI z-score based on measured height and weight OW: BMI ≥90th PCTL. OB: BMI ≥97th PCTL (IOTF)	Maternal age and smoking during pregnancy; child age, birth weight, breastfeeding, TV viewing, physical activity, and SES
Hinkle et al. 2012, USA (mixed) [36]	3,600 (2001-2006)	5 years	Total GWG from birth certificates (81%) plus maternal report (19%) at 9-month postpartum	Total GWG (kg)	BMI z-score based on measured height and weight OW: BMI 85th to <95th PCTL. OB: BMI ≥95th PCTL (CDC)	Maternal age, race, paritly, marital status, education, participation in special supplement nutrition program for women and child, smoking at the last 3 months of pregnancy, and postpartum exercise habits, child's exercise habit; and child birth weight, breatfeeding, gestational age, sugar-sweetened beverage intake, fast food intake, and TV viewing
Laitinen et al. 2012, Finland (pros) [24]	l 6,637 (1985–2002)	16 years	Measured weight at 20-wk gestation minus self-reported prepregnancy weight	GWG at 20-week gestation (kg) (quartiles were used)	BMI <i>z</i> -score based on measured height and weight (IOTF)	Maternal education, glucose metabolism, hemoglobin at 8–10 weeks of gestation, parity, prepregnancy BMI, and smoking, child's sex
Linberg et al. 2012, USA (mixed) [49]	471 (2004)	5–8 years	Medical record retrieved weight at delivery minus recorded prepregnancy weight	IOM 2009 (i) Excessive (ii) Not excessive (Ref)	BMI z-score based on measured height and weight OW: BMI ≥85th PCTL (CDC)	Maternal education, gestational diabetes, prepregnancy BMI, and smoking before and during pregnancy; child's birth weight and breastfeeding duration
Magerison-Zilko et al. 2012 USA (pros) [39]	, 3,015 (1959–1967)	5 years	Medical record retrieved last prenatal weight minus self-reported prepregnancy weight	Total GWG trimester-specific rates of GWG	BMI z∽score based on measured height and weight OW: BMI ≥85th PCTL (CDC)	Maternal age, education, marital status, parity, prepregnancy BMI, smoking during pregnancy, and race; paternal overweight; and child gestational age, and sex

Journal of Obesity

	Confounders adjusted	Maternal age, education, exercise habit, parity, prepregnancy BMI, smoking during pregnancy, and paternal BMI, child birth weight, breastfeeding at 6 month, types of day care, hours in screen-based activities, and sex	Maternal age, gestational diabetes and hypertension, insurance status, marital status, parity, preeclampsia, prepregnancy BMI, diabetes, hypertension, race, and smoking during pregnancy; child age and child born to same mother	
	Child body weight measure	BMI based on parent-reported height and weight	BMI z-score based on medical record retrieved height and weight (CDC)	
	GWG variable	GWG at 30-week gestation (kg)	Net GWG (adjusted for gestational age) (kg) IOM 2009 (i) Excessive (ii) Adequate (Ref) (iii) Inadequate	T T T T T T T T T T T T
-	Definition of gestational weight gain (GWG)	Self-reported weight at 30-week pregnancy minus self-reported prepregnancy weight	Self-reported weight at delivery minus self-reported prepregnancy weight	
	Child age at follow-up	3 years	4 years	
	Sample size and time period	5,898 (1999–2009)	3,320 (2004–2007)	
	Authors, year, country, and study design	Stamnes Køpp et al. 2012, Norway (pros) [45]	Ehrenthal et al. 2013, USA (retro) [48]	

TABLE 1: Continued.

BMI = body mass index; CDC = Center for Disease Control and Prevention; GWG = gestational weight gain; IOM = Institute of Medicine; IOTF = International Obesity Task Force; mixed = mixed cohort; NW = normal weight; OB = obese; OW = overweight; PCTL = percentile; pros = prospective cohort; Ref = referent group; retro = retrospective cohort; SES = socioeconomic status; UW = underweight; and WHO = World Health Organization.

from the Bassett Mothers Health Project; given that both investigations focused on the same GWG exposures and outcomes (but at different ages), they were combined into a single study for analyses and interpretation.

3.3. GWG Measures. GWG is a composite variable that is comprised on measurements of prepregnancy weight, weight, and gestational age at delivery. Methods used to assess GWG varied considerably across the studies. As shown in Table 1, a majority of studies defined total GWG as the difference between mother's weight at delivery or near delivery and mother's prepregnancy weight [15]. Most of the included studies used the last weight measure during prenatal care visits but did not specify the mean duration of measurement time to delivery [23, 25, 31, 35, 38-40, 42, 47-50]. Four studies reporting this information differed in the proximity of last weight measurement prior to delivery (ranged from 37 weeks of gestation to just prior to delivery) which impacts their capacity to measure total weight gain throughout the whole pregnancy [33, 34, 43]. Additionally, one study measured weight within 12 hours after delivery, not accounting for the weight of fetus [37]. Two studies measured weight at 20th week and 30th week of gestation [24, 45]. Four studies asked women to recall their total GWG at postpartum [36, 41, 44, 46]. In terms of the measurement methods, most studies used self-reported prepregnancy weight or weight data abstracted from medical records. Only three studies used objectively measured weight in the early pregnancy [23, 37, 42].

GWG was used as either continuous and/or categorical variables. As a continuous variable, GWG was mainly coded in three ways: total GWG (n = 12) [25, 31–34, 36, 38, 39, 41, 44, 46, 47], net GWG (n = 5) [25, 37, 42, 48, 50], and rate of GWG (kg or lbs/week) (n = 4) [23, 32, 39, 40]. Total GWG is defined as the difference between mother's weight at delivery or near delivery and her prepregnancy weight. Net GWG was calculated by subtracting infant's birth weight from the total GWG, and this accounts for the variation in infant's birth weight. Due to the variation on the timing of weight gain measurements obtained during pregnancy as well as the differences in gestational age at delivery, some studies used the weekly rate of GWG. Weekly rate of GWG is defined as total GWG divided by the duration of pregnancy, expressed as weeks of gestation for the interval such as a trimester or at the visit [39]. Two studies used GWG at 20th week [24] and 30th week [45] of gestation as the exposure. Nine studies adopted the IOM guideline (either 1990 [25, 33, 35, 41, 43, 47] or 2009 [23, 34, 49] guidelines) to categorize maternal total GWG as inadequate, adequate, or excessive GWG. Additionally, two studies analyzed maternal total GWG as a categorical variable using arbitrary cut-off points [38, 46].

3.4. Child Body Weight Measures. Child body weight outcome was expressed as BMI *z*-score (continuous) in 10 studies and overweight status (categorical) in 13 studies. All studies from USA (n = 16) followed the CDC 2000 cut-off points [25, 31, 33, 35–37, 39–42, 47–50]. Five out of the seven European studies [23, 24, 32, 34, 45] used cut-off points from IOTF/WHO growth chart; one study [44] determined the cut-off points based on national growth chart and two studies [37, 46] used BMI (weight (kg)/height (m)²) as the outcome variable. In terms of measurement, 15 studies used objectively measured child body weight [23–25, 33, 34, 36–40, 43, 44, 46, 47, 49], four studies used self-reported [35, 41, 42, 50], and three studies used other anthropometrical measures (i.e., parental-reported [32, 45] or clinically recorded [48]). Only four studies included two or more measurement time points during the entire follow-up period [38, 42, 44, 49] and the remaining studies measured child's body weight once (Table 1).

3.4.1. Methodological Quality Assessment. Three studies [23, 37, 48] were rated as having high methodological quality and 20 studies with medium quality [24, 25, 31–36, 38–47, 49, 50]. Overall, studies did not meet the high quality category because of the use of self-reported measures on GWG and child's body weight outcomes (Table 2).

3.4.2. Total GWG and Offspring's Body Weight Outcomes. Table 3 summarized the strength of associations between various GWG measures and body weight outcomes in offspring. Seven out of eight studies [25, 32, 34, 39, 41, 44, 47] that examined the association between continuous total GWG and offspring's body weight outcomes found a significant positive association. That is, an additional kilogram increase in total GWG increased child's BMI z-score by 0.006 to 0.06 units and elevated the risk of overweight or obesity by 1% to 23% after adjusting for potential confounders (Table 3). Five studies [25, 31, 34, 36, 47] conducted stratified analyses to investigate the modifying effect of prepregnancy BMI on the association between total GWG and child's body weight outcomes (Table 4). One study [36] found that the direct effect of GWG on offspring's BMI z-score was stronger than indirect effects in normal-weight and overweight mothers.

Two studies used an arbitrary cut-off point to classify total GWG. Li et al. [38] examined total GWG in relation to the latent growth trajectory in offspring from age 2 to 12. The odds of having child with early-onset of overweight in mothers who gained \geq 20.43 kg during pregnancy was 1.7 times that of mothers who gained between 11.35 and 15.88 kg (i.e., higher probability of being overweight between ages 2 and 6). However, total GWG was not associated with the late-onset of overweight in offspring (i.e., lower probability of overweight after 8 years of age). Stuebe et al. [46] categorized total GWG into <10, 10−14, 15−19, 20−29, 30−39, and ≥40 lbs. Their findings indicated a U-shape association between total GWG and offspring's weight status. Using mothers who gained 15-19 lbs as a reference group, the risk of overweight at age 18 significantly increased in offspring of mothers who gained <10 lbs (adjusted odds ratio (AOR): 1.51, 95% CI: 1.00-2.30), 10–14 lbs (AOR: 1.56, 95% CI: 1.13–2.16), and ≥40 lbs (AOR: 1.68, 95% CI: 1.13-2.52).

3.4.3. Net GWG and Offspring's Body Weight Outcomes. Less evidence exists for an association between net GWG and child's body weight outcomes. Four studies [25, 31, 37, 48] demonstrated a positive relationship between net GWG and

\succ	~	>	~	0	7	>	7		
7	7	×	7	×		>	>	>	
\succ	~	0	\succ	×	\succ	7	~	>	
\succ	~	×	\succ	X	\succ	>	\succ	×	
\succ	\succ	\succ	\succ	×	\succ	>	\succ	>	
\succ	~	\succ	7	×	\succ	>	\succ	>	
\succ	\succ	\succ	\succ	×	\succ	>	\succ	>	
\succ	~	\succ	\succ	×	\succ	~	\succ	×	
\succ	\succ	\succ	\succ	\succ	\succ	~	\succ	×	
\succ	~	0	\succ	×	\succ	>	\succ	>	
\succ	~	\succ	>	×	0	~	\succ	>	
\succ	\succ	0	\succ	×	\succ	~	\succ	×	
\succ	~	~	7	0	0	~	\succ	>	
\succ	~	~	~	\succ	\succ	~	\succ	×	
\succ	~	×	\succ	×	\succ	~	\succ	×	
\succ	~	0	~	\succ	×	~	\succ	×	
\succ	~	0	\succ	×	~	>	0	0	
\succ	~	~	~	×	~	>	\succ	×	
\succ	~	~	\succ	×	×	~	\succ	×	
\succ	~	~	~	×	×	>	\succ	×	
\succ	~	0	\succ	X	~	~	~	~	,
\succ	~	~	~	×	\succ	~	~	>	
(escription of background ented in context of previous research, hypothesis clearly described. elements, O: 1 element, and X: 0 element presented	ample definition icit inclusion/exclusion criteria, uniform application of criteria, clear description of uitment strategy and participant's characteristics, power analysis, or some other basis 1 for determining the adequacy of study sample size. 5 or more elements, O: 2 or 3 elements, and 2 elements presented	escription of gestational weight gain ly described prepregnancy weight and prenatal weight. c elements, O: 1 element, and X: 0 element details described	escription of child body weight ly defined child body weight outcome and described definition for overweight/obesity. elements presented, O: moderately or very clear definition of weight gain, and X: poor tion of child body weight outcome	undness of information on GWG. ty of source of information on √: objective measures, O: self-report with validation, and X: Self-report	undness of information ty of source of information on child body weight outcome. ective measures, O: parental-reported, and X: self-report	escription on reduction of the final sample uate reporting on loss to follow-up and the number of participants at each stage of	th elements, O: 1 element, and X: 0 elements details described nalysis comparability uately accounted for withdrawals, lost to follow-up, and missing data in the analysis, priate statistical methods were used for main analysis and adjustment of potential unders.	elements clearly presented, O: some presented, and X: neither element present iterpretation of results is interpreted appropriately based on study design and statistics, clinically useful, poriate presentation, present in the context of prior research, and conclusion supported	ults. Jults. Journal Jonaly measured by received by received
	escription of background snted in context of previous research, hypothesis clearly described. slements, O: 1 element, and X: 0 element presented	escription of background inted in context of previous research, hypothesis clearly described. $\chi \ \chi \$	$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	scription of background the dimension of background the dimension center of previous research, hypothesis clearly described. mple definition mple definition of mple definition mple definition mple definition mple definition mple definition mple definition of weight gain. y described prepregnancy weight and prenatal weight. dements presented scription of certain down weight and scription of certain down weight und scription of child body weight outcome and described definition for overweight/obesity. y defined full body weight outcome dements presented. we define the dedivergent of the definition of weight gain, and X: point we define the dedivergent of weight gain. we define the dedivergent of the dedivergent of the definition of weight gain. we define the dedivergent of the dedivergent of weight gain. we define the dedivergent of weight gain. we define the dedivergent of the dedivergent of weight gain. we define the dedivergent of weight gain. we define the dedivergent of the dedivergent of weight gain. we define the dedivergent of the dedivergent of weight gain. we define the dedivergent of the dedivergent of weight gain. we define the dedivergent of the definition of the definition of the dedivergent of the	scription of background ared in context of previous research, hypothesis clearly described. The function of the first of the ment, and X: 0 element presented ample definition it inclusion/exclusion criteria, uniform application of criteria, clear description of the net strategy and participants characteristics, power analysis, or some other basis for determining the adequacy of study sample size. The net strategy and participants characteristics power analysis, or some other basis for determining the adequacy of study sample size. The net strategy and participants characteristics power analysis, or some other basis for determining the adequacy of study sample size. The net strategy and participants characteristics power analysis, or some other basis of a determining the adequacy of study sample size. The net strategy and participants characteristics power analysis, or some other basis of a determining the adequacy of study sample size. The net strategy and participants characteristics power analysis, or some other basis of a determining the adequacy of study sample size. The net strategy and participants characteristics power analysis, or some other basis of a determining the adequacy of study sample size. The net strategy and prenetation and S: 0 or S V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	$ \begin{array}{c} \text{scription of background} \\ \text{intel in context of previous research, hypothesis clearly described.} \\ \textbf{we definition} \\ \textbf{mple definition} \\ \textbf{more elements, 0.2 or 3 elements, and \\ elements, presented \\ \textbf{more elements, 0.2 or 3 elements, and \\ elements, presented \\ \textbf{more elements, 0.2 or 3 element and weight and prenatal weight. \\ \textbf{more elements, 0.2 or 3 elements, and \\ elements, presented \\ \textbf{more elements, 0.2 or 3 element and bescribed definition for overweight/obesity. \\ \textbf{v} < V < V < V < V < V < V < V < V < V < $	escription of background med in context of previous research, hypothesis clearly described. in the line outer and secretion of criteria, clear description of time transport and secretion of criteria, and med an according the adequary of study sample size. in the adequary of study adequary of study sample size. in the adequary of study adequary of study sample size. in the adequary of study adequary of study sample size. in the adequary of study adequary of study sample size. in the adequary of study adequary of study sample size. in the adequary of study adequary of study sample size. in the adequary of study adequary of study adequary of study sample size. in the adequary of study adequary of study sample star. in the adequary of study adequary of star of study sample star. in the adequary of star of study adequary of star	excription behaviour research, hypothesis clearly described. The influence of references and X: 0 element, and X: 0 element and X: 0 ele	scoption of head provides reach, hypothesis clearly described. Tack in context of previous research, hypothesis clearly described. The determining the adaptacytic funatoristics: power analysis, or some other basis the determining the adaptacytic funatoristics: power analysis, or some other basis the determining the adaptacytic funatoristics: power analysis, or some other basis the determining the adaptacytic funatoristics: power analysis, or some other basis the determining the adaptacytic funatoristics: power analysis, or some other basis the determining the adaptacytic funatoristics: power analysis, or some other basis or nore dements, 0.2 or 3 dements, and dements presented. The determining the adaptacytic function of the deminion for overweight/hobelly. A scription of Gattlond Weight and treated according to adaptacytic and described according to adaptacytic and described according to adaptacytic and described according to adaptacytic and described according to adaptacytic and according the adaptacytic and X. Power activities of fulf body weight currents activities and the described activities and the current definition and X. Self-report. A soft sectorities of the described activities and the current definit described and according of the described and according of the described and according of the

TABLE 2: Continued.

Ehrenthal et al. [48]	Н
Stamens-Køpp et al. [45]	Z
Magerison-Zilko et al. [39]	M
Lindberg et al. [49]	M
Laitinen et al. [24]	X
Hinkle et al. [36]	М
Ensenauer et al. [34]	М
Rooney et al. [43]	М
Lawlor et al. [37]	Н
Branum et al. [33]	М
Andersen et al. [32]	X
Schack-Nielsen et al. [44]	X
Magerison Zilko et al. [31]	М
Fraser et al. [23]	Н
Steube et al. [46]	X
Olson et al. [42, 50]	X
Oken, et al. 2009 [40]	М
Wrotniak et al. [47]	М
Oken, et al. 2008 [41]	М
Gillman et al. [35]	M
Oken, et al. 2007 [25]	M
Li et al. [38]	M
	Werall quality () High (H): ≥ 6 good rating (\vee) AND zero poor rating (X) (i) Medium (M): <6 good ratings (\vee) OR ≥6 good ratings (\vee) and ≤2 poor ratings (X) (ii) Low (L): ≥3 poor ratings (X) OR any other score

Notes: $\sqrt{} = \text{good}$; O = fair; and X = poor.

TABLE 3: Summar	v of the association between maternal GWG and offspring body weight outcomes.

Study	Child age	Child BMI <i>z</i> -score	Child OW/OB status
Total CW/C [#]		Beta coemcient	ARR or AOR
Oken et al. 2007 [25]	3	0.06 (0.05, 0.07)	OW! 123(116, 130)
Branum et al. 2011 [33]	4	Within-family: $-0.03 (-0.08, 0.02)$ Between-family: $0.01 (-0.02, 0.04)$	0 1.23 (1.10, 1.30)
Ensenauer et al. 2013 [34]	5.8		OW: 1.04 (1.02, 1.05)
Magerison-Zilko et al. 2012 [39]	5	0.02 (0.01, 0.03)	OW: 1.04 (1.02, 1.07)
Andersen et al. 2011 $[32]^a$	7	0.04 (0.03, 0.06)	
Wrotniak et al. 2008 [47]	7		OW: 1.03 (1.01, 1.05)
Schack-Nielsen et al. 2010 [44]	1–14	0.01 to 0.03 (NA)	
Oken et al. 2008 [41]	9–14	0.006 (0.005, 0.007)	OW: 1.05 (1.04, 1.05) OB: 1.08 (1.07, 1.08)
Net GWG			021100 (107, 100)
Olson et al. 2009 [42, 50]	3		OW: 1.001 (NS) OB: 1.010 (NS)
Oken et al. 2007 [25]	3	0.02 (0.01, 0.03)	
Ehrenthal et al. 2013 [48]	4	0.012 (0.006, 0.017)	
Rate of GWG			
Magerison-Zilko et al. 2012 [39] ^b	5		OW: Early: 1.05 (1.02, 1.09) Mid: 1.03 (0.98, 1.08) Late: 1.03 (0.98, 1.08)
Andersen et al. 2011 [32] ^c	7	Early: 0.05 (0.03, 0.07) Mid: 0.06 (0.04, 0.08) Late: 0.016 (-0.002, 0.03)	
Fraser et al. 2010 [23] ^{d,e}	9	Early/low rate: 0.17 (-0.20, 0.53) Early/medium rate: 0.33 (0.11, 0.55) Early/high rate: 0.62 (0.24, 1.01) Mid/low rate: -0.54 (2.06, 0.99) Mid/medium rate: 0.39 (-0.07, 0.84) Mid/high rate: 0.62 (0.26, 0.99) Late/low rate: 0.091 (-0.35, 0.53) Late/medium rate: -0.031 (-0.48, 0.42) Late/high rate: 0.17 (-0.13, 0.46)	OW: Early/low rate: 1.06 (0.77, 1.47) Early/medium rate: 1.14 (0.92, 1.42) Early/high rate: 1.57 (1.13, 2.18) Mid/low rate: 1.05 (0.28, 4.00) Mid/medium rate: 0.98 (0.62, 1.54) Mid/high rate: 2.00 (1.43, 2.79) Late/low rate: 0.88 (0.57, 1.36) Late/medium rate: 1.02 (0.64, 1.61) Late/high rate: 1.06 (0.81, 1.30)
Excessive GWG ⁹			Luc/mgi fute. 1.00 (0.01, 1.57)
Branum et al. 2011 [33]	4	Within-family: 0.01 (–0.13, 0.14) Between-family: 0.01 (–0.08, 0.10)	
Ehrenthal et al. 2013 [48]	4	0.051 (-0.039, 0.140)	
Ensenauer et al. 2013 [34]	5.8		OW: 1.57 (1.30, 1.91)
Wrotniak et al. 2008 [47]	7		OW: 1.40 (1.00, 1.95)
Fraser et al. 2010 [23]	9	0.64 (0.55, 0.94)	
Magerison Zilko et al. 2010 [31]	2-20		OW: 1.27 (1.10, 1.48)
Oken et al. 2008 [41]	9–14	0.14 (0.09, 0.18)	OW: 1.27 (1.12, 1.44) OB: 1.42 (1.19, 1.70)
Rooney et al. 2011 [43] Inadequate GWG	9–14		OB: 1.73 (1.06, 2.80)
Branum et al. 2011 [33]	4	Within-family: 0.08 (0.00, 0.16) Between-family: 0.04 (-0.02, 0.10)	
Ehrenthal et al. 2013 [48]	4	-0.190 (-0.319, -0.062)	
Ensenauer et al. 2013 [34]	5.8		OW: 1.20 (0.91, 1.57)

Study	Child age	Child BMI <i>z</i> -score Beta coefficient	Child OW/OB status ARR or AOR	
Wrotniak et al. 2008 [47]	7		OW: 0.93 (0.72, 1.21)	
Fraser et al. 2010 [23]	9	-0.21 (-0.40, -0.03)		
Magerison Zilko et al. 2010 [31]	2-20		OW: 0.90 (NS)	
Oken et al. 2008 [41]	9–14	-0.06 (-0.10, -0.01)	OW: 0.97 (1.19, 1.70) OB: 0.91 (0.74, 1.13)	
Rooney et al. 2011 [43]	9–14		OB: 0.77 (0.45, 1.34)	

TABLE 3: Continued.

^alog transformed value.

^bRate of GWG expressed as change in kilograms per trimester. Early: 1st trimester, mid: 2nd trimester, and late: 3rd trimester.

^cRate of GWG expressed as change in grams per week. Early: until interview 1 (12–20 weeks of gestation), mid: between interview 1 and interview 2 (25–32 weeks of gestation), and late: between interview 2 and delivery.

^d Rate of GWG expressed as change in grams per week. Early: 0–14 weeks of gestation, mid: >14–35 weeks of gestation, and late: >36 weeks of gestation; low rate: ≤0 g in 0–14 weeks of gestation, ≤250 g per week in other GWG periods, medium rate: 0–500 g in 0–14 weeks of gestation, 250–500 g in other GWG periods, and high rate: >500 g for all GWG period.

^eBMI (kg/m²) was used as the outcome.

[#]Only studies that used total GWG as continuous variables and presented full sample analyses are included.

⁹Only studies that used adequate GWG as the referent group are included.

ARR = adjusted relative risk, AOR = adjusted odd ratio, GWG = gestational weight gain, NA = not available, NS = not significant, OW = overweight, and OB = obesity.

offspring body weight outcomes, three of which achieved statistical significance [25, 37, 48]. Increments in net GWG were associated with 0.01 to 0.07 unit increase in children's BMI *z*-score (Table 3).

The effect of maternal prepregnancy BMI on the association between net GWG and offspring's body weight outcomes was examined in one study. Lawlor et al. [37] found that, in the between-family model (participants from different families), the positive association between net GWG and offspring BMI at 18 years of age was stronger in normalweight mothers than overweight mothers. In the withinfamily model (siblings from the same family), the positive association was retained in overweight mothers but not in normal-weight mothers (Table 4).

3.4.4. Rate of GWG and Offspring's Body Weight Outcomes. Four studies [23, 32, 39, 40] investigated the association between rate of GWG and offspring's body weight outcomes. Although the calculation of rate of GWG varied among studies, these studies consistently demonstrated that high rate of GWG in early- and mid-pregnancy was associated with increased BMI *z*-score and elevated risk of overweight risk among offspring, while a null association was observed between rate of GWG at late pregnancy and child's body weight outcomes (Tables 3 and 4).

3.4.5. IOM Recommended GWG and Offspring's Body Weight Outcomes. The evidence for an association between excessive GWG and offspring body weight outcomes was less than and not as consistent as total GWG. Eight studies [23, 31, 33, 34, 41, 43, 47, 48] compared the effects of excessive GWG versus adequate GWG on child's body weight outcomes, six of which achieved statistical significance [23, 31, 34, 41, 43, 47]. Offspring born to mothers who gained excessive weight during pregnancy had increased BMI *z*-scores (0.14 to 0.64 units) and elevated risks of overweight or obesity (27% to 73%) compared to offspring whose mothers gained adequate weight (Table 3).

Three studies [25, 35, 49] compared the effects of excessive GWG on offspring's risk of overweight with a different referent group. Lindberg and colleagues [49] compared the effects of excessive GWG and nonexcessive GWG (adequate GWG plus inadequate GWG) on offspring's risk of overweight between 5 and 8 years of age. The child's risk of overweight was 73% higher in children exposed to excessive GWG than those who did not. Two studies used data from Project Viva. Gillman et al. [35] compared the effects of excessive GWG versus nonexcessive GWG on offspring's risk of overweight and found a null association. Oken et al. [25] found that children exposed to excessive GWG had higher BMI *z*-score (0.47 units) and elevated risk of overweight (4-fold) than children exposed to inadequate GWG.

Eight studies [23, 31, 33, 34, 41, 43, 47, 48] showed mixed findings while examining the association between inadequate GWG and offspring body weight outcomes. Five studies [31, 33, 34, 43, 47] found a null association; three studies [23, 41, 48] found a negative association (0.06 to 0.21 units reductions in child's BMI *z*-score) (Table 3). Two studies [34, 47] conducted stratified analyses and found that the effects of excessive GWG on offspring's body weight outcome did not vary by maternal prepregnancy BMI (Table 4).

3.4.6. Other GWG Measures and Offspring's Body Weight Outcomes. Laitinen et al. [24] found that an additional kilogram increase in total GWG during the first 20 weeks of pregnancy increased offspring's odds of developing overweight by 3%. Stamnes Køpp and colleagues [45] showed that total GWG

Study	Child age	UW	Child BMI z-score, B NW	coefficient (95% CI) OW	OB	Chil	d OW/OB status, NW	AOR/ARR (95%) OW	OB OB
Total GWG									
Oken et al. 2007 [25]	ŝ		$0.02\ (0.02,\ 0.06)$	0.03(0.02, 0.04)					
Hinkle et al. 2012 [36]	Ŋ	-0.06(-0.16, 0.03)	$0.02\ (0.00,\ 0.04)$	0.02 (-0.01, 0.06)	0.00(-0.04, 0.03)				
Ensenauer et al. 2013 [34]	5.8					1.03(0.90, 1.16)	1.04 (1.02, 1.07)	1.01(0.98, 1.04)	1.04 (1.01, 1.07)
Wrotniak et al. 2008 [47]	7						1.07(0.99, 1.15)	1.01(0.99, 1.03)	
Magerison Zilko et al. 2010 [31] Net GWG	2-20					1.02 (0.99, 1.05)	1.03(1.02, 1.04)	1.02 (1.00, 1.04)	1.02 (1.00, 1.04)
			Within-family: 0.01	Within-family: 0.06					
Lawlor et al. 2011 [37] ^a	18		(-0.02, 0.02) Between-family: 0.07 (0.06, 0.07)	(0.01, 0.02) Between-family: 0.02 (0.01, 0.03)					
Rate of GWG									
Oken et al. 2009 [40] ^b	3						1.16 (0.88, 1.51)	1.35(1.01, 1.81)	1.22 (0.96, 1.56)
Excessive GWG									
Ensenauer et al. 2013 [34]	5.8					1.50(0.36, 6.39)	1.29(1.01, 1.66)	1.64 (1.06, 2.63)	1.17 (0.70, 2.01)
Wrotniak et al. 2008 [47]	7						3.26 (0.95, 11.16)	1.48 (1.05, 2.08)	
Inadequate GWG									
Ensenauer et al. 2013 [34]	5.8					1.74(0.30, 8.97)	1.02 (0.71, 1.43)	2.52 (1.28, 4.91)	0.63(0.30, 1.30)
Wrotniak et al. 2008 [47]	7						0.55(0.22, 1.21)	0.95(0.73, 1.24)	
^a BMI (kg/m ²) was used as the outco	me.								
^b Rate of GWG expressed as change	per 0.1 kg p	er week.							
GWG = gestational weight gain, UV	V = underw	eight, NW = normal w	<pre>/eight, OW = overweight,</pre>	OB = obesity, 95%, and C	[= 95% confidence ii	nterval.			

TABLE 4: Summary of the association between maternal GWG and offspring's body weight outcomes stratified by maternal prepregnancy BMI.

at 30 weeks of gestation was associated with 0.02 unit increments in offspring's BMI at age 3.

4. Discussion

This systematic review presents a summary of existing evidence on the associations of maternal weight gain during pregnancy with offspring body weight outcomes between 2 and 18.9 years from observational cohort studies. Overall, 23 studies met our inclusion criteria. Consistent with previous reviews [21, 22], we also found that higher total GWG significantly increased BMI *z*-score (0.006 to 0.06 units) and increased risk of overweight or obesity (1% to 23%). Compared to offspring whose mothers gained adequate weight during pregnancy, children of mothers who gained excessive weight had significantly higher BMI *z*-score (0.74 to 1.73 units) and elevated risk of overweight or obesity (1% to 57%).

A new finding in the present review is the potential impact of rate of GWG on offspring's body weight outcomes. Although an insufficient number of studies (n =4) are available to draw a conclusion, they consistently demonstrated that high rates of GWG in early- and midpregnancy had strong adverse effects on offspring body weight outcomes. The underlying mechanisms regarding this association remain to be defined. Andersen and colleagues [32] performed path analyses and confirmed a direct pathway from rates of GWG in the early- and mid-pregnancy to offspring's body weight outcomes. We speculate that high rates of GWG in early- and mid-pregnancy increased maternal fat deposition and may have altered intrauterine environment for the development of fetal adipose tissues. Theoretically, maternal GWG can affect fetal adiposity accumulation in two possible pathways. The first one is direct transfusion of free fatty acids from the mother to fetus [52]. For underweight and normal weight women (prepregnancy $BMI < 25 \text{ kg/m}^2$), GWG in the early- and mid-pregnancy is disproportionately fat [53]. The fat mainly deposits in mother's hips, back, and upper thighs as a caloric reserve for late pregnancy and lactation [53]. Meanwhile, mid-pregnancy is recognized as a critical period when fetal fat tissue begins to grow [54, 55]. High rates of GWG in early- and mid-gestational periods could lead to excessive maternal fat deposition that may increase the transmission of free fatty acid from mother to fetus. The second pathway is the synthesis of free fatty acids from substrates such as glucose provided by the mother [52]. Excessive fat deposition during early pregnancy could reduce maternal insulin sensitivity and glucose tolerance [56, 57] to a greater extent than the normal metabolic sequelae of pregnancy. This loss of metabolic control could translate into elevated maternal glucose concentration (i.e., glycemic excursions) which exposes the fetus to an increased glucose supply [56, 57]. Both increased transfusion of lipid and increased supply of glucose from the mother may alter the development of fat cells in fetus, thus resulting in a permanent increase in fetus's capacity to form new cells in adipose depots in postnatal life [54, 58]. However, intensive studies are needed to test these speculations.

The current findings should be interpreted with caution due to several methodological concerns. One notable methodological concern is the failure to adjust for shared familial characteristics. In this review, only two studies employed a between- and within-family design to control for shared familial characteristics. Branum et al. [33] found that the significant association between total GWG and child's BMI z-score became nonsignificant after adjusting for the shared familial characteristics. These results indicated that the positive association between maternal total GWG and offspring's BMI z-score may be entirely due to shared genetics and environmental (e.g., family lifestyle) factors rather than the intrauterine environment. Lawlor et al. [37] found that the significant association disappeared in normal-weight mother but it remained significant in overweight mothers. These findings implied that, in normal-weight mother, the association between net GWG and offspring BMI is largely due to shared familial risk factors, whereas the association in the children of overweight and/or obese mothers is driven by the exposure to both familial characteristics and intrauterine environment. A recently published study [59] examined the independent effects of GWG on offspring body weight outcomes at 11.9 years of age in 42,133 women and their 91,045 offspring, using a within-family design to minimize confounding effects of shared familial characteristics. The results showed that total GWG significantly increased offspring's BMI z-score by 0.022 units and elevated their risk of overweight by 0.7% at 11 years of age. When classifying total GWG into categories (<6 kg, \geq 12 to \leq 18, and >18) variable, offspring BMI increased by 0.43 units and the risk of overweight or obesity increased by 8% when comparing children born to mothers who gained >18 kg during pregnancy to those whose mothers gained <6 kg. These associations were independent of child birth weight and other covariates (e.g., gestational age, maternal smoking, parity, child age, child BMI measured at earlier ages, etc.). These findings confirmed that, after adjusting for familial characteristics, overnutrition in pregnancy could program the fetus for an increased lifetime risk for overweight or obesity, though the magnitude of this effect may be small. Additionally, these studies also demonstrated that introducing shared familiar characteristics into the analyses significantly attenuated the magnitude of associations between GWG and offspring's body weight outcomes. Thus, this important confounding variable needs to be measured and adjusted in future studies.

Shared familial characteristics consist of both genetics and/or environmental factors such as lifestyle. Since none of the studies in our review has adjusted genetic factors as covariates, we are not able to examine its modifying effects on the association of interest. Lifestyle factors such as offspring's physical activity are consistently shown to be a significant predictor of the development of childhood obesity [60]. Besides, there is a strong correlation between maternal lifestyle and offspring behaviors [61, 62]. Recent research has suggested that maternal lifestyles have dramatically changed over the last half century. Maternal activity has decreased significantly over the past 50 years, with a concomitant increase in sedentary behaviors [63, 64]. Additionally, maternal self-reported dietary consumption of away-from-home foods (e.g., packaged and convenience foods like frozen pizza) [65], numbers of eating occasions, and portion sizes per eating occasion have increased significantly over the last 30 years [66]. These changes may have significant effects on childhood lifestyle behaviors such as physical activity, dietary behaviors, and consequent obesity. In the current study, only four studies [25, 34, 36, 41] controlled for child's lifestyle factors (i.e., subjectively measured physical activity and consumptions of unhealthy foods) in the analyses, and these studies found that these factors did not alter the association between GWG and child's body weight outcomes. However, the null association could be due to the attenuation induced via poor measurement (e.g., self-report measures tend to overestimate physical activity and underestimate intake of unhealthy food in children). More research is needed to verify which shared familial characteristics are influential to the association between maternal GWG and offspring body weight outcomes.

Additionally, none of the included studies has reported whether the study is powered to detect expected difference on the primary outcome and interactive effects by maternal prepregnancy BMI. By focusing exclusively or predominantly on Caucasian women, well-educated women, and nonobese women, the extant literature is not generalizable to high risk population such as African Americans, lower income, and overweight and obese women who are more likely to exceed weight gain recommendations during pregnancy than their counterparts [16, 67–69].

Strengths and Limitations. Compared to recently published meta-analyses [21, 22], our review has several strengths such as its focus on cohort studies and careful methodological examination of published studies in terms of quality and timing of GWG measurements, adjustment of confounding variables, statistical analyses, and associated interpretations. As with any study, this review has limitations. Publication bias may be presented as the current review only included English language and published peer-reviewed journal articles. The heterogeneity in the study samples, exposures, and outcome measures included in this review limited the interpretation of the evidence and prevented the use of meta-analytical methods. The semiquantitative reporting in this review provides only an arbitrary classification of the associations and focuses more on the direction of association rather than magnitude. Several studies have drawn data from the same cohort studies, for example, the Project Viva or National Collaborative Perinatal Project, which may introduce the issue of overrepresentation and bias into the analysis sample.

5. Conclusions

The current findings suggest that GWG is a potential risk factor to prevent childhood obesity. Additionally, GWG appears to be more strongly associated with offspring's body weight outcomes during early- and mid-pregnancy than latepregnancy, and future studies are encouraged to examine the critical timing in which GWG had the strongest impact on child's body weight outcomes. Future research should also consider the following issues: adjusting confounding effects of shared familial characteristics, improving quality of the measurement on maternal prepregnancy weight, examining the underlying mechanism or pathways, and quantifying the impact among high risk population such as African American, obese, and low income women.

Conflict of Interests

The authors declare that there is no conflict of interests regarding the publication of this paper.

References

- [1] World Health Organization, "Obesity: preventing and managing the global epidemic," Tech. Rep. Series 894, World Health Organization, Geneva, Switzerland, 2000.
- [2] International Obesity Task Force: childhood obesity, 2008.
- [3] C. L. Ogden, M. D. Carroll, B. K. Kit, and K. M. Flegal, "Prevalence of obesity and trends in body mass index among US children and adolescents, 1999–2010," *The Journal of the American Medical Association*, vol. 307, no. 5, pp. 483–490, 2012.
- [4] R. R. Kipping, R. Jago, and D. A. Lawlor, "Obesity in children, part 1: epidemiology, measurement, risk factors, and screening," *British Medical Jouranl*, vol. 337, Article ID a1824, 2008.
- [5] J. J. Reilly, "Obesity in childhood and adolescence: evidence based clinical and public health perspectives," *Postgraduate Medical Journal*, vol. 82, no. 969, pp. 429–437, 2006.
- [6] A. Must, S. M. Phillips, and E. N. Naumova, "Occurrence and timing of childhood overweight and mortality: findings from the third harvard growth study," *Journal of Pediatrics*, vol. 160, no. 5, pp. 743–750, 2012.
- [7] B. F. Fuemmeler, M. K. Pendzich, and K. P. Tercyak, "Weight, dietary behavior, and physical activity in childhood and adolescence: implications for adult cancer risk," *Obesity Facts*, vol. 2, no. 3, pp. 179–186, 2009.
- [8] F. M. Biro and M. Wien, "Childhood obesity and adult morbidities," *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, vol. 91, no. 5, pp. 1499S–1505S, 2010.
- [9] J. O. Hill, H. R. Wyatt, and J. C. Peters, "Energy balance and obesity," *Circulation*, vol. 126, no. 1, pp. 126–132, 2012.
- [10] C. M. A. Haworth, R. Plomin, S. Carnell, and J. Wardle, "Childhood obesity: genetic and environmental overlap with normal-range BMI," *Obesity*, vol. 16, no. 7, pp. 1585–1590, 2008.
- [11] R. Casey, J.-M. Oppert, C. Weber et al., "Determinants of childhood obesity: what can we learn from built environment studies?" *Food Quality and Preference*, vol. 31, no. 1, pp. 164–172, 2014.
- [12] J. F. Sallis and K. Glanz, "Physical activity and food environments: solutions to the obesity epidemic," *Milbank Quarterly*, vol. 87, no. 1, pp. 123–154, 2009.
- [13] E. Oken and M. W. Gillman, "Fetal origins of obesity," *Obesity Research*, vol. 11, no. 4, pp. 496–506, 2003.
- [14] P. D. Taylor and L. Poston, "Developmental programming of obesity in mammals," *Experimental Physiology*, vol. 92, no. 2, pp. 287–298, 2007.
- [15] M. Viswanathan, A. Siega-Riz, M.-K. Moos et al., Outcomes of Maternal Weight Gain, Evidence Report/Technology Assessment No. 168, RTI International–University of North Carolina Evidence-Based Practice Center, Rockville, Md, USA, 2008.

- [16] C. M. Olson, "Achieving a healthy weight gain during pregnancy," Annual Review of Nutrition, vol. 28, pp. 411–423, 2008.
- [17] National Research Council and Institute of Medicine, *Influences of Pregnancy Weight on Maternal and Child Health: Workshop Report*, National Research Council and Institute of Medicine, Washington, DC, USA, 2007.
- [18] P. M. Catalano, "Increasing maternal obesity and weight gain during pregnancy: the obstetric problems of plentitude," *Obstetrics and Gynecology*, vol. 110, no. 4, pp. 743–744, 2007.
- [19] D. Moher, A. Liberati, J. Tetzlaff, and D. G. Altman, "Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA Statement," *PLoS Medicine*, vol. 6, no. 7, Article ID e1000097, 2009.
- [20] D. F. Stroup, J. A. Berlin, S. C. Morton et al., "Meta-analysis of observational studies in epidemiology: a proposal for reporting," *The Journal of the American Medical Association*, vol. 283, no. 15, pp. 2008–2012, 2000.
- [21] M. Mamun and S. A. Mannan, "Gestational weight gain in relation to offspring obesity over the life course: a systematic review and bias-adjusted meta-analysis," *Obesity Reviews*, vol. 15, no. 4, pp. 338–347, 2014.
- [22] I. Nehring, S. Lehmann, and R. von Kries, "Gestational weight gain in accordance to the IOM/NRC criteria and the risk for childhood overweight: a meta-analysis," *Pediatric Obesity*, vol. 8, no. 3, pp. 218–224, 2013.
- [23] A. Fraser, K. Tilling, C. MacDonald-Wallis et al., "Association of maternal weight gain in pregnancy with offspring obesity and metabolic and vascular traits in childhood," *Circulation*, vol. 121, no. 23, pp. 2557–2564, 2010.
- [24] J. Laitinen, A. Jääskeläinen, A.-L. Hartikainen et al., "Maternal weight gain during the first half of pregnancy and offspring obesity at 16 years: a prospective cohort study," *British Journal* of Obstetrics and Gynecology, vol. 119, no. 6, pp. 716–723, 2012.
- [25] E. Oken, E. M. Taveras, K. P. Kleinman, J. W. Rich-Edwards, and M. W. Gillman, "Gestational weight gain and child adiposity at age 3 years," *The American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, vol. 196, no. 4, pp. 322.el–322.e8, 2007.
- [26] N. Farah, B. Stuart, V. Donnelly, M. M. Kennelly, and M. J. Turner, "The influence of maternal body composition on birth weight," *European Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology and Reproductive Biology*, vol. 157, no. 1, pp. 14–17, 2011.
- [27] N. F. Butte, K. J. Ellis, W. W. Wong, J. M. Hopkinson, and E. O'Brian Smith, "Composition of gestational weight gain impacts maternal fat retention and infant birth weight," *The American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, vol. 189, no. 5, pp. 1423–1432, 2003.
- [28] J. N. Nielsen, K. O. O'Brien, F. R. Witter et al., "High gestational weight gain does not improve birth weight in a cohort of African American adolescents," *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, vol. 84, no. 1, pp. 183–189, 2006.
- [29] R. C. Whitaker, "Predicting preschooler obesity at birth: the role of maternal obesity in early pregnancy," *Pediatrics*, vol. 114, no. 1, pp. e29–e36, 2004.
- [30] J. L. Baker, K. F. Michaelsen, K. M. Rasmussen, and T. I. A. Sørensen, "Maternal prepregnant body mass index, duration of breastfeeding, and timing of complementary food introduction are associated with infant weight gain," *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, vol. 80, no. 6, pp. 1579–1588, 2004.
- [31] C. E. Margerison Zilko, D. Rehkopf, and B. Abrams, "Association of maternal gestational weight gain with short- and longterm maternal and child health outcomes," *American Journal*

of Obstetrics and Gynecology, vol. 202, no. 6, pp. 574.el-574.e8, 2010.

- [32] C. S. Andersen, M. Gamborg, T. I. A. Sørensen, and E. A. Nohr, "Weight gain in different periods of pregnancy and offspring's body mass index at 7 years of age," *International Journal of Pediatric Obesity*, vol. 6, no. 2, pp. e179–e186, 2011.
- [33] A. M. Branum, J. D. Parker, S. A. Keim, and A. H. Schempf, "Prepregnancy body mass index and gestational weight gain in relation to child body mass index among siblings," *American Journal of Epidemiology*, vol. 174, no. 10, pp. 1159–1165, 2011.
- [34] R. Ensenauer, A. Chmitorz, C. Riedel et al., "Effects of suboptimal or excessive gestational weight gain on childhood overweight and abdominal adiposity: results from a retrospective cohort study," *International Journal of Obesity*, vol. 29, no. 10, p. 226, 2013.
- [35] M. W. Gillman, S. L. Rifas-Shiman, K. Kleinman, E. Oken, J. W. Rich-Edwards, and E. M. Taveras, "Developmental origins of childhood overweight: Potential public health impact," *Obesity*, vol. 16, no. 7, pp. 1651–1656, 2008.
- [36] S. N. Hinkle, A. J. Sharma, D. W. Swan, L. A. Schieve, U. Ramakrishnan, and A. D. Stein, "Excess gestational weight gain is associated with child adiposity among mothers with normal and overweight prepregnancy weight status," *Journal of Nutrition*, vol. 142, no. 10, pp. 1851–1858, 2012.
- [37] D. A. Lawlor, P. Lichtenstein, A. Fraser, and N. Långström, "Does maternal weight gain in pregnancy have long-term effects on offspring adiposity? A sibling study in a prospective cohort of 146,894 men from 136,050 families," *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, vol. 94, no. 1, pp. 142–148, 2011.
- [38] C. Li, M. I. Goran, H. Kaur, N. Nollen, and J. S. Ahluwalia, "Developmental trajectories of overweight during childhood: role of early life factors," *Obesity*, vol. 15, no. 3, pp. 760–771, 2007.
- [39] C. E. Margerison-Zilko, B. P. Shrimali, B. Eskenazi, M. Lahiff, A. R. Lindquist, and B. F. Abrams, "Trimester of maternal gestational weight gain and offspring body weight at birth and age five," *Maternal and Child Health Journal*, vol. 16, no. 6, pp. 1215–1223, 2012.
- [40] E. Oken, K. P. Kleinman, M. B. Belfort, J. K. Hammitt, and M. W. Gillman, "Associations of gestational weight gain with short- and longer-term maternal and child health outcomes," *The American Journal of Epidemiology*, vol. 170, no. 2, pp. 173– 180, 2009.
- [41] E. Oken, S. L. Rifas-Shiman, A. E. Field, A. L. Frazier, and M. W. Gillman, "Maternal gestational weight gain and offspring weight in adolescence," *Obstetrics and Gynecology*, vol. 112, no. 5, pp. 999–1006, 2008.
- [42] C. M. Olson, M. S. Strawderman, and B. A. Dennison, "Maternal weight gain during pregnancy and child weight at age 3 years," *Maternal and Child Health Journal*, vol. 13, no. 6, pp. 839–846, 2009.
- [43] B. L. Rooney, M. A. Mathiason, and C. W. Schauberger, "Predictors of obesity in childhood, adolescence, and adulthood in a birth cohort," *Maternal and Child Health Journal*, vol. 15, no. 8, pp. 1166–1175, 2011.
- [44] L. Schack-Nielsen, K. F. Michaelsen, M. Gamborg, E. L. Mortensen, and T. I. A. Sørensen, "Gestational weight gain in relation to offspring body mass index and obesity from infancy through adulthood," *International Journal of Obesity*, vol. 34, no. 1, pp. 67–74, 2010.
- [45] U. M. Stamnes Køpp, K. Dahl-Jørgensen, H. Stigum, L. Frost Andersen, Ø. Næss, and W. Nystad, "The associations between

maternal pre-pregnancy body mass index or gestational weight change during pregnancy and body mass index of the child at 3 years of age," *International Journal of Obesity*, vol. 36, no. 10, pp. 1325–1331, 2012.

- [46] A. M. Stuebe, M. R. Forman, and K. B. Michels, "Maternalrecalled gestational weight gain, pre-pregnancy body mass index, and obesity in the daughter," *International Journal of Obesity*, vol. 33, no. 7, pp. 743–752, 2009.
- [47] B. H. Wrotniak, J. Shults, S. Butts, and N. Stettler, "Gestational weight gain and risk of overweight in the offspring at age 7 y in a multicenter, multiethnic cohort study," *The American Journal* of *Clinical Nutrition*, vol. 87, no. 6, pp. 1818–1824, 2008.
- [48] D. B. Ehrenthal, K. Maiden, A. Rao et al., "Independent relation of maternal prenatal factors to early childhood obesity in the offspring," *Obstetrics and Gynecology*, vol. 121, no. 1, pp. 115–121, 2013.
- [49] S. M. Lindberg, A. K. Adams, and R. J. Prince, "Early predictors of obesity and cardiovascular risk among American Indian children," *Maternal and Child Health Journal*, vol. 16, no. 9, pp. 1879–1886, 2012.
- [50] C. M. Olson, M. M. Demment, S. J. Carling, and M. S. Strawderman, "Associations between mothers' and their children's weights at 4 years of age," *Childhood Obesity*, vol. 6, no. 4, pp. 201–207, 2010.
- [51] L. Gordis, *Epidemiology*, Elsevier Saunders, Philadelphia, Pa, USA, 4th edition, 2009.
- [52] Institute of Medicine (US) and National Research Council (US) Committee to Reexamine IOM Pregnancy Weight Guidelines, Weight Gain During Pregnancy: Reexamining the Guidelines, National Academy of Sciences, Washington, DC, USA, 2009.
- [53] G. Boden, "Fuel metabolism in pregnancy and in gestational diabetes mellitus," *Obstetrics and Gynecology Clinics of North America*, vol. 23, no. 1, pp. 1–10, 1996.
- [54] O. Sarr, K. Yang, and T. R. H. Regnault, "In utero programming of later adiposity: the role of fetal growth restriction," Journal of Pregnancy, vol. 2012, Article ID 134758, 10 pages, 2012.
- [55] M. E. Symonds, M. Pope, D. Sharkey, and H. Budge, "Adipose tissue and fetal programming," *Diabetologia*, vol. 55, no. 6, pp. 1597–1606, 2012.
- [56] P. M. Catalano, J. P. Kirwan, S. Haugel-de Mouzon, and J. King, "Gestational diabetes and insulin resistance: role in shortand long-term implications for mother and fetus," *Journal of Nutrition*, vol. 133, supplement 2, no. 5, pp. 1674S–1683S, 2003.
- [57] P. M. Catalano, A. Thomas, L. Huston-Presley, and S. B. Amini, "Increased fetal adiposity: a very sensitive marker of abnormal in utero development," *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, vol. 189, no. 6, pp. 1698–1704, 2003.
- [58] R. J. Martin, G. J. Hausman, and D. B. Hausman, "Regulation of adipose cell development in utero," *Proceedings of the Society for Experimental Biology and Medicine*, vol. 219, no. 3, pp. 200–210, 1998.
- [59] D. S. Ludwig, H. L. Rouse, and J. Currie, "Pregnancy weight gain and childhood body weight: a within-family comparison," *PLoS Medicine*, vol. 10, no. 10, Article ID e1001521, 2013.
- [60] R. R. Pate, J. R. O'Neill, A. D. Liese et al., "Factors associated with development of excessive fatness in children and adolescents: a review of prospective studies," *Obesity Reviews*, vol. 14, no. 8, pp. 645–658, 2013.
- [61] N. Notten, G. Kraaykamp, and R. P. Konig, "Family media matters: unraveling the intergenerational transmission of reading and television tastes," *Sociological Perspectives*, vol. 55, no. 4, pp. 683–706, 2012.

- [62] P. W. Franks, E. Ravussin, R. L. Hanson et al., "Habitual physical activity in children: the role of genes and the environment," *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, vol. 82, no. 4, pp. 901– 908, 2005.
- [63] E. Archer, C. J. Lavie, S. M. McDonald et al., "Maternal inactivity: 45-year trends in mothers' use of time," *Mayo Clinic Proceedings*, vol. 88, no. 12, pp. 1368–1377, 2013.
- [64] E. Archer, R. P. Shook, D. M. Thomas et al., "45-Year trends in women's use of time and household management energy expenditure," *PLoS ONE*, vol. 8, no. 2, Article ID e56620, 2013.
- [65] L. P. Smith, S. W. Ng, and B. M. Popkin, "Trends in US home food preparation and consumption: analysis of national nutrition surveys and time use studies from 1965-1966 to 2007-2008," *Nutrition Journal*, vol. 12, no. 1, article 45, 2013.
- [66] K. J. Duffey and B. M. Popkin, "Energy density, portion size, and eating occasions: contributions to increased energy intake in the United States, 1977–2006," *PLoS Medicine*, vol. 8, no. 6, Article ID e1001050, 2011.
- [67] C. M. Olson and M. S. Strawderman, "Modifiable behavioral factors in a biopsychosocial model predict inadequate and excessive gestational weight gain," *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*, vol. 103, no. 1, pp. 48–54, 2003.
- [68] N. E. Stotland, Y. W. Cheng, L. M. Hopkins, and A. B. Caughey, "Gestational weight gain and adverse neonatal outcome among term infants," *Obstetrics & Gynecology*, vol. 108, no. 3, part 1, pp. 635–643, 2006.
- [69] C. S. Wells, R. Schwalberg, G. Noonan, and V. Gabor, "Factors influencing inadequate and excessive weight gain in pregnancy: Colorado, 2000–2002," *Maternal and Child Health Journal*, vol. 10, no. 1, pp. 55–62, 2006.

Research Article

Associations between Aspects of Friendship Networks, Physical Activity, and Sedentary Behaviour among Adolescents

Keri Jo Sawka,¹ Gavin R. McCormack,¹ Alberto Nettel-Aguirre,² Anita Blackstaffe,¹ Rosemary Perry,¹ and Penelope Hawe¹

¹ University of Calgary, Teaching Research and Wellness Building, 3rd Floor, 3280 Hospital, Drive NW, AB, Canada T2N 4Z6 ² Alberta Children's Hospital, Room C4-435, 2888 Shaganappi, Trail NW, Calgary, AB, Canada T3B 6A8

Correspondence should be addressed to Gavin R. McCormack; gmccorma@ucalgary.ca

Received 24 July 2014; Accepted 5 September 2014; Published 24 September 2014

Academic Editor: Chris Rissel

Copyright © 2014 Keri Jo Sawka et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Background. Adolescent friendships have been linked to physical activity levels; however, network characteristics have not been broadly examined. *Method.* In a cross-sectional analysis of 1061 adolescents (11–15 years), achieving 60 minutes/day of moderate-to-vigorous physical activity (MVPA) and participating in over 2 hours/day of sedentary behaviour were determined based on friendship network characteristics (density; proportion of active/sedentary friends; betweenness centrality; popularity; clique membership) and perceived social support. *Results.* Adolescents with no friendship nominations participated in less MVPA. For boys and girls, a ten percent point increase in active friends was positively associated with achievement of 60 minutes/day of MVPA (OR 1.11; 95% CI 1.02–1.21, OR 1.14; 95% CI 1.02–1.27, resp.). For boys, higher social support from friends was negatively associated with achieving 60 minutes/day of MVPA (OR 0.63; 95% CI 0.42–0.96). Compared with low density networks, boys in higher density networks were more likely to participate in over 2 hours/day of sedentary behaviour (OR 2.93; 95% CI 1.32–6.49). Social support from friends also modified associations between network characteristics and MVPA and sedentary behaviour. *Conclusion*. Different network characteristics appeared to have different consequences. The proportion of active close friends was associated with MVPA, while network density was associated with sedentary behaviour. This poses challenges for intervention design.

1. Introduction

Low levels of physical activity and high amounts of sedentary behaviour are two significant correlates of child and adolescent overweight and obesity [1]. Paediatric obesity is associated with cardiovascular risk factors such as high blood pressure, dyslipidemia, and insulin resistance [2]. On the other hand, regular participation in physical activity can improve bone mineral density, cardiorespiratory fitness, and body composition and reduce the risk of depression [3–6]. To accrue optimal health benefits, current Canadian physical activity guidelines recommend that adolescents accumulate at least 60 minutes of moderate-to-vigorous intensity physical activity (MVPA) every day [4] and limit their recreational screen time (i.e., sedentary behaviour) to 2 hours per day or less [3]. The guidelines also recommend that adolescents limit the amount of time they spend sitting for long periods and undertaking passive transportation [3]. Despite both adolescents and parents being aware of the potential health benefits [7], only 4% of girls and 9% of boys in Canada accumulate 60 minutes of MVPA on at least six days a week [8], and 60% of youth spend more than 2 hours per day participating in screen-based activities [9]. Thus, identifying modifiable determinants of physical activity and sedentary behaviour among adolescents is important for designing effective interventions.

Social contacts and personal relationships are important determinants of adolescent health and health behaviour, including physical activity [10–12]. Adolescents' immediate social environment includes, among other factors, relationships with parents, neighbours, friends, peers, teachers, and coaches [13]. These relationships can assist in the transfer, encouragement, and discouragement of adolescent attitudes and behaviour as well as contribute to adolescents' social

and emotional wellbeing. Friends have a particular influence on adolescent health as a large portion of time is spent at school and participating in extracurricular activities. Mechanisms by which friends can influence individual behaviour include coparticipation (i.e., participating in the same behaviour with a friend), modeling (i.e., witnessing a friend or peer performing a behaviour), and social norms (i.e., perception of the amount the behaviour is performed by others or perception of approval of a behaviour) [14–16]. Qualitative evidence indicates that friends provide support for physical activity initiation via coparticipation, being an active model, and verbal support [17].

Recent studies have begun to use social network analysis to gain insight into the complex world of adolescent networks of friends and peers and their influence on adolescent physical activity [10, 11]. Social network analysis is both a theoretical paradigm and methodological tool that provides a means of quantifying relationships among entities, such as individuals or organizations, and estimating patterns of association [18]. Friendship nominations amongst a group of individuals can be aggregated to form quantitative estimates of an individual's friendship network. Analysis of friendship networks has been used to examine and explain adolescent health behaviour such as smoking [19], body mass index, and dietary behaviour [20], and more recently physical activity and sedentary behaviour [10, 11]. There is evidence to suggest associations between popularity, friend behaviour, and friendship reciprocity with regard to an individual's physical activity level; however, there are still mixed results on the association between aspects of friendship networks and sedentary behaviour [10, 11]. Gender differences also exist with regard to the influence of social networks on physical activity. For instance, friends' physical activity has been associated with boys', but not girls', physical activity [21-23].

Within social network analysis there are a variety of measures that examine individual positioning and relationships which have yet to be explored within the context of physical activity and sedentary behaviour but that have been examined in relation to other behaviours [24, 25]. These measures include ego-level variables such as clique membership (i.e., a group of at least three individuals who are all connected), betweenness centrality (i.e., an individual's tendency to link other network members), as well as networklevel variables such as network density (i.e., number of connections in a network as a percentage of the total possible connections) [18]. These network measures could provide an additional layer of understanding and greater insight into the overall influence of friends on individual behaviour. Network density has been examined in the adolescent substance abuse literature [24, 25], and its applicability to physical activity and sedentary behaviour is worth investigating. While the associations between popularity and physical activity and sedentary behaviour have been examined [26-30], there has been less focus on those adolescents who receive no friendship nominations. Having fewer or no friends may result in limited opportunities for coparticipation in physical activity.

The aim of this study was twofold: (1) to examine the associations between aspects of school-based friendship networks (i.e., friendship network density, friend behaviour, popularity, and network roles), general perceived social support from friends, and achievement of recommended levels of physical activity and sedentary behaviour for adolescent boys and girls and (2) to examine the extent to which general perceived social support from friends modifies associations between friendship network measures and physical activity and sedentary behaviour.

2. Material and Methods

2.1. Data Source. This study is part of a larger Calgary-based (Alberta, Canada) project entitled Creating Opportunities for Resilience and Engagement (CORE) Connections. Six Catholic schools in Calgary were invited to participate in this study. The sample constituted all grades from 5 to 9 schools in the school district who had over 600 students in size and who did not offer specialized programming (e.g., performing arts, hockey). Seven schools were approached to take part and one refused. The schools were situated in different neighbourhoods within the metropolitan area. The median income of neighbourhoods in which the schools were situated ranged from \$72,170 (School C) to \$92,453 (School D) [31]-higher than the median income for all Calgary neighbourhoods (\$67,238) [31]. In each school, all adolescents in grades from 7 to 9 were invited to participate in this study. A study information package was sent to homes seeking parental consent for their adolescent's participation. Two surveys were administered in school in November and December 2010. One survey captured physical activity, sedentary behaviour, general perceived social support from friends, and sociodemographic characteristics. The second survey captured adolescents' within-grade friendship network. Students completed online surveys on banks of computers sitting at least one meter apart. Research assistants explained the importance of privacy and confidentiality and monitored the room constantly, making sure that students were not looking at each other's screens.

2.2. Study Variables

2.2.1. Physical Activity. Two survey items captured the number of days adolescents achieved at least 60 minutes of MVPA, outside of school hours, during (1) the past 7 days and (2) in a usual week [32]. The composite score, estimated from averaging responses to these two items, has acceptable test-retest reliability [32]. To reflect the current Canadian youth physical activity recommendations [4], we dichotomized the composite score into (1) achieving at least 60 minutes of MVPA on six or fewer days per week (*insufficiently active*) versus (2) achieving at least 60 minutes of MVPA on 7 days per week (*sufficiently active*).

2.2.2. Sedentary Behaviour. Two survey items captured the time adolescents spend watching television or videos, using a computer, playing video games, or using a handheld device,

outside of school, on a typical (1) weekday and (2) weekend day [33]. The average hours spent sedentary per day was estimated ([$5 \times$ weekday hours + 2 × weekend hours]/7 days per week) and dichotomized into (1) more than 2 hours per day (*high sedentary*) versus (2) 2 hours or less per day (*low sedentary*), reflecting the current Canadian adolescent sedentary behaviour guidelines [3]. Acceptable test-retest reliability for weekday and weekend television/video use (r =0.80 and 0.69, resp.,) and weekday and weekend computer use (r = 0.66 and 0.71, resp.,) has been reported [33].

2.2.3. General Perceived Social Support from Friends. General perceived social support from friends was measured through a social support scale consisting of four items. These items asked adolescents to report on how often (never, sometimes, most of the time, or all the time) they had friends who tried to help them; they could count on when things go wrong; they could share happy and sad times; and they could talk to about problems [34]. Responses to the four items were averaged, with higher scores reflecting higher levels of support. Internal consistency for this scale was acceptable (Cronbach's $\alpha = 0.82$).

2.2.4. Sociodemographic Characteristics. Socioeconomic status was measured using the family affluence scale (FAS) [35] which included four items asking adolescents to report the number of cars, vans, or trucks their family owned (i.e., 0, 1, or ≥ 2 vehicles); if they had their own bedroom (i.e., no = 0 or yes = 1); the number of times their family travelled away on holiday (i.e., 0, 1, 2, or ≥ 2 times in past 12 months); and the number of computers/laptops their family owned (i.e., 0, 1, 2, or ≥ 2). The responses to FAS items were summed and tertiled into low (FAS: <6), medium (FAS: 6-7), and high family affluence (FAS: ≥ 8). The FAS reflects household material wealth and it has been used in several studies investigating associations between family affluence, physical activity, and sedentary behaviour [36, 37], as well as in the Health Behaviour in School-Aged Children WHO Collaborative Cross-National Study [35]. Adolescents reported their gender, age (i.e., ≤ 12 years, 13 years, and ≥ 14 years old), how long they have lived in Canada (i.e., ≤ 5 years or >5 years), and residential relocation (i.e., did not move or moved at least once in the last 12 months). The school attended by the adolescent was also recorded (i.e., school A to F). The school attended may provide a proxy for community situatedness and affluence that was not captured in the surveys but could be important with regard to physical activity and sedentary behaviour.

2.2.5. Social Network Variables. Adolescents were presented with a list of all individuals enrolled in their grade and were asked to indicate their closest friends. In other words, we used complete network survey methods, as opposed to ego-network methods, which ask respondents to name a certain number of friends and investigate the relationships among only those nominated. Using social network analysis software UCINET [38], seven ego-network variables were estimated based on the received ("incoming") friendship nominations from close friends. The variables included (1) ego friendship network density (density); (2) proportion of received nominations from adolescents who achieved recommended levels of physical activity (proportion of active close friends); (3) proportion of received nominations from adolescents who participated in more than the recommended amount of sedentary behaviour (proportion of sedentary close friends); (4) amount of times an individual lies on the shortest path between two other individuals (betweenness centrality); (5) total number of nominations an adolescent received from other adolescents (popularity); (6) whether an adolescent has connections with at least two other adolescents and all three adolescents are connected through friendship nominations (clique member); and (7) if the adolescent received no friendship nominations. All variables were normalized using the number of adolescents in each grade. Density was dichotomized at the median density (12%) of the 18 networks (3 grades \times 6 schools). Higher density reflects a higher connectivity between individuals within each grade. Clique member was dichotomized (i.e., not a member or member). All other social network variables were analyzed as numerical or continuous. The variables that were chosen-density, proportion of active close friends, proportion of sedentary close friends, popularity, clique member, and popularity-were consistent with theories of contagion in networks, theories of homophily (like people hanging out with like people), and balance theory (ties among triads), consistent with our interest in the generation and maintenance of norms, albeit that these were cross-sectional investigations [39]. We included betweenness centrality as it is a measure of social status and potential influence, due to the capacity to control flows of information [24]. It is only possible to measure in complete network surveys.

2.3. Statistical Analysis. Gender-stratified descriptive statistics including mean and standard deviations (SD) for numerical variables (i.e., general perceived social support from friends, proportion of active close friends, proportion of sedentary close friends, betweenness centrality, and popularity) and frequencies for categorical variables (i.e., age, FAS, school, time living in Canada, and residential relocation in the last 12 months, friendship network density, clique member, receiving no friendship nominations) were estimated. Gender-stratified independent samples *t*-tests, Pearson's chisquare tests, and subsequent *z*-tests for pairwise comparisons of proportions were undertaken to compare differences in all numerical and categorical variables, respectively.

Adjusted binary logistic regression models estimated the odds ratios (OR) and 95% confidence intervals (95% CI) for the association between sociodemographic variables (age, FAS, school attended, time living in Canada, and residential relocation), social network variables (friendship network density, proportion of active close friends, proportion of sedentary close friends, betweenness centrality, popularity, and clique member), and general perceived support from friends, and the likelihood of being (1) sufficiently active versus insufficiently active and (2) high sedentary versus low sedentary. Taking an exploratory approach, we also conducted a backward stepwise likelihood ratio test to identify significant interaction terms (P < 0.05) between general perceived social support from friends and each of the social network variables.

To aid in interpretation of the regression results, the proportion of active close friends and proportion of sedentary close friends were converted to percentages and rescaled so that a one-unit change was equal to a ten percentual point change in these variables. Adolescents who did not receive a friendship nomination were excluded from the regression models because at least one nomination was required for the calculation of the proportion of active close friends and proportion of sedentary close friends. Instead, Mann-Whitney *U* Tests were used to compare the amount of weekly physical activity and daily sedentary behaviour undertaken between those who did not receive a friendship nomination and those who received at least one friendship nomination. All analysis was conducted using SPSS version 20 [40].

3. Results and Discussion

From the six schools, all adolescents (n = 1, 393) in grades 7 through 9 were invited to participate, of which 1,122 provided active consent (80.5%). A total of 1,061 adolescents subsequently provided complete data and were included in the analysis (76.2% of all those eligible).

3.1. Descriptive Statistics. The sample included 535 girls (50.4%) and 526 boys (49.6%), excluding adolescents who did not receive any close friendship nominations (Tables 1 and 2). Adolescents' age ranged from 11 to 15 years and was distributed as follows: 12 years and younger (boys = 40.9%, girls = 40.0%), 13 years (boys = 31.0%, girls = 33.3%), and 14 years and older (boys = 28.1%, girls = 26.7%). Similar percentages of boys and girls had high family affluence (boys = 37.5%, girls = 38.7%), middle family affluence (boys = 43.0%, girls = 44.5%), and low family affluence (boys = 19.6%, girls = 16.8%). A higher percentage of boys achieved recommended levels of physical activity per week compared with girls (boys = 16.0% and girls = 7.3%), while participation in at least two hours of sedentary activity per day was similar between boys and girls (boys = 79.8% and girls = 78.7%).

The mean number of incoming closest friend nominations for boys was 6.99 (SD = 3.79) and for girls was 6.52 (SD = 3.45). Network densities for close friendships across the schools and grades ranged from 7.0% to 14.0%. There were 21 adolescents (9 boys, 12 girls) who did not receive any friendship nominations. Among these adolescents, 7 (33.3%) were ≤ 12 years, 8 (38.1%) were 13 years, and 6 (28.6%) were ≥ 14 years of age. Moreover, 7 adolescents (33.3%) had low family affluence, 8 (38.1%) had medium family affluence, and 6 (28.6%) had high family affluence.

3.2. Physical Activity and Sedentary Behaviour among Those Who Received No Incoming Friendship Nominations. Adolescents who received no incoming nominations participated in significantly (P < 0.05) fewer days per week of at least 60 minutes of MVPA compared with those who received at least one friendship nomination (mean = 3.28 days/wk, SD = 1.76 days/wk versus 4.33 days/wk, SD = 1.81 days/wk, resp.). No difference in hours per day of sedentary behaviour was found.

3.3. Associations between Social Network-Derived Variables and Physical Activity and Sedentary Behaviour for Boys. Adjusting for all covariates, a ten percentage point increase in active close friends was significantly associated with an increased likelihood of being sufficiently active (OR 1.11; 95% CI 1.02–1.21) (Table 3). Boys with a higher general perceived social support from friends were significantly less likely to be sufficiently active (OR 0.63; 95% CI 0.42–0.96). Boys from school E were significantly less likely to be active compared with school A (OR 0.26; 95% CI 0.08–0.84). There were no significant interactions between social network variables and boys' general perceived social support from friends in relation to physical activity.

Adjusting for all covariates, boys in high density network were more likely to be highly sedentary compared with boys in low density networks (OR 2.93; 95% CI 1.32–6.49) (Table 3). Compared with boys \leq 12 years of age, boys \geq 14 years of age were more likely to be highly sedentary (OR 2.23; 95% CI 1.04–4.77). Moreover, boys in schools C (OR 2.92; 95% CI 1.04–8.21) and F (OR 4.24; 95% CI 1.30–13.77) were significantly more likely to be highly sedentary compared with boys in school A. There was a significant interaction (P < 0.05) between both the proportion of active close friends (OR 1.12; 95% CI 1.00–1.26) and proportion of sedentary close friends (OR 1.16; 95% CI 1.01–1.32) and general perceived social support from friends and being highly sedentary.

3.4. Associations between Social Network-Derived Variables and Physical Activity and Sedentary Behaviour for Girls. After adjusting for all covariates, a ten percentage point increase in active close friends was associated with achieving sufficient levels of physical activity (OR 1.14; 95% CI 1.02–1.27) (Table 4). No other covariates were significantly associated with sufficient levels of physical activity among girls. There was a significant interaction (P < 0.05) between the proportion of sedentary close friends and general perceived support from friends in relation to being sufficiently active (OR 1.31; 95% CI 1.04–1.67).

Adjusting for all other covariates, girls in schools C, E, and F were more likely to be highly sedentary (OR 2.89; 95% CI 1.22–6.83, OR 2.71; 95% CI 1.03–7.13, OR 6.18; 95% CI 1.94–19.64, resp.,) compared to girls in school A (Table 4). There was a significant interaction (P < 0.05) between general perceived social support from friends and clique membership and a decreased likelihood of being highly sedentary (OR 0.38; 95% CI 0.15–0.96). No other significant associations were found between the other covariates and sedentary behaviour among girls.

3.5. *Discussion*. The low prevalence of participation in at least 60 minutes of MVPA every day and high prevalence of participation in over 2 hours per day of sedentary behaviour (i.e., recreational screen time) in our sample of adolescents

	Physica	l activity	Sedentary	behaviour
	Sufficiently active (≥60 min of MVPA every day)	Insufficiently active (≥60 min of MVPA on <7 days/week)	High sedentary (>2 hrs/day of sedentary behaviour)	Low sedentary (≤2 hrs/day of sedentary behaviour)
Sociodemographic characteristics				
Age [<i>n</i> (%)]				
12 years and younger	37 (17.2)	178 (82.8)	157 (73.0)	58 (27.0) ^b
13 years	31 (19.0)	132 (81.0)	132 (81.0)	31 (19.0)
14 years and older	16 (10.8)	132 (89.2)	132 (89.2)	16 (10.8) ^b
Family affluence $[n (\%)]$				
Low	11 (10.7)	92 (89.3) ^a	80 (77.7)	23 (22.3)
Medium	32 (14.2)	194 (85.8)	177 (78.3)	49 (21.7)
High	41 (20.8)	156 (79.2) ^a	164 (83.2)	33 (16.8)
Length of time in Canada $[n (\%)]$				
More than 5 years	6 (9.0)	61 (91.0)	56 (83.6)	11 (16.4)
5 years or less	78 (17.0)	381 (83.0)	365 (79.5)	94 (20.5)
Number of times moved last year $[n (\%)]$				
Did not move	74 (17.2)	356 (82.8)	340 (79.1)	90 (20.9)
Moved at least once	10 (10.4)	86 (89.6)	81 (84.4)	15 (15.6)
Social network characteristics				
Incoming close friend nominations $[n(\%)]$				
Received ≥1 nomination	87 (16.1)	453 (83.9)	432 (80.0)	108 (20.0)
Received no nominations	0 (0.0)	9 (100.0)	5 (55.6)	4 (44.4)
Proportion active close friends [mean (SD)]	$0.40 (0.4)^{c}$	$0.30(0.3)^{c}$	$0.30 (0.3)^{d}$	$0.38(0.3)^{d}$
Proportion sedentary close friends [mean (SD)]	0.67 (0.3)	0.72 (0.3)	0.72 (0.3)	0.68 (0.3)
Betweenness centrality [mean (SD)]	3.63 (4.2)	3.07 (4.2)	3.14 (4.3)	3.26 (3.9)
Popularity (incoming nominations) [mean (SD)]	7.08 (3.6)	6.98 (3.8)	6.89 (3.7)	7.40 (4.0)
Clique member $[n(\%)]$				
Not a member	35 (18.0)	155 (82.0)	156 (82.1)	34 (17.9)
Member	49 (14.6)	287 (85.4)	265 (78.9)	71 (21.1)
Perceived support from friends [mean (SD)] ^f	3.15 (0.7)	3.28 (0.6)	3.27 (0.6)	3.20 (0.6)
Total boys $[n(\%)]$	84 (16.0)	442 (84.0)	421 (80.0)	105 (20.0)

TABLE 1: Descriptive statistics for the sociodemographic characteristics, general perceived social support from friends, physical activity, and sedentary behaviour for boys (n = 526).

^{a,b}Significant (P < 0.05) chi-square and Bonferroni-adjusted pair-wise comparison (*z*-test); ^{c,d}significant (P < 0.05) difference in means (Mann-Whitney *U*-test), ^faverage general perceived social support index: 1 = received support none of the time to 4 = received support all of the time in increments of 0.25, MVPA: moderate-to-vigorous intensity physical activity, SD: standard deviation.

is consistent with other Canadian studies [9, 41]. For boys and girls, a higher proportion of active close friends were associated with an increased likelihood of achieving sufficient levels of physical activity. We also found that, for boys, friendship network density was positively associated with sedentary behaviour. An important finding was that adolescents who received no friendship nominations spent significantly fewer days per week participating in 60 minutes of MVPA compared with adolescents who received at least one friendship nomination. Our study highlights the potential importance of close friendship network characteristics in influencing physical activity and sedentary behaviour in adolescents. The association between close friends' physical activity and an individual's physical activity was consistent with previous findings [10, 11]; however, studies that undertook genderstratified analysis found associations for friends' physical activity and physical activity among boys, but not among girls [21–23]. Similar to Sirard et al. [42] who found that friend's weekly hours of MVPA were significantly associated with boy's and girl's physical activity, we found that, regardless of gender, a higher proportion of active close friends were positively associated with achieving sufficient levels of physical activity. Having close friends who are active appears beneficial; however, our findings also suggest that not being

	Physica	l activity	Sedentary	behaviour
	Sufficiently active (≥60 min of MVPA every day)	Insufficiently active (≥60 min of MVPA on <7 days/week)	High sedentary (>2 hrs/day of sedentary behaviour)	Low sedentary (≤2 hrs/day of sedentary behaviour)
Sociodemographic characteristics				
Age [<i>n</i> (%)]				
12 years and younger	22 (10.3)	192 (89.7)	156 (72.9)	58 (27.1) ^a
13 years	11 (6.2)	167 (93.8)	140 (78.7)	38 (21.3)
14 years and older	6 (4.2)	137 (95.8)	122 (85.3)	21 (14.7) ^a
Family affluence $[n (\%)]$				
Low	6 (6.7)	84 (93.3)	70 (77.8)	20 (22.2)
Medium	14 (5.9)	224 (94.1)	186 (78.2)	52 (21.8)
High	19 (9.2)	188 (90.8)	162 (78.3)	45 (21.7)
Length of time in Canada $[n (\%)]$				
More than 5 years	3 (5.3)	54 (94.7)	43 (75.4)	14 (24.6)
5 years or less	36 (7.5)	442 (92.5)	375 (78.5)	103 (21.5)
Number of times moved last year $[n (\%)]$				
Did not move	28 (6.6)	397 (93.4)	336 (79.1)	89 (20.9)
Moved at least once	11 (10.0)	99 (90.0)	82 (74.5)	28 (25.5)
Social network characteristics				
Incoming close friend nominations $[n (\%)]$				
Received ≥1 nomination	39 (7.2)	503 (92.8)	425 (78.4)	117 (21.6)
Received no nominations	0 (0.0)	12 (100.0)	11 (91.7)	1 (8.3)
Proportion active close friends [mean (SD)]	$0.43 (0.4)^{c}$	$0.25 (0.4)^{c}$	$0.24 (0.3)^{d}$	$0.34 (0.4)^{d}$
Proportion sedentary close friends [mean (SD)]	0.75 (0.3)	0.74 (0.3)	0.76 (0.3)	0.70 (0.3)
Betweenness centrality [mean (SD)]	2.68 (3.0)	3.16 (4.0)	3.26 (4.0)	2.66 (3.5)
Popularity (incoming nominations) [mean (SD)]	6.36 (3.1)	6.53 (3.5)	6.67 (3.6) ^e	5.97 (2.7) ^e
Clique member $[n(\%)]$				
Not a member	9 (6.1)	138 (93.9)	115 (78.2)	32 (21.8)
Member	30 (7.7)	358 (92.3)	303 (78.1)	85 (21.9)
Perceived support from friends [mean (SD)] ^f	3.54 (0.6)	3.53 (0.5)	3.53 (0.5)	3.53 (0.5)
Total girls $[n(\%)]$	39 (7.3)	496 (92.7)	418 (78.1)	117 (21.9)

TABLE 2: Descriptive statistics for the sociodemographic characteristics, general perceived social support from friends, physical activity, and sedentary behaviour for girls (n = 535).

^{a,b}Significant (P < 0.05) chi-square and Bonferroni-adjusted pair-wise comparison (*z*-test); ^{c,d,e}significant (P < 0.05) difference in means (Mann-Whitney U test), ^faverage general perceived social support index: 1 = received support none of the time to 4 = received support all of the time in increments of 0.25, MVPA: moderate-to-vigorous intensity physical activity, SD: standard deviation.

nominated as a close friend may have a negative impact on physical activity behaviour. While few adolescents did not receive any close friendship nominations (n = 21), they were found to participate in less MVPA than those who received at least one close friendship nomination. Similar results were found elsewhere regarding other health-related behaviour. For example, isolate adolescents are significantly more likely to smoke compared with adolescents who are socially connected to others (i.e., clique members) [19]. It is possible that adolescents who are not considered a close friend by others receive limited support or encouragement to participate in physical activity and may have no opportunities to coparticipate in physical activities with others. A complete network analysis, like that conducted here, allowed the investigators to observe those without friendship nominations, while an ego-network analysis, by definition, would not.

This study was able to contribute knowledge relating to network density and network positioning and physical activity and sedentary behaviour. Boys who were in a higher density network were more likely to be sedentary compared with those in a low density network. As the majority of boys were sedentary (80%), a higher density network may have allowed for more exposure to normative attitudes, ideals, and behaviour among adolescents within the network, which could result in an increased likelihood of an individual being highly sedentary. Haynie [43] found similar results for

	Sufficiently active (≥60 min of MVPA every day)	High sedentary (>2 hrs	/day of sedentary behaviour)
	Adjusted main effects OR (95% CI)	Adjusted main effects OR (95% CI)	Adjusted main effects and interaction OR (95% CI)
Sociodemographic characteristics			
School			
A [#]	1.00	1.00	1.00
В	0.43 (0.18-1.06)	2.34 (0.95-5.74)	2.40 (0.90-6.01)
С	0.42 (0.15-1.15)	2.92 (1.04-8.21)*	2.94 (1.02-8.47)*
D	0.67 (0.22–2.06)	1.54 (0.50-4.77)	1.50 (0.48-4.74)
Е	$0.26 \ (0.08 - 0.84)^*$	1.95 (0.66-5.76)	1.76 (0.58–5.32)
F	0.51 (0.16-1.61)	4.24 (1.30–13.77)*	4.00 (1.20-13.33)*
Age			
12 yrs and younger [#]	1.00	1.00	1.00
13 yrs	1.40 (0.71–2.75)	1.09 (0.58–2.08)	1.16 (0.61–2.22)
14 yrs and older	0.83 (0.35–1.95)	2.23 (1.04-4.77)*	2.39 (1.10-5.18)*
Family affluence			
Low [#]	1.00	1.00	1.00
Middle	1.29 (0.60–2.77)	1.21 (0.66–2.23)	1.25 (0.68–2.31)
High	2.00 (0.94-4.27)	1.55 (0.81–2.94)	1.54 (0.80–2.94)
Length of time in Canada			
More than 5 years [#]	1.00	1.00	1.00
5 years or less	0.48 (0.19–1.25)	1.23 (0.58–2.63)	1.25 (0.58–2.70)
Number of times moved last year			
Did not move [#]	1.00	1.00	1.00
Moved at least once	0.75 (0.35-1.61)	1.10 (0.58–2.10)	1.01 (0.52–1.94)
Social network characteristics			
Density			
Low (density <12%) [#]	1.00	1.00	1.00
High (density ≥12%)	0.56 (0.23-1.33)	2.93 (1.32-6.49)*	2.99 (1.34-6.69)*
Proportion of active close friends	1.11 (1.02–1.21)*	0.96 (0.89–1.03)	0.66 (0.00-0.96)*
Proportion of sedentary close friends	1.02 (0.92–1.12)	0.91 (0.83–1.01)	$0.58 (0.00 - 0.88)^*$
Betweenness centrality	1.02 (0.96–1.08)	1.00 (0.95–1.07)	1.01 (0.95–1.07)
Popularity	1.02 (0.97–1.07)	0.98 (0.93-1.03)	0.97 (0.93–1.02)
Clique member			
Member [#]	1.00	1.00	1.00
Not a member	1.21 (0.68–2.16)	1.32 (0.76–2.27)	1.31 (0.75–2.27)
General perceived social support from friends ^a	0.63 (0.42-0.96)*	1.35 (0.92–1.98)	0.34 (0.12–1.03)
Interactions			
Proportion of active close friends * General perceived social support from friends			1.12 (1.00–1.26)*
Proportion of sedentary close friends * General perceived social support from friends			1.16 (1.01–1.32)*

TABLE 3: Odds ratios (OR) and 95% confidence intervals (95% CI) for the association between sociodemographic characteristics, social network variables, general perceived social support from friends, physical activity, and sedentary behaviour for boys (n = 526).

* P < 0.05, [#]referent category, ^a average general perceived social support index: 1 = received support none of the time to 4 = received support all of the time in increments of 0.25, MVPA: moderate-to-vigorous physical activity, OR: odds ratio, CI: confidence interval.

No significant interactions between friendship network characteristics and general perceived social support for boys' physical activity.

TABLE 4: Odds ratios (OR) and 95% confidence intervals (95% CI) for the association between sociodemographic characteristics, social network variables, general perceived social support from friends, physical activity, and sedentary behaviour for girls (n = 535).

	Sufficiently active (≥60 min of MVPA every day)		High sedentary (>2 hrs/day of sedentary behaviour)	
	Adjusted main effects OR (95% CI)	Adjusted main effects and interaction OR (95% CI)	Adjusted main effects OR (95% CI)	Adjusted main effects and interaction OR (95% CI)
Sociodemographic characteristics				
School				
$A^{\#}$	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00
В	0.17 (0.03–1.04)	0.16 (0.03-1.00)	1.73 (0.78–3.88)	1.79 (0.80-4.03)
С	0.86 (0.24-3.15)	0.81 (0.22-2.94)	2.89 (1.22-6.83)*	3.10 (1.30–7.38)*
D	0.83 (0.16-4.24)	0.90 (0.17-4.66)	1.21 (0.46–3.18)	1.20 (0.46-3.16)
E	0.38 (0.07-2.01)	0.38 (0.07-2.07)	2.71 (1.03-7.13)*	2.85 (1.08-7.52)*
F	0.96 (0.19-4.73)	0.99 (0.20-4.89)	6.18 (1.94–19.64)*	6.87 (2.11–22.35) [*]
Age				
12 yrs and younger [#]	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00
13 yrs	0.68 (0.27-1.74)	0.69 (0.27-1.79)	1.19 (0.66-2.17)	1.16 (0.64-2.12)
14 yrs and older	0.50 (0.14-1.80)	0.48 (0.13-1.77)	1.61 (0.78-3.35)	1.63 (0.78-3.41)
Family affluence				
Low [#]	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00
Middle	0.88 (0.31-2.49)	0.79 (0.28-2.27)	1.11 (0.60-2.07)	1.09 (0.58-2.04)
High	1.46 (0.53-4.03)	1.41 (0.51-3.92)	1.15 (0.61-2.18)	1.16 (0.61-2.21)
Length of time in Canada				
More than 5 years [#]	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00
5 years or less	0.54 (0.15-2.01)	0.61 (0.16-2.28)	0.76 (0.37-1.55)	0.76 (0.37-1.56)
Number of times moved last year				
Did not move [#]	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00
Moved at least once	1.55 (0.70-3.42)	1.60 (0.72-3.54)	0.82 (0.48-1.40)	0.91 (0.53-1.58)
Social network characteristics				
Density				
Low (density <12%) [#]	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00
High (density ≥12%)	1.05 (0.30-3.65)	1.07 (0.30-3.81)	1.43 (0.70-2.94)	1.48 (0.72-3.04)
Proportion of active close friends	1.14 (1.02–1.27)*	1.15 (1.03–1.28)*	0.94 (0.88-1.01)	0.94 (0.88-1.00)
Proportion of sedentary close friends	1.02 (0.88-1.19)	$0.00 \left(0.00 {-} 0.90 ight)^{*}$	0.96 (0.88-1.05)	0.96 (0.88-1.05)
Betweenness centrality	0.96 (0.87-1.07)	0.96 (0.86-1.06)	1.04 (0.97–1.11)	1.76 (0.96-3.22)
Popularity	0.99 (0.91–1.07)	0.98 (0.91-1.07)	1.03 (0.99–1.10)	1.03 (0.98-1.09)
Clique member				
Member [#]	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00
Not a member	0.84 (0.34-2.04)	0.75 (0.30-1.86)	1.38 (0.80-2.41)	39.86 (1.54–1034.20)*
General perceived social support from friends ^a	1.06 (0.55-2.04)	0.14 (0.02-0.88)	0.98 (0.65-1.48)	1.88 (0.99-3.55)
Interactions				
Proportion of sedentary close friends *				
General perceived social support from friends		1.31 (1.04–1.67)*		
Clique member * General perceived social support from friends				0.38 (0.15–0.96)*

*P < 0.05, #referent category, average general perceived social support index: 1 = received support none of the time to 4 = received support all of the time in increments of 0.25, MVPA: moderate-to-vigorous physical activity, OR: odds ratio, CI: confidence interval.

adolescent delinquency; the interaction between high density and delinquent peer networks resulted in higher delinquency involvement.

Although not the primary focus of our study, there were significant differences in the likelihood of adolescents being sufficiently active, as well as highly sedentary, among the six schools. This study, which is part of a larger project focused on improving health and wellbeing, was not initially designed to capture information about school policies, programs, or opportunities for physical activity and sedentary behaviour. Speculatively, it is possible that school characteristics and opportunities may have contributed to differences in physical activity and sedentary behaviour. For example, a review by Bonell et al. [44] found that schools with higher attainment and attendance, combined with lower truancy, had lower rates of student substance abuse. With regard to physical activity, Cradock et al. [45] found that characteristics of school campuses (i.e., school campus area per student, building area per student, and play area per student) were each associated with higher levels of physical activity. Therefore, it is possible that school characteristics may have accounted for the differences in levels of sufficiently active and highly sedentary adolescents among the schools in this study.

Evidence indicates that perceived social support for physical activity is positively associated with physical activity among adolescents [12, 46, 47]. Our study did not measure perceived support for physical activity but assessed the role of feeling emotionally supported by friends, which was not limited to within-school friends. We found evidence of effect modification between perceived social support and friendship network variables in relation to sedentary behaviour. Boys who reported higher general perceived social support from friends and had a higher proportion of active close friends were more likely to be sedentary, and boys who reported higher general perceived social support from friends and had a higher proportion of sedentary close friends were also more likely to be sedentary. We are unaware of previous studies examining the interaction between perceived social support from friends and social network variables in relation to physical activity and sedentary behaviour. Reasons for these counter-intuitive findings are therefore speculative. The findings could reflect patterns of social interaction among adolescents that may provide individuals with a virtual (e.g., Facebook, online gaming) versus physical form (e.g., sports teams, face-to-face games) of social support. Boys may also receive social support from friends who are both sufficiently active and highly sedentary; boys may participate in team sports with friends and also participate in sedentary activities with these friends, such as watching televised professional sports together. Future research may wish to examine the extent to which "influential" friends within social networks influence physical activity and sedentary behaviour, as well as the role of peer pressure, starting with qualitative studies.

Interactions between general perceived social support and social network variables were also found for girls. Girls who reported higher perceived general social support from friends and had a higher number of sedentary close friends were more likely to be sufficiently active. Moreover, girls who reported higher perceived social support from friends and who were members of a clique were less likely to be highly sedentary. It is possible that girls may have nonschoolbased friends with whom they are active (e.g., sports teams). Our analysis did not examine the gender distribution of individuals' friendship networks. Girls may receive social support from their female friends, who also happen to be highly sedentary but also have male friends with whom they participate in physical activities. Some of our counterintuitive findings for boys and girls may reflect our measure of general perceived social support which did not capture

of general perceived social support which did not capture social support specifically associated with physical activity or sedentary behaviour. There may also be extenuating factors, such as family support, which have been shown to influence adolescent physical activity [48] and sedentary behaviour [49] that were not accounted for in this analysis. This study has several limitations that should be consid-

ered. Causal inferences cannot be drawn from this crosssectional study. Previous longitudinal analyses have shown that friends' physical activity tends to become similar over time [21, 27, 50–52], indicating a process of friendship influence or socialization; however, several of these studies [50–52] also found that adolescents tend to select their friends based on similarities in physical activity. The low prevalence of sufficiently active boys (16.0%) and girls (7.3%) may have limited the statistical power to detect some meaningful associations from the regression models. The mismatch in context between our physical activity and sedentary behaviour measures (i.e., behaviour both inside and outside of school) and social network measure (i.e., close friends inside the school) might have resulted in fewer significant associations being found.

4. Conclusions

The determinants of physical activity and sedentary behaviour in children and adolescents are multifaceted and complex. Individual-level behaviour (e.g., motor ability and skill) and psychological characteristics (e.g., self-efficacy, attitudes, enjoyment), the social environment (e.g., friends and parents, family relationships and structure, and culture), the physical environment (e.g., neighbourhood parks, play equipment, availability and access to screen-based devices, and urban design), policy (e.g., mandatory physical education and activity breaks in schools), and programs (e.g., walking school bus) together influence patterns of physical activity and sedentary behaviour that adolescents undertake [48]. Our study focused on the influence of the social environment only and more specifically one aspect of the social environment—adolescent school-based friendship networks-on physical activity and sedentary behaviour. Our study findings suggest that characteristics of school-based close friendship networks are differentially associated with physical activity and sedentary behaviour. Specifically, social network-derived variables associated with physical activity differ from those associated with sedentary behaviour; relationships between individuals' and the proportion of active close friends appear to be associated with physical activity, while network density appears to be associated with sedentary behaviour.

Results from this study invite consideration of future public health interventions which utilize friendship influence to increase physical activity among adolescents. While we recognize that close friendship is a matter of complex personal choice, the opportunities to get to know new and more people, which could lead to this choice, are possibly amenable. This requires further investigation and understanding. Increasing the proportion of active individuals within a friendship network, particularly those with a higher number of friends, may result in a snowball effect and increase the likelihood of other individuals becoming sufficiently active. Harnessing the benefits of positive friendship influence to promote modeling and coparticipation could help adolescents achieve the recommended levels of physical activity required for optimal health benefits. In other fields, attempts have been made to harness the properties of friendship networks to improve health behaviour [53]. However, we have a partial view of a more complicated picture. Not only can an individual be both sedentary and active [54] we have shown that different aspects of networks appear to support these behaviour differently. The low prevalence of sufficiently active and high prevalence highly sedentary adolescents in our study is worrying and therefore suggests that broader multifaceted community, environmental, and school-based interventions may be of more immediate practical benefit [55, 56].

Conflict of Interests

The authors declare that there is no conflict of interests regarding the publication of this paper.

Acknowledgments

Funding for this project was provided by an Alberta Centre for Child, Family, and Community Research Seed grant, the Public Health Agency of Canada, the Flames Rotary Foundation, and a donation to the Hotchkiss Brain Institute (University of Calgary) from the Will Family. Keri Jo Sawka is supported by a Queen Elizabeth II Scholarship (University of Calgary). Gavin R. McCormack is supported by a CIHR New Investigator Award. Penelope Hawe is a Visiting Scholar funded by Alberta Innovates-Health Solutions.

References

- C. B. Ebbeling, D. B. Pawlak, and D. S. Ludwig, "Childhood obesity: public-health crisis, common sense cure," *Lancet*, vol. 360, no. 9331, pp. 473–482, 2002.
- [2] J. J. Reilly, E. Methven, Z. C. McDowell et al., "Health consequences of obesity," *Archives of Disease in Childhood*, vol. 88, no. 9, pp. 748–752, 2003.
- [3] M. S. Tremblay, A. G. LeBlanc, I. Janssen et al., "Canadian sedentary behaviour guidelines for children and youth," *Applied Physiology, Nutrition and Metabolism*, vol. 36, no. 1, pp. 59–64, 2011.

- [4] M. S. Tremblay, D. E. R. Warburton, I. Janssen et al., "New Canadian physical activity guidelines," *Applied Physiology, Nutrition* and Metabolism, vol. 36, no. 1, pp. 36–46, 2011.
- [5] C. K. Fox, D. Barr-Anderson, D. Neumark-Sztainer, and M. Wall, "Physical activity and sports team participation: associations with academic outcomes in middle school and high school students," *Journal of School Health*, vol. 80, no. 1, pp. 31–37, 2010.
- [6] S. J. H. Biddle and M. Asare, "Physical activity and mental health in children and adolescents: a review of reviews," *British Journal* of Sports Medicine, vol. 45, no. 11, pp. 886–895, 2011.
- [7] S. Y. Pan, C. Cameron, M. DesMeules, H. Morrison, C. L. Craig, and X. Jiang, "Individual, social, environmental, and physical environmental correlates with physical activity among Canadians: a cross-sectional study," *BMC Public Health*, vol. 9, article 21, 2009.
- [8] R. C. Colley, D. Garriguet, I. Janssen, C. L. Craig, J. Clarke, and M. S. Tremblay, "Physical activity of canadian children and youth: accelerometer results from the 2007 to 2009 canadian health measures survey," *Health Reports*, vol. 22, no. 1, pp. 15– 23, 2011.
- [9] S. T. Leatherdale and R. Ahmed, "Screen-based sedentary behaviours among a nationally representative sample of youth: are Canadian kids couch potatoes?" *Chronic Diseases and Injuries in Canada*, vol. 31, no. 4, pp. 141–146, 2011.
- [10] K. MacDonald-Wallis, R. Jago, and J. A. C. Sterne, "Social network analysis of childhood and youth physical activity: a systematic review," *The American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, vol. 43, no. 6, pp. 636–642, 2012.
- [11] K. J. Sawka, G. R. McCormack, A. Nettel-Aguirre, P. Hawe, and P. K. Doyle-Baker, "Friendship networks and physical activity and sedentary behavior among youth: a systematized review," *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, vol. 10, article 130, 2013.
- [12] J. J. Prochaska, M. W. Rodgers, and J. F. Sallis, "Association of parent and peer support with adolescent physical activity," *Research Quarterly for Exercise and Sport*, vol. 73, no. 2, pp. 206– 210, 2002.
- [13] M. Markward, L. S. McMillan, and N. Markward, "Social support among youth," *Children and Youth Services Review*, vol. 25, no. 7, pp. 571–587, 2003.
- [14] M. J. Prinstein and K. A. Dodge, Understanding Peer Influence in Children and Adolescents, The Guilford Press, New York, NY, USA, 2008.
- [15] A. Bandura, "Health promotion by social cognitive means," *Health Education and Behavior*, vol. 31, no. 2, pp. 143–164, 2004.
- [16] R. B. Cialdini, C. A. Kallgren, and R. R. Reno, "A theoretical refinement and re-evaluation of the role of norms in human behaviors," *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, vol. 58, pp. 1015–1026, 1990.
- [17] R. Jago, R. Brockman, K. R. Fox, K. Cartwright, A. S. Page, and J. L. Thompson, "Friendship groups and physical activity: qualitative findings on how physical activity is initiated and maintained among 10-11 year old children," *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, vol. 6, article 4, 2009.
- [18] S. Wasserman and K. Faust, Social Network Analysis: Methods and Applications, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, 1994.
- [19] D.-C. Seo and Y. Huang, "Systematic review of social network analysis in adolescent cigarette smoking behavior," *Journal of School Health*, vol. 82, no. 1, pp. 21–27, 2012.

- [20] A. Fletcher, C. Bonell, and A. Sorhaindo, "You are what your friends eat: systematic review of social network analyses of young people's eating behaviours and bodyweight," *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, vol. 65, no. 6, pp. 548– 555, 2011.
- [21] A.-S. Denault and F. Poulin, "Predictors of adolescent participation in organized activities: a five-year longitudinal study," *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, vol. 19, no. 2, pp. 287–311, 2009.
- [22] R. Jago, K. MacDonald-Wallis, J. L. Thompson, A. S. Page, R. Brockman, and K. R. Fox, "Better with a buddy: influence of best friends on children's physical activity," *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, vol. 43, no. 2, pp. 259–265, 2011.
- [23] L. Raudsepp and R. Viira, "Sociocultural correlates of physical activity in adolescents," *Pediatric Exercise Science*, vol. 12, no. 1, pp. 51–60, 2000.
- [24] S. T. Ennett, K. E. Bauman, A. Hussong et al., "The peer context of adolescent substance use: findings from social network analysis," *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, vol. 16, no. 2, pp. 159–186, 2006.
- [25] A. M. Hussong, "Differentiating peer contexts and risk for adolescent substance use," *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, vol. 31, no. 3, pp. 207–220, 2002.
- [26] K. de la Haye, G. Robins, P. Mohr, and C. Wilson, "Obesityrelated behaviors in adolescent friendship networks," *Social Networks*, vol. 32, no. 3, pp. 161–167, 2010.
- [27] S. B. Gesell, E. Tesdahl, and E. Ruchman, "The distribution of physical activity in an after-school friendship network," *Pediatrics*, vol. 129, no. 6, pp. 1064–1071, 2012.
- [28] D. Livesey, M. Lum Mow, T. Toshack, and Y. Zheng, "The relationship between motor performance and peer relations in 9to 12-year-old children," *Child: Care, Health and Development*, vol. 37, no. 4, pp. 581–588, 2011.
- [29] Y. Ommundsen, K. A. Gundersen, and P. E. Mjaavatn, "Fourth graders' social standing with peers: a prospective study on the role of first grade physical activity, weight status, and motor proficiency," *Scandinavian Journal of Educational Research*, vol. 54, no. 4, pp. 377–394, 2010.
- [30] R. S. Strauss and H. A. Pollack, "Social marginalization of overweight children," *Archives of Pediatrics and Adolescent Medicine*, vol. 157, no. 8, pp. 746–752, 2003.
- [31] City of Calgary, "Community Profiles," 2014, http:// www.calgary.ca/CSPS/CNS/Pages/Research-and-strategy/Community-profiles/Community-Profiles.aspx.
- [32] J. J. Prochaska, J. F. Sallis, and B. Long, "A physical activity screening measure for use with adolescents in primary care," *Archives of Pediatrics & Adolescent Medicine*, vol. 155, no. 5, pp. 554–559, 2001.
- [33] J. Utter, D. Neumark-Sztainer, R. Jeffery, and M. Story, "Couch potatoes or French fries: Are sedentary behaviors associated with body mass index, physical activity, and dietary behaviors among adolescents?" *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*, vol. 103, no. 10, pp. 1298–1305, 2003.
- [34] G. D. Zimet, N. W. Dahlem, S. G. Zimet, and G. K. Farley, "The multidimensional scale of perceived social support," *Journal of Personality Assessment*, vol. 52, no. 1, pp. 30–41, 1988.
- [35] C. Currie, M. Molcho, W. Boyce, B. Holstein, T. Torsheim, and M. Richter, "Researching health inequalities in adolescents: the development of the Health Behaviour in School-Aged Children (HBSC) Family Affluence Scale," *Social Science and Medicine*, vol. 66, no. 6, pp. 1429–1436, 2008.

- [36] G. R. McCormack, P. Hawe, R. Perry, and A. Blackstaffe, "Associations between familial affluence and obesity risk behaviours among children," *Paediatrics and Child Health*, vol. 16, no. 1, pp. 19–24, 2011.
- [37] A. Borraccino, P. Lemma, R. J. Iannotti et al., "Socioeconomic effects on meeting physical activity guidelines: comparisons among 32 countries," *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, vol. 41, no. 4, pp. 749–756, 2009.
- [38] S. P. Borgatti, M. G. Everett, and L. C. Freeman, Ucinet for Windows: Software for Social Network Analysis, Analytic Technologies, Harvard, Mass, USA, 2002.
- [39] P. Monge and N. Contractor, *Theories of Communication Networks*, Oxford University Press, Oxford, UK, 2003.
- [40] IBM, *IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 20.0*, IBM, Armonk, NY, USA, 2011.
- [41] R. C. Colley, D. Garriguet, I. Janssen et al., "The association between accelerometer-measured patterns of sedentary time and health risk in children and youth: results from the Canadian Health Measures Survey," *BMC Public Health*, vol. 13, no. 1, article 200, 2013.
- [42] J. R. Sirard, M. Bruening, M. M. Wall, M. E. Eisenberg, S. K. Kim, and D. Neumark-Sztainer, "Physical activity and screen time in adolescents and their friends," *The American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, vol. 44, no. 1, pp. 48–55, 2013.
- [43] D. L. Haynie, "Delinquent peers revisited: does network structure matter?" *The American Journal of Sociology*, vol. 106, no. 4, pp. 1013–1057, 2001.
- [44] C. Bonell, W. Parry, H. Wells et al., "The effects of the school environment on student health: a systematic review of multilevel studies," *Health and Place*, vol. 21, pp. 180–191, 2013.
- [45] A. L. Cradock, S. J. Melly, J. G. Allen, J. S. Morris, and S. L. Gortmaker, "Characteristics of school campuses and physical activity among youth," *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, vol. 33, no. 2, pp. 106–113, 2007.
- [46] S. C. Duncan, T. E. Duncan, and L. A. Strycker, "Sources and types of social support in youth physical activity," *Health Psychology*, vol. 24, no. 1, pp. 3–10, 2005.
- [47] M. W. Beets, R. Vogel, L. Forlaw, K. H. Pitetti, and B. J. Cardinal, "Social support and youth physical activity: the role of provider and type," *The American Journal of Health Behavior*, vol. 30, no. 3, pp. 278–289, 2006.
- [48] J. F. Sallis, J. J. Prochaska, and W. C. Taylor, "A review of correlates of physical activity of children and adolescents," *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, vol. 32, no. 5, pp. 963–975, 2000.
- [49] S. H. Babey, T. A. Hastert, and J. Wolstein, "Adolescent sedentary behaviors: correlates differ for television viewing and computer use," *Journal of Adolescent Health*, vol. 52, no. 1, pp. 70–76, 2013.
- [50] K. De la Haye, G. Robins, P. Mohr, and C. Wilson, "How physical activity shapes, and is shaped by, adolescent friendships," *Social Science and Medicine*, vol. 73, no. 5, pp. 719–728, 2011.
- [51] D. A. Shoham, L. Tong, P. J. Lamberson et al., "An actor-based model of social network influence on adolescent body size, screen time, and playing sports," *PLoS ONE*, vol. 7, no. 6, Article ID e39795, 2012.
- [52] S. D. Simpkins, D. R. Schaefer, C. D. Price, and A. E. Vest, "Adolescent friendships, BMI, and physical activity: Untangling selection and influence through longitudinal social network analysis," *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, vol. 23, no. 3, pp. 537–549, 2013.

- [53] K. Wang, K. Brown, S.-Y. Shen, and J. Tucker, "Social networkbased interventions to promote condom use: a systematic review," *AIDS and Behavior*, vol. 15, no. 7, pp. 1298–1308, 2011.
- [54] N. Owen, G. N. Healy, C. E. Matthews, and D. W. Dunstan, "Too much sitting: the population health science of sedentary behavior," *Exercise and Sport Sciences Reviews*, vol. 38, no. 3, pp. 105–113, 2010.
- [55] E. M. F. van Sluijs, A. M. McMinn, and S. J. Griffin, "Effectiveness of interventions to promote physical activity in children and adolescents: systematic review of controlled trials," *British Medical Journal*, vol. 335, article 703, 2007.
- [56] M. Dobbins, H. Husson, K. DeCorby, and R. L. LaRocca, "School-based physical activity programs for promoting physical activity and fitness in children and adolescents aged 6 to 18," *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, vol. 2, Article ID CD007651, 2013.

Clinical Study

Intervention Effects of a School-Based Health Promotion Programme on Obesity Related Behavioural Outcomes

Susanne Kobel, Tamara Wirt, Anja Schreiber, Dorothea Kesztyüs, Sarah Kettner, Nanette Erkelenz, Olivia Wartha, and Jürgen M. Steinacker

Division of Sports and Rehabilitation, Department of Internal Medicine II, Ulm University Medical Centre, Frauensteige 6, Haus 58/33, 89075 Ulm, Germany

Correspondence should be addressed to Susanne Kobel; susanne.kobel@uni-ulm.de

Received 25 July 2014; Revised 20 August 2014; Accepted 21 August 2014; Published 1 September 2014

Academic Editor: Li Ming Wen

Copyright © 2014 Susanne Kobel et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Studies have shown preventive effects of an active lifestyle during childhood on later life; therefore, health promotion has to start early. The programme "Join the Healthy Boat" promotes a healthy lifestyle in primary school children. In order to evaluate it, children's behaviours in respect of increased physical activity (PA), a decrease in screen media use (SMU), more regular breakfast, and a reduction of the consumption of soft drinks (SDC) were investigated. 1943 children (7.1 \pm 0.6 years) participated in the cluster-randomised study and were assessed at baseline and 1736 of them at follow-up. Teachers delivered lessons, which included behavioural contracting and budgeting of SMU and SDC. Daily SMU, PA behaviours, SDC, and breakfast patterns were assessed via parental questionnaire. After one-year intervention, significant effects were found in the intervention group for SMU of girls, children without migration background, and children with parents having a low education level. In the control group, second grade children skipped breakfast significantly more often. Tendencies but no significant differences were found for PA and SDC. This intervention seems to affect groups, which are usually hard to reach, such as children of parents with low education levels, which shows that active parental involvement is vital for successful interventions.

1. Introduction

One of the rising concerns in Western countries is the high prevalence of childhood obesity which has mainly been attributed to a constant decrease in physical activity levels and increased energy intake [1, 2]. Although recent research suggests a stabilisation in prevalence rates of overweight and obese children in developed countries [3], evidence shows that once obesity is established, it is problematic to reverse [4]. Additionally, it has been shown that obesity during youth is likely to follow through to adulthood [5].

Correspondingly, childhood obesity has been pronounced the main childhood health issue in developed countries [6] with consequences for the physical as well as psychological well-being for the affected children. Hence, obesity during childhood is a risk factor for subsequent chronic diseases in later life which should not be neglected [7, 8]. Sufficient physical activity and a well-balanced diet on the other hand are essential for normal growth and development [9] and play an important role in the prevention of increased weight and obesity [10]. Research shows that children lead an active lifestyle because of factors which they acquired as habits in early life and therefore profit from health benefits in adulthood [11]. Also, skipping breakfast is associated with higher rates of overweight and obesity in children [12] and especially the consumption of sugar-sweetened beverages has been identified as the most consistent dietary factor, which is associated with subsequent increases in weight status and fatness in children [13].

Healthcare professionals, governments, and many communities have long recognised childhood obesity as an increasing health problem and therefore have developed various programmes targeting inappropriate weight gain by reducing energy-dense foods and sedentary time (mainly television viewing) as well as increasing the daily amount of physical activity children engage in [14, 15].

Since several studies have shown positive and preventive effects of an active lifestyle during childhood on later life [7, 16, 17] and also that sedentary behaviour in childhood is maintained as an adult [11, 18] health promotion has to start early in life.

Therefore, schools have been identified as providing an ideal environment for the promotion of health-enhancing behaviours [19]. Based on the results of a recent review, Waters et al. [20] suggest that for interventions to be successful, they have to be integrated into the school curriculum and include amongst others "healthy eating, physical activity, and body image" [20, page 128] as well as support for teachers and parents. Furthermore, interventions intended to last longer than one year are more likely to become integrated into curriculum, school and parents activities than shorter interventions [21] and therefore are more promising to increase knowledge and behaviours which contribute to a healthy lifestyle and enhanced quality of life in the long term.

One programme incorporating those aspects is "Join the Healthy Boat - Primary School." This low-threshold programme promotes a healthy lifestyle in primary school children in Baden-Württemberg, southwest Germany, and started in 2009 (for more detailed information see [22]). The programme's contents and materials are integrated into the primary school curriculum focusing on health promoting behaviour change towards more physical activity, less time spent with screen media, and a more healthy diet, especially targeting a reduction of soft drink consumption and breakfast skipping. The teaching materials, developed in collaboration with experienced primary school teachers, are delivered by the classroom teacher and promote healthy and active alternatives, which children are offered to choose in order to lead a healthier lifestyle. The prepared, ready-to-use teaching units include lessons that increase awareness (e.g., about the amount of sugar in some drinks), teach health-related topics such as "why does my body need physical activity?" and offer ideas and alternatives for leisure activities children can engage in without the use of screen media.

In order to know whether the implementation and intended outcomes were achieved a large-scale evaluation had to be carried out. The purpose of this study, therefore, is to investigate the children's behaviours after a one-year intervention in respect of the programme's key aspects: an increase of physical activity, a decrease in time spent with screen media as well as more regular breakfast, and a reduction of the consumption of sugar-sweetened beverages.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Intervention and Evaluation Design. The evaluation of this school-based, teacher-centred intervention, which is based on Bandura's social cognitive theory [23], is a prospective, stratified, cluster-randomised, and longitudinal study including an intervention group and a control group. After baseline measurements had been taken, the programme's intervention was carried out in the intervention group whereas the control group followed the regular school

curriculum. Follow-up measurements were taken after one year.

The intervention is based on teaching materials offering action alternatives for recreational activities (without screen media), physical activity, and a healthy diet (focussing on breakfast and soft drinks) which are integrated into the primary school curriculum. The contents are delivered by the classroom teacher after taking part in a tripartite training course. Further detailed information on teaching materials and their contents have been published elsewhere [22]. In order to recruit the participating school and pupils, all primary schools of the state of Baden-Württemberg (southwest Germany) received written information about the programme and the intervention study, asking teachers to participate. Interested teachers then contacted the study group. Participation in the programme was voluntary and participating teachers had to agree with the randomisation process.

Stratification of randomisation was carried out on grade level based on information about the distribution of participating teachers within the different schools. Stratification according to number of classes and grade levels was realised on six different levels. Cluster-randomisation was carried out on school level into intervention and control groups. A detailed insight of the randomisation and stratification is provided elsewhere [22].

Approval for the study was obtained from the University's Ethics Committee, the Ministry of Culture and Education, and was provided in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. In addition, the study is registered at the German Clinical Trials Register (DRKS-ID: DRKS00000494).

2.2. Participants. 1943 primary school children (7.1 \pm 0.6 years; 51.2% male) in 154 classes (80 classes in the intervention group; 74 classes in the control group), who participated in the evaluation study of the programme, were assessed at baseline (Autumn 2010) and 1736 of them at follow-up (Autumn 2011). Prior to data collection, parents provided written and informed consent and children provided their assent to take part in the study.

2.3. Instruments. Anthropometric measurements such as children's height (cm) and body mass (kg) were taken by trained technicians according to ISAK Standards [24] using a stadiometer and calibrated electronic scales (Seca 213 and Seca 862, resp., Seca Weighing and Measuring Systems, Hamburg, Germany). The children's BMI was calculated as weight divided by height squared and converted to BMI percentiles (BMIPCT) using German reference data [25] to define their weight status. Cut-off points for overweight children were determined above the 90th percentile and for obese children above the 97th percentile.

All other parameters such as daily screen media time, physical activity behaviours, soft drink consumption and breakfast patterns as well as parental education levels, height, and body weight were assessed using a parental questionnaire. The included questions were based on the German Health Interview and Examination Survey for Children and Adolescents (KiGGS), which recently assessed health behaviour in 18,000 German children and adolescents [26]. Parental weight status was classified using WHO standards [27] with a cut-off point of 25 kg/m² defining overweight.

2.4. Data Analysis. Statistics were performed using SPSS Statistics 21 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA) with a significance level set to $\alpha < 0.05$. Descriptive statistics were calculated (mean values and standard deviations). For categorical data, Fisher's exact test was used for the detection of group differences at baseline. For inference statistical analysis, physical activity was dichotomised by engagement on most days per week (i.e., four days or more) of at least 60 minutes of moderate to vigorous physical activity (MVPA). Time using screen media (TV, PC, and game consoles) was dichotomised using a cut-off point of one hour per day based on the recommendations of the American Academy of Paediatrics [28]. Parental data providing information on soft drink consumption were dichotomised by consuming soft drinks more than once versus less than once per week (median split). The frequency of having breakfast prior to going to school was also dichotomised as "often/always" versus "never/rarely." Subsequently, logistic regression adjusted for baseline measures was used to determine odds ratios (OR) for all health outcomes.

3. Results

A summary of the participant's baseline sociodemographic, anthropometric, and lifestyle characteristics is shown in Table 1. No significant gender differences were found for height, weight, and BMIPCT. The prevalence of overweight including obesity is 9.0% and of obesity alone 4.0% of children.

Group comparing to check if the randomisation was successful revealed no differences between control and intervention groups for all relevant variables with the exception of migration background, which was significantly higher in the intervention group ($P \le 0.01$).

3.1. Physical Activity. At baseline, children engaged in 60 minutes of MVPA on 2.74 (\pm 1.66) days per week. Further, 31.9% and 22.2% of boys and girls, respectively, spent at least 4 days per week being moderately to vigorously physically active for at least 60 minutes. 4.2% of children reached the 60 minutes of MVPA on seven days per week, which are recommended by the WHO [29]. At baseline, no differences between control and intervention groups were observed. Boys, however, showed significantly more activity than girls (P = 0.001).

At follow-up, children engaged in 60 minutes of MVPA on 2.82 (\pm 1.61) days per week and 34.1% and 21.5% of boys and girls, respectively, spent at least 4 days per week being moderately to vigorously physically active for at least 60 minutes. 3.7% of children reached the recommended 60 minutes of MVPA on seven days per week.

Also, after one year, no significant differences in the amount of physical activity were found between control and intervention groups (Table 3).

However, there is a tendency towards more physical activity in the intervention group and a slight reduction of physical activity in the control group (Table 2). This tendency was especially pronounced if only considering boys, although statistical significance was not reached (OR = 1.34, P = 0.083, 95% CI [0.96; 1.88]).

3.2. Screen Media Consumption. Baseline results of screen media use show that 15.4% and 11.2% of boys and girls, respectively, spent a minimum of one hour per day using screen media, including television, computer/laptop, and video games. Boys spent significantly more time with screen media than girls (P = 0.01). No group differences at baseline between control and intervention group could be observed.

After one year, the proportion of children using screen media for at least one hour daily remained virtually unchanged with 15.6% of boys and 11.5% of girls. The gender difference, which could be observed at baseline, persisted, but examining the entire cohort, the intervention showed no significant effects on the time children spend in front of screen media (Table 3).

Nevertheless, there is a tendency towards less screen media use in the intervention group, whereas the opposite trend could be observed in the control group (Table 2).

Further, considering girls and boys separately, there is a significant difference between control and intervention groups with only girls in the intervention group using significantly less screen media per day than their counterparts in the control group (OR = 0.58, P = 0.04, 95% CI [0.35; 0.96]). Additionally, significant positive intervention effects on screen media consumption have been found in children (boys and girls) without a migration background as well as in children whose parents have a low education level (OR = 0.61, P = 0.043, 95% CI [0.38; 0.98] and OR = 0.64, P = 0.032, 95% CI [0.43; 0.96], resp.).

3.3. Soft Drink Consumption and Breakfast. Investigating children's soft drink consumption, at baseline, 24.6% of boys and 22.6% of girls drank sugar-sweetened beverages at least once per week. Neither a significant gender difference nor a difference between control and intervention groups could be observed at baseline.

Similarly, at follow-up, there was no significant difference between control and intervention groups (Table 3). Even though, a reduction of soft drink consumption could be seen in both groups. However, the decline in the intervention group was by trend greater than that in the control group (Table 2).

Data on children's breakfast behaviour show that at baseline 12.9% of children went to school without or rarely having breakfast before they leave. There was a significant gender difference with 15.4% of girls and 10.6% of boys skipping breakfast prior to school (P = 0.001).

At baseline and at follow-up, no significant differences between control and intervention group were found. Nonetheless, a tendency towards more children skipping breakfast could be observed in the control group at follow-up whereas in the intervention group the number of children who went to school without breakfast remained virtually the same (Table 2).

However, considering children in grade one and grade two separately, this trend becomes a significant difference

	Missing	Intervention	Control	Total
	Values	(<i>n</i> = 954)	(<i>n</i> = 782)	(n = 1736)
Age, years [m (sd)]		7.09 (0.63)	7.06 (0.63)	7.08 (0.63)
Boys, <i>n</i> (%)		475 (49.8)	411 (52.6)	886 (51.0)
Migration background, <i>n</i> (%)	244	280 (34.2)*	183 (27.2)*	463 (31.0)
Anthropometry				
BMI, [m (sd)]		16.03 (2.22)	15.92 (2.03)	15.98 (2.14)
BMIPCT, [m (sd)]		48.87 (27.82)	48.12 (27.49)	48.53 (27.67)
Overweight and obesity, n (%)		95 (10.0)	70 (9.0)	165 (9.0)
Parental characteristics				
Tertiary family educational level, n (%)	270	268 (33.2)	208 (31.6)	476 (32.5)
Overweight (mother), n (%)	301	247 (31.5)	195 (30.0)	442 (30.8)
Overweight (father), n (%)	393	460 (61.9)	355 (59.2)	815 (60.7)
Health and lifestyle characteristics				
MVPA on \geq 4 days/week \geq 60 min/day, <i>n</i> (%)	266	216 (26.8)	183 (27.6)	399 (27.1)
Screen media $\geq 1 \text{ h/day}, n (\%)$	207	122 (14.5)	83 (12.0)	205 (13.4)
Soft drinks ≥ 1 time/week, n (%)	198	207 (24.5)	156 (22.5)	363 (23.6)
Skipping breakfast, n (%)	196	110 (13.0)	89 (12.8)	199 (12.9)

TABLE 1: Baseline characteristics of participants in the "Join the Healthy Boat" study.

m (sd): mean (standard deviation); BMI: body mass index, BMIPCT: BMI percentiles, and MVPA: moderate to vigorous physical activity. * Significant difference, $P \leq 0.05$.

TABLE 2: Baseline and follow-u	p results for p	hvsical activit	v. screen media consum	ption, soft drink of	consumption, and breakfast	t skipping.
	r r		,	I · · / · · · · · · · · · · ·		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·

	Intervention	Control	Total	
	(n = 954)	(n = 782)	(n = 1736)	
Physical activity ^a				
Baseline, <i>n</i> (%)	216 (26.8)	183 (27.6)	399 (27.1)	
Follow-up, <i>n</i> (%)	231 (29.1)	177 (26.5)	408 (27.9)	
Screen media consumption ^b				
Baseline, <i>n</i> (%)	122 (14.5)	83 (12.0)	205 (13.4)	
Follow-up, <i>n</i> (%)	104 (12.7)	100 (14.6)	204 (13.6)	
Follow-up (girls only) [*] , n (%)	40 (9.8)	47 (14.2)	87 (11.3)	
Follow-up (no migration background)*, <i>n</i> (%)	49 (9.3)	62 (12.8)	111 (11.2)	
Follow-up (low parental education) [*] , n (%)	70 (13.9)	75 (17.3)	145 (16.1)	
Soft drink consumption ^c				
Baseline, n (%)	207 (24.5)	156 (22.5)	363 (23.6)	
Follow-up, <i>n</i> (%)	178 (21.8)	152 (22.1)	330 (22.0)	
Breakfast skipping ^d				
Baseline, n (%)	110 (13.0)	89 (12.8)	199 (12.9)	
Follow-up, <i>n</i> (%)	101 (12.4)	100 (14.5)	201 (13.4)	
Follow-up (grade 2 only)*, n (%)	42 (10.8)	53 (16.6)	95 (13.5)	

^a MVPA on ≥ 4 days/week ≥ 60 min/day (MVPA: moderate to vigorous physical activity); ^b screen media ≥ 1 h/day; ^c soft drinks ≥ 1 time/week; ^d regular breakfast skipping. * Significant difference, $P \le 0.05$.

Journal of Obesity

	n^{a}	OR ^b	Р	95% CI
Physical activity				
MVPA on \geq 4 days/week \geq 60 minutes MVPA	1386	1.18	0.19	[0.92, 1.52]
Screen media use				
Screen media ≥1 h/day	1471	0.75	0.10	[0.53, 1.06]
Soft drink consumption				
Soft drinks ≥1 time/week	1475	0.96	0.76	[0.72, 1.28]
Breakfast habits				
Skipping breakfast	1480	0.86	0.47	[0.58, 1.29]

TABLE 3: Behavioural outcomes at follow-up for the intervention group.

OR: odds ratio, CI: confidence interval, and MVPA: moderate to vigorous physical activity; ^a only cases with baseline and follow-up data; ^b adjusted for baseline outcomes.

for children in grade two: the second-graders in the control group skipped breakfast significantly more often than those in the intervention group (OR = 0.52, P = 0.024, 95% CI [0.30; 0.92]).

4. Discussion

This cluster-randomised effectiveness trial of a low-threshold, teacher-centred health promotion intervention led to a significant decrease of screen media use in girls and children without migration background compared to children receiving no intervention. "Join the Healthy Boat" also significantly improved children's breakfast behaviours in second grade and led to a tendency towards more overall physical activity in the intervention group.

Apart from that tendency, no significant effects in children's regular physical activity could be observed after the first year of this school-based intervention, which is consistent with previous interventions [30–32]. However, since physical activity is a primary determinant of optimal growth and health in children [33] and school has been determined as an important environment for physical activity [19], numerous recent studies and interventions have tried to increase children's activity levels during the past years. The approaches and methods of those interventions—as well as their results differ widely, including the placement of a full-time member of staff in the schools, who is dedicated to facilitating healthy living [33] or the use of a so-called buddy system where older peers deliver health messages [34].

The present programme aimed at children changing their activity behaviours because of the choices they make, without reminders or additional PE sessions. Although, previous research has shown that social environmental factors such as teacher encouragement are positively related to children's physical activity levels [35, 36]. The "Join the Healthy Boat" intervention, however, focuses on delivering alternatives, so children learn about different ways and activities to spend their free time more actively. A longer lasting and more intense intervention might have shown more positive physical activity results, which was suggested by Ploeg and colleagues [33], comparing an intervention lasting one year compared to three years.

Another target of this intervention was to reduce children's sedentary time using screen media. Significant positive intervention effects were found in girls and children without a migration background as well as in children whose parents have a low education level but not boys or children with migration background. This is in accordance with a recent meta-analysis of 16 intervention programmes trying to reduce children's screen time which showed that around 60% of interventions result in positive effects on children's sedentary time [37]. The authors also noted that-the same as in this study-all programmes combined the reduction of screen time with other components. It was highlighted that for a successful intervention and reduction of screen time parental involvement is vital [37] and current research suggests that interventions show better results if they include a family component [38]. Apart from offering children active alternatives for sedentary behaviour, in the "Join the Healthy Boat" programme, screen time reduction was mainly targeted by letters to parents and the so-called family homework, which asked parents to spend a "screen-free weekend" with their children. In the letters, parents were introduced to TV guidelines and age-appropriate time limits for screen media use but were also offered alternatives of what to do on such a "screen-free weekend." This may be one of the reasons why children without migration background benefited from this intervention compared to children with migration background. Although the letters to parents were provided in Turkish and Russian as well as German, parents from other countries may have not received or understood the given information. Similarly, to parents with a low educational level the given information and guidelines may have been news so they then might have actually tried to control their children's screen media use to a certain extent. However, the intervention also showed significantly reduced screen media use in girls but not boys, which is contrary to other research [39]. But it has further been suggested that interventions as this one are effective in changing children's behavioural capability (which was not assessed in this study) but do not necessarily result in a shift in behaviour [39], which might explain the lack of overall effects regarding screen media use.

The third aspect of this programme was a reduction of sugar-sweetened beverages and breakfast skipping. In compliance with recent Danish research [40], no differences between the groups were observed in the amount of sugarsweetened beverage intake, which is possibly due to the fact that soft drink consumption was only communicated to parents using letters and no family homework. Skipping breakfast, however, was tackled using family homework (having a healthy family breakfast together) as well as joint breakfast in class (twice a year). It is well known that parents play an important role in the development of healthy breakfast behaviours [41] and parental breakfast intake has been shown to be associated with the breakfast intake of their children [42]. Children in this study were having breakfast a little more regularly than that reported in other researches [12], where skipping breakfast was also associated with increased weight, which was not assessed in this study. In the present study, children in second grade skipped breakfast significantly less often than their counterparts in the control group showing positive intervention effects.

Since recent findings suggest that it is at or around the first school year when overweight in German children particularly increases [43], it is vital to start health promotion early. For school-based interventions the use of a comprehensive approach for health promotion is recommended [44] and Vasques et al. [45] suggest interventions that focus on children's physical activity as well as their diet and involve their parents in order to be successful.

Although this study has a large sample size, which increases the likelihood of having sufficient power to detect intervention effects, some aspects should be considered when interpreting these findings. The use of parental report measures of physical activity, screen media use, and drinking/eating behaviour and the associated recall biases is a limitation of this study. Furthermore, participating in this study may have led to an increased social desirability bias with regard to the measured variables as awareness was raised for the importance of physical activity and other health behaviours. Also, the present intervention was very low "dose" and delivered by regular class teachers rather than external staff which also may lower the likelihood of the "Hawthorne" or observer effect. Further it should be noted that the effects of health promotion are usually not detected in a short time frame such as the one of the present evaluation study. The "Join the Healthy Boat" intervention covers the entire period of primary school in Germany which lasts four years. In contrast, the corresponding study could only investigate one year because the waiting control group could not deny the intervention any longer. Even though a major strength of this study is the randomised controlled design with a control group, the teachers in that group were also very health conscious and have not been "inactive," which led to a strong contamination with other efforts to promote pupils' health in the control group. Moreover, according to a microsimulation model, health gains from interventions targeting children occur in the long term [46].

5. Conclusions

Although, only using a low-dose teacher-centred approach, the school-based health promotion programme "Join the Healthy Boat" managed to achieve significant positive effects in the reduction of screen media use (in girls and children without migration background and parents with a low education level only) and breakfast skipping (second grade children only) as well as a tendency towards more physical activity in the intervention group. Whilst some effects were rather small, the intervention seems to affect even groups which are usually hard to reach such as children of parents with low education levels. This shows that active parental involvement is vital for a successful intervention and should be intensified and demanded.

Since most behaviours are difficult to change within one year, further research should include investigations into the level of intensity and length of time an intervention needs to be of to show lasting effects on behaviour change. Further, the kind and level of parental involvement would be of interest for future studies in order to improve health promotion programmes.

Conflict of Interests

The authors declare that there is no conflict of interests regarding the publication of this paper.

Acknowledgments

The school-based health promotion programme "Join the Healthy Boat" and its evaluation study were financed by the Baden-Württemberg Foundation, which had no influence on the content of this paper. Further, the authors would like to thank all members of the research group for their input: the Institute of Epidemiology and Medical Biometry, Ulm University, the Institute of Psychology and Pedagogy, Ulm University, all assistants who were involved in the performance of measurements, and especially all teachers and families for their participation.

References

- T. Lobstein, L. Baur, and R. Uauy, "Obesity in children and young people: a crisis in public health," *Obesity Reviews*, vol. 5, no. 1, pp. 4–85, 2004.
- [2] C. L. Ogden, M. M. Lamb, M. D. Carroll, and K. M. Flegal, "Obesity and socioeconomic status in children and adolescents: United States, 2005–2008," *NCHS Data Brief*, vol. 51, pp. 1–8, 2010.
- [3] M. Wabitsch, A. Moss, and K. Kromeyer-Hauschild, "Unexpected plateauing of childhood obesity rates in developed countries," *BMC Medicine*, vol. 12, pp. 17–21, 2014.
- [4] H. O. Luttikhuis, L. Baur, H. Jansen et al., "Interventions for treating obesity in children," *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, no. 1, Article ID CD001872, 2009.
- [5] A. S. Singh, C. Mulder, J. W. R. Twisk, W. van Mechelen, and M. J. M. Chinapaw, "Tracking of childhood overweight into adulthood: a systematic review of the literature," *Obesity Reviews*, vol. 9, no. 5, pp. 474–488, 2008.
- [6] C. B. Ebbeling, D. B. Pawlak, and D. S. Ludwig, "Childhood obesity: public-health crisis, common sense cure," *Lancet*, vol. 360, no. 9331, pp. 473–482, 2002.
- [7] M. K. Gebremariam, T. H. Totland, L. F. Andersen et al., "Stability and change in screen-based sedentary behaviours and associated factors among Norwegian children in the transition between childhood and adolescence," *BMC Public Health*, vol. 12, no. 1, article 104, 2012.
- [8] P. T. Katzmarzyk, T. S. Church, C. L. Craig, and C. Bouchard, "Sitting time and mortality from all causes, cardiovascular disease, and cancer," *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, vol. 41, no. 5, pp. 998–1005, 2009.
- [9] A. P. Hills, N. A. King, and T. P. Armstrong, "The contribution of physical activity and sedentary behaviours to the growth and development of children and adolescents," *Sports Medicine*, vol. 37, no. 6, pp. 533–545, 2007.
- [10] W. B. Strong, R. M. Malina, C. J. R. Blimkie et al., "Evidence based physical activity for school-age youth," *The Journal of Pediatrics*, vol. 146, no. 6, pp. 732–737, 2005.
- [11] S. J. H. Biddle, N. Pearson, G. M. Ross, and R. Braithwaite, "Tracking of sedentary behaviours of young people: a systematic review," *Preventive Medicine*, vol. 51, no. 5, pp. 345–351, 2010.
- [12] M. Vanelli, B. Iovane, A. Bernardini et al., "Breakfast habits of 1,202 Northern Italian children admitted to a summer sport school. Breakfast skipping is associated with overweight and obesity," *Acta Biomedica*, vol. 76, no. 2, pp. 79–85, 2005.
- [13] A. Must, E. E. Barish, and L. G. Bandini, "Modifiable risk factors in relation to changes in BMI and fatness: what have we learned from prospective studies of school-aged children," *International Journal of Obesity*, vol. 33, no. 7, pp. 705–715, 2009.
- [14] M. M. Fernandes, "A national evaluation of the impact of state policies on competitive foods in schools," *Journal of School Health*, vol. 83, no. 4, pp. 249–255, 2013.
- [15] T. Andreyeva, J. Luedicke, A. S. Tripp, and K. E. Henderson, "Effects of reduced juice allowances in food packages for the women, infants, and children program," *Pediatrics*, vol. 131, no. 5, pp. 919–927, 2013.
- [16] P. C. Hallal, J. C. K. Wells, F. F. Reichert, L. Anselmi, and C. G. Victora, "Early determinants of physical activity in adolescence: prospective birth cohort study," *British Medical Journal*, vol. 332, no. 7548, pp. 1002–1005, 2006.
- [17] R. J. Hancox, B. J. Milne, and R. Poulton, "Association between child and adolescent television viewing and adult health: a longitudinal birth cohort study," *The Lancet*, vol. 364, no. 9430, pp. 257–262, 2004.
- [18] K. F. Janz, T. L. Burns, and S. M. Levy, "Tracking of activity and sedentary behaviors in childhood: the Iowa bone development study," *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, vol. 29, no. 3, pp. 171–178, 2005.
- [19] L. S. Leger, L. Kolbe, A. Lee, D. S. McCall, and I. M. Young, "School health promotion," in *Global Perspectives on Health Promotion Effectiveness*, pp. 107–124, Springer, New York, NY, USA, 2007.
- [20] E. Waters, A. de Silva-Sanigorski, B. J. Hall et al., "Interventions for preventing obesity in children," *The Cochrane Collaboration*, no. 12, pp. 1–12, 2011.
- [21] J. A. C. Silveira, J. A. A. C. Taddei, P. H. Guerra, and M. R. C. Nobre, "Effectiveness of school-based nutrition education interventions to prevent and reduce excessive weight gain in children and adolescents: a systematic review," *Jornal de Pediatria*, vol. 87, no. 5, pp. 382–392, 2011.
- [22] J. Dreyhaupt, B. Koch, T. Wirt et al., "Evaluation of a health promotion program in children: study protocol and design of the cluster-randomized Baden-Württemberg primary school study [DRKS-ID: DRKS00000494]," *BMC Public Health*, vol. 12, no. 1, article 157, 2012.
- [23] A. Bandura, "Social cognitive theory: an agentic perspective," *Annual Review of Psychology*, vol. 52, no. 1, pp. 1–26, 2001.

- [24] A. Stewart, M. Marfell-Jones, T. Olds, and H. de Ridder, *International Standards for Anthropometric Assessment*, ISAK, Lower Hutt, New Zealand, 2011.
- [25] K. Kromeyer-Hauschild, M. Wabitsch, D. Kunze et al., "Percentiles of body mass index in children and adolescents evaluated from different regional German studies," *Monatsschrift fur Kinderheilkunde*, vol. 149, no. 8, pp. 807–818, 2001.
- [26] B.-M. Kurth and A. Schaffrath Rosario, "Overweight and obesity in children and adolescents in Germany," *Bundesgesundheitsblatt, Gesundheitsforschung, Gesundheitsschutz*, vol. 53, no. 7, pp. 643–652, 2010.
- [27] WHO Consulation on Obesity, Obesity: Preventing and Managing the Global Epidemic: Report of a WHO Consultation, WHO, Geneva, Switzerland, 2000.
- [28] American Academy of Paediatrics, "American academy of pediatrics: children, adolescents, and television," *Pediatrics*, vol. 107, pp. 423–426, 2001.
- [29] WHO, *Global Recommendations on Physical Activity for Health*, World Health Organisation, Geneva, Switzerland, 2010.
- [30] S. L. Gortmaker, K. Peterson, J. Wiecha et al., "Reducing obesity via a school-based interdisciplinary intervention among youth: planet Health," *Archives of Pediatrics and Adolescent Medicine*, vol. 153, no. 4, pp. 409–418, 1999.
- [31] T. N. Robinson, "Reducing children's television viewing to prevent obesity: a randomized controlled trial," *The Journal of the American Medical Association*, vol. 282, no. 16, pp. 1561–1567, 1999.
- [32] J. Salmon, M. Jorna, C. Hume et al., "A translational research intervention to reduce screen behaviours and promote physical activity among children: switch-2-Activity," *Health Promotion International*, vol. 26, no. 3, pp. 311–321, 2011.
- [33] K. A. V. Ploeg, J. McGavock, K. Maximova, and P. J. Veugelers, "School-based health promotion and physical activity during and after school hours," *Pediatrics*, vol. 133, no. 2, pp. e371–e378, 2014.
- [34] R. G. Santos, A. Durksen, R. Rabbanni et al., "Effectiveness of peer-based healthy living lesson plans on anthropometric measures and physical activity in elementary school students: a cluster randomized trial," *JAMA Pediatrics*, vol. 168, no. 4, pp. 330–337, 2014.
- [35] A. S. Birnbaum, K. R. Evenson, R. W. Motl et al., "Scale development for perceived school climate for girls' physical activity," *American Journal of Health Behavior*, vol. 29, no. 3, pp. 250–257, 2005.
- [36] M. Hohepa, G. Schofield, and G. S. Kolt, "Physical activity: what do high school students think?" *Journal of Adolescent Health*, vol. 39, no. 3, pp. 328–336, 2006.
- [37] R. R. Friedrich, J. P. Polet, I. Schuch, and M. B. Wagner, "Effect of intervention programs in schools to reduce screen time: a metaanalysis," *Jornal de Pediatria*, vol. 90, no. 3, pp. 232–241, 2014.
- [38] D. L. Katz, M. O'Connell, V. Y. Njike, M.-C. Yeh, and H. Nawaz, "Strategies for the prevention and control of obesity in the school setting: systematic review and meta-analysis," *International Journal of Obesity*, vol. 32, no. 12, pp. 1780–1789, 2008.
- [39] J. Salmon, M. Jorna, C. Hume et al., "A translational research intervention to reduce screen behaviours and promote physical activity among children: switch-2-activity," *Health Promotion International*, vol. 26, no. 3, pp. 311–321, 2011.
- [40] B. W. Jensen, B. M. Nielsen, I. Husby et al., "Association between sweet drink intake and adiposity in Danish children participating in a long-term intervention study," *Pediatric Obesity*, vol. 8, no. 4, pp. 259–270, 2013.

- [41] K. van der Horst, A. Oenema, I. Ferreira et al., "A systematic review of environmental correlates of obesity-related dietary behaviors in youth," *Health Education Research*, vol. 22, no. 2, pp. 203–226, 2007.
- [42] N. Pearson, S. J. H. Biddle, and T. Gorely, "Family correlates of breakfast consumption among children and adolescents. A systematic review," *Appetite*, vol. 52, no. 1, pp. 1–7, 2009.
- [43] S. W. Hoffmann, R. Ulrich, and P. Simon, "Refined analysis of the critical age ranges of childhood overweight: implications for primary prevention," *Obesity*, vol. 20, no. 10, pp. 2151–2154, 2012.
- [44] S. F. Jackson, F. Perkins, E. Khandor, L. Cordwell, S. Hamann, and S. Buasai, "Integrated health promotion strategies: a contribution to tackling current and future health challenges," *Health Promotion International*, vol. 21, no. 1, pp. 75–83, 2006.
- [45] C. Vasques, P. Magalhães, A. Cortinhas et al., "Effects of intervention programs on child and adolescent BMI: a meta-analysis study," *Journal of Physical Activity Health*, vol. 11, no. 2, pp. 426– 444, 2014.
- [46] M. Cecchini, F. Sassi, J. A. Lauer, Y. Y. Lee, V. Guajardo-Barron, and D. Chisholm, "Tackling of unhealthy diets, physical inactivity, and obesity: health effects and cost-effectiveness," *The Lancet*, vol. 376, no. 9754, pp. 1775–1784, 2010.

Research Article

Using the Medical Research Council Framework for the Development and Evaluation of Complex Interventions in a Theory-Based Infant Feeding Intervention to Prevent Childhood Obesity: The Baby Milk Intervention and Trial

Rajalakshmi Lakshman,^{1,2} Simon Griffin,^{1,2,3} Wendy Hardeman,³ Annie Schiff,² Ann Louise Kinmonth,³ and Ken K. Ong^{1,4}

¹ MRC Epidemiology Unit, University of Cambridge, Addenbrooke's Hospital, P.O. Box 285, Cambridge CB2 0QQ, UK

² UKCRC Centre for Diet and Activity Research, University of Cambridge, Cambridge CB2 0QQ, UK

³ The Primary Care Unit, Department of Public Health and Primary Care, University of Cambridge, Cambridge CB2 0SR, UK

⁴ Department of Paediatrics, University of Cambridge, Cambridge CB2 0QQ, UK

Correspondence should be addressed to Rajalakshmi Lakshman; rl284@mrc-epid.cam.ac.uk

Received 29 May 2014; Accepted 30 June 2014; Published 21 July 2014

Academic Editor: Li Ming Wen

Copyright © 2014 Rajalakshmi Lakshman et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Introduction. We describe our experience of using the Medical Research Council framework on complex interventions to guide the development and evaluation of an intervention to prevent obesity by modifying infant feeding behaviours. *Methods.* We reviewed the epidemiological evidence on early life risk factors for obesity and interventions to prevent obesity in this age group. The review suggested prevention of excess weight gain in bottle-fed babies and appropriate weaning as intervention targets; hence we undertook systematic reviews to further our understanding of these behaviours. We chose theory and behaviour change techniques that demonstrated evidence of effectiveness in altering dietary behaviours. We subsequently developed intervention materials and evaluation tools and conducted qualitative studies with mothers (intervention recipients) and healthcare professionals (intervention deliverers) to refine them. We developed a questionnaire to assess maternal attitudes and feeding practices to understand the mechanism of any intervention effects. *Conclusions*. In addition to informing development of our specific intervention and evaluation materials, use of the Medical Research Council framework has helped to build a generalisable evidence base for early life nutritional interventions. However, the process is resource intensive and prolonged, and this should be taken into account by public health research funders. This trial is registered with ISRTCN: 20814693 Baby Milk Trial.

1. Introduction

While the aetiology of obesity has been simplified to an imbalance between energy intake and energy expenditure over a prolonged period, the psychological, social, physiological, environmental, and other factors causing this imbalance are complex [1]. A complex problem does not always necessitate a complex intervention, but complex interventions, targeting multiple causal factors and the interactions between them, may be necessary [2]. Complex interventions are often not systematically developed, specified, or reported [3].

Following a systematic process in the development and evaluation of a complex intervention may help in understanding the processes underlying any observed intervention effects and for whom and in which settings interventions work, to inform and improve the development, evaluation, and implementation of future interventions.

To address some of the complexities in defining, developing, and evaluating complex interventions, a number of frameworks have been proposed. These include Intervention Mapping [4, 5], RE-AIM (reach, efficacy, adoption, implementation and maintenance) [6, 7], Precede-Proceed [8], and Logic Models [9, 10]. More recently, the Medical Research Council (MRC) framework for developing and evaluating complex interventions originally published in 2000 [11] and updated in 2008 [2] has been recommended (Figure 1). The 2000 MRC framework suggested a model based on the phases conventionally used in the evaluation of new drugs—from initial preclinical research through to postmarketing surveillance [11]. The updated 2008 MRC framework provides a more flexible, less linear model of the process with greater attention to early phase piloting and development work [2].

The aim of this paper is to describe our experience of using the 2008 MRC framework to develop and evaluate a theory-based, behavioural infant feeding intervention aimed at preventing childhood obesity, including benefits and challenges of using this framework.

2. Methods

The activities we undertook and the stages of the 2008 MRC framework they map onto are shown in Table 1 and presented in more detail below.

2.1. Developing a Complex Intervention

2.1.1. Identifying the Evidence Base

Review of the Epidemiological Evidence for Early Life Risk Factors Contributing to Childhood Obesity. The review highlighted the importance of excess energy intake resulting in excess weight gain during infancy [12-14], formulafeeding, and poor weaning practices in the development of obesity [15]. Randomised trials in small-for-gestational age and preterm infants showed that greater dietary energy content increased risk of obesity and metabolic disease in later life [16, 17]. In 2004, the World Health Organization and other international bodies reduced the recommended average energy requirements (AER) for infants by around 15 to 20% [18] and these energy requirements form the basis of the Baby Milk intervention. Babies who are fed formulamilk are more likely to show rapid weight gain during infancy than breastfed babies [19], possibly as a result of higher energy intake. In addition their mothers have a number of demographic characteristics that are associated with obesity risk (lower age, education, and socioeconomic status) and hence the intervention targets formula-fed babies (54% at 1 week age and 77% at 6 weeks age in UK [20]) through their mothers.

Systematic Review of Parent's Experiences of Bottle-Feeding. Having identified formula-fed babies as a high-risk group and excess energy intake amongst this group as a potential target for intervention, we sought to increase our understanding of the behaviours associated with excess energy intake by conducting a systematic review of the quantitative and qualitative literature around parents' experiences of bottlefeeding [21]. The review suggested that mothers who bottlefed experienced negative emotions such as guilt, anger, worry, uncertainty, and a sense of failure. This emphasised the need for our intervention to be delivered with empathy and in a collaborative participant-centred style. Mothers reported receiving little information on bottle-feeding and did not feel empowered to make decisions. Mistakes in feed preparation and frequent formula-milk changes were common.

Systematic Review of Determinants of Early Weaning. We undertook a systematic review of the determinants of early weaning and inappropriate introduction of cow's milk to increase our understanding of why parents do not follow infant feeding recommendations [22]. Strong evidence was found for six maternal determinants of early weaning: young age, low education and socioeconomic status, absence/short duration of breastfeeding, smoking, and lack of information or advice from healthcare providers. The results of this review mirror the much larger body of evidence on determinants of breastfeeding [23–25]. Of these determinants, improving the advice and support given by healthcare providers appeared to be the area most amenable to intervention in the short term.

Systematic Review of Interventions to Prevent Obesity in Young Children. A 2011 Cochrane review on interventions to prevent obesity in children and adolescents identified 55 studies [26]. Only eight of these were targeting children aged 0–5 years and these studies showed the largest intervention effects, but none were specific to infancy. A search for "childhood obesity prevention" trials listed on registers of active and archived controlled trials (http://www.clinicaltrials.gov and http://www.controlled-trials.com) was conducted and nine trials in this age group were identified [27–35]. However none of them targeted energy intake from formula-milk, the focus of the baby milk intervention.

2.1.2. Identifying/Developing Appropriate Theory. A number of psychological factors (e.g., beliefs and emotions) and environmental factors are involved in learning new behaviours and changing existing behaviours. Theories or models provide an overarching framework for the psychological and environmental factors that explain behaviours to be targeted by an intervention. As there were no behavioural interventions specifically targeting formula-milk feeding, this stage included a review of the literature on psychological theories and behaviour change techniques that had shown some success in improving dietary behaviours.

Social Cognitive Theory (SCT). We identified Bandura's social cognitive theory [36] as a useful theory to inform mediators along the hypothesised causal pathways of intervention effects. The theory has been shown to predict other dietary behaviours, including fruit and vegetable intake in children [37], and has been used to develop interventions to improve breastfeeding practices [38] and dietary behaviours in adults [39, 40].

The key constructs of SCT are as follows.

Perceived Self-Efficacy. This refers to a person's belief or confidence in their ability to successfully perform a specific task or behaviour. High perceived self-efficacy is related to a feeling of being "*in control*" and a belief that "*I will be able to*



FIGURE 1: Key elements of the development, evaluation, and implementation process of complex interventions. Source: [2].

continue to perform the behaviour even in the face of difficult obstacles or stressful situations."

Outcome Expectancies. These are person's thoughts or beliefs about the results or consequences of certain behaviour. Outcome expectancies can be either positive or negative and may be related to physical, social, and self-evaluative outcomes, that is, outcomes related to physical health, feedback from others, and feelings about oneself.

Sociostructural Factors. Environmental factors are referred to as sociostructural factors. These include all the factors outside of the person that might affect their ability to perform the target behaviour but are not necessarily beyond the person's control. An example of a sociostructural facilitator might be a local support group. A sociostructural barrier might be a grandparent or child minder unwilling to follow recommendations. Hence, the identification of barriers and facilitators for performance of the behaviour are techniques used in the intervention (Table 2).

Implementation Intentions (IIs). While SCT is promising in terms of strengthening motivation, it has been shown that good intentions do not always translate to behaviour change; hence we added implementation intentions (IIs). IIs have been shown to bridge the gap between motivation and action [41]. They commit an individual to a specific course of action when certain environmental conditions (barriers or facilitators) are met. The environment therefore acts as a cue to action and helps the individual to achieve their goal. IIs are "if...then...plans" specifying when, where, and how the person will act on their intentions and perform the behaviour and link the behaviour to specific cues [42].

Behaviour Change Techniques (BCTs). While theories provide a framework to understand how behaviours targeted in the intervention change, behaviour change techniques (BCTs) constitute the active content of interventions. We selected behaviour change techniques (BCTs) informed by the theoretical basis of our intervention (SCT and IIs) with evidence of effectiveness in changing dietary behaviours [43]. We used Abraham and Michie's taxonomy [44] to define the BCTs and operationalize them as intervention strategies in the intervention protocols (Table 2). The intervention aims to encourage parents to reduce the amount of formulamilk feeds, recognise infant satiety cues, not to respond to nonhunger related fussiness by feeding, wean babies onto a healthy diet, and recognise if their babies are gaining excess weight. Table 3 summarises the contacts during which core intervention contents are used.

Qualitative Studies. Following initial development of the intervention, qualitative studies were conducted to assess the acceptability and feasibility of intervention delivery and appropriate changes to the intervention materials were made. Psychologists, dieticians, and doctors were interviewed and in addition, interviews and focus groups were conducted with relevant stakeholders-mothers (recipients of the intervention) and healthcare providers (health visitors and midwives who would deliver the intervention). An iterative process was used to refine the intervention [45]. One example of how this work informed intervention development is that "healthy growth" rather than "obesity prevention" was emphasised in the resources and communication messages. Furthermore, mention of breastfeeding being best was removed as mothers said this was not appropriate for a formula-feeding intervention. The studies also highlighted the need for repeated contacts delivered in an empathic, nonjudgemental, clientcentred communication style and supported by written materials.

2.1.3. Modelling Process and Outcomes. A causal modelling approach [46] was used to link behavioural determinants causally through behaviour to physiological variables and health outcomes. Process and outcomes measures were mapped onto the causal pathway (Figure 2).

While validated measures existed to assess most variables along the causal pathway, we had to develop and validate a questionnaire to assess changes in the key behavioural determinants targeted by the intervention (maternal attitudes, SCT constructs targeted by the intervention, and milk feeding behaviour) [47]. The questionnaire showed good reliability (% agreement above 70% for 51/57 items, Kappas 0.37–1) and reasonable validity (% agreement above 66% for 39/57 items) and internal consistency (Cronbach's alphas 0.51, 0.79,

Definition	Studies undertaken
(1) Developing a complex intervention	
<i>(1.1) Identifying the evidence base</i> by carrying out a systematic review	 (i) Reviewed the epidemiological evidence for early life risk factors for obesity. (ii) Improved understanding of the target behaviour. (a) Systematic review of parents' experiences of bottle-feeding to understand how parents decide on quantities and frequency of formula-milk feeds. (b) Systematic review of determinants of early weaning: "Determinants of early weaning and early use of cow's milk" identified determinants of noncompliance with infant feeding recommendations. (iii) Identified existing systematic reviews and checked the controlled trials register for trials of interventions during infancy.
(1.2) Identifying/developing appropriate theory by drawing on existing evidence and theory, supplemented if necessary by primary research, for example, interviews/focus groups with "stakeholders", that is, those targeted by the intervention or involved in its development or delivery	 (i) Literature review and team discussions to decide on theory, behaviour change techniques, and intervention strategies. (ii) Qualitative studies with all stakeholders to refine intervention content. These included interviews and focus groups with mothers (recipients of the intervention) and healthcare providers (who would deliver the intervention). In order to optimise the intervention, an iterative process was used with involvement of mothers, behavioural scientists, doctors, midwives, and health visitors.
(1.3) Modelling process and outcomes by using a "causal modelling approach" that could include a range of primary and desk based studies to design the intervention, identify suitable measures, and predict long-term outcomes.	 (i) Used a causal modelling approach to link "behavioural determinants" to "behavior" and "short-term and long-term outcomes". (ii) Developed and validated a questionnaire for use in the trial to assess change in key constructs along the causal pathway targeted by the intervention.
(2) Assessing feasibility and piloting methods	
(2.1) <i>Testing procedures</i> for their acceptability, compliance, and intervention delivery	(i) Tested components independently for feasibility and acceptability and final adaptation of the intervention.(ii) 1 year pilot trial of combined intervention components.
(2.2) Estimating recruitment and retention and identifying potential barriers to these, using a mixture of qualitative and quantitative methods	 (i) Recruitment through post-natal wards, GPs, Health Visitors, midwives, pharmacies, NHS database, charities, and the media to identify most efficient and effective methods. (ii) Pilot trial over 1 year.
(2.3) <i>Determining sample size</i> by anticipating the effect sizes in a pilot study	Pilot trial was too small and no previous trials in this area hence used data from observational studies to estimate sample size.
<i>(3) Evaluating a complex intervention</i>	
(3.1) Assessing effectiveness by using a randomised controlled trial where possible, choosing the primary and a range of secondary outcomes, and collecting data on predictors or mediators of effect and any possible adverse effects	Set up explanatory RCT (ISRTCN number 2081469). Primary outcome is growth-related and data on a number of secondary outcomes along the causal pathway are also collected. Weight faltering in the babies and reduced quality of life in mothers monitored real time as potential adverse effects reported to independent data monitoring committee.
(3.2) Understanding change processes provide insights into why an intervention fails unexpectedly or why a successful intervention works and how it can be optimised. Process evaluation nested within a trial can be used to assess fidelity and quality of intervention delivery, clarify causal mechanisms, and identify contextual factors associated with variations in outcomes. Process evaluations should be conducted to the same high standards and reported just as thoroughly as evaluation of outcomes	 (i) Intervention fidelity assessment using prespecified checklists. (ii) Qualitative study nested within the trial-individual interviews with mothers in the intervention and control groups and intervention facilitators to explore how feeding decisions are made, how the intervention might work (or why it may not work) and can be optimised, to identify key ingredients that could be included in future interventions and other contextual factors. (iii) Mediation analyses to understand how the intervention achieved any effects.
 (3.3) Cost-effectiveness analyses should be included if at all possible, so that the results are useful to decision makers (4) Implementation and beyond 	Cost-consequence analysis planned and data collection on health service utilisation and maternal quality of life in addition to cost of delivering the intervention.

TABLE 1: Studies undertaken mapped to the phases of the MRC framework [2].

TABLE 1: Continued.

Definition	Studies undertaken
(4.1) <i>Dissemination</i> by publication in peer-reviewed literature and also communication with policy makers	Peer reviewed publications, conference presentations, public engagement activities, newsletters, and open access web deposition at the end of the trial.
(4.2) Surveillance, monitoring, and long-term outcomes to measure rare or long-term impacts, using routine data sources and record linkage or by recontacting participants	Consent to recontact participants and access routinely collected health and anthropometry data. If intervention is shown to be effective, process and outcome data could inform a future pragmatic trial.

TABLE 2: Behaviour change techniques and intervention strategies used in the baby milk intervention [44].

Technique ^a	Definition ^a	Intervention strategies
(1) Provides information on consequences	Information about the benefits and costs of action or inaction, focusing on what will happen if the person performs the behaviour.	Leaflet explains link between feeding behaviours, rapid weight gain and risk of obesity. This information is reinforced and participant understanding about the information checked during 3 face-to-face and 2 telephone contacts.
(2) Prompts intention formation	Encouraging the person to decide to act or set a general goal.	Leaflet encourages lower guidelines for formula-milk feeding and suggests a general feeding plan. Develop a personalised feeding plan (PFP) in intervention contacts.
(3) Prompts barrier identification	Identifying barriers to performing the behaviour and plan ways of overcoming them.	Identify barriers using cost-benefit analysis, motivation ruler and confidence ruler. Formulation of "ifthen" plans to overcome barriers for example, crying between feeds ("If she cries at night, then I will offer her a dummy")
(4) Prompts facilitator identification	Identifying facilitators to performing the behaviour and plan ways to use them to overcome barriers.	Cost-benefit analysis, motivation ruler and confidence ruler.
(5) Provides general encouragement	Praising or rewarding the person for effort or performance without this being contingent on specified behaviours or standards of performance.	Praise all attempts at following guidelines. Good communication skills: building rapport, empathy, active listening, nonjudgemental, and client-centred.
(6) Sets graded tasks	Setting easy task and increasing difficulty until target behaviour is performed.	Monthly contact to encourage mothers to set small achievable goals and revise them. Review of personal feeding plan (PFP) to revise goals.
(7) Provides instruction	Telling a person how to perform certain behaviour and/or preparatory behaviours.	Two leaflets and discussion about recommended feeding behaviours during 3 face-to-face and 2 telephone contacts.
(8) Models or demonstrates the behaviour	An expert shows the person how to correctly perform behaviour for example, in class or on video.	Demonstrate the correct method of formula-feed preparation at baseline visit.
(9) Prompts specific goal setting	Involves detailed planning of what the person will do, including a definition of the behaviour specifying frequency, intensity, or duration and specification of at least one context, that is, where, when, how, or with whom.	Personal Feeding plan with goals negotiated with the participant. Make these goals specific by formulating "ifthen" plans
(10) Prompts review of behavioural goals	Review and/or reconsideration of previously set goals or intentions	Review and revise goals set at each intervention contact using the Personal Feeding plan.
(11) Prompts self-monitoring	The person is asked to keep a record of specified behaviour(s) (e.g., in a diary).	Encourage participants to record amount fed in the Personal Feeding plan.
(12) Provides feedback on performance	Providing data about recorded behaviour or evaluating performance in relation to a set standard or others' performance, that is, the person received feedback on their behaviour.	Provide feedback on feeding behaviour, based on Personal Feeding plan. Provide feedback on baby's growth plotted on growth charts.
(13) Teaches to use prompts or cues	Teaching the person to identify environmental cues that can be used to remind them to perform a behavior, including times of day or elements of contexts.	Stickers on formula-milk tins which encourage lower formula-milk consumption.

^aLabels and definitions of the behaviour change techniques are as specified in Abraham and Michie's Taxonomy of Behaviour Change Techniques [50].

Timeline	Intervention group (IG)	Control group (CG)
First: face-to-face. Within 14 weeks of birth	 (i) Healthy growth and nutrition leaflet. (ii) Stickers for formula-milk packets/tins with new guideline daily requirements. (iii) Education about growth charts, rapid weight gain, obesity risk. (iv) Personal feeding plan (PFP). (v) Model feed preparation if necessary. 	(i) Standard Department of Health bottle feeding leaflet.(ii) General questions about formula-milk feeding, information sources, and decisions.
Second: telephone. 3-4 months (3–6 weeks later)	(i) Check understanding of key messages.(ii) Review of PFP and goal setting.	General questions about sleep and support with caring for baby.
Third: face-to-face (IG)/telephone (CG) 4-5 months (3–6 weeks later)	(i) Feedback on growth.(ii) Weaning advice.(iii) Review of PFP and goal setting.	General questions about life after the baby's birth.
Fourth: telephone. 5-6 months (3–6 weeks later)	Review of PFP and goal setting.	General questions about formula-milk changes and weaning
Fifth: face-to-face. 6-7 months (3–6 weeks later)	(i) Feedback on growth.(ii) Review of PFP and goal setting.	(i) Standard Department of Health weaning leaflet.(ii) Questions about experience of taking part in the study and research in general.

TABLE 3: Intervention and Control contacts and content.

Identification of barriers and facilitator, problem solving, and "If...then plans" are used in all contacts. All contacts are underpinned by good communication skills. The motivation ruler and confidence ruler are used for assessment and to prompt identification of barriers and facilitators. The "cost-benefit analysis" tool is used as required to improve motivation and confidence.

and 0.90 for self-efficacy, outcome expectancies, and intention, resp.). Development of the questionnaire also influenced our thinking about intervention content. an explanatory RCT. We did not analyse the results of the pilot feasibility study separately as it continued into the full trial.

2.2. Assessing Feasibility and Piloting Methods

2.2.1. Testing Procedures. Once developed, all the intervention materials were piloted by the intervention facilitators (trained to deliver the intervention) to ensure that the intervention was acceptable and feasible to deliver. An extensive training manual and a two-day training programme in the evidence base underlying the intervention, theories, behaviour change techniques, intervention strategies, and communication skills, including demonstration and practice with individual feedback, were piloted and adapted. For example, we initially developed long versions of intervention protocols, however, during piloting, it became clear that it was difficult for intervention facilitators to use these and we developed shorter versions with key aspects of delivery. We piloted and refined checklists for each contact with intervention and control participants to be used by the intervention facilitators to assess and promote fidelity of intervention delivery (i.e., consistent delivery across facilitators and time). For the control group participants (attention control), in order to avoid contamination, we designed protocols with questions for each contact which were organised around broad themes (Table 3).

A 1-year pilot study (March 2011–March 2012) among 78 participants provided the opportunity to engage with local providers of postnatal and primary care services in order to optimise methods for recruitment, to assess the acceptability and feasibility of the trial measures, estimate expected retention rates, and plan the resources needed for 2.2.2. Estimating Recruitment and Retention. Our initial strategy to identify participants was to approach parents who were formula-feeding their baby before eight weeks of age via postnatal (midwives) and community health professionals (health visitors). To this end we spoke with midwives, infant feeding coordinators, and health visitors at their team meetings. Although this did not prove a very effective route for recruitment, partly due to the time pressures and conflicting priorities that these health professionals are faced with, it did help to raise awareness of the study and allowed us to collect information on ways to optimise recruitment to 14 weeks, expanded our recruitment area, and offered easily accessible local clinics and/or home visit appointments.

After investigating a number of other strategies to identify participants including posters in health centres and children's centres, pharmacies, charity groups, and a local press release, we successfully applied for ethics approval for named members of our own research team to approach bottle-feeding mothers on postnatal wards directly. Since all babies are seen by their GPs for a six-week check, we also approached GPs for help with recruitment. In addition, participants were identified through the central health electronic database where a record of whether mothers were breastfeeding or bottle-feeding was made by their health visitor and a recruitment leaflet mailed to them. This multilevel approach from different professionals at different times during the first three months of infant age seemed to work well and indicated feasibility of recruitment. We did not offer any financial incentives but this could be a more effective way of recruiting,



FIGURE 2: Hypothesised causal pathways and measures for evaluation in the Baby Milk trial.

especially the hard-to-reach group and could be considered in future studies. Ongoing data on retention was monitored and barriers to retention identified.

2.2.3. Determining Sample Size. The primary outcome was change in weight standard deviation score (SDS) from birth to age 12 months in intervention versus control groups. As there were no previous trials in this age group, we used data from observational studies of infant energy intake and growth to calculate the sample size and estimated that the target 15% lower energy intake would lead to a 0.30 SDS difference in weight [48]. Allowing for a 15% drop-out rate we needed to recruit 700 babies.

2.3. Evaluating a Complex Intervention

2.3.1. Assessing Effectiveness. We decided that the most appropriate design to evaluate the effectiveness of this behavioural intervention would be a single (assessor) blind, individually randomised controlled trial. In order to assess true "intervention" effects, we decided the control group should get the same attention as the intervention group (attention control) and offered standard advice. Due to the paucity of research in this area, in addition to assessing whether the intervention was effective, we conducted a process evaluation to improve our understanding of the determinants of infant feeding behaviours, potential causal mechanisms underlying any intervention, and contextual factors [49].

2.3.2. Understanding Change Processes. The process evaluation included intervention fidelity assessment (implementation), a qualitative study and possibility for mediation analysis to illuminate contextual factors.

Implementation. Fidelity Assessment. In the Baby Milk trial, standard protocols for intervention and control group delivery were used for each contact. All planned facilitator-parent contacts (in both arms of the trial) were audiorecorded in order to assess fidelity of intervention delivery. Fidelity was promoted and contamination across the two groups minimised by assessing a random sample of audiotaped contacts using standardised fidelity checklists, followed by

feedback, ongoing support over the whole period of intervention delivery, booster training sessions, and peer appraisal.

Contextual Factors. A Qualitative interview study among intervention (n = 10) and control (n = 10) group mothers and intervention facilitators (n = 4) explored how feeding decisions were made, to explain intervention effects, identify key ingredients that could be included in future interventions and identify contextual factors associated with variations in outcomes across participants.

Structural equation modelling can be used to test the complex relationships between mediators and outcomes, and paths through which they may exert their influence, bearing in mind the possibility of reverse causality where behaviour affects beliefs as well as vice versa [50]. For example, on the basis of SCT we hypothesize that beliefs about the health benefits for the child of following feeding recommendations (outcome expectancies) will partially mediate (explain) the relationship between confidence (self-efficacy) about following feeding recommendation and the formation of a goal.

2.3.3. Cost-Effectiveness Analyses. In order for the results to be useful to decision makers, we developed instruments to collect cost-related data, time spent in delivering the intervention and health service utilisation. The analysis plan included a cost-consequences analysis to show the cost of delivering the intervention and outcomes (proportion of infants whose weight crosses more than one centile band upwards on the growth charts (0.67 SDS) and infants of normal weight at 12 months, and probability of being normal weight as an adult using data from a meta-analysis [51]), for intervention and control groups.

2.4. Implementation and Beyond

2.4.1. Dissemination. A criticism of many trials is that their published reports do not describe the interventions in enough detail to enable them to be reproduced [52]. At the end of the trial we will make our training materials, intervention protocols, and fidelity checklists available on our website for other researchers to adapt and use.

Parents in the study and healthcare professionals who identify potential participants receive regular newsletters with key findings as they emerge. Results will be published in open access journals and reported to funders and policy makers.

2.4.2. Surveillance, Monitoring, and Long-Term Followup. Ethical permissions and consent were taken to allow future recontacting of participants and/or accessing routinely collected data.

3. Discussion

3.1. Main Findings. Use of the 2008 MRC framework has helped develop a theory- and evidence-based intervention, to specify a proposed causal pathway to change infant feeding behaviour and growth outcomes, to pilot the intervention and study procedures in order to address the main uncertainties, and to design an explanatory RCT evaluation. Careful attention to the design of the RCT means the results not only will generate evidence about the effectiveness of a replicable intervention but also will allow us to begin to elucidate the processes by which change is achieved (or why it is not). Evaluations that take account of complexity of intervention effectiveness [53, 54].

3.2. What Is Already Known on This Topic? A number of frameworks have been proposed to aid researchers developing and evaluating complex interventions. The 2008 MRC framework suggests a comprehensive and iterative process for intervention development and evaluation.

3.3. What This Study Adds? This paper explicitly maps the various activities and developmental and piloting work to the stages of the 2008 MRC framework [2] demonstrating how the framework can be operationalised. The greater emphasis on piloting and feasibility testing in the revised MRC framework is a strength as, in our experience, intervention content and materials, evaluation tools, and recruitment strategies were significantly improved through this process.

3.4. Limitations of This Study/Framework. Using the MRC framework posed a number of challenges, the biggest being the time and resources needed. Significant resources go into the development of pharmacological and other biomedical interventions, but the development of public health interventions which do not involve the generation of intellectual property does not receive such funding. This should be something funding bodies need to consider if public health interventions are to follow the same rigorous development and evaluation process that is used in drug development. With the current model of funding, it is very difficult for researchers in most countries to use the framework due to the timescales and resources required. Consequently the evidence base may be skewed towards "high income" countries where resources for development work may be more readily available. It could be argued that the process could be shortened and some of the stages omitted, especially if the evidence-base for what is likely to work is strong. Future evidence synthesis could

focus on whether studies using the MRC framework are more effective than those not using it or using other frameworks.

4. Conclusions

Careful attention to intervention development is likely to result in interventions which advance the evidence base and may be a more efficient use of limited public health research resources.

Ethical Approval

NHS ethics approval reference 10/H0305/9.

Conflict of Interests

The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Author Contribution

Lakshman Rajalakshmi wrote the first draft and is guarantor for the paper. All authors contributed to the study design, critical revision of the paper, and approving of the final version.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank all the study participants and research team members, notably, Fiona Whittle (study coordinator), Ann-Marie-Wardell, Karen Forbes, Karen Poloka and Liz White (intervention facilitators), Charlotte Hewitson (research assistant), and Gisela Baker (study support). They acknowledge the support of the Primary Care Research Network (Helen Macdonald, Janet Piggott, Brenda Deboys), Cambridgeshire Community Services (Emily Lee, Paula Waddingham and Dr David Vickers), Hertfordshire Community Services (SallyAnne Doyle-Caddick and Mary Cousins), West Anglia CLRN, and General Practices that have helped with participant identification. The work was undertaken under the auspices of the Centre for Diet and Activity Research (CEDAR), a UKCRC Public Health Research Centre of Excellence which is funded by the British Heart Foundation, Cancer Research UK, Economic and Social Research Council, Medical Research Council, the National Institute for Health Research, and the Wellcome Trust. The Baby Milk trial is funded by the National Prevention Research Initiative (http://www.npri.org.uk Grant no. MR/J000361/1). The Funding Partners relevant to this award are (in alphabetical order): Alzheimer's Research Trust; Alzheimer's Society; Biotechnology and Biological Sciences Research Council; British Heart Foundation; Cancer Research UK; Chief Scientist Office, Scottish Government Health Directorate; Department of Health; Diabetes UK; Economic and Social Research Council; Health and Social Care Research and Development Division of the Public Health Agency (HSC R&D Division); Medical Research Council; The Stroke Association; Wellcome Trust; Welsh Assembly Government; and World Cancer Research Fund. Lakshman Rajalakshmi was funded by a MRC Population Health Fellowship (Grant no. G070165).

References

- B. Butland, S. Jebb, P. Kopelman, K. McPherson, S. Thomas, and J. Mardell, *Foresight Report; Tackling Obesities: Future Choices*, Government Office for Science, London, UK, 2008.
- [2] P. Craig, P. Dieppe, S. Macintyre, S. Michie, I. Nazareth, and M. Petticrew, "Developing and evaluating complex interventions: the new Medical Research Council guidance," *British Medical Journal*, vol. 337, p. a1655, 2008.
- [3] S. Michie, D. Fixsen, J. M. Grimshaw, and M. P. Eccles, "Specifying and reporting complex behaviour change interventions: the need for a scientific method," *Implementation Science*, vol. 4, article 40, 2009.
- [4] L. K. Bartholomew, G. S. Parcel, and G. Kok, "Intervention mapping: a process for developing theory- and evidence-based health education programs," *Health Education & Behavior*, vol. 25, pp. 545–563, 1998.
- [5] H. Pittson and L. Wallace, "Using intervention mapping to develop a family-based childhood weight management programme," *Journal of Health Services Research & Policy*, vol. 16, supplement 1, pp. 2–7, 2011.
- [6] G. Austin, T. Bell, C. Caperchione, and W. K. Mummery, "Translating research to practice: using the RE-AIM framework to examine an evidence-based physical activity intervention in primary school settings," *Health Promotion Practice*, vol. 12, no. 6, pp. 932–941, 2011.
- [7] R. E. Glasgow, T. M. Vogt, and S. M. Boles, "Evaluating the public health impact of health promotion interventions: the RE-AIM framework," *American Journal of Public Health*, vol. 89, pp. 1322–1327, 1999.
- [8] L. Jandorf, A. Fatone, P. V. Borker et al., "Creating alliances to improve cancer prevention and detection among urban medically underserved minority groups. The East Harlem Partnership for Cancer Awareness," *Cancer*, vol. 107, supplement 8, pp. 2034–2051, 2006.
- [9] R. A. Afifi, J. Makhoul, T. El Hajj, and R. T. Nakkash, "Developing a logic model for youth mental health: participatory research with a refugee community in Beirut," *Health Policy Plan*, vol. 26, no. 6, pp. 508–517, 2011.
- [10] K. J. Conrad, F. L. Randolph, M. W. J. Kirby, and R. R. Bebout, "Creating and using logic models: four perspectives," *Alcoholism Treatment Quarterly*, vol. 17, no. 1-2, pp. 17–31, 1999.
- [11] M. Campbell, R. Fitzpatrick, A. Haines, A. L. Kinmonth, P. Sandercock, and D. Spiegelhalter, "Framework for design and evaluation of complex interventions to improve health," *British Medical Journal*, vol. 321, pp. 694–696, 2000.
- [12] J. Baird, D. Fisher, P. Lucas, J. Kleijnen, H. Roberts, and C. Law, "Being big or growing fast: systematic review of size and growth in infancy and later obesity," *BMJ*, vol. 331, no. 7522, p. 929, 2005.
- [13] P. O. Monteiro and C. G. Victora, "Rapid growth in infancy and childhood and obesity in later life a systematic review," *Obesity Reviews*, vol. 6, pp. 143–154, 2005.
- [14] K. K. Ong and R. J. Loos, "Rapid infancy weight gain and subsequent obesity: systematic reviews and hopeful suggestions," *Acta Paediatrica*, vol. 95, pp. 904–908, 2006.
- [15] R. Lakshman and K. Ong, "Early life risk factors for obesity and obesity-related disorders: review article," *Asia pacific Journal of Endocrinology*, 2010.

- [16] A. Singhal, T. J. Cole, and A. Lucas, "Early nutrition in preterm infants and later blood pressure: two cohorts after randomised trials," *The Lancet*, vol. 357, no. 9254, pp. 314–419, 2001.
- [17] A. Singhal, K. Kennedy, J. Lanigan et al., "Nutrition in infancy and long-term risk of obesity: evidence from 2 randomized controlled trials," *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, vol. 92, no. 5, pp. 1133–1144, 2010.
- [18] FAO, WHO, and UNU, "Human Energy Requirements," Report of a Joint FAO/WHO/UNU Expert Consulation, Rome, Italy, 2001.
- [19] K. K. Ong, M. A. Preece, P. M. Emmett, M. L. Ahmed, and D. B. Dunger, "Size at birth and early childhood growth in relation to maternal smoking, parity and infant breast-feeding: longitudinal birth cohort study and analysis," *Pediatric Research*, vol. 52, pp. 863–867, 2002.
- [20] Health and Social Care Information Centre, "UK Infant Feeding Survey 2010," 2012, http://www.hscic.gov.uk/catalogue/ PUB08694/Infant-Feeding-Survey-2010-Consolidated-Report. pdf.
- [21] R. Lakshman, D. Ogilvie, and K. K. Ong, "Mothers' experiences of bottle-feeding: a systematic review of qualitative and quantitative studies," *Archives of Disease in Childhood*, vol. 94, pp. 596–601, 2009.
- [22] K. Wijndaele, R. Lakshman, J. R. Landsbaugh, K. K. Ong, and D. Ogilvie, "Determinants of early weaning and use of unmodified cow's milk in infants: a systematic review," *Journal* of the American Dietetic Association, vol. 109, pp. 2017–2028, 2009.
- [23] C. Britton, F. M. McCormick, M. J. Renfrew, A. Wade, and S. E. King, "Support for breastfeeding mothers," *Cochrane Database* of Systematic Reviews, no. 1, Article ID CD001141, 2007.
- [24] J. Callen and J. Pinelli, "Incidence and duration of breastfeeding for term infants in Canada, United States, Europe, and Australia: a literature review," *Birth*, vol. 31, no. 4, pp. 285–292, 2004.
- [25] A. Yngve and M. Sjostrom, "Breastfeeding determinants and a suggested framework for action in Europe," *Public Health Nutrition*, vol. 4, no. 2, pp. 729–739, 2001.
- [26] E. Waters, A. Sanigorski, BJ. Hall, T. Brown, KJ. Campbell, and Y. Gao, "Interventions for preventing obesity in children," *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, vol. 12, pp. 1–191, 2011.
- [27] B. Koletzko, R. von Kries, R. Closa et al., "Lower protein in infant formula is associated with lower weight up to age 2 y: a randomized clinical trial," *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, vol. 89, pp. 1836–1845, 2009.
- [28] M. S. Fewtrell, K. Kennedy, R. Nicholl, A. Khakoo, and A. Lucas, "Infant feeding bottle design, growth and behaviour: results from a randomised trial," *BMC Research Notes*, vol. 5, article 150, 2012.
- [29] K. Campbell, K. Hesketh, and D. Crawford, "The Infant Feeding Activity and Nutrition Trial (INFANT) an early intervention to prevent childhood obesity: cluster-randomised controlled trial," *BMC Public Health*, vol. 8, p. 103, 2008.
- [30] L. Daniels, A. Magarey, D. Battistutta, J. Nicholson, A. Farrell, and G. Davidson, "The NOURISH randomised control trial: Positive feeding practices and food preferences in early childhood—a primary prevention program for childhood obesity," *BMC Public Health*, vol. 9, article 387, 2009.
- [31] I. M. Paul, J. S. Savage, S. L. Anzman et al., "Preventing obesity during infancy: a pilot study," *Obesity*, vol. 19, no. 2, pp. 353–361, 2010.

- [32] J. Barlow, S. Whitlock, S. Hanson et al., "Preventing obesity at weaning: parental views about the EMPOWER programme," *Child: Care, Health and Development*, vol. 36, no. 6, pp. 843– 849, 2010.
- [33] J. Lanigan, S. Barber, and A. Singhal, "Prevention of obesity in preschool children," *The Proceedings of the Nutrition Society*, vol. 69, no. 2, pp. 204–210, 2010.
- [34] L. M. Wen, L. A. Baur, J. M. Simpson, C. Rissel, K. Wardle, and V. M. Flood, "Effectiveness of home based early intervention on children's BMI at age 2: randomised controlled trial," *The British Medical Journal*, vol. 344, article e3732, 2012.
- [35] L. Askie, L. Baur, K. Campbell et al., "The Early Prevention of Obesity in CHildren (EPOCH) Collaboration—an individual patient data prospective meta-analysis," *BMC Public Health*, vol. 10, p. 728, 2010.
- [36] A. Bandura, Self-Efficacy: The Exercise of Control, Freeman, New York, NY, USA, 1997.
- [37] K. Resnicow, M. Davis-Hearn, M. Smith et al., "Social-cognitive predictors of fruit and vegetable intake in children," *Health Psychology*, vol. 16, no. 3, pp. 272–276, 1997.
- [38] A. H. Ahmed, "Breastfeeding preterm infants: an educational program to support mothers of preterm infants in Cairo, Egypt," *Pediatric Nursing*, vol. 34, pp. 125–130, 2008.
- [39] A. Luszczynska and R. Schwarzer, "Social cognitive theory," in *Predicting Health Behaviours*, M. Conner and P. Norman, Eds., chapter 4, Open University Press, Maidenhead, UK, 2nd edition, 2005.
- [40] T. Baranowski, C. Perry, and G. Parcel, "How individuals, environments, and health behaviour interact; Social Cognitive Theory," in *Health Behaviour and Health Education-Theory, Research and Practice*, K. Glanz, Ed., John Wiley & Sons, How individuals, 3rd edition, 2002.
- [41] P. Sheeran, S. Milne, T. L. Webb, and P. M. Gollwitzer, "Implementation intentions and health behaviour," in *Predicting Health Behaviours*, M. Conner and P. Norman, Eds., Open University Press, Maidenhead, UK, 2nd edition, 2005.
- [42] PM. Gollwitzer and P. Sheeran, "Implementation intentions and goal achievement: a meta-analysis of effects and processes," *Advances in Experimental Social Psychology*, vol. 38, pp. 69–119, 2006.
- [43] S. Michie, C. Abraham, C. Whittington, J. McAteer, and S. Gupta, "Effective techniques in healthy eating and physical activity interventions: a meta-regression," *Health Psychology*, vol. 28, pp. 690–701, 2009.
- [44] C. Abraham and S. Michie, "A taxonomy of behaviour change techniques used in interventions," *Health Psychology*, vol. 27, pp. 379–387, 2008.
- [45] R. Lakshman, J. R. Landsbaugh, A. Schiff, S. Cohn, S. J. Griffin, and K. K. Ong, "Developing a Programme for Healthy Growth and Nutrition during Infancy: understanding user perspectives," *Child: Care Health and Development*, vol. 38, no. 5, pp. 675–682, 2012.
- [46] W. Hardeman, S. Sutton, S. Griffin et al., "A causal modelling approach to the development of theory-based behaviour change programmes for trial evaluation," *Health Education Research*, vol. 20, pp. 676–687, 2005.
- [47] R. R. Lakshman, A. Landsbaugh Schiff Jr., W. Hardeman, K. K. Ong, and S. J. Griffin, "Development of a questionnaire to assess maternal attitudes towards infant growth and milk feeding practices," *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, vol. 8, article 35, 2011.

- [48] K. K. Ong, P. M. Emmett, S. Noble, A. Ness, and D. B. Dunger, "Dietary energy intake at the age of 4 months predicts postnatal weight gain and childhood body mass index," *Pediatrics*, vol. 117, no. 3, pp. e503–e508, 2006.
- [49] G. Moore, S. Audrey, M. Barker et al., "Process evaluation in complex public health intervention studies: the need for guidance," *Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health*, vol. 68, no. 2, pp. 101–102, 2014.
- [50] R. M. Baron and D. A. Kenny, "The moderator-mediator variable distinction in social psychological research: conceptual, strategic, and statistical considerations," *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, vol. 51, pp. 1173–1182, 1986.
- [51] C. Druet, N. Stettler, S. Sharp et al., "Prediction of childhood obesity by infancy weight gain: an individual-level metaanalysis," *Paediatric and Perinatal Epidemiology*, vol. 26, pp. 19– 26, 2012.
- [52] P. Glasziou, I. Chalmers, D. G. Altman, H. Bastian, I. Boutron, and A. Brice, "Taking healthcare interventions from trial to practice," *BMJ*, vol. 341, Article ID c3852, 2010.
- [53] A. M. Clark, T. G. Briffa, L. Thirsk, L. Neubeck, and J. Redfern, "What football teaches us about researching complex health interventions," *British Medical Journal*, vol. 345, article e8316, 2012.
- [54] C. Bonell, A. Fletcher, M. Morton, T. Lorenc, and L. Moore, "Realist randomised controlled trials: a new approach to evaluating complex public health interventions," *Social Science & Medicine*, vol. 75, no. 12, pp. 2299–2306, 2012.

Research Article

Physical Activity in Different Preschool Settings: An Exploratory Study

Katrin Röttger,¹ Elke Grimminger,² Friederike Kreuser,¹ Lorenz Assländer,¹ Albert Gollhofer,¹ and Ulrike Korsten-Reck³

¹ Institute of Sport and Sport Science, University of Freiburg, Schwarzwaldstraße 175, 79117 Freiburg, Germany

² Faculty of Psychology and Human Movement Science, Institute of Human Movement Science, University of Hamburg, Turmweg 2, 20148 Hamburg, Germany

³ Exercise Medicine and Sport, University Medical Center, University of Freiburg, Hugstetter Straße 55, 79106 Freiburg, Germany

Correspondence should be addressed to Katrin Röttger; katrin.roettger@sport.uni-freiburg.de

Received 26 March 2014; Revised 26 May 2014; Accepted 1 June 2014; Published 24 June 2014

Academic Editor: Li Ming Wen

Copyright © 2014 Katrin Röttger et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Introduction. Physical activity (PA) in preschoolers is vital to protect against obesity but is influenced by different early-life factors. The present study investigated the impact of different preschool programs and selected family factors on preschoolers' PA in different countries in an explorative way. *Methods.* The PA of 114 children (age = 5.3 ± 0.65 years) attending different preschool settings in four cities of the trinational Upper Rhine region (Freiburg, Landau/Germany, Basel/Switzerland, and Strasbourg/France) was measured by direct accelerometry. Anthropometrical and family-related data were obtained. Timetables of preschools were analyzed. *Results.* Comparing the preschool settings, children from Strasbourg and Landau were significantly more passive than children from Basel and Freiburg (P < .01). With regard to the family context as an important early-life factor, a higher number of children in a family along with the mother's and child's anthropometrical status are predictors of engagement in PA. *Conclusion.* More open preschool systems such as those in Basel, Freiburg, and Landau do not lead to more PA "per se" compared to the highly regimented desk-based system in France. Preliminaries such as special training and the number of caregivers might be necessary elements to enhance PA. In family contexts, targeted PA interventions for special groups should be more focused in the future.

1. Introduction

The increasing prevalence of overweight and obese preschoolers represents a challenging public health issue [1]. Early childhood obesity is associated with health consequences that may persist into adolescence and adulthood [2, 3]. Physical activity (PA) is one of the factors that influence the healthy development of children and their weight, but the majority of preschoolers tend to be inactive [4, 5]. Inactivity has been suggested as being one of the key factors contributing to the obesity epidemic in children [6, 7]. In contrast, PA participation in preschool children contributes to motor skill and psychosocial development and is vital for establishing lifelong physical activity habits during the preschool years, which could protect against weight gain later in life [6, 8].

Families with young children have been identified as a particular risk group regarding lower levels of PA of

both mother and father (compared to women and men without children) [9]. This might be an important factor for establishing PA habits in young children as children's and parents' PA levels are associated [10] and therefore parents function as a role model for their children [11]. These findings at family level give rise to the question of which other early life structures could contribute to an active lifestyle in preschoolers. Because in European countries nearly 90% of preschool-age children attend some form of preschool, the increasing attendance and considerable time spent in these institutions have generated emerging interest in these settings as an important early-life factor of PA in preschoolers [12]. Consequently, one could conclude that the preschool environment is an ideal institution for PA promotion and obesity prevention [13, 14]. However, a review by Reilly concluded that PA levels are typically very low during outof-home care, with great variability between the settings [14]. In these settings, unstructured PA during recess and free-play times or structured PA during physical education (PE) classes provides different opportunities to achieve the necessary amount of PA. Eveline et al. [15] showed that preschool children are, on average, engaged for half of the time in sedentary behaviors even in structured PE lessons, whereas Gordon et al. [16] detected that outdoor activity and incorporated unstructured activity had a great effect on moderate to vigorous activity (MVPA). Another study suggests that preschoolers' PA could potentially be increased by shorter bouts of structured PA throughout the preschool day [17].

All these results demonstrate the complex backgrounds of PA behavior in this age group and also show that the specific reasons for low PA levels among preschoolers need to be better understood [7].

To guide the development of PA intervention in preschool settings, it is important to identify structures that promote regular PA [18]. In this context, a study of country- or region-specific preschool programs, along with an evaluation of their effects on PA, could be helpful in identifying the chances and risks associated with the promotion of PA in preschool for obesity prevention.

By comparing four cities (Freiburg and Landau in Germany, Basel in Switzerland, and Strasbourg in France) in the trinational Upper Rhine region that provide distinct programs in preschool education, we aimed at identifying the amount of PA that is potentially possible in different educational settings. Furthermore, we analyzed PA levels in the family context to see how they are mediated by both weight and selected family habits.

2. Method

2.1. Study Design. The study was conducted in the named four cities because these cities are all capital members in the trinational Upper Rhine region and had to be chosen due to political reasons. The study was financially supported by the Franco-German-Swiss Conference of the Upper Rhine that mandated an explorative evaluation study of different preschool settings and their impact on children's PA levels. Therefore, we only involved preschools in the city centers to avoid a town bias. All measurements were taken in the summer during three weeks, with no holiday days in the measurement time and almost similar weather conditions. The study was approved by the local Ethics Committee.

In the selected cities, we contacted the municipality of preschools which informed the principals of public preschools of our research interest. Interested preschools (Freiburg n = 4; Basel n = 5; Strasbourg n = 5; Landau n = 3) gave their consent to participation. Due to the explorative status of the study, neither a nonresponder analysis to identify patterns of nonparticipation nor a power calculation was conducted. Additionally, due to limited measurement devices, we randomly chose two preschools per city. During a parents' evening, we informed all parents with children aged five to six years about the aims of our research and invited them to enroll their children in the study. After parents had given their written informed consent for the participation of their child, N = 163 children were measured by direct accelerometry for five consecutive days: three weekdays (WD) and two weekend (WE) days. Parents' participation quota in the different preschools varied between 38% and 75%.

2.2. Measurements. Anthropometric assessment included measurement of each child's weight, height, and skinfolds. Weight status was categorized by body mass index (BMI). Children were classified as nonoverweight (<90. percentile) and overweight (>90. percentile), according to national reference BMI percentiles of German children, and the individual BMI data was converted to standard deviation scores (BMI-SDS) [19]. Skinfold thickness (SF) was determined on the right side of the body using a skinfold caliper (Lange Calipers). All measurements were done by the same investigator. To calculate the percentage body fat (%BF) from the SF, age and gender-specific regression equations were used according to Slaughter et al. [20].

By answering a questionnaire, parents provided information about their selected family markers (profession, family status, and number of children in total), their weight and height status (to calculate the BMI), their leisure time PA on weekdays and at weekends (in minutes), and their media consumption on weekdays and at weekends (in minutes). Additionally, they reported the time that their child spent in leisure time PA and screen-time entertainment (in minutes). The questionnaire used is part of the quality management of the FITOC-program (Freiburg Intervention Trial for Obese Children) and is accepted by German health insurances. Results have already been published [21].

Triaxial accelerometers (AiperMotion 440, Aipermon GmbH, Germany) were used to assess the sedentary behavior of the children, which is discussed as an independent risk factor [22]. The subjects were requested to wear the accelerometers on a belt at their hip for the whole day. Parents were asked to remove the child's accelerometer for water activities (such as swimming, taking a shower or a bath) and to refit it afterwards. They were also asked to remove it for sleeping and to refit it in the morning directly after the child got out of bed. The AiperMotion system uses 3D acceleration sensors and analyzes data with a disclosed online algorithm. The online algorithm of the AiperMotion system provides a distinction between active and passive time with a 4s resolution, which can be used as an estimate of the time spent with and without physical activity [23]. Data from the motion sensor was exported to MATLAB (The Mathworks, USA) for further analysis. Phases without any physical activity for \geq 20 min were considered as nonwear time and excluded from the calculation of the mean active time. Furthermore, days with more than 50% nonwear time in the examined period were excluded from further analysis. The ratio of active and passive time, excluding nonwear time and days with insufficient recording time, was calculated for each period (i.e., time from 9:00 a.m. to 12:00 p.m.), averaged across recording days with sufficient wear time for each subject. Subsequently, the mean activity was averaged across subjects, and the active and passive time were displayed in minutes. Although the chosen device and the measured cut points are not comparable with cut points measured by the actigraph system, the data gives reliable results within this setup.

Time	Germany (Freiburg, Landau)	Switzerland (Basel)	France (Strasbourg)
8:30-9:00	Instructional free play in door and	Taught lesson	
9:00-9:30	outdoor	Unstructured free-play, indoor, and	Taught lesson
9:30-10:00		outdoor	Taught lesson
10:00-10:30	Breakfast	Breakfast	Breakfast
10:30-11:00	Unstructured free play indeer and	Recess outdoors	Recess outdoors
11:00-11:30	outdoor	Unstructured free-play, indoor, and	Taught lesson
11:30-12:00		outdoor	Taught lesson
12:00-12:30	Sitting circle	Parents pickup	I up ah huaali (aating
12:30-1:00	Parents nickup		sleeping)
1:00-1:30	i arento pickup		
1:30-2:00			
2:00-2:30			Physical education
2:30-3:00			Thysical cutcation
3:00-3:30			Taught lesson
3:30-4:00			Taught lesson
4:00-4:30			Closing session (singing, unstructured play)
4:30-5:00			Parents pickup

TABLE 1: Timetables of preschools in the different locations.

Different schedules and curricula of the preschools in the three countries provided us with the opportunity to interpret the PA levels in the different institutions (Table 1). In France, children aged three to six years attend l'école maternelle in three different classes: youngest section, middle section, and oldest section. France takes seriously the education of children in their preschools as preparation for attendance at primary school. It is not "playschool"-there is a course of study that children are required to follow. The mandated curriculum leads to lessons taught during a fixed schedule for the entire preschool day (9:00 a.m.-5:00 p.m.) [24]. In Germany, different preschool programs exist (half-day or full-day). The chosen preschool settings in Freiburg and Landau provide half-day care (8:00/9:00 a.m.-1:00/2:00 p.m.), without different age classes, attended by children aged three to six years. Recommended curricula for preschools exist depending on the federal state, but only the aims of education are obligatory. Each institution is free in its creation of the schedule [25]. In Switzerland, half-day care is customary for children aged four to six years with region-specific curricula [26]. The chosen schedules in Switzerland and Germany provide high amounts of free-play time individually structured by the preschool itself. All provided timetables and further information about the playground sizes of the different institutions are presented in Tables 1 and 2.

Due to missing values in the accelerometer or questionnaire data, N = 54 children had to be excluded from the sample. Finally, in total N = 114 children (mean age = 5.3 (0.65) years) could be taken into account for the statistical analyses.

2.3. Statistical Analyses. All analyses were calculated with IBM^{\odot} SPSS^{\odot} Statistics Version 20. For all statistical analyses, the significance level was set at $\alpha = 0.05$.

TABLE 2: Indoor/outdoor facilities preschools.

Preschool	Indoor classrooms m ²	Outdoor playground m^2
Freiburg 1	$48\mathrm{m}^2$	300 m^2
Freiburg 2	$45\mathrm{m}^2$	400 m^2
Landau 1	30 m^2	50 m^2
Landau 2	20 m^2	$200 \mathrm{m}^2$
Basel 1	No different classrooms, one big indoor playground 150 m ²	300 m ²
Basel 2	No different classrooms, one big indoor playground 180 m ²	300 m ²
Strasbourg 1	30 m^2	Only 30 min. recess outdoor 200 m ²
Strasbourg 2	35 m ²	Only 30 min. recess outdoor 200 m ²

Preliminary analyses consisted of descriptive statistics of the anthropometrical data and family markers in the sample. One-factor ANOVAs (with Scheffe post hoc test) were used to identify mean differences in the anthropometrical data between children from different locations. Based on the parents' self-report of whether they live in a partnership or are married or if they are the only legal guardian, we classified the families as "partnership with two parents" or as "single parent." Furthermore, we classified the families according to the number of children as "one-child families," "two children families," and "more than two children families." Selfreported height and weight were used to calculate parents'

Anthronometrical data	Freiburg (D)	Landau (D)	Basel (CH)	Strasbourg (F)	Total
Antinoponietrical data	M (SD)	M (SD)	M (SD)	M (SD)	M (SD)
Weight-SDS (in kg)	0.25 (0.80)	0.34 (0.86)	0.09 (0.99)	0.52 (1.03)	0.31 (0.94)
Height-SDS (in cm)	0.22 (0.91)	0.36 (0.83)	0.13 (0.92)	0.54 (1.35)	0.32 (1.06)
BMI-SDS	0.18 (0.85)	0.18 (0.78)	0.07 (1.02)	1.12 (1.78)*	0.46 (1.33)
%BF	18.83 (4.99)	18.66 (3.63)	17.49 (4.48)	18.99 (5.21)	18.50 (4.71)
Mother's BMI	23.95 (5.04)	22.99 (3.76)	23.46 (3.77)	23.73 (4.93)	23.59 (4.46)
Father's BMI	24.90 (2.11)	25.71 (4.05)	24.92 (3.66)	25.23 (2.78)	25.15 (3.07)
Family markers	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)
Single parent	5 (17.9)	5 (26.3)	3 (13.0)	5 (16.1)	18 (17.8)
In partnership	23 (82.1)	14 (73.7)	20 (87.0)	26 (83.9)	83 (82.2)
1-child family	4 (14.3)	6 (33.3)	3 (12.0)	6 (18.2)	19 (18.3)
2-child family	13 (46.4)	8 (44.4)	12 (48.0)	15 (45.5)	48 (46.2)
<2-child family	11 (39.3)	4 (22.2)	10 (40.0)	12 (32.4)	37 (32.5)

TABLE 3: Distribution of the anthropometrical data and family markers in the sample differentiated by cities.

 $^{*}P \leq .05.$

BMI. To identify differences in these family markers, we calculated Pearson's chi-squared tests.

In analyzing our research question, one-factor ANOVAs (with Scheffe post hoc test) were conducted to examine differences between the children's PA in the four different cities, on weekdays as well as at the weekend. To compare full-day care with half-day care, we divided the data into two periods: morning (9:00 a.m.-12:00 p.m.) and afternoon (2:00-6:00 p.m.). In the time slot of the morning, we could be sure that all children attended preschool and for the afternoon we could be sure that only the French children attended preschool and all the other children did not. Due to this division, we can compare PA levels in the morning in the different institutional care settings and PA levels in the afternoon in preschool and in different family care settings.

A one-factor ANOVA (with Scheffe post hoc test) was calculated to examine differences between PA on weekdays and at the weekend for the total sample. Unpaired *t*-tests were used to discover mean differences in PA on weekdays and at the weekend between normal weight and overweight children. For the comparisons with the weekend, we took the time slot 9:00 a.m.-6:00 p.m.

To identify the impact of family markers (family status, number of children, media consumption, and leisure time engagement in physical activity of parents and child) and parents' weight status (BMI) on preschoolers' PA levels in the afternoon on weekdays and at weekends, we calculated a multiple stepwise regression with "time spent passive" in the concerned slot as the dependent variable.

3. Results

3.1. Description of the Sample. The sample included N = 114 children (n = 48 boys and n = 66 girls; mean age = 5.3 (0.65) years) from different preschools in Freiburg (n = 28) and Landau (n = 19) (Germany), Basel (n = 30) (Switzerland), and Strasbourg (n = 37) (France). Table 3 presents the sample size and the descriptive statistics for the anthropometrical data (weight, height-SDS, BMI-SDS, and %BF) and the family

markers (family status, number of children in family, and parents' BMI) differentiated by cities. In total, 82.1% of the children are of normal weight, and 17.9% are over the 90th percentile and therefore overweight. The research subjects in Strasbourg had a higher BMI-SDS (mean = 1.12 (1.78)) than all the other children at the three other locations (P = .00; F =5.12; partial $eta^2 = 0.12$). There are no significant differences in height-SDS and weight-SDS. Considering boys and girls, there were no gender differences in the anthropometrical data, except the percentage of body fat (t = 8.48; (df: 111); P = .00; d = 0.63). For mothers' and fathers' BMI, there are no significant differences between the four cities. There is no significant distribution effect for the four cities concerning family status and the number of children in the family. We also cannot state a distribution effect of overweight and normal weight children on the different family status. Even if Pearson's chi-squared test missed the set significance with P = .08, we would like to report that overweight children are more often found in one-child families.

3.2. PA in the Forenoon on Weekdays (9:00 a.m.-12:00 p.m.) Differentiated by Cities. In the morning from 9:00 a.m. to 12:00 p.m., all of the children in the study attend preschool. Therefore, it is possible to compare how much PA the different educational systems allow in their schedules. Freiburg and Landau plan 150 minutes of unstructured play, Basel 120 minutes, and Strasbourg 30 minutes (in the form of an outdoor recess). A one-factor ANOVA showed high significant mean differences (P = .00; F = 13.01; partial eta² = 0.29) between the different locations in average PA time. Scheffe's procedure shows that children in Strasbourg and Landau are significantly more passive in the morning than children in Freiburg and Basel (Figure 1). However, comparing the groups concerning their planned unstructured free-play times, we can see that children in Strasbourg are more active than in the 30-minute planned free-play time, whereas children in Landau are less active than the planned 150 minutes of unstructured free-play time.



City	Active in minutes $(SD; R)$	Passive in minutes $(SD; R)$
Freiburg	140.62 (25.20; 103.00)	39.38 (14.58; 57.00)
Landau	117.24 (22.57; 85.50)	62.76 (22.57; 85.50)
Basel	141.22 (8.00; 31.00)	38.78 (8.00; 31.00)
Strasbourg	125.1 (16.45; 69.3)	54.9 (16.45; 69.3)

FIGURE 1: PA in the morning on weekdays (9:00 a.m.-12:00 p.m.) differentiated by countries and cities.

3.3. PA in the Afternoon on Weekdays (2:00-6:00 p.m.) Differentiated by Cities and Family Markers. In the afternoon from 2:00 to 6:00 p.m., the studied children in Strasbourg attend preschool, whereas child care in Freiburg, Landau, and Basel is the responsibility of the family. A one-factor ANOVA did not show any significant mean differences in PA time between the children at the different locations. Scheffe's procedure did not show any significance between the groups either. To analyze the impact of different family markers (family status, number of children in the family, engagement in leisure time PA of parents and child on weekdays in minutes, media consumption of parents and child in minutes, parents' BMI, and child's BMI-SDS), we calculated a multiple stepwise regression without the French children because they are not cared for in the family context in the afternoon. The analysis showed that only the predictor "number of children in the family" has an impact on children's PA level (P = .04; $r^2 = .11$; F = 4.63; $\beta = .33$): the more siblings a child has, the more active a child is in the afternoon.

3.4. PA at Weekends (9:00 a.m.-6:00 p.m.) Differentiated by Cities and Family Markers. Child care at the weekend is entirely the responsibility of the family. On the one hand we tested whether there were differences in PA time between the different locations, and on the other hand we tested in an explorative way whether different family markers influence preschool children's PA level at weekends. A one-factor ANOVA for the different locations identified no significant

differences in mean PA time among the children at weekends. A multiple stepwise regression showed that children's PA level at weekends is predicted by the child's BMI-SDS (β = .38; P = .01) and the mother's BMI (β = .32; P = .02) (P = .04; r^2 = .23; F = 5.92; P = .00).

3.5. *PA* and Weight Status. To test mean differences in PA of different weight categories, we calculated an unpaired *t*-test with all normal weight and overweight children, independent of location. Overweight children are significantly more passive on weekdays as well as at weekends (for weekdays: t = -2.89; (df: 97); P = .044; d = .21; for weekends: t = -2.14; (df: 91); P = .018; d = .29). For weekdays, a multiple stepwise regression did not provide predictors of the different PA levels of overweight and normal weight children. For the weekends, as already shown above, the child's BMI-SDS in combination with the mother's BMI is a predictor of the child's PA level at weekends.

4. Discussion

We found a higher percentage of overweight children in this age group, independent of location, compared to the representative German [27], Swiss [28], and French [29] reference data, but the prevalence is comparable to US data [30]. Comparing the four locations, the children in Strasbourg (France) showed a significantly higher BMI-SDS score. Our results support the literature that argues that the increasing prevalence of childhood obesity is one of the central public health challenges in modern societies [1, 31]. Evaluating PA between the weight categories, our data demonstrates a significant difference between normal weight and overweight preschoolers. Overweight children are significantly more passive on weekdays as well as at weekends. Literature provides evidence that normal weight children spend more time on average in PA than overweight children [32, 33], but there are only a few studies showing this difference in this early-age group.

As the nature of preschool has changed towards incorporating the educational domain into child care, preschool has the increasing function of teaching basic literacy and numeracy, with the aim of preparing children for school; as a result, desk-based instruction has become more important in preschools [14, 33]. With regard to the PA level, our study demonstrates that, by comparing open versus deskbased programs in the three countries, the regimented and highly structured French system leads to more inactivity in preschoolers compared to the more unstructured system in Switzerland and in Freiburg (Germany) in the morning. Desk-based care might offer fewer possibilities of PA time. Nevertheless, the French children are more active than the planned activity time in schedules. This means that the investigated French preschools probably integrate activity in their teaching.

Furthermore, the results of the second German city, Landau, show that open-orientated programs do not promote PA per se. Although the Landau and Freiburg timetables allow the same amount of free-playing time, the activity levels of children are different. It seems that open settings have to provide special structures to promote PA. Critical factors could be the number and formation of caregivers and their own engagement or training in PA. Additionally, portable equipment and larger playgrounds are associated with higher activity levels in preschoolers [34, 35]. Investigating differences in the free-play periods in Germany and Switzerland, we analyzed indoor areas, playgrounds, and outdoor possibilities and found more outdoor possibilities, as well as larger indoor areas and playgrounds in Basel and Freiburg than in Landau and Strasbourg (Table 2). With regard to the importance of indoor/outdoor play to enhance PA, the literature provides controversial results [36, 37], but Olesen et al. identified a positive association between MVPA during preschool attendance and the size of indoor area per child [38].

By collecting different family markers such as family status, number of children in the family, engagement in leisure time PA, and screen-time behavior, as well as parents' anthropometrical data, we tried to analyze in an explorative way the influence of these markers on preschool children's PA levels. For the family care in the afternoon on weekdays, we have seen that only the number of children in a family predicts the child's PA level. So, we are able to differentiate the research on families with young children as being potential risk groups. Due to our data, families with more than one (young) child seem to provide more PA than families with only one young child. These results find support in a study by McMinn et al., showing that the number of siblings, family encouragement, and family social support are associated with higher PA levels in children [39]. Our result can also be seen as important in the context of the tendency for more overweight children to come from one-child families that our data could not prove with significance, probably due to few cases in the single categories. Additionally, the multiple regression model showed that children's PA level at weekends is predicted by the child's BMI-SDS and the mother's BMI, so the more passive time spent by overweight children at weekends can be explained by their anthropometrical status. A recent study from Hesketh et al. [40] showed that PA levels in mothers and their preschool children are directly associated. They concluded that interventions targeted at mothers of young children may increase both groups' activity.

5. Strengths and Limitations

Measuring PA in preschoolers is difficult due to the spontaneous and irregular type of activity in this age group. However, accelerometry is the most commonly used method for this population, but since at present the literature provides no agreement in the cut point definition for thresholds for different activity levels, the present study has the bias of not measuring with the commonly used actigraph system; so, the measured cut points are not comparable with actigraph cut points. Nevertheless, the data gives reliable results and can therefore be used to compare the different locations within this setup.

In contrast to other studies that measure PA only quantitatively or only by self-report, this study combines PA measured by objective accelerometry with the timetables of preschools and questionnaires completed by parents who gave additional information about different family markers that might influence the preschooler's PA level. Therefore, this study shows in an explorative way the effects of different preschool settings on the PA level in the forenoon of weekdays as well as the importance of the number of children in a family for the PA level on weekdays in the afternoon, as well as of the mother's and child's anthropometrical status for the child's PA level at weekends.

In addition, the presented data is limited due to several reasons. Firstly, we had only two study preschools per city. Even if we chose by random the preschools interested in the study, we would have had a selection bias. Secondly, in the studied preschools, we had to take a selection bias into account as well, because only those children whose parents were interested in the study and gave their written consent participated in the study. Thirdly, the data set only includes N = 114 children, so the results must be seen as explorative results.

6. Conclusion

This study highlights the increasing prevalence of overweight in the preschoolers age group and the influence of multidimensional early-life factors on PA. Taking into account the high percentage of children attending a preschool, one could suggest that preschools might be a suitable setting for establishing active lifestyle habits, thereby preventing obesity. Our study has shown that "open concept" child care programs that typically feature the most free-play time seem not to promote PA per se in contrast to more desk-based programs. Therefore, preliminaries such as the special training of caregivers as well as sufficient equipment, playground size, and number of caregivers are necessary.

With regard to family context as an important earlylife factor, a higher number of children in a family and the mother's and child's anthropometrical status are predictors of the engagement in PA. Further investigations into these family contexts and targeted interventions for special groups should be more focused in the future.

Conflict of Interests

The authors declare that there is no conflict of interests regarding the publication of this paper.

Acknowledgments

The present study was financially supported by grants from the Franco-German-Swiss Conference of the Upper Rhine. The paper processing charge was funded by the Open Access Publication Fund of the Albert-Ludwigs-University Freiburg. The authors declare that the funding source had no input in the study design, data collection, analysis and interpretation of the data, or writing the paper and submitting it for publication.

References

 M. de Onis, M. Blössner, and E. Borghi, "Global prevalence and trends of overweight and obesity among preschool children," American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, vol. 92, no. 5, pp. 1257–1264, 2010.

- [2] A. S. Singh, C. Mulder, J. W. R. Twisk, W. Van Mechelen, and M. J. M. Chinapaw, "Tracking of childhood overweight into adulthood: a systematic review of the literature," *Obesity Reviews*, vol. 9, no. 5, pp. 474–488, 2008.
- [3] J. J. Reilly, "Descriptive epidemiology and health consequences of childhood obesity," *Best Practice and Research: Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, vol. 19, no. 3, pp. 327–341, 2005.
- [4] A. P. Hills, N. A. King, and T. P. Armstrong, "The contribution of physical activity and sedentary behaviours to the growth and development of children and adolescents: implications for overweight and obesity," *Sports Medicine*, vol. 37, no. 6, pp. 533– 545, 2007.
- [5] D. H. Dolinsky, R. J. N. Brouwer, K. R. Evenson, A. M. Siega-Riz, and T. Østbye, "Correlates of sedentary time and physical activity among preschool-aged children," *Preventing Chronic Disease*, vol. 8, no. 6, article A131, 2011.
- [6] K. F. Janz, E. M. Letuchy, J. M. E. Gilmore et al., "Early physical activity provides sustained bone health benefits later in childhood," *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, vol. 42, no. 6, pp. 1072–1078, 2010.
- [7] H. G. Williams, K. A. Pfeiffer, J. R. O'Neill et al., "Motor skill performance and physical activity in preschool children," *Obesity*, vol. 16, no. 6, pp. 1421–1426, 2008.
- [8] K. M. Herman, C. L. Craig, L. Gauvin, and P. T. Katzmarzyk, "Tracking of obesity and physical activity from childhood to adulthood: the physical activity longitudinal study," *International Journal of Pediatric Obesity*, vol. 4, no. 4, pp. 281–288, 2009.
- [9] J. M. Berge, N. Larson, K. W. Bauer, and D. Neumark-Sztainer, "Are parents of young children practicing healthy nutrition and physical activity behaviors?" *Pediatrics*, vol. 127, no. 5, pp. 881– 887, 2011.
- [10] M. Oliver, G. M. Schofield, and P. J. Schluter, "Parent influences on preschoolers'objectively assessed physical activity," *Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport*, vol. 13, no. 4, pp. 403–409, 2010.
- [11] M. Golan, "Parents as agents of change in childhood obesity from research to practice," *International Journal of Pediatric Obesity*, vol. 1, no. 2, pp. 66–76, 2006.
- [12] J. J. Reilly, L. Kelly, C. Montgomery et al., "Physical activity to prevent obesity in young children: cluster randomised controlled trial," *British Medical Journal*, vol. 333, no. 7577, article 1041, 2006.
- [13] T. Hinkley, J. Salmon, A. D. Okely, and S. G. Trost, "Correlates of sedentary behaviours in preschool children: a review," *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, vol. 7, article 66, 2010.
- [14] J. J. Reilly, "Low levels of objectively measured physical activity in preschoolers in child care," *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, vol. 42, no. 3, pp. 502–507, 2010.
- [15] V. C. Eveline, L. Valery, G. Jessica, D. B. Ilse, and C. Greet, "Preschooler's physical activity levels and associations with lesson context, teacher's behavior, and environment during preschool physical education," *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, vol. 27, no. 2, pp. 221–230, 2012.
- [16] E. S. Gordon, P. Tucker, S. M. Burke, and A. V. Carron, "Effectiveness of physical activity interventions for preschoolers: a meta-analysis," *Research Quarterly for Exercise and Sport*, vol. 84, no. 3, pp. 287–294, 2013.

- [17] S. Alhassan, O. Nwaokelemeh, A. Mendoza, S. Shitole, M. C. Whitt-Glover, and A. K. Yancey, "Design and baseline characteristics of the Short bouTs of Exercise for Preschoolers (STEP) study," *BMC Public Health*, vol. 12, no. 1, article 582, 2012.
- [18] S. G. Trost, D. S. Ward, and M. Senso, "Effects of child care policy and environment on physical activity," *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, vol. 42, no. 3, pp. 520–525, 2010.
- [19] K. Kromeyer-Hauschild, M. Wabitsch, D. Kunze et al., "Perzentile für den body-mass-index für das kindes- und jugendalter unter heranziehung verschiedener deutscher stichproben," *Monatsschrift Kinderheilkunde*, vol. 149, no. 8, pp. 807–818, 2001.
- [20] M. H. Slaughter, T. G. Lohman, R. A. Boileau et al., "Skinfold equations for estimations of body fatness in children and youth," *Human Biology*, vol. 60, no. 5, pp. 709–723, 1988.
- [21] U. Korsten-Reck, K. Kromeyer-Hauschild, K. Korsten, B. Bjarnason-Wehrens, H. H. Dickhuth, and A. Berg, "Bedeutung des freizeit- und ernährungsverhaltens und der sozialanamnese in der therapie der adipositas bei kindern," *Perfusion*, vol. 17, pp. 458–464, 2004.
- [22] M. S. Tremblay, A. G. LeBlanc, V. Carson et al., "Canadian sedentary behaviour guidelines for the early years (aged 0-4 years)," *Applied Physiology, Nutrition and Metabolism*, vol. 37, no. 2, pp. 370–380, 2012.
- [23] F. Kreuser, K. Kromeyer-Hauschild, A. Gollhofer, U. Korsten-Reck, and K. Röttger, ""Obese equals lazy?" analysis of the association between weight status and physical activity in children," *Journal of Obesity*, vol. 2013, Article ID 437017, 8 pages, 2013.
- [24] Ministere de l'education Nationale l'enseignement superieur et de la recherche (n.d.) Ecole Maternelle—Organisation and programme.
- [25] Baden-Württemberg, Ministerium für Jugend, Kultus und Sport, Orientierungsplan für Bildung und Erziehung für die Baden-Württembergischen Kindergärten: Pilotphase, 2007.
- [26] "Basel-Stadt-Erziehungsdepartment. Lehrplan Kindergarten Kanton Basel-Stadt/Leitideen und Ziele," http://www.ed-bs.ch/ bildung/pzbs/unterricht/lehrplaene/kindergarten.
- [27] B.-M. Kurth and A. S. Rosario, "The prevalence of overweight and obese children and adolescents living in Germany: results of the German Health Interview and Examination Survey for Children and Adolescents (KiGGS)," *Bundesgesundheitsblatt, Gesundheitsforschung, Gesundheitsschutz*, vol. 50, no. 5-6, pp. 736–743, 2007.
- [28] H. Stamm, D. Frey, and A. Gebert, Monitoring der Gewichtsdaten der Schulärztlichen Dienste der Städte Basel, Bern und Zürich, 2010.
- [29] Ministère du Travail de l'Emploi et de la Santé, *Plan Obésité* 2010–2013, 2013.
- [30] C. L. Ogden, M. D. Carroll, B. K. Kit, and K. M. Flegal, "Prevalence of obesity and trends in body mass index among US children and adolescents, 1999-2010," *Journal of the American Medical Association*, vol. 307, no. 5, pp. 483–490, 2012.
- [31] T. S. Olds, G. R. Tomkinson, K. E. Ferrar, and C. A. Maher, "Trends in the prevalence of childhood overweight and obesity in Australia between 1985 and 2008," *International Journal of Obesity*, vol. 34, no. 1, pp. 57–66, 2010.
- [32] R. C. Colley, D. Garriguet, I. Janssen, C. L. Craig, J. Clarke, and M. S. Tremblay, "Physical activity of canadian children and youth: accelerometer results from the 2007 to 2009 canadian health measures survey," *Health Reports*, vol. 22, no. 1, pp. 15– 23, 2011.

- [33] B. Deforche, I. de Bourdeaudhuij, E. D'Hondt, and G. Cardon, "Objectively measured physical activity, physical activity related personality and body mass index in 6- to 10-yr-old children: a cross-sectional study," *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, vol. 6, article 25, 2009.
- [34] K. R. Ginsburg, "The importance of play in promoting healthy child development and maintaining strong parent-child bonds," *Pediatrics*, vol. 119, no. 1, pp. 182–191, 2007.
- [35] M. Dowda, W. H. Brown, K. L. Mclver et al., "Policies and characteristics of the preschool environment and physical activity of young children," *Pediatrics*, vol. 123, no. 2, pp. e261– e266, 2009.
- [36] J. C. Hannon and B. B. Brown, "Increasing preschoolers' physical activity intensities: an activity-friendly preschool playground intervention," *Preventive Medicine*, vol. 46, no. 6, pp. 532–536, 2008.
- [37] S. Alhassan, J. R. Sirard, and T. N. Robinson, "The effects of increasing outdoor play time on physical activity in Latino preschool children," *International Journal of Pediatric Obesity*, vol. 2, no. 3, pp. 153–158, 2007.
- [38] L. G. Olesen, P. L. Kristensen, L. Korsholm, and K. Froberg, "Physical activity in children attending preschools," *Pediatrics*, vol. 132, no. 5, pp. e1310–e1318, 2013.
- [39] A. M. McMinn, S. J. Griffin, A. P. Jones, and E. M. F. van Sluijs, "Family and home influences on children's after-school and weekend physical activity," *European Journal of Public Health*, vol. 23, no. 5, pp. 805–810, 2013.
- [40] K. R. Hesketh, L. Goodfellow, U. Ekelund et al., "Activity levels in mothers and their preschool children," *Pediatrics*, vol. 133, pp. e973–e980, 2014.

Research Article

Malnutrition, Overweight, and Obesity among Urban and Rural Children in North of West Azerbijan, Iran

Sakineh Nouri Saeidlou,¹ Fariba Babaei,² and Parvin Ayremlou¹

¹ Food and Beverages Safety Research Center, Urmia University of Medical Science, Urmia, Iran ² Urmia University of Medical Science, Urmia, Iran

Correspondence should be addressed to Parvin Ayremlou; p.ayremlou@gmail.com

Received 22 January 2014; Revised 16 April 2014; Accepted 4 May 2014; Published 25 May 2014

Academic Editor: Li Ming Wen

Copyright © 2014 Sakineh Nouri Saeidlou et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Introduction. Malnutrition is one of the most important causes for improper physical and mental development of children. Childhood obesity is a worldwide public health problem. The increasing prevalence of childhood obesity has become a growing matter of public health concern worldwide. The aim of the current study was to determine the prevalence of malnutrition and obesity in children under 5 years old in Salmas district. *Methods.* The current study is a cross-sectional study conducted on 902 of children under 5 years old to assess the nutritional status in Salmas district and performed from 16 until 30 October, 2011, with the cooperation of the Office of Community Nutrition Improvement and the United Nations Children's Fund. ENA (Emergency Nutrition Assessment) and Spss software were used for data analysis. *Results.* 49.6% of children were boys and 50.4% were girls. The prevalence of malnutrition based on underweight, stunting, and wasting was estimated to be 2.3%, 7.3%, and 1.4% among children, respectively. Stunting was more common in rural areas and this difference was significant (P < 0.001). *Conclusion.* In this area stunting, overweight and obesity were the most important priorities that health officials must pay more attention to. ENA software has a special ability to determine the samples and clusters and is a simple, rapid, and accurate method, especially in epidemiological studies in the country, and can be a convenient tool and its use is suggested for the same studies.

1. Introduction

Malnutrition is one of the most important causes for improper physical and mental development of children [1]. One in every five children in the developing world is malnourished, and poor nutrition is associated with half of all child deaths worldwide [2]. Malnutrition in children causes an increase in morbidity and mortality and has an adverse effect on intellectual ability [3]. Globally, acute malnutrition causes more than 50% of childhood mortality in children under 5 years old, which implies that about 3.5 million children die of malnutrition each year [4].

Malnutrition measures in many ways. Clinical grading standard, weight-for-height (WFH) index (Figure 1), heightfor-age (HFA) index, weight-for-age (WFA) index (Figure 2), body mass index, and skin fold thickness are to be used more frequently in the field [5]. In April 2006, the WHO released new global growth charts for infants and children as old as 5 years to replace the existing CDC/WHO international growth charts, which were based on the 1977 NCHS growth charts [6].

The worldwide malnutrition estimation rates indicate that 35.8% of preschool children in developing countries are underweight, 42.7% are stunted, and 9.2% are wasted [7]. Childhood obesity is a worldwide public health problem [8]. The increasing prevalence of childhood obesity has become a growing matter of public health concern worldwide. Obesity has increased from 4.2%, in 1990, to 6.7%, in 2010, worldwide and is expected to reach 9.1%, in 2020 [9, 10].

In Iran, like many of the other developing countries, the prevalence of obesity in children has been moving on [11]. According to a survey in West Azerbaijan, 8.7%, 7.5%, and 4.3% of the children aged less than five years suffered from stunting, wasting, and underweight, respectively [12].



FIGURE 1: The graph of the normal distribution of weight for height in studied children in Salmas (mean \pm SD = 0.21 \pm 0.94).



FIGURE 2: The graph of the normal distribution of weight for age in studied children in Salmas (mean \pm SD = -0.01 ± 0.96).

The present study aimed at assessing the prevalence of malnutrition (underweight, stunting, wasting, overweight, and obesity) in under-five-year-old children in Salmas district.

2. Methods

The current study is a cross-sectional study which was conducted for assessing the nutritional status of children under 5 years old in Salmas district on the basis of national guide and has been performed from 16 until 30 October, 2011, with the cooperation of the Office of Community Nutrition Improvement and the United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF). Using cluster sampling, the statistical population included 0-59-month-old children residing in the cities and villages of Salmas and by ENA software sample size was calculated with 5% confidence interval; 902 children were determined. In this study, children being mentally and physically retarded and having problems in terms of anthropometry were removed from the study and replaced by other children. The Institutional Review Board approved this study. For medical ethics, the parental consent form must be completed to conduct completed design. In this study, cluster sampling is used for selecting the samples. For this purpose, first, the total number of households residing in rural and urban areas and the total number of children between 0-59 months in Salmas city were cumulatively calculated. Then, in the ENA software items, in the planning part, the desired items were entered into sample size calculation as follows:

the number of children under 5 years old: 19824 people,

estimate of the prevalence number of malnutrition: 8.7,

widespread confidence interval: 2.3,

design effect: 1.5.

After entering the above information, 841 were determined as the sample size and, with 5% confidence interval for a sample sufficiency, the number of children was calculated as 885 children and, finally, in the study, 902 questionnaires were completed. Given that it was supposed to study 18 children in each cluster, 50 clusters were determined for this study. Then, the ratio of urban and rural populations in Salmas was calculated in this region; the urban population was 49% and the rural population was 51%. Therefore, 26 rural clusters and 24 urban clusters were determined and in the next stage the names of all villages and urban blocks were separately entered into the part of selecting clusters in ENA software according to the number of clusters. The required data were collected through measuring the height and weight and arm circumference of the children in the study, completing the questionnaire and interviews with mothers or caregivers of children. The scale used in this study was a single pan balance with the maximum capacity of 150 kg and accuracy of 100 gr. If possible, the child was directly weighed. If the baby was too small or cried so hard, first, the mother was weighed alone and then hugged the child. The scale automatically calculated the weight of the child by subtracting. Also, every day before starting work, to ensure the accuracy of the scale, the scale was tested using the control scale. The height measuring board was also used to measure height. The height of less-than-two-year children was measured in a supine and larger children were measured in standing position with an accuracy of one tenth of millimeter. The height measuring board was used for both positions. The middle of the left arm circumference in children from 6 to 59 months was measured using a special band of measuring arm circumference based on the following steps and was recorded in millimeters. Chi-square test was to be used for relationship independent variables (sex and region) with malnutrition.

3. Results

This study was done on 902 children under 5 years old including 49.6% being boys and 50.4% being girls. Most children were in the age group of 18–29 months (24.7%) and the lowest number was in the age group of 54–59 months (8.8%) (Table 1). Totally, the prevalence of malnutrition based on underweight, stunting, and wasting was estimated to be 2.3%, 7.3%, and 1.4% among children, respectively.

The results of the study showed that underweight in girls and rural areas was more common. Malnutrition under height for age in girls and boys in rural areas was more than that of the urban areas; also, we found that wasting index was not different in both sex and area. Stunting was more common than the other two malnutrition indexes (Table 2). Current study showed that prevalence of overweight and obesity in girls and rural areas was less than in boys and urban areas but this difference was not significant (Table 3). The relationship between gender and region with malnutrition showed that there was no statistical difference between sex and underweight, wasting, and stunting, but stunting was more common in rural areas and this different was significant (P < 0.001) (Table 4). The graph of the normal distribution of height for age in studied children in Salmas shows that distribution of height for age was skewed to left comparing with WHO standard (Figure 3).

4. Discussion

The aim of the current study was to assess the nutritional status of under-five-year-old children in urban and rural areas in Salmas district. The prevalence of malnutrition based on underweight, stunting, and wasting was estimated to be 2.3%, 7.3%, and 1.4% among children, respectively, in Salmas district. In a study in West Azerbaijan province by Farrokh-Eslamlou, prevalence of underweight, stunting, and wasting was estimated to be 4.3%, 8.7%, and 7.5%, respectively [12]. In another study, by Veghari, malnutrition was observed in 3.20%, 4.93%, and 5.13% based on underweight, stunting, and wasting, respectively [13]. In another study in Khorasan province Northeast of Iran the rate of underweight, stunting, and wasting was reported to be 7.5%, 12.5%, and 4.4%, respectively [7]. According to the UNICEF report, 11%, 15%, and 5% of under-five-year-old Iranian children suffer from underweight, stunting, and wasting up, respectively [13]. Results of current study showed that underweight in girls and rural areas was common more which is consistent with other studies [7, 13]. Malnutrition based on height for age in both girls and boys in rural areas was more than urban areas which is due to the poor economic status, cultural status, income level, food behavior, and less health care in rural areas that are known as the risk factor for malnutrition. Our findings show that there was no statistical difference between sex and underweight, wasting, and stunting, but we found statistically significant differences between stunting and region where stunting was more common in rural areas which is consistent with previous studies in Iran [12] and stunting is still highly prevalent in underdeveloped and developing countries [14].

TABLE 1: Characterize of children 6-59 months in Salmas 2011.

Age (month)	Boy (%)	Girl (%)	Total (%)
6–17 months	78 (45.6)	93 (54.4)	171 (19)
18-29 months	109 (48.9)	114 (51.1)	223 (24.7)
30-41 months	114 (53.3)	100 (46.7)	214 (23.7)
42-53 months	105 (48.8)	110 (51.2)	215 (23.8)
54-59 months	41 (51.9)	38 (48.1)	79 (8.8)
Total	447 (49.6)	455 (50.4)	902 (100)



FIGURE 3: The graph of the normal distribution of height for age in studied children in Salmas (mean \pm SD = -0.28 ± 1.08).

In current study, prevalence of obesity and overweight in children was 1.3% and 5.1%, respectively. The prevalence of overweight and obesity is increasing worldwide and has become a public health challenge [10, 15]. The tracking of childhood overweight and associated health consequences into adulthood is of concern; several serious physical conditions are associated with overweight, especially obesity, among children including asthma, sleep problems, cardiovascular diseases, and type 2 diabetes. Prevalence of obesity and overweight in boys and urban areas was more than girls and rural areas but this difference was not significant.

5. Conclusion

In this area, stunting, overweight, and obesity are the most important priorities that health officials must pay more attention to. Given the differences between various provinces and regions of the country which are a result of the differences between the levels of development in these areas, the necessity of designing and implementing targeted strategies are required for different areas. It is worth noting that the present study has been conducted in a single period and in only one city of each province and using ENA software; therefore, the judgment about the whole province requires general investigation in all cites of the province and the

			Area		
Index	Ur	Urban		Rural	
Index	Boy N = 225 (%)	Girl N = 207 (%)	Boy N = 222 (%)	Girl N = 248 (%)	N = 902 (%)
Underweight (< $-2 z$ -score)	5 (2.2)	2 (1)	3 (1.4)	11 (4.4)	21 (9)
Moderate underweight $(< -2 z$ -score and $\ge -3 z$ -score)	4 (1.8)	2 (1)	2 (0.9)	11 (4.4)	19 (8.1)
Severe underweight (< -3 <i>z</i> -score)	1 (0.4)	0 (0)	1 (0.5)	0 (0)	2 (0.9)
Stunting (< $-2 z$ -score)	9 (4)	8 (3.9)	22 (9.9)	27 (10.9)	66 (28.7)
Moderate stunting $(< -2 z$ -score and $\ge -3 z$ -score)	5 (2.2)	7 (3.4)	19 (8.6)	22 (8.9)	53 (23.1)
Severe stunting (< -3 <i>z</i> -score)	2 (1.8)	1 (0.5)	1 (1.4)	5 (2)	9 (5.7)
Wasting (< $-2 z$ -score)	4 (1.8)	3 (1.4)	3 (1.4)	3 (1.2)	13 (5.8)
Moderate wasting $(< -2 z$ -score and $\ge -3 z$ -score)	4 (1.8)	3 (1.4)	2 (0.9)	2 (0.8)	11 (4.9)
Sever wasting (< -3 <i>z</i> -score)	0 (0)	0 (0)	1 (0.5)	1 (0.4)	2 (0.9)

TABLE 2: The distribution of nutritional status (underweight, stunting, and wasting) in children in Salmas.

TABLE 3: The distribution of BMI in sex and ar	ea.
--	-----

	Ger	nder	Ar	rea
BMI	Boy N = 447 (%)	Girl N = 455 (%)	Urban N = 432 (%)	Rural N = 470 (%)
Normal (<2 <i>z</i> -score)	418 (93.5)	438 (96.2)	402 (93.1)	454 (96.7)
Overweight (≥2 <i>z</i> -score and ≤3 <i>z</i> -score)	22 (4.9)	14 (3.1)	23 (5.3)	13 (2.7)
Obesity ($\geq 3 z$ -score)	7 (1.6)	3 (0.7)	7 (1.6)	3 (0.6)
<i>P</i> value [*]	0	.3	0.	2

* Chi-square test.

TABLE 4: Comparison of status and proportion of malnourished children by gender and region in Salmas.

Variable	Weight for age		Height for age		Weight for height	
	Normal (%)	Malnourished (%)	Normal (%)	Malnourished (%)	Normal (%)	Malnourished (%)
Gender						
Girl	442 (97.1)	13 (2.9)	420 (92.3)	35 (7.7)	449 (98.7)	6 (1.3)
Boy	439 (98.20)	8 (1.8)	416 (93.1)	31 (6.9)	440 (98.4)	7 (1.6)
P value	0.29		0.66		0.75	
Area						
Urban	426 (98.4)	7 (1.6)	416 (96.1)	17 (3.9)	426 (98.4)	7 (1.6)
Rural	455 (97)	14 (3)	429 (89.6)	49 (10.4)	463 (98.7)	6 (1.3)
P value [*]	0.17		<0.001		0.67	

* Chi-square test.

obtained results are solely applied to these three cities. This study, also, showed that the ENA software has a special ability to determine the samples and clusters and is a simple, rapid, and accurate method, especially in epidemiological studies compared to other methods that were used in studies in our country which can be a convenient tool and its use is suggested for the same studies. Also, the quality control of the performed activities by the teams in the field is another distinctive feature of this software which is considered of high importance and emphasizes the use of this software.

Conflict of Interests

The authors certify that there is no conflict of interests with any financial organization regarding the material discussed in the paper.

Acknowledgments

The authors' deepest gratitude and appreciation go for all respected nutrition experts in the health departments of Isfahan and Kermanshah University of Medical Sciences and other individuals who have had sincere cooperation in conducting this plan.

References

- S. Das and R. M. Rahman, "Application of ordinal logistic regression analysis in determining risk factors of child malnutrition in Bangladesh," *Nutrition Journal*, vol. 10, article 124, 2011.
- [2] S. Psaki, Z. A. Bhutta, T. Ahmed et al., "Household food access and child malnutrition: results from the eight-country MAL-ED study," *Population Health Metrics*, vol. 10, article 24, 2012.
- [3] A. Sharghi, A. Kamran, and M. Faridan, "Evaluating risk factors for protein-energy malnutrition in children under the age of six years: a case-control study from Iran," *International Journal of General Medicine*, vol. 4, pp. 607–611, 2011.
- [4] S.-E. Park, S. Kim, C. Ouma, M. Loha, T. F. Wierzba, and N. S. Beck, "Community management of acute malnutrition in the developing world," *Pediatric Gastroenterology, Hepatology & Nutrition*, vol. 15, no. 4, pp. 210–219, 2012.
- [5] M. de Onis, A. W. Onyango, E. Borghi, C. Garza, and H. Yang, "Comparison of the World Health Organization (WHO) child growth standards and the national center for health statistics/WHO international growth reference: implications for child health programmes," *Public Health Nutrition*, vol. 9, no. 7, pp. 942–947, 2006.
- [6] Z. Mei, C. L. Ogden, K. M. Flegal, and L. M. Grummer-Strawn, "Comparison of the prevalence of shortness, underweight, and overweight among US children aged 0 to 59 months by using the CDC 2000 and the WHO 2006 growth charts," *Journal of Pediatrics*, vol. 153, no. 5, pp. 622–628, 2008.
- [7] A. Payandeh, A. Saki, M. Safarian, H. Tabesh, and Z. Siadat, "Prevalence of malnutrition among preschool children in northeast of Iran, a result of a population based study," *Global Journal of Health Science*, vol. 5, no. 2, pp. 208–212, 2013.
- [8] V. Martínez-Vizcaíno, M. S. Martínez, B. N. Pacheco et al., "Trends in excess of weight, underweight and adiposity among Spanish children from 2004 to 2010: the Cuenca study," *Public Health Nutrition*, vol. 15, no. 12, pp. 2170–2174, 2012.
- [9] A. Muhihi, "Prevalence and determinants of obesity among primary school children in Dar es Salaam, Tanzania," *Public Health*, vol. 71, no. 1, article 26, 2013.
- [10] A. van Grieken, C. M. Renders, A. I. Wijtzes, R. A. Hirasing, and H. Raat, "Overweight, obesity and underweight is associated with adverse psychosocial and physical health outcomes among 7-year-old children: the "be active, eat right" study," *PLoS ONE*, vol. 8, no. 6, Article ID e67383, 2013.
- [11] F. Taheri, T. Kazemi, T. Chahkandi, K. Namakin, M. Zardast, and B. Bijari, "Prevalence of overweight, obesity and central obesity among elementary school children in Birjand, East of Iran, 2012," *Journal of Research in Health Sciences*, vol. 13, no. 2, pp. 157–161, 2013.
- [12] H. R. Farrokh-Eslamlou, "Geographical distribution of nutrition deficiency among children under five years old in the west Azerbaijan province," *Iran Urmia Medicine Journal*, vol. 24, no. 3, pp. 201–209, 2013.
- [13] G. Veghari, "The relationship of ethnicity, socio-economic factors and malnutrition in primary school children in North

of Iran: a cross-sectional study," *Journal of Research in Health Sciences*, vol. 13, no. 1, pp. 58–62, 2012.

- [14] F. Esfarjani, R. Roustaee, F. Mohammadi-Nasrabadi, and A. Esmaillzadeh, "Major dietary patterns in relation to stunting among children in Tehran, Iran," *Journal of Health, Population and Nutrition*, vol. 31, no. 2, pp. 202–210, 2013.
- [15] A. M. Santaliestra-Pasías, J. P. Rey-López, and L. A. Moreno Aznar, "Obesity and sedentarism in children and adolescents: what should be bone?" *Nutricion Hospitalaria*, vol. 28, no. 5, pp. 99–104, 2013.